JMIR Aging

Journal Impact Factor (JIF) (2023): 5.0 Volume 5 (2022), Issue 1 ISSN 2561-7605 Editor in Chief: Yun Jiang, PhD, MS, RN, FAMIA; Jinjiao Wang, PhD, RN, MPhil

Contents

Original Papers

XSL•F⊖ RenderX

Comparison of the Mental Burden on Nursing Care Providers With and Without Mat-Type Sleep State Sensors at a Nursing Home in Tokyo, Japan: Quasi-Experimental Study (e19641)	
Sakiko Itoh, Hwee-Pink Tan, Kenichi Kudo, Yasuko Ogata.	3
The Usability and Impact of a Low-Cost Pet Robot for Older Adults and People With Dementia: Qualitative Content Analysis of User Experiences and Perceptions on Consumer Websites (e29224)	
Wei Koh, Sally Whelan, Pascale Heins, Dympna Casey, Elaine Toomey, Rose-Marie Dröes.	11
Exploring Older Adults' Adoption and Use of a Tablet Computer During COVID-19: Longitudinal Qualitative Study (e32957)	
Sunyoung Kim, Willow Yao, Xiaotong Du	27
The Use of Technology Among Persons With Memory Concerns and Their Caregivers in the United States During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Qualitative Study (e31552)	
Elizabeth Albers, Jude Mikal, Ashley Millenbah, Jessica Finlay, Eric Jutkowitz, Lauren Mitchell, Brenna Horn, Joseph Gaugler.	40
Understanding Current Needs and Future Expectations of Informal Caregivers for Technology to Support Health and Well-being: National Survey Study (e15413)	
Kieren Egan, Patricia Clark, Zahid Deen, Carmen Paputa Dutu, Graham Wilson, Lisa McCann, Marilyn Lennon, Roma Maguire	51
Refining a Digital Therapeutic Platform for Home Care Agencies in Dementia Care to Elicit Stakeholder Feedback: Focus Group Study With Stakeholders (e32516)	
Aaron Gilson, Michele Gassman, Debby Dodds, Robin Lombardo, James Ford II, Michael Potteiger.	66
Mobile Device Ownership, Current Use, and Interest in Mobile Health Interventions Among Low-Income Older Chinese Immigrants With Type 2 Diabetes: Cross-sectional Survey Study (e27355)	
Lu Hu, Chau Trinh-Shevrin, Nadia Islam, Bei Wu, Shimin Cao, Jincong Freeman, Mary Sevick.	83
COVID-19's Influence on Information and Communication Technologies in Long-Term Care: Results From a Web-Based Survey With Long-Term Care Administrators (e32442)	
Amy Schuster, Shelia Cotten	92
Older Adults' and Clinicians' Perspectives on a Smart Health Platform for the Aging Population: Design and Evaluation Study (e29623)	
Alessia Cristiano, Stela Musteata, Sara De Silvestri, Valerio Bellandi, Paolo Ceravolo, Matteo Cesari, Domenico Azzolino, Alberto Sanna, Diana Trojaniello.	105

Socioeconomic Disparities in the Demand for and Use of Virtual Visits Among Senior Adults During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Cross-sectional Study (e35221) Ellie Yu, Simon Hagens.	121
Development of a Community-Based e-Health Program for Older Adults With Chronic Diseases: Pilot Pre-Post Study (e33118)	
Vivien Wu, Yanhong Dong, Poh Tan, Peiying Gan, Di Zhang, Yuchen Chi, Felicia Chao, Jinhua Lu, Boon Teo, Yue Tan.	135
Investigation of Carers' Perspectives of Dementia Misconceptions on Twitter: Focus Group Study (e30388) Georgie Hudson, Sonja Jansli, Sinan Erturk, Daniel Morris, Clarissa Odoi, Angela Clayton-Turner, Vanessa Bray, Gill Yourston, Doreen Clouden, David Proudfoot, Andrew Cornwall, Claire Waldron, Til Wykes, Sagar Jilka	150
Using Twitter to Examine Stigma Against People With Dementia During COVID-19: Infodemiology Study (e35677)	
Juanita-Dawne Bacsu, Sarah Fraser, Alison Chasteen, Allison Cammer, Karl Grewal, Lauren Bechard, Jennifer Bethell, Shoshana Green, Katherine McGilton, Debra Morgan, Hannah O'Rourke, Lisa Poole, Raymond Spiteri, Megan O'Connell.	160
One-Year Postfracture Mortality Rate in Older Adults With Hip Fractures Relative to Other Lower Extremity Fractures: Retrospective Cohort Study (e32683)	
Andrea Dimet-Wiley, George Golovko, Stanley Watowich.	170
Identification of Digital Health Priorities for Palliative Care Research: Modified Delphi Study (e32075) Amara Nwosu, Tamsin McGlinchey, Justin Sanders, Sarah Stanley, Jennifer Palfrey, Patrick Lubbers, Laura Chapman, Anne Finucane, Stephen	
Mason.	186
Predicting Working Memory in Healthy Older Adults Using Real-Life Language and Social Context Information: A Machine Learning Approach (e28333)	
Andrea Ferrario, Minxia Luo, Angelina Polsinelli, Suzanne Moseley, Matthias Mehl, Kristina Yordanova, Mike Martin, Burcu Demiray	201

Review

XSL•FO RenderX

Exploring Barriers to and Enablers of the Adoption of Information and Communication Technology for the	
Care of Older Adults With Chronic Diseases: Scoping Review (e25251)	
Sojib Zaman, Raihan Khan, Roger Evans, Amanda Thrift, Ralph Maddison, Sheikh Islam.	217

Comparison of the Mental Burden on Nursing Care Providers With and Without Mat-Type Sleep State Sensors at a Nursing Home in Tokyo, Japan: Quasi-Experimental Study

Sakiko Itoh^{1,2,3}, PhD, MSc; Hwee-Pink Tan^{4,5}, PhD; Kenichi Kudo⁶, BS; Yasuko Ogata¹, PhD, MM

¹Department of Gerontological Nursing and Healthcare Systems Management, Graduate School of Health Care Sciences, Tokyo Medical and Dental University, Tokyo, Japan

³Department of Genome Informatics, Graduate School of Medicine, Osaka University, Osaka, Japan

⁴School of Information Systems, Singapore Management University, Singapore, Singapore

⁵Policy, Research and Surveillance Group, Health Promotion Board, Singapore, Singapore

⁶Research Innovation Initiatives Organization, Hirosaki University, Aomori, Japan

Corresponding Author:

Sakiko Itoh, PhD, MSc Department of Genome Informatics Graduate School of Medicine Osaka University 2-2 Yamadaoka, Suita Osaka, 565-0871 Japan Phone: 81 6 6210 8361 Fax: 81 6 6210 8365 Email: <u>itoh@gi.med.osaka-u.ac.jp</u>

Abstract

Background: Increasing need for nursing care has led to the increased burden on formal caregivers, with those in nursing homes having to deal with exhausting labor. Although research activities on the use of internet of things devices to support nursing care for older adults exist, there is limited evidence on the effectiveness of these interventions among formal caregivers in nursing homes.

Objective: This study aims to investigate whether mat-type sleep state sensors for supporting nursing care can reduce the mental burden of formal caregivers in a nursing home.

Methods: This was a quasi-experimental study at a nursing home in Tokyo, Japan. The study participants were formal caregivers who cared for residents in private rooms on the fourth and fifth floors of the nursing home. In the intervention group, formal caregivers took care of residents who used sleep state sensors on the fourth floor of the nursing home. The sleep state sensors were mat types and designed to detect body motion such as the frequency of toss and turning and to measure heartbeat and respiration. One sensor was placed on a bed in a private room. When body motion is detected, the information is instantly displayed on a monitor at a staff station. In addition, the mental condition of the formal caregivers was measured using a validated self-reported outcome measure—the Profile of Mood States (POMS), Short-Form, 2nd edition. Formal caregivers in both groups received the POMS at baseline, midpoint (week 4), and endpoint (week 8) to identify changes in these domains. The primary outcome was the difference in total mood disturbance (TMD) of the POMS at baseline and week 8.

Results: Of the 22 eligible formal caregivers, 12 (intervention group) utilized sleep state sensors for 8 weeks. The remaining 10 formal caregivers (control group) provided nursing care as usual. As for the primary outcome of the difference between TMD at baseline and week 8, TMD in the intervention group improved by -3.67 versus 4.70 in the control group, resulting in a mean difference of -8.37 (95% CI -32.02 to 15.29; P=.48) in favor of the intervention.

Conclusions: The present 8-week study showed that sleep state sensing for elderly residents might not be associated with reduced mental burdens on formal caregivers in nursing homes.

(JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e19641) doi:10.2196/19641



²Health Services Research and Development Center, University of Tsukuba, Ibaraki, Japan

KEYWORDS

long-term care; caregiver burden; nursing homes; aged; information technology; sensors

Introduction

The aging of society is rapidly increasing and expanding in the world. According to the United Nations, there were 703 million persons aged 65 years and older in 2019 worldwide, and the number of older adults is projected to double to 1.5 billion in 2050 [1]. Population aging has been fastest in East and Southeast Asia, Latin America, and the Caribbean [1]. For instance, Japan has the highest proportion of older persons in the world; in 2019, 28.1% of the population (or 35.6 million) was 65 years and older [2]. By 2065, 1 in 2.6 people will be 65 years and older in Japan [2]. Such rapid demographic changes leave countries with insufficient long-term care resources to tackle the challenges associated with an aging population.

In accordance with the aging population in Japan, there has been an exclusive increase in the demand for long-term care [3,4]. The increasing need for long-term care has brought about an increased burden on formal caregivers [5,6]. In particular, the formal caregivers in nursing homes had to deal with exhausting labor (ie, long hours, overtime work, and late-night work). The mental and physical fatigue is severe and also undermining their health, resulting in migraines, depression, and backache [6-9]. To cope with the heavy labor, the Japanese government promoted the utilization of the Internet of Things (IoT) to support formal caregivers [10].

IoT means that everything can be accessed anytime and anywhere, and that applications work without human intervention, as long as there is internet [11]. To date, IoT application studies for health care use include IoT devices for tracking human activities in primary health care centers [12], for medication compliance among older outpatients [13,14], for intensive health guidance among outpatients with diabetes mellitus [15], and for home-based health care [16]. Although research activities on the use of IoT devices to support long-term care for older adults exist, there is limited evidence on the effectiveness of these interventions among formal caregivers in nursing homes [17-19]. In this study, we investigate whether sleep state sensors for supporting long-term care can reduce the mental burden of formal caregivers in a nursing home.

Methods

Study Design and Participants

We conducted a quasi-experimental study to examine the effects of sleep state sensors for supporting formal caregivers at a nursing home. The participants were eligible if they were formal caregivers, aged at least 20 years, and worked at a nursing home. Participants are excluded from the study if they plan to leave the job within 8 weeks. In this study, we investigated whether long-term care for residents using mat-type sleep state sensors that detect the resident's sleep state reduces the caregiver's mental burden compared with usual care.

Procedures

An intervention group received sleep state sensors to provide long-term care for residents in all 40 private rooms on the fourth floor of a nursing home in Zenkoukai, Tokyo. The sleep state sensors were mat types and designed to detect body motion such as the frequency of toss and turning and to measure heartbeat and respiration. One sensor was placed on a bed in a private room. When body motion is detected, the information is instantly displayed on a monitor at a staff station. The monitor showed the sleep state (ie, awake or asleep) and action state (ie, lying, sitting, or leaving bed) of the residents at all times. When formal caregivers cared for residents in each private room, they checked the sleep and active state of the resident on the monitor and visited the private room (Figure 1). For instance, in the intervention group, when the visiting the room for elimination care, the formal caregiver checked the resident's sleeping or waking status on display and visited the room for elimination care when the resident was awake as much as possible. By contrast, formal caregivers in the control group (on the fifth floor of the nursing home) provided long-term care for residents as usual.



Figure 1. Overview of the sleep state sensors.



The sensors were expected to allow the formal caregivers to check the status of each resident in each private room of nursing homes in real time on PCs at the staff station, thus enabling them to provide care efficiently. Furthermore, by accumulating these records, it was possible to understand the rhythm of each resident's life. As a result, it was expected that care plans can be formulated to match the rhythm of each resident's life.

In addition, the mental condition of the formal caregivers was measured using self-reported outcome measures, the Profile of Mood States (POMS), Short-Form, 2nd edition (POMS 2) [20,21]. POMS 2 was published in 2012 to assess transient feelings and mood, and has already been validated by Heuchert and McNair [20]. The Japanese version of the POMS 2 scale has already been validated for reliability and validity [22,23]. Participants in both groups received the POMS at baseline, midpoint (week 4), and endpoint (week 8) to identify changes in these domains. The POMS assessed mood states of individuals, or transient, fluctuating feelings and enduring affect states [20,21].

Outcome

The primary outcome was the difference at 8 weeks in the total mood disturbance (TMD) of the POMS. Referring to previous studies, we set the duration of the sensor-based intervention at 8 weeks [24,25]. The TMD indicated the extent to which formal caregivers experienced overall negative or positive affect, or the degree of overall mood disorder, where a higher score is indicative of the bad mood. The TMD was a composite score of negative mood states (ie, anger-hostility, 5 confusion-bewilderment, depression-dejection, fatigue-inertia, tension-anxiety) and a positive mood state (ie, vigor-activity). As for the TMD and negative mood states, higher scores could indicate a problem. Regarding the positive mood states, lower scores indicate a problem. Regarding clinically significant

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e19641
```

RenderX

differences, we considered a difference of 8 points or more in the TMD as clinically significant, referring to previous studies [26]. The secondary outcome was the change at 3 time points (ie, baseline, week 4, week 8) of the TMD to clarify the change of the mental burden immediately after the introduction.

Statistical Analysis

For the primary analysis, we performed an analysis of covariance (ANCOVA), which is a blend of analysis of variance (ANOVA) and general linear regression to evaluate differences between groups. We conducted the ANCOVA using POMS 2 (eg, TMD), intervention, measurement timing, and an interaction term between intervention and measurement timing. For secondary outcomes, the difference between the intervention and control groups was analyzed using ANCOVA. For the PMD at the baseline, midpoint (4 week), and endpoint (8 week), we used a repeated ANOVA to assess the change of TMD in the intervention and control groups. A P value less than .05 was considered statistically significant. Statistical analysis was performed using Stata, version 16.0 (StataCorp).

Ethical Approval

Medical ethical approval was obtained from the Medical Ethical Committee of Tokyo Medical and Dental University (M2017-228-2). All participants gave written consent for participation in the study.

Results

A total of 25 formal caregivers were recruited; however, 1 formal caregiver in the intervention group and 2 formal caregivers in the control group discontinued because of leaving the job at the nursing home. Among the 22 formal caregivers, the median age was 31 years (IQR 28-37 years); 9 (41%) formal

caregivers were women versus 13 (59%) men. The median working period at the nursing home was 59 months (IQR 14-92 months). Among the 22 formal caregivers, 12 (55%) were certificated care workers (ie, those who have national

qualifications). Tables 1 and 2 present the baseline characteristics of the formal caregivers and older persons, respectively, by the intervention and control groups.

Population	Intervention group (n=12)	Control group (n=10)	P value
Age (years), median (IQR)	31 (28-32)	32 (30-55)	.27 ^a
Sex, n (%)			.19 ^b
Women	3 (25)	6 (60)	
Men	9 (75)	4 (40)	
Working period ^c (months), median (IQR)	57 (7-74)	76 (34-93)	.31 ^a
Certifications, n (%)			.85 ^b
Certificated care worker	7 (58)	5 (50)	
Other	2 (17)	1 (10)	
None	3 (25)	4 (40)	

^aMann-Whitney U test.

^bFisher exact test.

^cWorking period at the nursing home.

Table 2. Baseline characteristics of the older persons.

Population	Intervention group (n=40)	Control group (n=40)	P value
Age (years), median (IQR)	87 (82-91)	87 (82-91)	>.99 ^a
Sex, n (%)			.79 ^b
Women	32 (80)	30 (75)	
Men	8 (20)	10 (25)	
Care need levels, n (%)			.81 ^b
1	0 (0)	0 (0)	
2	0 (0)	1 (3)	
3	9 (23)	9 (23)	
4	15 (38)	17 (43)	
5	16 (40)	13 (33)	

^aMann-Whitney U test.

^bFisher exact test.

Among the 22 formal caregivers, 12 were assigned to the intervention group, and 10 to the control group. Out of the 12 formal caregivers in the intervention group, 50% (n=6) experienced positive TMD at the endpoint (ie, week 8). Of the 10 formal caregivers in the control group, 50% (n=5) also experienced positive TMD at the endpoint (ie, week 8). As for the primary outcome of the difference between TMD at baseline and week 8, TMD in the intervention group improved by -3.67 versus 4.70 in the control group, resulting in a mean difference of -8.37 (95% CI -32.02 to 15.29; P=.48) in favor of the intervention. Although significant differences were not observed (see above) between the intervention and the control groups, the sign of regression coefficients was negative.

Table 3 shows the effect of the intervention on secondary outcomes. The change in anger-hostility from baseline to 8 weeks in the intervention group improved by -0.84 versus 0.90 in the control group, resulting in a mean difference of -1.73 (95% CI -7.43 to 3.96; P=.54; Tables 1 and 2). The change in depression-dejection in the intervention group improved by -0.16 versus 1.60 in the control group, resulting in a mean difference of -1.77 (95% CI -6.49 to 2.96; P=.45). The change in tension-anxiety in the intervention group improved by -0.91 versus 0.20 in the control group, resulting in a mean difference of -1.12 (95% CI -6.58 to 4.34; P=.68). Significant differences were not observed (see above) in 5 negative mood states (ie, anger-hostility, confusion-bewilderment, depression-dejection,

fatigue-inertia, tension-anxiety) and a positive mood state (ie, vigor-activity).

Table 3. Mean difference in change of the Profile of Mood States.

Parameter	Baseline ^a		Week 8 ^a		Mean difference in change (inter- vention vs control) (95% CI)	P value ^b
	Intervention (n=12)	Control (n=10)	Intervention (n=12)	Control (n=10)		
Total mood disturbance	27.67 (25.27)	25.9 (13.55)	24.00 (19.29)	30.60 (9.92)	-8.37 (-32.02 to 15.29)	.48
Anger-hostility	5.67 (5.43)	6.00 (4.69)	4.83 (4.41)	6.90 (2.95)	-1.73 (-7.43 to 3.96)	.54
Confusion-bewilderment	7.58 (5.82)	5.00 (3.26)	7.42 (3.84)	6.00 (2.86)	-1.17 (-6.42 to 4.09)	.66
Depression-dejection	6.33 (4.29)	4.60 (2.73)	6.17 (4.08)	6.20 (3.46)	-1.77 (-6.49 to 2.96)	.45
Fatigue-inertia	8.17 (5.92)	9.60 (4.13)	6.92 (5.77)	9.70 (3.85)	-1.35 (-7.78 to 5.08)	.67
Tension-anxiety	8.83 (5.52)	7.80 (3.57)	7.92 (4.17)	8.00 (3.52)	-1.12 (-6.58 to 4.34)	.68
Vigor-activity	8.92 (4.89)	7.10 (4.06)	9.25 (4.90)	6.20 (4.77)	1.23 (-4.71 to 7.18)	.68

^aMean (standard error).

^bAnalysis of covariance.

For the PMD at the baseline, midpoint (4 weeks), and endpoint (8 weeks), we used a repeated ANOVA to assess the change of TMD in the intervention and control groups. The results indicated that the mean differences (intervention vs control) at

the baseline, midpoint, and endpoint were 1.77 (95% CI - 15.20 to 18.73; P=.84), -1.45 (95% CI - 18.42 to 15.52; P=.87), and -6.6 (95% CI - 23.57 to 10.37; P=.44), respectively (Figure 2).

Figure 2. Change of the TMD from baseline to week 8. TMD: total mood disturbance.



Discussion

Principal Findings

We investigated whether sleep state sensors for supporting long-term care can reduce the mental burden of formal caregivers in a nursing home. The primary outcome was the difference from baseline to endpoint (week 8) on the TMD of the POMS, or the degree of overall mood disorder. As the result of this study, the TMD in the intervention group improved by -3.67 versus 4.70 in the control group, resulting in a mean difference of -8.37 (95% CI -32.02 to 15.29; P=.48). No significant difference was observed in the study.

In contrast to previous studies with sensors [27-29], utilization of mat-type sleep state sensors was not associated with improving burdens of formal caregivers in the nursing home.

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e19641

RenderX

Notably, the scales to measure mental condition in the previous study were different from those used in this study; for example, the Satisfaction with Work Questionnaires, the Satisfaction with Life Scale [30], and the Life Satisfaction Questionnaire were used previously [31]. One possible reason for the lack of association between utilization of sleep state sensors and TMD of formal caregivers may be time-lag bias; that is, the impact of using sleep state sensors might appear much later. In our study, the mean differences in change (intervention vs control) at baseline, midpoint, and endpoint were 1.77 (95% CI-15.20 to 18.73; P=.84), -1.45 (95% CI -18.42 to 15.52; P=.87), and -6.6 (95% CI -23.57 to 10.37; P=.44), respectively. Although significant differences were not observed, the mean differences in change (intervention vs control) increased gradually. Thus, further studies over a longer duration would be needed to investigate the association [29, 32, 33].

As for the 5 negative mood states (ie, anger-hostility, confusion-bewilderment, depression-dejection, fatigue-inertia, and tension-anxiety) and a positive mood state (ie, vigor-activity), the greatest change in the intervention group occurred in the fatigue-inertia category. By contrast, there was little change in the fatigue-inertia category in the control group. The use of sensors may therefore be related to reducing fatigue. In future studies, we need to research the differences in the changes in each item.

According to an interview with some formal caregivers in the intervention group, the timing of checking the residents' condition on the monitor was when they did routine rounds to check on the residents' health at night, and when they provided excretory care during the day. They then adjusted the time of care when the resident was asleep. Thus, change in the timing of care provision might enhance the quality of care and improve the satisfaction of residents [34-36]. In addition, it was expected to be useful for countermeasures against infectious diseases because the residents' condition can be ascertained without visiting the room. Further studies about enhancing the quality of care and combating infectious diseases are needed to investigate the effect of the intervention. Moreover, further research on the mechanism of how sensor use would impact care is needed.

Limitations

Several limitations of this study need to be noted. First, the participants were selected from just 1 nursing home in Tokyo, Japan. Thus, our results cannot be generalized because selection bias may be present. Second, random assignment could not be performed, which may have caused selection bias. Third, the small sample size of this study must be noted. Fourth, the follow-up period might be insufficient, and we did not take into account the time-lag bias. Finally, we cannot completely eliminate the effects of potential confounding factors, including socioeconomic status and educational status of formal caregivers. However, to the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to explore the impact of mat-type sleep state sensors on formal caregivers in a nursing home in Japan, which would contribute to the development of future research on long-term care.

Conclusions

For an 8-week study in a nursing home, sleep state sensing for elderly residents might not be associated with reduced mental burdens on formal caregivers. The findings imply that further studies over a longer duration would be needed to investigate the association between the utilization of mat-type sleep state sensors and reduced mental burdens on formal caregivers in nursing homes.

Acknowledgments

Gratitude is expressed to Mr Miyamoto, Mr Ofusa, and Mr Fukuda at Social Welfare Corporation Zenkoukai for their support with data collection.

Authors' Contributions

All authors have contributed substantially to the conception and design, or collection of data; SI drafted the article and performed the statistical analysis; KK, H-PT and YO performed the interpretation of the data; H-PT, KK, and YO revised the article critically for important intellectual content. All authors have approved the final version to be published.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. United Nations. World Population Ageing 2019. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/</u> publications/pdf/ageing/WorldPopulationAgeing2019-Report.pdf [accessed 2022-02-20]
- 2. Cabinet Office of Japan. Annual report on the ageing society: Summary FY 2019. Cabinet Office. 2019. URL: <u>https://www8.</u> cao.go.jp/kourei/english/annualreport/2019/pdf/2019.pdf [accessed 2022-02-19]
- Sawamura K, Sano H, Nakanishi M. Japanese public long-term care insured: preferences for future long-term care facilities, including relocation, waiting times, and individualized care. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2015 Apr;16(4):350.e9-350.20. [doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2015.01.082] [Medline: 25732833]
- 4. Tsutsui T, Muramatsu N. Japan's universal long-term care system reform of 2005: containing costs and realizing a vision. J Am Geriatr Soc 2007 Sep;55(9):1458-1463. [doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2007.01281.x] [Medline: 17767690]
- 5. Hotta K, Okuno J, Tomura S, Yanagi H. [Determinant factors encouraging work motivation: a study of care staff working in health services facilities for elderly people]. Nihon Koshu Eisei Zasshi 2009 Dec;56(12):863-874. [Medline: 20169988]
- Yamaguchi Y, Inoue T, Harada H, Oike M. Job control, work-family balance and nurses' intention to leave their profession and organization: A comparative cross-sectional survey. Int J Nurs Stud 2016 Dec;64:52-62 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2016.09.003] [Medline: 27689509]
- Wakui T. Study on work load of matrons under shift work in a special nursing home for the elderly. Ind Health 2000 Jul;38(3):280-288 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2486/indhealth.38.280] [Medline: 10943075]

- Nagatomo I, Akasaki Y, Tominaga M, Hashiguchi W, Uchida M, Takigawa M. Abnormal behavior of residents in a long-term care facility and the associated stress of care staff members. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics 2001 Nov;33(3):203-210. [doi: 10.1016/s0167-4943(01)00182-0]
- Gallego-Alberto L, Losada A, Vara C, Olazarán J, Muñiz R, Pillemer K. Psychosocial Predictors of Anxiety in Nursing Home Staff. Clin Gerontol 2018 Oct 09;41(4):282-292 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/07317115.2017.1370056] [Medline: 28990884]
- 10. Japan's plan for dynamic engagement of all citizens. Cabinet of Japan. URL: <u>http://japan.kantei.go.jp/content/jpnplnde_en.</u> <u>pdf</u> [accessed 2022-02-19]
- 11. Carvalho CMA, Rodrigues CAP, Aguilar PAC, de Castro MF, Andrade RMC, Boudy J, et al. Adaptive Tracking Model in the Framework of Medical Nursing Home Using Infrared Sensors. 2015 Presented at: 2015 IEEE Globecom Workshops (GC Wkshps); December 6-10, 2015; San Deigo, CA p. 1-6. [doi: 10.1109/glocomw.2015.7414030]
- Kumari P, Lopez-Benitez M, Gyu Myoung L, Tae-Seong K, Minhas AS. Wearable Internet of Things from human activity tracking to clinical integration. In: Annu Int Conf IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc. New York, NY: IEEE; 2017 Jul Presented at: 39th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC); 11-15 July 2017; Jeju, Korea (South) p. 2361-2364. [doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2017.8037330]
- Fattah S, Sung N, Ahn I, Ryu M, Yun J. Building IoT Services for Aging in Place Using Standard-Based IoT Platforms and Heterogeneous IoT Products. Sensors (Basel) 2017 Oct 11;17(10):2311 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s17102311] [Medline: 29019964]
- Hsiu-Ling T, Chun Hsiang T, Long-Cian W, Fuh-Shyang J. Bidirectional smart pill box monitored through internet and receiving reminding message from remote relatives. New York, NY: IEEE; 2017 Presented at: IEEE International Conference on Consumer Electronics - Taiwan (ICCE-TW); 12-14 June 2017; Taipei, Taiwan p. 2017. [doi: 10.1109/icce-china.2017.7991161]
- Onoue T, Goto M, Kobayashi T, Tominaga T, Ando M, Honda H, et al. Randomized controlled trial for assessment of Internet of Things system to guide intensive glucose control in diabetes outpatients: Nagoya Health Navigator Study protocol. Nagoya J Med Sci 2017 Aug;79(3):323-329 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.18999/nagjms.79.3.323] [Medline: 28878437]
- 16. Avila K, Sanmartin P, Jabba D, Jimeno M. Applications Based on Service-Oriented Architecture (SOA) in the Field of Home Healthcare. Sensors 2017 Jul 25;17(8):1703. [doi: 10.3390/s17081703]
- 17. Regel Gonzalez-Usach VC, Esteve M, Palau CE. AAL open source system for the monitoring and intelligent control of nursing homes. New York, NY: IEEE; 2017 Presented at: 2017 IEEE 14th International Conference on Networking, Sensing and Control; 16-18 May 2017; Calabria, Italy.
- Stille CJ, Lockhart SA, Maertens JA, Madden CA, Darden PM. Adapting practice-based intervention research to electronic environments: opportunities and complexities at two institutions. EGEMS (Wash DC) 2015;3(1):1111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.13063/2327-9214.1111] [Medline: 25848633]
- 19. Mieronkoski R, Azimi I, Rahmani AM, Aantaa R, Terävä V, Liljeberg P, et al. The Internet of Things for basic nursing care-A scoping review. Int J Nurs Stud 2017 Apr;69:78-90. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2017.01.009</u>] [Medline: <u>28189116</u>]
- 20. Heuchert JP, McNair DM. Profile of Mood States, 2nd Edition (POMS 2). North Tonawanda, NY: Multi-Health Systems Inc; 2012.
- 21. Shacham S. A Shortened Version of the Profile of Mood States. Journal of Personality Assessment 2010 Jun 10;47(3):305-306. [doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa4703_14]
- 22. Pot AM, Willemse BM, Horjus S. A pilot study on the use of tracking technology: feasibility, acceptability, and benefits for people in early stages of dementia and their informal caregivers. Aging Ment Health 2012;16(1):127-134. [doi: 10.1080/13607863.2011.596810] [Medline: 21780960]
- 23. Yokoyama K, Watanabe K. Japanese Translation of POMS 2: Profile of Mood States Second Edition. Tokyo, Japan: Kaneko Shobo; 2015.
- 24. Yokoyama K, Araki S, Kawakami N, Tkakeshita T. [Production of the Japanese edition of profile of mood states (POMS): assessment of reliability and validity]. Nihon Koshu Eisei Zasshi 1990 Nov;37(11):913-918. [Medline: 2132363]
- Goerss D, Hein A, Bader S, Halek M, Kernebeck S, Kutschke A, et al. Automated sensor-based detection of challenging behaviors in advanced stages of dementia in nursing homes. Alzheimers Dement 2020 Apr;16(4):672-680 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2019.08.193] [Medline: 31668595]
- 26. Hajo S, Reed JL, Hans H, Tulloch HE, Reid RD, Prince SA. Physical activity, sedentary time and sleep and associations with mood states, shift work disorder and absenteeism among nurses: an analysis of the cross-sectional Champlain Nurses' Study. PeerJ 2020;8:e8464 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7717/peerj.8464] [Medline: 32175183]
- Engström M, Ljunggren B, Lindqvist R, Carlsson M. Staff perceptions of job satisfaction and life situation before and 6 and 12 months after increased information technology support in dementia care. j telemed telecare 2005 Sep 01;11(6):304-309
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1258/1357633054893292] [Medline: 33134236]
- Pais B, Buluschek P, DuPasquier G, Nef T, Schütz N, Saner H, et al. Evaluation of 1-Year in-Home Monitoring Technology by Home-Dwelling Older Adults, Family Caregivers, and Nurses. Front Public Health 2020;8:518957 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.518957] [Medline: 33134236]

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e19641
```

- Obayashi K, Masuyama S. Pilot and Feasibility Study on Elderly Support Services Using Communicative Robots and Monitoring Sensors Integrated With Cloud Robotics. Clin Ther 2020 Feb;42(2):364-371.e4. [doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2020.01.001] [Medline: <u>31987582</u>]
- 30. Diener E, Emmons RA, Larsen RJ, Griffin S. The Satisfaction With Life Scale. Journal of Personality Assessment 2010 Jun 10;49(1):71-75. [doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa4901_13]
- 31. Marianne C, Elisabeth H. Evaluation of the Life Satisfaction Questionnaire (LSQ) Using Structural Equation Modelling (SEM). Quality of Life Research 2002;11:415-425.
- 32. Krick T, Huter K, Domhoff D, Schmidt A, Rothgang H, Wolf-Ostermann K. Digital technology and nursing care: a scoping review on acceptance, effectiveness and efficiency studies of informal and formal care technologies. BMC Health Serv Res 2019 Jun 20;19(1):400-400 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-019-4238-3] [Medline: 31221133]
- Yap TL, Kennerly SM, Ly K. Pressure Injury Prevention: Outcomes and Challenges to Use of Resident Monitoring Technology in a Nursing Home. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs 2019;46(3):207-213 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/WON.00000000000523] [Medline: 31083063]
- 34. Ko M, Wagner L, Spetz J. Nursing Home Implementation of Health Information Technology: Review of the Literature Finds Inadequate Investment in Preparation, Infrastructure, and Training. Inquiry 2018;55:46958018778902 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0046958018778902] [Medline: 29888677]
- 35. Cohen C, Kampel T, Verloo H. Acceptability of an intelligent wireless sensor system for the rapid detection of health issues: findings among home-dwelling older adults and their informal caregivers. Patient Prefer Adherence 2016;10:1687-1695 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/PPA.S113805] [Medline: 27660417]
- 36. Grant LA, Rockwood T, Stennes L. Client Satisfaction with Telehealth in Assisted Living and Homecare. Telemed J E Health 2015 Dec;21(12):987-991. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2014.0218] [Medline: 26126079]

Abbreviations

ANCOVA: analysis of covariance ANOVA: analysis of variance IoT: internet of things POMS: Profile of Mood States TMD: total mood disturbance

Edited by J Wang; submitted 12.03.21; peer-reviewed by W Zhang, M Danilovich, C Fowler; comments to author 21.07.21; revised version received 16.09.21; accepted 27.12.21; published 23.03.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Itoh S, Tan HP, Kudo K, Ogata Y Comparison of the Mental Burden on Nursing Care Providers With and Without Mat-Type Sleep State Sensors at a Nursing Home in Tokyo, Japan: Quasi-Experimental Study JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e19641 URL: <u>https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e19641</u> doi:10.2196/19641 PMID:<u>35319474</u>

©Sakiko Itoh, Hwee-Pink Tan, Kenichi Kudo, Yasuko Ogata. Originally published in JMIR Aging (https://aging.jmir.org), 23.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



The Usability and Impact of a Low-Cost Pet Robot for Older Adults and People With Dementia: Qualitative Content Analysis of User Experiences and Perceptions on Consumer Websites

Wei Qi Koh¹, BSc; Sally Whelan², PhD; Pascale Heins³, MSc; Dympna Casey¹, PhD; Elaine Toomey⁴, PhD; Rose-Marie Dröes⁵, PhD

¹School of Nursing and Midwifery, College of Medicine, Nursing & Health Sciences, National University of Ireland, Galway, Ireland

²Irish Centre for Autism & Neurodevelopmental Research, National University of Ireland Galway, Galway, Ireland

³Department of Psychiatry and Neuropsychology, School for Mental Health and Neuroscience, Maastricht University, Maastricht, Netherlands ⁴School of Allied Health, University of Limerick, Limerick, Ireland

⁵Department of Psychiatry, Amsterdam University Medical Centers, VUmc/Amsterdam Public Health Research Institute, Amsterdam, Netherlands

Corresponding Author:

Wei Qi Koh, BSc School of Nursing and Midwifery College of Medicine, Nursing & Health Sciences National University of Ireland University Road Galway, H91TK33 Ireland Phone: 353 91493687 Email: weiqi.koh@nuigalway.ie

Abstract

Background: Worldwide, populations are aging exponentially. Older adults and people with dementia are especially at risk of social isolation and loneliness. Social robots, including robotic pets, have had positive impacts on older adults and people with dementia by providing companionship, improving mood, reducing agitation, and facilitating social interaction. Nevertheless, the issue of affordability can hinder technology access. The Joy for All (JfA) robotic pets have showed promise as examples of low-cost alternatives. However, there has been no research that investigated the usability and impact of such low-cost robotic pets based on perceptions and experiences of its use with older adults and people with dementia.

Objective: The aim of our study was to explore the usability and impact of the JfA robotic cat, as an example of a low-cost robot, based on perceptions and experiences of using the JfA cat for older adults and people with dementia.

Methods: We used a novel methodology of analyzing a large volume of information that was uploaded by reviewers of the JfA cat onto online consumer review sites. Data were collected from 15 consumer websites. This provided a total of 2445 reviews. Next, all reviews were screened. A total of 1327 reviews that contained information about use of the JfA cat for older adults or people with dementia were included for analysis. These were reviews that contained terms relating to "older adults," "dementia," and "institutional care" and were published in the English language. Descriptive statistics was used to characterize available demographic information, and textual data were qualitatively analyzed using inductive content analysis.

Results: Most reviews were derived from consumer sites in the United States, and most reviewers were family members of users (ie, older adults and people with dementia). Based on the qualitative content analysis, 5 key themes were generated: prior expectations, perceptions, meaningful activities, impacts, and practicalities. Reviewers had prior expectations of the JfA cat, which included circumstantial reasons that prompted them to purchase this technology. Their perceptions evolved after using the technology, where most reported positive perceptions about their appearance and interactivity. The use of the robot provided opportunities for users to care for it and incorporate it into their routine. Finally, reviewers also shared information about the impacts of device and practicalities related to its use.

Conclusions: This study provides useful knowledge about the usability and impact of a low-cost pet robot, based on experiences and perceptions of its use. These findings can help researchers, robot developers, and clinicians understand the viability of using

low-cost robotic pets to benefit older adults and people with dementia. Future research should consider evaluating design preferences for robotic pets, and compare the effects of low-cost robotic pets with other more technologically advanced robotic pets.

(JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e29224) doi:10.2196/29224

KEYWORDS

social robot; pet robots; low-cost robot; dementia; older adults; qualitative research; qualitative content analysis

Introduction

Worldwide, the population is aging exponentially. Since the prevalence of dementia greatly increases with age, the corresponding number of people with dementia is also on the rise [1]. Older adults and people with dementia are especially at risk of social isolation and reduced psychosocial health [2]. Social robots, such as robotic pets, are innovative technological solutions that are being developed and deployed to address the psychosocial needs of this population [3]. They are defined as autonomous or semiautonomous devices that are socially evocative and socially receptive [4], with the ability to interact with humans in a socially appropriate manner [5]. Pet robots are developed to simulate and substitute animal-assisted therapy [6]. Although animal-assisted therapy can benefit the social and emotional health of older adults and people with dementia by providing companionship, eliciting relaxation, and reducing loneliness [7,8], the use of live animals can pose several challenges. For instance, there is potential for transmission of zoonotic diseases, animal aggression, and compromised animal welfare [9]. Therefore, the use of a robotic alternative is seen as a novel way to enable older people and people with dementia to reap the psychosocial benefits of animal-assisted therapy, while potential adverse effects are avoided. Overall investigations into their effects have demonstrated positive benefits for older adults and people with dementia. Their use was found to have positively affected physiological indicators through improved sleep, improved oxygenation and cardiac status, reduced use of psychotropic drugs, improved mood, and improved social engagement [10-12]. PARO, a robotic seal, was the most studied robotic pet. Other pet robots include AIBO (robotic dog), JustoCat and NeCoRo cat (robotic cats), and Pleo (robotic dinosaur). However, the affordability of the robots is one key issue that has been widely flagged as a concern by multilevel stakeholders [13-15]. For instance, the JustoCat costs approximately US \$1350 and PARO costs about US \$6000. The substantial cost of such technology can reduce innovation

dissemination [16], posing the ethical concern of unequal access [17]. Therefore, there is a need to explore lower costed alternatives.

The Joy for All (JfA) robotic pets have been identified as low-cost and commercially available innovations that have been used for older people and people with dementia [18]. They contain sensors to respond to touch and light, through movements and vocalizations, with the purpose of providing social interaction (Figures 1 and 2). Because they are capable of autonomous responses to stimuli for the purposes of social interaction, they should be considered as social robots. As one unit of the JfA robotic pet costs between US \$110 and US \$130, they are significantly more affordable. Synthesized findings from a recent review showed that despite being less-technologically advanced than other robotic pets, the JfA robotic pets showed promising benefits to address the psychosocial needs of older adults and people with dementia [18]. This included improved mood and affect, improved social interaction, companionship, and other well-being outcomes [18]. The lower cost of the technology also appeared to influence the ways in which the robotic pets were being used. For example, in contrast to other higher-costed pet robots that have been shared among users [12], most older adults and people with dementia that were included in the study owned their own JfA pet [18]. This implied that the affordability of the JfA pets had an influence on the accessibility to and adoption of this technology. Furthermore, individual ownership of social robots was suggested as a way to mediate the issue of infection control by reducing the potential for transmissible diseases from shared use. This is especially relevant in residential care settings in light of the COVID-19 pandemic, where a recent study has advised against the sharing of pet robots [19]. The review also found that while a few studies used both the JfA cat and dog for older adults and people with dementia, most only used the JfA robotic cat. A study by Bradwell et al [20] presented similar findings, where the JfA robotic cat, among 7 other alternatives, was chosen by older adults as their most preferred robotic pet.

Figure 1. Joy for All robotic pets.









be switched off for users with audio sensitivity

Despite its potential as a therapeutic device, there is a lack of research to understand the usability and impact of the JfA cat based on perceptions and experiences of its use with older adults and people with dementia. As such, this study aims to explore the perceptions and experiences of using the JfA cat for older adults and people with dementia, using user-generated content published on consumer websites. This is a novel methodology that will be described below.

Methods

Study Data

The data used for this research are located on public platforms (ie, consumer review sites). Therefore, informed consent for this study was not obtained. However, as the use of direct quotes from consumer reviews could potentially make them identifiable, the quotes that were illustrated in this study were minimally amended to ensure users' anonymity. This study was approved by the National University of Ireland Galway Research Ethics Committee (reference number R20.JUN.12).

Focus on User-Led Content

To date, most research that aims to understand experiences using social robots has traditionally been researcher driven [10]. By contrast, this study utilized the large volume of information uploaded by users of the JfA cat onto publicly accessible online consumer review sites. These sites contain a sizeable body of anecdotal evidence from users who have purchased and used lower costed pet robots. These individuals shared detailed accounts of their experiences, for the primary benefit of other potential users who might be seeking to gather information about the product. Examining this valuable source of information during the study was an opportunity to develop knowledge shifting away from regarding researchers and health care professionals as the sole producers of information toward eliciting the voice and empowerment of nonprofessionals [21]. This approach has been used in other research fields, such as business or consumer research, however it is a novel methodology in the field of health and social sciences which allowed for an examination of user-led content.

Data Collection: Data Sources and Search Strategy

Data collection involved 3 key steps. First, online consumer review sites were identified through a Google search, using the search terms "Joy for All cat" and "user review". The researcher's (WK) internet browsing history and cookies were cleared, and the search was conducted in the incognito mode. Next, the first 100 consumer sites identified from the Google search that contained consumer reviews of the robotic cat were selected as data collection sites. All reviews were manually extracted into Microsoft Excel. This step was essential to ensure a clear audit trail, as the content of a webpage may change depending on what the researcher searches for and researcher's location [21]. Consumer reviews of all languages that were submitted up to July 24, 2020, were extracted using a standardized data extraction form (Multimedia Appendix 1) containing the following data fields: (1) review title, (2) review text, (3) star rating given, and (4) review date. Demographic information about users of the technology, such as their age group, diagnoses, and setting, was also collected if these data were available. If these were not available, the data field was left empty. To ensure anonymity, no potentially identifying information, such as the reviewing authors' name and photo attachments, was collected. Finally, all reviews were screened to identify the sampling frame for data analysis.

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Reviews were included if they contained information about the use of the robotic cat for older adults or people with dementia in any settings and were published in the English language.

As not all reviews contained information regarding users' age and diagnoses, innovative approaches had to be undertaken to ensure that all relevant reviews were adequately considered for inclusion. First, as the average age of becoming a grandparent is between 50 and 69 years in several countries [22-24], it seemed reasonable for the researcher to include reviews that mentioned about the use of the robotic cat for this group (ie, grandparents) as older adults. Next, reviews that contained information about the use of JfA cat in institutional care were also included, as the large majority of people living in assisted living facilities or care homes are of an older age group [25-29].

Hence, reviews that met any of the following inclusion criteria were included in the sampling frame:

- Included terms related to older adults, such as "older adult", "elderly", "elder", "senior", "grandmother", or "grandfather" or explicit comment that users of the JfA robotic cat are aged 60 years and above
- Contained terms related to dementia, such as "dementia", "Alzheimer's disease", "memory loss", "memory problems", "cognitive impairments" or "cognitive issues", "memory care"
- Contained terms related to institutional care, such as "nursing home", "assisted living facility", "retirement home"
- Published in English language

All reviews that did not meet these inclusion criteria were excluded. Reviews that were included were cleaned and formatted on Microsoft Excel before being exported into NVivo 12 (QSR International) for data analysis.

Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics was applied to characterize the number of reviews, available demographic information about users of the JfA cat, and the average star ratings given by users. Textual data were qualitatively analyzed using inductive content analysis, as described by Hsieh and Shannon [30], on the NVivo12 software. This method of data analysis was chosen as it guides systematic categorization of large volumes of text-based data and facilitates the identification of patterns of occurrences [31].

The data analysis proceeded as follows: First, 3 coders (WK, SW, and PH) immersed themselves in the data by reading all data repeatedly to obtain a sense of the whole and to allow new insights to emerge [31,32]. The first 5% of reviews were read word by word by each coder, who independently generated key thoughts or concepts for each phrase, and labeled them using





descriptive and low-inference codes [33,34]. After that, all coders met to discuss similarities and differences, and agreed on codes that formed the initial coding scheme [30]. Next, this coding scheme was tested by WK, SW, and PH, who independently coded another 10% (n=137) of all data using the coding scheme. Data that did not fit into an existing code were assigned a new code. After this, intercoder reliability test (ICR), using the kappa coefficient (κ), was conducted to assess the similarity between the coding produced by the authors. Although there is no set consensus on what proportion of data should be analyzed to yield a reliable estimate of ICR [35], an analysis of 10%-25% of the data set is typical [36]. Conducting this test allowed the rigor and transparency of the coding framework to be ascertained [36-38]. The kappa coefficient of 0.60 was obtained, which demonstrated substantial agreement between coders [39]. Following this, all coders met to discuss and agree upon the final coding framework. In particular, they ensured that all data within the codes and categories were distinctive and that they had good coherence [40,41]. The final coding scheme (Multimedia Appendix 2) was tested by WK and SW, who independently coded another 5% (n=66) of the data set. Strong intercoder reliability was established (κ =0.7). Thereafter, the coding framework was applied to the remaining reviews by WK. Research rigor was ensured through prolonged engagement with the data [42], and frequent meetings with all coders throughout the creation of the coding framework, and to develop and refine the codes and categories.

Results

Overview

Figure 3 shows the flowchart that reports the data identification and collection. A total of 100 websites were identified, of which 15 were consumer review sites for the JfA robotic cat (Table 1).

Table 1. Consumer sites and reviews identified.

Koh	et	al	

Consumer review sites (source)	Number of reviews
Amazon (total: 6 sites)	2068
Joy For All	214
Best Buy	25
MindCare Store	7
Eugeria	5
Caregiver Products	5
Alzstore	32
Alzproducts	10
QVC	79
Walmart	0

Description of Reviews

A total of 2445 consumer reviews were submitted over a 5.5-year period from December 4, 2015, to July 24, 2020. Of these, 1327 reviews met the inclusion criteria and were included for data analysis. Most reviews were derived from consumer

sites from the United States (n=948), Canada (n=132), the United Kingdom (n=80), and Australia (n=13). Most reviews contained information about review date and star rating (n=1309). Overall, the number of reviews increased steadily from 2015 to 2020, and its average star rating was 4.75 (Table 2).

Table 2. Star rating and number of reviews across the years.

Year of review	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020
Number of reviews	15	180	222	228	372	292
Average star rating	4.13	4.63	4.86	4.74	4.76	4.76

Review Authors and Users of the Robotic Cat

Information about the review authors and users is presented in Table 3. Most review authors were family members of the primary users of the JfA cat. The majority were children (n=770), grandchildren (n=120), and partners (n=52) of older

adults or people with dementia. Only 2% (n=22) of all reviewers identified themselves as users of the robotic cat. Information about the relation of other review authors with the older person or person with dementia was not available in 247 (18.61%) cases.

Table 3. Information about review authors and users.

Information	Sample size, n (%) (N=1327)
Review authors	
Relationship to users	
Family members	1038 (78.22)
Children	770 (58.03)
Grandchildren	120 (9.04)
Partners	52 (3.92)
Other relatives	96 (7.23)
Self	22 (1.66)
Others (friends, care workers)	6 (0.45)
No information	247 (18.61)
Users	
Age/diagnosis	
Older adults	586 (44.16)
People with dementia, cognitive impairment or memory issues	687 (51.77)
Gender	
Female	988 (74.45)
Male	121 (9.12)
No information	218 (16.43)
Setting	
Long-term care facilities	399 (30.07)
Memory care facilities	56 (4.22)
Retirement homes	16 (1.21)
Other care facilities	49 (3.69)
Own homes	19 (1.43)
No information	788 (59.38)

The JfA cat was described as being for the use for older adults in 44.16% (586/1327) of reviews, while 51.77% (687/1327) described their use for people with dementia, cognitive impairment, or memory issues. The majority (n=1109) contained information about users' gender, of which 89.09% (n=988) were females. Less than half (n=539) provided explicit information about the setting in which the device was used (Multimedia Appendix 3). Most were used in care settings, including long-term care facilities (n=399), specialized memory care facilities (n=56), retirement homes (n=16), or other care facilities (n=49).

Qualitative Findings

Themes

Five themes were generated from the qualitative analysis: (1) prior expectations, (2) evolving perceptions, (3) meaningful activities, (4) impact of the robotic cat, and (5) practical aspects surrounding the use of the JfA cat. Table 4 shows the main themes, subthemes, and their prevalence in the data. It also provides information on exemplar codes and representative quotes in each subthemes. We will describe the themes in the following sections.



 Table 4. Main themes, subthemes, and exemplar codes.

Main themes and subthemes	Prevalence, n (%) ^a	Examples of exemplar quotes (code)
Prior expectations		
Circumstances	390 (29.39)	When my 89-year-old mother was sent to a nursing home after a hospital stay, she lost her residence of 25 years, and worst of all, she lost her beloved orange tabby (can't have a live cat).
Expectations	182 (13.72)	I was sceptical when I first heard that a mechanical cat like this could provide comfort and relief from anxiety for an elderly person suffering dementia (uncertainty and scepticism).
Perceptions		
Appearance	364 (27.43)	You can feel the bumps on the body through the fur (not lifelike).
Interactivity	418 (31.50)	It's ingeniously designed, with the movements coming at a seemingly random cycle, just like a real animal. The meowing is the only weakness, it doesn't really sound like a cat, but the purring is spot on (positive comment about interactivity).
Expectations met	415 (31.27)	It did way more than I thought it could. Seemed like I found new things it could do for 3 days before I found everything (exceeded expectations).
Ambivalence or rejection	114 (8.59)	I bought this for my grandma, and she was very upset by it. She's in her late 80's and has slight dementia but she still got offended by this kitty. I took the cat home with me since she was so upset. I wasn't trying to insult her (rejection).
Meaningful activities		
Companionship	270 (20.35)	Now Brutus (name for the JfA cat) is helping my grandma not to feel completely alone (companionship).
Doing something (activities)	500 (37.68)	She takes it everywhere she goes, it rides along in her basket in her walker (taking it to places).
Facilitation and support	75 (5.65)	She wants it to purr, but gets upset if it meows too much. So we put it on mute so it still moves it's head and eyes and arm and purrs but doesn't get annoying (facilitation and support).
Treating the robot cat as if it were real	70 (5.28)	We talked to Mom/Grandma and let her know we were going to try to get her cat fixed. She is very concerned that we are going to take her cat away, but we assured her that we would try very hard to not take it away from her (attachment).
Topic of conversation	78 (5.88)	Both cat and grandfather are now quite popular. With dementia, I am not sure if he knows the cat is not real. Needless to say this cat has helped to improve my grandfa- ther's social interactions as many people come to check out the cat (topic of conver- sation).
Impacts		
Positive impacts on users	1000 (75.36)	Mom who has dementia & suffers from sundowner syndrome. Her cat's meowing & purring (an impressively large repertoire of vocalizations) and the many movements it makes in response to touch, motion & sound provide the perfect kind of distraction my Mom needs in those PM hours (a welcome distraction).
Negative impacts (users)	20 (1.51)	She cried the other day because she thought it died (someone turned it off), she picked it up and cried for hours (negative impact on users).
Positive impacts (others)	111 (8.36)	My Mum is in a residential care manor and one of the other residents saw the cat and her daughter bought her one. All the residents love them (positive impacts on others).
Negative impacts on others/care- givers	3 (0.23)	When the care home residents saw the cat, there was a near riot because they all wanted to hold it and stroke it at the same time (negative impact on others).
Practicalities		



Main themes and subthemes	Prevalence, n (%) ^a	Examples of exemplar quotes (code)
Positive aspects	409 (30.82)	We have had it for a few weeks now and have yet to replace the batteries. The cat goes into sleep mode when it is not touched for several minutes which saves the battery life. It is reactivated as soon as one of the sensors in the back or head are touched (battery life).
Negative aspects	118 (8.89)	The product is ONE STAR in terms of reliability. My FIL loved it so much he broke it. We think he held the head too tightly, and ultimately the servos broke. The cat still meows and purrs, but it no longer rolls onto its back and the eyes no longer open (not robust).
Suggestions for improvement	51 (3.84)	One thing they missed though, is the movement a cat makes when you scratch under her chinYou know, head back so you can really get in there. And if they are reading thisthey could make it a smart cat with an app and everything. It would be cool if you could talk to it or give it commands and it responds (suggestions for improvement).

^aBased on a total of 1327 reviews.

Prior Expectations

This theme describes the circumstances which prompted reviewers to acquire the JfA robotic cat for the older person or person with dementia, and reviewers' perceptions of this technology prior to its use. Some reviewers (223/1327, 16.80%) commented that users had previous experience with or liked cats or other animals. However, users were now unable to own a live animal due to circumstantial or personal reasons (181/1327, 13.64%), such as institutional restrictions in residential care facilities and reduced physical or cognitive capacities.

Recently my 93 mother's dementia progressed to the point that she required assisted living in a nursing home. She was devastated that she could not take her two cats with her. She misses them more than anything. [Reviewer 108]

Other reviewers indicated that they were prompted to purchase the JfA cat due to concerns about loneliness and isolation (102/1327, 7.69%), especially for intended users who lived alone or in residential facilities. The impact of COVID-19 measures was discussed in more recent reviews, where reviewers shared that visitation and activity restrictions exacerbated feelings of isolation. As such, expectations were focused on the users' likes of animals, and hopes that it might provide comfort, companionship, and improve their overall quality of life.

When my family was faced with having to admit my 91-year-old Granny to a memory care facility it was devastating for us to think of her in there all alone and sad.... [Reviewer 8]

Due to the pandemic and imposed isolation and restrictions, all enrichment activities such as visiting music, games, exercises, therapy animals were ceased. Residents were no longer allowed to eat with other residents. We hoped the therapy cat would provide some comfort. [Reviewer 13]

A few reviewers (70/1327, 5.28%) reported skepticism about the usefulness of the robotic pet, and concerns about how users would perceive it or respond to it.

I braced myself for a dismissive laugh, a 'what the hell did you get this for, what a waste of money'. [Reviewer 335]

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e29224

RenderX

At first, I was hesitant because I was worried that she (my mother) would be insulted if I gave her a 'toy'. [Reviewer 146]

Perceptions

This theme describes perceptions about the appearance and interactive features of the JfA cat, and whether it has met reviewers' expectations. Perceptions about its appearance were mainly positive (312/1327, 23.51%), as reviewers commented about its life-likeness, size, and weight as resembling a real cat. Reviewers (357/1327, 26.90%) also commented about the device's realistic movements and vocalizations, especially its purring. Some pointed out that their JfA cat looked similar to users' previous cats. The robotic cat has sensors to respond to light and touch, however, its vocal and movement responses are nonprogrammable and are unpredictable. Some reviewers perceived its unpredictability as behaviors that resembled a live cat.

At intervals, this cat flicks its ears, raises a paw to its face as if it's washing, turns it head when touched, blinks its eyes, and partially closes its eyes; and purrs and meows when it's head and back are petted. It also rolls back to expose its belly, and what is funny about the cat, is that the moments are unpredictable, and spontaneous just as if it were real. [Reviewer 394]

However, a few reviewers were negative in their comments (105/1327, 7.91%). The robotic cat was thought to be hard to the touch, which reduced its cuddliness and realism. The meowing sound of the cat was perceived as sounding like a person imitating its meow, and some movements were perceived to be mechanical looking and sounding. Although most reviewers said that not being life-like did not influence the interaction that users had with the technology, others commented that users' acceptance of the device was negatively impacted.

She (my mother) doesn't seem to notice the battery pack which is quite hard but likes to pet it (JfA cat) and keeps it on her bed at night. [Reviewer 588]

The facial and ear movements do make some mechanical noise, but they're not that loud and don't detract from it. The one thing that I could do without is that occasionally the front half twists and rolls back, then after a few minutes it comes back up. That's

when you hear the loud motor really kick in and I find it to be an unnatural movement. [Reviewer 215]

While she (my mother) seemed to like the cat at first, she noticed the jerky movements and mechanical sounds it makes when it turns its head and she didn't like this. Three weeks after giving it to her she says that it's a beautiful cat, but that there's something wrong with it. [Reviewer 262]

Perceptions of the JfA cat sometimes evolved with its use. Although most reviewers who discussed about their expectations of the robotic cat perceived it to have met or exceeded their prior expectations and fitted the needs of users (182/1327, 13.72%), some considered that the JfA cat may not be suitable for everyone. Similarly, a few users were ambivalent or had negative perceptions, and rejected the technology (72/1327, 5.43%).

We didn't know if (my father) would like it, scoff at it, or soon get bored with it. His eyes lit up the moment it (JfA cat) was taken out of the box. [Reviewer 171]

My elderly aunt found the cat "creepy" and wanted no part of it. I can see how some elderly people would like this mechanical replica, but she didn't like it. [Reviewer 161]

Meaningful Activities

This theme describes the engagement in meaningful activities with the JfA cat. Use of the JfA cat provided opportunities to supervise or provide care for older people and people with dementia (500/1327, 37.68%). Activities included holding, petting or brushing it, talking to it, keeping it on their laps, sleeping with it, and taking it to places. Some activities, such as naming the cat after their previous pet or loved ones, also provided an avenue for users to reminisce about past experiences. The robot's interactivity also appeared to be perceived as behaviors of reciprocity, which facilitated users to continue engaging with it.

She (my mother) no longer speaks and appears somewhat catatonic. We were looking for ways to 'reach' her since talking to her and trying other activities were fruitless. We gave her this cat and got a glimpse into our mom again! The purring, meowing and movements awakened my mom and she came alive. [Reviewer 763]

He (my dad) stroked her head, tail and back. He wanted to know her name. We told him she needed him to pick one for her. She became Fluffy! She meowed...He meowed back and laughed.... [Reviewer 167]

In some instances, the JfA cat was perceived to replace a lack of activity or participation, or replace undesirable or restless behaviors. Reviewers also commented that it provided companionship, and some users developed an attachment toward it.

She (my mother) has stopped looking for her kids at night and she is focused on taking care of her cat. [Reviewer 1060]

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e29224

She (my mother) will hang onto it (JfA cat) for dear life and not want to give it back to us. She has it with her at all times except at meals and during structured activities. [Reviewer 763]

The JfA cat also provided users with a topic of conversation with others, including family members, friends, care providers, and residents within care facilities. Some passers-by would stop to interact with the user, talking about the JfA cat. This suggests that the robotic pet provided different opportunities for interactions.

She (my mother) had great difficulty speaking but would ask for "baby" every morning, would meow back at the cat and carry on an indecipherable conversation everyday. [Reviewer 641]

I was delighted that not only did she (my mother) find it wonderful, but she also had the experience that all the dementia patients in her facility, including the nurses, are doting and cooing at the kitty cat. I was pleased that it brought her comfort and joy from the attention she got as well as the kitty itself. [Reviewer 651]

Users varied as to whether they considered the JfA cat to be real. Reviewers (74/1327, 5.58%) mentioned that users were aware that this was not a live cat, but still enjoyed the device. While some commented about explicit attempts to introduce or remind users that the JfA cat is a robotic device, others suggested that users should treat it as a real cat. Some users who were not aware that the JfA cat was a robotic device treated it as if it were a live animal (70/1327, 5.28%) and tried to feed it with food and water, which dirtied it. Such perceptions also caused anxiety among some users, who became concerned that it would not eat or drink, or that it would escape. The device's vocalizations caused concerns among some users (70/1327, 5.28%), who became worried that the cat was upset. Some also exhibited distress when the robotic cat was not moving.

It's unclear whether she (my mother) believes it (JfA cat) is real or not - but we avoid clarifying that it isn't, and all try to act interact with it in front of her as though it is real, and of course we helped her pick a name! [Reviewer 594]

Dad was nervous his cat would escape and get lost or that no one had given her food or water and she'd die. Mom had to stop him from bring Fluffy water (i.e., dumping it over her). [Reviewer 167]

Impact of the Robotic Cat

This theme describes how the JfA robotic cat impacted the primary user and the caregiver. Most reviewers (874/1327, 65.86%) reported that users exhibited positive emotions. These included expressions of love and affection toward the robotic cat, expressions of joy, and improved mood. Several reviewers (228/1327, 17.18%) also commented that use of this technology was calming, provided comfort, and gave users a sense of purpose.

She [my mother] now has a reason to get out of bed in the morning and is back to her old self again. [Reviewer 554]

I would say this week has been his calmest, happiest, most relaxed, enjoyable week in possibly three or more years! Because of this life-like, mechanical companion designed exactly for people like him. [Reviewer 167]

She never slept through the night. Usually, I am up with her constantly, but we actually had to wake her this morning. She actually went to sleep with her cat cuddled in her arms. [Reviewer 160]

The reviewers and other caregivers were also impacted. Reviewers shared about positive emotions and physical relief that they, their family members, and care staff experienced from observing users' interactions with the robotic cat (161/1327, 12.13%). Amidst these feelings, some reviewers shared about a sense of conflict or dilemma in watching users interact with a robotic device.

The amount of joy this has brought her - and me watching her interact with the cat - is priceless. [Reviewer 265]

Now honestly for some in my family the idea that my mom is in love with a mechanical cat and believes it is real can be a distressing and shocking new reality. But to see her joy with this cat and to occasionally use it as a diversion when she sundowns or when she goes through an angry phase is priceless. [Reviewer 530]

The JfA cat was also reported to have a positive impact on other people (111/1327, 8.36%), such as users' neighbors, or other residents in their care facility, who also enjoyed the technology.

She enjoys sharing it with all the other residents, and they agree that petting this purring cat is very soothing and relaxing. [Reviewer 146]

Practical Aspects of Its Use

This theme describes comments about the facilitation that was rendered to support users' interaction with the JfA cat, overall experiences of the technology, and technical aspects of its use. Some reviewers provided mediation and supported users who perceived it to be a real animal (75/1327, 5.65%). Actions included reassuring users that the JfA cat was well taken care of, keeping it on mute or turning it off at night when users fell asleep, preparing spare batteries and being ready to prepare to change them as needed, and regularly cleaning food stains off its mouth. A few mentioned the use of a waterproof bib on the JfA cat's neck, and creating artificial feeding stations. Some reviewers also commented that they purchased an additional robotic cat as a back-up device.

It was purring a lot last night and I heard him telling the cat "shhhhh". I looked over and he's looking it in the eyes and shhhhing it. So I turned the cat off for a while. [Reviewer 722]

I've got her (JfA cat) a collar and made her a tag and a feeding station (thank you hot glue and modge podge), so that he can care for her the way years of instinct and memories tell him he should. [Reviewer 167] Overall, most reviewers (409/1327, 30.82%) reported positive experiences. This included comments about satisfaction, and comments that they would recommend this device to others.

If you have someone in your life living with dementia or Alzheimer's, or something similar, please consider...this for that person. I haven't seen my grandmother that happy since before she became sick. [Reviewer 180]

Nevertheless, some reviewers (118/1327, 8.89%) shared negative experiences, which included comments about the technical aspects of its use. Experiences about the JfA cat's technical performance were mixed. While some reviewers shared that the technology was durable and lasted for over a year at the time of review (32/1327, 2.41%), others commented that it only lasted for a week to 8 months (48/1327, 3.62%). Others elaborated that the short lifespan of the device was sometimes attributed to users' behaviors, such as attempts to feed it or holding it too tightly, which hindered or damaged the device's mechanics. Such issues led to disappointment among some reviewers.

Grandma holds it so tight that when the cat wants to put its paw up or roll on its back, she is preventing the movement. Now, it sounds like the motor has been damaged. [Reviewer 344]

It's really sad that this cat did not last. My elderly mother is devastated....Really, really, really disappointed. [Reviewer 207]

Some reviewers also raised concerns about difficulties cleaning the robotic cat and maintaining its cleanliness.

Ours is showing wear around the cat's mouth as grandma keeps insisting on feeding it real food...so I am cleaning it ALOT with dove soap, water and a washcloth. [Reviewer 265]

It is difficult to clean Lucette's (name for the JfA cat) fur. Elderly people do tend to be like children and stroke their pets with sticky hands. [Reviewer 108]

Finally, some reviewers (51/1327, 3.84%) suggested how the JfA cat could be improved. These included improvements to its appearance, such as having more cushioning to make it softer to hold, having a more realistic "meowing" sound, and more interactive movements. Reviewers also commented that the device should be more durable and customizable, and suggested that volume controls or options to turn off the movement of the cat while keeping its sounds on should be made available.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This is the first study to use a novel web-based approach to explore the usability and impact of a low-cost robotic pet for older adults and people with dementia, based on perceptions and experiences of its use. Most of the review content was derived from consumer sites that were based in the United States, and most reviewers were family members of older adults and people with dementia. Overall, most reviewers had positive perceptions and experiences of using the JfA cat and found it

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e29224

to be beneficial and practical for older adults and people with dementia. Nevertheless, not all were satisfied with this technology.

Users' previous experiences of pet ownership were frequently reported as a circumstantial reason for purchasing the JfA cat for the intended user. This finding aligns with previous findings that users' like of animals influenced their acceptance of a robotic pet [43]. Therefore, it may be worth screening users' likes and dislikes of animals as a predictor to gauge their acceptance of the robotic pets [44]. Reviewers also acknowledged that pragmatic deterrents, such as institutional regulations and a lack of capacity to care for a live animal, propelled them to seek robotic alternatives. This echoes the proposition that a recognition of the relative advantage of an innovation can facilitate its adoption [45].

Most perceptions about the JfA cat were positive, which suggests its design as a familiar animal was acceptable. In previous studies, familiarly designed robotic animals, such as the JustoCat and the NeCoRo cat, were also well received by older adults and people with dementia [46,47]. Likewise, other studies have highlighted preferences for familiarly designed pet robots [20,48,49]. These findings contrast with the notion that people are more likely to accept less familiarly designed robots because they would have fewer prior conceptions or expectations [50]. However, this hypothesis has not been widely evaluated, as few studies have investigated design preferences of older adults or people with dementia. Indeed, in most research studies, participants were typically given a single pet robot to engage with, which was selected based on the needs of the research rather than the preference of the participants. In line with a person-centered approach to care [51], older adults and people with dementia should be given the autonomy to choose their preferred robotic pet design. People with dementia, especially in the advanced disease stages, may not be able to articulate their preferences for pet design. However, they should still be given opportunities to participate in decisions relating to their care [52], to allow for the maintenance of self-identity, dignity [53], and personhood [54]. Moving forward, more considerations should be made to identify pet robot design preferences of individuals.

Use of the robotic cat offered older adults and people with dementia opportunities to participate in meaningful activities. Older adults and people with dementia participated in an array of activities with the JfA cat, such as talking to it and about it, cuddling, and stroking it. These findings resonate with results from studies which used other robotic pets [46,48,55,56], suggesting the potential of the JfA cat to elicit similar activities. Other activities identified included brushing the cat, sleeping with it, and taking it to places. Some reviewers supported these meaningful activities by getting a brush for users to brush the cat, and getting a cat bed and a personalized collar to allow for easier identification in care facilities. Such activities were not reported in previous studies and appeared to be unique to this study. This might be attributed to more opportunities for interaction with the cat over an extended period, made possible due to individuals owning their own robotic cat and not sharing it with others. Individual ownership may have provided users with the opportunity to take ownership of the robotic pet and

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e29224
```

be actively involved as care providers, in contrast to their traditional role as passive recipients of care [57]. Furthermore, the consistent and proximate presence of the JfA cat might have enabled such additional activities involving its use to be scaffolded naturally.

The relationship between engagement in meaningful activities and health outcomes has been established [58-62]. Similar to findings from previous studies [10-12,18], participating in activities with the JfA cat elicited positive emotions among users, and also provided comforting and calming effects. This is an important finding, because it highlights the potential of the JfA cat to elicit therapeutic benefits that are similar to costlier and more technologically sophisticated robotic pets. This raises an important question—In consideration of potential cost benefits, what degree of technological sophistication is required for a robotic pet to be therapeutic? Further research and randomized controlled trials should be conducted to evaluate and compare the effectiveness of low-cost robotic pets on the mental and social health of older adults and people with dementia, with other more technologically advanced robots.

The movements and vocalizations of the JfA cat appeared to be perceived positively by users as behaviors of reciprocity. Reciprocity, or the give and take that occurs between individuals, can influence the maintenance of social relationships [63,64]. This may explain why interactive robotic pets have been able to elicit more user engagement as compared with noninteractive or plush alternatives [65,66]. Interestingly, the lack of predictable responses to touch and movement was interpreted by some users as resemblant of a live cat's behavior, and was well received. Nevertheless, the JfA cat's interactive features also resulted in some negative impacts, particularly among those who perceived it as a live animal. When the robotic cat ran out of batteries, some users exhibited emotional distress as they perceived it to be dead. The meowing sounds worried or caused annoyance to some users, who sometimes perceived the robotic cat to have unmet needs. Similar issues have also been raised previously in relation to other robotic pets [13,48,67,68]. Furthermore, some users became concerned that the cat was not eating and attempted to feed it. These issues may be due to individual ownership of the robotic cat, where perceived responsibility for pet care may place a burden on people with cognitive impairment [69]. In such instances, reviewers provided mediation and support. This suggests that unattended, prolonged interactions with the robotic pet may have the potential to cause negative impacts. In turn, this raises the question as to what amount of robot-human interactions, especially for people with cognitive impairments, should be conducted completely without the support of caregivers. Findings from this study suggest some degree of facilitation and mediation by caregivers may still be necessary.

The JfA cat also positively impacted caregivers, providing them with a sense of relief and positive emotions, which included feelings of happiness and contentment. There is currently a lack of research that has focused on how robotic pets impact caregivers. More research is needed to increase understanding, especially since one of the key premises for developing social robots is to supplement and support the care of older people with dementia [66].

XSL•FO RenderX

Finally, despite the overall positive perceptions and experiences, some reviewers reported negative opinions about the cat's design. This included comments about its "hardness" and lack of sophistication, such as audible mechanics during movements and unrealistic "meowing" sounds. These issues did not appear to influence most users' interaction with the robotic cat, suggesting that reviewers may have a higher expectation than the end users in wanting the robotic cat to behave more realistically and autonomously. Nevertheless, these issues resulted in the rejection of this technology by a minority of users. Comments about the robustness of the technology were mixed, with some reviewers being dissatisfied with its durability. Some elaborated that users' handling of the JfA cat, such as holding it too tightly or dropping it, affected its functioning. The relatively short longevity of the device has potential to cause negative impacts such as emotional distress, especially among users who have developed an attachment toward it [70]. The understanding of such issues are useful to inform future robot development to ensure technological robustness [18].

Limitations

Despite the valuable new knowledge that was generated through this study, there are limitations that should be acknowledged. Data that were used for this study were self-reported information that was gathered through publicly available sources. The anonymity of users makes it difficult to verify the authenticity of the content, and to verify the ages and diagnoses of the users of the robotic cat. Most reviewers were family members, and as such, their perceptions and experiences might differ from actual opinions of the primary end user (ie, older adults or people with dementia). Although most included reviews were shown as verified purchases, it is not possible to confirm the authenticity of review or distinguish potentially deceptive reviews. There could also be a bias in terms of the representation of data, as not all consumers will upload their reviews on consumer websites. Nevertheless, given the analysis of the large number of reviews from multiple websites across a 5-year period, as well as the richness of the data contained in these reviews, it may be reasonable to infer that the findings from this study represent real-world perceptions and experiences of using the JfA cat for older adults and people with dementia.

Conclusion

This study provides important knowledge about the usability and impact of a low-cost robotic pet for older adults and people with dementia based on perceptions and experiences of its use. It analyzed user-driven content to access a unique perspective toward an understanding of this phenomenon. We found that circumstantial reasons, such as inability to care for a pet, have prompted the use of the robotic cat, and that familiarly designed robotic pets can be accepted by older adults and people with dementia. Although the JfA cat is less technologically advanced than other robotic pets, its interactive features were generally well received. Use of the JfA cat facilitated participation in meaningful occupations, as it provided older adults and people with dementia opportunities to participate in various activities. These activities elicited positive psychosocial impacts on both users and caregivers. Nevertheless, facilitation by caregivers may be necessary to monitor for and mitigate potential negative impacts. Although perceptions and experiences were mainly positive, negative aspects of the JfA cat's design and interactivity were raised. Experiences of its durability were also mixed, which highlights the need to improve the technical robustness of this device.

These insights are vital in helping researchers, robot developers, and clinicians to understand the viability of using low-cost robotic pets to benefit older adults and people with dementia. Future research should consider evaluating design preferences for nonfamiliarly versus familiarly designed robotic pets. It will also be valuable to conduct a randomized controlled trial to compare the impacts of low-cost robotic pets with other more technologically advanced robotic pets, to understand any similarities or differences of their impacts on the mental and social health of older adults and people with dementia. A process evaluation may also be conducted to identify factors that may explain any outcome variations. This has the potential to influence equal access to technology if their impacts on the psychosocial health of users are comparable.

Acknowledgments

We thank Ben Meehan for his support and guidance in using the NVivo 12 software for data analysis. The research presented in this paper was carried out within the Dementia: Intersectorial Strategy for Training and Innovation Network for Current Technology (DISTINCT) Innovative Training Network, which received funding from the European Union's Marie Skłodowska-Curie Innovative Training Network (ITN) action, H2020-MSCA-ITN-2018, under grant agreement number 813196.

Authors' Contributions

WQK conceptualized the research, developed the review questions and review design, and collected the data. WQK, SW, and PH coded and analyzed the data. Preliminary results were discussed with RMD. WQK initiated the first draft of the manuscript. All authors read the draft and provided critical feedback. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Data extraction form.

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e29224

[XLSX File (Microsoft Excel File), 29 KB - aging_v5i1e29224_app1.xlsx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Coding framework. [DOCX File , 36 KB - aging v5i1e29224_app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Settings. [DOCX File , 16 KB - aging v5i1e29224 app3.docx]

References

- 1. Ageing and health. World Health Organization. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/</u> ageing-and-health [accessed 2022-03-03]
- Werth JL, Gordon JR, Johnson RR. Psychosocial issues near the end of life. Aging Ment Health 2002 Nov;6(4):402-412. [doi: 10.1080/1360786021000007027] [Medline: 12425774]
- Miklósi A, Gácsi M. On the utilization of social animals as a model for social robotics. Front Psychol 2012;3:75. [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00075] [Medline: 22457658]
- 4. Fong T, Nourbakhsh I, Dautenhahn K. A survey of socially interactive robots. Robotics and Autonomous Systems 2003 Mar;42(3-4):143-166. [doi: 10.1016/s0921-8890(02)00372-x]
- Bartneck C, Forlizzi J. A design-centred framework for social human-robot interaction. 2004 Presented at: RO-MAN 2004: 13th IEEE International Workshop on Robot and Human Interactive Communication; Kurashiki, Japan; September 22, 2004. [doi: 10.1109/roman.2004.1374827]
- Petersen S, Houston S, Qin H, Tague C, Studley J. The Utilization of Robotic Pets in Dementia Care. JAD 2016 Nov 19;55(2):569-574. [doi: 10.3233/jad-160703]
- Banks MR, Banks WA. The Effects of Animal-Assisted Therapy on Loneliness in an Elderly Population in Long-Term Care Facilities. The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences 2002 Jul 01;57(7):M428-M432. [doi: 10.1093/gerona/57.7.m428]
- 8. Le RM, Kemp R. Effect of a companion dog on depression and anxiety levels of elderly residents in a long?term care facility. Psychogeriatrics 2009;9(1):23-26. [doi: 10.1111/j.1479-8301.2009.00268.x]
- 9. Lai N, Chang S, Ng S, Tan S, Chaiyakunapruk N, Stanaway F. Animal-assisted therapy for dementia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2019 Nov 25;2019(11):CD013243 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD013243.pub2] [Medline: 31763689]
- Hung L, Liu C, Woldum E, Au-Yeung A, Berndt A, Wallsworth C, et al. The benefits of and barriers to using a social robot PARO in care settings: a scoping review. BMC Geriatr 2019 Aug 23;19(1):232-210 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12877-019-1244-6] [Medline: <u>31443636</u>]
- Pu L, Moyle W, Jones C, Todorovic M. The Effectiveness of Social Robots for Older Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Studies. Gerontologist 2019 Jan 09;59(1):e37-e51. [doi: <u>10.1093/geront/gny046</u>] [Medline: <u>29897445</u>]
- Abbott R, Orr N, McGill P, Whear R, Bethel A, Garside R, et al. How do "robopets" impact the health and well-being of residents in care homes? A systematic review of qualitative and quantitative evidence. Int J Older People Nurs 2019 Sep 09;14(3):e12239-e12223 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/opn.12239] [Medline: 31070870]
- Moyle W, Bramble M, Jones C, Murfield J. Care staff perceptions of a social robot called Paro and a look-alike Plush Toy: a descriptive qualitative approach. Aging Ment Health 2018 Mar 14;22(3):330-335. [doi: <u>10.1080/13607863.2016.1262820</u>] [Medline: <u>27967207</u>]
- 14. Sung H, Chang S, Chin M, Lee W. Robot-assisted therapy for improving social interactions and activity participation among institutionalized older adults: a pilot study. Asia Pac Psychiatry 2015 Mar 01;7(1):1-6. [doi: 10.1111/appy.12131] [Medline: 24692085]
- 15. Wu Y, Wrobel J, Cornuet M, Kerhervé H, Damnée S, Rigaud A. CIA 2014 May:801. [doi: 10.2147/cia.s56435]
- Koh WQ, Felding SA, Budak KB, Toomey E, Casey D. Barriers and facilitators to the implementation of social robots for older adults and people with dementia: a scoping review. BMC Geriatr 2021 Jun 09;21(1):351-317 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12877-021-02277-9] [Medline: 34107876]
- 17. Ienca M, Jotterand F, Vică C, Elger B. Social and Assistive Robotics in Dementia Care: Ethical Recommendations for Research and Practice. Int J of Soc Robotics 2016 Jun 22;8(4):565-573. [doi: <u>10.1007/s12369-016-0366-7</u>]
- Koh WQ, Ang FXH, Casey D. Impacts of Low-cost Robotic Pets for Older Adults and People With Dementia: Scoping Review. JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2021 Feb 12;8(1):e25340 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25340] [Medline: 33497349]
- Bradwell HL, Johnson CW, Lee J, Winnington R, Thill S, Jones RB. Microbial contamination and efficacy of disinfection procedures of companion robots in care homes. PLoS One 2020 Aug 26;15(8):e0237069 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0237069</u>] [Medline: <u>32845891</u>]

- Bradwell HL, Edwards KJ, Winnington R, Thill S, Jones RB. Companion robots for older people: importance of user-centred design demonstrated through observations and focus groups comparing preferences of older people and roboticists in South West England. BMJ Open 2019 Sep 26;9(9):e032468 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-032468] [Medline: 31558461]
- 21. Skalski PD, Neuendorf KA, Cajigas JA. Content analysis in the interactive media age. In: Neuendorf KA, editor. The content analysis guidebook. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage; 2017:201-242.
- 22. Grandparents today national survey: General population report. 2019. AARP. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.aarp.org/content/dam/aarp/research/surveys_statistics/life-leisure/2019/aarp-grandparenting-study.doi.10.26419-2Fres.00289.001.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-11-08]
- 23. National Seniors Australia. Australia grandparents care. National Seniors Australia. URL: <u>https://nationalseniors.com.au/uploads/NSA-ResearchReport-Grandparenting-final.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-11-10]
- 24. Milestones: journeying through adulthood. Office for National Statistics. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/</u> peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/articles/milestonesjourneyingthroughadulthood/ 2019-12-17 [accessed 2022-11-08]
- 25. What is aged care? Australian Government Department of Health. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.health.gov.au/health-topics/aged-care/about-aged-care/what-is-aged-care</u> [accessed 2020-12-10]
- 26. Assisted living and extra-care housing. Age UK. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.ageuk.org.uk/information-advice/care/housing-options/assisted-living-and-extra-care-housing/</u>[accessed 2022-12-04]
- 27. When a nursing home is a home: how do Canadian nursing homes measure up on quality? Canadian Institute of Health Information. 2013. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/33wtefzp</u> [accessed 2022-12-01]
- 28. Changes in the Older Resident Care Home Population between 2001 and 2011. Office for National Statistics. 2014. URL: https://tinyurl.com/2p83kvwv [accessed 2022-12-05]
- 29. Assisted living Facts and figures. American Health Care Association/National Center for Assisted Living. 2009. URL: https://www.ahcancal.org/Assisted-Living/Facts-and-Figures/Pages/default.aspx [accessed 2022-12-01]
- Hsieh H, Shannon SE. Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. Qual Health Res 2005 Nov 01;15(9):1277-1288. [doi: 10.1177/1049732305276687] [Medline: 16204405]
- 31. Tesch R. Qualitative Research: Analysis Types and Software. Oxford, UK: Routledge; 2013.
- 32. Kondracki NL, Wellman NS, Amundson DR. Content Analysis: Review of Methods and Their Applications in Nutrition Education. Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior 2002 Jul;34(4):224-230. [doi: 10.1016/s1499-4046(06)60097-3]
- Moltu C, Stefansen J, Svisdahl M, Veseth M. Negotiating the coresearcher mandate service users' experiences of doing collaborative research on mental health. Disabil Rehabil 2012;34(19):1608-1616. [doi: <u>10.3109/09638288.2012.656792</u>] [Medline: <u>22489612</u>]
- 34. Punch K. Introduction to Social Research: Quantitative and Qualitative Approaches. London, UK: Sage; 2013.
- Campbell JL, Quincy C, Osserman J, Pedersen OK. Coding In-depth Semistructured Interviews. Sociological Methods & Research 2013 Aug 21;42(3):294-320. [doi: <u>10.1177/0049124113500475</u>]
- 36. O'Connor C, Joffe H. Intercoder Reliability in Qualitative Research: Debates and Practical Guidelines. International Journal of Qualitative Methods 2020 Jan 22;19:160940691989922. [doi: 10.1177/1609406919899220]
- 37. MacPhail C, Khoza N, Abler L, Ranganathan M. Process guidelines for establishing Intercoder Reliability in qualitative studies. Qualitative Research 2015 Apr 20;16(2):198-212. [doi: 10.1177/1468794115577012]
- Hruschka DJ, Schwartz D, St.John DC, Picone-Decaro E, Jenkins RA, Carey JW. Reliability in Coding Open-Ended Data: Lessons Learned from HIV Behavioral Research. Field Methods 2016 Jul 24;16(3):307-331. [doi: 10.1177/1525822x04266540]
- Landis JR, Koch GG. The Measurement of Observer Agreement for Categorical Data. Biometrics 1977 Mar;33(1):159. [doi: <u>10.2307/2529310</u>]
- 40. Mannion A, Summerville S, Barrett E, Burke M, Santorelli A, Kruschke C, et al. Introducing the Social Robot MARIO to People Living with Dementia in Long Term Residential Care: Reflections. Int J of Soc Robotics 2019 Jun 14;12(2):535-547. [doi: 10.1007/s12369-019-00568-1]
- 41. Patton M. Qualitative Evaluation and Research Methods (2nd edition). Newbury Park, CA: Sage; 1990.
- 42. Erlandson DA, Harris EL, Skipper BL, Allen SD. Doing Naturalistic Inquiry: A Guide to Methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage; 1993.
- 43. Shibata T. Therapeutic Seal Robot as Biofeedback Medical Device: Qualitative and Quantitative Evaluations of Robot Therapy in Dementia Care. Proc. IEEE 2012 Aug 8;100(8):2527-2538. [doi: 10.1109/jproc.2012.2200559]
- 44. Moyle W, Jones C, Murfield J, Thalib L, Beattie E, Shum D, et al. Using a therapeutic companion robot for dementia symptoms in long-term care: reflections from a cluster-RCT. Aging Ment Health 2019 Mar 28;23(3):329-336. [doi: 10.1080/13607863.2017.1421617] [Medline: 29282989]
- 45. Greenhalgh T, Robert G, Macfarlane F, Bate P, Kyriakidou O. Diffusion of Innovations in Service Organizations: Systematic Review and Recommendations. Milbank Quarterly 2004 Dec;82(4):581-629. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.0887-378x.2004.00325.x</u>]
- 46. Gustafsson C, Svanberg C, Müllersdorf M. Using a Robotic Cat in Dementia Care: A Pilot Study. J Gerontol Nurs 2015 Oct;41(10):46-56. [doi: 10.3928/00989134-20150806-44] [Medline: 26488255]

- 47. Libin A, Cohen-Mansfield J. Therapeutic robocat for nursing home residents with dementia: preliminary inquiry. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen 2004 Jun 30;19(2):111-116 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/153331750401900209] [Medline: 15106392]
- 48. Jung MM, van der Leij L, Kelders SM. An Exploration of the Benefits of an Animallike Robot Companion with More Advanced Touch Interaction Capabilities for Dementia Care. Front. ICT 2017 Jun 26;4:1-9. [doi: 10.3389/fict.2017.00016]
- 49. Moyle W, Bramble M, Jones C, Murfield J. "She Had a Smile on Her Face as Wide as the Great Australian Bite": A Qualitative Examination of Family Perceptions of a Therapeutic Robot and a Plush Toy. Gerontologist 2019 Jan 09;59(1):177-185. [doi: 10.1093/geront/gnx180] [Medline: 29165558]
- 50. Shibata T, Wada K. Robot therapy: a new approach for mental healthcare of the elderly a mini-review. Gerontology 2011;57(4):378-386 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000319015] [Medline: 20639620]
- 51. Clinical practice guidelines and principles of care for people with dementia. Australian Government National Health and Medical Research Council. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.clinicalguidelines.gov.au/portal/2503/</u> <u>clinical-practice-guidelines-and-principles-care-people-dementia</u> [accessed 2020-12-01]
- Smebye KL, Kirkevold M, Engedal K. How do persons with dementia participate in decision making related to health and daily care? a multi-case study. BMC Health Serv Res 2012 Aug 07;12(1):241-212 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-12-241] [Medline: 22870952]
- 53. Gallagher A, Li S, Wainwright P, Jones IR, Lee D. Dignity in the care of older people a review of the theoretical and empirical literature. BMC Nurs 2008 Jul 11;7(1):11-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6955-7-11] [Medline: 18620561]
- 54. Kitwood T. Dementia Reconsidered: The Person Comes First. Berkshire, UK: Open University Press; 1997.
- 55. Birks M, Bodak M, Barlas J, Harwood J, Pether M. Robotic Seals as Therapeutic Tools in an Aged Care Facility: A Qualitative Study. J Aging Res 2016;2016:8569602-8569606 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2016/8569602] [Medline: 27990301]
- Chang W, Sabanovic S. Interaction expands function: Social shaping of the therapeutic robot PARO in a nursing home. 2015 Presented at: 10th ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction (HRI); March 2-5, 2015; Portland, OR. [doi: 10.1145/2696454.2696472]
- 57. Martin F, Turner A, Wallace LM, Choudhry K, Bradbury N. Perceived barriers to self-management for people with dementia in the early stages. Dementia (London) 2013 Jul 15;12(4):481-493. [doi: <u>10.1177/1471301211434677</u>] [Medline: <u>24336956</u>]
- 58. Orsulic-Jeras S, Judge K, Camp C. Montessori-based activities for long-term care residents with advanced dementia: effects on engagement and affect. Gerontologist 2000 Feb;40(1):107-111. [doi: <u>10.1093/geront/40.1.107</u>] [Medline: <u>10750318</u>]
- 59. Engelman K, Altus D, Mathews R. Increasing engagement in daily activities by older adults with dementia. Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis 1999;32(1):107-110. [doi: 10.1901/jaba.1999.32-107]
- 60. Bennett S, Laver K, Voigt-Radloff S, Letts L, Clemson L, Graff M, et al. Occupational therapy for people with dementia and their family carers provided at home: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Open 2019 Nov 11;9(11):e026308 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-026308] [Medline: 31719067]
- 61. Stav W, Hallenen T, Lane J, Arbesman M. Systematic review of occupational engagement and health outcomes among community-dwelling older adults. Am J Occup Ther 2012;66(3):301-310. [doi: <u>10.5014/ajot.2012.003707</u>] [Medline: <u>22549595</u>]
- 62. Dröes RM, Chattat R, Diaz A, Gove D, Graff M, Murphy K, INTERDEM sOcial Health Taskforce. Social health and dementia: a European consensus on the operationalization of the concept and directions for research and practice. Aging Ment Health 2017 Jan 21;21(1):4-17. [doi: 10.1080/13607863.2016.1254596] [Medline: 27869503]
- 63. Fyrand L. Reciprocity: A Predictor of Mental Health and Continuity in Elderly People's Relationships? A Review. Curr Gerontol Geriatr Res 2010:1-13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2010/340161] [Medline: 20871667]
- 64. Wood L, Giles-Corti B, Bulsara M. The pet connection: pets as a conduit for social capital? Soc Sci Med 2005 Sep;61(6):1159-1173. [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.01.017] [Medline: 15970228]
- 65. Iacono I, Martiditors. Narratives and emotions in seniors affected by dementia: A comparative study using a robot and a toy. 2016 Presented at: RO-MAN 2016: 25th IEEE International Symposium on Robot and Human Interactive Communication; August 26-31, 2016; New York, NY. [doi: <u>10.1109/roman.2016.7745149</u>]
- 66. Moyle W, Jones CJ, Murfield JE, Thalib L, Beattie ER, Shum DK, et al. Use of a Robotic Seal as a Therapeutic Tool to Improve Dementia Symptoms: A Cluster-Randomized Controlled Trial. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2017 Sep 01;18(9):766-773 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2017.03.018] [Medline: 28780395]
- 67. Pu L, Moyle W, Jones C. How people with dementia perceive a therapeutic robot called PARO in relation to their pain and mood: A qualitative study. J Clin Nurs 2020 Feb 02;29(3-4):437-446. [doi: 10.1111/jocn.15104] [Medline: 31738463]
- 68. Robinson H, MacDonald BA, Kerse N, Broadbent E. Suitability of healthcare robots for a dementia unit and suggested improvements. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2013 Jan;14(1):34-40. [doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2012.09.006] [Medline: 23098418]
- 69. Opdebeeck C, Katsaris MA, Martyr A, Lamont RA, Pickett JA, Rippon I, et al. What Are the Benefits of Pet Ownership and Care Among People With Mild-to-Moderate Dementia? Findings From the IDEAL programme. J Appl Gerontol 2021 Nov 07;40(11):1559-1567 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0733464820962619] [Medline: 33025847]

70. van Maris A, Zook N, Caleb-Solly P, Studley M, Winfield A, Dogramadzi S. Designing Ethical Social Robots-A Longitudinal Field Study With Older Adults. Front Robot AI 2020;7:1-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/frobt.2020.00001] [Medline: 33501170]

Abbreviations

ICR: intercoder reliability test **JfA:** Joy for All

Edited by J Wang; submitted 30.03.21; peer-reviewed by R Boumans, O Korn, C Sutherland, A Garcia; comments to author 06.06.21; revised version received 29.06.21; accepted 28.12.21; published 22.02.22.

Please cite as:

Koh WQ, Whelan S, Heins P, Casey D, Toomey E, Dröes RM The Usability and Impact of a Low-Cost Pet Robot for Older Adults and People With Dementia: Qualitative Content Analysis of User Experiences and Perceptions on Consumer Websites JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e29224 URL: https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e29224 doi:10.2196/29224 PMID:35191844

©Wei Qi Koh, Sally Whelan, Pascale Heins, Dympna Casey, Elaine Toomey, Rose-Marie Dröes. Originally published in JMIR Aging (https://aging.jmir.org), 22.02.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Exploring Older Adults' Adoption and Use of a Tablet Computer During COVID-19: Longitudinal Qualitative Study

Sunyoung Kim¹, PhD; Willow Yao¹, BA; Xiaotong Du¹, MA

School of Communication and Information, Rutgers University, New Brunswick, NJ, United States

Corresponding Author:

Sunyoung Kim, PhD School of Communication and Information Rutgers University 4 Huntington Street New Brunswick, NJ, 08901 United States Phone: 1 8489327585 Email: <u>sunyoung.kim@rutgers.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: As mobile computing technology evolves, such as smartphones and tablet computers, it increasingly offers features that may be particularly beneficial to older adults. However, the digital divide exists, and many older adults have been shown to have difficulty using these devices. The COVID-19 pandemic has magnified how much older adults need but are excluded from having access to technologies to meet essential daily needs and overcome physical distancing restrictions.

Objective: This study sought to understand how older adults who had never used a tablet computer learn to use it, what they want to use it for, and what barriers they experience as they continue to use it during social isolation caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Methods: We conducted a series of semistructured interviews with eight people aged 65 years and older for 16 weeks, investigating older novice users' adoption and use of a tablet computer during the nationwide lockdown due to COVID-19.

Results: Participants were gradually yet successfully accustomed to using a tablet computer to serve various daily needs, including entertainment, social connectedness, and information-seeking. However, this success was not achieved through developing sufficient digital skills but rather by applying the methods they were already familiar with in its operation, such as taking and referring to instruction notes.

Conclusions: Our findings imply that older adults without digital literacy can still benefit from a digital device for quality of later life if proper traditional methods they are already familiar with are offered in its use.

(JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e32957) doi:10.2196/32957

KEYWORDS

older adults; tablet computer; technology acceptance; mental model; longitudinal study; COVID-19

Introduction

Overview

RenderX

Thanks to rapid technological advancements and decreasing costs, mobile devices are becoming accessible to more older adults, which led the aging population to become the fastest-growing group of technology adopters [1]. The statistics show that internet usage among US residents aged 65 years and older has surged from 43% in 2010 to 75% in 2020 [2], and more than 61% of this population owned a mobile phone as of 2020 compared to only 18% in 2010 [3]. Along with mobile phones, the number of tablet users is also on the rise, with

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32957
```

roughly 50% of US adults owning a tablet computer in 2021 [3]. The increased ownership of a tablet computer is particularly promising for older adults since a larger screen size is positively associated with older adults' technology adoption rate [4]. For older adults with impaired vision and reduced dexterity, a larger screen size and better screen resolution are crucial for device usability. Thus, tablets with a larger screen than mobile phones have been more appealing to senior users [5].

However, the digital divide by age still exists, as only 39% and 18% of older adults own a mobile phone and a tablet computer, respectively [3]. This trend is not different in European countries: 35% of people aged 65 years and older did not own

a mobile phone, in contrast to over 98% of those aged 18 to 45 years that did own a mobile phone in the United Kingdom in 2020 [6]. Furthermore, digital literacy to use mobile devices comfortably is negatively related to age [7], and older adults often encounter numerous challenges in using new technologies [8-11]. Socioeconomic status is another crucial factor contributing to the digital divide. Approximately 40% of adults with lower incomes (households earning less than US \$30,000 a year) do not have home broadband services or a computer, and a majority of them are not tablet owners [12]. By comparison, each of these technologies is nearly ubiquitous, if not multiple of each of these technologies, among adults in households earning US \$100,000 or more a year [12]. When age and socioeconomic status are combined, it becomes evident that low-income older adults are most likely to face a digital divide [13].

The COVID-19 pandemic has magnified the importance but lack of access to mobile devices by older adults [14,15]. The mandated shelter-in-place and social distancing orders transformed most tasks that have been performed through face-to-face means into virtual formats. For instance, local organizations and community associations shifted their information distribution and outreach efforts from offline to online platforms, and in-person meetings and events are substituted with virtual methods of communication. While a shift to digital enabled people to stay connected and informed amid the nationwide lockdown, many older adults who were already experiencing social isolation and loneliness were excluded from digital services, which significantly degraded their quality of everyday lives [16-18]. Consequently, efforts to increase older adults' access to technology have been spurred by both nonprofits and public agencies.

One such effort was carried out by the Housing Authority of the City of Elizabeth, a low-income housing organization in the greater New York area, to distribute over 100 tablets to low-income senior residents to enhance their access to service and information online in the fall of 2020. Although this effort was well-received by the residents, it raised a subsequent concern about the sustainable use of this technology because most recipients were first-time tablet users. They needed to gain sufficient digital skills and develop technological self-efficacy to use a tablet.

We conducted weekly semistructured interviews for 16 weeks with eight senior residents who received a tablet computer to serve two goals: (1) practically, to help the recipients learn digital skills to comfortably use a tablet; and (2) theoretically, to investigate how older novice users learn and develop digital skills over time. From this study, we aimed to answer the following research questions:

- 1. What do older adults use a tablet for during COVID-19?
- 2. What challenges do they experience when using a tablet, and how do they progressively cope with those challenges?
- 3. What are the factors that affect older adults' learning of digital skills?

To date, the prospect of older adults' learning to use mobile devices has been extensively discussed in the literature. However, most studies relied on self-reports of past experiences

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32957
```

[19,20] or quasiexperiments on various learning modes [21,22]. This paper contributes to the literature by investigating, for 4 months, the real-world context of how older adults who are new to tablet technology progressively learn digital skills to perform desired tasks on a tablet.

Our findings revealed that our participants were willing to learn and successfully use a tablet for entertainment, social connectedness, and information-seeking purposes as the study proceeded. However, it was not through acquiring sufficient digital skills, despite their continuous learning endeavor, but through incorporating the method they are already familiar with in its operation: pen and paper. The underlying issue with difficulty in acquiring digital skills was the lack of a proper mental model of how a tablet works. These findings can be used as design guidelines to promote the sustained use of emerging personal technologies to support the aging society. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study that investigated the progressive use of a tablet computer among novice older users through a longitudinal field deployment study.

Literature Review

Background

Digital literacy is a set of skills and knowledge required by individuals to use digital devices to access and use digital information effectively [23]. As today's young adults who are savvy users of current digital devices become older, they will not experience much difficulty in using them. However, the digital divide will continue to exist because computing technology continues to advance, and new digital devices will continue to emerge. Perhaps one of the earliest research topics on older adults' technology use was investigating their use of automatic teller machines in the late 1990s [24]. Moreover, researchers are still investigating older adults' use of emerging technologies (eg, wearables [25], voice assistants [26]).

Information and communication technologies are becoming an integral part of our everyday lives as information and services are increasingly delivered and consumed online [27]. In particular, access and use of mobile devices such as smartphones and tablets are vital rather than an option, since these are used as a primary gateway to obtain needed information and services for many daily tasks [28]. Consequently, a growing number of older adults are expected to use mobile devices to fulfill some of their everyday needs. However, unlike younger generations, older adults did not grow up with technologies that are prevalent today. Many older adults are not familiar with new technologies and thus have difficulties in using them. Therefore, there has been an emerging focus on helping the aging population learn to use mobile devices.

Older Adults and Technology Acceptance

Much research has sought to comprehend technology use and acceptance by older people using existing theories of technology adoption such as the technology acceptance model (TAM) [29] and the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT) [30] (eg, [31-33]). Although these theories are widely used to evaluate user attitudes toward the acceptance of technology in general, limitations exist because they lack sufficient consideration on age-specific or age-related factors.

XSL•FO RenderX

To overcome such limitations, researchers have extended these theoretical frameworks to specifically account for older adults' technology acceptance behaviors [8,11,34-36]. Details may differ in these extended frameworks, but one common factor that distinguishes older adults from their younger counterparts in technology acceptance is the special learning needs that older adults have when using new technology.

For example, Renaud and van Biljon [35] postulated the senior technology acceptance model (STAM) expanding on TAM [35]. STAM introduced an incorporation phase in which older adults explore and experiment with new technology to estimate the perceived ease of learning and use for technology acceptance. Similarly, Kim et al [34] developed a theoretical model that extends TAM and UTAUT to explain how older adults accept or reject mobile devices. This model comprises an additional phase, intention to learn, with three affecting factors (self-efficacy, conversion readiness, peer support) that determine the acceptance of mobile devices among older adults. They further validated this model through a comparative study with younger adults [37]. Third, Barnard et al [8] proposed a model of technology acceptance and rejection for older adults, which emphasized the facilitating conditions to learn a technology, such as a friendly space for trial and error and provision of a manual, as a decisive factor for seniors' technology adoption.

As learning has been found to be crucial for older adults' technology acceptance, researchers have sought ways for older adults to effectively learn to use new technology, which we explain in the next section.

Older Adults' Learning to Use Mobile Devices

Researchers have investigated various modes of learning to determine older adults' preferences when learning to use mobile devices. For instance, Pang et al [21] conducted a design prove study of an interactive help kiosk, Chiu et al [38] conducted a focus group of a small-group tutoring approach, LoBuono et al [39] observed the utility of intergenerational learning by college students, and den Haan et al [40] ran a field study of peer-to-peer community learning. Although findings from these studies were mixed as to which learning methods older adults preferred or found effective, they share a common preference: a collaborative approach implemented by peer support, interpersonal communication, and community-based programs. In contrast, independent learning was preferred for its ability to control learning speed and avoid bothering family and friends, although its effectiveness is limited.

In summary, mobile devices are becoming essential for healthy aging and independent living, but many older adults experience various challenges with respect to using new technology. Learning is imperative in overcoming those challenges, although empirical evidence on how older novice users learn and develop digital skills for their sustained use of mobile devices is limited. This paper contributes to this body of literature by exploring what challenges older novice users experience when learning to use a tablet computer and how they cope with those challenges over time through a longitudinal field study.

Methods

Ethical Considerations

The study was approved by the Rutgers Institutional Review Board (Pro2020002565), and informed consent was obtained from all participants before participating in the study.

Participants

For participant recruitment, we collaborated with the Housing Authority of the City of Elizabeth, an affordable housing community located in the greater New York area that the first author has a long-established research collaboration with. This community manages 1322 public housing units of various types, including single units, family housing, and senior complexes, approximately 1000 of which are for a low-income senior and disabled population. To improve older adults' access to technology during COVID-19, this organization raised a fund to distribute free tablet computers to senior residents. As a result of this effort, about 100 senior residents in this housing community received a free tablet in the fall of 2020. Among those who received a tablet, we recruited participants to take part in this study. When giving out a tablet, a recipient was asked if they were interested in participating in this study. Upon agreement to participate, we installed the Zoom app on their tablet before giving it out. Three inclusion criteria for participation were age being over 65 years, English-speaking, and being a first-time tablet owner.

In total, we recruited 10 participants (6 females and 4 males), ranging in age from 65 to 80 years (mean age 71.6, SD 4.9 years; see Table 1). Nine participants lived by themselves and one participant lived with a partner. With respect to general technology use, six participants owned a smartphone, four participants owned a flip phone, six participants owned a computer, and one participant owned an eBook (Kindle). All participants said that they frequently used computers for information searching and email. Seven participants said they had used a tablet but never owned it, and three said they had never used a tablet. The self-identified ethnicity of all participants was Black or African American. Two participants withdrew within the first month of the study due to losing interest in the study. The other eight participants completed the study for the entire study duration.



 Table 1. Participant demographics.

Participant ID	Age (years)	Gender	Devices owned	Occupation before retirement	Study duration
P1	65	Male	Smartphone, computer	Machine operator	Completed
P2	66	Female	Flip phone, computer	Nurse aid	Completed
P3	71	Female	Smartphone	Customer service	Completed
P4	80	Male	Smartphone, computer	Tax preparer	Completed
P5	74	Female	Smartphone, computer	Paraprofessional	Completed
P6	68	Female	Flip phone	Customer service	Completed
P7	72	Male	Smartphone, computer	Sales	Completed
P8	78	Female	Flip phone, computer, eBook	Homemaker	Completed
P9	69	Male	Smartphone	Sales	Dropped
P10	73	Female	Flip phone	Customer service	Dropped

Data Collection

Participants were told to freely use a tablet as much or as little as they wanted throughout the study period, and we conducted a weekly semistructured interview for 16 weeks between fall 2020 and spring 2021. All interviews were conducted virtually via the Zoom video-conferencing app. For those who did not know how to use Zoom, we conducted the first interview over the phone and provided step-by-step instructions for launching the app and then switched to Zoom for the rest of the first interview.

Our interview protocol consists of two sessions: the first half of each interview explored participants' daily use of a tablet and their reflection on its use, and the second half was devoted to providing in-person instruction on using a tablet for various features. For the first session, we investigated what older adults wanted to use a tablet for, what difficulties they faced when using it, and how they coped with those difficulties. To explore these spaces in different stages of use, we constructed three sets of open-ended interview questions by phase. In the first phase (weeks 1 to 4), we focused on understanding initial impressions, needs, and difficulties in using a tablet. In the second phase (weeks 5 to 14), we explored the user experience in-depth, including usage patterns, the needs and challenges, and strategies to cope with breakdowns. In the third phase (weeks 15 and 16), we focused on the overall reflection on users' interaction with a tablet. Each session lasted from 30 to 60 minutes. Next, for the second session, we asked participants if they wanted to learn any feature and provided step-by-step instructions for the feature. We did not prepare any instruction material but provided impromptu verbal explanations on how to perform a requested task. This session lasted about 30 minutes.

In addition, participants filled out a short survey to inform us about their basic demographic information, including age, household type, occupation before retirement, and devices owned. All interviews were audio-recorded and transcribed. Participants who completed the study were compensated with a US \$160 gift card upon completion. Those who withdrew were partially compensated, and the amount was prorated by the duration of participation.

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32957

Data Analysis

We analyzed our interview data using thematic analysis to reveal patterns across data sets. Thematic analysis is a method for identifying, analyzing, and reporting patterns and themes within qualitative data [41]. We selected thematic analysis because it enables investigating explanatory conceptual themes associated with older adults' use of a tablet over time. The thematic analysis process involves open coding, axial coding, and selective coding for theme identification.

First, we conducted open coding to identify concepts that are significant, such as abstract representations of events, objects, happenings, and actions that emerged from the data. For open coding, each author separately created a set of codes for a selected interview transcript. All authors then met and compared a list of individually generated codes to validate, cross-validate, and consolidate the codes. We iterated this process four times when we were convinced that the coding process had saturated. Using the consolidated codebook, the first author then coded the rest of the interview transcripts. Next, we categorized the related concepts created by open coding into conceptual phenomena using axial coding. Phenomena refer to repeated patterns of events, happenings, actions, and interactions, representing people's responses to problems and situations. Lastly, we followed the selective coding process to integrate all concepts extracted from axial coding into a single storyline through building relationships.

Results

Overview

In the first interview, all participants said that they used to engage actively in the events and activities organized by a local senior center before COVID-19, which constituted most of their physical activities and social interactions. Thus, unsurprisingly, they all expressed increased feelings of loneliness and social isolation due to social distancing and shelter-in-place orders during COVID-19.

I used to go to the senior center every day and play games. I can't do that anymore. My daily routine now, because of the pandemic, is not a real good routine because I am home all day. The biggest joy I have in

life now is going to Shoprite and buying my groceries once a week. And we wave at each other if there are any of my friends there. [Participant (P) 2, Interview (W) 1]

Before the COVID-19 hit, I was part of the senior center where I used to go four times a week. I was into the ceramics classes, exercises, and all kinds of different activities at the center. Now, I'm always in the house. [P6W1]

I'm so used to going to the senior center. Now we can't go to the center. Now I have a tablet, so I could still play bingo and talk to my friends. But being in person is much better for us so that you can get up and talk to people and have refreshments. [P7W1]

Fortunately, most participants quickly acknowledged that a tablet could serve as an outlet for sustaining a quality life and remaining connected with other people amid COVID-19 within the first couple of weeks of the study. Consequently, they tried to make good use of a tablet to fulfill various needs throughout the study. While many of these efforts were successful, several participants failed to gain sufficient digital literacy to comfortably use a tablet even upon completion of the 4-month-long training. In what follows, we report the findings on our participants' purposes, perceived benefits, and challenges of using a tablet. While these are not much different from tablet use in general, our findings show empirical evidence of older novice users' adoption and use of a tablet over time.

Purposes and Benefits of Using a Tablet

Entertainment: Playing Mobile Games

The most common topic of questions about tablet use in the first phase of the study was how to install mobile game apps. Some participants were already playing mobile games on their smartphones and asked to help install the same apps to their newly received tablets, and others asked how to find and install new mobile games on a tablet. Similarly, the most common use of a tablet was for playing mobile games. To our opening question of each interview, "what did you use your tablet for this past week?", the prevalent answer throughout the study was playing a mobile game.

Before COVID, I didn't play the game, because I didn't have a tablet. Since I have my tablet now, I'm playing lots of games. Because of COVID, I am forced to sit down and learn things that I didn't have to do before, like playing a game. Now, even if we start going back out, I will probably carry my tablet wherever I go and use it. [P2W8]

People usually play mobile games to spend leisure time or alleviate boredom [42]. However, our participants did not mention any of these as their intention of playing mobile games. Instead, they emphasized and made clear that they played mobile games for constructive purposes such as engaging in challenges, gaining a feeling of accomplishment, and keeping active mentally and physically. We are uncertain if the noted intentions were genuine or due to a response bias where a respondent exhibits the purposeful presentation of self to fit into socially desirable attitudes or please an audience [43]. What we are certain of is that our participants were conscious of the potential benefits that playing mobile games can bring to them. The downside is that they played only a couple of simple games, even though numerous mobile games have been designed for cognitive, physical, and hedonic benefits for healthy aging. Although the excerpts below mentioned some other games, Bingo and Scribble were two games that all participants stated they played throughout the study.

I play a few games every day like Bingo, Scribble, and Candy Crush on my tablet to keep my brain active and my coordination back and forth. I try to keep on challenging myself with the games. [P3W2]

I like to play a challenging game on a tablet, like three-word matching games, because I had many strokes. Playing games keeps my brain active, keeps your eyes and hands move, and it makes you keep thinking. [P7W3]

I have an app called Happy color on my tablet that I play all the time. It has all different pictures on it, and you just color them by the number that's noted. I love to play that because it's comforting and soothing to me. [P8W4]

In general, the entertainment purposes of using a mobile device are fulfilled by various activities, ranging from playing games to listening to music, watching TV and videos, and reading books [42]. However, none of these, other than playing mobile games, was brought up by our participants throughout the study, except for one participant mentioning their attempt, but failure, to install a TV app in week 12. In fact, we introduced and provided instructions for using many recreational features mentioned above during the interviews, and their initial responses to these features were positive. However, we had not received any comment about using them throughout the study.

I tried to install a TV app, Pluto TV, on my tablet. But I wasn't successful because they asked for a password, and I didn't know what password I have. [P5W12]

Social Connectedness: Video Chats and More

Because all interviews were to be conducted virtually via Zoom, a video-chatting app, we offered instructions on using it during the first interview until participants fully understood how to use it. They then used Zoom at least once a week to participate in this study for 4 months. These efforts must have enabled our participants to utilize Zoom comfortably and effectively as the study proceeded. Participants unanimously expressed excitement, satisfaction, and a positive outlook for using Zoom to socialize with others and overcome loneliness during COVID-19 throughout the study. Although video-chatting platforms cannot substitute for face-to-face interaction, they still provided those who felt a loss of connection with a way to connect with friends and loved ones safely.

I was by myself for 14 days. The only time I can talk to anybody now is when I zoom on a tablet earlier today. It was a nice experience because we saw more people. It was keeping me from being lonely. It's helping me stay in touch with people and to get things

done. Now it's another part of my life that I'd like to keep using. [P6W3]

We haven't been in person since we closed down in March. So that was very instrumental in getting these tablets. The most important thing I'm having a tablet for is being able to reach out and talk to other people. This tablet is like my best friend now. He goes with me everywhere. I got to give it some name. [P7W4]

I was all by myself. But once I was on the Zoom, it has affected my life tremendously. I can see the seniors who I used to see at the center. A lot of seniors are homebound and very lonely. So, just to be able to be in touch with the other seniors is very meaningful to us. Seeing them is a way of alleviating a lot of the loneliness from being alone. [P3W5]

Another common purpose of using Zoom was religious socialization, which is an essential part of many participants' social activities. One of the popular answers to our interview question "what did you use your tablet for this past week?" was attending virtual church services.

I zoom for my church services on Sunday. I haven't gone back to my church yet because the pastor had a COVID and came back, but they weren't taking temperatures or social distancing. But every Sunday, you can watch on zoom the pastor live-streams. You can't see anybody but the pastor, but you still receive whatever he's preaching about. [P1W4]

A key concern or complaint that participants had with using Zoom was that many other seniors were still unfamiliar with or did not know how to use Zoom. Our participants gained sufficient in-person training and step-by-step guidance on using Zoom from participating in this study. However, many older adults lack access to these resources. Since having more people on video-chatting platforms is essential for virtual socialization, participants sought ways to help other seniors use Zoom.

There's a lot of seniors that have a tablet but just don't zoom. I wanted to host a zoom meeting with some of the seniors I know for some of those classes. How do I do that? Do they charge you for that? [P1W5]

Today was a good meeting (for the senior center's class). We had almost 16 seniors, which was phenomenal. As time goes by, we're getting more on the zoom meetings. We still have some that are having a problem getting on and still don't understand. So, someone has to go to their house and show them how to get on. [P6W7]

The lady who just moved in upstairs was by herself. Last week, I came down to help her get on our Zoom meeting. The lady was really depressed when we spoke to her. She broke down and was crying on zoom. We all told her that we're all here for her and will call her if necessary. That made her feel much better, and I felt much better too. [P7W10]

There are many video-chatting platforms other than Zoom, namely FaceTime, Skype, Google Meet, Microsoft Team,

WebEx, and many more. Banskota et al [44] showed that older adults used FaceTime and Skype most frequently while in isolation during COVID-19. However, our participants only used Zoom throughout the study and nothing else. We consider three factors that must have contributed to their heavy reliance on Zoom for virtual socialization: (1) they learned how to use Zoom but no other apps and (2) FaceTime and Skype are generally used among friends and loved ones [44], whereas (3) our participants mostly connected with other seniors via virtual meetings organized by a senior center or a church for which Zoom is the primary tool used.

Besides, our participants fulfilled their needs for social connectedness not only by directly talking to others via video-chatting apps. Equally valuable was to share meaningful and helpful information with friends and loved ones. We received numerous questions on how to send digital data of various formats (eg, pictures, messages, news) to other people throughout the study. Even though it was an indirect experience, sharing digital data still gave older adults a sense of being connected to and engaging with others.

I want to send a picture I take on the tablet to other people. How do I do that? Can you teach me how to send them to like my granddaughter? [P4W4]

I love sending inspirational cards to my friends in the morning. I send them wonderful things to uplift everyone's spirit. Doing that makes me feel connected to them. [P2W5]

Someone emailed me the vaccine information. And I wanted to share it with my friend, and so I forwarded it to her and said, you just click on the link. But she couldn't find the link in my email. I didn't know how to give her the live link. [P3W8]

Information Seeking: Google and YouTube

Participants did not ask much about what to use a tablet for when they were first introduced to it, except for playing mobile games and using Zoom. Thus, we spent a great deal of the second session of the first-phase interviews introducing various apps, including but not limited to Google and YouTube, and explaining how to use them.

Participants started mentioning their information-seeking experiences after a few weeks of the study had lapsed. As the study proceeded, participants spent more time sharing their experiences of searching and retrieving various types of information when answering our interview question "what did you use your tablet for this past week?" The topics of information participants searched for encompassed an extensive range of informational needs and everyday activities, ranging from cooking to gardening, health care, home improvement, food, shopping, and many more.

I like looking at different types of cooking on YouTube. This morning, I went to YouTube and put "how to cook turkeys" in the search bar. And it brought up a lot of different ones. What I liked is that I can set my tablet up on the counter and follow the recipe from the tablet. I've never done that before. I used to make a copy and follow it. [P8W6]

I use my tablet every day nowadays to check out different sites. For example, Facebook gives me information about food distribution, vaccine, testing, stimulus checks, etc. Last week, I looked up Google to see if I could take the COVID shot while rehabbing from having a flu shot. So that was a good resource to find out. [P7W9]

Whenever I need information about my gardening, I take the tablet and put a question into Google, and I get my answer. The other day when a branch broke off from one of my blueberry bushes, I went into Google to find out how to replant it. [P1W10]

We identified two interesting aspects of our participants' tablet use for information-seeking. First, in contrast to many entertainment features that we introduced but were rarely used, participants quickly adapted to and increasingly used the features for information-seeking as the study proceeded. We attribute this to older adults' substantial informational needs for independently managing everyday life as much as their impending emotional needs for socialization. Second, although the general purposes of using YouTube range widely from information-seeking to education, entertainment, exercise, and more [45], participants used YouTube only to retrieve practical information. We introduced YouTube as "a place where you can watch videos online" to participants; nevertheless, they watched YouTube videos only to fulfill their informational needs. Many possible reasons can account for this usage pattern (eg, lack of interest, unfamiliarity with browsing, not knowing what is available), although our data did not present any concrete reason. Further studies are required to examine older adults' use of YouTube.

Challenges and Coping Strategies for Tablet Use

Dealing With Challenges Due to Forgetfulness

The most prevalent difficulty that all participants experienced and asked for help with was managing passwords. In the first few interviews, participants spent most of the second sessions asking for help logging in to different apps and websites. Some participants could not log in to certain services because they did not have an account, and some could not because they did not remember their password, all of which we quickly resolved by helping them create a new account or find a password. What we struggled with the most was when the password a participant remembered did not work. We asked them to retry multiple times, which made them feel confusion, frustration, and decreased confidence. Some services became deactivated after several login trials, and thus we helped them proceed with extra steps for reactivation. However, many of them gave up after a few failed attempts and told us that they did not want to use it anymore. After several similar incidents, we realized that the password participants remembered was, in fact, for a different service in most cases (eg, using a tablet's passcode for Google login).

I have a password that I set up, but it keeps telling me it's the wrong password. So, I have to check into that. I know that's what I set up but don't know why it's not accepting it. I probably had to do forgot password and set up another one. [P4W2]

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32957
```

As the study proceeded, participants gradually got used to managing multiple accounts and passwords through repeated instructions, although not through memorization. Except for relying on the autocomplete feature, a common strategy was to keep written records of accounts and passwords. In fact, writing down passwords is an old and widespread practice [46,47], and some of our participants already kept a written record of their passwords. We observed that novice participants also quickly developed a practice of keeping their newly created account information on paper and resorted to written copies of passwords for logins. However, its effectiveness and sustainability were questionable.

People tell you don't use the same password. So, I have so many different passwords. And I have a diary with all of my passwords in it. I have to see the diary to find the password so that I can do whatever I want to do. [P2W2]

When I create an account, I write its password on a piece of paper. And then I lay the paper over here or over there, and I don't use it for long. And then when I have to use it, I don't know what the password was. And by then, the paper is gone. [P3W2]

One effective way to extend this practice is to digitize written records, as mentioned by P1 in week 4, although nobody else mentioned this.

I wrote all my passwords and the names of apps on a piece of paper and took a picture of it. So, if I need to find a password, I go to my photos gallery and pull up my password and the name of the app. [P1W4]

Unsurprisingly, none of our participants was aware of any password-managing tool, and we did not consider introducing it to them either, because it was too complicated for them to use. In addition, privacy and security concerns relating to keeping written copies of passwords were never brought up, which confirms prior work showing that older adults are unaware of and susceptible to privacy and security risks associated with technology use [48].

We also observed that keeping written records of information was used not only for managing passwords. Most participants kept written instructions for various features we taught and counted on those whenever needed (eg, adjusting screen brightness, changing font size). In all, participants relied heavily on a traditional pen-and-paper method to cope with their forgetfulness throughout the study.

The only thing that bothers me is that I can't get the tablet connected to my printer. I'm so used to making copies of instructions. Do I need some type of a cord to connect a tablet to the computer and then print? [P5W3]

I wrote down the steps of changing the font size on stickies. Stickies are now all over my place. Until I get more familiar with how to do it, I need to follow the notes. [P3W7]

When I find a recipe on YouTube, I sometimes want to print it out. But it didn't show me where I can make a copy. I didn't want to lose it and having to start all

over again. But I don't know how to print it out from my tablet. [P6W6]

Dealing With Challenges Due to Unfamiliarity With New Technology

Because most participants had never used a tablet before, we anticipated that a lack of self-efficacy, one of the most significant psychological challenges for older adults' technology adoption [34], would prevail, at least in the first few weeks of tablet use. As expected, participants reported many experiences of having a fear of making mistakes or not reversing them after making mistakes.

The thing I'm afraid of the most with the tablet is that I may hit the wrong button because I didn't want to mess up something. The other day, I was writing an email. And maybe I hit something that I was not supposed to, and lost the email. I didn't know how to get it back. Someone said draft or something, but I don't know where to find it. [P3W3]

When she (a friend) sent me an email, I could barely read it because it was so small. So, she explained to me how to enlarge it. Then, it became so large that it overruns the page. But I didn't want to go back and change the font because I didn't have confidence that I was proficient enough to change font size without making a mistake. What if I hit the wrong something and mess up everything? [P7W4]

The second prevalent topic that participants asked for help with, following managing passwords, was adjusting the settings on a tablet and apps, such as display brightness, font size, screen timeout, volume, and screen orientation. In contrast to the questions about password management, which gradually decreased in frequency as the study proceeded, the questions about controlling the settings persisted throughout the study. Unfortunately, we did not find any evidence of participants becoming used to managing most settings, even after 4 months of training. As mentioned previously, most participants resorted to step-by-step instruction notes they wrote down on paper when adjusting settings. Furthermore, whenever participants tried a new app, they experienced similar difficulties setting it up and asked for help even in the later phase of the study.

I was trying to play a new mobile game, but its screen was vertical. I wanted horizontal. At one point, it did fine. But then I got stuck in vertical. And I couldn't get it out of vertical when I played the came next day. Is there a way to change it? [P1W8]

Today, I went on Zoom for a chair exercise. There were five people on including the instructor. All of our boxes were pretty big. I wanted to make them smaller so that I could see the instructor bigger. But I didn't know how to resolve that. [P5W11]

Even though participants counted on written notes for most operations, their self-efficacy still improved significantly as the study proceeded. Regardless of relying on written notes, successfully operating intended functions for themselves increased their confidence in using a tablet, which positively influenced their willingness to try new things on a tablet. For

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32957

this, repeated trials were mandatory, which participants considered not a burden but a process.

I'm in my 70s, and this was the first time that I managed to be on Zoom for myself. I think three or four times will make it better. I'm not grasping things as fast as I used to. I have to do it many times to be more competent in what I'm doing. [P3W2]

When my friend was trying to teach me how to put Zoom on my phone, she just gave up. Finally, I am on Zoom now! [P4W2]

I felt very nervous (of using a tablet). But as it went along, I did pretty good. I still would like to have more practice so that I feel more confident within myself. After you get a certain age, you don't retain a lot of things, and a lot of things are harder to do. And when you start something, and you conquer it, it makes you feel good. I haven't conquered the tablet, but I'm not as afraid to use it as I was initially. [P5W13]

In the last interview, most participants expressed gratitude and satisfaction with participating in this study for having an opportunity to gain in-person instructions on using a tablet for an extended period. However, this approach is not scalable or widely available. Our participants proceeded with repeated trials supported by our research team by participating this study, but many older adults lack access to this type of support.

It was a blessing that I had the opportunity to work with. I learned a lot from this 4-month program with you. You are patient which was great for a senior so that they felt comfortable in trying to learn in this stage of their life. [P8W16]

Discussion

Principal Findings

Extensive research has sought to elucidate the challenges older adults face when adopting new technology. Consequently, various factors were identified and discussed, such as perceived usefulness, usability, affordability, compatibility, accessibility, reliability, support availability, learning efforts, and self-efficacy [49]. Our study provided a unique and lived environment where low-income seniors who had no prior experience with a tablet received one for free and gained support to use it to fulfill essential needs during the nationwide lockdown due to COVID-19. This unique circumstance eliminated many of these challenges and magnified two factors: learning efforts and self-efficacy. Our findings show that participants gained sufficient self-efficacy to use a tablet comfortably, not by acquiring digital skills but rather by developing ways to address the challenges. This section discusses a possible reason for their difficulty in obtaining digital literacy despite continuous learning endeavors and a strategy to manage the challenges.

Difficulty in Learning: Lack of a Mental Model

Prior work shows that older adults are able and willing to learn how to use new digital devices [19,34,50]. Our findings confirm that our participants were eager to learn to use a tablet, and successfully used it primarily for entertainment, social connectedness, and information-seeking purposes. However,

XSL•FO RenderX

they did not acquire digital skills to retain and transfer despite repetitive instructions. We consider one reason for this issue to be related to our instruction not guiding to construct a proper *mental model* of how a tablet works.

A mental model refers to "some kind of understanding of how a device works in terms of its internal structure and processes" [51]. Prior research demonstrates that having a proper mental model improves performance on learning and retaining the operating procedures for an unfamiliar piece of equipment [52]. A key to constructing a mental model is to make the learning experience meaningful: the more "meaningful" a learning experience is, the faster it is learned and the better it is retained [53]. In contrast, rote learning focuses on delivering fragments of knowledge, often in isolation from any context [54].

The mode of instruction we offered to our participants was close to rote instruction, delivering the actions required to perform a task (eg, a sequence of buttons to press) without descriptive information of how a device works. In fact, this type of instruction is common in describing how to operate a digital device. For instance, below is a standard instruction for adjusting a mobile device's font size, which we used to help participants change the font size on their tablet screen. This instruction can be informative to those who have a basic knowledge of how a device works.

1. On your tablet, open the Settings app

- 2. Tap Accessibility > Font size
- 3. Use the slider to choose your font size

We initially had a naïve approach of using this rote instruction mode to teach our participants to use a tablet. Later, we realized that this instruction did not contain "meaningful" information for our participants to retain. Our participants, novice older users who were even foreign to some of the terms used, had difficulty understanding, following, and memorizing the instruction. They often needed extra explanations, such as the location of an action item or how to operate a stated action.

The need to bridge the gap in mental models between users and designers is well documented in the fields of human-computer interaction [55]. Research has shown that this gap can be closed by synthesizing a user's mental model in design. However, this model is not applicable to those who are void of any mental model, such as older novice users. Although various learning modes have been investigated for older adults' preference and effectiveness [21,39,40], little has been sought to support senior users to construct a basic mental model of how a device works. In consequence, we propose an additional phase in the conceptual modeling process for older novice users: a learning phase through which a senior user can obtain a basic concept of how a system works (see Figure 1). To implement this, not only senior users need to learn the basic concept, but also designers need to render and offer the basic concept that older adults can learn from.

Figure 1. Top: Norman's conceptual modeling process ([55], page 16). Bottom: a proposed conceptual modeling process for a designer and a senior user. To support a senior user who lacks a basic mental model of a digital device, the designer should first render basic concepts based on a synthesis of research and then design a system. A senior user should first learn basic concepts and then use the system.



Solution to Cope With Difficulties: Facilitating Traditional Methods

Efforts have been devoted to developing new digital devices to support the aging population. However, for many older adults, what they are already familiar with might be the best tool to use without fear of making mistakes, a burden to ask others for help, or stress in learning how to use it.

As the study proceeded, all participants increasingly used a tablet comfortably to perform the various activities they intended. However, we observed that this success was not through gaining sufficient digital literacy. While our research team's in-person instruction must have contributed to their increased tablet use somehow, the most helpful method we observed was to count on what they were already familiar with: pen and paper. Instead of struggling with comprehending and retaining information of using a tablet, participants took notes of necessary details from our instruction and used them later when needed. Despite its scalability and sustainability concerns, pen-and-paper was the easiest, fastest, most efficient, and most reliable method of support for our participants in using a tablet.

Emerging technologies have tremendous potential to support the everyday activities and independence of older adults. However, such potential can be realized only when older adults use them. Because they are exposed to new technology at the later stage of their lives, it is inevitable that they are not familiar with and thus need to learn today's digital devices. While we believe older adults can better understand and retain knowledge to use a digital device once they construct a mental model, effort is still required to learn how to use it. Therefore, we argue that it is important to deliberate on incorporating existing methods that older adults are already familiar with into the design of new digital devices. An excerpt below demonstrates how one participant easily uses GoGoGrandparent, a call-in rideshare support service for transportation.

I have the app (for a ride) that I use all the time but it's not Uber or Lyft. It is called GoGoGrandparent. All I have to do is call them, and they ask me if I want someone to pick me up at my home. If I do, press one and then they tell me how long it will be before an Uber driver gets to my house and what kind of car they're driving. [P7W11]

In the end, the goal is not to make older adults learn to use a digital device but to make their lives of better quality. While researchers have sought to enhance older adults' digital literacy to use a digital device, our findings demonstrate that older adults can benefit from what a digital device offers without much digital literacy if they can integrate a method they are already familiar with in its operation, at least in the short term. Increased use of a digital device will eventually lead to improving digital literacy. Hence, more research is needed to determine how to incorporate the methods older adults are familiar with into designing new technology.

Limitations and Future Work

Our findings must be evaluated within the context of several limitations. First, we used convenience sampling by recruiting participants from a low-income senior-housing community in an urban region of the United States. Thus, our participant pool may not represent the aging population in general. Selection bias or possible homogeneity of participant characteristics (eg, location, culture, socioeconomic status) might have influenced the responses in the interviews. Second, we acknowledge that our findings might not be exclusive to older adults. However, we did not conduct any comparative study between people in different age groups. Thus, we do not have any evidence to argue whether people in other age groups might encounter a similar learning process as experienced by our participants. Lastly, all participants used the same model of a tablet, whose interface design might have influenced user experience.

We believe our findings could be generalizable to older adults' adoption and use of any personal computing technologies (eg, computer, smartphone). However, we are cautious of overgeneralization because we did not validate our findings on other technologies and thus lack scientifically significant evidence to argue its generalizability. Hence, the next step is to examine the generalizability of our findings by conducting similar studies on other technologies and through an extensive literature review of relevant studies.

Conclusion

As technology becomes an integral part of our everyday lives, older adults are increasingly expected to use digital devices to access information and services. Now, the COVID-19 pandemic brought needed attention to a long-standing problem: a digital divide that puts technology out of reach for many seniors, which significantly increased loneliness and social isolation among older adults. As a collaborative effort with a local community organization, we distributed tablets to low-income senior residents to help them access essential services and needed information online during the nationwide lockdown in the United States. This study aimed to serve two goals: practically, to help the recipients learn digital skills to use a tablet, and theoretically, to investigate how older novice users learn and develop digital skills to use a tablet comfortably over time. The findings demonstrate that our participants were willing to learn and successfully use a tablet for entertainment, social connectedness, and information-seeking purposes. However, it was not through acquiring sufficient digital skills but rather by incorporating the method they are already familiar with in its operation. We consider, among other things, that the lack of a proper mental model of how a tablet works prevented them from building digital skills despite repetitive instructions. We are hopeful that our results will encourage future studies to reduce the digital divide and improve the aging population's access and use of emerging digital devices for a better quality of later life.


Acknowledgments

We are thankful to all participants who participated in our study. We appreciate Catherine J Hart and Michael Buckley at the Housing Authority of the City of Elizabeth for their support in recruiting participants and conducting the study. This research was funded by the Rutgers University grant for the COVID-19 Impact on Scholarly Productivity Faculty.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Anderson M, Perrin A. Technology use among seniors. Pew Research Center. 2017 May 17. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2017/05/17/technology-use-among-seniors/</u> [accessed 2022-02-25]
- 2. Internet/broadband fact sheet. Pew Research Center. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/</u> internet-broadband/ [accessed 2022-02-25]
- 3. Mobile fact sheet. Pew Research Center. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/mobile/</u> [accessed 2022-02-25]
- 4. Kim KJ, Sundar SS. Does screen size matter for smartphones? Utilitarian and hedonic effects of screen size on smartphone adoption. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2014 Jul;17(7):466-473 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/cyber.2013.0492] [Medline: 24694112]
- Cajita MI, Hodgson NA, Lam KW, Yoo S, Han HR. Facilitators of and barriers to mHealth adoption in older adults with heart failure. Comput Inform Nurs 2018 Aug;36(8):376-382 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/CIN.00000000000442] [Medline: 29742549]
- 6. Smartphone usage in the United Kingdom (UK) 2012-2020, by age. Statistia. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/</u> 300402/smartphone-usage-in-the-uk-by-age/ [accessed 2022-02-25]
- Barbosa Neves B, Franz R, Judges R, Beermann C, Baecker R. Can digital technology enhance social connectedness among older adults? A feasibility study. J Appl Gerontol 2019 Jan 22;38(1):49-72. [doi: <u>10.1177/0733464817741369</u>] [Medline: <u>29166818</u>]
- 8. Barnard Y, Bradley MD, Hodgson F, Lloyd AD. Learning to use new technologies by older adults: Perceived difficulties, experimentation behaviour and usability. Comput Hum Behav 2013 Jul;29(4):1715-1724. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2013.02.006]
- 9. Li Q, Luximon Y. Older adults' use of mobile device: usability challenges while navigating various interfaces. Behav Inf Technol 2019 Jun 03;39(8):837-861. [doi: 10.1080/0144929x.2019.1622786]
- 10. Page T. Touchscreen mobile devices and older adults: a usability study. Int J Hum Factors Ergon 2014;3(1):65. [doi: 10.1504/ijhfe.2014.062550]
- 11. Pan S, Jordan-Marsh M. Internet use intention and adoption among Chinese older adults: from the expanded technology acceptance model perspective. Comput Hum Behav 2010 Sep;26(5):1111-1119. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chb.2010.03.015</u>]
- 12. Vogels EA. Digital divide persists even as Americans with lower incomes make gains in tech adoption. Pew Research Center. 2021 Jun 22. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2021/06/22/</u>
- <u>digital-divide-persists-even-as-americans-with-lower-incomes-make-gains-in-tech-adoption/</u> [accessed 2022-02-25]
 Choi NG, Dinitto DM. The digital divide among low-income homebound older adults: internet use patterns, eHealth literacy, and attitudes toward computer/internet use. J Med Internet Res 2013 May 02;15(5):e93 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2645] [Medline: 23639979]
- Morrow-Howell N, Galucia N, Swinford E. Recovering from the COVID-19 pandemic: a focus on older adults. J Aging Soc Policy 2020 Apr 26;32(4-5):526-535. [doi: <u>10.1080/08959420.2020.1759758</u>] [Medline: <u>32336225</u>]
- Xie B, Charness N, Fingerman K, Kaye J, Kim MT, Khurshid A. When going digital becomes a necessity: ensuring older adults' needs for information, services, and social inclusion during COVID-19. J Aging Soc Policy 2020 Jun 06;32(4-5):460-470 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/08959420.2020.1771237] [Medline: 32507061]
- Kotwal AA, Holt-Lunstad J, Newmark RL, Cenzer I, Smith AK, Covinsky KE, et al. Social isolation and loneliness among San Francisco Bay area older adults during the COVID-19 shelter-in-place orders. J Am Geriatr Soc 2021 Jan 09;69(1):20-29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jgs.16865] [Medline: 32965024]
- Seifert A, Cotten SR, Xie B. A double burden of exclusion? Digital and social exclusion of older adults in times of COVID-19. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2021 Feb 17;76(3):e99-e103 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1093/geronb/gbaa098</u>] [Medline: <u>32672332</u>]
- Smith ML, Steinman LE, Casey EA. Combatting social isolation among older adults in a time of physical distancing: the COVID-19 social connectivity paradox. Front Public Health 2020 Jul 21;8:403. [doi: <u>10.3389/fpubh.2020.00403</u>] [Medline: <u>32850605</u>]
- 19. Leung R, Tang C, Haddad S, Mcgrenere J, Graf P, Ingriany V. How older adults learn to use mobile devices. ACM Trans Access Comput 2012 Dec;4(3):1-33. [doi: 10.1145/2399193.2399195]

- 20. Tsai HS, Shillair R, Cotten SR. Social support and "playing around": an examination of how older adults acquire digital literacy with tablet computers. J Appl Gerontol 2017 Jan 09;36(1):29-55 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0733464815609440] [Medline: 26491029]
- 21. Pang C, Wang ZQ, McGrenere J, Leung R, Dai J, Moffatt K. Technology adoption and learning preferences for older adults: evolving perceptions, ongoing challenges, and emerging design opportunities. 2021 Presented at: 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; May 8-13, 2021; virtual p. 1-13. [doi: 10.1145/3411764.3445702]
- 22. Martínez-Alcalá CI, Rosales-Lagarde A, de los Ángeles Alonso-Lavernia M, Ramírez-Salvador J, Jiménez-Rodríguez B, Cepeda-Rebollar RM, et al. Digital inclusion in older adults: a comparison between face-to-face and blended digital literacy workshops. Front ICT 2018 Aug 28;5:21. [doi: 10.3389/fict.2018.00021]
- 23. Gilster P. Digital literacy. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons; 1997.
- 24. Rogers WA, Fisk AD, Mead SE, Walker N, Cabrera EF. Training older adults to use automatic teller machines. Hum Factors 1996 Sep 23;38(3):425-433. [doi: 10.1518/001872096778701935] [Medline: 8865767]
- 25. Li J, Ma Q, Chan AH, Man S. Health monitoring through wearable technologies for older adults: Smart wearables acceptance model. Appl Ergon 2019 Feb;75:162-169. [doi: 10.1016/j.apergo.2018.10.006] [Medline: 30509522]
- 26. Kim S. Exploring how older adults use a smart speaker-based voice assistant in their first interactions: qualitative study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021 Jan 13;9(1):e20427 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20427] [Medline: 33439130]
- 27. Wellman B, Haythornthwaite C. The internet in everyday life. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell; 2008.
- 28. Baym NK. Personal connections in the digital age. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons; Jun 2015.
- 29. Davis FD. Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. MIS Quart 1989 Sep;13(3):319. [doi: 10.2307/249008]
- 30. Venkatesh V, Morris MG, Davis GB, Davis FD. User acceptance of information technology: toward a unified view. MIS Quart 2003;27(3):425. [doi: <u>10.2307/30036540</u>]
- 31. Guner H, Acarturk C. The use and acceptance of ICT by senior citizens: a comparison of technology acceptance model (TAM) for elderly and young adults. Univ Access Inf Soc 2018 Dec 15;19(2):311-330. [doi: 10.1007/s10209-018-0642-4]
- 32. Nayak LUS, Priest L, White AP. An application of the technology acceptance model to the level of Internet usage by older adults. Univ Access Inf Soc 2010 Feb 16;9(4):367-374. [doi: 10.1007/s10209-009-0178-8]
- 33. Wu J, Song S. Older adults' online shopping continuance intentions: applying the technology acceptance model and the theory of planned behavior. Int J Hum–Comput Interact 2020 Dec 26;37(10):938-948. [doi: 10.1080/10447318.2020.1861419]
- Kim S, Gajos KZ, Muller M, Grosz BJ. Acceptance of mobile technology by older adults: a preliminary study. 2016 Presented at: 18th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction With Mobile Devices and Services; September 6-9, 2016; Florence, Italy p. 147-157. [doi: <u>10.1145/2935334.2935380</u>]
- 35. Renaud K, van Biljon J. Predicting technology acceptance and adoption by the elderly: a qualitative study. 2008 Presented at: 2008 annual research conference of the South African Institute of Computer Scientists and Information Technologists on IT research in developing countries: riding the wave of technology; October 6-8, 2008; Wilderness, South Africa p. 210-219. [doi: 10.1145/1456659.1456684]
- van Biljon J, Renaud K. A qualitative study of the applicability of technology acceptance models to senior mobile phone users. In: Song IY, editor. Advances in Conceptual Modeling – Challenges and Opportunities. ER 2008. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol 5232. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer; 2008:228-237.
- 37. Kim S, Choudhury A. Comparison of older and younger adults' attitudes toward the adoption and use of activity trackers. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Oct 22;8(10):e18312 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18312] [Medline: 33090116]
- Chiu C, Hu Y, Lin D, Chang F, Chang C, Lai C. The attitudes, impact, and learning needs of older adults using apps on touchscreen mobile devices: Results from a pilot study. Comput Hum Behav 2016 Oct;63:189-197. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.05.020]
- LoBuono DL, Leedahl SN, Maiocco E. Teaching technology to older adults: modalities used by student mentors and reasons for continued program participation. J Gerontol Nurs 2020 Jan 01;46(1):14-20. [doi: <u>10.3928/00989134-20191118-02</u>] [Medline: <u>31895957</u>]
- 40. den Haan M, Brankaert R, Kenning G, Lu Y. Creating a social learning environment for and by older adults in the use and adoption of smartphone technology to age in place. Front Public Health 2021 Jun 16;9:568822. [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.568822] [Medline: 34222160]
- 41. Clarke V, Braun V. Thematic Analysis. In: Teo T, editor. Encyclopedia of critical psychology. New York: Springer; 2014.
- 42. Leung L. Exploring the relationship between smartphone activities, flow experience, and boredom in free time. Comput Hum Behav 2020 Feb;103:130-139. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2019.09.030]
- 43. Paulhus DL. Measurement and control of response bias. In: Robinson JP, Wrightsman LS, editors. Measures of personality and social psychological attitudes. Cambridge, MA: Academic Press; 1991:17-59.
- 44. Banskota S, Healy M, Goldberg E. 15 Smartphone apps for older adults to use while in isolation during the COVID-19 pandemic. West J Emerg Med 2020 Apr 14;21(3):514-525 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5811/westjem.2020.4.47372] [Medline: 32302279]
- 45. Khan ML. Social media engagement: What motivates user participation and consumption on YouTube? Comput Hum Behav 2017 Jan;66:236-247. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.09.024]

- 46. Adams A, Sasse MA. Users are not the enemy. Commun ACM 1999 Dec;42(12):40-46. [doi: 10.1145/322796.322806]
- Moallem A. Did you forget your password? In: Marcus A, editor. Design, User Experience, and Usability. Theory, Methods, Tools and Practice. DUXU 2011. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol 6770. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer; 2011:29-39.
 Frik A, Nurgalieva L, Bernd J, Lee J, Schaub F, Egelman S. Privacy and security threat models and mitigation strategies
- of older adults. 2019 Presented at: Fifteenth Symposium on Usable Privacy and Security (SOUPS); August 11-13, 2019; Santa Clara, CA p. 21-40.
- 49. Lee C. Adoption of smart technology among older adults: challenges and issues. Publ Pol Aging Rep 2013 Dec 17;24(1):14-17. [doi: 10.1093/ppar/prt005]
- 50. Czaja SJ, Lee CC. Information technology and older adults. In: Sears A, Jacko JA, editors. Human-Computer Interaction. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 2009:35-50.
- 51. Norman DA. Design principles for human-computer interfaces. 1983 Presented at: SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; December 1983; Boston, MA. [doi: <u>10.1145/800045.801571</u>]
- Fein RM, Olson GM, Olson JS. A mental model can help with learning to operate a complex device. 1993 Presented at: CHI'93 Conference on Human Factors in Computing systems; April 24-29, 1993; Amsterdam p. 157-158. [doi: 10.1145/259964.260170]
- 53. Kieras DE, Bovair S. The role of a mental model in learning to operate a device. Cogn Sci 1984;8(3):255-273. [doi: 10.1207/s15516709cog0803_3]
- 54. Mayer RE. Rote versus meaningful learning. Theory Pract 2010 Jun 24;41(4):226-232. [doi: 10.1207/s15430421tip4104_4]
- 55. Norman D. The psychology of everyday things. New York: Basic Books; 1988.

Abbreviations

STAM: senior technology acceptance model **TAM:** technology acceptance model **UTAUT:** unified theory of acceptance and use of technology

Edited by J Wang; submitted 16.08.21; peer-reviewed by T Liu, J Liu; comments to author 12.01.22; revised version received 21.01.22; accepted 06.02.22; published 08.03.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Kim S, Yao W, Du X Exploring Older Adults' Adoption and Use of a Tablet Computer During COVID-19: Longitudinal Qualitative Study JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e32957 URL: <u>https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32957</u> doi:<u>10.2196/32957</u> PMID:<u>35134747</u>

©Sunyoung Kim, Willow Yao, Xiaotong Du. Originally published in JMIR Aging (https://aging.jmir.org), 08.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

The Use of Technology Among Persons With Memory Concerns and Their Caregivers in the United States During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Qualitative Study

Elizabeth A Albers¹, MPH; Jude Mikal¹, PhD; Ashley Millenbah¹, MPH; Jessica Finlay², PhD; Eric Jutkowitz³, PhD; Lauren Mitchell⁴, PhD; Brenna Horn¹, BA; Joseph E Gaugler¹, PhD

¹Division of Health Policy and Management, School of Public Health, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN, United States

²Social Environment and Health Program, Institute for Social Research, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States

³Department of Health Services, Policy and Practice, School of Public Health, Brown University, Providence, RI, United States

⁴Department of Psychology, Emmanuel College, Boston, MA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Elizabeth A Albers, MPH Division of Health Policy and Management School of Public Health University of Minnesota D351 Mayo 420 Delaware St SE Minneapolis, MN, 55455 United States Phone: 1 6124540415 Email: alber304@umn.edu

Abstract

Background: Stay-at-home orders and other public health measures designed to mitigate the spread of COVID-19 have increased isolation among persons with memory concerns (PWMCs: individuals diagnosed with cognitive impairment or Alzheimer disease or related dementias). The pandemic has also exacerbated challenges for family members who care for PWMCs. Although technology has demonstrated the potential to improve the social connections and mental health of PWMCs and their family caregivers (CGs), previous research shows that older adults may be reluctant to adopt new technologies.

Objective: We aimed to understand why and how some PWMCs and their CGs altered their use of mainstream technology, such as smartphones and fitness trackers, and assistive technology to adapt to lifestyle changes (eg, increased isolation) during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Methods: Using data collected in 20 qualitative interviews from June to August 2020 with 20 PWMCs and family CG dyads, we assessed changes in and barriers to everyday technology use following the implementation of COVID-19 mitigation strategies in the United States. Zoom videoconferencing was utilized to conduct the interviews to protect the health of the participants who were primarily older adults.

Results: Using qualitative thematic analysis, we identified 3 themes that explained motivations for using technology during a pandemic: (1) maintaining social connections, (2) alleviating boredom, and (3) increasing CG respite. Results further revealed lingering barriers to PWMC and CG adoption of technologies, including: (1) PWMC dependence upon CGs, (2) low technological literacy, and (3) limitations of existing technology.

Conclusions: This in-depth investigation suggests that technology can provide PWMCs with more independence and offer CGs relief from CG burden during periods of prolonged isolation.

(JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e31552) doi:10.2196/31552

KEYWORDS

RenderX

social isolation; dementia; caregiving - informal; aging in place; caregivers; aging; elderly; pandemic; COVID-19; mental health; technology use; health technology

Introduction

Persons with memory concerns (PWMCs: individuals formally diagnosed with mild-to-moderate cognitive impairment or Alzheimer disease [AD] or Alzheimer disease–related dementias [ADRD]) and their family members who care for them experience significant challenges in their daily lives. Before the COVID-19 pandemic, PWMCs were likely to experience social isolation as changes in memory, social roles, and personality occurred [1]. Family caregivers (CGs) of PWMCs also had an increased risk of social isolation before the pandemic [2].

COVID-19 is a respiratory illness spread mainly through respiratory droplets and direct contact that is more likely to result in severe illness or death for older adults. Due to the unknown nature of COVID-19 at the time and rapid global spread, many services such as in-home aides and adult day services quickly closed at the onset of the pandemic [3]. This sudden absence of or disruption to home- and community-based services shifted the burden of continuous and comprehensive care to family CGs and intensified their existing challenges [4-6]. Since the onset of the pandemic, research has shown that CGs of PWMCs have experienced increased stress related to the exacerbation of PWMCs' behavioral, psychological, or dementia symptoms [5]. The increased burden and stress family CGs experienced during the initial stages of the pandemic were related to the amount of social support they received, the level of help the PWMCs required to complete activities of daily living, and the level of CGs' concern about the pandemic [7,8]. Throughout the course of the pandemic, many CGs have indicated concerns about a rapid decline in the cognitive functioning of PWMCs, due, in part, to the lack of social interaction [9].

Various types of technology have been used in research with PWMCs and family CGs. Assistive technology, designed specifically to assist PWMCs and their CGs perform a task, is associated with improved cognitive abilities and increased autonomy among PWMCs [10]. Mainstream technologies, such as Zoom or fitness trackers, also offer benefits to this population, such as by supporting social and physical functioning [11]. The use of technology to communicate with friends and family members allows for social connection while social distancing. Remote socialization, such as through web-supported Zoom videoconferencing, is associated with increased positive emotions and decreased agitation among PWMCs [10]. Information and communication technology use is positively associated with social connection and social support, as well as reduced social isolation among older adults [12].

In a prior study, 71% of CGs expressed interest in technology to support caregiving tasks [13]. However, interest in any given technology does not guarantee adoption. A technology's perceived value and perceived impact on quality of life, an individual's confidence in their ability to learn the technology, and social network support of technology use are key hurdles that influence technology adoption in this population [14,15]. Additionally, adoption of technologies for PWMCs and their CGs tends to be low due to barriers such as cost, complexity,



During the COVID-19 pandemic, particularly during stay-at-home orders, the use of technology was necessary to sustain social connection and physical and mental health. Public health measures, such as social distancing, may have altered the perceived value of certain technologies on quality of life among many community-dwelling PWMCs and CGs. For example, telehealth medical visits were deemed feasible and acceptable to PWMCs and their CGs during the pandemic [18]. Social network support may have further influenced the uptake of certain technologies during the pandemic to maintain social connections. Therefore, previously identified barriers to technology adoption could have been outweighed by the increased social isolation and desire to maintain health among some PWMCs and their CGs.

The aim of this study was to investigate how and why some PWMCs and their CGs living in the community changed their mainstream and assistive technology use during the COVID-19 pandemic in the United States. Additionally, we aimed to understand how some PWMCs and their CGs used technology to adapt to isolation during the pandemic.

Methods

Recruitment

In total, 20 PWMCs and their CGs who lived in the community were recruited in the United States to assess (1) how their technology use shifted in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and (2) the impact that shift had on social isolation. Each PWMC-CG dyad was recruited to participate in a semistructured qualitative interview over Zoom videoconferencing. Although Zoom interviews were utilized to protect the health of older adult participants who were more likely to develop severe illness if they contracted COVID-19, this may have introduced selection bias by only including more technologically literate participants who could use Zoom [3]. Selection bias is discussed further in the Discussion section. Participants were recruited through the University of Minnesota Caregiver Registry, a list of family members of PWMCs and health professionals who have agreed to learn about research participation opportunities available on behalf of the senior author's project team. We emailed all individuals in the registry, inviting them to participate in the study. Participants were also recruited through email advertisements in professional networks and at memory clubs and adult day programs for PWMCs.

To be eligible to participate, the PWMCs had to speak English, have no history of a serious mental illness (ie, any major psychiatric disorder), and have a diagnosis of AD/ADRD or mild-to-moderate cognitive impairment by a physician. To be eligible, CGs had to speak English, be 21 years of age and over, and self-identify as someone who assists the PWMCs because of their memory loss. Because the interviews were conducted via Zoom, 3 dyads were considered ineligible since neither member of the dyad had access to a working web camera and microphone. One dyad was ineligible because the PWMC had never received a formal diagnosis of AD/ADRD or cognitive



impairment. Figure 1 describes study participant flow. In total, 40 participants were enrolled and participated in the dyadic interviews conducted by authors EA and AM. The study was

approved by the University of Minnesota Institutional Review Board (STUDY00006318).

Figure 1. Study participant flowchart.



Data Collection Procedures

Qualitative interviews were conducted from June 25 to August 6, 2020. Before an interview began, the CGs and PWMCs had to provide verbal consent or assent. PWMCs' capacity to consent was evaluated by administering the Mini-Cog and the University of California, San Diego (UCSD) Brief Assessment of Capacity to Consent (UBACC) [19,20]. The PWMCs provided verbal consent if they had a Mini-Cog score of 3 or higher and a UBACC score of 14.5 or higher. PWMCs provided verbal assent if they scored 2 or lower on the Mini-Cog or less than 14.5 on the UBACC. Once consent or assent was obtained, we administered a brief survey to CGs and PWMCs to determine age, sex, race, ethnicity, education, income, employment status, living arrangement, relationship to each other, and disease progression of the PWMCs.

Qualitative interviews adhered to a semistructured protocol focusing on 4 major topics: (1) technology use pre-COVID-19, (2) technology use during the COVID-19 pandemic, (3) adoption of specific technologies during the pandemic, and (4) facilitators and barriers to technology adoption. See Multimedia Appendix 1 for the semistructured interview questions. Interviews were audio-recorded, and direct observation notes were completed within 24 hours of each interview to document impressions of the participants' location, level of comfort with Zoom technology, any nonverbal behaviors of importance, and how the PWMCs and CGs interacted.

Data Analysis

Audio recordings were professionally transcribed and organized in NVivo 12 (QSR International). Interview transcripts and direct observation notes were thematically analyzed using Braun

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e31552
```

and Clarke's 6 steps of thematic analysis: (1) familiarization, (2) generation of initial codes, (3) search for themes, (4) review themes, (5) define and name themes, and (6) write-up of themes analyzed [21]. An iterative process was followed to continually identify themes, linkages, and explanations, which were compared to create a codebook. Researchers then identified textual elements that emerged repeatedly (ie, codes); these codes were clustered into larger categories that were used to construct major thematic elements from the text. All authors reviewed the codebook to refine and clarify codes and themes. Next, EA and AM independently coded a subset of the interviews and revised the codebook after comparing codes and discussion with the full authorship team. EA coded the interview transcripts, and author JM reviewed the coded material and revised it, as necessary, to ensure accuracy and replicability. The iterative process of developing codes and themes ensured that saturation was achieved and the data were characterized appropriately. Peer debriefing, negative case analysis, and clear audit trails enhanced transparency and rigor in the analysis [22].

Results

Participants

In total, 20 dyads participated in the study (Table 1). Most PWMCs were male (14/20, 70%), and most CGs were female (14/20, 70%). In addition, 16 (80%) of the 20 dyads were spouses/partners, while the other dyads were siblings or parents/adult children. Furthermore, 18 (90%) of the 20 PWMCs lived with their CGs. Half (n=10) of the PWMCs were diagnosed with AD or early-onset AD, 6 (30%) were diagnosed with mild cognitive impairment, and the remaining 4 (20%) were diagnosed with other types of memory loss.

 Table 1. Demographics of participants in the study.

Characteristics	Entire sample (N=40)	PWMCs ^a (N=20)	CGs ^b (N=20)		
Age (years), mean (range)	72.23 (37-88)	74.75 (57-88)	69.70 (37-86)		
Race, n (%)					
White	38 (95.0)	19 (95.0)	19 (95.0)		
Black/African American	2 (5.0)	1 (5.0)	1 (5.0)		
Ethnicity, n (%)					
Hispanic	1 (2.5)	0	1 (5.0)		
Non-Hispanic	39 (97.5)	20 (100.0)	19 (95.0)		
Gender, n (%)					
Female	20 (50.0)	6 (30.0)	14 (70.0)		
Male	20 (50.0)	14 (70.0)	6 (30.0)		
Employment status, n (%)					
Employed	4 (10.0)	N/A ^c	4 (20.0)		
Retired	15 (37.5)	N/A	15 (75.0)		
Homemaker	1 (2.5)	N/A	1 (5.0)		
Education, n (%)					
High school degree	5 (12.5)	4 (20.0)	1 (5.0)		
Some college	12 (30.0)	5 (25.0)	7 (35.0)		
Bachelor's degree or more	23 (57.5)	11 (55.0)	12 (60.0)		

^aPWMC: person with memory concerns.

^bCG: caregiver.

^cN/A: not applicable.

Qualitative Analysis

Overall, 6 themes were identified that highlight why and how CGs and PWMCs altered their technology use during the COVID-19 pandemic. We present them in 3 groups: (1) facilitators of technology use, (2) barriers to technology use, and (3) overcoming challenges. Technological devices commonly used by participants were smartphones, smartwatches, computers, tablets, smart TVs, and assistive technology designed for PWMCs, such as pill dispensers.

Facilitators of Technology Use During the COVID-19 Pandemic

Due to stay-at-home orders and other public health measures to reduce the spread of COVID-19, PWMCs and CGs experienced physical and social isolation. Engagement with technology alleviated some of the negative outcomes of isolation by (1) sustaining social connections, (2) reducing boredom, and (3) increasing CG respite. These themes are presented with quotes and associated pseudonyms in Table 2 and discussed in more detail later.



Table 2.	Facilitators of technology	use during the COVID-19 pa	andemic for PWMCs ^a and their CGs ^b .
I abit La	I definitations of teenholog	use during the COVID 17 pt	undefine for i whites und then cos.

Theme	Description	Exemplary quotes
Sustaining social connections	CGs and PWMCs were motivated to use technology to maintain social con- nections that would have otherwise been diminished during the pandemic.	 "It's a necessity if we want to keep in touch with people. We can't go visiting family all the time. So, it makes us feel good to be able to see them and, like with you, have a conversation. We're not so isolated." [Lisa, F^c, 77 years, CG] "They're about 6 of us that'll text back and forth to one another a few times during the week." [Tristan, M^d, 71 years, PWMC] "We have a night set aside weekly that we all just kind of check-in with each other, just a videoconference." [Hazel, F, 75 years, CG]
Reducing boredom	CGs and PWMCs used online games and streaming services and browsed the internet to promote entertainment and engagement.	 "I got put on a game that I was playing constantly. That's what got me by." [Peyton, F, 37 years, CG] "We really have been very, very isolated, so when there's nothing to do, you spend more time on ways to reach out to people or just to get information." [Rick, M, 73 years, CG] "For the first time a few months ago, we subscribed to Netflix and we're taking advantage of that there's no more going to theaters." [Darius, M, 82 years, CG]
Increasing CG respite	CGs used technology to alleviate or reduce caregiving tasks to potentially create more time for respite.	 "When you have 3 or 4 appointments on certain weeks, and then other weeks, there are 12 appointments. So, without technology [Slack], you can't have your job and coordinate all these things." [Louis, M, 47 years, CG] "I signed up for the GPS^e [watch] thing. That's worth a million dollars, you know if he wants to go out by himself and I can track him" [Judy, F, 62 years, CG] "I am using the computer more for food purchases, but we still do go out, and then again, I'm using the watch to track where he's at." [Lily, F, 64 years, CG]

^aPWMC: person with memory concerns.

^bCG: caregiver.

^cF: female.

^dM: male.

^eGPS: Global Positioning System.

Sustaining Social Connections

Almost every participant expressed how the pandemic changed how they connected with friends and family. Most of the participants started using Zoom or other videoconferencing technology during the pandemic, while some reported using videoconferencing before the pandemic to keep in touch with family or friends. Many participants indicated new or increasingly frequent engagement with others through computer-mediated communication (CMC), with some even communicating with family members with whom they had lost contact. Half of the dyads reported increased online social engagement, which helped maintain social connection and reduced negative effects of prolonged isolation. April (female [F], 62 years, CG) shared how she used videoconferencing to maintain some aspects of her social connections and said,

My mental health would definitely suffer without the technology of the Zoom meetings and videoconferencing capabilities.

Both PWMCs and CGs realized the importance of social connections during isolation and the importance of sustaining social connections through CMC.

Participants emphasized that ensuring the PWMCs remained socially connected through CMC use was important for mental health and to possibly slow dementia progression. Louis (male [M], 47 years, CG) shared his concern for his father's lack of social connection during the pandemic:

When you have the connections, then you remember people's names or who they are. If you don't see people for a long time, then you start to forget who they are.

For those with the ability and resources to use CMC, it was instrumental in allowing PWMCs to maintain social connections during the pandemic.

Participants also mentioned an increase in the use of other technologies to stay connected, such as photo-sharing apps (eg, Snapchat), texting, and emailing. Barb (F, 86 years, CG) noted she does "a little more texting . . . and more email, because now they're sending all this stuff of what you can do while you're at home, instead of going to adult day [programs]." CGs and PWMCs demonstrated myriad ways in which they adapted to the isolation using different technologies to maintain social connections.



Reducing Boredom

Using technology to reduce boredom was common among participants. Some engaged more passively with technology through streaming movies and music. Some participants were actively engaged with technology by attending online classes, playing memory games, exercising to workout videos, or searching for medical facts. Layla (F, 72 years, PWMC) expressed gratitude for the numerous entertainment options available:

If we were going through this pandemic in the 1940s, it'd be an absolute mess, and [now] you can watch TV and see what's going on and all that stuff... it's a hard time, but in a sense there's still things we can do.

Reducing boredom was important for isolated CGs and PWMCs staying at home, which led to the increased use of existing technology and the adoption of new ones, along with continued cognitive engagement.

Increasing Caregiver Respite

Some CGs and PWMCs adopted new technologies that offered convenience while in the home, such as telehealth visits, grocery delivery services, and Global Positioning System (GPS) technology. These technologies reduced stress and saved time for CGs. Peggie (F, 60 years, CG) leveraged technology for telehealth visits and said,

I actually kind of like if we don't really need to be in the office for a visit. It takes a lot less time . . . versus driving back and forth and waiting.

Telehealth visits offered CGs conveniences, as did online shopping. Lisa (F, 77 years, CG) began ordering groceries online because

Before [the pandemic], I had freedom for, like, a 4-hour slice twice a week. Eight hours where I could get out and do errands that I needed to do, and now I don't have that, and I don't like to leave Myles alone Albers et al

for any length of time. So, I just order my groceries online, and then I go pick them up or my daughter will pick them up for us.

Online shopping allowed CGs who usually shopped in person to not worry about leaving their relative in the car or at home alone for an extended period.

The loss of adult day programs and in-home care visits made finding personal time difficult for some CGs. In some cases, GPS technology provided CGs respite, while still allowing them to attend to the health and safety of the PWMC when needed. CGs, like Rick (M, 73 years) shared how he used GPS watch technology to track his wife who exercised outside without him being present. Rick said,

If Layla was walking and she didn't come back when I thought she should, and I had no clue where to look for her, that would be incredibly stressful!

The GPS watch provided Rick and his wife free time and a sense of independence. Another CG, Judy (F, 62 years) explained that when her relative wore a GPS watch it gave her "peace of mind." Christa (F, 63 years, CG) shared that she used tracking technology because her relative lived in a different city and therefore was not able to know where her relative always was without the help of GPS. Through the adoption of technology, some CGs were able to find ways to create respite time for themselves.

Barriers to Technology Use During the COVID-19 Pandemic

Managing the COVID-19 pandemic in conjunction with caring for someone with memory concerns presented its own set of challenges, as did using new technology. Barriers that impacted CG and PWMC technology use included (1) limitations of existing technology, (2) technological literacy, and (3) the dependence on CGs to use technology. These themes are presented with quotes and associated pseudonyms in Table 3 and discussed in more detail later.



Table 3. Barriers to technology use during the COVID-19 pandemic for PWMCs^a and their CGs^b.

Theme	Description	Exemplary quotes
Limitations of existing technology	CGs and PWMCs experienced various frustrations and difficulties using technol- ogy during or prior to the pandemic due to technological limitations.	 "Sometimes, you have a hard time hearing on Zoom and it's harder to focus. So you have to really focus on the screen." [Louis, M^c, 47 years, CG] "Sometimes, he does text he does have parkinsonism, where he does now have more motor issues, [and] it's hard for him to tap on the phone." [April, F^d, 62 years, CG] "People with memory loss can't [usually] use a smartphone, and so, they've had to go to, like, a flip phone just because it keeps it simple I get confused once in a while on the apps, but not too often." [Lee, M, 77 years, PWMC]
Technological literacy	CGs and PWMCs varied in how familiar they were using technology.	 "I have a newer cell phone, and it does more than what I can do I'm not using everything that's available there." [Lily, F, 64 years, CG] "Lief was really very familiar with technology early on he's significantly lost his ability to navigate, with how rapidly changing technology has been." [April, F, 62 years, CG] "I don't like apps and the security aspect of apps. I don't trust it because I don't really understand it." [Judy, F, 62 years, CG]
Dependence on CGs to use technology	PWMCs varied in their level of depen- dence upon their CGs to use technology.	 "He is coming to me to help him with [the smart TV], which is okay. He's not as frustrated with asking for help as he used to be, but that's a thing that sometimes creates anxiety." [Lily, F, 64 years, CG] "Charles sometimes gets frustrated at the new technologies. I have to keep helping him with it." [Annmarie, F, 73 years, CG] "I might have to have instructions, but if I use it enough, it'll go." [Charles, M, 77 years, PWMC]

^aPWMC: person with memory concerns.

^bCG: caregiver.

^cF: female.

^dM: male.

Limitations of Existing Technology

Most technologies were not designed to suit the needs and abilities of PWMCs. Challenges for PWMCs using CMC included the absence of nonverbal cues, system lag-time issues, and difficulty learning, which resulted in less satisfaction in social interactions while using the technology. CMC can cause PWMCs to become confused or frustrated due to the lack of nonverbal cues and lag-time issues. Peggie (F, 60 years, CG) explained that

Not being able to see the body language, and engaging people appropriately, I think, is harder . . . for someone like [my husband], who maybe is having some challenges getting the words out . . . on a video it's harder.

Although some technologies were designed for PWMCs, a few CGs expressed that they were still too complicated and caused stress and confusion. Peggie shared that her husband's memory loss support group was over the phone because the group members were unsuccessful in joining the videoconference due to difficulty learning new technology. Dementia severity

impacted the ability to learn new technologies and limited the types of technologies that were useful to PWMCs.

Technological Literacy

CGs and PWMCs in the sample varied in their familiarity and comfort with technology; some participants felt well versed or tried to stay up to date on new technologies, while others tried to avoid using any and did not stay up to date. Rick (M, 73 years, CG) explained that

Layla and I use computers every day. We have iPhones, iPad, 2 laptops, Apple, [and] an iMac. We have Amazon echoes. We have cameras and security devices. Our thermostat... we do all that stuff.

Conversely, Gary (M, 77 years, CG) had a nonsmartphone cellular device, and while he used the computer regularly, the interview was his first video call. One PWMC regularly wrote blog posts and used CMC, such as social media with friends, while Myles (M, 85 years, PWMC) said,

I'm what is known as computer illiterate, so I have a difficult time using the telephone. Lack of familiarity with older technology frequently precluded

XSL•FO RenderX

Most CGs expressed interest in using new technology to benefit themselves and their relatives yet were often too intimidated to try. Peyton (F, 37 years, CG) shared,

I'm not really good with it . . . I want to stay up to date, but I don't know what I'm doing.

Less technologically literate participants were frequently intimidated by various aspects of technology. Some participants chose not to use any technology that required more than passive use, such as downloading an app. The level of technological literacy prior to the pandemic impacted how likely a participant was to adopt a new technology during the pandemic.

Some CGs who were less technologically literate were able to seek out and try new technology with the help from others within their social network. April's (F, 62 years, CG) uptake of new technologies was driven by her children:

I wouldn't even consider it if my kids didn't say "Hey, look at how cool this works . . . you should get this, Mom."

Another CG, Barb, (F, 86 years) shared how her granddaughter often helped her learn a new technology, such as Zoom. Less technologically literate participants whose social networks reinforced the use of new technology were able to realize the benefits it had in their lives.

Dependence on Caregivers to Use Technology

Over half of the dyads shared various ways in which the PWMC was dependent on the CG to utilize technology. Annmarie (F, 73 years, CG) would completely set up Zoom so the PWMC could use it, while other PWMCs used technology independently and relied on their CGs only when problems arose, such as a screen going blank. Some CGs like Peggie (F, 60 years, CG) expressed a desire for the PWMCs to be more independent using technology:

I would really love it if he didn't have to say, "Peggie, can you come help me make this happen?"

To maintain a technology's usefulness, a CG had to be readily available, have time to teach the PWMC how to use it, and reinforce its use.

Overcoming Challenges

Participants who were motivated to try a new technology and overcame the associated challenges reported increased social connection, reduced the caregiving burden, and, in some instances, increased PWMC independence. Some CGs began using technology to promote learning and cognitive engagement among their relatives during the pandemic. For example, Zoom meetings and viewing pictures on Facebook helped to stimulate memory and mental capabilities to maintain recognition and memories of friends and family. Throughout the interviews, there were examples of PWMCs learning a new technology and gaining independence. Lisa (F, 77 years, CG) explained how she used to set up calls on her husband's hearing phone so that he could call other people:

But since COVID he started using it himself... I said [to Myles], "That's a little bit of freedom that you've got back."

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e31552
```

These fragments of increased PWMC freedom were able to slightly reduce caregiving burden despite increased stress and isolation.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The COVID-19 pandemic forced a shift in technology adoption for those who were fortunate enough to have access to it. Yet, CGs and PWMCs were not always willing to try new technology to assist them due to barriers such as each person's level of technological literacy, the dependence on the CG for use, and limitations of the technology. For CGs and PWMCs who adopted new technology or adapted existing technology, technology was perceived as more useful during the pandemic than before, specifically in relieving boredom, maintaining social connections, and increasing CG respite.

Comparison With Prior Work

Our research affirms that social network support, perceived value, perceived impact on the quality of life, and confidence in the ability to learn a new technology are all important influences of technology adoption [14,15]. Each of these influences played a role in technology adoption among PWMCs and CGs during the pandemic. Our research also highlights the role of technology in reducing the caregiving burden during the pandemic, along with increasing PWMC independence. GPS technology seemed to minimize CG stress by reducing the likelihood of PWMCs getting lost [23]. Similar to findings by Øderud et al [24], our research also shows that GPS technology provides CGs with respite time, while allowing PWMCs to enjoy their freedom and outdoor activities safely.

Studies suggest that assistive technology can reduce the caregiving burden yet may also pose an additional burden when technology adoption and use require too much CG help [25]. Such results are consistent with our findings that CGs are unlikely to adopt burdensome technology. In a review of 56 studies, assistive technology was perceived as removing CG stress and burden overall, although no significant change in the caregiving burden was reported in any of the 16 (29%) quantitative studies included in the review [23]. This discrepancy in CG burden results may be due to insensitivity of existing quantitative outcome measures [26]. Perhaps alternatively, no single device or app is comprehensive enough to reduce the caregiving burden, and instead, a combination of technologies is required to significantly reduce burden.

Technology can foster social connections for CGs and PWMCs by counteracting the impact of diminished social support and interactions during the pandemic. A systematic review of 25 publications concluded that information and communication technologies (ICT) can be an effective way of reducing social isolation among older adults; however, it is not suitable for all older adults [12]. Prior to the pandemic, technological interventions to reduce social isolation were understudied [27]. Not only are more ICT interventions being developed to reduce loneliness and increase social participation during the pandemic, but older adults also have a more positive view of ICT interventions now in contrast to before the pandemic [28].

Preliminary findings are showing promising results; in a qualitative study, researchers demonstrated that virtual memory cafés, where PWMCs and CGs remotely interact with other PWMCs and CGs, were able to support the social connectedness of PWMCs and CGs during the COVID-19 pandemic [29].

Recommendations

The findings emphasize the importance of incorporating technological barriers of PWMCs and their CGs into the design process. Although dependence on the CG to use technology cannot be eliminated entirely, it should be avoided or minimized through mindful design. Therefore, it is important to engage both the PWMC and the family CG during each stage of the design process. Additionally, it is likely not feasible for technology developers to improve a users' technological literacy. However, testing new products by CGs and PWMCs at various stages of dementia progression could highlight difficulties for less technologically literate users. This codesign process is important for any technology used by older adults yet is most important for technology designed specifically for PWMCs.

Limitations

Limitations of this research include factors that may make the study population different from the general population. Participants were recruited through email, and they had to be willing and able to participate in interviews over Zoom, which could have led to selection bias. Participants may be more likely to use Zoom and other technologies than individuals who would have only been recruited in a nontechnological manner or did not have the capability to participate in a Zoom interview. Since income, education, and race/ethnicity are major influences of technology adoption, it is important to note that this sample was highly educated, had a median income higher than the national median income, and primarily identified as non-Hispanic White [30]. Additionally, we did not include PWMCs living in long-term care, and no PWMCs were in the later stages of dementia. Due to these differences, participants in this study may have different patterns of technology use/disuse compared to other CGs and PWMCs, all of which likely limit the generalizability of the findings. The results are hypothesis generating, and future research should engage a more racially and ethnically diverse population of CGs and PWMCs and include participants with lower incomes, educational attainment, and technological literacy.

Conclusion

This research contributes to the literature on this population's technology usage. Much of the existing literature focuses solely on assistive technology, while our research points out that mainstream technologies, such as smartphones or Zoom, were predominately used by this sample. Further research is needed to examine how mainstream technologies are used to support PWMCs and CGs in their everyday lives and to compare whether those who adopted more technology during the pandemic coped better with isolation than those who did not alter their technology usage.

Our research found that the COVID-19 pandemic resulted in an increase in technology use among many participants. These findings emphasize the importance of technology use among CGs and PWMCs, particularly during isolation, to provide relief from caregiving burden and afford PWMCs more independence.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by a grant from the National Institute on Aging (R44AG063683). The sponsor did not review or approve the manuscript prior to publication. JEG obtained funding. JEG, JF, EJ, and LM developed and refined the methods. EAA and AM coordinated the study and collected the data. EAA and JM read transcripts and performed the analysis. EAA, JM, and AM completed the manuscript. All authors provided feedback and refined the manuscript. The authors have no financial interest in the study. The authors would like to acknowledge Gary Havey of Advanced Medical Electronics. The authors would also like to particularly acknowledge the participants who contributed their valuable time to this study.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Semistructured interview questions. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 42 KB - aging_v5i1e31552_app1.pdf]

References

- 1. Parikh PK, Troyer AK, Maione AM, Murphy KJ. The impact of memory change on daily life in normal aging and mild cognitive impairment. Gerontologist 2016 Oct 09;56(5):877-885. [doi: <u>10.1093/geront/gnv030</u>] [Medline: <u>26035897</u>]
- Kovaleva M, Spangler S, Clevenger C, Hepburn K. Chronic stress, social isolation, and perceived loneliness in dementia caregivers. J Psychosoc Nurs Ment Health Serv 2018 Oct 01;56(10):36-43. [doi: 10.3928/02793695-20180329-04] [Medline: 29667698]
- Singhal S, Kumar P, Singh S, Saha S, Dey AB. Clinical features and outcomes of COVID-19 in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Geriatr 2021 May 19;21(1):321 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12877-021-02261-3] [Medline: 34011269]

- 4. Alzheimer's Association. 2021 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimers Dement 2021;17(3):1-104 [FREE Full text]
- Cagnin A, Di Lorenzo R, Marra C, Bonanni L, Cupidi C, Laganà V, SINdem COVID-19 Study Group. Behavioral and psychological effects of coronavirus disease-19 quarantine in patients with dementia. Front Psychiatry 2020 Sep 9;11:578015 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.578015] [Medline: 33033486]
- Weiss EF, Malik R, Santos T, Ceide M, Cohen J, Verghese J, et al. Telehealth for the cognitively impaired older adult and their caregivers: lessons from a coordinated approach. Neurodegener Dis Manag 2021 Feb;11(1):83-89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2217/nmt-2020-0041] [Medline: 33172352]
- Altieri M, Santangelo G. The psychological impact of COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown on caregivers of people with dementia. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2021 Jan;29(1):27-34 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jagp.2020.10.009</u>] [Medline: <u>33153872</u>]
- Savla J, Roberto K, Blieszner R, McCann B, Hoyt E, Knight A. Dementia caregiving during the "stay-at-home" phase of COVID-19 pandemic. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2021 Mar 14;76(4):e241-e245 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbaa129] [Medline: 32827214]
- 9. Roach P, Zwiers A, Cox E, Fischer K, Charlton A, Josephson CB, et al. Understanding the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on well-being and virtual care for people living with dementia and care partners living in the community. Dementia (London) 2021 Aug 31;20(6):2007-2023 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1471301220977639] [Medline: 33381996]
- Kruse CS, Fohn J, Umunnakwe G, Patel K, Patel S. Evaluating the facilitators, barriers, and medical outcomes commensurate with the use of assistive technology to support people with dementia: a systematic review literature. Healthcare (Basel) 2020 Aug 18;8(3):278 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/healthcare8030278] [Medline: 32824711]
- 11. Astell AJ, Bouranis N, Hoey J, Lindauer A, Mihailidis A, Nugent C, et al. Technology and dementia: the future is now. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2019;47(3):131-139 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000497800] [Medline: 31247624]
- 12. Chen YR, Schulz PJ. The effect of information communication technology interventions on reducing social isolation in the elderly: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2016 Jan 28;18(1):e18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4596] [Medline: 26822073]
- 13. HITLAB. A guide for innovators research from a nationally representative sample of America's 40 million family caregivers. Caregivers & Technology: What They Want and Need. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.aarp.org/content/dam/aarp/research/surveys_statistics/ltc/2018/caregivers-technology-needs.doi.10.26419-2Fres.00191.002.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-05-11]
- 14. Berkowsky RW, Sharit J, Czaja SJ. Factors predicting decisions about technology adoption among older adults. Innov Aging 2018 Jan;2(1):igy002 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geroni/igy002] [Medline: 30480129]
- 15. Riikonen M, Paavilainen E, Salo H. Factors supporting the use of technology in daily life of home-living people with dementia. Technol Disabil 2013 Apr 21;25(4):233-243. [doi: 10.3233/tad-130393]
- van Boekel L, Wouters EJM, Grimberg BM, Boumans J, van der Meer NJM, Luijkx KG. Perspectives of stakeholders on technology use in the care of community-living older adults with dementia. Tijdschr Gerontol Geriatr 2020 Sep 01;51(3). [doi: <u>10.36613/tgg.1875-6832/2020.03.03</u>] [Medline: <u>32951397</u>]
- 17. Anderson M, Perrin A. Tech Adoption Climbs among Older Adults. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/wp-content/uploads/sites/9/2017/05/PI_2017.05.17_Older-Americans-Tech_FINAL.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-04-12]
- Elbaz S, Cinalioglu K, Sekhon K, Gruber J, Rigas C, Bodenstein K, et al. A systematic review of telemedicine for older adults with dementia during COVID-19: an alternative to in-person health services? Front Neurol 2021 Dec 14;12:761965 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.761965] [Medline: 34970210]
- 19. Borson S, Scanlan J, Chen P, Ganguli M. The Mini-Cog as a screen for dementia: validation in a population-based sample. J Am Geriatr Soc 2003 Oct;51(10):1451-1454. [doi: 10.1046/j.1532-5415.2003.51465.x] [Medline: 14511167]
- Jeste DV, Palmer BW, Appelbaum PS, Golshan S, Glorioso D, Dunn LB, et al. A new brief instrument for assessing decisional capacity for clinical research. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2007 Aug 01;64(8):966-974. [doi: <u>10.1001/archpsyc.64.8.966</u>] [Medline: <u>17679641</u>]
- 21. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 22. Marshall C, Rossman G. Designing Qualitative Research, 6th Edition. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications; 2016.
- 23. Pulido Herrera E. Location-based technologies for supporting elderly pedestrian in "getting lost" events. Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol 2017 May 04;12(4):315-323. [doi: 10.1080/17483107.2016.1181799] [Medline: 27377102]
- 24. Øderud T, Landmark B, Eriksen S, Fossberg A, Aketun S, Omland M, et al. Persons with dementia and their caregivers using GPS. Stud Health Technol Inform 2015;217:212-221. [Medline: <u>26294475</u>]
- 25. Marasinghe KM. Assistive technologies in reducing caregiver burden among informal caregivers of older adults: a systematic review. Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol 2016;11(5):353-360. [doi: 10.3109/17483107.2015.1087061] [Medline: 26371519]
- Sriram V, Jenkinson C, Peters M. Informal carers' experience of assistive technology use in dementia care at home: a systematic review. BMC Geriatr 2019 Jun 14;19(1):160 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12877-019-1169-0] [Medline: 31196003]
- 27. Dickens AP, Richards SH, Greaves CJ, Campbell JL. Interventions targeting social isolation in older people: a systematic review. BMC Public Health 2011 Aug 15;11(1):647 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-11-647] [Medline: 21843337]

- 28. Choi HK, Lee SH. Trends and effectiveness of ICT interventions for the elderly to reduce loneliness: a systematic review. Healthcare (Basel) 2021 Mar 07;9(3):293 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/healthcare9030293] [Medline: 33800099]
- 29. Masoud SS, Meyer KN, Martin Sweet L, Prado PJ, White CL. "We don't feel so alone": a qualitative study of virtual memory cafés to support social connectedness among individuals living with dementia and care partners during COVID-19. Front Public Health 2021 May 13;9:660144 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.660144] [Medline: 34055724]
- 30. Mossberger K, Tolbert CJ, Gilbert M. Race, place, and information technology. Urban Affairs Rev 2016 Aug 19;41(5):583-620. [doi: 10.1177/1078087405283511]

Abbreviations

AD: Alzheimer disease ADRD: Alzheimer disease–related dementias CG: caregiver CMC: computer-mediated communication F: female GPS: Global Positioning System ICT: information and communication technologies M: male PWMC: person with memory concerns UBACC: University of California, San Diego Brief Assessment of Capacity to Consent

Edited by J Wang; submitted 29.06.21; peer-reviewed by B Hattink, D Mohan, K Loveys; comments to author 27.12.21; revised version received 15.01.22; accepted 07.02.22; published 17.03.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Albers EA, Mikal J, Millenbah A, Finlay J, Jutkowitz E, Mitchell L, Horn B, Gaugler JE The Use of Technology Among Persons With Memory Concerns and Their Caregivers in the United States During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Qualitative Study JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e31552 URL: <u>https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e31552</u> doi:10.2196/31552 PMID:35134748

©Elizabeth A Albers, Jude Mikal, Ashley Millenbah, Jessica Finlay, Eric Jutkowitz, Lauren Mitchell, Brenna Horn, Joseph E Gaugler. Originally published in JMIR Aging (https://aging.jmir.org), 17.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Understanding Current Needs and Future Expectations of Informal Caregivers for Technology to Support Health and Well-being: National Survey Study

Kieren J Egan¹, BSc (Hons), PhD; Patricia Clark², MA (Hons), MSc; Zahid Deen³, BA (Hons); Carmen Paputa Dutu³, MA; Graham Wilson¹, BSc, MSc, PhD; Lisa McCann¹, BSc (Hons), MSc, PhD; Marilyn Lennon¹, BSc, PGDip, PhD; Roma Maguire¹, BN, MSc, PhD

¹Digital Health and Wellness Group, Department of Computing and Information Sciences, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow, United Kingdom ²Carers Scotland, Glasgow, United Kingdom

³The Health and Social Care Alliance Scotland, Glasgow, United Kingdom

Corresponding Author:

Roma Maguire, BN, MSc, PhD Digital Health and Wellness Group Department of Computing and Information Sciences University of Strathclyde 16 Richmond Street Glasgow, G1 1XQ United Kingdom Phone: 44 141 548 3589 Email: <u>roma.maguire@strath.ac.uk</u>

Abstract

Background: There are approximately 6.5 million informal (unpaid) caregivers in the United Kingdom. Each caregiver plays a critical role in the society, supporting the health and well-being of those who are ill, disabled, or older and who need frequent support. Digital technologies are becoming a ubiquitous part of everyday life for many, but little is known about the *real-world* impact of technology for those in a caring role, including the abilities of technologies to address the mental and physical impacts of caregiving.

Objective: This study aims to understand the current and future technology use of caregivers, including digital technologies used to care for themselves and the person they look after.

Methods: We codeveloped a wide range of questions with caregivers and care professionals and delivered this survey both on the web and in paper format (eg, using social networks such as Twitter alongside *in-person* events). Questions were focused on providing care and looking after caregiver health and well-being. Analyses focused on both quantitative outcomes (frequency counts and Likert questions) and explored free text entries (thematic analysis).

Results: From 356 respondents, we identified that caregivers were receptive to, and largely positive about current and future use of technology both for their own care and their caring role (eg, checking in from distance). There were notable concerns, including the risk that technology could replace human contact. We identified several key areas for future work, including communication with health and social care professionals, and the potential for technology to help caregivers with their own health. We also identified several stakeholders (eg, care workers, pharmacy staff, and general practitioners) who could act as suitable points for technology signposting and support.

Conclusions: Caregivers are a transient, often difficult to reach population, and this work has collated a large body of knowledge across a diverse group of individuals. Many caregivers, like the rest of society, are realizing the benefits of using everyday technology to help deliver care. It is clear that there is already a high level of dependency on technologies, where future expectations will grow. However, many barriers to digital technology use remain, including a lack of ongoing technology support. Preventive measures linked to technology that can help look after a caregiver's own health appear acceptable, particularly for communicative tools. This collated caregiver knowledge is a call for all stakeholders—academics, policy makers, and practitioners—to take note of these specific challenges, and to ensure that caregiver voices are both heard and fully integrated within the emerging digital health agenda.

(JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e15413) doi:10.2196/15413

KEYWORDS

caregiving; technology; health; well-being; digital health; co-design; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

Informal (unpaid) caregivers play a critical role in society, supporting the health and well-being of those who are ill, disabled, or older who need frequent support. Caregivers are the biggest health care provider in the United Kingdom alone, with an estimated 6.5 million informal caregivers (ie, approximately 10% of the total population), with an economic impact of approximately US \$77-US \$182 billion per year [1,2]. Globally, an aging and growing population means that the number and economic contribution of caregivers appear to grow considerably in the years ahead.

Collectively, caregivers are diverse. Each situation is unique, varying across geographic location, conditions cared for, cumulative time spent caring, available support (social, health care, or otherwise), and information received [3]. Reaching and understanding this silent workforce is not straight forward, as many caregivers take many years to-or may never-identify with the term of being a caregiver [4]. Although the tasks that caregivers undertake differ (eg, specific needs, hours spent caregiving, and support available [5-7]), the commonalities in experience are the physical and mental stresses, which are considerable and unrelenting. The cumulative load of caregiving steadily impacts the health and well-being of caregivers, and for many, caregiving is associated with a broad range of acute and chronic mental and physical conditions [8-10]. Accordingly, there are urgent calls at national and multinational levels to find ways to support caregiver needs through cost-effective, sustainable, and preventive solutions [11,12]. Such calls have accelerated the development of many innovative approaches, such as those directed toward digital health and wellness technology-based solutions [13].

The development of solutions based on digital health and wellness technology is increasing across a wide range of approaches, including telehealth, mobile health, wearables, and health analytics as well as digitalized (eg, paperless) health systems [14,15]. Technology support for health and well-being is also increasingly prominent within community care where technologies, such as webcams, personal alarms, GPS trackers, and voice technologies are helping many caregivers regularly manage aspects of safety, communication, care, and sustaining independence for as long as possible [13].

Study Aims

In a growing continuum of digital possibilities, understanding theoretical models of moderators and mediators for technology use is of significant interest to all stakeholders [16]. Nevertheless, our global understanding of the barriers and enablers for *real-world* technology use for caregivers is still surprisingly sparse [17-19]. Given the considerable prominence of caregivers within our health and social care workforce, this study aims to collect evidence on the current and future

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e15413
```

Egan et al

technology use of caregivers, both for their own health and well-being, and the person or persons they look after within the context of the United Kingdom.

Methods

Overview

The Supported Carer Project survey involved delivering a comprehensive survey to help inform current understanding of the use of digital technology among caregivers, both for caregiver health and those cared for. As we did not find one already in existence, we co-designed a novel survey with caregivers. This survey was designed to be used across the United Kingdom to capture both current and future needs and how digital health technologies might be able to meet these needs.

Inclusion Criteria and Survey Co-design

Our inclusion criteria reflected our broad interests and included all informal caregivers aged ≥18 years. We used a broad definition of an informal caregiver, people that provide unpaid care by looking after an ill, older or disabled family member, friend, or partner. We did not specify the minimum number of hours per week caregivers needed to be caring for. Ethical approval was received from the Department of Computer & Information Science at the University of Strathclyde. Our survey collated information on basic demographics, health needs, and explored perspectives on technology for both caregivers and those being cared for (including interactions with health and social care professionals). Our survey questions (Multimedia Appendix 1) were codeveloped through consultation with key study partners who had significant experience working in the caregiver domain (Health and Social Care Alliance Scotland [The ALLIANCE] and Carers Scotland as part of Carers UK). Questions were developed iteratively, and the scope and approach of our survey was critiqued by 3 individual caregivers and 5 professionals from caregiver organizations to ensure that the length, wording, and scope were appropriate. No questions were mandatory, so responses vary across each question discussed. The survey consisted of four key sections: (1) the demographic details of you as a caregiver (7 questions); (2) you as a caregiver and technology use (13 questions); (3) the demographic details of the person that you care for and health and social care service use (26 questions); and (4) technology use for the person you care for (50 questions). Caregivers could add multiple people cared for should they care for more than one person, up to a maximum of 4 people.

Survey Distribution and Consent

The distribution of our survey involved convenience sampling. More specifically, we shared the web-based version of our survey through social media channels (eg, Twitter), and email distribution through networks accessible to our third sector partners. The survey was promoted using email and social media

XSL•FO RenderX

networks connected to The ALLIANCE [20] and Caregivers Scotland as part of the Caregivers United Kingdom [21]. Paper copies of the survey were also distributed at conferences and professional events from The ALLIANCE and Carers UK (Scotland), which were posted back to us. In addition, the UK Alzheimer's Society agreed to share this survey using their web-based message board systems, *Talking Point*. The survey was available from June 21, 2018, to September 28, 2018. Consent was implied in both digital and paper format after participants read, acknowledged, and accepted the initial terms of the anonymized survey.

Data Handling and Analyses

Our survey was constructed using Qualtrics Software, where we stated that any data entered must not contain any identifiable information. These efforts were paralleled in a paper format. As free text entry methods could not prevent identifiable information from being entered, data were treated as confidential at all times and retained within encrypted, password-protected sources. Qualitative analyses were performed using thematic analysis and deep dives [22]. All quantitative analyses (frequencies and summary statistics) were performed using R Studio (version 1.1.456).

Results

Demographic Information of Caregivers and Those Cared for

We received 356 caregiver responses (total sample size but individual question responses vary) in our survey, and the demographics of caregivers and those cared for are summarized in Table 1. Caregivers who completed our survey varied in age, but most commonly between 45 and 54 years (135/356, 37.9% of responses), predominantly female (288/354, 81.3% vs 60/354, 16.9%) and self-reported as White (335/354, 94.6%). Of the 331 responses for this specific question, 234 (70.7%) of our respondents were located in Scotland, 74 (22.3%) in England, 17 (5.1%) in Wales, and 6 (1.8%) in Northern Ireland. Regarding the highest level of education, 56.2% (200/356) of respondents

had obtained a degree or equivalent, and 22.2% (79/356) had completed higher education. Regarding the number of people cared for, 72.9% (210/288) of participants were caring for 1 person, 22.2% (64/288) were caring for 2 people, 4.2% (12/288) were caring for 3 people, and 0.7% (2/288) were caring for 4 or more people. A total of 34.2% (121/354) of caregivers were working full-time, 25.4% (90/354) were part-time, and 40.4% (143/354) were not working, of which 90 (ie, 90/354, 25.4% of all caregivers responding) had to give up work because of caregiving. Caregivers varied in the number of years spent caregiving, ranging from less than a year (5/309, 1.6%) to over 20 years (34/309, 11%). Four participants responded to our survey via post (4/356, 1.1%) with all other responses via our web link.

Our survey responses included information from 359 individuals cared for, where information differed considerably from that among caregivers in both age and gender (Table 2). Those cared for were most commonly either <35 years (99/359, 27.6%) or >65 years (193/359, 53.8%), and males and females cared for were 51.1% (181/354) and 47.7% (169/354), respectively. The ethnicity of those cared for was very similar to that of caregivers. Among individuals cared for (where sufficient detail was given for 355 individuals; Multimedia Appendix 2) over 20 different conditions were listed, and the most common conditions were dementia (109/355, 30.7%), older needs (106/355, 29.8%), and mental health conditions (74/355, 20.8%). Similarly, the types of specific health problems reported varied considerably across those cared for. From 258 responses, 99 (38.4%) reported precise hand movement problems, 66 (25.6%) speech impairments, 66 (25.6%) deafness or hearing loss, and 40 (15.5%) were blind or had sight loss. A total of 44.2% (114/258) of responses indicated that there were other sensory issues. We were able to explore 106 of these (free text responses), where mobility was a specific problem for 29.2% (31/106) of respondents. Overall, this subgroup of responses was diverse and problems related to both physical (eg, "nerve damage" and "physically weak") and psychosocial health issues (eg, anxiety or memory).



Table 1.	Study sample	and population	characteristics of	of caregivers.
----------	--------------	----------------	--------------------	----------------

Egan et al

table 1. Study sumple and population characteristics of caregivers.	
Demographics	Caregivers, n (%)
Age (years; N=356)	
18-24	4 (1.1)
25-34	17 (4.8)
35-44	56 (15.7)
45-54	135 (37.9)
55-64	100 (28.1)
65-74	28 (7.9)
75-84	13 (3.7)
≥85	1 (0.3)
Prefer not to say	2 (0.6)
Gender (n=354)	
Female	288 (81.4)
Male	60 (16.9)
Other	3 (0.85)
Prefer not to say	3 (0.85)
Ethnicity (n=354)	
White	335 (94.6)
Mixed/multiple ethnic groups	3 (0.85)
Asian/Asian British	4 (1.13)
Black/African/Caribbean/Black British	0 (0)
Other	4 (1.12)
Prefer not to say	8 (2.3)
Highest level of education (N=356)	
Degree or equivalent	200 (56.2)
Higher education	79 (22.2)
Other qualifications	18 (5.1)
School qualifications	52 (14.6)
No qualifications	5 (1.4)
Do not know	2 (0.6)
Number of years caregiving (n=309)	
<1	5 (1.6)
1-2	36 (12)
3-4	54 (17.5)
5-6	53 (17.2)
7-8	28 (9.1)
9-10	24 (7.8)
10-16	41 (13.3)
>16-20	34 (11)
>20	34 (11)



XSL•FO RenderX

Characteristics

Age (years; N=359)

Table 2.	Study sample and	population characteristics	of people cared for.
----------	------------------	----------------------------	----------------------

Age (years, IV-	-557)		
0-15		49 (13.7)	
16-24		32 (8.9)	
25-34		18 (5)	
35-44		9 (2.5)	
45-54		25 (7)	
55-64		31 (8.7)	
65-74		39 (10.9)	
75-84		81 (22.6)	
≥85		73 (20.3)	
Prefer not	to say	2 (0.6)	
Gender (n=35	4)		
Female		169 (47.5)	
Male		181 (50.8)	
Other		1 (0.3)	
Prefer not	to say	5 (1.5)	
Ethnicity (n=3	56)		
White		334 (93.8)	
Mixed/mu	ltiple	7 (2)	
Asian/Asia	an British	5 (1.4)	
Mixed/mu	ltiple	1 (0.3)	
Black/Afri	can/Caribbean/Black British	2 (0.6)	
Other		7 (2)	

Technology for Caregivers' Own Health and Well-being

Current Interest

Caregivers were asked about their level of agreement to use technology to help with their own health and well-being. Of the 277 responses, 92 (33.2%) of respondents strongly agreed, 102 (36.8%) agreed, 67 (24.2%) neither agreed nor disagreed, 12 (4.3%) disagreed, and 4 (1.4%) strongly disagreed:

Being able to access support or some form of mental health support would be ideal. Being a carer is tough and you focus most of your time on the person you care for but forget you also need care. [Participant quote on using technology for own health and well-being]

Caregivers interpreted help from digital technologies in many different forms. Our analysis identified themes across concepts

of relaxation, meditation, memory prompts, communication (both with health and social care professionals and peers), entertainment and tools, such as fitness trackers to encourage or inform healthy lifestyle choices (Textbox 1). Arguments to support the use of technology to support health and wellness were based on convenience, accessibility, and accuracy: being able to use digital tools quickly to find answers on a regular basis. Exploring the free text of caregivers who were not interested in using technology for their own health (ie, 16 caregivers who disagreed or strongly disagreed that they had an interest) highlighted many concerns regarding technology. Time (and money) were barriers to use for 5 respondents, and technologies that operate in silos outside of health and social care are of limited use. Concerns were also raised that technology can become a gimmick. Technologies were highlighted as a concern where they reinforce a concept of failure: technologies that assess progress and activity relating to one's own health and well-being can resonate with feelings of a lack of achievement.



Textbox 1. Caregiver quotes for using technology for own health and well-being. Caregivers rated their agreeability regarding their level of interest "to use technology to help me with my own health and well-being." Quotes are examples of further details given from participants grouped according to level of agreement.

Strongly agree

• "Being able to access support or some form of mental health support would be ideal. Being a caregiver is tough and you focus most of your time on the person you care for but forget you also need care."

Agree

• "It is all very useful- but won't encourage you to meditate or exercise. You have to want to do it, for it to be effective. When you are isolated, depressed and stressed—you still need human interaction."

Neither agree nor disagree

"I don't know how it would help. I fear it going wrong."

Disagree

• "Gimmicks like these tech devices are of little interest to me. I do make extensive use of the internet to connect with other caregivers and share information and social chatter."

Strongly disagree

• "There is enough to deal with already. The thought of my phone telling me to go for a walk fills me with dread. Yet more to fail at."

Future Interest

When individuals were asked where they would like to see a focus on future technologies for caregiver health and well-being, we identified that there was a wide range of needs for future priorities (Figure 1). In parallel with the themes identified for current use, the most commonly reported future needs were around the themes of communication with health and social care professionals (62/247, 25.1%) of respondents rated this as the highest priority need). Other high-priority needs identified (ie, 10 out of a possible 10) for caregiver health and well-being

were technologies focused on social engagement (51/245, 20.8%), entertainment (44/253, 17.4%), and communication with voluntary or community organizations (41/239, 17.2%). Some 54 respondents noted that not all of their needs were captured within the predefined eight categories. We explored these data and identified 24 diverse responses. Examples included, *accessing research and best practice recommendations* and *medication management*. Others were more interested in mental health aspects such as *rebuild my self-esteem* and *mental health monitoring advice and support*.

Figure 1. Summary figure of how caregivers would like to see future technologies support them with their own health and well-being in percentage. Color indicates priority of need where 0=not a priority (violet) and 10=highest priority (maroon).

	Priorities for carer health and well-being in the future													
		Priorit	y of n	eed (0	= Not a	a priorit	ty, 10= ⊦	ligh pri	ority)	0 1 2	3 4 5		7 📕 10)
Communication with health and social care professionals	-	2	25%		14	1%	179	%	12	2% 7	% 9	%	6% 3	3%
Social engagement		209	%	1)%	14%	6	11%	7%	14%	6	5%	8% 5%	6 —
Entertainment	-	17%		7%	15	%	13%	8	8%	17%		7%	4% 3% 6	%
Communication with voluntary or community organizations \eth		17%		8%	1	5%	13%	6 7	7%	12%	5%	5% 4	% 9%	5%
Exercise		12%	7%		18%		14%	10'	%	14%	5%	7%	5% 7%	
⊢ Monitor Health		12%	8%	9	%	12%	8%		16%	4%	8%	7%	8%	6%
Vision speech and hearing		10%	5%	6% 8	1%	8%	10%	3% 69	% 1	10%	2	1%	10	%
Mobility in house		7% 7%	6 7	% 6%	5 7%	5 1	14%	8%	7%	16%	6	15	i% 8	3% —
Other		19%		4%	%	7%	7% 49	%4%			46%	5		
	0.0	00		0.	25	Prec	(entage).50 of resp	onde	nts	0.75			1.00

Technology for Delivering Care

Current Interest

We gathered 238 responses on the agreement level regarding interest for caregivers to use technology within their caring role. We observed that 39.5% (94/238) strongly agreed, 33.6% (80/238) agreed, 21.8% (52/238) neither agreed nor disagreed, 3.4% (8/238) disagreed, and 1.5% (4/238) strongly disagreed. Through free text responses (Textbox 2), caregivers commonly noted several key benefits, including digital devices (eg, tablets, smartphones, or laptops) allow ease of access to information, checking in from distance (eg, Skype), supporting isolation,

communication, entertainment (eg, Netflix), and help with simple reminders for care duties such as medications:

Caring comes down to people and we must get the focus back on to people, not technology! [Participant quote on using technology for caring role]

Some caregivers reported knowledge of web-based learning and support modules. Concerns from caregivers included that reaching health and social care professionals remains difficult, and that the use of technology can be stressful for those cared for (eg, provoking anxiety). Technologies are also limited in their suitability for progressive conditions.

Textbox 2. Caregiver quotes for using technology in caring role. Caregivers were asked to rate their level of interest for using technology to help them with their caring role. Quotes are examples of further details given from participants grouped according to level of agreement.

Strongly agree

• "In order for me to continue be able care at home I need technology. Simple as that."

Agree

• "Living in a fairly isolated community and reliant on a car for appointments, shopping and visiting friends, technology such as video links, and FaceTime are helpful."

Neither agree nor disagree

• "With dementia it is only useful in the early stages."

Disagree

• "I care for someone with very complex mental health problems and technology would raise his already extreme anxiety I suspect."

Strongly disagree

• "Caring comes down to people and we must get the focus back on to people, not technology!"

Type of Technology and Frequency of Use Within Caring Role

We asked caregivers about the type and frequency of technology they use for their caring role and they most commonly reported smartphones, computer or laptop use, and social networking sites with 65.8% (154/234), 66.5% (151/227), and 59.8% (128/214), respectively, reporting at least once weekly use (Figure 2). Many technologies have been used sporadically; for example, locator devices (eg, Google Maps and GPS) are used at least to some degree by 57.3% (130/227) of caregivers but are commonly used weekly or monthly. Regarding frequency of use, caregivers were twice as likely to have never used wearable technology as opposed to using it daily. The use of platforms specific for gaming was limited (eg, PlayStation or Xbox) and was used by 5.9% (13/218) of caregivers daily. Such use was not limited to younger ages but included involvement from caregivers aged 55 to 64 years. Perhaps tellingly, a lack of understanding of terminologies used in our survey was often associated with caregivers never using a specific technology to help them in their caring role (eg, robots, smart homes, and remote monitoring).



Figure 2. Current technology use of caregivers to conduct their caring role. The x-axis represents cumulative percentage use, whereas the y-axis represents the different types of technologies. Frequency of use was grouped into: (1) Daily, (2) At least once a week, (3) At least once a month, (4) Less than once a month, (5) Never and (5) I don't understand this specific technology term. TV: television.



Confidence and Support for Technology

We asked caregivers about their confidence levels when selecting the most appropriate technologies. Of the 238 responses, 25 (10.5%) strongly agreed, 82 (34.4%) agreed, 69 (28.9%) neither agreed nor disagreed, 51 (21.4%) disagreed, and 11 (4.6%) strongly disagreed that they were confident in selecting the most appropriate technologies for their caring role. A range of qualitative comments supported such statements (Textbox 3), particularly around barriers to adoption, such as that technology moves so fast, technology is often aimed at younger markets, and that information is lacking. Enablers for high confidence in selecting technology commonly involved caregivers who had a particular background in technology, a family member to hand with technology expertise, and the ability to search for solutions through computers or the internet:

No one has helped me. It was all down to Google and common sense. [Participant quote on confidence for using technology for caring role]

I DO NOT want more technology in my caring role, there is more than enough and it is a failure [Participant quote on support for using technology for caring role]

We also asked caregivers whether there was sufficient support and training for technology resources and services to help them in their caring role. Of the 236 responses, 6 (2.5%) strongly agreed, 33 (13.9%) agreed, 102 (43.2%) neither agreed nor disagreed, 67 (28.4%) disagreed, and 28 (11.9%) strongly disagreed. A range of qualitative comments supported these statements (Textbox 4), including financial restrictions, lack of visibility or existence of support, a need for self-sufficiency within the caring role, inability to accommodate all users (eg, older caregivers), and lack of overall support for caregivers with technology just being one component of this.



Textbox 3. Caregiver quotes regarding confidence for using technology in caring role. Caregivers rated their confidence about selecting the most appropriate technologies for their caring role. Quotes are extracts of further comments given from participants grouped according to level of agreement.

Strongly agree

• "I like technology and try to find ways to adopt and adapt it for my use."

Agree

• "I can find my way around most technologies."

Neither agree nor disagree

• "Not always sure what will be most effective."

Disagree

• "I just don't know anything about what might be available."

Strongly disagree

• "No one has helped me. It was all down to google and common sense."

Textbox 4. Caregiver quotes regarding support and training for using technology in a caring role. Caregivers rated whether there was sufficient support and training for technology resources and services to help them in their caring role. Quotes are examples of further details given from participants grouped according to level of agreement.

Strongly agree

• "I do not want more technology in my caring role, there is more than enough and it is a failure."

Agree

• "I find I can access the information I need-I do wonder though, if it is as accessible to everyone?"

Neither agree nor disagree

• "Feel I have everything I need or can afford."

Disagree

• "I have never been offered or had discussed any info on tech enabled care from anyone in Social Work or NHS."

Strongly disagree

• "There is a general lack of support, let alone for tech stuff."

Health and Social Care Professional Interactions

We explored the types of health and social care professionals that caregivers interacted with as part of their caring role (Figure 3). The results revealed that a particularly common point of contact overall was the role of general practitioners, where 27.5% (73/265) reported interactions at least once a month and 4.9% (13/265) reported interactions at least once a week. Semiregular contact was made by 58.1% (154/265) of caregivers, whereas 9.4% (25/265) of respondents reported *never* interacting with this professional group. Pharmacists were a professional group that commonly interacted with caregivers, where 79.3% (192/242) of caregivers reported at least some

interaction. More specifically, this included 1.2% (3/242) of caregivers who reported daily interactions, 18.6% (45/242) reported weekly interactions, and 32.6% (79/242) reported monthly interactions. Conversely, caregivers were less likely to interact with counselors and dietitians, with 78.7% (177/225) and 76.3% (171/224) of caregivers reported that they never interacted with these professional groups, respectively. The frequency of reach of some health and social care professionals was notably high within specific subgroups of caregivers. For example, although 55.7% (136/244) of respondents of caregivers interacted with care providers, it was common that these were very regular interactions (52/244, 21.3% daily and 34/244, 13.9% weekly).



Figure 3. Frequency of health and social care professional interactions for caregivers. The x-axis represents cumulative percentage of interactions, whereas the y-axis represents the different health and social care professional groups Frequency of use was grouped into: (1) Daily, (2) At least once a week, (3) At least once a month, (4) Less than once a month, (5) Never.



Future Interests

When we asked caregivers about their priorities for caring, there was relatively little variance between many of the prespecified categories used (Figure 4). The most common priorities highlighted (ie, 10 of a possible 10) included: *checking in from distance* (65/185, 35.1%), *communication with health and social care professionals* (64/203, 31.5%), and *transport* (eg, help outside the house to move more easily and independently; 57/193, 29.5%). Interestingly, there was also a relatively strong need for activities of daily living (eg, sitting and sleeping; vision, speech, and hearing; and social engagement). Innovations regarding exercise and entertainment to help caregivers with

their caring role were comparatively less desirable compared with other aspects, with 13.2% (26/197) and 14.9% (29/194) of caregivers stating this as a greater priority need.

We extended these questions to understand how caregivers make decisions about whether to purchase future technologies (Figure 5). Here, we identified that study participants most commonly allocated the highest desirability (ie, 10 of a possible 10) to reliability (107/220, 48.6%), ease of use (102/220, 46.4%), and accessibility (100/211, 47.4%). Comparatively, less important considerations were enjoyment of use (31/197, 15.7%), integration with other services (23/191, 12%), and design considerations (8/193, 4.1%).



Figure 4. Priorities for future technologies to help caregivers to undertake their caring role. Color indicates priority of need where 0=not a priority (violet) and 10=highest priority (maroon).



Figure 5. Priorities when deciding whether (or not) to buy future technologies. Color indicates priority of need where 0=not a priority (violet) and 10=highest priority (maroon).



Discussion

RenderX

Principal Findings

We set out to improve collective knowledge on current and future technology use of caregivers, both for their own health and well-being, and the people they look after within the context of the United Kingdom. To our knowledge, our work is one of

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e15413

the largest surveys of its kind to focus specifically on the use of current and future digital health technologies to support the health and well-being of the UK caregivers and those cared for. Our sample was considerable in size, diversity, and level of detail recorded; caregivers varied in age, employment, gender, and conditions cared for. In agreement with cross-sectional evidence [3], our sample of caregivers was predominantly

female; however, given sufficient sample size, it is of note that this finding may not always be paralleled across all age groups (eg, male caregivers are particularly common at the ages of ≥ 65 years [23]). The findings suggest that technologies play a diverse role in informal care settings where most, but not all, caregivers are largely positive about the potential. Such positivity is not without reservation, as technology can also be a negative force. Ongoing support is clearly lacking, and real-world value and implementation is limited as caregivers face challenges across cost, sustainability, availability, and reliability.

Limitations

Our study had several limitations. First, given that caregivers are often hidden within the society, selection biases remain challenging to avoid. For example, our self-reported ethnicity data reflect the UK national statistics, where 94% of UK caregivers identify as White [24]. Moreover, as critical questions remain regarding the extent of the additional challenges that ethnic minorities face, it is pertinent that both research and policy strategies continue to reach these groups. Most of our survey respondents were highly educated; however, this may not be representative of the general population. Work conducted by the New Policy Institute in 2014 (based on the Office of National Statistics Family Resources Survey) found that 70% of working-age people caring for 20 hours a week or more did not have qualifications above the General Certificate of Secondary Education level [24]. Our methods of recruitment (using existing social networks, such as Twitter) may also have encouraged specific conditions (eg, dementia and cancer) or populations (eg, greater number of years of formal education) to respond. Our postal replies were few, and we did not explore how individuals found our initial web link to the survey in detail. Nevertheless, our work still represented over 20 different conditions, and 14% of those cared for were under the age of 16. Understanding caregiver needs in more rare conditions remains vital [25]; however, it falls out of the scope of this work. Although the development of a survey promoted on the web has helped us reach many people in a relatively short time frame, those averse to digital health technologies may be underrepresented. There are also inherent biases associated with convenience sampling; our participants were predominately based in Scotland, reflecting our local links and networks. Very few of our participants were new to caregiving. Although the extensive experience of our respondents is advantageous for gaining long-term insights, further work is needed to understand how challenges differ within those who are new to caregiving, particularly with respect to information seeking. Finally, to ensure anonymity of responses, we are not able to explore geographic, socioeconomic, or deprivation indices in further detail: important avenues for future work.

Interpretation and Future Directions

There are several findings from this work that are pertinent to understanding caregiver demographics. Here, we build on technology use for caregivers by exploring in detail what makes caregivers receptive to technology across confidence, support, exploring health professionals involved, and the drive to look after their own health and well-being both now and in the future [26,27]. Most caregivers who responded to our survey regularly

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e15413
```

used smartphones, social networking sites, and computers or laptops to support their caring activities at least once a week (with many using such devices daily). This work adds to the current evidence that caregivers are not simply an extension of the health and social care service, but a diverse group given little attention and support [16]. Our results have demonstrated that caregivers do not just crave but also need much stronger and more meaningful links to our health and care professionals, which hold particular weight given the context of COVID-19 and risk of future pandemics. Technology could easily support such links, but the risk of rejection from professional health staff and caregivers could severely impact implementation. Careful, caregiver-led solution design is nonnegotiable if we are to support those most in need, including those who are isolated or have less experience in digital and health literacy. Particularly useful points of contact for this could include signposting and some limited support from: general practitioners, those working within professional caring roles, or a pharmacy setting.

This work highlights lessons in that regularity of use may not always represent perceived usefulness, for example, many caregivers make use of locator devices (eg, Google Maps and GPS) and laptops weekly or monthly (opposed to daily). It could be particularly fruitful to understand such relationships in more depth within future work and why many apps and technology solutions become left behind. Both digital divide and health literacy levels are important considerations. Despite sharing brief descriptors, concepts such as Internet of Things devices or robots can be alien to respondents and, accordingly, few participants reported use. Further work is now required to (1) ensure that caregivers are provided with knowledge and awareness of what technology is available; (2) achieve sustainable models of support; and (3) identify how research and policy can extend the utility of both new and existing technologies, including isolated or poorly represented groups.

Throughout the work conducted, there were several notable concerns raised about current and future technologies (eg, costs and timeliness of solutions), which aligns with other literatures [28]. Both our own findings and others [29-31] have highlighted the high degree of isolation that caregivers face. Successful innovation and technologies are strategies that can tackle this problem, including connecting caregivers to supportive environments, such as family, friends, and health and social care professionals. Furthermore, our work parallels both policy and research findings elsewhere (eg, in dementia technology charters, web-based resources, and the UK government policy documents) that technology should not replace human contact [32-34]. Given that a shrinking UK health care workforce appears all but inevitable [35], innovative solutions (both technology-based and otherwise) are required. This work highlights that caregivers need to be involved from concept initiation all the way through to the postevaluation stages.

Our work also informs state-level actors and health and social care providers. Caregivers demonstrated confidence in choosing technologies for their needs, but the need for support to use technologies was highlighted throughout. However, the delivery of this objective is complex. There are key questions regarding *who* should provide this support in the longer term. Although

XSL•FO RenderX

the potential for care providers and pharmacists to deliver technology supports is clear (ie, professionals who regularly interact with caregivers), careful consideration of workload, resources and training, and overall interest and acceptance is required. In addition, it is somewhat concerning that so few individuals are able to access the vital (and often preventive) support delivered by other professionals, such as counselors and nutritionists. The absence of access may not necessarily be associated with the absence of need. Perhaps indicative of the high need for technology solutions is that caregivers ranked *thorough scientific evaluation* relatively low regarding priority. Taken together, there is an urgent need to protect caregivers from purchasing unproven or unsafe technologies to bridge gaps in care, as highlighted in recent dementia reviews [36].

Finally, the collective message from caregivers is that having a wide array of unsupported gadgets (new or existing) cannot address core needs in day-to-day caregiving. Well-established technologies are still not reaching caregivers in a satisfactory form (eg, checking in for distance and communication tools). Caregivers frequently face health and well-being challenges alone, highlighted by a need for *communication with health and social care professionals* and are urgently looking for solutions regardless of the quality of science or how personalized technologies can be made. Continued co-design and consultation is required to improve current and future systems and technologies in a transparent manner, particularly given the significant reform and change that is well underway [37].

Conclusions

Digital technologies appear to be largely acceptable for caregivers. As we look to the future, this work suggests that caregivers are calling for solutions that augment the human touch, connecting caregivers to those cared for (including at distance), friends and family, and health and social care professionals. Quality is key: unsupported and unreliable technologies remain problematic (and may not enhance safety or well-being), where finding and using technologies is often compounded by time pressures. Technological developments remain fragmented, and it is critical that new horizons collectively deliver on empowering caregivers with skillsets, knowledge, and tools to help their day-to-day role. Moreover, this work reiterates the need for all stakeholders, including academics, policy makers, and practitioners, to recognize the invaluable role that caregivers play in communities and to ensure that this group become equal coarchitects of the emerging digital health agenda.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge the University of Strathclyde for providing funding for this research. They would like to express their sincere gratitude to all the caregivers who shared their viewpoints throughout this work (survey design and survey questions); without this input, this work would not be possible. The authors are also grateful to both Carers Scotland (as part of Carers UK) and their associated networks, and the ALLIANCE partners, who were able to share their survey within their networks (including Tommy Whitelaw). The authors extend their gratitude to the Alzheimer's Society (including Colin Capper and Nicola Hart) who facilitated sharing the survey within their web-based portal, *Talking point*.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Survey example distributed to study participants (paper format). [DOCX File , 248 KB - aging v5i1e15413 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

The number of different health conditions cared for across the sample. [DOCX File, 14 KB - aging v5i1e15413 app2.docx]

References

- 1. Valuing carers 2015. Carers UK. 2015. URL: <u>https://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/valuing-carers-2015</u> [accessed 2021-10-16]
- 2. Unpaid carers provide social care worth £57 billion. Office for National Statistics. 2017. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/cszn3pa3</u> [accessed 2021-10-16]
- Calvó-Perxas L, Vilalta-Franch J, Litwin H, Turró-Garriga O, Mira P, Garre-Olmo J. What seems to matter in public policy and the health of informal caregivers? A cross-sectional study in 12 European countries. PLoS One 2018 Mar 8;13(3):e0194232 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0194232] [Medline: 29518147]
- 4. Missing Out, the identification challenge. Carers UK. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/missing-out-the-identification-challenge</u> [accessed 2021-10-16]
- 5. Juggling work and unpaid care: a growing issue. Carers UK. 2019. URL: <u>http://www.carersuk.org/images/</u> <u>News and campaigns/Juggling work and unpaid care report final 0119 WEB.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-10-16]

- de Labra C, Millán-Calenti JC, Buján A, Núñez-Naveira L, Jensen AM, Peersen MC, et al. Predictors of caregiving satisfaction in informal caregivers of people with dementia. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 2015;60(3):380-388. [doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2015.03.002] [Medline: 25814205]
- Douglas SL, Mazanec P, Lipson A, Leuchtag M. Distance caregiving a family member with cancer: a review of the literature on distance caregiving and recommendations for future research. World J Clin Oncol 2016 Apr 10;7(2):214-219 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5306/wjco.v7.i2.214] [Medline: 27081643]
- 8. Roth DL, Fredman L, Haley WE. Informal caregiving and its impact on health: a reappraisal from population-based studies. Gerontologist 2015 Apr;55(2):309-319 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geront/gnu177] [Medline: 26035608]
- 9. Capistrant BD. Caregiving for older adults and the caregivers' health: an epidemiologic review. Curr Epidemiol Rep 2016;3(1):72-80. [doi: 10.1007/s40471-016-0064-x]
- Irfan B, Irfan O, Ansari A, Qidwai W, Nanji K. Impact of caregiving on various aspects of the lives of caregivers. Cureus 2017 May 02;9(5):e1213 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7759/cureus.1213] [Medline: 28589062]
- 11. Families caring for an aging America. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.nap.edu/catalog/23606/families-caring-for-an-aging-america</u> [accessed 2021-10-16]
- 12. Ringer TJ, Wong-Pack M, Miller P, Patterson C, Marr S, Misiaszek B, et al. Understanding the educational and support needs of informal care-givers of people with dementia attending an outpatient geriatric assessment clinic. Ageing Soc 2018 Aug;40(1):1-24. [doi: 10.1017/S0144686X18000971]
- 13. The health and wellbeing of unpaid carers: where can digital skills and community support add value? BASW. 2015. URL: <u>https://www.basw.co.uk/resources/health-and-wellbeing-unpaid-carers-where-can-digital-skills-and-community-support-add</u> [accessed 2021-10-16]
- 14. 2018 Global health care outlook. Deloitte. URL: <u>https://www2.deloitte.com/tr/en/pages/life-sciences-and-healthcare/articles/</u> 2018-global-health-care-outlook.html [accessed 2021-10-16]
- 15. Topol EJ. High-performance medicine: the convergence of human and artificial intelligence. Nat Med 2019 Jan;25(1):44-56. [doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0300-7] [Medline: 30617339]
- Lindeman D, Kim K, Gladstone C, Apesoa-Varano E. Technology and caregiving: emerging interventions and directions for research. Gerontologist 2020 Feb 14;60(Suppl 1):S41-S49 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1093/geront/gnz178</u>] [Medline: <u>32057082</u>]
- Heynsbergh N, Heckel L, Botti M, Livingston PM. Feasibility, useability and acceptability of technology-based interventions for informal cancer carers: a systematic review. BMC Cancer 2018 Mar 02;18(1):244 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12885-018-4160-9] [Medline: 29499663]
- Tieu L, Sarkar U, Schillinger D, Ralston JD, Ratanawongsa N, Pasick R, et al. Barriers and facilitators to online portal use among patients and caregivers in a safety net health care system: a qualitative study. J Med Internet Res 2015 Dec 03;17(12):e275 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4847] [Medline: 26681155]
- 19. AARP. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.aarp.org/content/dam/aarp/research/surveys_statistics/ltc/2018/caregivers-technology-needs.</u> <u>doi.10.26419-2Fres.00191.002.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-10-16]
- 20. ALLIANCE. URL: https://www.alliance-scotland.org.uk/ [accessed 2021-10-29]
- 21. Carers UK. URL: https://www.carersuk.org/ [accessed 2021-10-29]
- 22. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- Unpaid carers provide social care worth £57 billion. Office of National Statistics Website. 2017. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/</u> <u>cszn3pa3</u> [accessed 2021-10-16]
- 24. Research briefing. UK Parliment. URL: https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ [accessed 2021-10-16]
- 25. Mooney J, Graham K, Watts R. Impact of caring for someone with a rare rheumatic condition, views from patients and informal carers-the need for cat-like vigilance. Rheumatol Adv Pract 2019 Feb 1;3(1):rkz003 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/rap/rkz003] [Medline: 31431991]
- 26. Egan KJ, Pot AM. Encouraging innovation for assistive health technologies in dementia: barriers, enablers and next steps to be taken. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2016 Apr 01;17(4):357-363. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jamda.2016.01.010</u>] [Medline: <u>27016431</u>]
- 27. Madara Marasinghe K. Assistive technologies in reducing caregiver burden among informal caregivers of older adults: a systematic review. Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol 2016;11(5):353-360. [doi: 10.3109/17483107.2015.1087061] [Medline: 26371519]
- Mortenson WB, Pysklywec A, Fuhrer MJ, Jutai JW, Plante M, Demers L. Caregivers' experiences with the selection and use of assistive technology. Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol 2018 Aug;13(6):562-567. [doi: <u>10.1080/17483107.2017.1353652</u>] [Medline: <u>28768438</u>]
- 29. Vasileiou K, Barnett J, Barreto M, Vines J, Atkinson M, Lawson S, et al. Experiences of loneliness associated with being an informal caregiver: a qualitative investigation. Front Psychol 2017 Apr 19;8:585 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00585] [Medline: 28469589]
- 30. Hussain R, Wark S, Ryan P. Caregiving, employment and social isolation: challenges for rural carers in Australia. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2018 Oct 16;15(10):2267 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph15102267] [Medline: 30332790]

- Greenwood N, Pound C, Smith R, Brearley S. Experiences and support needs of older carers: a focus group study of perceptions from the voluntary and statutory sectors. Maturitas 2019 May 1;123:40-44 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2019.02.003] [Medline: 31027676]
- Vaughan C, Trail TE, Mahmud A, Dellva S, Tanielian T, Friedman E. Informal caregivers' experiences and perceptions of a web-based peer support network: mixed-methods study. J Med Internet Res 2018 Aug 28;20(8):e257 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9895] [Medline: 30154074]
- Technology charter: for people living with dementia in Scotland. Dementia Partnership. 2016. URL: <u>https://dementiapartnerships.com/resource/technology-charter-for-people-living-with-dementia-in-scotland/</u> [accessed 2021-10-16]
- 34. Robotics in social care. New Electronics. URL: <u>https://www.newelectronics.co.uk/electronics-technology/</u> robotics-in-social-care/199663/ [accessed 2021-10-16]
- 35. A critical moment: NHS staffing trends, retention and attrition. The Health Foundation. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.health.org.uk/</u> <u>sites/default/files/upload/publications/2019/A%20Critical%20Moment_1.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-10-16]
- 36. Livingston G, Sommerlad A, Orgeta V, Costafreda SG, Huntley J, Ames D, et al. Dementia prevention, intervention, and care. Lancet 2017 Dec 16;390(10113):2673-2734. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31363-6] [Medline: 28735855]
- 37. A digital NHS? An introduction to the digital agenda and plans for implementation. The Kings Fund. URL: <u>https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/digital-nhs</u> [accessed 2021-10-16]

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 25.07.19; peer-reviewed by F Petracca, P Marier-Deschenes, SGS Shah; comments to author 06.01.20; revised version received 23.03.20; accepted 02.06.21; published 27.01.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Egan KJ, Clark P, Deen Z, Paputa Dutu C, Wilson G, McCann L, Lennon M, Maguire R Understanding Current Needs and Future Expectations of Informal Caregivers for Technology to Support Health and Well-being: National Survey Study JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e15413 URL: https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e15413 doi:10.2196/15413 PMID:35084339

©Kieren J Egan, Patricia Clark, Zahid Deen, Carmen Paputa Dutu, Graham Wilson, Lisa McCann, Marilyn Lennon, Roma Maguire. Originally published in JMIR Aging (https://aging.jmir.org), 27.01.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Refining a Digital Therapeutic Platform for Home Care Agencies in Dementia Care to Elicit Stakeholder Feedback: Focus Group Study With Stakeholders

Aaron Gilson¹, MS, MSSW, PhD; Michele Gassman^{1*}, MA; Debby Dodds^{2*}, MS; Robin Lombardo^{2*}, MS, CDP, CTRS; James H Ford II^{1*}, PhD; Michael Potteiger^{2*}, BS

¹Social & Administrative Pharmacy Division, School of Pharmacy, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, United States

²Generation Connect, York, PA, United States

^{*}these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

James H Ford II, PhD Social & Administrative Pharmacy Division School of Pharmacy University of Wisconsin–Madison 777 Highland Avenue Madison, WI, 53705 United States Phone: 1 608 262 4748 Email: jhfordii@wisc.edu

Abstract

Background: Persons living with dementia require increasing levels of care, and the care model has evolved. The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services is transitioning long-term care services from institutional care to home- or community-based services, including reimbursement for nonclinical services. Although home care companies are positioned to handle this transition, they need innovative solutions to address the special challenges posed by caring for persons living with dementia. To live at home longer, these persons require support from formal caregivers (FCGs; ie, paid professionals), who often lack knowledge of their personal histories and have high turnover, or informal caregivers (eg, family or friends), who may have difficulty coping with behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia. The Generation Connect platform was developed to support these individuals and their formal caregivers. In preliminary studies, the platform improved mood and influenced caregiver satisfaction. To enhance platform effectiveness, Generation Connect received a grant from the National Institutes of Health Small Business Innovation Research to improve clinical outcomes, reduce health care costs, and lower out-of-pocket costs for persons living with dementia who receive care through home care agencies.

Objective: This study aims to evaluate information elicited from a series of stakeholder focus groups to understand existing processes, needs, barriers, and goals for the use of the Generation Connect platform by home care agencies and formal and informal caregivers.

Methods: A series of focus groups were conducted with home care agency corporate leadership, home care agency franchise owners, home care agency FCGs, and informal caregivers of persons living with dementia. The qualitative approach allowed for unrestricted idea generation that best informed the platform development to enable home care providers to differentiate their dementia care services, involve informal caregivers, improve FCG well-being, and extend the ability of persons living with dementia to age in place. Using the Technology-Enabled Caregiving in the Home framework, an inductive and iterative content analysis was conducted to identify thematic categories from the transcripts.

Results: Overall, 39 participants participated across the 6 stakeholder focus groups. The following five overarching themes were identified: technology related; care services; data, documentation, and outcomes; cost, finance, and resources; and resources for caregivers. Within each theme, the most frequent subthemes were identified. Exemplar stakeholder group statements provided support for each of the identified themes.

Conclusions: The focus group results will inform the further development of the Generation Connect platform to reduce the burden of caregiving for persons living with dementia, evaluate changes in cognition, preserve functional independence, and promote caregiver engagement between these individuals. The next step is to evaluate the effectiveness of the revised platform

in the National Institutes of Health Small Business Innovation Research phase 2 clinical trial to assess the efficacy of its evidence-based interventions and market viability.

(JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e32516) doi:10.2196/32516

KEYWORDS

dementia; technology; mobile app; home care; focus groups; qualitative research; digital therapeutics; value-based care; aging in place; caregiving

Introduction

Background

Owing to the degenerative nature of the disease, persons living with dementia require escalating support for their care and are increasingly vulnerable to institutionalization. The historical model for providing care to persons living with dementia has involved the heavy use of facility-based care at great financial and social costs to the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services and persons living with dementia and their families [1,2]. On average, the total per-person Medicaid payments for persons living with dementia aged >65 years are 23 times higher than Medicaid payments for other Medicare beneficiaries [1]. In 2020, the national cost of caring for people with Alzheimer disease and related dementias (ADRD) is projected to reach US \$305 billion, with 67% (US \$206 billion) paid by Medicare and Medicaid to cover health care and long-term care payments for people with ADRD [1]. As such, over 50% of persons living with dementia die in nursing homes or medical facilities [3].

Caregiver Roles for Persons Living With Dementia

Persons living with dementia overwhelmingly want to age in place and avoid institutionalization [4]. To live at home longer, persons living with dementia require support from (1) formal or clinical caregivers (ie, paid professionals), who often lack knowledge of persons living with dementias' personal histories and have high turnover rates, or (2) informal or nonclinical caregivers (eg, family or friends), who may have difficulty coping with behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia (eg, aggression and anxiety) [5]. To address this need, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services is transitioning long-term care services from institutional care to home- or community-based services, including expanding Medicare Advantage (MA) plans to include nonclinical services as reimbursable supplemental benefits [6].

The importance of those who engage with persons living with dementia to deliver such care services will become amplified as the demand for nonclinical home care services increases worldwide. Such expansion of services is certainly welcome, as evidence currently supports the benefits of nonclinical home care providers on patient outcomes [7]. Research findings demonstrate that nonclinical providers can reduce behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia and health care costs through consistency of care and person-centered engagement [8]. However, home care providers reported a mean caregiver turnover rate of 82% in 2018 [9], which often translates into

prevalent service disruptions. In addition, home care providers lack solutions to ensure that frontline nonclinical caregivers have the necessary knowledge of persons living with dementia's personal histories to implement evidence-based care methods [9]. Even with appropriate knowledge, nonclinical providers typically lack systems and processes to demonstrate improved clinical outcomes and cost savings [10,11]. This current struggle represents a promising opportunity for nonclinical home care providers to have access to user-friendly, easily implementable data collection tools.

The use of information communication technologies (ICTs) by frontline care staff to enhance patient care and record clinical outcomes is common in hospitals, long-term care facilities, and skilled home health care [12]. However, ICT use by frontline caregivers in nonclinical home care is rare. A small number of providers are exploring solutions for family connectivity and remote care; however, there have been no known technology solutions for frontline caregivers that specifically address the use of digital therapeutics to enhance social engagement and data collection for both persons living with dementia and their caregivers.

Development of a Technology-Based Data Collection Tool

Generation Connect, a gerontology-focused software development company, developed a digital therapeutic platform to support informal and formal caregivers (FCGs) in the care of persons living with dementia (Figure 1).

The Generation Connect platform was originally conceptualized to enhance the informal caregiver's understanding of evidence-based nonpharmacological interventions and support FCGs in facilitating person-centered care. The Generation Connect platform focuses on the following three key technology initiatives to address barriers to aging in place: (1) the deployment of specially configured tablets to enhance persons living with dementia's engagement routines, (2) the development of an application to improve collaboration between home care providers and informal caregivers, and (3) the creation of assessment tools to streamline data collection related clinical outcomes for persons living with dementia and their caregivers. The Generation Connect platform is intended for its design to be used across all stages of dementia. Current users tend to be in the moderate to later stages of dementia; however, future efforts are being planned to broaden its usage for persons living with dementia in the earlier stages.



Figure 1. Generation Connect platform configuration. HIPPA: Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act.



Generation Connect partnered with the University of Wisconsin–Madison to determine how care providers' use of computer tablets to engage persons living with dementia improved their mood and influenced caregiver satisfaction [13,14]. This preliminary research motivated further exploration of (1) complications saving client preferences, (2) the inability to digitally engage informal caregivers while maintaining the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) compliance, and (3) the lack of systems for collecting clinical data.

To begin addressing the insights gained from these preliminary studies, Generation Connect received a feasibility grant funded by the National Institute on Aging from the National Institutes of Health Small Business Innovation Research (NIH SBIR) phase 1. The purpose of this grant was to develop an innovative technology solution that could eventually help improve clinical outcomes, reduce health care costs, and lower out-of-pocket costs for persons living with dementia who receive care through home care agencies. Through the NIH SBIR grant, Generation Connect sought to enhance the platform to address the following three key technology initiatives: (1) develop platform features that prompt care teams (informal caregivers and FCGs) to participate in evidence-based engagement strategies (eg, music, reminiscing, and socialization), (2) deploy HIPAA-compliant tablets to help care teams personalize these engagement routines, and (3) integrate clinically validated assessment tools into care routines.

Objectives

As part of the initial exploration and discovery phase of this grant, a series of focus groups were conducted with key project stakeholders, including (1) home care agency corporate leadership, (2) home care agency franchise owners, (3) home care agency FCGs, and (4) informal caregivers of persons living with dementia. The purpose of this phase of the project is to evaluate the information elicited from the series of stakeholder focus groups conducted by the Generation Connect design team to develop a better understanding of existing processes, needs, barriers, and goals for the use of a digital therapeutic platform by home care agencies and informal caregivers.

Methods

Overview

A formal qualitative approach [15] allowed for the unrestricted generation of ideas that would best position the Generation Connect platform to enable home care providers to differentiate their dementia care services, involve informal caregivers, improve FCG well-being, and extend the ability of persons living with dementia to age in place. Focus group participants completed an electronic survey before engaging in the focus group sessions, which included a section explaining the study and requiring their consent to participate.

Ethics Approval

This study was approved by the WCG institutional review board (IPCDCDA-2020).

Focus Group Participants

The following stakeholder categories represented the focus group participants:

- Franchise owners (organization A): it was a national home care agency with 565 independently owned and operated units. A partnership with Generation Connect in 2018 involved an alpha pilot to deploy the Generation Connect platform in 10 markets, which continues to be used in clients' homes. These owners also participated in testing the platform and recruited clients for this NIH SBIR project. These home care leaders had direct experience in implementing the Generation Connect platform as part of their home care services. These individuals provided unique insights into how the Generation Connect platform influenced clinical outcomes for clients and FCG, business outcomes, and FCG satisfaction and company culture.
- FCGs (organization A): it was a group of 15 professional caregivers with experience using the Generation Connect platform as part of the alpha pilot mentioned in item 1. These frontline care workers had direct experience using the Generation Connect platform among people with dementia. FCG often lacked a personal relationship with the people with dementia but had more dementia-related experience than other FCGs.

XSL•FO RenderX

- Informal caregivers (receiving services from organization A): it was a group of 4 women caring for their fathers with memory loss who have experience using the Generation Connect platform as part of their loved one's care. These stakeholders could be seen as more directly reflecting the perspective of the person with dementia, as recruiting people with dementia was unfeasible for this study. Family caregivers have extensive, and often complex, relationships with the care recipient and other family members. These family members had direct experience using the Generation Connect platform as part of receiving home care services and provided a valuable perspective on how Generation Connect platform use could affect home care services.
- Franchise owners (organization B): it was a medical and nonmedical home care provider, with over 500 independently owned and operated units in the United States and 130 abroad. These home care leaders did not have experience using the Generation Connect platform but had agreed to participate in phase 1 pilot testing. They were specially selected by the corporate leadership team because of their past experience in implementing caregiver technologies and specialty dementia care programs. They can provide unique insights regarding the challenges of clinical implementation, business strategy, and impact on company culture for such programs. These owners also participated in testing the Generation Connect platform and recruited clients for the NIH SBIR project.
- Corporate leadership team (organization B): Generation Connect partnered with organization B to recruit owners for participation in phase 1 activities to deploy and pilot test the Generation Connect platform. Similar to organization A, they are one of the largest franchisors (≥650 locations) and have experience piloting caregiver technology initiatives across their franchise network.
- Corporate leadership team (organization C): a national home care franchisee, with ≥600 independently owned and operated units in the United States and nearly 480 abroad. Generation Connect had been involved with organization C on consulting projects involving senior technology, but the organization had no previous experience using the Generation Connect platform. As one of the largest home care franchisors (≥1100 locations), with extensive experience in implementing national tech initiatives, they can provide unique insights into moderators and mediators of widescale Generation Connect platform adoption across the franchise network.

Participant Recruitment

Participants with direct knowledge of existing processes, needs, and barriers related to dementia care in the home were

purposefully selected to participate in the focus group sessions. For the corporate focus groups, Generation Connect sent an invitation to our primary point of contact from organizations B and C, inviting corporate leaders to participate. Both organizations are national leaders in nonmedical home care and have recent experience implementing technology initiatives at the corporate level. Our contacts recruited colleagues that provided the most helpful insights. It was an open invitation for corporate leadership within the organization. Corporate leaders from organization B helped recruit franchise owners from within the network to participate in focus group and product testing. For the franchise owners' focus groups, we invited all home care owners who opted to participate in phase 1 pilot testing. It was an open invitation to local franchisee leadership staff. Each organization had at least one director-level employee who participated in the focus groups. For the FCG focus group, home care leadership invited 17 FCGs with experience using the Generation Connect platform to be involved in the focus group; of the 17 FCGs, 15 (88%) decided to participate. For the informal caregiver group, each of the 4 organization A owners involved in phase 1 offered 1 family member with previous experience using the platform the opportunity to participate in the focus group, and all 4 accepted.

All participants from organization A, including franchise owners, FCGs, and informal caregivers, had firsthand experience using a pilot version of the Generation Connect platform. Although the franchise owners of organization B had no previous experience using the Generation Connect platform, they had experience implementing a variety of dementia care and technology initiatives.

Interview Guide Development

Interview guides for each stakeholder group were developed by the research team. Guide development was informed by Technology-Enabled Caregiving in the Home (TECH) [16], which is the theoretical framework that guides this research (Figure 2).

The TECH framework examines the characteristics that could influence FCGs' adoption of technological platforms that, in turn, can contribute to persons living with dementia and caregiver outcomes. Thematic model domains include (1) individual, socioeconomic, or technical moderators; (2) barrier or facilitator mediators; and (3) technology-related measurement issues. This model provides a *map of thinking* as the basis for broader adoption of caregiving solutions [16]. Influencing caregiving through such moderating and mediating pathways to improve caregiving outcomes has the benefit of promoting technological solutions throughout the system of caregiving.



Figure 2. Technology-Enabled Caregiving in the Home framework (adopted from a study by Lindeman et al [16]).



The interview guides were distributed internally for review, involving team members without clinical or domain knowledge, to ensure that they were easy to comprehend and interpreted uniformly. Then they were refined based on reviewers' feedback. This refinement process involved nonsubstantive improvements in readability and understandability to prompt unequivocal responses more directly from participants. The resulting guides were structured for 1-hour–long interviews.

Focus Groups

Between November 2020 and January 2021, the Generation Connect staff conducted a total of 6 focus groups with stakeholders. For confidentiality and proprietary reasons, focus groups with home care corporate leaders and home care franchise owners and case managers were conducted separately. This separation helped ensure that members of both stakeholder groups would feel more comfortable in freely sharing information about their company. Owing to the COVID-19 pandemic, all focus groups were conducted via a HIPAA-compliant version of GoTo's GoToMeeting, an internet-based meeting platform. Dates and times for interviews (conducted by MP or DD) were scheduled based on the convenience of each participant. The interviews of focus group participants generally followed the structure of the focus group guides and questions related to the themes relevant to each stakeholder group (Table 1).

Table 1. Focus group question categories by recipient.

Focus group question categories	Question category included in the recipient focus group							
	Corporate leaders Franchise owners and case manage		Formal caregivers	Informal caregivers				
Person-centered dementia care or care service	✓	<i>√</i>	✓	\checkmark				
Social determinants of health	1							
Approach to Medicare Advantage	1	\checkmark						
Caregiver staff		\checkmark						
Tracking outcomes		\checkmark						
Living with dementia				1				
The role of technology in client care	1	\checkmark						
Technology-assisted caregiving			1	1				

Analysis of Interview Data

Focus group meetings were automatically transcribed by GoToMeeting. The transcript was reviewed, verified for accuracy and anonymity, and deidentified by the Generation

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32516
```

RenderX

Connect staff. All deidentified transcripts were then made available to the University of Wisconsin–Madison researchers through upload to a secure university network server to further control for data security and confidentiality. A general inductive and iterative content analysis approach was used to generate

the development and identification of thematic categories from the interview data. These themes were derived according to the relevant TECH factors (individual, socioeconomic, or technical moderators; barrier or facilitator mediators; and technology-related measurement issues) and the various TECH variable domains within each factor. The inductive approach is a systematic procedure for analyzing qualitative data that are commonly used in health and social science research and evaluation [17]. An experienced qualitative coder (AG) independently coded all interview transcripts while developing a preliminary coding scheme to capture themes related to caregiver, patient and family, work system, and programmatic factors. Effort was made to ensure that the initial list of codes avoided overlap and reduced redundancy whenever practicable.

Once the transcripts were reviewed and coded, and all the codes and subcodes were compiled, they were transferred to another researcher (MG). The researcher then independently read the transcript to validate both the coding (ie, the interview content that was assigned to a code) and the list of codes. After the initial validation process, the researchers met to compare their coding results. The researchers sought consensus to resolve discrepancies in coder agreement to ensure more accurate coding; 100% consensus was achieved across all codes and subcodes. In the final stage of this coding process, the same 2 researchers again evaluated the extracted content within each code for consistency and were then forwarded to Generation Connect staff (MP) for review, which resulted in no additional changes and represented the final validation of the codes and subcodes and their application to the interview text. The final coding dictionary consisted of five main codes, with 40 subcodes across the main themes: care services, cost, finance, resources,

data, documentation, outcomes, resources for caregivers, and technology.

This phase 1 study did not meet the criteria for an Applicable Clinical Trial; therefore, it was not registered on ClinicalTrials.gov.

Results

Overview

A total of 39 participants were interviewed during the 6 stakeholder focus groups. The following five overarching coding themes were identified and are presented here in order of frequency: (1) *technology related*; (2) *care services*; (3) *data, documentation, and outcomes*; (4) *cost, finance, and resources*; and (5) *resources for caregivers*. For each coding theme, the most frequent subthemes served as the key finding for this paper. In addition, after the broad themes and key findings are provided, a separate section titled *Other Relevant Findings* is offered to highlight content that was frequently elicited from a particular stakeholder group or that represented unique or noteworthy implications. Table 2 demonstrates the frequency with which the various themes and subthemes were represented and the extent to which individual stakeholder groups contributed to each.

Exemplar statements obtained through focus group transcripts are listed for each stakeholder group that offered feedback for a particular subtheme, to provide qualitative support for each of the coding domains. When necessary, interview participants' quotations were edited to remove nonsubstantive interjections or repetitive words or phrases or connect partial phrases that were eventually stated in their entirety.

 Table 2. All identified focus group themes and frequencies.

Identified theme	Corporate (n=196), n (%)	Formal caregiver (n=94), n (%)	Franchise owner (n=222), n (%)	Informal caregivers (n=38), n (%)	Total (n=550), n (%)
Care services	53 (27)	22 (23.4)	47 (21.2)	12 (31.6)	134 (24.4)
Ability to react to changes	2 (3.8)	2 (9.1)	8 (17)	3 (25)	15 (11.2)
Addressing family needs	1 (1.9)	0 (0)	2 (4.3)	0 (0)	3 (2.2)
Assess and support cognition or mental health	12 (22.6)	0 (0)	6 (12.8)	0 (0)	18 (13.4)
Expanding care services	6 (11.3)	0 (0)	2 (4.3)	0 (0)	8 (6)
Individualized care	7 (13.2)	1 (4.5)	12 (25.5)	0 (0)	20 (14.9)
Maintaining patient in home	1 (1.9)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (0.7)
Patient and family engagement	15 (28.3)	2 (9.1)	12 (25.5)	1 (8.3)	30 (22.4)
Preparation for personal care rather than clinical care	4 (7.5)	0 (0)	1 (2.1)	0 (0)	5 (3.7)
Response to patient	1 (1.9)	17 (77.3)	4 (8.5)	8 (66.7)	30 (22.4)
Variability of care services	4 (7.5)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	4 (3)
Cost, finance, and resources	33 (16.8)	3 (3.2)	44 (19.8)	2 (5.3)	82 (14.9)
Administrative burden	3 (9.1)	0 (0)	3 (6.8)	0 (0)	6 (7.3)
Cost issues	5 (15.2)	0 (0)	10 (22.7)	1 (50)	16 (19.5)
Cost options	11 (33.3)	1 (33.3)	1 (2.3)	0 (0)	13 (15.9)
Dedicated staff	2 (6.1)	0 (0)	5 (11.4)	0 (0)	7 (8.5)
Medicare Advantage or other programs	10 (30.3)	0 (0)	14 (31.8)	0 (0)	24 (29.3)
Need for resources	1 (3)	2 (66.7)	1 (2.3)	1 (50)	5 (6.1)
Turnover issues	1 (3)	0 (0)	10 (22.7)	0 (0)	11 (13.4)
Data, documentation, and outcomes	38 (19.4)	8 (8.5)	36 (16.2)	7 (18.4)	89 (16.2)
Demonstration of value	15 (39.5)	0 (0)	3 (8.3)	0 (0)	18 (20.2)
Demonstration of value (patience)	0 (0)	0 (0)	4 (11.1)	0 (0)	4 (4.5)
Documenting patient routines and inci- dences	1 (2.6)	2 (25)	1 (2.8)	7 (100)	11 (12.4)
Need to document outcomes	17 (44.7)	0 (0)	13 (36.1)	0 (0)	30 (33.7)
Need to document outcomes (standard- ization)	1 (2.6)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (1.1)
Need to document outcomes, with some limitations	1 (2.6)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (1.1)
Sharing information and resources	3 (7.9)	6 (75)	15 (41.7)	0 (0)	24 (27)
Resources for caregivers	15 (7.7)	21 (22.3)	31 (14.0)	3 (7.9)	70 (12.7)
Allocating caregiver services	2 (13.3)	0 (0)	7 (22.6)	0 (0)	9 (12.9)
Benefit of experience	0 (0)	6 (28.6)	5 (16.1)	0 (0)	11 (15.7)
Caregiver support and mentoring	0 (0)	0 (0)	5 (16.1)	0 (0)	5 (7.1)
Need for training and education	13 (86.7)	15 (71.4)	14 (45.2)	3 (100)	45 (64.3)
Technology	57 (29.1)	40 (42.6)	64 (28.8)	14 (36.8)	175 (31.8)
Acceptance of technology	6 (10.5)	3 (7.5)	7 (10.9)	1 (7.1)	17 (9.7)
Acceptance of technology and barriers to use	4 (7)	2 (5)	1 (1.6)	3 (21.4)	10 (5.7)
Acceptance of technology, but not universal	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (1.6)	0 (0)	1 (0.6)
Benefit of family contributing content	4 (7)	1 (2.5)	3 (4.7)	3 (21.4)	11 (6.3)

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32516

XSL•FO RenderX
Identified theme	Corporate (n=196), n (%)	Formal caregiver (n=94), n (%)	Franchise owner (n=222), n (%)	Informal caregivers (n=38), n (%)	Total (n=550), n (%)
Benefit of personalized content	7 (12.3)	11 (27.5)	11 (17.2)	3 (21.4)	32 (18.3)
Benefit of technology	19 (33.3)	10 (25)	20 (31.3)	1 (7.1)	50 (28.6)
Benefits of technology, mostly but not always	0 (0)	1 (2.5)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (0.6)
Benefits of technology, with some limi- tations	1 (1.8)	0 (0)	5 (7.8)	0 (0)	6 (3.4)
Challenges of technology	5 (8.8)	9 (22.5)	9 (14.1)	1 (7.1)	24 (13.7)
Expanding personalization options	2 (3.5)	3 (7.5)	1 (1.6)	2 (14.3)	8 (4.6)
Expanding technology	3 (3.5)	0 (0)	5 (7.8)	0 (0)	8 (4.6)
Integrating technology into standard care	6 (10.5)	0 (0)	1 (1.6)	0 (0)	7 (4)

Theme 1: Technology Related

Overview

The purpose of the focus group interviews was to elicit feedback that would ultimately help guide the development and refinement of a tablet-based innovative technology (the Generation Connect platform) to be used with patients with dementia. As a result, it is not surprising that technology-related content was the prevailing thematic area (occurring 175 times). The stakeholder focus group participants provided feedback about a wide range of issues related to technology—from the degree of acceptance by patients, family members, and caregivers to its benefits and challenges and the positive implications of expanding various aspects of technology into patient care activities. As indicated by the listed subthemes, this theme is characterized by a variety of categories, including desire to involve technological advances as an expected part of standard patient care.

Key Finding 1: Benefits of Technology

One-third of all instances of *technology-related* content were specific to the benefits of technology, that is, this subtheme tended to illustrate the extent to which various technological programs enhanced patient care or family engagement. The *benefits of technology* subtheme was primarily endorsed by corporate leaders and franchise owners and case managers, although FCGs also viewed it as a benefit. It was rarely mentioned among informal caregivers, which is more a function of the questions asked rather than not accepting or having a negative view of technology.

Key Finding 2: Engagement, Training, and Impact

As for the corporate leader focus group participants, they were asked to speak to making engagement between the caregiver and the person with dementia part of the care plan. The specific question was "Is [engagement] something you guys have seen in your network or something that's on your radar as part of the training and approach, you guys are taking the dementia care?"

How do you get people to personalize care, period, and to learn and to make better days? That's the thing. And it's the hardest thing, but if you can figure it out with this app, we're, we're interested. [Corporate Staff 2, December 3, 2020]

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32516

RenderX

The same corporate leader reflected a similar sentiment when asked to consider their in-house training resources and their strategy for not only developing proprietary resources but also leveraging third-party resources to supplement the training:

But we have a lot of caregivers that are learners. They, just, they wanna learn more, want to know more. So that's why we've offered this additional platform, that was third party. And we've also, we've put it sort of on demand, so that they can take it whenever. There, it's convenient for them, and in any setting. [Corporate staff 2, December 3, 2020]

When franchise owners were asked about an aspect of dementia care that they were most proud of, one responded:

So, I would say that's the thing that we're probably most proud of... is the way that we have been able to engage clients and their family members...In some cases, family members who really weren't that involved became much more involved, um, as a result of this, of this program. So, we have family members who, you know, maybe lived at a farther distance, and this became the catalyst for them really becoming involved in the care. And just the checking in on their loved one, and it gave them a way to...create memories, by sharing old memories, and then seeing how their loved one reacts to it by the entries into the [Generation Connect] platform. It was just a really, I'm very proud of the way that this tool has helped, not only the clients, but also the family members to really create new memories and have a memorable experience. [Franchise owner and case manager, location C, November 11, 2020]

Key Finding 3: Challenges Limit Benefits of Technology

There were also a few occasions (n=7) when various stakeholders acknowledged the benefits of technology but additionally admitted that the realization of those benefits can be somewhat undermined by particular challenges that limit their effects:

I mean, we do a lot of education on the care team and who all that involves and as family caregivers there's the primary and the secondary caregiver and then even those, beyond that, that can support in various

ways. So, I would say that it's probably done in more like an educational forum and then I would agree, that homecare tablet really does allow for more family connection even just...the social aspects. Maybe it's not helping with the direct care but just connecting the families. We've seen a lot of great success with that. [Corporate staff 1, December 3, 2020]

Again, it really depends...on the caregiver or client technology. If we're able to do a HIPAA compliant we are definitely using that, but in some cases they don't have an iPad working, we are using the caregiver cell phone which sometimes the caregivers have technology glitches on their end and maybe you can't get it a Zoom meeting going. [Franchise owner and case manager, location H, November 11, 2020]

My clients that I worked with and did a lot of zooming with, I had to keep educating the family, like how to get things to work, right, because they got a little bit dependent on me being able to know how to do this. And they wanted to be able to use it too. And I have to keep telling them, OK, this is where you go for this. It was hard sometimes to keep saying it...There were times that my client was just got tired quickly. [FCG, location A: CG 3, November 12, 2020]

However, it is reassuring that the various benefits of technology were considered prevalently among stakeholders.

Theme 2: Care Services

Overview

Unsurprisingly, content related to patient care services was frequently mentioned (134 times) throughout the discussions with all stakeholder groups, as improvements in patient care underlies the objective of this technology-based project and these services. In addition to general aspects of caregiving practice, this theme encompassed attributes of clinical care, including the use of formal cognitive or mental health assessments. The care services that were mentioned also extended to family members and efforts to improve their interactions with the patient.

Key Finding 1: Patient and Family Engagement

Input from all stakeholder groups informed this subtheme and identified the variety of ways in which engagement with patients and families took place. Such activities range from a thorough review of the patients' care plan with their families to helping family members interact with their loved ones with dementia, either through direct involvement or through technology:

Specifically, we walk through the whole care plan and all of the activities that we're going to do to massage and exercise that cognition while also taking care of all the ADLs and the IADLs that we have to manage during that visit. Then we ask the family, basically, to enter into an agreement or a contract with us at that, I understand, this care plan, and I understand that this is different. [Corporate staff 1, February 2, 2021]

We've tried to use that meet and greet kind of program that [Location G Owner 7] was talking about. But we have found that every time we set up, know, a plan or rule that says, "that's what we're going to do," it doesn't work...If we have a real serious dementia situation...that it's going to be challenging, then we absolutely will have [Location B Dementia Specialist] go there and introduce and even stay the whole first shift with that caregiver, in order to make sure that the transition works. [Franchise owner and case manager, location B, January 22, 2021]

So, she was going through a lot with her family, was going through a loss. I wanted to make sure that it was truly the family agitating her, and not just her demeanor. Over time, once I started to realize what exactly was agitating her and making her days more difficult, I initially started by bringing it up with the office...But eventually, I did start to have some discussions with [family], just to let them know that, obviously, their intentions are in the right place. But...it's very difficult for them to see sometimes the repercussions of the things that they're saying, the things that they're doing, especially when their family member is in a facility or is far away because they might see them for a few minutes, but who's there for the rest of the day. So, thankfully, I've, I've gotten a little bit better with being able to address those things with them because I have created a really good relationship with the family. [FCG, location E: CG1, November 12, 2020]

I think, with my sister living in Texas, it would have been great, as [Location A: Family 1] said, to comment back, to be able to have a conversation with a caregiver. The other thing is that it would have been super helpful to know which caregiver posted what comment about my mom. Because, that would have helped us to figure out who's using it, and who's not. [Informal care partner, location C: family 1, November 17, 2020]

Key Finding 2: Response to Patient

All stakeholder groups contributed information that was relevant to responses to patients, although corporate leaders mentioned this only once. This subtheme could apply to either caregivers' and family members' responses to patients (Table 3), with the objective of interacting with patients in a manner that does not exacerbate the patients' emotional state or result in family members' anxiety.



Table 3. Direct quotes responding to the patient from the caregiver and family member perspectives.

Staff	Caregiver response to the client	Family member response to the patient
Corporate staff	None	"So, a lot of time, and I think that's what makes our cognitive support program special, that we really do work and educating the family. Through that process, but that also might mean that they're not willing to accept that their loved one needs to be in this type of receiving this type of care. So, there's a lot of just human elements that we're dealing with in this as well." [Cor- porate staff 1]
Franchise owner and case manager	"You know, it's been nice to have access to an engagement tool where we can engage in a different way with our clients. We've had a couple particular situations where the caregivers have really embraced the concept of the iPad and have had one-on- one training with [Cofacilitator] from Generation Connect, which has been really awesome. And really helped them to de- velop and get a better understanding of how to really use the iPad to better engage the clients and just seeing the caregiver's just come up with more creative ideas of how to use the iPad." [Franchise owner and case manager, location B]	"We do get, sometimes, you get [a patient] who is just so resis- tant and the family member gives up. That mean, you know, the care recipient only wants that family member around them, uh, attempts to throw everybody out. And the family member just decides that it's not worth, the hassle." [Franchise owner and case manager, location B]
Formal caregiver	"So, what I try to do is, I try to redirect, I have a patient now. Who, she'll tell me, did my husband died? And I will tell her, yes. I heard he was such a jokester, why don't you tell me about a joke? And even though she, it's kind of like she's reliving the grief every time to hear that she died it's bringing up happy memories, uh, know how he was when he was alive." [Formal caregiver, location C: CG ^a 2]	"The client's family. Daughter in-law and son she lived with were very well educated. He was a professor. She was a regis- tered nurse. And when I would come, they would argue with her all the time, and it made me feel like I was the bad guy be- cause I would go along with it. If she told me, 'the moon was made of green cheese,' but they would argue all the time with her. And I know, [my manager], she gave them lots of videos and lots of links to look at. but they just wanted nothing to do with that. If they were there the whole time that I was there with them, I was exhausted mentally and physically, and I mean there were times I left there crying, because I was so upset with them. And then, the client that I had just before this one, I couldn't have had a better support system with a son and daughter-in-law, I mean, it's just phenomenal. She was a teacher and I forget what he did, architect. But, you know, I just, yeah, I just feel the mind has to be open to the heart or vice versa to be able to understand the daughter of my client now." [Formal caregiver, location A: CG2]
Informal care part- ner	"Building on what [Location F: Family 1] said when I first no- ticed changes in my dad. I wanted him understand things logi- cally. So, I would argue with him and try to make him see my point of view, which only led to not good situations. And my case worker through [home care company] sort of suggested to redirect. If we're talking about something, mentioning some- thing else, can redirect the conversation's show that his mind would go on something else, not what we were talking about, and gradually, I learned to just go with the flow." [Informal care partner, location E: Family 1]	"I did a little bit of reading, but to me, it just started feeling that [it] was the only choice, you know, because I really wasn't in- terested in having an argument with my dad, you know. I didn't need to win him over to my point of view. So, I think that was just a little bit, for me, it just seemed like a natural thing to do. I think my sister, I think she, just, over time, also saw that there wasn't any percentage in itwe were not able to convince him of this factual thing, or that actual thing, and so I think she's, that, just over time, she also kind of, I don't know, maybe she saw me do it, but it also could just have come to her. She just has a different personality. She's a more, she's a more logical, analytical person so that you know that was her, her go-to's – we'll lay out the facts. I have a different way of being in the world. And so, I'm more interested, I'm more looking like, 'well, what's, you know, what's the relationship here, what's connected?'" [Informal care partner, location F: Family 1]

^aCG: caregiver.

Theme 3: Data, Documentation, and Outcomes

Overview

XSL•FO RenderX

Corporate leaders and franchise owners and case managers were much more likely to offer information about *data*, *documentation*, *and outcomes* than FCGs and informal care providers. In total, all stakeholder groups referenced this theme 89 times. Overall, such feedback related largely to the use and

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32516

value of cataloging changes in patients' mood or behavior to evidence the effects of treatment. However, there was also an interest in communicating about sharing information and resources and in factors that can undermine such sharing to caregivers or family members.

Key Finding 1: Need to Document Outcomes

This subtheme reflected the same pattern of responses as the overall thematic category, with only the corporate leader and

franchise owner and case manager stakeholder groups having input about the *need to document outcomes*. Much of this feedback was elicited from direct questions about efforts to quantify patient care outcomes and the limitations of such efforts:

Our operating system is the one that every home care company uses, and so we track a care plan and we track the tasks that are done every day. But where the outcome is...the seniors' needs, or goal, and the family's goal. And that's an, a text box. And so, that's one issue where we're, you know, we can't really match what the goal is with the "what's happening."...also the way our systems are set up – they're not built, for pulling outcome data, [and] it's hard to track hospitalizations when there's nowhere to capture where, when they had their last hospitalization before they became one of our clients, for example. [Corporate staff 2, December 3, 2020]

We track incidents and falls for the Department of Health. We have to have an incident book if somebody falls or something happens. So, we try to track those to see, you know, just for that reason, clearly, if somebody is falling a lot, we try to figure out why and make changes on it, you know, so, we'll just keep track of it in our system, client file. No, that's about it. [Franchise owner and case manager, location G, November 11, 2020]

Key Finding 2: Feasibility of Using Technology to Document Outcomes

Although there was prevalent recognition of the utility of outcome measurement, 1 focus group member brought up a specific constraint relating to this objective:

But, right now, so we actually input into our operating software, ways that they could track...mile markers...But our Franchisees actually have to go in and check the mile markers. And then they have to do the assessment repeatedly, so that they can see where they're at on the mile markers. And we actually have care plan associated with all four of those different ability levels that a client will go into, based on where they're at in the journey, based on their ability level, and what they're likely able to do, and what they're likely not able to do, based on their disease progression. The problem is tracking. So, right now, to [corporate staff 4]'s point, I can't get that information to a family unless our franchisees regularly monitor assess and are input that information into our software. [Corporate staff 1, February 2, 21]

In addition, when questioned about the potential for standardization of assessment forms in the system, as a means to consistently compare among franchises, it was admitted by one stakeholder that standardization was not feasible at the present time: "But there is no standard assessment form either" [Corporate staff 2, December 3, 2020].

Theme 4: Cost, Finance, and Resources

Cost, finance, and resources represents the most unique theme (with 82 identified instances), where most of the relevant content was obtained from corporate leaders and franchise owners and case managers. In addition to the issues most relevant to this theme, other related content involved discussions about the benefit of having staff members who are dedicated to specific activities or responsibilities, factors influencing staff turnover, and MA and other reimbursement programs, most of which involve some amount of administrative burden.

This most frequent subtheme was derived from focus group questions related directly to the topic of MA. Such questions elicited quite elaborate responses related to the pros and cons of this reimbursement policy, which is illustrated most thoroughly with the following corporate leader stakeholder feedback:

I mean, the biggest issue right now is just reimbursement, and hours, right? So, you're exactly right, Your last comment. It is true. There's, we're seeing more demand than we've ever seen. Why in the world would we waste the time on Medicare Advantage when the reimbursement isn't? We can't pay our caregivers, so there's no margin. You're getting 20 hours, a quarter of care, which really doesn't have any sort of impact on outcome anyway. The only reason that we're even, and we do participate in a few Medicare Advantage plans, but ultimately, the only reason is to collect the data on why shouldn't we do it anymore. [Corporate staff 3, February 2, 2021]

We, actually, I should say we billed, but did not get paid through some Medicare Advantage plans. And the motivation is, it's really, it's kinda like long term care in my mind. You're billing a policy that somebody has paid into and it helps them get the care they need, right? That type of thing. We had, previously, probably, most of the people on here don't do this anymore. We had done an assignment of benefits or policies and we're phasing that out. Some of them, you know, obviously will keep the ones that we still do an assignment of benefits for, but we won't be doing that anymore, because an insurance company will always pay their member before they'll pay us. So, that's one of the reasons we're phasing it out. But I think the idea behind it is it gives care to people that might otherwise not be able to afford it or might not even want - if they understand the benefit. It might help them remain independent and at home longer, if they utilize those benefits that they have. [Franchise owner and case manager, location F, January 22, 2021]

Theme 5: Resources for Caregivers

Unsurprisingly, content related to patient care services was frequently mentioned during the stakeholder discussions (70 times), as improvement in patient care is the objective of this technology project and these services. Despite the different subthemes, the concepts within this theme universally

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32516
```

highlighted the importance of training and support as a key function in maintaining the ongoing use of the Generation Connect platform.

Despite the general view that technology has its uses and advantages, it was evident from focus group responses that home care provider staff and family members have a *need for training or education*, especially in relation to technology. Although there were particular questions designed to elicit information about education or training needs, some of the content was forthcoming naturally when describing other aspects of patient care. The need for training and education was endorsed relatively evenly across corporate leaders, franchise owners and case managers, and FCGs; however, informal caregivers also provided relevant feedback about their need for dementia-related knowledge. Table 4 details the perspective of the focus group participants related to training and education related to technology and caregivers or family members' knowledge about dementia.

Table 4. Direct quotes responding to the need for training and education related to technology or knowledge about dementia.

Staff	Training or education related to technology	Training or education related to caregivers' or family members' knowledge about dementia
Corporate staff	"But I do know that that the caregivers play a big role and there's a lot of training that the office does for the caregivers to say, you know, this is what the tablet is. This is how you can engage. And the caregivers, I think there's an app specifically for the caregiver on the tablet, so they're interacting with it regularly for like things like clocking in and out, and those types of things, so that automatically I would imagine a lot of times prompts engagement too with the client, because the caregiver's interacting with it so regularly. I think another neat function is that the tablet has like scrolling pictures on it, so when it's charging even, it's kind of like a rotating picture frame. So, I think that that in and of itself to kind of prompts interaction with it, especially if there's a new photo that they haven't seen before. But I would imagine for those living with dementia, probably is more caregiver interaction." [Corporate staff 1]	"I would say that another addition, though, to the proprietary training following the Alzheimer's Dementia Care evidence- based practices was about assessments, which we always do, but this training that we've updated, took that to another level and sort of explained how important it is. That's what we've always explained, that it is important. But now, we've actually said, here's how we can do it." [Corporate staff 2]
Franchise owner and case manager	"I think the biggest thing for us is just continuing to keep the education piece on all staff. So, our frontline workers being trained in dementia care, because you never know when you're going to have an opportunity, where current client, they're tak- ing care of, starts experiencing, signs, and symptoms. So, you know, I think, the, earlier we catch it on, then, the better part- nership we have with the frontline staff and the families. And that's kind of a goal that I've been doing in the community, you know, barring this year, is educating people and, you know, trying to bring technology into it." [Franchise owner and case manager, location H]	"Now one of the things we're very proud of is the fact that we do a lot of one-on-one dementia care. I'm a certified dementia trainer with the Alzheimer's Association, so all of our caregivers go through training with me before they can put out in the field. We also have great mentoring programs." [Franchise owner and case manager, location D]
Formal caregiver	"So, we've just had a lot of success with it. The only difficult part has been making it work with providing links for the family. I, I don't know if maybe there's some type of re-education that can go on with the family, and using the care team Connect app. Or if there's justbecause I, I navigate the relatively well. So I don't typically look into it. I don't know if you guys have like a tutorial section of the apps, that the family would be able to use to educate themselves more on how to navigate the app. But I know that sometimes, they've had difficulties, so, they've had a hard time finding where to upload photos, where to click the link, so that they can join Zoom calls, But, but, overall, I mean, the Zoom calls and face timing has gone really, really well." [Formal caregiver, location E: CG ^a 1]	"So, thankfully, I've gotten a little bit better with being able to address those things with them because I have created a really good relationship with the family. It kind of has fallen back on me. It was just having those conversations with them. Some- times it works, sometimes it doesn't. It's kinda one of those hit and miss things, but a lot of it falls back, just to the fact that the families usually just don't have the amount of education that we do, and aren't always open to the education that we can give them, just because they don't, they don't really see the, the depth, that it really has. They don't see how much we've actu- ally had to learn about it. They only see a surface level of us telling them, that, their actions are making the family upset. Your words are making them upset, then they get offended. So, I feel like, I feel like if I had more resources to be able to give them more resources to be able to direct them to, it would make things a lot easier. I just said that resources were really important for them." [Formal caregiver, location E: CG1]
Informal care part- ner	"Would you be able to load videos like a video of my grandson running through the yard because I have not been able to figure out how to post a video? I can do photos, but I have not figured out videosI just need a lesson." [Informal care partner, location A: family 1]	"So, I do think that there's so many things about my parents getting older and having health problems, and these mental problems, and all of these things. And I, often, my sister today, we'll just look at each other, will say, we cannot be the only ones, we're not the only ones. And yet, it's so hard, it's so hard to find. Where is that training? Where are those resources? It is, it's not, it's not at all easy, and, as this disease becomes, I think, at some point, it will be epidemic. We're going to live, everyone is going to live so long that our population is going to be filled with people who have this disease. And maybe just the sheer volume of folks will help bring. Bring this topic and, and these, this, this training, and these ideas more into the mainstream, I have to say, I, I was very uncomfortable telling anyone that My dad has Alzheimer's, at all forI felt a lot of shame about that, which is really unfortunate." [Informal care partner, location F: family 1]

^aCG: caregiver.



Other Relevant Findings

A number of other issues warranted discussion because they were identified frequently from a particular stakeholder group or else represent unique or noteworthy implications. Multimedia Appendix 1 summarizes these issues by stakeholder group and provides exemplary quotes.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The focus group findings highlight the complex and dynamic implications of providing care for persons living with dementia in their homes. More importantly, this study contributes to the growing literature on how technology can support care for people with dementia living in the community [18,19] and the importance of a user-centered design approach [20]. Overall, the stakeholder group participants share a widespread belief about the benefits of technology in general and about the Generation Connect platform, specifically with regard to the platform's support efforts for caring for individuals with dementia in their homes. In general, this finding supports the benefit of technology acceptance for promoting technology use [21-24]. It is clear that in this case, familiarity breeds acceptance, with many FCGs reporting using the Generation Connect platform during their shifts. In doing so, they tended to notice a range of improvements in client behaviors and client relationships. Our results reinforce earlier findings suggesting that direct interaction with technology is associated with increased familiarity [25] and that increased engagement is related to improved outcomes [26]. Most importantly, FCGs believed that iPad use helped them connect with clients and facilitated enjoyable experiences. These results were found although the Generation Connect platform was largely used with clients in later stages of dementia and with more severe symptoms.

Corporate members and franchise owners were particularly enthusiastic about the possibility of providing individualized care, and the platform under development reinforces this approach with its personalized content and ability to expand patient personalization options. Such results support the key value of personalization when designing technology for people with dementia [27], which is associated with improved social engagement, mood, activities of daily living, and the caregiver and participant relationship [14,28,29]. More generally, the direct involvement of key stakeholders aligns with recommendations from an earlier position paper calling for the direct involvement of stakeholders when designing technology for people with dementia to support meaningful use [18]. However, formal and informal caregivers have somewhat different opinions about the benefits of individualized care on patient outcomes in the Generation Connect platform. FCGs considered most of the app features to have potentially positive implications. However, the ability to routinely share updates with family was not believed to be as important as other platform characteristics. This finding may represent an area for further consideration or exploration to understand why this feature of the Generation Connect platform was not as widely accepted. Informal caregivers' opinions were similar, in general, about

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32516

XSL•F() RenderX the benefits of the Generation Connect platform regardless of how often they used it. Understanding the advantages of individualized care seems an essential issue for convincing FCGs to adopt it into their routine care practice.

Despite the general acceptance of the Generation Connect platform, challenges need to be considered and addressed for broad and successful adoption. For example, a noticeable perception from informal caregivers was that less frequent users tended not to see a difference in caregiver interactions. This finding suggests the need for more direct communication with informal caregivers and even FCGs about the potential immediate and sustained benefits of the Generation Connect platform that can be derived from repeated use of the technology. In addition, acceptance of technology was not universal. Oftentimes, patients' use of the Generation Connect platform was determined by their previous comfort with technology, but family members certainly indicated that they could play an important role in assisting patients so they could benefit from engaging with content on the device.

Feedback about challenges and limitations to the benefits of technology largely reinforced the need to provide informational resources to mitigate the influence of knowledge deficits. Across the stakeholder groups, participants generally understood that education or training is necessary to better prepare caregivers for the broader use of technology and that it would be beneficial for some family members to receive similar content. In particular, corporate staff and franchise owners consistently expressed a belief in the importance of training to ensure that FCGs can provide appropriate and clinically valuable care to individuals with dementia, which could include patient engagement through technology. As a result, strategic training efforts are required to incorporate the Generation Connect platform into standard care practices.

Although it is feasible to address many of the identified technology-related challenges and shortcomings through additional education, cost remains a relevant limiting factor. Identified cost issues ranged from insufficient reimbursement for care services to the financing of technology hardware and internet services. However, external environmental changes targeting expanded broadband access, or increasing technology affordability and accessibility, may reduce cost burdens.

Finally, corporate members and franchise owners considered patient outcomes and the documentation of such outcomes as worthy of investigation, which can be aided by the Generation Connect platform. However, feedback suggests that corporate members may require more direct evidence of the benefits of using the Generation Connect platform to record and track client outcomes before committing to the technology. Franchise owners, on the other hand, not only recognized the importance of tracking client outcomes but also were more likely to already be engaged in such activities.

Strengths and Limitations

The focus groups conducted for this study phase provided important insights into the mindsets of various key stakeholders about the viability of using tablet technology and the Generation Connect platform to facilitate approaches to reduce ADRD

symptoms and strengthen caregiver and persons living with dementia engagement. However, the number of focus groups was limited, and many of the focus group participants had prior experience using the Generation Connect platform. This purposeful participant selection was considered necessary, given the objective of this project phase to elicit feedback about the Generation Connect platform that would help guide its construction content refinement and expanded adoption.

In addition, response bias is possible because of the stakeholder focus groups. However, Generation Connect staff attempted to mitigate potential bias by (1) using a standardized interview protocol emphasizing that the forums were meant to elicit feedback that should relate both to positive and negative experiences and (2) structuring focus groups to control for the effects of organizational hierarchy (eg, franchise owners were provided separate forums from FCGs who may work within those franchises). Finally, more comprehensive feedback from the FCG focus group could have been attained through an intentional recruitment strategy that included FCGs who declined to use the Generation Connect platform when presented the opportunity, to compare to the feedback from FCGs with experience using the platform. Similarly, a few home care franchises failed to operationalize the Generation Connect platform in the pilot testing session. Including these individuals in the focus group could have resulted in more comprehensive feedback and insights into the limitations on or barriers to the adoption of the platform at the franchise level.

Conclusions

It is encouraging that the Generation Connect platform can help address many of the issues identified through stakeholder focus group interviews. Further development of the Generation Connect platform capabilities for nonclinical home care will be informed by stakeholder feedback to reduce the burden of caregiving for persons living with dementia, evaluate changes in cognition, preserve functional independence, and promote engagement between persons living with dementia and caregivers. Successful completion of this overall project, leading to a finalized platform, is planned as the basis for a larger NIH SBIR phase 2 clinical research trial to assess the efficacy of evidence-based interventions and the market viability of the Generation Connect platform. Specifically, the principal aim of the phase 2 project will be to quantify the economic impact (eg, reduced hospital or emergency department admissions, falls, and care transitions) and clinical outcomes (eg, decreased anxiety, depression, and isolation) and support or accelerate home care network efforts to standardize data collection around these key outcomes. Demonstrated effectiveness through a clinical trial would reinforce the Generation Connect's go-to-market objective of commercializing the Generation Connect platform in the home care industry as a viable ICT solution to improve clinical outcomes, reduce turnover, extend client length of stay, and support emerging MA plans.

This study revealed key discoveries that are essential to consider for future projects, which are as follows: (1) early intervention and collaboration between FCGs and family members who are providing care; (2) great variability exists across national franchise networks in their ability to adopt and commercialize technology solutions; and (3) providers have systems in place to track clinical data and outcomes, but they are limited in scope and lack standardization and interconnectedness. Importantly, the insights gained from this study will prove critical to informing our approach for the phase 2 outcomes research and future commercialization efforts.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the National Institute on Aging of the National Institutes of Health under award R43AG071060. The authors would like to thank the home care corporate leaders who helped identify business leaders with appropriate experience and resources; the home care owners, managers, and caregivers who piloted initial versions of the platform and provided valuable feedback; and the persons living with dementia and their families who embraced the approach as part of their care.

Conflicts of Interest

DD, RL, and MP work for Generation Connect, which is a gerontology-driven technology company with an intergenerational team that works together with forward-thinking care organizations to build engagement solutions that promote person-centered care through technological innovation.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Exemplary quotes associated with other issues identified from the focus groups. [DOC File, 59 KB - aging v5i1e32516 app1.doc]

References

- 1. 2020 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimer's Association. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.alz.org/media/Documents/</u> <u>alzheimers-factsand-figures.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-07-07]
- 2. Hughes S, Lepore M, Wiener JM, Gould E. Research on care coordination for people with dementia and family caregivers: background paper. Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation. 2017. URL: <u>https://aspe.hhs.gov/basic-report/</u>research-care-coordination-people-dementia-and-family-caregivers [accessed 2021-07-14]
- 3. About underlying cause of death, 1999-2019. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2021. URL: <u>https://wonder.cdc.gov/ucd-icd10.html</u> [accessed 2021-07-23]

- 4. Thoma-Lürken T, Bleijlevens MH, Lexis MA, de Witte LP, Hamers JP. Facilitating aging in place: a qualitative study of practical problems preventing people with dementia from living at home. Geriatr Nurs 2018;39(1):29-38. [doi: 10.1016/j.gerinurse.2017.05.003] [Medline: 28624128]
- Building the caregiving workforce: our aging world needs. Global Coalition on Aging. 2018. URL: <u>https://globalcoalitiononaging.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/</u> <u>GCOA HI Building-the-Caregiving-Workforce-Our-Aging-World-Needs REPORT-FINAL July-2021.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-12-09]
- 6. Holly R. CMS announces \$165M to support home care, reduce 'America's over-reliance' on nursing homes. Home Health Care News. 2020. URL: <u>https://homehealthcarenews.com/2020/09/</u>
- cms-announces-165m-to-support-home-care-reduce-americas-over-reliance-on-nursing-homes [accessed 2021-07-14]
 Landers S, Madigan E, Leff B, Rosati RJ, McCann BA, Hornbake R, et al. The future of home health care: a strategic framework for optimizing value. Home Health Care Manag Pract 2016;28(4):262-278 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1084822316666368] [Medline: 27746670]
- 8. Han SJ, Kim HK, Storfjell J, Kim MJ. Clinical outcomes and quality of life of home health care patients. Asian Nurs Res (Korean Soc Nurs Sci) 2013;7(2):53-60 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.anr.2013.03.002] [Medline: 25029922]
- 9. Holly R. Home care industry turnover reaches all-time high of 82%. Home Health Care News. 2019. URL: <u>https://homehealthcarenews.com/2019/05/home-care-industry-turnover-reaches-all-time-high-of-82/</u> [accessed 2021-07-07]
- Newquist DD, DeLiema M, Wilber KH. Beware of data gaps in home care research: the streetlight effect and its implications for policy making on long-term services and supports. Med Care Res Rev 2015;72(5):622-640 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1077558715588437] [Medline: 26062611]
- 11. Chandrashekar P, Moodley S, Jain SH. 5 Obstacles to home-based health care, and how to overcome them. Harvard Business Review. 2019. URL: <u>https://hbr.org/2019/10/5-obstacles-to-home-based-health-care-and-how-to-overcome-them</u> [accessed 2021-07-23]
- 12. Rouleau G, Gagnon MP, Côté J. Impacts of information and communication technologies on nursing care: an overview of systematic reviews (protocol). Syst Rev 2015;4:75 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13643-015-0062-y] [Medline: 26002726]
- 13. Ford Ii JH, Dodds D, Hyland J, Potteiger M. JMIR Aging 2019;2(1):e11599 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11599] [Medline: 31518259]
- Gilson A, Dodds D, Kaur A, Potteiger M, Ford Ii JH. Using computer tablets to improve moods for older adults with dementia and interactions with their caregivers: pilot intervention study. JMIR Form Res 2019;3(3):e14530 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14530] [Medline: 31482847]
- 15. Patton MQ. Qualitative research and evaluation methods. 3rd edition. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2002.
- Lindeman DA, Kim KK, Gladstone C, Apesoa-Varano EC. Technology and caregiving: emerging interventions and directions for research. Gerontologist 2020;60(Suppl 1):S41-S49 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1093/geront/gnz178</u>] [Medline: <u>32057082</u>]
- 17. Thomas DR. A general inductive approach for analyzing qualitative evaluation data. Am J Eval 2006;27(2):237-246. [doi: 10.1177/1098214005283748]
- Meiland F, Innes A, Mountain G, Robinson L, van der Roest H, García-Casal JA, et al. Technologies to support community-dwelling persons with dementia: a position paper on issues regarding development, usability, effectiveness and cost-effectiveness, deployment, and ethics. JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2017;4(1):e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/rehab.6376] [Medline: 28582262]
- Palmdorf S, Stark AL, Nadolny S, Eliaß G, Karlheim C, Kreisel SH, et al. Technology-assisted home care for people with dementia and their relatives: scoping review. JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e25307 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25307] [Medline: 33470935]
- Ferrucci F, Jorio M, Marci S, Bezenchek A, Diella G, Nulli C, et al. A web-based application for complex health care populations: user-centered design approach. JMIR Hum Factors 2021;8(1):e18587 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18587] [Medline: 33439146]
- 21. Lai R, Tensil M, Kurz A, Lautenschlager NT, Diehl-Schmid J. Perceived need and acceptability of an app to support activities of daily living in people with cognitive impairment and their carers: pilot survey study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020;8(7):e16928 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16928] [Medline: 32735223]
- Lunardini F, Luperto M, Romeo M, Basilico N, Daniele K, Azzolino D, et al. Supervised digital neuropsychological tests for cognitive decline in older adults: usability and clinical validity study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020;8(9):e17963. [doi: 10.2196/17963] [Medline: 32955442]
- 23. Thomas NW, Beattie Z, Marcoe J, Wright K, Sharma N, Mattek N, et al. An ecologically valid, longitudinal, and unbiased assessment of treatment efficacy in Alzheimer disease (the EVALUATE-AD Trial): proof-of-concept study. JMIR Res Protoc 2020;9(5):e17603 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17603] [Medline: 32459184]
- 24. Wang G, Albayrak A, Kortuem G, van der Cammen TJ. A digital platform for facilitating personalized dementia care in nursing homes: formative evaluation study. JMIR Form Res 2021;5(5):e25705 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25705] [Medline: 34047703]

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32516

- Andrade Ferreira LD, Ferreira H, Cavaco S, Cameirão M, I Badia SB. User experience of interactive technologies for people with dementia: comparative observational study. JMIR Serious Games 2020;8(3):e17565 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17565] [Medline: 32755894]
- Ijaz K, Ahmadpour N, Naismith SL, Calvo RA. An immersive virtual reality platform for assessing spatial navigation memory in predementia screening: feasibility and usability study. JMIR Ment Health 2019;6(9):e13887 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13887] [Medline: 31482851]
- 27. Bogza LM, Patry-Lebeau C, Farmanova E, Witteman HO, Elliott J, Stolee P, et al. User-centered design and evaluation of a web-based decision aid for older adults living with mild cognitive impairment and their health care providers: mixed methods study. J Med Internet Res 2020;22(8):e17406 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17406] [Medline: 32442151]
- 28. Kelleher J, Zola S, Cui X, Chen S, Gerber C, Parker MW, et al. Personalized visual mapping assistive technology to improve functional ability in persons with dementia: feasibility cohort study. JMIR Aging 2021;4(4):e28165 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/28165] [Medline: 34269690]
- 29. Laird EA, Ryan A, McCauley C, Bond RB, Mulvenna MD, Curran KJ, et al. Using mobile technology to provide personalized reminiscence for people living with dementia and their carers: appraisal of outcomes from a quasi-experimental study. JMIR Ment Health 2018;5(3):e57 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.9684] [Medline: 30206053]

Abbreviations

ADRD: Alzheimer disease and related dementias
FCG: formal caregiver
HIPAA: Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act
ICT: information communication technology
MA: Medicare Advantage
NIH SBIR: National Institutes of Health Small Business Innovation Research
TECH: Technology-Enabled Caregiving in the Home

Edited by J Wang; submitted 30.07.21; peer-reviewed by W Tang, G Goodall, V Stara; comments to author 25.10.21; revised version received 09.12.21; accepted 27.12.21; published 02.03.22.

Please cite as:

Gilson A, Gassman M, Dodds D, Lombardo R, Ford II JH, Potteiger M Refining a Digital Therapeutic Platform for Home Care Agencies in Dementia Care to Elicit Stakeholder Feedback: Focus Group Study With Stakeholders JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e32516 URL: https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32516 doi:10.2196/32516 PMID:35234657

©Aaron Gilson, Michele Gassman, Debby Dodds, Robin Lombardo, James H Ford II, Michael Potteiger. Originally published in JMIR Aging (https://aging.jmir.org), 02.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Mobile Device Ownership, Current Use, and Interest in Mobile Health Interventions Among Low-Income Older Chinese Immigrants With Type 2 Diabetes: Cross-sectional Survey Study

Lu Hu¹, PhD; Chau Trinh-Shevrin², DrPH; Nadia Islam², PhD; Bei Wu³, PhD; Shimin Cao⁴, MD, PhD; Jincong Freeman⁵, MPH; Mary Ann Sevick¹, SCD

¹Center for Healthful Behavior Change, Department of Population Health, New York University Grossman School of Medicine, New York University Langone Health, New York, NY, United States

²Department of Population Health, New York University Grossman School of Medicine, New York University Langone Health, New York, NY, United States

³Rory Meyers College of Nursing, New York University, New York, NY, United States

⁴Charles B Wang Community Health Center, New York, NY, United States

⁵Milken Institute School of Public Health, George Washington University, Washington, DC, United States

Corresponding Author:

Lu Hu, PhD Center for Healthful Behavior Change Department of Population Health, New York University Grossman School of Medicine New York University Langone Health 180 Madison Ave New York, NY, 10016 United States Phone: 1 6465013438 Email: <u>lu.hu@nyumc.org</u>

Abstract

Background: Chinese immigrants suffer a disproportionately high type 2 diabetes (T2D) burden and tend to have poorly controlled disease. Mobile health (mHealth) interventions have been shown to increase access to care and improve chronic disease management in minority populations. However, such interventions have not been developed for or tested in Chinese immigrants with T2D.

Objective: This study aims to examine mobile device ownership, current use, and interest in mHealth interventions among Chinese immigrants with T2D.

Methods: In a cross-sectional survey, Chinese immigrants with T2D were recruited from Chinese community centers in New York City. Sociodemographic characteristics, mobile device ownership, current use of social media software applications, current use of technology for health-related purposes, and interest in using mHealth for T2D management were assessed. Surveys were administered face-to-face by bilingual study staff in the participant's preferred language. Descriptive statistics were used to characterize the study sample and summarize technology use.

Results: The sample (N=91) was predominantly female (n=57, 63%), married (n=68, 75%), and had a high school education or less (n=58, 64%); most participants had an annual household income of less than US 25,000 (n=63, 69%) and had limited English proficiency (n=78, 86%). The sample had a mean age of 70 (SD 11) years. Almost all (90/91, 99%) participants had a mobile device (eg, basic cell phones, smart devices), and the majority (n=83, 91%) reported owning a smart device (eg, smartphone or tablet). WeChat was the most commonly used social media platform (65/91, 71%). When asked about their top source for diabetes-related information, 63 of the 91 participants (69%) reported health care providers, followed by 13 who reported the internet (14%), and 10 who reported family, friends, and coworkers (11%). Less than one-quarter (21/91, 23%) of the sample reported using the internet to search for diabetes-related information in the past 12 months. About one-third of the sample (34/91, 37%) reported that they had watched a health-related video on their cell phone or computer in the past 12 months. The majority (69/91, 76%) of participants reported interest in receiving an mHealth intervention in the future to help with T2D management.

Conclusions: Despite high mobile device ownership, the current use of technology for health-related issues remained low in older Chinese immigrants with T2D. Given the strong interest in future mHealth interventions and high levels of social media

use (eg, WeChat), future studies should consider how to leverage these existing low-cost platforms and deliver tailored mHealth interventions to this fast-growing minority group.

(JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e27355) doi:10.2196/27355

KEYWORDS

technology use; Chinese immigrants; type 2 diabetes; mHealth; health disparities; immigrant health; diabetes; mobile health; intervention; smartphone; immigrant

Introduction

Type 2 diabetes (T2D) in Chinese Americans is a significant health concern for the US health care system [1-3]. According to a recent epidemiological survey, 43.1%, or 1 out of every 2, Chinese Americans in New York City (NYC) have T2D or prediabetes [3]. The majority of Chinese Americans with T2D are foreign-born older immigrants with limited English proficiency and health literacy [3-6].

Once diagnosed with T2D, Chinese immigrants demonstrate poorer self-management and worse glycemic control [4,5,7-9], and are more likely to develop end-stage renal disease [7,10]. In a recent study of racial and ethnic minorities with T2D in NYC [5], Chinese immigrants performed an average of 3.80 (SD 0.13) capillary glucose checks per week, compared to 11.88 (SD 0.57) checks per week for Hispanic individuals and 10.29 (SD 0.29) checks per week for Black individuals. The mean number of yearly hemoglobin A_{1c} (HbA_{1c}) checks was 1.16 (SD 0.15) for Chinese immigrants, 3.31 (SD 0.14) for Hispanic individuals, and 3.23 (SD 0.18) for Black individuals [5].

Diabetes self-management education and counseling programs are effective interventions for diabetes control [11,12]. However, numerous factors limit the access of such programs to Chinese immigrants. While 76.6% of Chinese immigrants report limited English proficiency [13], there is a shortage of language-concordant clinicians and limited language access or medical interpretation [14-17]. Differing cultural norms may limit the relevance and effectiveness of diabetes care and counseling delivered by non-Chinese clinicians or interpreters [6,14,18-20]. Moreover, comprehensive diabetes counseling is impeded by the limited amount of time patients are able to spend with clinicians [15]. As a result, Chinese immigrants often report having unmet information needs for their T2D management [15,17].

Mobile health (mHealth) technology may be a promising way to address some of the previously mentioned barriers and reduce T2D health disparities. Research demonstrates SMS text messaging-based interventions improve glycemic control in patients with T2D, including minority populations [21-24]. SMS text messaging and social media strategies may be particularly relevant for immigrant populations given their high social needs to stay connected with their families and friends in their home countries [25]. To our knowledge, no studies have examined social media-based mHealth interventions in Chinese immigrants with T2D. Little is known regarding access to, use of, and attitudes toward mHealth in this fast-growing immigrant population. While it is often assumed that underserved, low-income immigrant communities have limited access to

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e27355

technology or would not have interest in telehealth programs [26], there is a paucity of empirical data on these subjects. With the rapid growth of telehealth programs over the past few years, it is critical to understand immigrant communities' access to technology, use of technology for disease management, and interest in future mHealth programs. To address this knowledge gap, this study aims to examine mobile device ownership, social media use, current use of mHealth interventions, and interest in using such technology for T2D management among Chinese immigrants.

Methods

Conceptual Framework

This pilot study was informed by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) Stage Model for Behavioral Intervention Development [27] and the National Cancer Institute's (NCI) Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS) framework [28]. The NIH Stage Model posits that Stage 0 formative data is critical and can provide important preliminary data to inform Stage I intervention development and evaluation. There is a dearth of culturally tailored interventions to address T2D disparities in low-income older Chinese immigrants. This pilot study examined whether this underserved immigrant population has access to technology and how they access health information. These are critical formative data to collect before allocating resources to developing or testing an intervention.

In addition, we used the HINTS framework [28] to guide the choices of survey questions. Based on the HINTS framework, patients' health information–seeking behavior is affected by various factors, including patient characteristics (eg, age, gender, socioeconomic status), prior experience with information-seeking, attitudes toward the source, and other contextual factors (eg, access to mobile technologies and Wi-Fi).

Study Design

For this cross-sectional study, Chinese immigrants with T2D were recruited from 4 community centers in Chinatown areas in NYC. Study flyers were posted in the community centers. Community leaders introduced the study at social events sponsored by the centers, and interested participants self-referred to study staff who attended the events.

To be eligible for the study, participants had to (1) self-identify as a Chinese immigrant or Chinese American, (2) be 18 years of age or older, (3) self-report that they had been diagnosed with T2D over a year ago, and (4) be currently self-managing T2D at home. This study was approved by the New York University Grossman School of Medicine Institutional Review Board. All participants provided signed informed consent. All

XSL•FO

study materials were available in English, Mandarin, and Cantonese. Surveys were administered face-to-face by bilingual study staff in the participant's preferred language. Participants received US \$20 gift cards as an incentive for completing the survey.

Measures

Sociodemographic Characteristics

Age, gender, marital status, education, income, employment status, duration of residence in the United States, language spoken at home, and English proficiency were assessed.

Technology-Related Questions

Measures on technology use were adapted from the HINTS framework, including questions assessing access to technology, current social media use, current use of technology for health management, interest in mHealth interventions, and family or friends' involvement and interest in mHealth interventions.

Access to Technology

Using questions adapted from the HINTS framework, we assessed mobile device ownership (basic cell phones, smartphones, tablets, or none) and access to Wi-Fi at home (yes, no, or don't know/not sure). For those who owned a smartphone or tablet, we also asked whether they had an unlimited text messaging plan.

Current Social Media Use

Current use of social media platforms and SMS text messaging was assessed by asking participants whether they currently used WhatsApp, WeChat (a Chinese version of WhatsApp), basic text messaging, Facebook, or other social media platforms.

Current Use of Technology for Health Management

We assessed the extent to which participants relied on technology by asking them to identify their primary source of information for diabetes-related questions. Response options included health care providers; the internet; family, friends, or coworkers; newspapers; and do not seek help. We also asked whether they had used the internet to search for diabetes-related information in the past 12 months and whether they had used mobile phones or computers to watch a health-related video in the past 12 months.

Interest in Future mHealth Programs

Participants were asked whether they would be interested in participating in a future mHealth program for T2D self-management.

Family and Friends' Involvement and Interest in mHealth Interventions

Given the importance of family ties in the Chinese culture [6,18,20], we assessed participants' perceptions of their family's or friends' interest in mHealth interventions. Specifically, we asked whether participants discussed their T2D with others and if so, whether these family members or friends would be interested in receiving mHealth interventions to better support the patient in their T2D self-management efforts.

Statistical Analyses

We recruited 101 participants between April 2018 and July 2018. Data analyses were limited to 91 participants with complete data from the technology use survey. Descriptive statistics were used to examine the distribution of sociodemographic variables in addition to technology ownership and use, whether participants had accessed a health-related video, and attitudes toward mHealth interventions. Means and standard deviations were calculated for continuous variables. Frequencies and percentages were reported for categorical variables. Sample characteristics were summarized. We performed all analyses with SPSS, version 25.0 (IBM Corp).

Results

As shown in Table 1, the sample was composed of primarily low-income, married, foreign-born, elderly females with limited education, who had long-standing T2D. Most participants reported having lived in the United States for nearly 2 decades and having limited English proficiency.



Hu et al

Table 1. Sample characteristics (N=91) and access to technology, current use, and interest in mHealth interventions among older Chinese immigrants with type 2 diabetes.

with type 2 diabetes.	
Characteristic	Value
Age in years, mean (SD)	70 (11)
Age >65 years, n (%)	61 (67)
Gender, n (%)	
Female	57 (63)
Male	34 (37)
Currently married, n (%)	68 (75)
High school education or less, n (%)	58 (64)
Annual family income, n (%)	
≤US \$25,000	63 (69)
≥US \$25,000	12 (13)
Declined to answer or don't know	16 (18)
Employment status, n (%)	
Currently employed	30 (33)
Not employed, not working	9 (10)
Retired	52 (57)
Foreign-born, n (%)	91 (100)
Number of years living in the United States, mean (SD)	19 (14)
Limited English proficiency	78 (86)
Mobile device ownership, n (%)	
Basic mobile phone	20 (22)
Smartphone	72 (79)
Tablet	49 (54)
Has a mobile device (basic mobile phone or smart device)	90 (99)
Has a smart device (smartphone or tablet)	83 (91)
Social media platforms (including text messaging) currently used by participant , n	(%)
WeChat	65 (71)
Basic SMS text messaging via cellular carrier	62 (68)
WhatsApp	4 (4)
Has Wi-Fi installed in home, n (%)	66 (73)
Has unlimited SMS text messaging plan, n (%)	
Yes	36 (40)
No	41 (45)
Don't know	13 (14)
Did not answer	1 (1)
Primary source of diabetes-related information, n (%)	
Health care provider	63 (69)
The internet	13 (14)
Family, friends, or coworkers	10 (11)
Newspapers	4 (4)
Do not seek help	1 (1)
Has used the internet to look for information about diabetes in the past 12 months, n $(\%)$	21 (23)

XSL•FO RenderX

Characteristic	Value
Has watched a health-related video in the past 12 months, n (%)	34 (37)
Is interested in receiving mHealth interventions for T2D, n (%)	69 (76)
Has family/friends to talk to about their T2D, n (%)	62 (68)
Family/friends interested in receiving mHealth interventions to better support participant ^a , n (%)	50 (81)

^aThis question was only assessed as a follow-up item among 62 participants who reported that they had family or friends to talk to about their T2D. The percentage was calculated accordingly.

Nearly all participants had a smart mobile device, and nearly three-quarters had Wi-Fi access at home. The most commonly used social media platform was WeChat, followed by basic text messaging. Very few participants used WhatsApp, and none reported using Facebook, Twitter, or Instagram.

The majority reported that their primary source for diabetes-related information is health care clinicians, with few participants reporting their first sources of information are the internet, family, friends, or coworkers. Less than one-quarter of the sample reported using the internet to search for diabetes-related information in the past 12 months. About one-third of the sample reported that they had watched a health-related video on their cell phone or computer in the past 12 months.

Despite the fact that the majority of participants were low-income older immigrants with limited education, over three-quarters expressed interest in receiving T2D management mHealth interventions in the future. About two-thirds reported having family or friends to talk to about their T2D. Of these, a large majority agreed that family or friends would be interested in receiving mHealth interventions to learn how to best support them in their efforts to manage their T2D.

Discussion

Principal Findings

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study that provides data on technology ownership, current use, and interest in mHealth interventions in underserved Chinese immigrants with T2D. Although the majority of study participants were older immigrants with low income and limited education, they demonstrated high mobile device ownership and familiarity with a particular social media platform (ie, WeChat). This finding is consistent with a previous study reporting high social media use among immigrant populations to connect with their families and friends in their home countries [25]. Our data are also consistent with recent survey results from the Pew Research Center showing that about 95% of White, Hispanic, and Black American adults owned a cell phone and 80% had a smartphone [29]. The wide availability of mobile devices suggests a promising platform to increase access and deliver diabetes messaging and support to this underserved population [30]. Of particular note, Chinese immigrants are familiar with WeChat, a popular free Chinese social media app, and rarely used WhatsApp, Facebook, or Twitter. These data suggest that researchers may want to consider leveraging WeChat for this population in the future.

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e27355
```

Despite high smart device ownership and internet access, the use of technology for health-related purposes was low in our sample. While about 70% of US adults considered the internet as their top source for health information [31], only 14% (13/91) of participants in our sample did, with the majority relying on health care providers. Compared to about 80% of US adults using the internet to search for health-related information [32], less than one-quarter of our sample (21/91, 23%) did so in the past 12 months. One interesting finding to note is that while the use of the internet to search for health-related information was much lower in our sample than the general US population, the proportion of participants who had watched a health-related video in the past 12 months was comparable [33]. This may be related to the high use of WeChat in our sample, which permits sharing of videos via chat windows. Our study found that almost 80% (69/91, 76%) of this relatively elderly sample reported interest in receiving mHealth videos in the future to help with T2D management. Taken together, these data suggest future researchers may want to consider leveraging multimedia strategies (eg, brief videos) to increase access and uptake of T2D-related education and counseling in this population.

The success of T2D management depends largely on the social and environmental contexts in which patients live and perform diabetes self-care [34,35]. When patients with T2D live in a supportive family context (eg, the family embraces a lifestyle consistent with the needs of the patient with T2D), they are more likely to receive social and emotional support for self-management, adhere to diabetes self-care requirements, and achieve better glycemic control [36]. Patients with T2D living in nonsupportive family environments (eg, family members undermine the patient's efforts) have more difficulty initiating and sustaining recommended diabetes self-care behaviors, experience more diabetes-related distress, and report lower self-efficacy for self-management success [36,37]. Involving family members may be a useful strategy, given our finding that most participants discussed their T2D with family and friends, and believed their family and friends would be interested in receiving mHealth-based guidance to better support the participant's self-management efforts.

Our findings provide valuable implications in the era of the COVID-19 pandemic. It is well-documented that COVID-19 disproportionately affects racial and ethnic minorities and immigrant communities [38-40]. The social isolation and loneliness resulting from prolonged safety measures (eg, social distancing, stay-at-home orders) is particularly concerning for older individuals and those with T2D who are at high risk of poor COVID-19 outcomes [41]. A high rate of mobile device

ownership and strong interest in mHealth interventions among older Chinese immigrants with T2D may represent a window of opportunity for low-cost mHealth interventions to reduce diabetes burden and improve self-management outcomes in this rapidly growing immigrant group in the era of COVID-19.

Limitations and Strengths

There are several limitations to be acknowledged. This study involved a relatively small, convenient sample. Participants were recruited from the NYC metropolitan area, limiting generalizability to other locations. Because recruitment was accomplished through community-based organizations, the results may not be representative of all Chinese Americans receiving care through primary care or hospital settings. Participants in this study had, on average, lived in the United States for almost 20 years. These results may not be applicable to newly arrived immigrants who might be less acculturated or less familiar with western approaches for T2D management.

Several strengths should also be noted. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study that provides data on technology use in older low-income Chinese immigrants with T2D. These data are particularly relevant during the COVID-19 pandemic. Our data on the high usage of WeChat and basic text messages and rare usage of WhatsApp suggested future researchers may consider choosing linguistically and culturally tailored platforms to engage racial and ethnic minorities. In addition, Chinese immigrants have been reported to be a hard-to-reach population for research participation [42,43]. We partnered with several trusted community organizations and successfully recruited 101 Chinese immigrants within 4 months (April 2018 to July 2018).

This study is important in that it focuses on a fast-growing, yet significantly understudied immigrant population [44]. While telehealth and telemedicine programs are rapidly growing in the era of the COVID-19 pandemic, low-income, underserved populations, particularly older immigrants with limited English proficiency, are often overlooked because it is assumed that they do not have access to technology and have limited interest in telehealth programs [26]. This study serves as a first step to dispel these myths and demonstrates that access to technology is not a major issue and that interest in mHealth programs is high. Our research team is currently testing a WeChat-based culturally and linguistically tailored diabetes video program in this underserved, older, low-income immigrant population.

Conclusions

This study addressed a critical gap in the literature with regard to technology ownership and use of and attitudes toward mHealth in a relatively older immigrant population with T2D. While current telehealth use remained low, the high mobile device ownership and social media use and strong interest in mHealth programs suggests that mHealth may be a promising approach to deliver health education and increase access to diabetes support to this fast-growing minority group. This study also provides timely preliminary data in the era of COVID-19 as older immigrant communities are among the hardest hit populations. With the rapid shift to telemedicine strategies, it is important for health care policymakers, clinicians, community partners, and researchers to consider how to leverage existing technologies to reduce health disparities and increase access to health care in this underserved population.

Acknowledgments

This research is supported in part by the National Institutes of Health (Grants U54MD000538-15, K99MD012811, R00MD012811, and P30DK111022).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. McNeely MJ, Boyko EJ. Type 2 diabetes prevalence in Asian Americans: results of a national health survey. Diabetes Care 2004 Jan;27(1):66-69. [doi: 10.2337/diacare.27.1.66] [Medline: 14693968]
- Thorpe LE, Upadhyay UD, Chamany S, Garg R, Mandel-Ricci J, Kellerman S, et al. Prevalence and control of diabetes and impaired fasting glucose in New York City. Diabetes Care 2009 Jan;32(1):57-62 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc08-0727] [Medline: 19114627]
- Rajpathak SN, Wylie-Rosett J. High prevalence of diabetes and impaired fasting glucose among Chinese immigrants in New York City. J Immigr Minor Health 2011 Feb;13(1):181-183 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10903-010-9356-2] [Medline: 20533090]
- 4. Xu Y, Pan W, Liu H. Self-management practices of Chinese Americans with type 2 diabetes. Nurs Health Sci 2010 Jun;12(2):228-234. [doi: 10.1111/j.1442-2018.2010.00524.x] [Medline: 20602696]
- Islam NS, Kwon SC, Wyatt LC, Ruddock C, Horowitz CR, Devia C, et al. Disparities in diabetes management in Asian Americans in New York City compared with other racial/ethnic minority groups. Am J Public Health 2015 Jul;105 Suppl 3:S443-S446 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2014.302523] [Medline: 25905853]
- Chesla CA, Chun KM. Accommodating type 2 diabetes in the Chinese American family. Qual Health Res 2005 Feb;15(2):240-255. [doi: <u>10.1177/1049732304272050</u>] [Medline: <u>15611206</u>]

- 7. Ma RCW, Chan JCN. Type 2 diabetes in East Asians: similarities and differences with populations in Europe and the United States. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2013 Apr;1281:64-91 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/nyas.12098] [Medline: 23551121]
- 8. Brown AF, Gregg EW, Stevens MR, Karter AJ, Weinberger M, Safford MM, et al. Race, ethnicity, socioeconomic position, and quality of care for adults with diabetes enrolled in managed care: the Translating Research Into Action for Diabetes (TRIAD) study. Diabetes Care 2005 Dec;28(12):2864-2870. [doi: 10.2337/diacare.28.12.2864] [Medline: 16306546]
- Herman WH, Dungan KM, Wolffenbuttel BHR, Buse JB, Fahrbach JL, Jiang H, et al. Racial and ethnic differences in mean plasma glucose, hemoglobin A1c, and 1,5-anhydroglucitol in over 2000 patients with type 2 diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2009 May;94(5):1689-1694. [doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-1940] [Medline: 19276235]
- Lanting LC, Joung IMA, Mackenbach JP, Lamberts SWJ, Bootsma AH. Ethnic differences in mortality, end-stage complications, and quality of care among diabetic patients: a review. Diabetes Care 2005 Sep;28(9):2280-2288. [Medline: <u>16123507</u>]
- Powers M, Bardsley J, Cypress M, Duker P, Funnell MM, Fischl AH, et al. Diabetes self-management education and support in type 2 diabetes: a joint position statement of the American Diabetes Association, the American Association of Diabetes Educators, and the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics. J Acad Nutr Diet 2015 Aug;115(8):1323-1334. [doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2015.05.012] [Medline: 26054423]
- Haas L, Maryniuk M, Beck J, Cox CE, Duker P, Edwards L, 2012 Standards Revision Task Force. National standards for diabetes self-management education and support. Diabetes Care 2012 Nov;35(11):2393-2401 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc12-1707] [Medline: 22995096]
- 13. Info brief for NYC's foreign-born, 2000-2015. The Official Website of the City of New York. 2017. URL: <u>https://www1.</u> <u>nyc.gov/assets/planning/download/pdf/about/dcp-priorities/data-expertise/nyc-foreign-born-info-brief.pdf?r=1</u> [accessed 2017-09-20]
- 14. Ho EY, Chesla CA, Chun KM. Health communication with Chinese Americans about type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Educ 2012;38(1):67-76. [doi: 10.1177/0145721711428774] [Medline: 22127677]
- Hsu W, Cheung S, Ong E, Wong K, Lin S, Leon K, et al. Identification of linguistic barriers to diabetes knowledge and glycemic control in Chinese Americans with diabetes. Diabetes Care 2006 Feb;29(2):415-416. [doi: <u>10.2337/diacare.29.02.06.dc05-1915</u>] [Medline: <u>16443897</u>]
- 16. Ho EY, Tran H, Chesla CA. Assessing the cultural in culturally sensitive printed patient-education materials for Chinese Americans with type 2 diabetes. Health Commun 2015;30(1):39-49 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2013.835216] [Medline: 24446839]
- King GL, McNeely MJ, Thorpe LE, Mau MLM, Ko J, Liu LL, et al. Understanding and addressing unique needs of diabetes in Asian Americans, native Hawaiians, and Pacific Islanders. Diabetes Care 2012 May;35(5):1181-1188 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc12-0210] [Medline: 22517939]
- 18. Chun KM, Chesla CA. Cultural issues in disease management for chinese americans with type 2 diabetes. Psychol Health 2004 Dec;19(6):767-785. [doi: 10.1080/08870440410001722958]
- 19. Chun KM, Chesla CA, Kwan CM. "So we adapt step by step": acculturation experiences affecting diabetes management and perceived health for Chinese American immigrants. Soc Sci Med 2011 Jan;72(2):256-264 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.11.010] [Medline: 21147509]
- 20. Chesla C, Chun K, Kwan C. Cultural and family challenges to managing type 2 diabetes in immigrant Chinese Americans. Diabetes Care 2009;32(10):1812-1816. [doi: 10.2337/dc09-0278]
- Kitsiou S, Paré G, Jaana M, Gerber B. Effectiveness of mHealth interventions for patients with diabetes: an overview of systematic reviews. PLoS One 2017;12(3):e0173160 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0173160] [Medline: 28249025]
- Dick J, Nundy S, Solomon M, Bishop K, Chin M, Peek M. Feasibility and usability of a text message-based program for diabetes self-management in an urban African-American population. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2011 Sep 01;5(5):1246-1254 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/193229681100500534] [Medline: 22027326]
- Fortmann AL, Gallo LC, Garcia MI, Taleb M, Euyoque JA, Clark T, et al. Dulce Digital: an mHealth SMS-based intervention improves glycemic control in Hispanics with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2017 Oct;40(10):1349-1355. [doi: 10.2337/dc17-0230] [Medline: 28600309]
- 24. Levy N, Orzeck-Byrnes N, Aidasani SR, Moloney DN, Nguyen LH, Park A, et al. Transition of a text-based insulin titration program from a randomized controlled trial into real-world settings: implementation study. J Med Internet Res 2018;20(3):e93 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9515] [Medline: 29555621]
- 25. Welcoming Center for New Pennsylvanians. Digital diaspora: how immigrants are capitalizing on today's technology. Immigration Research Library: The Immigrant Learning Center. 2012. URL: <u>https://www.immigrationresearch.org/report/other/digital-diaspora-how-immigrants-are-capitalizing-todays-technology</u> [accessed 2022-01-27]
- 26. Velasquez D, Mehrotra A. Ensuring the growth of telehealth during COVID-19 does not exacerbate disparities in care. Health Affairs. URL: <u>https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hblog20200505.591306/full/</u> [accessed 2022-01-27]
- Onken LS, Carroll KM, Shoham V, Cuthbert BN, Riddle M. Reenvisioning clinical science: unifying the discipline to improve the public health. Clin Psychol Sci 2014 Jan 01;2(1):22-34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2167702613497932] [Medline: 25821658]

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e27355
```

- Nelson D, Kreps G, Hesse B, Croyle R, Willis G, Arora N, et al. The Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS): development, design, and dissemination. J Health Commun 2004;9(5):443-60; discussion 81. [doi: 10.1080/10810730490504233] [Medline: 15513791]
- 29. Mobile fact sheet. Pew Research Center. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/mobile/</u> [accessed 2022-01-27]
- Mayberry LS, Lyles CR, Oldenburg B, Osborn CY, Parks M, Peek ME. mHealth interventions for disadvantaged and vulnerable people with type 2 diabetes. Curr Diab Rep 2019 Nov 25;19(12):148-170 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11892-019-1280-9] [Medline: 31768662]
- Swoboda C, Van Hulle JM, McAlearney A, Huerta T. Odds of talking to healthcare providers as the initial source of healthcare information: updated cross-sectional results from the Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS). BMC Fam Pract 2018 Aug 29;19(1):146 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12875-018-0805-7] [Medline: 30157770]
- 32. Jabson JM, Patterson JG, Kamen C. Understanding health information seeking on the internet among sexual minority people: cross-sectional analysis from the Health Information National Trends Survey. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2017 Jun 19;3(2):e39 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/publichealth.7526] [Medline: 28630036]
- 33. Langford A, Loeb S. Perceived patient-provider communication quality and sociodemographic factors associated with watching health-related videos on YouTube: a cross-sectional analysis. J Med Internet Res 2019 May 17;21(5):e13512 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13512] [Medline: 31102372]
- 34. Ryan P, Sawin K. The Individual and Family Self-Management Theory: background and perspectives on context, process, and outcomes. Nurs Outlook 2009;57(4):217-225.e6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.outlook.2008.10.004] [Medline: 19631064]
- 35. Mayberry LS, Harper KJ, Osborn CY. Family behaviors and type 2 diabetes: what to target and how to address in interventions for adults with low socioeconomic status. Chronic Illn 2016 Apr 19:199-215. [doi: 10.1177/1742395316644303] [Medline: 27099387]
- 36. Mayberry LS, Osborn CY. Family involvement is helpful and harmful to patients' self-care and glycemic control. Patient Educ Couns 2014 Dec;97(3):418-425 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2014.09.011] [Medline: 25282327]
- Mayberry LS, Osborn CY. Family support, medication adherence, and glycemic control among adults with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2012 Jun;35(6):1239-1245 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc11-2103] [Medline: 22538012]
- Webb Hooper M, Nápoles AM, Pérez-Stable EJ. COVID-19 and racial/ethnic disparities. JAMA 2020 Jun 23;323(24):2466-2467. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2020.8598</u>] [Medline: <u>32391864</u>]
- Page K, Venkataramani M, Beyrer C, Polk S. Undocumented U.S. immigrants and Covid-19. N Engl J Med 2020 May 21;382(21):e62. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMp2005953</u>] [Medline: <u>32220207</u>]
- 40. Ross J, Diaz C, Starrels J. The disproportionate burden of COVID-19 for immigrants in the Bronx, New York. JAMA Intern Med 2020 Aug 01;180(8):1043-1044. [doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.2131] [Medline: 32383754]
- 41. Wu B. Social isolation and loneliness among older adults in the context of COVID-19: a global challenge. Glob Health Res Policy 2020;5:27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s41256-020-00154-3] [Medline: 32514427]
- 42. Godden S, Ambler G, Pollock A. Recruitment of minority ethnic groups into clinical cancer research trials to assess adherence to the principles of the Department of Health Research Governance Framework: national sources of data and general issues arising from a study in one hospital trust in England. J Med Ethics 2010 Jun;36(6):358-362. [doi: 10.1136/jme.2009.033845] [Medline: 20439335]
- 43. Taylor-Piliae R, Froelicher E. Methods to optimize recruitment and retention to an exercise study in Chinese immigrants. Nurs Res 2007;56(2):132-136. [doi: <u>10.1097/01.NNR.0000263971.46996.14</u>] [Medline: <u>17356444</u>]
- 44. Yi S. Taking action to improve Asian American health. Am J Public Health 2020 Apr;110(4):435-437. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2020.305596] [Medline: 32160000]

Abbreviations

HbA_{1c}: hemoglobin A_{1c}
HINTS: Health Information National Trends Survey
mHealth: mobile health
NCI: National Cancer Institute
NIH: National Institutes of Health
T2D: type 2 diabetes



Edited by J Wang; submitted 22.01.21; peer-reviewed by C Emezue, S Mukherjee; comments to author 11.02.21; revised version received 28.04.21; accepted 23.12.21; published 02.02.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Hu L, Trinh-Shevrin C, Islam N, Wu B, Cao S, Freeman J, Sevick MA Mobile Device Ownership, Current Use, and Interest in Mobile Health Interventions Among Low-Income Older Chinese Immigrants With Type 2 Diabetes: Cross-sectional Survey Study JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e27355 URL: https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e27355 doi:10.2196/27355 PMID:35107426

©Lu Hu, Chau Trinh-Shevrin, Nadia Islam, Bei Wu, Shimin Cao, Jincong Freeman, Mary Ann Sevick. Originally published in JMIR Aging (https://aging.jmir.org), 02.02.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

COVID-19's Influence on Information and Communication Technologies in Long-Term Care: Results From a Web-Based Survey With Long-Term Care Administrators

Amy M Schuster^{1*}, MSW, PhD; Shelia R Cotten^{1*}, PhD

Department of Sociology, Anthropology, and Criminal Justice, Clemson University, Clemson, SC, United States ^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Amy M Schuster, MSW, PhD Department of Sociology, Anthropology, and Criminal Justice Clemson University 132 Brackett Hall Clemson, SC, 29634 United States Phone: 1 904 294 7893 Email: <u>amschus@clemson.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: The prevalence of COVID-19 in the United States led to mandated lockdowns for long-term care (LTC) facilities, resulting in loss of in-person contact with social ties for LTC residents. Though information and communication technologies (ICTs) can be used by LTC residents to support their socioemotional needs, residents must have access to ICTs to use them.

Objective: This study explored ICT access and use in LTC facilities and how LTC facilities adapted to try to enhance social connections for their residents during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Methods: LTC administrators in South Carolina (United States) were invited to complete a web-based survey exploring ICT access and use in LTC facilities and whether access and use changed as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Results: LTC administrators (N=70, 12 nursing homes [NHs], and 58 assisted living facilities [ALFs]) completed the web-based survey. Since March 2020, a total of 53% (37/70) of the LTC facilities have purchased ICTs for residents' use. ICTs have mainly been used for videoconferencing with family members (31/36, 86%), friends (25/36, 69%), and health care providers (26/36, 72%). NHs were 10.23 times more likely to purchase ICTs for residents' use during the COVID-19 pandemic than ALFs (odds ratio 11.23, 95% CI 1.12-113.02; P=.04). Benefits of ICT use included residents feeling connected to their family members, friends, and other residents. Barriers to ICT use included staff not having time to assist residents with using the technology, nonfunctional technology, and residents who do not want to share technology.

Conclusions: Our results suggest that over half of the LTC facilities in this study were able to acquire ICTs for their residents to use during the COVID-19 pandemic. Additional research is needed to explore how residents adapted to using the ICTs and whether LTC facilities developed and adopted technology integration plans, which could help them be prepared for future situations that may affect LTC residents' engagement and communication opportunities, such as another pandemic.

(JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e32442) doi:10.2196/32442

KEYWORDS

COVID-19; pandemic; socioemotional needs; long-term care; nursing home facility; assisted living facility; elderly; older adults; information and communication technologies; support; emotion; needs; access; connection; communication; engagement

Introduction

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, nursing homes (NHs), assisted living facilities (ALFs), and other long-term care (LTC) facilities were required to restrict access to the public since March 2020 [1]. Many of these communities were not prepared

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32442

RenderX

to operate in this type of emergency as they were faced with personal protective equipment and staff shortages [2]. LTC facilities were even less prepared for the increased socioemotional needs, which arose for residents due to the loss of in-person contact with family and friends because of the mandated facility lockdown [3-5].

Loneliness and social isolation have long been salient issues for LTC facilities [6,7]. Change in residence, the death of family members and friends, and increased medical needs have been associated with increased loneliness and isolation among LTC residents [6,8-13]. As a way to address residents' quality of life, LTC facilities abide by federal regulations to facilitate resident communication opportunities with people within and outside of the facility. For example, nursing homes are federally mandated to provide telephone access for each resident and are required to provide internet access if it is available at the facility [14]. In addition to following federal regulations, some LTC facilities have also started to incorporate information and communication technologies (ICTs) for residents' use in the facility [15-17]. ICTs are devices and applications that provide the potential for unlimited connectivity and communication through technology such as desktop computers, laptops, tablets, smartphones, the internet, social media platforms, and videoconferencing [16,18]. Some segment of LTC residents can use ICTs, although residents' age, education level, interest in technology, and level of care may influence ICT use (Seifert A and Cotton S, unpublished data, 2021) [19,20].

The advent of the COVID-19 pandemic and the mandated LTC lockdowns necessitated that LTC facilities determine ways to help residents stay engaged with their social ties [21] and continue to receive medical care [22-24]. Most studies examining how the COVID-19 pandemic has affected the lives of older adults have concentrated on community-dwelling adults. Among the COVID-19–related studies on LTC [25], the main focus has been on the medical circumstances (eg, cases, outbreaks, and personal protective equipment) pertaining COVID-19 [2,26-41], LTC employees [2,42-47], communication with family members [36,48], or provision of training on LTC issues related to the COVID-19 pandemic [24,49,50].

Among studies focusing on ICT access and use by LTC residents since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, almost none have examined ICT changes that facilities have implemented to address the potential socioemotional impacts on residents. ICTs have been used for telehealth purposes in medical screening and health care management of LTC residents [48,51-53]. A few studies have examined how LTC residents used ICTs for social purposes to communicate with those outside of the LTC facility. Telephone calls were reported by family members of LTC residents as the primary method of communication with LTC residents [54,55], followed by texting [54] and videoconferencing [54,55] during the mandatory lockdown. However, LTC residents reported that they preferred videoconferencing with family members rather than telephone calls [56]. Telephone calls were also employed in outreach interventions targeting LTC residents at risk for social isolation during the COVID-19 pandemic [57,58].

Three studies have assessed ICT availability in LTC facilities and use by LTC residents during the COVID-19 pandemic [3,48,59]. Montgomery et al [3] examined ICT use among a sample of 365 nursing home residents and found that 40% of the respondents owned a device, 47% indicated that their nursing home had computers or tablet devices, and 67% said that their nursing home offered free unlimited access to the internet via Wi-Fi. Ickert et al [59] evaluated the ICT resources in 10 care homes in Canada and found that all 10 care homes had tablet devices available for use. However, barriers to use existed, including the following: (1) age of the tablets, which could prevent videoconferencing apps from updating, or image disturbances during videoconferencing and (2) weak Wi-Fi infrastructure resulting in all videoconferencing having to occur in one area of the care home. Staff members were the critical link in facilitating video communication between residents and their family members. Staff members scheduled the videoconferencing visits, helped residents to the area in the home where they could participate in the videoconference call, assisted residents in using the tablets, and cleaned the tablet devices after each use. Marin et al [48] surveyed a staff member at each of the 46 ALFs in Rhode Island, which received donated tablets. Of the 46 ALFs, 11 of the staff members completed a web-based survey 2 weeks after the tablets were distributed. Survey responses indicated that the tablets were predominately used by residents to video chat with their family members (90.9%).

Though these 3 studies provide some insights into availability and use of ICTs in LTC facilities, they do not offer insights into how LTC facilities adapted during the pandemic to lessen potential social isolation and loneliness among their residents. To address this deficiency, this study explored (1) how LTC institutions modified technology access in their facilities and (2) the challenges that arose with these adaptations.

Methods

Recruitment and Data Collection

At the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, the state of South Carolina placed contact limitations for residents of NHs and ALFs (known as community residential care facilities in South Carolina) [60]. Hence, we included both NHs and ALFs in this study as they experienced the same government-mandated restrictions.

LTC administrators in South Carolina were invited to complete a web-based survey from November to December 2020 to explore ICT access and use in LTC facilities and whether access and use changed as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Email contact information for 193 NH and 496 ALF administrators was obtained from the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (DHEC) website [61]. LTC administrators were recruited to participate in the Qualtrics survey through email, which included a secure weblink to access the survey. After sending the initial email request for participation, follow-up emails were sent at 3 days and 13 days. The Qualtrics survey was composed of 20 pages with 1-3 questions per page, there were adaptive questions based on the response to other items, and the survey took approximately 20 minutes to complete. During the survey, participants were able to review and change their answers using a back button. In total, 70 LTC administrators (12 NHs and 58 ALFs; 1 participant per site) completed the Qualtrics survey. Informed consent, which included the estimated time to complete the survey, data protection, the purpose of the study, and the principal investigator, was reviewed prior to the start of the survey. Participation was voluntary, and LTC administrators who chose

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

to participate in the study clicked "yes" in agreement and began the survey. No incentives were offered for participation. This study was reviewed and approved by the university institutional review board.

Measures

Facility Characteristics

Participants were first asked general information about their LTC facility. The type of LTC facility was determined by the name of the facility, "What is the name of your facility?" and which type of LTC facility the name was associated with on the DHEC website [61]. Where the facility was located in South Carolina was assessed by an open-ended question, "In which city is your facility located?" The number of employees was measured with 2 questions: "How many full-time employees does your facility have?" and "How many part-time employees does your facility have?" Response options for both questions ranged from 1 to 100 in intervals of 1 with the final response option of "more than one-hundred." The bed count was assessed numerically with the question, "How many beds does your facility have?" and then converted into size groups (>50 beds, 51-149 beds, 150 or more beds) following standard categorization [62]. Bed occupancy was measured by two questions: "What percentage of beds was occupied in February 2020, prior to COVID-19, in your facility?" and "What is the percentage of beds occupied now in your facility?" For both questions, response options ranged from 5 to 100 in intervals of 5. Facility ownership was assessed by the measure, "What is the ownership type of your facility?" with 3 response options (for profit, nonprofit, and federal or state).

ICT Access and Use

Facility technology preparedness was measured with the question, "How technologically prepared was your organization to address the social distancing need for residents as a result of COVID19?" Response options included the following: "Fully prepared," "Mostly prepared," "Somewhat prepared," and "Not prepared." We then assessed the facility technology capabilities with response options of "Yes," "No," or "Do not know", to the following questions: "Does your facility have internet access?" "Does your facility have WiFi?" "Are residents able to access the internet?" "Are residents able to access WiFi?" and "Does your facility have a dedicated employee who helps residents with technology needs/issues?" Technology provided by the facility for residents' use, prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, was assessed with one question, "Prior to February 2020, which type of technology did your facility provide for residents' use?" Response options included the following: "TV," "Radio," "Desktop computers," "Laptops," "Smartphones," and "Tablets"; respondents could select all that applied. Residents' technology use was measured with a "Yes" or "No" response to "My residents use these technologies: Laptops, tablets, and smartphones." The participants who responded "No" were then prompted with the follow-up question, "Why do you think that residents in your facility do not use laptops/tablets/smartphones?" Response options included, selecting all that apply, the following: "Do not have a need," WiFi/bandwidth "Poor capability/capacity," "Physical

infrastructure of building," "Cost is prohibitive," or "Other (please specify)."

Changes in Facility ICTs, Access, and Use Since the Onset of the COVID-19 Pandemic

Next, we asked technology-related questions about use in the LTC facility since the COVID-19 pandemic. Technology spending was assessed through four questions: (1) "How much did your organization adjust its technology spending for residents due to COVID-19?" with response options including "Increased spending by more than 50%," "Increased spending by 25-50%," "Increased spending less than 25%," "No change," and "Decreased spending"; (2) "Since February 2020, has your facility purchased new technology for residents' use?" with response options including "Yes" and "No." The participants who responded with "Yes" were then prompted with four follow-up questions: "Which technology has been purchased for residents' use?" with response options including "Laptops," "Tablets," "Cellphones," "Smartphones," or "Other (please specify)"; and "What type(s) of funds were used to purchase these devices?" with response options including (select all that apply) "Donation," "the CMS COVID-19 Communicative Technology grant," "Facility funds," or "Other (please specify)." An open-ended question was asked: "Why was this new technology purchased?" Lastly, we asked, "How did residents learn to use this technology?" with response options including "Staff member helped them learn," "Learned on their own," "Another resident helped them learn," and "Other (please specify)." New technology used by residents was assessed through three questions: (1) "How has this technology provided by your organization been used by residents?" with response options including (select all that apply) "Playing games," "Video conferencing," "Email," "Searching for information," "Shopping," and "Other (please specify)." The number of residents using the technology was measured by two questions: "What percentage of residents have used this technology?" and "What percentage of residents have been unable to use the technology provided by your organization due to health or other impairments?" with response options for both questions ranging from 5 to 100, in intervals of 5.

Benefits and Barriers to ICT Use

Finally, resident changes since using technology were measured with two questions including (1) "Have there been any positive changes since residents started to use the new technology?" with response options including (select all that apply) "Decreased negative behaviors from residents," "Residents socializing more," "Residents feel connected to family members," "Residents feel connected to friends," "Family members feel connected to other residents," and "Other (please specify)" and (2) "Have there been any negative changes since residents started to use the new technology?" with response options including (select all that apply) "Staff don't have time to assist residents with technology," "Broken technology," "Stolen technology," "Infection spread due to sharing technology," "Residents do not want to share technology," and "Other (please specify)."

XSL•FO RenderX

Schuster & Cotten

Analysis

Questionnaires that had been completed up to 73% or more were included in the analysis. Given the exploratory nature of this study and the small sample size, the data were initially analyzed descriptively. A binary logistic regression model was used to investigate whether facility characteristics (ie, type, ownership, and bed size) influenced ICTs purchased during the COVID-19 pandemic. In line with the aim of this study, exploring ICT changes in LTC facilities during the pandemic, the dependent variable was the binary measure that assessed whether facilities purchased ICTs for residents' use during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Results

Facility Characteristics

The LTC facilities (N=70) were located throughout South Carolina in the Upstate (25/70, 36%), Low Country (18/70,

Table 1. Facility characteristics.

26%), Midlands (15/70, 21%), and Pee Dee regions (12/70, 17%) (Table 1 and Figure 1). The majority of the facilities were for-profit ownership (54/70, 77%). In total, 58 of the facility administrators that responded were from ALFs, with the remaining 12 administrators being from NHs. In total, 44% (31/70) of the facilities had a medium bed size (26-100 beds). Half of the ALFs (29/58) had 25-100 beds, while 83% (10/12) of the NHs had greater than 100 beds. Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, administrators reported that, on average, 82% (SD 24.4%) of the beds were occupied (Table 2). Since the COVID-19 pandemic, administrators reported, on average, 74% (SD 23.4%) of the beds have been occupied. The facilities had, on average, 37 full-time employees (SD 35.6) and 14 part-time employees (SD 31.1). Most of the administrators (37/70, 57%) thought that their facility was at least mostly technologically prepared to address the social distancing needs for their residents that arose as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Characteristics	Total (n=70), n (%)	Assisted living facilities (n=58), n (%)	Nursing homes (n=12), n (%)
Region in South Carolina			
Low Country	18 (26)	17 (29)	1 (9)
Midlands	15 (21)	12 (21)	3 (25)
Pee Dee	12 (17)	8 (14)	4 (33)
Upstate	25 (36)	21 (36)	4 (33)
Ownership type			
For profit	54 (77)	44 (76)	10 (83)
Nonprofit	13 (19)	11 (19)	2 (17)
Federal or state	3 (4)	3 (5)	0
Bed size			
Small (fewer than 25 beds)	22 (31)	22 (38)	0
Medium (26-100 beds)	31 (44)	29 (50)	2 (17)
Large (101 or more beds)	17 (25)	7 (12)	10 (83)
Facility technology preparedness	a		
Fully prepared	13 (20)	11 (20)	2 (20)
Mostly prepared	24 (37)	21 (39)	3 (30)
Somewhat prepared	23 (35)	18 (33)	5 (50)
Not prepared	5 (8)	5 (9)	0

^aMissing data from 3 assisted living facilities and 2 nursing homes.



Figure 1. Proportion of long-term care facilities participating in this study by regions in South Carolina, United States.



Table 2. Additional facility characteristics.

Characteristics	Score, mean (SD); range	
Percent of beds occupied prior to COVID-19		
Total	82.21 (24.4); 5 to 100	
Assisted living facilities	80.34 (26.4); 5 to 100	
Nursing homes	91.25 (4.8); 80 to 95	
Percent of beds occupied during COVID-19		
Total	73.93 (23.4); 5 to 100	
Assisted living facilities	73.73 (25.5); 5 to 100	
Nursing homes	75.83 (8.2); 60 to 90	
Full-time employees		
Total	37.5 (35.6); 1 to ≥101	
Assisted living facilities	25.6 (26.1); 1 to ≥101	
Nursing homes	95 (9.6); 75 to ≥101	
Part-time employees ^a		
Total ^a	14.5 (19.1); 1 to 76	
Assisted living facilities ^a	11.7 (29.6); 1 to ≥101	
Nursing homes	44.2 (22); 15 to 76	

^aMissing responses from 7 assisted living facilities.

ICT Access and Use

Most of the facilities provided internet (69/70, 99%) and Wi-Fi (66/70, 94%) access, although not all of them allowed residents to access the internet (59/69, 86% compared to 99% who had internet access) and Wi-Fi (57/66, 86% compared to 94% who had Wi-Fi access). Prior to February 2020, the top 2 ICTs provided by LTC facilities for residents' use were televisions (65/67, 97%) and radios (53/67, 79%; Table 3). In total, 33 of

the 70 (47%) facilities have a dedicated employee to provide ICT support to residents. In total, 59% (38/64) of LTC administrators reported that their residents used laptops, 78% (50/64) of LTC administrators reported that their residents used tablet devices, and 96% (61/64) of LTC administrators reported that their residents used smartphones. Of the LTC administrators who reported that their residents did not use laptops, tablet devices, or smartphones, the predominant reasons for nonuse were lack of need (18/35, 51%) or prohibitive cost (7/35, 20%).

Table 3. Access to and use of information and communication technologies.

Technologies	Total (N=70), n (%)	Assisted living facilities (n=58), n (%)	Nursing homes (n=12), n (%)
Internet or Wi-Fi			
Facility has internet access	69 (99)	57 (98)	12 (100)
Residents able to access the internet	59 (86)	47 (82)	12 (100)
Facility has Wi-Fi	66 (94)	54 (93)	12 (100)
Residents able to access the Wi-Fi	57 (86)	46 (85)	11 (92)
Information and communication technologies available for residents to	use ^a		
Television	65 (97)	55 (98)	10 (91)
Radio	53 (79)	47 (84)	6 (55)
Tablet device	24 (36)	19 (34)	5 (45)
Smartphone	20 (30)	17 (30)	3 (27)
Desktop computer	20 (30)	15 (27)	5 (45)
Laptop	17 (25)	12 (21)	5 (45)
Dedicated employee to help residents with information and communication technologies	33 (47)	27 (48)	6 (50)
Information and communication technologies that residents use ^b			
Smartphones	61 (96)	49 (94)	12 (100)
Tablet devices	50 (78)	38 (73)	12 (100)
Laptops	38 (59)	27 (52)	11 (92)
Reason why residents do not use information and communication techn	nologies		
Do not have a need	18 (51)	17 (50)	1 (100)
Cost is prohibitive	7 (20)	7 (21)	0
Poor Wi-Fi, bandwidth capability, or capacity	6 (2)	2 (6)	0
Other (cognitive ability, do not know how, physical disabilities, not supplied by family, or no interest)	11 (31)	11 (32)	0

^aMissing responses from 2 assisted living facilities and 1 nursing home. ^bMissing responses from 6 assisted living facilities.

Changes in Facility ICTs, Access, and Use Since the Onset of the COVID-19 Pandemic

Since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic and the subsequent lockdown of LTC facilities, 61% (43/70) of the LTC administrators reported an increase in technology spending at their facility (Table 4). A majority (37/70, 53%) of the LTC facilities reported purchasing ICTs for their residents. The main way the ICTs were purchased was by using facility funds (29/37, 78%). Though Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services funding was provided for COVID-19 communicative technology grants for NHs, only 45% (5/11) of the nursing home administrators reported using this source of funding to purchase ICTs for their residents. ALF administrators also reported using personal funds, donations, and a small business loan. The top three ICTs purchased by LTC administrators for their residents (nonmutually exclusive) were tablet devices (27/37, 73%), smartphones (8/37, 22%), and laptops (8/37, 22%). In an open-ended question, 35 of the 37 administrators who purchased ICTs during the COVID-19 pandemic reported that the primary reason for purchasing ICTs was to help residents communicate with their family members. Additional reasons for purchasing ICTs included enabling telehealth and providing a secure communication channel for their staff.



Schuster & Cotten

Table 4. Changes in access to and use of inform	ation and communication technologies at facilities since the onset of the COVID-19	pandemic.

Changes	Total (N=70), n (%)	Assisted living facilities (n=58), n (%)	Nursing homes (n=12), n (%)
Change in technology spending			
No change	27 (39)	27 (47)	0
Increased spending less than 25%	20 (29)	16 (28)	4 (33)
Increased spending by 25%-50%	15 (21)	10 (17)	5 (42)
Increased spending by more than 50%	8 (11)	5 (9)	3 (25)
Facility purchased information and communication tech	nologies for residents' us	se	
Yes	37 (53)	26 (45)	11 (92)
No	33 (47)	32 (55)	1 (8)
Among participants who reported purchasing informati technologies for residents' use:	on and communication		
Funds used to purchase information and communic	ation technologies		
Facility funds	29 (78)	21 (81)	8 (73)
The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services COVID-19 communicative technology grant	5 (14)	0	5 (45)
Donations	3 (8)	3 (12)	0
Other (personal funds, small business loans, and residents provided for self)	4 (11)	4 (15)	0
Information and communication technologies purch	ased		
Tablet devices	27 (73)	16 (62)	11 (100)
Smartphones	8 (22)	6 (23)	2 (18)
Laptops	8 (22)	7 (27)	1 (9)
Cellphones	1 (3)	1 (4)	0
Other (Facebook portal, Amazon Echo, Nucleus, Eversound technology, headsets, cords to connect tablets and phones to televisions, and smart televi- sions)	8 (22)	8 (31)	0
How information and communication technologies l	have been used by reside	nts ^a	
Videoconferencing with family members	31 (86)	21 (81)	10 (100)
Videoconferencing with healthcare providers	26 (72)	19 (73)	7 (70)
Videoconferencing with friends	25 (69)	16 (62)	9 (90)
Playing games	10 (28)	8 (31)	2 (20)
Shopping	9 (25)	6 (23)	3 (30)
Searching for information	8 (22)	6 (23)	2 (20)
Email	4 (11)	2 (8)	2 (20)
Other (Pleasure, Telehealth)	3 (8)	3 (12)	0
How residents learned to use information and comm	nunication technologies ^a		
Staff-assisted	35 (97)	25 (96)	10 (100)
Self-taught	6 (17)	3 (12)	3 (30)
Other resident-assisted	4 (11)	3 (12)	1 (10)
Other	1 (3)	0	1 (10)
Do not know	1 (3)	1 (4)	0

^aMissing response from one nursing home.



XSL•FO RenderX

Administrators reported that, on average, 42% (SD 30.4%) of the residents used the technology provided by facilities and 25% (SD 26.4%; Table 5) of the residents were not able to use the technology provided by the facility owing to health or other impairments. Per the LTC administrators, residents have predominately used the newly purchased ICTs for videoconferencing with family members (31/36, 86%), health care providers (26/36, 72%), and friends (25/36, 69%). Residents have also used the ICTs for entertainment such as playing games (10/36, 28%), shopping (9/36, 25%), and searching for information (8/36, 22%). Though most of the LTC facilities did not have a dedicated person to assist residents with technology use, administrators reported that residents mainly learned to use the ICTs with help from LTC staff members (35/36, 97%).

Table 5. Additional changes in access to and use of information and communication technologies among facilities since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic.

	Additional changes	Residents (%), mean (SD); range
_	Used the technology provided by the facility	42.6 (30.4); 0-100
	Unable to use the technology provided by the facility owing to health or other impairments	25.1 (26.4); 0-95

Benefits of and Barriers to ICT Use

The most commonly reported benefits reported by LTC administrators were that using ICTs helped residents feel connected to their family members (26/34, 77%) and friends (16/34, 47%), and using ICTs allowed the residents to socialize

more with others (11/34, 32%; Table 6). Administrators noted barriers to ICT use, such as staff not having time to assist residents with technology, broken technology, and residents who did not want to share technology, although these barriers were each reported by <25% (9/34) of respondents.

Table 6. Benefits of and Barriers to the use of information and communication technologies.

	Total (N=34), n (%)	Assisted living facilities (n=24), n (%)	Nursing homes (n=10), n (%)
Benefits of using information and communication technologies	•		
Residents feel connected to family members	26 (77)	17 (71)	9 (90)
Residents feel connected to friends	16 (47)	11 (46)	5 (50)
Residents are socializing more	11 (32)	9 (38)	2 (20)
Decreased negative behaviors from residents	7 (21)	6 (25)	1 (10)
Residents feel connected to other residents	5 (15)	4 (17)	1 (10)
Other (eased some anxiety for residents and family)	2 (6)	2 (8)	0
Barriers to using information and communication technologies			
Staff do not have time to assist residents with technology	5 (15)	2 (8)	3 (30)
Broken technology	4 (12)	2 (8)	2 (20)
Residents do not want to share technology	2 (6)	1 (4)	1 (10)
Other (not enough devices and staff to help with tech use and residents with dementia)	3 (9)	2 (8)	1 (10)

Results of Binary Logistic Regression Analysis: Relationship Between ICT Purchase During the COVID-19 Pandemic and Facility Characteristics

residents' use during the COVID-19 pandemic (odds ratio 11.23, 95% CI 1.12-113.02; P=.04). None of the other facility characteristics were related to whether LTC facilities purchased ICTs. The overall results of binary regression analysis for ICTs purchased during the COVID-19 pandemic are shown in Table 7.

Binary logistic regression analysis suggest that NHs, compared to ALFs, were 10.23 times more likely to purchase ICTs for

Table 7. Results of binary logistic regression analysis for the relationship between the purchase of information and communication technologies and facility characteristics.

	Odds ratio (SE; 95% CI)	P value	
Type (nursing home)	11.23 (1.18; 1.12-113.02)	.04	
Ownership			
For profit	1.85 (1.28; 0.15- 22.87)	.63	
Nonprofit	0.72 (1.39; 0.05-10.82)	.81	
Bed size	1.00 (0.01; 0.99-1.01)	.68	

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32442

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study is unique in that it presents an institutional perspective regarding how LTC facilities attempted to use ICTs to help address the socioemotional needs of their residents during the COVID-19 pandemic. Although there were some LTC facilities that, prior to the pandemic, provided ICTs for residents' use, corroborating the findings from other prior studies [15,17,19], the advent of the lockdowns led many of the South Carolina facilities in this study to purchase ICTs.

NH administrators had higher odds of reporting that they purchased ICTs than ALF administrators. However, neither facility size nor ownership type were related to whether ICTs were purchased. Larger samples with more diversity in facility size, particularly among NHs, as well as other facility characteristics, might reveal differences that were obscured due to the homogeneity in NH respondent facility sizes in this study.

Since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, most of the LTC facilities in this study purchased ICTs, primarily tablet devices (27/37, 73%), to help enhance resident connection with social ties during the pandemic. Less than a quarter of the LTC facilities purchased smartphones or laptops for residents to use to communicate with friends, family, and health care providers during the lockdown. Although most of the LTC facilities did not have dedicated staff to assist residents in using ICTs, more than 95% (35/37) of the administrators in this study reported that staff helped residents learn to use ICTs during the pandemic to communicate with social ties and related reasons. This suggests that LTC facilities should consider having staff available to assist residents with using ICTs, thus confirming what other studies have suggested [16,18].

Though the LTC administrators in this study reported ICT use by their residents primarily for communication with their social ties, the majority (26/36; 72%) reported that residents used the ICTs for telehealth purposes. Given the high risk of COVID-19 among older adults, telehealth could be an important way for older adults to continue health care with minimal risks. While research is needed to explore how telehealth is used by LTC facilities and LTC residents in more detail, interventions are also needed to help older adults learn to use ICTs to effectively use in general and for telehealth services in particular [16,18].

Strengths and Limitations

This is one of the few studies examining administrators' technology adaptations during the COVID-19 pandemic. The results of this study illustrate the importance of staff members for helping residents to be able to use ICTs, as well as the fact that almost none of the facilities had a dedicated staff person to assist with technology needs at the time of this study. This suggests that facilities should take into account the technological needs of their residents and provide ongoing support to help them maintain their ICT use; prior research has noted the importance of ongoing technical support for older adults to be able to continue to use ICTs over time [16,18,20].

While this study sheds light on ICTs purchased and used in LTC facilities since the start of the pandemic, the data were

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32442
```

collected from LTC facilities in South Carolina, which limits the generalizability of this study. Consistent with the LTC industry, our sample is predominately for profit LTC facilities. However, the majority bed size for both the ALFs and NHs in this study is not representative of the LTC facilities in South Carolina or the United States. Although 50% (29/58) of the ALFs in this study were medium-sized facilities (26-100 beds), the majority of ALFs in the United States (65%) and in South Carolina (46%) are small facilities (25 beds or less). In addition, 83% (10/12) of the NHs in this study were large facilities (101 beds or more), while the majority (64%) of NHs in the United States and in South Carolina (49%) are medium-sized facilities (26-100 beds) [63]. We acknowledge that the number of NHs that participated in the study was very small (n=12). Given the small number of NH administrators in the sample, the results for NHs should be taken with caution. It may be the case that a selection effect occurred with NHs who utilized ICTs in their facilities being more likely to respond to our ICT focused survey. Alternatively, perhaps larger NHs are more likely to have ICT access for their residents.

We found that prior to February 2020, there were NH administrators who reported that their residents used laptops (11/12, 92%), tablets (12/12, 100%), or smartphones (12/12, 100%). However, the number of NH administrators who reported residents having these was very small (n=12). Assisted living administrators also noted that prior to February 2020, their residents used laptops (27/58, 52%), tablet devices (38/58, 73%), and smartphones (49/58, 94%). Given the presence of greater health conditions among NH residents [64,65], compared to ALF residents, we would have expected that smaller percentages of NH residents would have been reported to use ICTs than what was reported in this study.

While the exploratory results of this study are informative in helping to illustrate the range of actions taken and administrators' perceptions of these ICT use impacts on residents, additional data with larger and more diverse samples of LTC administrators as well as other staff members and residents are needed to ascertain if and how various types of LTC facilities adapted to the COVID-19 pandemic to help residents maintain connections to their social ties. Future research should investigate the types and degree of ICTs available for residents' use in a national sample of LTC facilities, as well as identifying how LTC administrators adapted the ICTs available to LTC residents.

Conclusions

LTC facilities were not adequately prepared to support the socioemotional needs of their residents in the event of a federally mandated facility lockdown [3]. ICT use can be a useful tool to help LTC residents maintain contact with social ties either during a pandemic or during nonpandemic times. However, LTC facilities and residents must have ICTs available to use, residents must be skilled in using ICTs, and support must be available to ensure continued use for residents to reap the benefits of their use. We encourage LTC facilities to develop technology integration plans to prepare for future situations that may affect LTC residents' interaction and communication

opportunities, such as another pandemic, and to facilitate residents' use in the present time.

Authors' Contributions

SRC and AMS designed the study. AMS analyzed the data. All authors contributed to and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Guidance for Infection Control and Prevention of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) in nursing homes (REVISED). U.S. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. 2020 Mar 13. URL: <u>https://www.cms.gov/</u> medicareprovider-enrollment-and-certificationsurveycertificationgeninfopolicy-and/
- guidance-infection-control-and-prevention-coronavirus-disease-2019-covid-19-nursing-homes-revised [accessed 2021-12-23]
- McGarry BE, Grabowski DC, Barnett ML. Severe Staffing And Personal Protective Equipment Shortages Faced By Nursing Homes During The COVID-19 Pandemic. Health Aff (Millwood) 2020 Oct;39(10):1812-1821 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2020.01269] [Medline: 32816600]
- Montgomery A, Slocum S, Stanik C. Experiences of Nursing Home Residents During the Pandemic. Altarum. 2020. URL: <u>https://altarum.org/sites/default/files/uploaded-publication-files/</u> Nursing-Home-Resident-Survey Altarum-Special-Report FINAL.pdf [accessed 2021-12-23]
- Piette J, Solway E, Singer D, Kirch M, Kullgren J, Malani P. Loneliness Among Older Adults Before and During the COVID-19 Pandemic. University of Michigan National Poll on Healthy Aging. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.healthyagingpoll.org/</u> reports-more/report/loneliness-among-older-adults-and-during-covid-19-pandemic [accessed 2021-12-23]
- Van der Roest HG, Prins M, van der Velden C, Steinmetz S, Stolte E, van Tilburg TG, et al. The Impact of COVID-19 Measures on Well-Being of Older Long-Term Care Facility Residents in the Netherlands. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2020 Nov;21(11):1569-1570 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2020.09.007] [Medline: 33036911]
- Prieto-Flores M, Forjaz MJ, Fernandez-Mayoralas G, Rojo-Perez F, Martinez-Martin P. Factors associated with loneliness of noninstitutionalized and institutionalized older adults. J Aging Health 2011 Feb 29;23(1):177-194. [doi: 10.1177/0898264310382658] [Medline: 20881107]
- Victor C, Scambler S, Bond J. The Social World of Older People: Understanding Loneliness and Social Isolation in Later Life, Open University Press, McGraw Hill Education, Maidenhead, UK, 272 pp., pbk £22.99, ISBN 13: 978 0 335 21521
 8. Ageing Soc 2009 Sep 18;29(7):1161-1163. [doi: 10.1017/s0144686x09990079]
- Hawkley LC, Hughes ME, Waite LJ, Masi CM, Thisted RA, Cacioppo JT. From social structural factors to perceptions of relationship quality and loneliness: the Chicago health, aging, and social relations study. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2008 Nov;63(6):S375-S384 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geronb/63.6.s375] [Medline: 19092047]
- 9. Savikko N, Routasalo P, Tilvis R, Strandberg T, Pitkälä KH. Predictors and subjective causes of loneliness in an aged population. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 2005;41(3):223-233. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.archger.2005.03.002</u>] [Medline: <u>15908025</u>]
- Theeke LA. Sociodemographic and health-related risks for loneliness and outcome differences by loneliness status in a sample of U.S. older adults. Res Gerontol Nurs 2010 Apr;3(2):113-125. [doi: <u>10.3928/19404921-20091103-99</u>] [Medline: <u>20415360</u>]
- Barbosa Neves B, Sanders A, Kokanović R. "It's the worst bloody feeling in the world": Experiences of loneliness and social isolation among older people living in care homes. J Aging Stud 2019 Jun;49:74-84. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jaging.2019.100785</u>] [Medline: <u>31229221</u>]
- 12. Paque K, Bastiaens H, Van Bogaert P, Dilles T. Living in a nursing home: a phenomenological study exploring residents' loneliness and other feelings. Scand J Caring Sci 2018 Dec;32(4):1477-1484. [doi: 10.1111/scs.12599] [Medline: 30070385]
- Jansson A, Muurinen S, Savikko N, Soini H, Suominen M, Kautiainen H, et al. Loneliness in nursing homes and assisted living facilities: Prevalence, associated factors and prognosis. J Nurs Home Res 2017;3:43-39. [doi: 10.14283/jnhrs.2017.7]
- 14. Compilation Of The Social Security Laws. Social Security. URL: <u>https://www.ssa.gov/OP_Home/comp2/F100-203.html</u> [accessed 2021-12-23]
- 15. Bollinger N. Internet access for residents: Its time has come. Nursing Homes 2001 Apr 01 [FREE Full text]
- 16. Cotten S, Yost E, Berkowsky R, Winstead V, Anderson W. Designing Technology Training for Older Adults in Continuing Care Retirement Communities. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; Dec 01, 2016.
- 17. Tak SH, Beck C, McMahon E. Computer and internet access for long-term care residents: perceived benefits and barriers. J Gerontol Nurs 2007 May;33(5):32-40. [doi: 10.3928/00989134-20070501-06] [Medline: 17511333]
- 18. Cotten SR. Technologies and aging: understanding use, impacts, and future needs. In: Ferraro KF, Carr D, editors. Handbook of Aging and the Social Sciences (9th edition). Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2021:373-392.
- 19. Seifert A, Cotten SR. In care and digitally savvy? Modern ICT use in long-term care institutions. Educ Gerontol 2020 Jun 16;46(8):473-485. [doi: 10.1080/03601277.2020.1776911]

- Zamir S, Hennessy C, Taylor A, Jones R. Intergroup 'Skype' Quiz Sessions in Care Homes to Reduce Loneliness and Social Isolation in Older People. Geriatrics (Basel) 2020 Nov 11;5(4):90 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.3390/geriatrics5040090</u>] [Medline: <u>33187242</u>]
- Seifert A, Cotten S, Xie B. A Double Burden of Exclusion? Digital and Social Exclusion of Older Adults in Times of COVID-19. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2021 Feb 17;76(3):e99-e103 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbaa098] [Medline: 32672332]
- Zhou X, Snoswell CL, Harding LE, Bambling M, Edirippulige S, Bai X, et al. The Role of Telehealth in Reducing the Mental Health Burden from COVID-19. Telemed J E Health 2020 Apr;26(4):377-379. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2020.0068</u>] [Medline: <u>32202977</u>]
- 23. Levere M, Rowan P, Wysocki A. The Adverse Effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Nursing Home Resident Well-Being. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2021 May;22(5):948-954.e2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2021.03.010] [Medline: 33861980]
- 24. Harris DA, Archbald-Pannone L, Kaur J, Cattell-Gordon D, Rheuban KS, Ombres RL, et al. Rapid Telehealth-Centered Response to COVID-19 Outbreaks in Postacute and Long-Term Care Facilities. Telemed J E Health 2021 Jan;27(1):102-106. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2020.0236] [Medline: 32644899]
- 25. Byrd W, Salcher-Konrad M, Smith S, Comas-Herrera A. What Long-Term Care Interventions and Policy Measures Have Been Studied During the Covid-19 Pandemic? Findings from a Rapid Mapping Review of the Scientific Evidence Published During 2020. JLTC 2021 Dec 09(2021):423. [doi: 10.31389/jltc.97]
- 26. Abrams HR, Loomer L, Gandhi A, Grabowski DC. Characteristics of U.S. Nursing Homes with COVID-19 Cases. J Am Geriatr Soc 2020 Aug;68(8):1653-1656 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jgs.16661] [Medline: 32484912]
- An C, Lim H, Kim D, Chang JH, Choi YJ, Kim SW. Machine learning prediction for mortality of patients diagnosed with COVID-19: a nationwide Korean cohort study. Sci Rep 2020 Oct 30;10(1):18716 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-75767-2] [Medline: <u>33127965</u>]
- Bernabeu-Wittel M, Ternero-Vega J, Nieto-Martín MD, Moreno-Gaviño L, Conde-Guzmán C, Delgado-Cuesta J, et al. Effectiveness of a On-site Medicalization Program for Nursing Homes With COVID-19 Outbreaks. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2021 Feb 25;76(3):e19-e27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/gerona/glaa192] [Medline: 32738140]
- Caspi G, Chen J, Liverant-Taub S, Shina A, Caspi O. Heat Maps for Surveillance and Prevention of COVID-19 Spread in Nursing Homes and Assisted Living Facilities. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2020 Jul;21(7):986-988.e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2020.05.048] [Medline: 32674833]
- Chen MK, Chevalier JA, Long EF. Nursing home staff networks and COVID-19. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2021 Jan 07;118(1):e2015455118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1073/pnas.2015455118] [Medline: 33323526]
- 31. Echeverría P, Mas Bergas MA, Puig J, Isnard M, Massot M, Vedia C, et al. COVIDApp as an Innovative Strategy for the Management and Follow-Up of COVID-19 Cases in Long-Term Care Facilities in Catalonia: Implementation Study. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2020 Jul 17;6(3):e21163 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/21163] [Medline: 32629425]
- 32. Lau-Ng R, Caruso LB, Perls TT. COVID-19 Deaths in Long-Term Care Facilities: A Critical Piece of the Pandemic Puzzle. J Am Geriatr Soc 2020 Sep;68(9):1895-1898 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jgs.16669] [Medline: 32501537]
- Li Y, Temkin-Greener H, Shan G, Cai X. COVID-19 Infections and Deaths among Connecticut Nursing Home Residents: Facility Correlates. J Am Geriatr Soc 2020 Sep;68(9):1899-1906 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jgs.16689] [Medline: 32557542]
- 34. Mills WR, Buccola JM, Sender S, Lichtefeld J, Romano N, Reynolds K, et al. Home-Based Primary Care Led-Outbreak Mitigation in Assisted Living Facilities in the First 100 Days of Coronavirus Disease 2019. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2020 Jul;21(7):951-953 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2020.06.014] [Medline: 32674826]
- 35. Iritani O, Okuno T, Hama D, Kane A, Kodera K, Morigaki K, et al. Clusters of COVID-19 in long-term care hospitals and facilities in Japan from 16 January to 9 May 2020. Geriatr Gerontol Int 2020 Jul;20(7):715-719 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/ggi.13973] [Medline: 32634849]
- 36. Shrader CD, Assadzandi S, Pilkerton CS, Ashcraft AM. Responding to a COVID-19 Outbreak at a Long-Term Care Facility. J Appl Gerontol 2021 Jan;40(1):14-17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0733464820959163] [Medline: 32940123]
- Stall NM, Farquharson C, Fan-Lun C, Wiesenfeld L, Loftus CA, Kain D, et al. A Hospital Partnership with a Nursing Home Experiencing a COVID-19 Outbreak: Description of a Multiphase Emergency Response in Toronto, Canada. J Am Geriatr Soc 2020 Jul;68(7):1376-1381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jgs.16625] [Medline: 32441770]
- Sugg MM, Spaulding TJ, Lane SJ, Runkle JD, Harden SR, Hege A, et al. Mapping community-level determinants of COVID-19 transmission in nursing homes: A multi-scale approach. Sci Total Environ 2021 Jan 15;752:141946 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141946] [Medline: 32889290]
- Sun C, Zuccarelli E, Zerhouni EGA, Lee J, Muller J, Scott K, et al. Predicting Coronavirus Disease 2019 Infection Risk and Related Risk Drivers in Nursing Homes: A Machine Learning Approach. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2020 Nov;21(11):1533-1538.e6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2020.08.030] [Medline: 33032935]
- Stow D, Barker R, Matthews F, Hanratty B. National early warning scores (NEWS/NEWS2) and COVID-19 deaths in care homes: a longitudinal ecological study. medRxiv. Preprint posted online June 17, 2020 2020. [doi: 10.1101/2020.06.15.20131516]

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32442
```

- 41. Konetzka RT, White EM, Pralea A, Grabowski DC, Mor V. A systematic review of long-term care facility characteristics associated with COVID-19 outcomes. J Am Geriatr Soc 2021 Oct;69(10):2766-2777 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jgs.17434] [Medline: 34549415]
- 42. Britton B. Case study: WhatsApp support through the COVID-19 pandemic. Nursing and Residential Care 2020 Jul 02;22(7):1-2. [doi: 10.12968/nrec.2020.22.7.8]
- 43. Freidus A, Shenk D. "It Spread Like a Wildfire": Analyzing Affect in the Narratives of Nursing Home Staff During a COVID-19 Outbreak. AA 2020 Dec 14;41(2):199-206. [doi: 10.5195/aa.2020.312]
- 44. Gorges RJ, Konetzka RT. Staffing Levels and COVID-19 Cases and Outbreaks in U.S. Nursing Homes. J Am Geriatr Soc 2020 Nov;68(11):2462-2466 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jgs.16787] [Medline: 32770832]
- Miller V, Fields N, Anderson K, Kusmaul N, Maxwell C. Nursing Home Social Workers Perceptions of Preparedness and Coping for COVID-19. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2021 Mar 14;76(4):e219-e224 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbaa143] [Medline: 32861215]
- 46. Wolf C, Freidus A, Shenk D. Voices from the frontlines in longterm care during COVID-19: Narratives of direct care workers. Innov Aging 2020:4. [doi: <u>10.1093/geroni/igaa057.3515</u>]
- Siu HY, Kristof L, Elston D, Hafid A, Mather F. A cross-sectional survey assessing the preparedness of the long-term care sector to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic in Ontario, Canada. BMC Geriatr 2020 Oct 22;20(1):421 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12877-020-01828-w] [Medline: 33092541]
- Gallo Marin B, Wasserman P, Cotoia J, Singh M, Tarnavska V, Gershon L, et al. Experiences of Rhode Island Assisted Living Facilities in Connecting Residents with Families through Technology During the COVID-19 Pandemic. R I Med J 2020 Oct 01;103(8):59-61 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>33003682</u>]
- Gleason LJ, Beiting KJ, Walker J, Shervani S, Graupner J, Mittal K, et al. Using Telementoring to Share Best Practices on COVID-19 in Post-Acute and Long-Term Care Facilities. J Am Geriatr Soc 2020 Nov;68(11):E58-E60 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jgs.16840] [Medline: 32930390]
- 50. Lipsitz LA, Lujan AM, Dufour A, Abrahams G, Magliozzi H, Herndon L, et al. Stemming the Tide of COVID-19 Infections in Massachusetts Nursing Homes. J Am Geriatr Soc 2020 Nov;68(11):2447-2453 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jgs.16832] [Medline: 32930389]
- Benaque A, Gurruchaga MJ, Abdelnour C, Hernández I, Cañabate P, Alegret M, Research CenterMemory Clinic, Fundació ACE. Dementia Care in Times of COVID-19: Experience at Fundació ACE in Barcelona, Spain. J Alzheimers Dis 2020;76(1):33-40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3233/JAD-200547] [Medline: 32538856]
- 52. Cormi C, Chrusciel J, Laplanche D, Dramé M, Sanchez S. Telemedicine in nursing homes during the COVID-19 outbreak: A star is born (again). Geriatr Gerontol Int 2020 Jun;20(6):646-647 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/ggi.13934] [Medline: 32462676]
- Renzi A, Verrusio W, Messina M, Gaj F. Psychological intervention with elderly people during the COVID-19 pandemic: the experience of a nursing home in Italy. Psychogeriatrics 2020 Nov;20(6):918-919 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/psyg.12594] [Medline: 32770596]
- 54. Monin JK, Ali T, Syed S, Piechota A, Lepore M, Mourgues C, et al. Family Communication in Long-Term Care During a Pandemic: Lessons for Enhancing Emotional Experiences. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2020 Dec;28(12):1299-1307 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2020.09.008] [Medline: 33004262]
- 55. Wammes JD, Kolk MSc D, van den Besselaar Md JH, MacNeil-Vroomen Ph JL, Buurman-van Es Rn BM, van Rijn Ph M. Evaluating Perspectives of Relatives of Nursing Home Residents on the Nursing Home Visiting Restrictions During the COVID-19 Crisis: A Dutch Cross-Sectional Survey Study. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2020 Dec;21(12):1746-1750.e3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2020.09.031] [Medline: 33148480]
- 56. Sacco G, Lléonart S, Simon R, Noublanche F, Annweiler C, TOVID Study Group. Communication Technology Preferences of Hospitalized and Institutionalized Frail Older Adults During COVID-19 Confinement: Cross-Sectional Survey Study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Sep 18;8(9):e21845 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/21845] [Medline: 32896832]
- Office EE, Rodenstein MS, Merchant TS, Pendergrast TR, Lindquist LA. Reducing Social Isolation of Seniors during COVID-19 through Medical Student Telephone Contact. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2020 Jul;21(7):948-950 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2020.06.003] [Medline: 32674825]
- van Dyck LI, Wilkins KM, Ouellet J, Ouellet GM, Conroy ML. Combating Heightened Social Isolation of Nursing Home Elders: The Telephone Outreach in the COVID-19 Outbreak Program. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2020 Sep;28(9):989-992 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2020.05.026] [Medline: 32593495]
- Ickert C, Rozak H, Masek J, Eigner K, Schaefer S. Maintaining Resident Social Connections During COVID-19: Considerations for Long-Term Care. Gerontol Geriatr Med 2020;6:2333721420962669 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2333721420962669] [Medline: <u>33110931</u>]
- Executive Order No. 2020-29. Governor Henry McMaster. URL: <u>https://governor.sc.gov/sites/default/files/Documents/</u> <u>Executive-Budget/2020-04-27% 20eFILED% 20Executive% 20Order% 20No.</u> <u>%202020-29% 20-%20State% 20of% 20Emergency% 20Due% 20to% 20COVID-19% 20Pandemic% 20Response% 20% 26% 20Other% 20Measures.</u> <u>pdf</u> [accessed 2021-12-23]

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32442

- 61. Find a Facility. URL: <u>https://sc-dhec.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.</u> <u>html?id=e8b4eea83cab491bb3e3663093e14656</u> [accessed 2021-12-23]
- 62. Warren S. Final Rule Overhauls Medicare Therapy-Based SNF Payments. Leader 2018 Oct;23(10):26-27. [doi: 10.1044/leader.pa.23102018.26]
- 63. Harris-Kojetin L, Sengupta M, Lendon J, Rome V, Valverde R, Caffrey C. Long-term Care Providers and Services Users in the United States, 2015–2016. Vital Health Stat 2019;3(43):1-88. [doi: <u>10.1093/geroni/igy023.1772</u>]
- 64. Pruchno R, Rose M. The effect of long-term care environments on health outcomes. Gerontologist 2000 Aug;40(4):422-428. [doi: <u>10.1093/geront/40.4.422</u>] [Medline: <u>10961031</u>]
- 65. Zimmerman S, Gruber-Baldini A, Sloane P, Eckert JK, Hebel JR, Morgan L, et al. Assisted living and nursing homes: apples and oranges? Gerontologist 2003 Apr;43 Spec No 2:107-117. [doi: <u>10.1093/geront/43.suppl_2.107</u>] [Medline: <u>12711731</u>]

Abbreviations

ALF: assisted living facility DHEC: South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control ICT: information and communication technology LTC: long-term care NH: nursing home

Edited by J Wang; submitted 28.07.21; peer-reviewed by C Smith, W Tang, N Finn; comments to author 25.10.21; revised version received 01.11.21; accepted 02.12.21; published 12.01.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Schuster AM, Cotten SR COVID-19's Influence on Information and Communication Technologies in Long-Term Care: Results From a Web-Based Survey With Long-Term Care Administrators JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e32442 URL: https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32442 doi:10.2196/32442 PMID:34878989

©Amy M Schuster, Shelia R Cotten. Originally published in JMIR Aging (https://aging.jmir.org), 12.01.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Older Adults' and Clinicians' Perspectives on a Smart Health Platform for the Aging Population: Design and Evaluation Study

Alessia Cristiano^{1*}, MSc; Stela Musteata^{1*}, MSc; Sara De Silvestri^{1*}, MSc; Valerio Bellandi^{2*}, PhD; Paolo Ceravolo^{2*}, PhD; Matteo Cesari^{3*}, MD; Domenico Azzolino^{3*}, MD; Alberto Sanna^{1*}, MSc; Diana Trojaniello^{1*}, PhD

¹Center for Advanced Technology in Health and Wellbeing, Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico Ospedale San Raffaele, Milan, Italy ²Department of Computer Science, Università Degli Studi di Milano, Milan, Italy

Corresponding Author:

Diana Trojaniello, PhD Center for Advanced Technology in Health and Wellbeing Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico Ospedale San Raffaele Milan Italy Phone: 39 0226432919 Email: trojaniello.diana@hsr.it

Abstract

Background: Over recent years, interest in the development of smart health technologies aimed at supporting independent living for older populations has increased. The integration of innovative technologies, such as the Internet of Things, wearable technologies, artificial intelligence, and ambient-assisted living applications, represents a valuable solution for this scope. Designing such an integrated system requires addressing several aspects (eg, equipment selection, data management, analytics, costs, and users' needs) and involving different areas of expertise (eg, medical science, service design, biomedical and computer engineering).

Objective: The objective of this study is 2-fold; we aimed to design the functionalities of a smart health platform addressing 5 chronic conditions prevalent in the older population (ie, hearing loss, cardiovascular diseases, cognitive impairments, mental health problems, and balance disorders) by considering both older adults' and clinicians' perspectives and to evaluate the identified smart health platform functionalities with a small group of older adults.

Methods: Overall, 24 older adults (aged >65 years) and 118 clinicians were interviewed through focus group activities and web-based questionnaires to elicit the smart health platform requirements. Considering the elicited requirements, the main functionalities of smart health platform were designed. Then, a focus group involving 6 older adults was conducted to evaluate the proposed solution in terms of usefulness, credibility, desirability, and learnability.

Results: Eight main functionalities were identified and assessed—cognitive training and hearing training (usefulness: 6/6, 100%; credibility: 6/6, 100%; desirability: 6/6, 100%; learnability: 6/6, 100%), monitoring of physiological parameters (usefulness: 6/6, 100%; credibility: 6/6, 100%; desirability: 6/6, 100%; learnability: 5/6, 83%), physical training (usefulness: 6/6, 100%; credibility: 6/6, 100%; desirability: 2/6, 33%), psychoeducational intervention (usefulness: 6/6, 100%; credibility: 6/6, 100%; desirability: 2/6, 33%), mood monitoring (usefulness: 4/6, 67%; credibility: 4/6, 67%; desirability: 3/6, 50%; learnability: 2/6, 33%), mood monitoring (usefulness: 4/6, 67%; credibility: 4/6, 67%; desirability: 2/6, 33%), and environment monitoring and adjustment (usefulness: 1/6, 17%; credibility: 1/6, 17%; desirability: 0/6, 0%; learnability: 0/6, 0%). Most of them were highly appreciated by older participants, with the only exception being environment monitoring and adjustment. The results showed that the proposed functionalities met the needs and expectations of users (eg, improved self-management of patients' disease and enhanced patient safety). However, some aspects need to be addressed (eg, technical and privacy issues).

Conclusions: The presented smart health platform functionalities seem to be able to meet older adults' needs and desires to enhance their self-awareness and self-management of their medical condition, encourage healthy and independent living, and provide evidence-based support for clinicians' decision-making. Further research with a larger and more heterogeneous pool of stakeholders in terms of demographics and clinical conditions is needed to assess system acceptability and overall user experience in free-living conditions.

³Geriatric Unit, Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico Istituti Clinici Scientifici Maugeri, Università Degli Studi di Milano, Milan, Italy ^{*}all authors contributed equally

(JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e29623) doi:10.2196/29623

KEYWORDS

smart health; remote monitoring; requirement elicitation; older population; age-related chronic conditions; healthy aging; Internet of Things; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

Currently, 22% of the total population in Europe is aged >65 years, and this number is estimated to increase to 51% by 2070 [1]. More than 50% of the existing older adults have \geq 3 chronic disorders (eg, hypertension, heart disease, and diabetes) that negatively affect their quality of life (QoL) and independent living [2]. The multiple comorbidities of chronic conditions with co-occurring age-related cognitive and behavioral changes make older adults frail, with a consequent increased risk of geriatric syndromes, hospitalization, and disability. Hence, the aging population is expected to be a great challenge for health care systems and represents a perfect target for developing new smart health platforms [3].

Smart health is a concept that refers to the multidimensional change that medical care is facing as a result of the integration of mobile devices (eg, smartphones), wearables (eg, fitness bands), and smart medical devices (eg, smart blood pressure monitors). These instruments enable the collection of massive amounts of health-related data that, when analyzed with artificial intelligence models, can provide insights for a personalized intervention. Smart health systems have become increasingly feasible in recent years because of the remarkable technological advancements in processing power, network infrastructures, and big data analytics, leading to a high level of information processing [4]. Big data may offer many advantages in the health care sector [4-6]: they are decisive in the prevention and early detection of diseases, risk monitoring, definition of tailored interventions based on a patient-centered over a disease-centered approach, objective reporting and evidence-based medicine, reduction of social and medical costs, and public health surveillance.

Over the past decade, the needs of the aging society have been investigated, and several smart health solutions have been proposed. The ultimate goal of smart health systems devoted to the older population is to encourage healthy lifestyles, increase autonomy, facilitate social inclusion, guarantee continuity of medical therapy even at home, and provide remote monitoring and teleconsulting. Technologies capable of monitoring an individual's activities and behaviors [7-9] have been developed to promote healthy habits (eg, active living and healthy nutrition). For better management of age-related diseases, devices supporting a proper intake of medication [10,11] have been suggested, and mobile apps providing remote monitoring [5], cognitive training [12], and psychological support [13-15] have been proposed. In addition, systems enabling the monitoring of home environmental conditions [16,17] or the detection of falls [9,18] have been designed to increase the safety of older adults.

Cristiano et al

The use of smart health solutions by the older population has been widely explored in the current literature [19-22]. In that regard, the attractiveness, ease of use (eg, understandable and simple language and easy access to information), and perceived added value of the technology (eg, relevant and valuable functionalities) are considered facilitators of the adoption of new technology for older adults [21,23]. Other enablers lie in an individual's adequate education to the use of technology because of prior experience with digital devices and mobile apps and in the curiosity toward the new technology [23]. The presence of support for older adults in learning to use the technology positively predisposes them to the use of new technological solutions [23]. In contrast, the literature suggests that the main barriers to the prolonged use of technology by older adults are issues in the usability of the system and perceived irrelevance of an application or a device with a resulting sense of the uselessness of the entire technology [23]. Moreover, the physical and functional age (ie, a combination of physiological, psychological, and social age determined by measures of functional capability indexed by age-normed standards), the absence of instructions or guidance, computer anxiety, and lack of confidence can lead to premature abandonment of those solutions by older populations [21,24,25]. Furthermore, relative to their use, older adults expressed privacy concerns, disapproval of possible excessive control from the caregivers, and lack or reduction of social interaction [20,21].

An important step in the design process of technology for community-dwelling older adults is to collect and address the needs of all involved stakeholders (eg, older patients, caregivers, and clinicians) [19,20,26]. A recent study [27] on a telepsychiatry service suggested that clinicians' concerns must be considered and addressed in the design and development of a service targeted for older adults. Another work [28] highlighted that poor involvement of the health care team in the development of an assistance and intervention service leads to reduced treatment adherence for patients [28]. Hence, all end users have to be involved in the design and implementation phases of a smart health platform for the older population.

However, research exploring attitudes, perceptions, expectations, and concerns about smart health technologies of both older adults and clinicians is limited, and users' well-being is often treated as a secondary outcome by assistive technology designers [29]. Moreover, the focus of most studies has been on exploring a single device (eg, tablet) [21] or function (eg, telemonitoring of daily activities) [20,26,27] and not a platform or a system including different devices and services.

Objective

This study, conducted within the Horizon 2020 European project *SMART BEAR*, addresses the aforementioned limitations. The idea underpinning this project is the implementation of an affordable, accountable, and privacy-preserving innovative

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e29623
```

platform (ie, SMART BEAR platform), integrating off-the-shelf smart and medical devices. The focus of developing such a platform is to support the healthy and independent living of aging people with five prevalent health-related conditions: hearing loss, cardiovascular diseases, cognitive impairments, mental health issues, and balance disorders. For every medical condition, the platform intends to provide the end users with remote monitoring and intervention based on several functionalities that may improve their QoL and facilitate disease management. More specifically, the platform aims to fulfill five objectives: (1) promote patients' self-awareness of health status, (2) promote patients' self-management of their own health conditions, (3) encourage patients' active living, (4) enable patient's independent living, and (5) provide evidence-based support for clinicians' decision-making.

Within this context, this study aims to collect key requirements for the SMART BEAR platform design by involving both older adults and clinicians. Specifically, the objective of the study is 2-fold; we aimed to understand stakeholders' beliefs, attitudes, needs, expectations, and concerns about the SMART BEAR platform (*objective 1*) and to evaluate the proposed solution with a small group of older adults (*objective 2*). The paper is structured as follows: the methodology, methods, data collection, sample population, and data analysis are described in the *Methods* section; results obtained are reported in the *Results* section; and discussion on the insights gained is narrated in the *Discussion* section. The paper ends with the conclusions, limits, and future work being presented.

Methods

Overview

A 2-phase experimental procedure was designed to address the objectives of this study. The first phase (*requirements collection*) was devoted to gaining a comprehensive understanding of the behaviors and perceptions of both clinicians and older adults, as well as exploring environmental factors that influence their adoption of the technology (*objective 1*). Once this process was completed and the collected data were analyzed, the main functionalities to make the SMART BEAR platform effective and adoptable by the end users could be identified. The second phase (*evaluation*) was intended to provide an overall assessment of the designed platform and its functionalities (*objective 2*).

Methodology

The methods used to gather clinicians' and older adults' data can be distinguished into two categories: *focus group* and *web-based questionnaire*.

A *focus group* activity can be defined as a discussion within a small group of people (eg, 4-10 participants) about a specific topic led by a well-trained facilitator (eg, a psychologist or a researcher able to stimulate an active engagement of participants in the debate). Although it is a time-consuming activity, the focus group is well-appreciated in medical research as it represents a valid method for collecting qualitative and quantitative information. Conversely, *web-based questionnaires* allow gathering information from a large sample in a short

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e29623
```

period; it is easy to fill in remotely using a computer or a smartphone, and its answers are simple to analyze as a more structured survey.

To establish the content and structure of the methods used in the study, a draft of questions was first created according to preliminary informal interviews conducted with experts (eg, neuropsychologists, geriatricians, and engineers). Then, a brainstorming session was conducted to decide which questions to include or exclude (eg, "Is this question really needed?"). The brainstorming was helpful in avoiding the temptation to include questions without critical evaluation of their contribution toward the achievement of the study objectives. Finally, special attention was given to the wording, length, order, and format of questions (eg, several factors such as the age of the target respondents were considered, and the font size of the questionnaires was adapted accordingly). The questions were organized and worded to encourage respondents to provide accurate, unbiased, and complete information.

Requirements Collection Phase

The requirements collection phase included three subsequent activities: first, a focus group activity with clinicians (focus group for clinicians) was conducted to collect qualitative exploratory information for a better understanding of how the SMART BEAR platform can benefit older adults and their physicians. Clinicians with various medical specialties (eg, geriatricians, cardiologists, psychiatrists, neurologists, and psychologists) were encouraged to participate in the activity. Indeed, their experience with older patients and their caregivers may offer valuable perspectives on the problems faced in clinical practice and how the technology may facilitate the management of prevalent age-related conditions. Moreover, they were invited to debate about the intrinsic capacity (IC) model [30] introduced by the World Health Organization, according to which the individual's functional abilities need to be considered to ensure a comprehensive characterization of older patients. Second, a structured questionnaire was issued via the web to a large sample of clinicians (web-based questionnaire for clinicians) to learn about their beliefs, attitudes, and expectations on the SMART BEAR platform. In the third phase, a web-based questionnaire was set up and disseminated among older adults (web-based questionnaire for older adults) to collect their feedback and impressions about the SMART BEAR platform.

Evaluation Phase

The *evaluation* phase included a focus group activity with older adults using a storytelling approach (*focus group for older adults*). The participants, as potential users of the SMART BEAR platform, were invited to answer structured questions while observing archetypal users (ie, users with similar age and clinical conditions) experiencing the proposed technological solution and its functionalities.

Experimental Procedure

During the *requirements collection* phase, once the participants' demographic data were gathered, 5 areas were investigated overall through the *focus group for clinicians*, web-based questionnaire for clinicians, and web-based questionnaire for older adults (Table 1). In detail, in the *focus group for clinicians*,

the facilitator (ie, a neuropsychologist) explored four areas of interest for clinicians (ie, impact of disease in everyday life, remote monitoring, use of technology in medical practice, and about SMART BEAR) by administering a set of 33 open-ended questions to the participants (Multimedia Appendix 1). Instead, the *web-based questionnaire for clinicians* comprised 13 closed, multiple-choice questions to guarantee clarity, brevity, and usability of the questionnaire, given its web-based nature. The questions were selected from among those used in the *focus group for clinicians*. They covered 3 of the 4 areas of clinicians' interest (ie, impact of disease in everyday life, being a very broad and complex topic, was excluded to avoid an excessive workload for the respondents).

Furthermore, free-form comment boxes were added to gather further participants' insights. The *web-based questionnaire for*

clinicians (Multimedia Appendix 1) was published on the Limesurvey platform, and its link was spread through the internal mailing lists of Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico (IRCCS) Policlinico Ca' Granda (Milan, Italy), Ospedale Maggiore (Crema, Italy), and IRCCS Ospedale San Raffaele (Milan, Italy). Similarly, for the *web-based questionnaire for older adults*, the multiple-choice, close-ended questions structure was preferred, and 35 questions were selected to cover the areas targeted for older adults (ie, impact of disease in everyday life, remote monitoring, older adults' relationship with technology, and about SMART BEAR). The questionnaire for older adults (Multimedia Appendix 1) was published on the Limesurvey platform, and the link was shared among the contacts of clinicians, colleagues, and older participants of previous research projects.

 Table 1. Investigated areas and used methods for each phase.

Phase	Clinicians	Older adults
Requirements collection phase (areas)		
Impact of disease in everyday life	Focus group	Web-based questionnaire
Remote monitoring	Focus group and web-based questionnaire	Web-based questionnaire
Older adults' relationship with the technology	N/A ^a	Web-based questionnaire
Use of technology in medical practice	Focus group and web-based questionnaire	N/A
About SMART BEAR	Focus group and web-based questionnaire	Web-based questionnaire
Evaluation phase (interventions)		
Physical training	N/A	Focus group: S ₁ ^b
Diet plan	N/A	Focus group: S ₁
Monitoring of physiological parameters	N/A	Focus group: S ₁
Psychoeducational intervention	N/A	Focus group: S_2^{c}
Monitoring of the mood	N/A	Focus group: S ₂
Cognitive training	N/A	Focus group: S ₂
Hearing training	N/A	Focus group: S ₂
Environment monitoring and adjustment	N/A	Focus group: S ₂
Evaluation phase (transversal functions)		
Data visualization	N/A	Focus group: S_1 and S_2
Gamification	N/A	Focus group: S_1 and S_2
Regular report	N/A	Focus group: S_1 and S_2
Regular report to clinician	N/A	Focus group: S_1 and S_2
Suggestion	N/A	Focus group: S_1 and S_2
Reminder	N/A	Focus group: S_1 and S_2
Data access to caregiver	N/A	Focus group: S_1 and S_2
Teleconsulting	N/A	Focus group: S_1 and S_2

^aN/A: not applicable.

^bS₁: Carlo's story.

^cS₂: Lidia's story.
According to the data collected in the focus group for clinicians, web-based questionnaire for clinicians, and web-based questionnaire for older adults and their analysis, 8 interventions and 8 transversal functions of the SMART BEAR platform were proposed and assessed in the evaluation phase through the focus group for older adults' activity (Table 1). It comprised a discussion based on a narration where the contents of the research questions are merged with the story of personas (ie, archetypal users). This method was selected as it encourages the identification of the participants with the protagonist, which facilitates the comprehension of the proposed technology use. Moreover, it enables participants to bring new ideas and personal insights into the discussion. In more detail, 2 stories (Carlo's story and Lidia's story; Multimedia Appendix 1), describing 2 personas (ie, Carlo and Lidia) interacting with the platform and making use of specific interventions and transversal functions, were presented and discussed. More specifically, in each story, different interventions were illustrated according to the protagonist's problems (eg, physical training is offered in Carlo's story as Carlo conducts a sedentary lifestyle). The presented interventions were evaluated in terms of usefulness (ie, Do you find it useful to meet your needs?), credibility (ie, Do you think or feel it credible?), desirability (ie, Would you find it desirable?), and learnability (ie, Would you be able to *learn to use it?*). Transversal functions were presented in both stories because of their versatility and evaluated in terms of usefulness and desirability.

Sample Population

An overall sample of 148 participants (Figure 1), comprising both clinicians (118/148, 79.7%) and older adults (30/148, 20.3%), took part in the study. The research was designed in accordance with the European Union Guidelines for Clinical Practice and the current revision of the Declaration of Helsinki. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the University of Milan (nr. 50.20 on May 14, 2020). All

Figure 1. Sample population diagram.

participants provided informed written consent before enrollment in the study.

As shown in Figure 1, clinicians (16/118, 13.6%) with expertise in all medical domains from two hospitals, IRCCS Policlinico Ca' Granda and Ospedale Maggiore, were involved in the *focus* group for clinicians. A focus group was planned in each hospital. More specifically, 56% (9/16) of participants took part in the first focus group at Policlinico Ca' Granda (*focus group 1 for clinicians*), whereas the second focus group was performed with the involvement of 44% (7/16) of medical experts at Ospedale Maggiore in Crema (*focus group 2 for clinicians*). Each focus group lasted approximately 90 minutes and was conducted in a specifically furnished room at the hospital's premises. The focus groups were led by a neuropsychologist, whereas 2 biomedical engineers took notes.

Physicians (102/118, 86.4%) with expertise in \geq 1 of the medical condition of interest were enrolled from IRCCS Policlinico Ca' Granda, Ospedale Maggiore, and IRCCS San Raffaele Hospital for the following step of the study (ie, filling the *web-based questionnaire for clinicians*).

Participants aged ≥ 65 years with any of the target age-related conditions were recruited for the last 2 activities through word-of-mouth communication. In particular, of the 30 older adults, 24 (80%) participated in the *web-based questionnaire* for older adults' activity in the requirements collection phase, and 6 (20%) took part in the last focus group for older adults' activity in the evaluation phase.

The *focus group for older adults* was conducted by a neuropsychologist and 2 bioengineers in a medical office in Chiesa in Valmalenco (Sondrio, Italy) and lasted approximately 90 minutes. More specifically, the neuropsychologist conducted the discussion of the topics, and the 2 bioengineers took notes of the discussions and occasionally intervened to obtain a better explanation of concepts that emerged from the discussion. Users' comments and feedback were collected in dedicated sheet forms.



Data Analysis

The collected data were digitalized (*focus group for clinicians* and *focus group for older adults*) or exported (*web-based questionnaire for clinicians* and *web-based questionnaire for older adults*) in Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Corporation).

A separate content analysis was conducted on the qualitative data gathered in the *requirements collection* phase (*focus group for clinicians, web-based questionnaire for clinicians, and web-based questionnaire for older adults*). Every answer was assigned to a group of common opinions or preferences to allow the conversion of qualitative information into quantitative data. Then, the quantitative data collected in the *focus group for clinicians* and a *web-based questionnaire for clinicians* referring to the same questions were combined to gain the clinicians' overall outcomes. Hence, a frequency analysis was conducted, and the results, in terms of the number of occurrences and related percentage values, were reported separately for each area investigated and involved stakeholders (clinicians or older adults).

At the end of the requirements collection phase analysis, researchers with heterogeneous expertise (eg, biomedical engineers, neuropsychologists, geriatric specialists, and computer scientists) formed a working group to design the functions and interventions of the smart health platform. For this purpose, the design considered the project's objectives; namely, to address the five areas of the IC model (ie, locomotion, cognition, vitality, sensory, and psychology). The results obtained in the requirements collection phase allowed for the assessment of the impact of such technology on the life of the target population in terms of needs satisfaction and technology acceptance. Moreover, implementation factors were considered, resulting in the endorsement of consumer technology. The working group debated on the possible solutions to reach these objectives and finalized the design by identifying 8 interventions and 8 transversal functions, which constitute the subject for the evaluation phase.

Here, a content analysis was conducted for qualitative data, and a frequency analysis was conducted for quantitative data. The results obtained in that phase were reported only in terms of percentage as a small group of older adults participated in the *focus group for older adults*.

Results

Requirements Collection Phase

Focus Group for Clinicians Sample Population

A group of 16 clinicians (8/16, 50% women) between the ages of 27 and 64 years (mean 42, SD 13 years) was recruited for the *focus group for clinicians* (ie, 7/16, 44% physicians; 3/16, 19% geriatricians; 3/16, 19% cardiologists; 1/16, 6% surgeons; and 2/16, 12% medical scientists). They all agreed that high blood pressure, ischemic disease, cardiac arrhythmias, imbalance, hearing loss, falling, dementia, depression, anxiety,

and stress are the principal clinical problems that challenge older adults' everyday lives. The most treated medical conditions were high blood pressure (12/16, 75%), ischemic heart disease (10/16, 63%), arrhythmias (9/16, 56%), dementia (9/16, 56%), depression (7/16, 44%), falls (6/16, 38%), imbalance (6/16, 38%), anxiety (6/16, 38%), stress (3/16, 19%), and hearing loss (2/16, 13%).

Web-Based Questionnaire for Clinicians Sample Population

A sample of 102 participants completed the web-based questionnaire for clinicians. Approximately 98% (100/102) of the respondents expressed their area of expertise (ie, 59/102, 57.8% had expertise in geriatrics; 7/102, 6.8% had expertise in surgery; 6/102, 5.8% had expertise in general medicine; 4/102, 3.9% had expertise in neurology and physiotherapy; 2/102, 1.9% had expertise in cardiology, emergency medicine, and internal medicine; and 1/102, 0.9% had expertise in ear, nose, and throat, psychiatry, gastroenterology, pathological anatomy, urology, rheumatology, nephrology, radiology, psychology, odontology, endocrinology, oncology, and nutrition). The most frequently treated medical conditions by the surveyed clinicians were dementia (68/102, 66.6%), hypertension (64/102, 62.7%), falls (58/102, 56.8%), arrhythmias (55/102, 53.9%), ischemic heart disease (50/102, 49%), anxiety and depression (46/102, 45%), imbalance (39/102, 38.2%), stress (21/102, 20.5%), and hearing loss (9/102, 8.8%). Regarding the frequency of visits, 25.4% (26/102) of the sample declared that they visited their older patients more than once per month, 31.3% (32/102) visited every 1 to 3 months, 34.3% (35/102) visited every 6 months, and 9.8% (10/102) visited once per year.

Web-Based Questionnaire for Older Adults Sample Population

A total of 24 participants (16/24, 67% women) aged >65 years completed the *web-based questionnaire for older adults*. The sample was distributed as follows: 67% (16/24) in the 65 to 70 age range group, 17% (4/24) in the 71 to 75 age range group, 8% (2/24) in the 76 to 80 age range group, and 8% (2/24) in the >81 years group. Most respondents (16/24, 67%) declared that they lived with someone (all of them claimed to share their home with their spouse and 5/24, 21% with their progeny as well). The medical conditions prevalent among participants were hypertension (9/24, 38%), cardiovascular disease (6/24, 25%), anxiety (4/24, 17%), hearing difficulties (3/24, 13%), arrhythmias (4/24, 17%), balance disorders (2/24, 8%), and depression (1/24, 4%). Instead, 21% (5/24) of participants claimed to have experienced none of the abovementioned disorders.

A description of stakeholders involved in the first phase of the experimental procedure (*focus group for clinicians*, web-based questionnaire for clinicians, and web-based questionnaire for older adults) clustered according to the medical condition treated or experienced is summarized in Table 2.



Table 2. Requirements collection phase medical conditions treated or experienced (N=142).

Medical conditions	Clinicians (n=118), n (%)	Older adults (n=24), n (%)
Hearing loss (ie, tinnitus and unreceptiveness)	11 (9.3)	3 (12.5)
Cardiovascular diseases (ie, arrhythmias, ischemic heart disease, and hypertension)	82 (69.5)	16 (66.7)
Cognitive impairments (ie, dementia)	77 (65.3)	0 (0)
Mental health problems (ie, anxiety, depression, and stress)	68 (57.6)	4 (16.7)
Balance disorders (ie, imbalance and falls)	68 (57.6)	2 (8.3)
None	0 (0)	5 (20.8)

Area 1: Impact of Disease on Everyday Life

Table 3 summarizes the clinician (*focus group for clinicians*) and older adult (*web-based questionnaire for older adults*) inputs related to the *impact of disease in everyday life*.

All clinicians (16/16, 100%) agreed on the impact of age-related disorders on older adults' daily living activities, and approximately all of them (13/16, 81%) considered that a personalized intervention was required. Approximately all participants (15/16, 94%) suggested that the family members of the older person were most affected by the onset of the disease. Specifically, according to clinicians, 88% (14/16) of caregivers report having mental health problems (eg, burnout, depression, and sleeping difficulties). Other issues encountered by caregivers in handling the patient, as observed by clinicians, are the reconciliation of their own commitments and time with the needs of the patient (eg, daily assistance, scheduling medical appointments, and bringing them to the appointments), the experience or know-how to manage the disease or the adverse clinical situations, therapy management, and supervision. The whole group (16/16, 100%) suggested that a significant barrier for older adults in their disease management is therapy compliance. Thus, the clinicians claimed that these issues have

Table 3. Results related to the impact of disease in everyday life (N=40).

a relevant impact on caregivers' mental health (ie, caregivers often report stress and anxiety).

Older adults reported effects on cardiorespiratory functions (6/24, 25%), sleep (6/24, 25%), and diet (3/24, 13%) for the vital area, whereas impact on sight (7/24, 29%), hearing (4/24, 17%), and smell (4/24, 17%) were observed for the sensorial area. Impacts on anxiety (7/24, 29%), depression (1/24, 4%), irritability (5/24, 21%), energy (5/24, 21%), and sociality (2/24, 8%) were found within the psychological area, whereas effects on balance (2/24, 8%), locomotion (3/24, 13%), and muscle strength (6/24, 25%) were noticed in the motor area. With regard to the cognition area, participants reported memory (10/24, 42%), attention (5/24, 21%), and language (1/24, 4%) difficulties. Most of the older adults (17/24, 71%) declared that no help was needed to manage their medical condition. However, the remaining 29% (7/24) were used to asking for help (3/24, 12% sometimes and 4/24, 17% rarely) in daily living activities (eg, personal hygiene and visiting the physician). Moreover, participants declared that they visited the clinician more than once per month (7/24, 29%), every 1 to 3 months (7/24, 29%), every 6 months (8/24, 33%), and less than once per 5 years (2/24, 8%). They joined their clinician on phone calls (18/24, 75%), written messages (10/24, 42%), and webpages (1/24, 4%).

Intrinsic capacity model areas	Clinicians (n=16), n (%)	Older adults (n=24), n (%)
Vital area (eg, cardiorespiratory functions, appetite, and autonomy)	15 (94)	13 (54)
Sensorial area (ie, vision, hearing, and smell)	6 (38)	11 (46)
Psychological area (eg, anxiety, depression, euphoria, and irritability)	13 (81)	17 (71)
Motor area (eg, balance, locomotion, coordination, and strength)	9 (56)	14 (58)
Cognitive area (ie, memory, attention, and language)	10 (63)	10 (42)

Area 2: Remote Monitoring

On the basis of the discussion stimulated among clinicians during the focus group, it was found that the most adopted intervention for older adults with the targeted clinical conditions seemed to be outpatient monitoring (96/118, 81.3% of clinicians), and only in some cases (30/118, 25.4% of clinicians), hospitalization was considered necessary.

Furthermore, 2.5% (3/118) of clinicians reported at the *focus* group for clinicians to have experience with remote monitoring of older patients, and the most monitored parameters were blood pressure and therapy compliance. The most commonly used

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e29623
```

RenderX

means for remote communication were phone calls (74/118, 62.7%), emails (52/118, 44%), and WhatsApp communication (47/118, 39.8%). However, one of the clinicians reported feeling stressed from remote monitoring.

Regarding older adults, only 58% (14/24) of the interviewees used remote monitoring devices; in particular, 54% (13/24) of the participants claimed to use a smart blood pressure monitor, whereas 4% (1/24) stated that they used an electrocardiogram monitor. Table 4 shows the primary outcomes related to *remote monitoring* from clinicians (*focus group for clinicians and web-based questionnaire for clinicians*) and older adults (*web-based questionnaire for older adults*).

Table 4. Results related to remote monitoring (N=142).

Parameters considered useful	Clinicians (n=118), n (%)	Older adults (n=24), n (%)
Blood pressure	85 (72)	12 (50)
House temperature	13 (11)	1 (4.2)
Air pollution	11 (9.3)	3 (12.5)
ECG ^a	37 (31.4)	0 (0)
Fall detection	74 (62.7)	2 (8.3)
Heart rate	65 (55.1)	5 (20.8)
Glycemia	47 (39.8)	0 (0)
Social interaction frequency	42 (35.6)	2 (8.3)
Diet habits	68 (57.6)	8 (33.3)
Levels of noise exposure	13 (11)	1 (4.2)
None	0 (0)	4 (16.7)
Other		
Physical activity	8 (6.8)	10 (41.7)
Cognitive functions	68 (57.6)	b
Weight	1 (0.8)	_
Medication adherence	1 (0.8)	_
Behavioral changes and mood	50 (42.4)	3 (12.5)
Sleep quality	3 (2.5)	8 (33.3)
Pain	1 (0.8)	_
Eyesight	1 (0.8)	_

^aECG: electrocardiogram. ^bNot available.

Area 3: Older Adults' Relationship With Technology

Multimedia Appendix 2 provides the results from the *web-based* questionnaire for older adults related to older adults' relationship with technology.

Area 4: Use of Technology in Medical Practice

Table 5 illustrates the clinicians' results (*focus group for clinicians and web-based questionnaire for clinicians*) related to the *use of technology in medical practice*.

As reported in Table 5, smart devices were considered useful in medical practice by most participants (107/118, 90.7%). However, 42.4% (50/118) of the clinicians never used smart devices in clinical practice, whereas only 5.1% (6/118) used them all the time. The same percentage of participants (50/118, 42.4%) did not suggest any of the proposed or other devices, whereas 1.7% (2/118) of clinicians judged the use of a device to recognize the patient's position and movement (eg, GPS tracking device) as significant. Monitoring of a person's sleep quality and oxygen saturation was also suggested by a participant.



Use of technology	Clinicians, n (%)	
Technology is useful in medical practice	107 (90.7)	
Frequency of use		
Never	50 (42.4)	
Rarely	34 (28.8)	
Sometimes	14 (11.9)	
Often	14 (11.9)	
Everyday	6 (5.1)	
Apps and devices prescribed or suggested		
Nutrition app	20 (16.9)	
Physiotherapy app and smart devices	23 (19.5)	
Smart hearing aids	10 (8.5)	
Smart pillboxes	23 (19.5)	
Physical activity app and smart devices	23 (19.5)	
Smart blood pressure tracker	32 (27.1)	
None	50 (42.4)	
Other: movement tracking	2 (1.7)	
Other: oxygen saturation and sleep quality app	1 (0.8)	

Area 5: About SMART BEAR

Most clinicians (108/118, 91.5%) would recommend their patients to participate in the SMART BEAR project. Moreover, almost all participants would like to receive regular reports regarding the patients' health status. More specifically, they preferred daily reports (8/118, 6.7%), weekly reports (58/118, 49.1%), and monthly reports (35/118, 29.6%). Approximately 11.8% (14/118) of the participants would like to receive a report only if an abnormality was detected, whereas 1.7% (2/118) of the participants did not answer. During the *focus group for clinicians*, 94.1% (111/118) of the clinicians expressed interest in sending the reports to the patient, 75.4% (89/118) of them suggested sending the reports to both physicians and patients, and 38.1% (45/118) suggested sending the reports to the patient and caregiver.

Even older adults (18/24, 75%) expressed interest in receiving periodic reports about their own health status (weekly reports were preferred by 4/24, 17%, whereas monthly reports were favored by 20/24, 83%). In addition, they would like their own clinician (8/24, 33%), wife or husband (9/24, 38%), son or daughter (7/24, 29%), or none (4/24, 17%) to have access to

the content of those reports. Regarding how to receive the reports, written messages (17/24, 71%), voice messaging (3/24, 13%), and email (9/24, 38%) were indicated. Approximately 63% (15/24) of the older adults showed an interest in notifications and suggestions that the platform could generate based on the collected data. This information was expected to be shared with the spouse (11/24, 46%), son or daughter (6/24, 25%), physician (2/24, 8%), and friend (2/24, 8%), whereas some (3/24, 13%) of participants preferred that no one had access to such notifications and suggestions. The expressed preferred ways of receiving notifications and suggestions were written messages (18/24, 75%), voice messaging (2/24, 8%), and email (10/24, 42%).

Table 6 reports the main clinicians' (*focus group for clinicians and web-based questionnaire for clinicians*) and older adults' (*web-based questionnaire for older adults*) inputs related to about SMART BEAR.

At the end of the *requirements collection* phase, the outcomes gained by considering both clinicians' and older adults' opinions and suggestions were mapped to the domains of the IC model to define a list of interventions and transversal functions worth including in the platform.



Table 6. Results related to about SMART BEAR (N=142).

Cristiano et al

About SMART BEAR	Clinicians (n=118), n (%)	Older adults (n=24), n (%)
Participation in SMART BEAR project	108 (91.5)	16 (66.7)
Expectations		
Less unnecessary visits	40 (33.9)	3 (12.5)
Enhanced patient's safety	39 (33.1)	9 (37.5)
Better self-management of patients' health status	77 (65.3)	10 (41.7)
Better patient's social interactions	37 (31.4)	4 (16.7)
None	2 (1.7)	3 (12.5)
No answer	2 (1.7)	a
Other		
Enhanced patient's autonomy	_	3 (12.5)
Enhanced patient's confidence	55 (46.6)	4 (16.7)
Improved patient's health status	12 (10.2)	_
Improved patient's diet habits	28 (23.7)	2 (8.3)
Improved patient-physician communication	9 (7.6)	_
Time saving	23 (19.5)	6 (25)
Money saving	19 (16.1)	2 (8.3)
Concerns		
Privacy	19 (16.1)	5 (20.8)
Change of routine	28 (23.7)	3 (12.5)
Erroneous measurements	37 (31.4)	4 (16.7)
Erroneous notifications (suggestions by platform)	31 (26.3)	3 (12.5)
Technical issues of the devices	60 (50.8)	7 (29.2)
Education on devices and platform use	75 (63.6)	2 (8.3)
Increased stress for the user	25 (21.2)	5 (20.8)
None	4 (3.4)	6 (25)
No answer	1 (0.8)	_
Other: decreased patient's referral to private practice	2 (1.7)	_

^aNot available.

Evaluation Phase

A total of 6 participants took part in *the focus group for older adults* (5/6, 83% women) in the *evaluation* phase. One of the participants was aged <70 years, whereas the others were in the 71 to 75 age range group. The education of this sample was heterogeneously distributed (ie, 1/6, 17% elementary school; 2/6, 33% middle school; 1/6, 17% high school; and 2/6, 33% in university). Half of the sample declared that they lived alone, whereas the other half stated that they lived with their spouse. Regarding the medical conditions experienced by participants, they claimed to have experienced hypertension (6/6, 100%), anxiety (3/6, 50%), cardiovascular diseases (1/6, 17%), and hearing loss (1/6, 17%).

The results of the assessment of the SMART BEAR platform interventions and transversal functions are reported in Table 7.

Overall, participants evaluated the platform positively, and all participants agreed that the objectives would be achieved. In particular, in their opinion, the SMART BEAR platform would enhance self-awareness of users' health status (6/6, 100%), support self-management of users' health conditions (6/6, 100%), promote active living both physically and cognitively (6/6, 100%), facilitate independent living (5/6, 83%), and enable evidence-based support for clinicians (6/6, 100%).

Table 7. Older users' assessment of SMART BEAR functions in the evaluation phase (N=6).

Functions of SMART BEAR platform	Usefulness, n (%)	Credibility, n (%)	Desirability, n (%)	Learnability, n (%)
Interventions	· · · ·			-
Physical training	6 (100)	6 (100)	5 (83)	2 (33)
Diet plan	5 (83)	4 (67)	1 (17)	2 (33)
Monitoring of physiological parameters	6 (100)	6 (100)	6 (100)	5 (83)
Psychoeducational intervention	6 (100)	6 (100)	4 (67)	2 (33)
Monitoring of the mood	4 (67)	4 (67)	3 (50)	3 (50)
Cognitive training	6 (100)	6 (100)	6 (100)	6 (100)
Hearing training	6 (100)	6 (100)	6 (100)	6 (100)
Environment monitoring and adjustment	1 (17)	1 (17)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Transversal functions				
Data visualization	6 (100)	N/A ^a	5 (83)	N/A
Gamification	6 (100)	N/A	5 (83)	N/A
Regular reports	6 (100)	N/A	5 (83)	N/A
Regular report to clinician	4 (67)	N/A	5 (83)	N/A
Suggestion	6 (100)	N/A	6 (100)	N/A
Reminder	6 (100)	N/A	6 (100)	N/A
Data access to caregiver	2 (33)	N/A	2 (33)	N/A
Teleconsulting	6 (100)	N/A	5 (83)	N/A

^aN/A: not applicable.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The goal of this study was 2-fold; we aimed to understand stakeholders' beliefs, attitudes, needs, expectations, and concerns about the SMART BEAR platform (*objective 1*) and to evaluate the proposed solution (*objective 2*) with a small group of older adults.

Regarding *objective 1*, a thorough comprehension of clinicians' and older adults' perceptions of the SMART BEAR platform was pursued through the investigation of five areas: *impact of disease in everyday life* (area 1), *remote monitoring* (area 2), *older adults' relationship with the technology* (area 3), *use of technology in medical practice* (area 4), and *about SMART BEAR* (area 5).

Impact of Disease in Everyday Life

The results obtained in the *requirements collection* phase showed that clinicians agreed on the impact that age-related conditions have on older adults' daily living activities, which was also confirmed by the interviewed older adults. More specifically, the effects on all the areas investigated within the IC model were reported by both clinicians and older participants: psychological area (13/16, 81% clinicians and 17/24, 71% older adults), vital area (15/16, 94% clinicians and 13/24, 54% older adults), motor area (9/16, 56% clinicians and 14/24, 58% older adults), cognitive area (10/16, 63% clinicians and 11/24, 42% older adults), and sensorial area (6/16, 38% clinicians and 11/24, 46% older adults). More specifically, older adults complained

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e29623
```

RenderX

of anxiety, irritability, reduced energy, problems in vision, hearing, memory, attention difficulties, cardiorespiratory problems, and sleep disorders. However, the older adults who answered the questionnaire did not acknowledge the impact of the age-related conditions on their vital areas as severely as the interviewed clinicians assessed their patients. This might be because of a more objective overview of the vital problems from the clinicians (ie, objective medical examination and appropriate measurement of vital signs) than the subjective older adults' self-awareness. Although input from clinicians is fundamental to the design of an assistive technology, this discrepancy supports the importance of tailoring the smart health platform to the needs of a specific patient. In fact, as it emerged from the literature review, one of the most frequent causes of technology abandonment in older adults is the lack of perceived relevance of the service [23].

The onset of chronic diseases in the older population has important consequences for family members as well. Indeed, clinicians (ie, 14/16, 88% of participants in the *focus group for clinicians*) underlined that the complex management of the patient (eg, daily assistance and medical appointments) might lead caregivers to mental health problems (eg, sleeping difficulties, burnout, and depression), as confirmed by the literature [31,32]. Nevertheless, only 29% (7/24) of the older adults in *web-based questionnaire for older adults* declared to need help from family members for routine activities (eg, personal hygiene and visits to the physician). This incomplete overlap between clinicians' and older adults' feedback is in line with the relatively low limitations that older respondents have

reported on their autonomy. This may be explained by the age of the sample population (20/24, 83% of older adults were aged <76 years, whereas more severe comorbidities were generally observed in more advanced age). The age distribution of older participants, in turn, could be because of the method used for data collection (ie, web-based questionnaire), which requires a certain autonomy and familiarity with the technology.

Use of Technology in Medical Practice

The outpatient approach for age-related disorders is the most preferred and used by interviewed clinicians. This is probably why most of them (107/118, 90.7%) considered the technology useful in medical practice (Table 5). These results are in line with those of the current literature [33,34]. In particular, objective measurements provided by smart medical devices are very appealing for medical experts as they can ensure support in decision-making for the clinician, help for the caregiver, and timely interventions for the patient. This study suggests that the most used devices in clinical practice are smart blood pressure trackers (32/118, 27.1%), physical activity and physiotherapy applications or devices (23/118, 19.5%), smart pillboxes (23, 19.5%), and nutrition applications (20/118, 16.9%). Furthermore, applications that are able to monitor sleep quality and track position were also indicated to cope with older adults' sleeping difficulties and cognitive problems. Instead, smart hearing aids were suggested or prescribed by only 8.5% (10/118) of clinicians, and such data might be due to the expertise of the clinicians involved in this study (ie, only a few of them, 11/118, 9.3%, deal with hearing impairments; Table 2). However, the use of smart devices in the current clinical practice is still uncommon (50/118, 42.4% of clinicians never use smart devices; Table 5), and it is mostly explained by the difficulties met by the older population in technology adoption [21,25].

Older Adults' Relationship With Technology

Older adults who took part in the study suggested being quite confident with the technology use (Multimedia Appendix 2). Only 8% (2/24) of the participants found some difficulties in using it, and none judged it as obstructive to everyday life. However, it is important to note that although the totality of participants regularly uses a smartphone, a decreasing trend in the use of more modern devices can be observed (ie, 15/24, 63% uses smart television, 9/24, 38% uses smartwatches, and 6/24, 25% uses smart lamps and smart thermostats). Nevertheless, this apparent resistance to the latest generation of devices can be overcome, provided that the technology is found valuable. Indeed, most participants were positively predisposed to use new technology if considered helpful, and none expressed themselves against adopting a useful device. Such findings are also confirmed by Vaportzis et al [21].

Remote Monitoring

Both clinicians and older adults agreed on the importance of remote monitoring. However, greater participation in identifying parameters useful for remote monitoring was observed from clinicians rather than older adults (ie, 4/244, 1.6% of older participants did not express any suggestions about measurement to monitor remotely; Table 4). The interest of health care professionals in monitoring blood pressure (85/118, 72%), heart

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e29623
```

rate (65/118, 55.1%), and diet habits (68/118, 57.6%), as well as physical activity and sleep quality, are in line with the typologies of devices and applications that they recommend to patients in their clinical practice. Further interest was also shown in devices that may detect falls (74/118, 62.7%) and monitor patients' therapy adherence and mood, cognitive functions, and behavioral changes of the latter. In this way, it is indeed possible to increase older patients' safety, provide concrete support for their caregivers in the management of the therapy, and help older adults face loneliness and social exclusion. Even older adults considered blood pressure (12/24, 50%), diet habits (8/24, 33%), and heart rate (5/24, 21%) measurements to be relevant. On the other hand, fall detection was not considered crucial (it was judged useful for 2/24, 8% of older respondents), which may be explained by the low rate of motor problems in the older adults' sample (Table 2). Similarly, social contact frequency tracing aroused little interest in older adults (2/24, 8%) as it felt intrusive. Clinicians registered some concerns about remote monitoring; they complained about the shortage of time to answer patients' phone calls and lack direct interaction with the patient. In addition, they stated that the symptoms remotely reported by patients could be misleading (ie, subjective) and hence misinterpreted in the absence of a visit in person. Finally, they said they were worried about potential false positives (ie, receiving alarm values from the device that could be normal for a specific patient).

About SMART BEAR

Smart health platforms, such as SMART BEAR, have attracted interest from both stakeholders. Most of them (108/118, 91.5% of clinicians and 16/24, 67% of older adults) expressed interest in participating in the project. The main expectation from using the SMART BEAR platform is a better self-management of patients' health status (77/118, 65.3% of clinicians and 10/24, 42% of older adults; Table 6). Both clinicians and older adults were aligned with the expectation that the SMART BEAR platform may increase patient safety (39/118, 33.1% of clinicians and 9/24, 38% of older adults). In contrast, it appears that only clinicians expected that this platform might reduce patients' unnecessary visits (40/118, 33.9% of clinicians and 3/24, 13% of older adults) and increase patients' social interactions (37/118, 31.4% for clinicians and 4/24, 17% for older adults). Clinicians also awaited enhanced patient confidence and improved patient-physician communication. However, the latter seems to be more concerned with the use of such a platform than older adults (ie, 4/118, 3.4% of clinicians vs 6/24, 25% of older adults declared to have none of the proposed concerns). Moreover, a difference in the typology of concerns reported by stakeholders was observed (Table 6). For example, the health care professionals' sample was especially concerned with education on devices and platform use (75/118, 63.6%), which is in contrast observed for only a few (2/24, 8%) of the older adults. In fact, no particular criticalities in using the technology were reported by the older people involved in the study, which may be because of the age distribution of the sample or participants' underestimation of the difficulties in using technological devices. Conversely, poor usability and improper functioning of the platform (eg, technical issues of devices, erroneous measurements, and notification and

XSL•FO RenderX

suggestion by the platform) caused concerns for both stakeholders. Furthermore, a small group of both clinicians and older adults (ie, 25/118, 21.2% of clinicians and 5/24, 21% of older adults) reported that the use of the proposed technology could lead to increased stress for the users. In particular, older adults (ie, 5/24, 21% of older adults vs 19/118, 16.1% of clinicians) were worried about privacy issues, which is fully understandable as it is subject to monitoring provided by the platform [20,21].

With regard to objective 2, the usefulness, credibility, desirability, and learnability of the SMART BEAR functions for its end users were assessed. The results obtained in the evaluation phase showed that the presented technology could address all the expected goals. Moreover, most of the proposed interventions were well-accepted by older adults. In more detail, all participants evaluated cognitive training (intervention 6) and hearing training (intervention 7) as useful, credible, desirable, and easy to learn. A very positive assessment of usefulness and credibility was also gained for physical training (intervention 1), monitoring of physiological parameters (intervention 3), and psychoeducational intervention (intervention 4). However, some doubts about the ease of use of such functionalities, with special regard to physical training and psychoeducational intervention, were revealed by older adults. The possibility of monitoring diet habits (intervention 2) was found useful by most people (5/6, 83%) but not as attractive as it was judged invasive (it was considered desirable only for the 1/6, 17%; Table 7).

In contrast, almost all participants who judged the monitoring of mood as useful (intervention 5) would like to have it (ie, 4/6, 67% and 3/6, 50%, respectively; Table 7). Such functionality has been judged effective in gaining a greater awareness of the patient's own condition. Nonetheless, uncertainty about a computer-based interaction on emotions and states of mind was raised (eg, "describing my mood using a smartphone without a person to person communication is unfriendly"). In addition, participants reported concerns that such an intervention (ie, intervention 5) may be time consuming and too burdensome (eg, to fill in a web-based questionnaire weekly). The environment monitoring and adjustment (intervention 8) received a negative assessment; indeed, only 17% (1/6) considered it valid and credible, and none would like to use it (eg, "it is difficult to accept a change in the own routine when the age is advancing" and "it is challenging to find the environmental conditions that fit well with all family members"). However, such functionality (ie, intervention 8) was considered helpful for less autonomous individuals. Relative to transversal functions, they were believed advantageous and desirable, although some preferences could be observed. The idea of receiving notifications and suggestions (transversal function 5) and the reminders (transversal function 6) from the platform were highly appreciated by all older users. Furthermore, the possibility of visualizing data (transversal function 1), access gamification dynamics (transversal function 2) for an enhanced motivation in pursuing the program, get information (eg, trend and statistics) about their own behaviors and health status through regular reports (transversal function 3), and seek a medical teleconsultation using the platform (transversal function 8) were thought helpful by everyone but undesirable by one of the participants because of poor confidence in the technology. Sharing regular reports with clinicians (transversal function 4) was found desirable by 83% (5/6) of participants but useful by 67% (4/6) of participants as they had some doubts that the clinician would agree to use this feature (ie, it takes considerable time). Finally, the possibility of sharing the data collected by the platform about their health parameters, activities, and behaviors with caregivers (transversal function 7) was widely discussed among older adults, and the willingness to safeguard their privacy and to feel independent but also the desire not to worry their loved ones and a light embarrassment in using gerontological technologies were reported. All these factors led most older participants (4/6, 67%) to consider data access to caregivers useless and undesirable.

Conclusions, Limitations, Strengths, and Future Works

In the era of personalized medicine, several benefits are expected from innovative smart health technologies that are able to ensure a continuous and noninvasive remote monitoring of the patient. For example, an early diagnosis; a data-driven approach in medical assistance; a closer and more trustful physician-patient relationship; and improved self-management, autonomy, and safety of the patient are desired.

In this study, clinicians' and older adults' perspectives about a smart health platform were gathered to design a solution (ie, the SMART BEAR platform) that fits all end user requirements well. The obtained results showed that the SMART BEAR platform represents a suitable solution for improving older adults' QoL, reducing the burden of age-related chronic conditions for both patients and caregivers, and providing objective reporting to the clinician for evidence-based medicine. Moreover, it offers useful insights so that smart health can become a widespread reality. For instance, devices and applications specifically targeted for the older population should not contain stigmatizing symbols, thus avoiding negative feelings in older adults with a consequent failed adoption of the technology. In addition, users' needs and expectations to meet and concerns to address and solve were defined. For example, the service needs to offer adequate training and technical support for end users to be endorsed by clinicians. Finally, several functionalities for a successful smart health platform were suggested, such as psychoeducational interventions and gamification elements.

This study used a mixed approach, adopting qualitative (ie, focus groups) and quantitative methods (ie, questionnaires with close-ended questions). This approach has limitations, as it does not allow a complete comparison between the data obtained with different methods; however, it is most effective for gaining insights into the issue. In fact, focus groups enable open discussions in which researchers can explore a subject with experts. Conversely, web-based questionnaires are a powerful method for maximizing participation in an investigation, thus consolidating or disproving assumptions formulated during the first exploratory phase. The following collection of technology requirements was based on data from a large sample. The designed platform has features that appeal to at least a consistent group of experts and a smaller group of possible users. Ultimately, focus groups become useful again to validate the

XSL•FO RenderX

elaborated concept and gain a detailed impression from potential end users. However, the sample of older adults was limited in comparison with the sample of clinicians, and this may be a limitation that can hardly be overcome because of the difficulty in reaching that population in large numbers. Moreover, it should be noted that the obtained outcomes could have been affected by the characteristics of the participants involved (ie, age groups and age-related conditions were not equally covered by participants).

Regarding research positioning, the authors mainly faced cultural challenges because of demographic differences between the research group and the group under study; that is, older adults. Geriatric medical specialists were essential to adopt a fitting framework for understanding the problem and the objectives of this research. This allowed researchers to design the study methodology and tools by adopting a holistic, person-centered approach instead of the traditional disease-based approach. This point of view was supported by the technical–biological background of the authors with a biomedical engineering degree, especially in studying how novel technological interventions would be able to support the individual's well-being. As this study involved the active participation of older adults, the researchers tried to consider possible biases when the surveys were designed and conducted. This aspect was particularly important for the validation of the proposed design in focus groups when technology was discussed with participants who probably had very limited experience with it. Hence, the mediation of a neuropsychologist ensured that a common understanding was created with the participants and that possible adverse outcomes such as misunderstandings and frustration were avoided. Overall, heterogeneity in the academic background was the key strength of the research group.

Future works comprising further experimental activities with more and varied stakeholders (ie, clinicians and older adults distributed heterogeneously concerning the age, sex, and medical conditions treated or experienced and also their caregivers) are needed to investigate the acceptability and the overall user experience of the future developed platform in free-living conditions.

Acknowledgments

The research leading to these results has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under grant agreement 857172—SMART BEAR project.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Material used in both the requirements collection phase and the evaluation phase. [DOCX File, 1114 KB - aging v5i1e29623 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Results from the web-based questionnaire for older adults related to older adults' relationship with technology. [DOCX File, 25 KB - aging v5i1e29623 app2.docx]

References

- The 2018 Ageing Report: economic and budgetary projections for the EU Member States (2016-2070). European Commission. 2018. URL: <u>https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/fa5ae61f-8eeb-11e8-8bc1-01aa75ed71a1/language-en</u> [accessed 2022-01-31]
- Ickowicz E. Guiding principles for the care of older adults with multimorbidity: an approach for clinicians: American Geriatrics Society Expert Panel on the Care of Older Adults with Multimorbidity. J Am Geriatr Soc 2012 Oct 19;60(10):1-25 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2012.04188.x] [Medline: 22994865]
- 3. Snowden MB, Steinman LE, Bryant LL, Cherrier MM, Greenlund KJ, Leith KH, et al. Dementia and co-occurring chronic conditions: a systematic literature review to identify what is known and where are the gaps in the evidence? Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2017 Apr 01;32(4):357-371 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/gps.4652] [Medline: 28146334]
- 4. Dash S, Shakyawar SK, Sharma M, Kaushik S. Big data in healthcare: management, analysis and future prospects. J Big Data 2019 Jun 19;6(1). [doi: 10.1186/s40537-019-0217-0]
- 5. Tian S, Yang W, Grange JM, Wang P, Huang W, Ye Z. Smart healthcare: making medical care more intelligent. Global Health J 2019 Sep;3(3):62-65. [doi: 10.1016/j.glohj.2019.07.001]
- 6. Zeadally S, Siddiqui F, Baig Z, Ibrahim A. Smart healthcare. PSU Res Rev 2019 Oct 18;4(2):149-168. [doi: 10.1108/prr-08-2019-0027]
- Giger JT, Pope ND, Vogt HB, Gutierrez C, Newland LA, Lemke J, et al. Remote patient monitoring acceptance trends among older adults residing in a frontier state. Comput Hum Behav 2015 Mar;44:174-182 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2014.11.044]

- Demiris G, Thompson H, Boquet J, Le T, Chaudhuri S, Chung J. Older adults' acceptance of a community-based telehealth wellness system. Inform Health Soc Care 2013 Jan 09;38(1):27-36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/17538157.2011.647938] [Medline: 22571733]
- 9. Wade R, Shaw K, Cartwright C. Factors affecting provision of successful monitoring in home Telehealth. Gerontology 2012;58(4):371-377. [doi: 10.1159/000335033] [Medline: 22261740]
- 10. Reeder B, Demiris G, Marek KD. Older adults' satisfaction with a medication dispensing device in home care. Inform Health Soc Care 2013 Oct 16;38(3):211-222 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/17538157.2012.741084] [Medline: 23323721]
- 11. Holden RJ, Campbell NL, Abebe E, Clark DO, Ferguson D, Bodke K, Brain Health Patient Safety Laboratory. Usability and feasibility of consumer-facing technology to reduce unsafe medication use by older adults. Res Social Adm Pharm 2020 Jan;16(1):54-61 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.sapharm.2019.02.011] [Medline: 30853507]
- Barg-Walkow LH, Harrington CN, Mitzner TL, Hartley JQ, Rogers WA. Understanding older adults' perceptions of and attitudes towards exergames. Gerontechnology 2017;16(2):81-90 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4017/gt.2017.16.2.003.00] [Medline: 32025226]
- 13. Similä H, Immonen M, Toska-Tervola J, Enwald H, Keränen N, Kangas M, et al. Feasibility of mobile mental wellness training for older adults. Geriatr Nurs 2018 Sep;39(5):499-505. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.gerinurse.2018.02.001</u>] [Medline: <u>29530292</u>]
- Gellis ZD, Kenaley BL, Ten HT. Integrated telehealth care for chronic illness and depression in geriatric home care patients: the Integrated Telehealth Education and Activation of Mood (I-TEAM) study. J Am Geriatr Soc 2014 May;62(5):889-895. [doi: 10.1111/jgs.12776] [Medline: 24655228]
- 15. Cotten SR, Anderson WA, McCullough BM. Impact of internet use on loneliness and contact with others among older adults: cross-sectional analysis. J Med Internet Res 2013 Feb;15(2):e39 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2306] [Medline: 23448864]
- van Hoof J, Kort HS, Rutten PG, Duijnstee MS. Ageing-in-place with the use of ambient intelligence technology: perspectives of older users. Int J Med Inform 2011 May;80(5):310-331 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2011.02.010] [Medline: 21439898]
- 17. Winslow B. Smart home strategies for user-centered functional assessment of older adults. Int J Autom Smart Technol 2015 Dec 01;5(4):233-242. [doi: 10.5875/ausmt.v5i4.952]
- 18. Planinc R, Kampel M, Ortlieb SA, Carbon CC. User-centered design and evaluation of an ambient event detector based on a balanced scorecard approach. Int J Adv Life Sci 2013:237-249 [FREE Full text]
- Peek ST, Wouters EJ, Luijkx KG, Vrijhoef HJ. What it takes to successfully implement technology for aging in place: focus groups with stakeholders. J Med Internet Res 2016 May 03;18(5):e98 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5253] [Medline: 27143097]
- Claes V, Devriendt E, Tournoy J, Milisen K. Attitudes and perceptions of adults of 60 years and older towards in-home monitoring of the activities of daily living with contactless sensors: an explorative study. Int J Nurs Stud 2015 Jan;52(1):134-148. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.05.010] [Medline: 24951084]
- 21. Vaportzis E, Clausen MG, Gow AJ. Older adults perceptions of technology and barriers to interacting with tablet computers: a focus group study. Front Psychol 2017 Oct 04;8:1687 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01687] [Medline: 29071004]
- 22. Bellandi V, Ceravolo P, Cristiano A, Damiani E, Sanna A, Trojaniello D. A design methodology for matching smart health requirements. Concurrency Computat Pract Exper 2020 Oct 28;33(22):1-16. [doi: 10.1002/cpe.6062]
- Hirvonen N, Enwald H, Känsäkoski H, Eriksson-Backa K, Nguyen H, Huhta A, et al. Older adults' views on eHealth services: a systematic review of scientific journal articles. Int J Med Inform 2020 Mar;135:104031. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2019.104031] [Medline: <u>31918340</u>]
- 24. Czaja SJ, Charness N, Fisk AD, Hertzog C, Nair SN, Rogers WA, et al. Factors predicting the use of technology: findings from the Center for Research and Education on Aging and Technology Enhancement (CREATE). Psychol Aging 2006 Jun;21(2):333-352 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/0882-7974.21.2.333] [Medline: 16768579]
- 25. Wildenbos GA, Peute L, Jaspers M. Aging barriers influencing mobile health usability for older adults: a literature based framework (MOLD-US). Int J Med Inform 2018 Jun;114:66-75. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2018.03.012</u>] [Medline: <u>29673606</u>]
- 26. Le Deist F, Latouille M. Acceptability conditions for telemonitoring gerontechnology in the elderly. IRBM 2016 Nov;37(5-6):284-288. [doi: 10.1016/j.irbm.2015.12.002]
- 27. Cowan KE, McKean AJ, Gentry MT, Hilty DM. Barriers to use of telepsychiatry: clinicians as gatekeepers. Mayo Clin Proc 2019 Dec;94(12):2510-2523. [doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2019.04.018] [Medline: <u>31806104</u>]
- Buck H, Pinter A, Poole E, Boehmer J, Foy A, Black S, et al. Evaluating the older adult experience of a web-based, tablet-delivered heart failure self-care program using gerontechnology principles. Geriatr Nurs 2017 Nov;38(6):537-541. [doi: 10.1016/j.gerinurse.2017.04.001] [Medline: 28554497]
- Orpwood R, Chadd J, Howcroft D, Sixsmith A, Torrington J, Gibson G, et al. Designing technology to improve quality of life for people with dementia: user-led approaches. Univ Access Inf Soc 2009 Oct 27;9(3):249-259. [doi: 10.1007/s10209-009-0172-1]

- Cesari M, de Carvalho IA, Thiyagarajan JA, Cooper C, Martin FC, Reginster J, et al. Evidence for the domains supporting the construct of intrinsic capacity. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2018;73(12):1653-1660. [doi: <u>10.1093/gerona/gly011</u>] [Medline: <u>29408961</u>]
- 31. Garlo K, O'Leary JR, Van Ness PH, Fried TR. Burden in caregivers of older adults with advanced illness. J Am Geriatr Soc 2010 Dec;58(12):2315-2322 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2010.03177.x] [Medline: 21087225]
- 32. Adelman RD, Tmanova LL, Delgado D, Dion S, Lachs MS. Caregiver burden: a clinical review. J Am Med Assoc 2014 Mar 12;311(10):1052-1060. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.304] [Medline: 24618967]
- 33. Evans J, Papadopoulos A, Silvers CT, Charness N, Boot WR, Schlachta-Fairchild L, et al. Remote health monitoring for older adults and those with heart failure: adherence and system usability. Telemed J E Health 2016 Jun;22(6):480-488 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2015.0140] [Medline: 26540369]
- 34. Stegemann S. Developing Drug Products in an Aging Society: From Concept to Prescribing. Cham: Springer; 2016.

Abbreviations

IC: intrinsic capacity IRCCS: Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico QoL: quality of life

Edited by J Wang; submitted 14.04.21; peer-reviewed by K Baudin, H Gandhi, R Ciorap; comments to author 25.10.21; revised version received 08.11.21; accepted 09.11.21; published 28.02.22.

Please cite as:

Cristiano A, Musteata S, De Silvestri S, Bellandi V, Ceravolo P, Cesari M, Azzolino D, Sanna A, Trojaniello D Older Adults' and Clinicians' Perspectives on a Smart Health Platform for the Aging Population: Design and Evaluation Study JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e29623 URL: https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e29623 doi:10.2196/29623 PMID:35225818

©Alessia Cristiano, Stela Musteata, Sara De Silvestri, Valerio Bellandi, Paolo Ceravolo, Matteo Cesari, Domenico Azzolino, Alberto Sanna, Diana Trojaniello. Originally published in JMIR Aging (https://aging.jmir.org), 28.02.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Socioeconomic Disparities in the Demand for and Use of Virtual Visits Among Senior Adults During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Cross-sectional Study

Ellie Yu¹, BSc, MPH, PhD; Simon Hagens¹, BSc, MBA

Canada Health Infoway, Toronto, ON, Canada

Corresponding Author: Ellie Yu, BSc, MPH, PhD Canada Health Infoway 150 King Street Unit 1300 Toronto, ON, M5H 1J9 Canada Phone: 1 6476406189 Email: ellieyuyaoyu@gmail.com

Abstract

Background: The COVID-19 pandemic has limited the provision of in-person care and accelerated the need for virtual care. Older adults (65+ years) were 1 of the highest user groups of in-person health care services prior to the pandemic. Social distancing guidelines and high rates of mortality from coronavirus infections among older adults made receiving in-person health care services challenging for older adults. The provision of virtual care technologies can help to ensure continuity of care and provide essential health care services during the pandemic to those at high risk of contracting the COVID-19 coronavirus, including older adults. It is also essential to understand and address potential socioeconomic, demographic, and health disparities in the demand for and use of virtual care technologies among older adults.

Objective: The objective of this study is to investigate socioeconomic disparities in the demand for and use of virtual visits during the COVID-19 pandemic among older adults in Canada.

Methods: A cross-sectional web survey was conducted with 12,052 Canadians over the age of 16 years, selected from Leger's Léger Opinion panel from July 14 to August 6, 2021. Associations between socioeconomic factors and the demand for and use of virtual visits were tested using χ^2 tests and logistic regression models for telephone visits, video visits, and secure messaging. Weighting was applied using the 2016 census reference variables to render a representative sample of the Canadian population.

Results: A total of 2303 older adults were surveyed. Older adults expressed the highest demand for and use of telephone visits, following by video visits and secure messaging. eHealth literacy was positively associated with the use of all 3 virtual care modalities. Higher income was negatively associated with the use of video visits (odds ratio [OR] 0.65, 95% CI 0.428-0.974, P=.03). Having no private insurance coverage was negatively associated with use of secure messaging (OR 0.73, 95% CI 0.539-0.983, P=.04), but living in a rural community (OR 0.172, 95% CI 1.12-2.645, P=.01) and being born outside of Canada (OR 0.150, 95% CI 1.041-2.173, P=.03) were positively associated with the use of secure messaging. Higher education (OR 0.078, 95% CI 0.633-0.97, P=.02) and being non-White (OR=0.054, 95% CI 0.312-0.92, P=.02) were negatively associated with the use of the telephone.

Conclusions: This study found that compared to video visits and secure messaging, the demand for and use of telephone visits were more prevalent among older adults during the pandemic. The gaps between the demand for and use of video and secure messaging services remain substantial. Our results highlight socioeconomic disparities among older adults that could potentially explain this trend. Lower income and a lower education level may act as barriers for older adults in acquiring the skills and technologies necessary to use more complex solutions, such as video and secure messaging. In addition, higher eHealth literacy was found to be critical for older adults to successfully navigate all types of virtual visit technologies.

(JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e35221) doi:10.2196/35221

KEYWORDS

virtual care; virtual visit; COVID-19; survey; virtual care demand; virtual care use; older adults; elderly care; aging; digital health; pandemic

Introduction

The COVID-19 pandemic has posed unprecedented challenges for Canadians and the Canadian health care system. As in-person visits halted due to social distancing guidelines in the beginning of 2020, there has been a rapid expansion and uptake of virtual care technologies by the health care system to meet patient needs. Virtual care technologies can be defined as "any interaction between patients and/or members of their circle of care, occurring remotely, using any forms of communication or information technologies, with the aim of facilitating or maximizing the quality and effectiveness of patient care" [1]. Virtual care can be conducted via virtual visits through modalities, including telephone visits, video visits, or secure messaging interactions with a health care provider. Virtual visits have the potential to expand access to care for patients, especially during the COVID-19 pandemic. In Ontario, primary care provision quickly shifted to virtual with a 56-fold increase in virtual visits between March and July 2020 [2]. Between January and August 2021, virtual visits accounted for 35% of all most recent patient-reported visits, with 78% conducted via the telephone, 19% via videoconferencing, and 3% via secure messaging [3].

The declaration of the COVID-19 pandemic and social distancing measures disproportionally affected older adults above the age of 65 years. Older adults were particularly affected by COVID-19 due to prevalent health conditions related to age that lead to more severe clinical outcomes when infected with COVID-19. Data from Statistics Canada indicate that between March 2020 and May 2021, older adults accounted for 93% of the deaths attributed to COVID-19 [4]. Prior to the pandemic, older adults were among the highest health service users [5,6]. Age-related health factors, such as multimorbidity and limitations on functional capacity, make routine as well as urgent health care critical for the well-being of older adults. Older adults may experience challenges with accessing health services due to physical capacity limitations, financial barriers, and deteriorating psychological conditions [7]. The COVID-19 pandemic posed additional challenges for older adults, such as misinformation, physical and psychological isolation, and limitations to routine activities [8].

There is a paucity of research that assessed the impact of COVID-19 on health system utilization by older adults and the barriers and facilitators related to the demand for and use of virtual visits. International studies have indicated that during the COVID-19 pandemic, the number of routine health care services have decreased for older adults [9]. Findings from the recent Commonwealth Fund survey on older adults suggest as many as 32% of Canadian older adults with multiple chronic conditions had to cancel or postpone at least 1 appointment due to the pandemic [10]. Evidence emerging from Ontario suggests that because of a quick shift to virtual care, older adults maintained higher levels of care during the pandemic despite the absence of in-person care in many care settings [2]. Presently, there is a lack of knowledge about how older adults have navigated the health care system during the pandemic and their demand for and use of virtual visits to substitute or supplement in-person care. The purpose of this study is to

investigate potential disparities in the demand for and use of virtual visits among older adults by assessing the associations between socioeconomic characteristics of older adults with self-reported demand for and use of telephone visits, video visits, and secure messaging services during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Methods

Study Population and Design

The 2021 Canadian Digital Health Survey is a cross-sectional, web-based survey of 12,052 Canadians, conducted in both English and French through computer-assisted web interviewing technology. The survey was commissioned by Canada Health Infoway (Infoway) and conducted by Léger. The Léger Opinion (LEO) panel was used for this survey. LEO is Léger's proprietary panel with nearly 500,000 representative panelists from all regions of Canada based on a representative sample of Canadian citizens with internet access. LEO's panelists were randomly selected using random digital dial samples, and panelists from more hard-to-reach target groups were also added to the panel through targeted recruitment campaigns. The survey questionnaire was created by Infoway, but the administration of the survey and the cleaning and coding of the survey data were conducted by Léger and then transferred to Infoway for analyses. A consent statement was presented to respondents at the beginning of the survey, and informed consent was obtained as part of the survey. No personal identifier was included in the data set to Infoway, and no personal health information was collected as part of the survey. Testing of the online survey was conducted by both Infoway as well as Léger staff. A small monetary incentive was offered to survey participates by Léger. The survey collected questions on demographic, socioeconomic and health characteristics as well as the self-reported demand for, and use of, digital health services, among other questions. In total, 68 questions were included in the survey.

Based on the respondent's default language of choice, the survey was presented to respondents in either English or French. Data collection took place from July 14 to August 6, 2021. Using 2016 Canadian Census data, Leger's methodologists applied weighting according to region, age, and gender to render a representative sample of the Canadian population. A margin of error cannot be associated with a nonprobability sample in a panel survey. For comparison purposes, a probability sample of this size would have a margin of error of $\pm 0.895\%$, 19 times out of 20. For more details on the survey, please refer to a comprehensive report published by Infoway [3].

Measures

Use of virtual visits was determined by the self-reported answer to the question "Have you used ______ in the last 12 months?" and the demand for virtual care was determined by the self-reported answer to the question "Are you interested in accessing _____, whether you currently have access or not?" The demand for and use of telephone visits, video visits, and secure messaging were assessed separately with the same questions.

XSL•FO RenderX

Yu & Hagens

Socioeconomic Factors

Tables 1-4 outline the socioeconomic, health-related, and demographic factors, as well as the eHealth Literacy Scale (eHEALS) used to measure eHealth literacy, respectively. Household income reports the self-reported household income before tax in the past year. Education level reports the self-reported highest level of education obtained, including qualification obtained outside of Canada, and responses were collapsed into secondary education or less; college diploma or trade certificates; undergraduate degree; graduate degrees, including paramedical professional degrees; other; none of the above; and prefer not to answer. Community size was measured using the question "How would you describe the community you live in?" and responses were rural, small, medium, or large population centers, and urban centers. The population size for a rural community was defined as less than 1000 people. The

population size for small, medium, and large population centers was defined as 1000-19,999 people, 20,000-99,999 people, and 100,000-999,999 people, respectively. An urban center was defined as 1 million people and over. Immigrant status was assessed with the question "Are you a Canadian citizen?" Language at home reports the language spoken on a regular basis at home. Employment status reports the current employment status, and responses were collapsed into working, including full- and part-time employment; unemployed, including homemakers, disabled, and students; retired; other; and prefer not to answer. Health coverage was based on the question "Which of the following best describes the type of health insurance coverage you currently have?" and the categories were collapsed into public coverage only, private coverage, no coverage, and don't know and prefer not to say. Private coverage includes insurance plans paid for by the respondent, a family member, an employer, or an association.



Yu & Hagens

 Table 1. Socioeconomic characteristics of older adults and bivariate associations with the demand for and use of virtual visits, 2011 Canadian Digital Health Survey (N=2303).

Factors	All n (unweighted, weighted)=(2303, 2454), weighted % ^a	Use ^b n (unweighted, weighted)=(1149, 1245), weighted %	Versus have not used, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	<i>P</i> value	Demand ^c n (un- weighted, weight- ed)=(1773, 1902), weighted %	Versus have no in- terest, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	P value
Household income (CAD \$) ^d	N/A ^e	N/A	12.5 (7)	.08	N/A	29.9 (7)	<.001
24,999 or less	9.7	8.8	N/A	N/A	8.5	N/A	N/A
25,000-49,999	22.9	21.8	N/A	N/A	21.9	N/A	N/A
50,000-79,999	23	22.3	N/A	N/A	22.9	N/A	N/A
80,000-99,999	14.1	15.6	N/A	N/A	14.9	N/A	N/A
100,000-149,999	12.7	12.5	N/A	N/A	13.3	N/A	N/A
150,000-249,999	4.8	5.5	N/A	N/A	5.4	N/A	N/A
250,000 or more	1.0	1.2	N/A	N/A	1.1	N/A	N/A
Prefer not to answer	11.9	12.3	N/A	N/A	12	N/A	N/A
Education level	N/A	N/A	21.2 (6)	.01	N/A	39.9 (6)	<.001
Secondary or less	22.3	20.9	N/A	N/A	20.8	N/A	N/A
College or trade	32.1	31.3	N/A	N/A	31.5	N/A	N/A
Undergraduate degree	29.3	30.6	N/A	N/A	30.7	N/A	N/A
Graduate degree or more	13.4	15.1	N/A	N/A	14.7	N/A	N/A
Other	1.1	1.0	N/A	N/A	1.2	N/A	N/A
None of the above	1.3	1.0	N/A	N/A	1	N/A	N/A
Prefer not to answer	0.4	0.1	N/A	N/A	0.2	N/A	N/A
Community size	N/A	N/A	10.5 (4)	.03	N/A	0.6 (4)	.97
Rural	10	9.9	N/A	N/A	10	N/A	N/A
Small population center	18.2	16.6	N/A	N/A	18	N/A	N/A
Medium population center	19.6	18.4	N/A	N/A	19.5	N/A	N/A
Large population center	29.9	30.9	N/A	N/A	30.1	N/A	N/A
Urban center	22.3	24.2	N/A	N/A	22.4	N/A	N/A
Immigration status	N/A	N/A	1.4 (2)	.50	N/A	2.7 (2)	.26
Canadian citizen by birth	82.9	82.3	N/A	N/A	82.6	N/A	N/A
Canadian citizen by natural- ization ^f	16.0	16.8	N/A	N/A	16.5	N/A	N/A
Not a Canadian citizen	1.0	0.9	N/A	N/A	0.9	N/A	N/A
Language spoken at home	N/A	N/A	12.6(2)	.01	N/A	1.5 (2)	.68
English	76.1	78.4	N/A	N/A	76.6	N/A	N/A
French	22.0	98.6	N/A	N/A	21.6	N/A	N/A
Other	1.9	1.4	N/A	N/A	1.8	N/A	N/A
Employment status	N/A	N/A	7.9 (4)	.44	N/A	2.2 (4)	.97
Working full-time or part- time	13.5	13.1	N/A	N/A	13.7	N/A	N/A
Unemployed	2.0	2.0	N/A	N/A	2.1	N/A	N/A
Retired	83.2	83.6	N/A	N/A	83.1	N/A	N/A
Other	1.1	1.4	N/A	N/A	1.1	N/A	N/A
Prefer not to answer	0	0	N/A	N/A	0	N/A	N/A

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e35221

XSL•FO RenderX

```
JMIR Aging 2022 | vol. 5 | iss. 1 |e35221 | p.124
(page number not for citation purposes)
```

Factors	All n (unweighted, weighted)=(2303, 2454), weighted % ^a	Use ^b n (unweighted, weighted)=(1149, 1245), weighted %	Versus have not used, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	<i>P</i> value	Demand ^c n (un- weighted, weight- ed)=(1773, 1902), weighted %	Versus have no in- terest, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	P value
Health care coverage	N/A	N/A	74.3 (4)	<.001	N/A	28.2 (4)	<.001
Public coverage only	54.5	61.1	N/A	N/A	56.2	N/A	N/A
Private coverage	36.6	34.0	N/A	N/A	36.2	N/A	N/A
No coverage	6.4	3.8	N/A	N/A	5.4	N/A	N/A
I don't know	1.7	0.6	N/A	N/A	1.3	N/A	N/A
Prefer not to answer	0.9	0.5	N/A	N/A	0.8	N/A	N/A

^aPercentages are weighted and have been rounded and may not total 100.

^bOlder adults who have used of at least 1 type of virtual visit modality in the past 12 months.

^cOlder adults who have expressed the demand for at least 1 type of virtual visit modality.

 $^{\rm d}A$ currency exchange rate of CAD \$1=US \$0.78 is applicable.

^eN/A: not applicable.

 $^{\rm f}\mbox{Data}$ not available due to low cell count in response categories.



Yu & Hagens

Table 2. Health-related characteristics of older adults and bivariate associations with the demand for and use of virtual visits, 2011 Canadian Digital Health Survey (N=2303).

Factors	All n (unweighted, weighted)=(2303, 2454), weighted % ^a	Use ^b n (unweighted, weighted)=(1149, 1245), weighted %	Versus have not used, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	P value	Demand ^c n (un- weighted, weight- ed)=(1773, 1902), weighted %	Versus have no in- terest, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	P value
Access to a family physician	N/A ^d	N/A	28.2 (1)	<.001	N/A	32.8 (1)	<.001
Yes	93.9	96.3	N/A		95.0	N/A	
Chronic conditions							
Chronic pain	15.5	18.3	14.5 (1)	<.001	16.7	8.4 (1)	.004
Cancer	5.4	5.5	0.1 (1)	.79	5.6	0.7 (1)	.40
Diabetes of all types	17.1	19.7	12.9 (1)	<.001	16.9	0.2 (1)	.63
Chronic obstructive pul- monary disease (COPD)	4.9	5.3	1.11 (1)	.30	5.0	0.4 (1)	.53
Arthritis	30.1	34.6	24.8 (1)	.001	30.9	2.9 (1)	.09
Cardiovascular disease (CVD)	7.3	8.4	5.2 (1)	.02	7.5	0.6 (1)	.45
Alzheimer disease or any other dementia	0.2	0.3	N/A	N/A	0.3	N/A	N/A
Developmental disability	0	0.1	N/A	N/A	0	N/A	N/A
Drug or alcohol dependency	1.0	1.5	4.6 (1)	.04	1.3	5.2 (1)	.02
Obesity	11.5	13.7	12.0 (1)	.001	12.3	4.9 (1)	.03
Learning disability	0.6	0.6	0.1 (1)	.80	0.7	N/A	N/A
Emotional, psychological, or mental health conditions	7.2	8.9	11.5 (1)	.001	7.9	5.5 (1)	.02
Physical disability	7.1	8.3	6.1 (1)	.02	7.1	.001 (1)	.98
Sensory disability	8.5	10.0	7.2 (1)	.01	9.1	4.2 (1)	.04
3 or more chronic conditions	14.0	17.2	21.1 (1)	.009	15.0	6.6 (1)	.01
SRH ^e	N/A	N/A	26.6 (5)	<.001	N/A	13.5 (5)	.02
Excellent	7.0	5.3	N/A	N/A	7.1	N/A	N/A
Very good	32.1	29.1	N/A	N/A	32.3	N/A	N/A
Good	40	43.2	N/A	N/A	39.8	N/A	N/A
Fair	16.9	17.9	N/A	N/A	17	N/A	N/A
Poor	3.8	4.3	N/A	N/A	3.7	N/A	N/A
Prefer not to say	0.2	0.2	N/A	N/A	0.1	N/A	N/A
SRMH ^f	N/A	N/A	9.7 (5)	.09	N/A	6.5 (5)	.26
Excellent	26.4	24.7	N/A	N/A	25.7	N/A	N/A
Very good	37.0	37.0	N/A	N/A	37.4	N/A	N/A
Good	26.3	27.9	N/A	N/A	26.4	N/A	N/A
Fair	8.6	9.0	N/A	N/A	8.7	N/A	N/A
Poor	1.5	1.5	N/A	N/A	1.7	N/A	N/A
Prefer not to say	0.1	0.0	N/A	N/A	0.1	N/A	N/A

^aPercentages are weighted and have been rounded and may not total 100.

^bOlder adults who have used of at least 1 type of virtual visit modality in the past 12 months.

^cOlder adults who have expressed the demand for at least 1 type of virtual visit modality.

^dN/A: not applicable.

^eSRH: self-rated health status.

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e35221

^fSRMH: self-rated mental health status.

Table 3. Demographic characteristics of older adults and bivariate associations with the demand for and use of virtual visits, 2011 Canadian Digital
Health Survey (N=2303).

Factors	All n (unweighted, weighted)=(2303, 2454)	Use ^a n (unweighted, weighted)=(1149, 1245)	Versus have not used	Demand ^b n (unweighted, weighted)=(1773, 1902)	Versus have no interest
Age (years)		·			
F(df)	N/A ^c	N/A	1.72 (1)	N/A	3.19 (1)
<i>P</i> value	N/A	N/A	.19	N/A	.07
Mean (SD)	71.51 (5.13)	71.39 (5.05)	N/A	71.41 (5.04)	N/A
Gender identity, $\chi^2(df)$, <i>P</i> value	N/A	N/A	10.8 (2), .06	N/A	4.6 (2), .46
Man, weighted % ^d	45.3	42.5	N/A	45.4	N/A
Woman, weighted %	54.5	57.3	N/A	54.4	N/A
Other/prefer not to answer, weighted %	0.1	0.3	N/A	0.3	N/A
Ethnic identity, $\chi^2(df)$, <i>P</i> value	N/A	N/A	14.9 (2), .31	N/A	17.9 (2), .16
White, weighted %	92.1	93.3	N/A	92.9	N/A
Non-White, weighted %	6.8	4.7	N/A	5.1	N/A
Other, weighted %	1.5	1.5	N/A	1.2	N/A
Prefer not to answer, weighted %	1.1	0.6	N/A	1.0	N/A

^aOlder adults who have used of at least 1 type of virtual visit modality in the past 12 months.

^bOlder adults who have expressed the demand for at least 1 type of virtual visit modality.

^cN/A: not applicable.

^dPercentages are weighted and have been rounded and may not total 100.

Table 4. eHEALS ^a used to measure eHealth literacy of older adults and bivariate associations with the demand for and use of virtual visits, 2011
Canadian Digital Health Survey (N=2303).

Factor	All n (unweighted, weight- ed)=(2303, 2454)	Use ^b n (unweighted, weighted)=(1149, 1245)	Versus have not used	Demand ^c n (unweighted, weighted)=(1773, 1902)	Versus have no interest
F(df)	N/A ^d	N/A	2.725 (1)	N/A	13.78 (1)
P value	N/A	N/A	.10	N/A	<.001
Mean (SD)	25.95 (6.98)	26.69 (6.81)	N/A	26.59 (6.67)	N/A

^aeHEALS: eHealth Literacy Scale.

^bOlder adults who have used of at least 1 type of virtual visit modality in the past 12 months.

^cOlder adults who have expressed the demand for at least 1 type of virtual visit modality.

^dN/A: not applicable.

Health-Related Factors

Diagnosed chronic health conditions were assessed with the question "Do you have _____ diagnosed by a health professional?" Respondents who indicated "yes" were counted for each chronic condition. Self-rated mental health status (SRMH) and self-rated health status (SRH) were measured by asking respondents, "In general, how would you rate your overall physical/mental health?" Access to a family doctor was assessed through the question "Do you have a family doctor or regular place of care, such as a health center or a family

medical/medicine group?" The responses were dichotomized into yes and no/don't know.

Demographic Factors

Age was calculated based on the respondents' year of birth and survey date. Gender was self-reported and categorized into man, woman, and other/prefer not to answer. Ethnicity was based on the question "Which ancestry category best describes you?" and responses were collapsed into White, non-White, other, and prefer not to answer.



eHealth Literacy

eHealth literacy was measured using the eHEALS, an 8-item self-assessment tool designed to measure respondents' knowledge, comfort, and perceived skills at finding, evaluating, and applying electronic health information to health problems [11]. Originally developed to assess eHealth literacy levels among youth and youth workers by Skinner and Norman [11], the scale has since then been adapted to a variety of settings, population groups, and multiple languages [12]. Each question measures an aspect of perceived eHealth literacy and is scored on a Likert scale ranging from 1 to 5. Scores are summed to derive an overall eHealth literacy score that ranges from 8 to 40 for each respondent. A higher eHEALS score represents higher self-perceived eHealth literacy.

Statistical Analysis

Bivariate Associations

SPSS Statistics version 24 (IBM) was used for descriptive analyses [13]. Descriptive statistics were calculated for older adults, older adults who used at least 1 type of virtual visit modality in the past year, and older adults who expressed a demand for using at least 1 type of virtual visit modality. Bivariate associations between the demand for and use of virtual visits and socioeconomic, demographic, and health characteristics of older adults were assessed using χ^2 tests for categorical variables and the t test for continuous variables. Respondents who used at least 1 modality of virtual visit were compared to respondents who had not used any virtual visit in the past 12 months, and respondents who expressed a demand for at least 1 type of virtual visit were compared to respondents who did not express a demand for any virtual visit modalities.

Adjusted Logistic Regressions

SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute) was used for logistic regression analyses [14]. Using the use and demand for telephone visits, video visits, and secure messaging as outcome variables, multivariable logistic regressions were conducted to assess associations with socioeconomic characteristics of older adults. Socioeconomic characteristics included in the model were household income (below and equal to CAD \$80,000 before tax vs above CAD \$80,000; note that a currency exchange rate of CAD \$1=US \$0.78 is applicable), education (less than undergraduate degree vs at least an undergraduate degree), community size (rural vs other), immigration status (not born in Canada vs born in Canada), language at home (English vs other), employment status (retired vs other), and health insurance coverage (no private insurance vs has private insurance). We adjusted for demographic and health factors using gender (male female/other), SRH (excellent/very good good/fair/poor/prefer not to say), SRMH (excellent/very good vs good/fair/poor/prefer not to say), ethnicity (non-White vs White), and chronic conditions (3 or more vs less than 3). In addition, we included eHealth literacy measured with eHEALS [11] to assess its impacts on the demand for and use of virtual visits. Adjusted models containing all the variables together were used to evaluate the odds of expressing the demand for and use of telephone, secure messaging, or video visits as a function of socioeconomic variables. No interactions were found

between gender, SRH, SRMH, income, education, ethnicity, community, immigration status, language, employment status, insurance coverage, number of chronic conditions, and eHealth literacy.

Results

Sample Description

All reported percentages and related absolute numbers were weighted. A total of 2303 older adults were surveyed, which represents 19.11% of the total sample of 12,052 from the 2021 Canadian Digital Health Survey. The proportion of older adults who expressed a demand for telephone visits was the highest, followed by video visits and then secure messaging. Similarly, the proportion of older adults in our sample who have used telephone visits within the past year was the highest, followed by video visits and secure messaging. Overall, 1902/2454 (77.51%) older adults expressed a demand for at least 1 modality of virtual visit, and 1245/2303 (54.06%) used at least 1 modality of virtual visits in the past 12 months. The mean age of respondents was 71.51 years (SD 5.13), 1111/2454 (45.27%) respondents identified as male, and 2303/2454 (93.85%) respondents reported having a family physician or a regular place of care. In addition, 30.11% (739/2554) older adults reported having arthritis, followed by diabetes and chronic pain, and 344/2454 (14.02%) respondents reported having 3 or more chronic conditions. Just over one-third of respondents rated their health status as either excellent or very good, and over half of the respondents rated their mental health status as excellent or very good. More than half of the older adults surveyed reported their household income before tax to be below CAD \$80,000, over half of the respondents reported not having an undergraduate degree, almost all the respondents self-identified as White, and 9.98% (245/2454) reported living in rural communities. Approximately 82.89% (2034/2454) of respondents were born in Canada, 1867/2454 (76.08%) surveyed respondents reported speaking English at home, 2042/2454 (83.21%) respondents were retired, and 896/2454 (36.51%) respondents had private health coverage. The average eHealth literacy score for older adults in our sample was 25.95 (SD 6.97).

Bivariate Associations for Demand for and Use of Virtual Care

The proportion of older adults who expressed a demand for at least 1 modality of virtual visits was 1902/2454 (77.51%) respondents, and the proportion of older adults who used at least 1 modality of virtual visits last year with their health care provider was 1245/2303 (54.06%) respondents (Table 1). Bivariate associations between the demand for and use of virtual care and socioeconomic, demographic, and health characteristics are shown in Tables 1-3. Significant associations were found between both income (P<.001) and education (P<.001) with the demand for virtual visits. No other socioeconomic factors were found to be significantly associated with the demand for virtual visits, a significant association was found with education (P=.01) but not for income (P=.08). Other socioeconomic factors associated with the use of virtual visits

included community size (P=.03), home language (P=.01), and health coverage (P<.001). Compared to older adults who did not express a demand for any virtual visit modalities, older adults who expressed a demand were more likely to have a family physician (1807/1902 [95%] vs 497/552 [90%], P<.001), have 3 or more chronic conditions (285/1902 [15%] vs 61/552 [11.1%], P=.01), and be diagnosed with chronic pain, drug or alcohol dependence, a learning disability, or a sensory disability. In addition, significant associations were found between the demand for virtual visits and SRHS, household income, education, and health care coverage. Compared to older adults who did not use any modality of virtual visits in the past 12 months, older adults who used virtual visits were also more likely to have a family physician (1199/1245 [96.31%] vs 1100/1209 [90.98%], P<.001), have 3 or more chronic conditions (212/1245 [17.03%] vs 133/1209 [11%], P<.001), and be diagnosed with chronic pain, diabetes, arthritis, cardiovascular disease, obesity, emotional, a psychological or mental health condition, a physical disability, or a sensory disability. eHealth literacy scores were higher among those who expressed a demand for virtual visits (26.59 vs 23.74, P<.001) and higher among those who used virtual visits in the past 12 months (26.69 vs 25.18, P=.01).

Adjusted Logistic Regression Model to Assess Determinants of Demand for Virtual Care

Table 5 displays the adjusted logistic regression findings on factors associated with the demand for telephone visits, video

visits, and secure messaging. Socioeconomic factors associated with the use of telephone visits, video visits, and secure messaging were tested with 3 multivariable logistic regression models. Older adults with an annual income of less than CAD \$80,000 were less likely to express a demand for video visits (odds ratio [OR] 0.56, 95% CI 0.44-0.72, P<.001), secure messaging (OR 0.77, 95% CI 0.61-0.98, P=.04), and telephone visits (OR 0.74, 95% CI 0.57-0.97, P=.03). Similarly, older adults without an undergraduate degree were less likely to express a demand for video visits (OR 0.62, 95% CI 0.50-0.77, P<.001), secure messaging (OR 0.71, 95% CI 0.58-0.88, P<.001), and telephone visits (OR 0.68, 95% CI 0.54-0.86, P < .001). Other factors that were significant included ethnicity, language, insurance coverage, digital health literacy, and gender. Being non-White and an English speaker at home were negatively associated with the demand for video visits and secure messaging but not for telephone visits. Having no private insurance (OR 1.21, 95% CI 1.01-1.47, P=.04) and having more chronic conditions (OR 1.52, 95% CI 1.16-1.99, P<.001) were positively associated with the demand for telephone visits. Older adults with higher eHealth literacy, reflected by a higher score on the eHEALS, were more likely to express a demand for video visits (OR 1.04, 95% CI 1.03-1.06, P<.001), telephone visits (OR 1.04, 95% CI 1.03-1.06, P<.001), and secure messaging (OR 1.05, 95% CI 1.04-1.06, P<.001).

Table 5.	Factors associated	with the demand for	r virtual visits, 2011	Canadian Digital Health	Survey (N=2303).
----------	--------------------	---------------------	------------------------	-------------------------	------------------

Factors	Video, OR ^a (95% CI)	Messaging, OR (95% CI)	Telephone, OR (95% CI)
Household income (CAD \$80,000 and below vs above CAD \$80,000 ^b)	0.56 (0.44-0.72)	0.77 (0.61-0.98)	0.74 (0.57-0.97)
Education (less than undergraduate degree vs undergraduate degree or more)	0.62 (0.50-0.77)	0.71 (0.58-0.88)	0.68 (0.54-0.86)
Community (rural vs other)	1.04 (0.79-1.37)	1.05 (0.80-1.38)	1.15 (0.85-1.55)
Immigration status (immigrant/not a citizen vs born in Canada)	1.19 (0.95-1.51)	1.14(0.91-1.44)	1.01 (0.79-1.30)
Language (English vs other)	0.78 (0.64-0.96)	0.71 (0.58-0.86)	1.23 (1.00-1.52)
Employment (retired vs other)	0.91 (0.73-1.13)	0.91 (0.73-1.14)	0.94 (0.74-1.20)
Insurance (without private insurance vs with private insurance)	1.03 (0.86-1.22)	1.00 (0.84-1.19)	1.21 (1.01-1.47)
Gender (male vs female/other)	1.11 (0.93-1.32)	1.19 (1.00-1.41)	0.94 (0.78-1.13)
SRH ^c (excellent/very good vs good/fair/poor/prefer not to say)	1.15 (0.95-1.39)	1.1 (0.91-1.33)	0.97 (0.79-1.19)
SRMH ^d (excellent/very good vs good/fair/poor/prefer not to say)	0.95 (0.79-1.15)	0.87 (0.72-1.05)	0.97 (0.79-1.20)
Ethnicity (non-White vs White)	0.59 (0.35-1.00)	0.54 (0.32-0.93)	0.61 (0.36-1.03)
Chronic disease (3 or more vs less than 3)	1.02 (0.81-1.30)	1.1 (0.87-1.40)	1.52 (1.16-1.99)
eHEALS ^e score (8-40)	1.04 (1.03-1.06)	1.05 (1.04-1.06)	1.04 (1.03-1.06)

^aOR: odds ratio.

^bA currency exchange rate of CAD \$1=US \$0.78 is applicable.

^cSRH: self-rated health status.

^dSRMH: self-rated mental health status.

^eeHEALS: eHealth Literacy Scale.

Adjusted Logistic Regression Model to Assess Determinants of Use of Virtual Care

Table 6 displays the adjusted logistic regression findings on factors associated with the demand for telephone visits, video visits, and secure messaging. Unlike its associations with demand, a lower income was not significantly associated with the use of secure messaging or telephone visits but was negatively associated with video visits (OR 0.64, 95% CI 0.43-0.95, P=.03). A lower level of education was found to be negatively associated with use of telephone visits for older adults (OR 0.78, 95% CI 0.63-0.97, P=.02). Other socioeconomic factors that increased the odds of using video visits were being an English speaker (OR 1.99, 95% CI 1.30-3.03, P<.001) and being born outside of Canada (OR 1.67, 95% CI 1.18-2.36, P<.001). Older adults who were born outside of Canada (OR 1.50, 95% CI 1.04-2.17, P=.03) and those who resided in rural

communities (OR 1.72, 95% CI 1.12-2.65, P=.01) had higher odds of using secure messaging during the past year, while older adults who did not have private insurance had lower odds of using secure messaging (OR 0.73, 95% CI 0.54-0.98, P=.04). Interestingly, having no private insurance increased the odds of using telephone visits for older adults (OR 1.41, 95% CI 1.19-1.68, P<.001). Being an English speaker was positively associated with use of telephone visits (OR 1.27, 95% CI 1.04-1.55, P=.02). Other health and demographic factors associated with the use of telephone visits included having more than 3 chronic conditions (OR 1.55, 95% CI 1.22-1.96, P<.001) and being non-White (OR 0.54, 95% CI 0.31-0.92, P=.02). Similarly with demand, eHealth literacy was positively associated with the use of video visits (OR 1.03, 95% CI 1.01-1.05, P=.01), secure messaging (OR 1.04, 95% CI 1.01-1.06, P<.001) and telephone visits (OR 1.03, 95% CI 1.01-1.04, *P*<.001).

Table 6. Factors associated with the use of virtual visits, 2011 Canadian Digital Health Survey (N=2303).

Factors	Video, OR ^a (95% CI)	Messaging, OR (95% CI)	Telephone, OR (95% CI)
Household income (CAD \$80,000 and below vs above CAD \$80,000 ^b)	0.64 (0.43-0.95)	0.70 (0.46-1.07)	0.81 (0.64-1.03)
Education (less than undergraduate degree vs undergraduate degree or more)	0.70 (0.48-1.02)	0.82 (0.56-1.22)	0.78 (0.63-0.97)
Community (rural vs other)	0.95 (0.58-1.56)	1.72 (1.12-2.65)	0.96 (0.73-1.26)
Immigration status (immigrant/not a citizen vs born in Canada)	1.67 (1.18-2.36)	1.50 (1.04-2.17)	1.12 (0.89-1.40)
Language (English vs other)	1.99 (1.30-3.03)	1.23 (0.84-1.80)	1.27 (1.04-1.55)
Employment (retired vs other)	0.97 (0.68-1.40)	1.44 (0.95-2.17)	1.07 (0.86-1.33)
Insurance (without private insurance vs with private insurance)	1.08 (0.80-1.45)	0.73 (0.54-0.98)	1.41 (1.19-1.68)
Gender (male vs female/other)	0.81 (0.60-1.09)	1.03 (0.76-1.40)	0.77 (0.65-0.91)
SRH ^c (excellent/very good vs good/fair/poor/prefer not to say)	0.86 (0.61-1.20)	0.89 (0.63-1.25)	0.68 (0.56-0.82)
SRMH ^d (excellent/very good vs good/fair/poor/prefer not to say)	1.03 (0.75-1.43)	0.85 (0.61-1.19)	1.13 (0.93-1.37)
Ethnicity (non-White vs White)	0.55 (0.20-1.53)	0.51 (0.17-1.57)	0.54 (0.31-0.92)
Chronic disease (3 or more vs less than 3)	1.73 (1.21-2.49)	1.27(0.86-1.88)	1.55 (1.22-1.96)
eHEALS ^e score (8-40)	1.03 (1.01-1.05)	1.04 (1.01-1.06)	1.03 (1.01-1.04)

^aOR: odds ratio.

^bA currency exchange rate of CAD \$1=US \$0.78 is applicable. ^cSRH: self-rated health status. ^dSRMH: self-rated mental health status. ^eeHEALS: eHealth Literacy Scale.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study investigated the demand for and use of virtual care by older adults from a cross-sectional web survey of Canadians during the COVID-19 pandemic. Bivariate associations suggest that older adults' demand for virtual care is partially driven by the need for health services caused by health conditions (ie, multimorbidity) and partially associated with eHealth literacy levels. Patients with more chronic conditions and worse SRHS were more likely to express a demand for virtual visits. eHealth literacy and socioeconomic factors known to be associated with

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e35221
```

RenderX

eHealth literacy among older adults, such as education and income [15,16], were also significantly associated with the demand for virtual visits. The demand for all types of virtual visit modalities was negatively associated with income and education. Older adults with low household income and less education had lower odds to express a demand for virtual visits. In addition, our results suggested that older adults who were non-White and who were English speakers had lower odds to demand video visits and secure messaging. Compared to video visits and secure messaging, a greater proportion of older adults from our sample expressed a demand for telephone visits. The same trend was observed for the use of telephone visits: a greater proportion of older adults have used telephone visits during the

past 12 months. We identified multiple socioeconomic, demographic, and health factors associated with the demand for and use of specific virtual care modalities. Specifically, data showed that older adults with lower education and lower income had lower odds of expressing a demand for virtual visits. Additionally, older adults without private insurance coverage had lower odds of using secure messaging. eHealth literacy was a significant predictor of the demand for and use of all modalities of virtual visit.

The literature looking at patient characters and its association with the demand for virtual care among older adults is scarce. A recent report by Health Canada found that individual socioeconomic status, including income and education, plays a key role in influencing access to virtual care [16]. One recent US study looking at interest in telehealth visits for individuals aged 50-80 years found that when compared to individuals with a high school degree or less, those with at least an undergraduate degree are less likely to show interest in telehealth [17]. The same study also found that White individuals have the lowest level of interest [17]. Variations in payment models between Canada and the U.S. could, in part, explain the difference in findings on ethnicity and education. Non-White and individuals with less education in the U.S. could face greater barriers when it comes to paying for in-person visits and other costs associated with an in-person visit (eg, transportation, job flexibility). The Canadian public health care system eliminates direct costs associated with in-person visits, making virtual care a complementary service rather than a substitute to in-person visits. Another US study that investigated the disparities in virtual care use by older adults suggested that non-White patients are less likely to have video visits when compared to White patients [18]. The association between ethnicity and the use of virtual visits seems to be more nuanced than what has been studied thus far. Additional research is needed to ensure that older adults who are ethnic minorities have access to all types of virtual care modalities.

Lower reported usage of video visits and secure messaging services may be related to financial and technological barriers, such as a lack of digital equipment, internet access, and al ack of skills to navigate technology [19]. Consistent with the past literature, participants with low household income are less likely to conduct a video visit [20,21]. A recent Infoway analysis demonstrated that higher-income groups were more likely to use virtual care when compared to lower-income groups [22]. Considering that some video visits were offered by private and for-profit vendors during the pandemic, it is likely that income would become a barrier to using virtual health technologies that are not covered under the public payment plan. In addition, cohort research looking at virtual care usage during the pandemic has suggested a digital divide between telephone and video use based on race, income, and age. Studies have found that older, lower-income individuals use more telephone, while White, higher-income individuals use more video [18,20,23]. The proliferation of private services could also explain the association between insurance status and the use of secure messaging. In response to COVID-19, temporary billing codes were established by all provinces and territories, with the exception of Nunavut [24]. Most provinces provide billing codes

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e35221
```

to cover synchronous visits through telephone and video, but coverage for secure messaging is sparse [24]. The use of secure messaging services might therefore be limited by private health insurance coverage, as our study suggests. This could also explain the positive association between chronic conditions and the use of video and telephone visits. Older adults with multiple chronic conditions would likely require more health services, and virtual visits as well. The financial barriers associated with the use of secure messaging might explain the lack of significant associations between secure messaging and chronic condition status.

In line with past research, our data show that eHealth literacy is an important driver/constraint for the use of virtual care [15,25]. The past literature on the digital divide suggests that older adults disproportionally suffer adverse consequences from a lack of technological access and literacy [15,26]. Older adults typically face challenges in accessing virtual care due to a lower use of digital health technologies, a lack of motivation to use technology, and a lack of technological equipment and broadband access [20,25]. This could explain the low prevalence for the use of secure messaging and video visits from our study. Secure messaging and video visits are more complex technologies when compared to telephone visits and require the users to have higher levels of digital as well as digital health literacy, which might pose as barriers of access for older adults [27]. In addition, physical barriers, such impaired cognition, hearing, vision, and dexterity, may also cause problems for older adults in using more complex technologies, such as video visits and secure messaging [19]. The observed prevalence is consistent with findings from the U.S., suggesting that older age was associated with lower usage of video and telephone usage during the pandemic [20] and that the majority of virtual visits conducted by older adults during the COVID-19 pandemic were via audio technologies [18]. Older adults from marginalized groups may face additional challenges using complex technologies due to language barriers and income constraints. Patient outcome studies have suggested that the use of telemedicine among older adults can lead to high levels of patient satisfaction and acceptance [19]. Unless programs and policies are put in place to promote digital health technology uptake among older adults, exacerbating the current digital divide will likely lead to more inequities. Our finding adds to the emerging evidence base advocating for improved patient eHealth literacy to close the digital divide and the associated inequalities.

Limitations

Our study suffers from a few limitations. The Canadian Digital Health Survey is a web survey and therefore may limit participation by older adults with limited access to technological equipment and the internet. Therefore, our findings might skew toward older adults with more internet and technology access. Second, the study population was weighted to render a representative sample of the Canadian population. As a result, our sample was predominantly White and therefore may have had more access to technology than other ethnic/culture groups. We did not collect information on the duration or completion of the health encounter and therefore cannot assume that these virtual visits were all successfully completed. The chronic

XSL•FO RenderX

condition of respondents was self-reported. Although our survey question prompted respondents to only report chronic conditions as diagnosed by a health care professional lasting for more than 6 months, it is possible that respondents reported self-diagnosed chronic conditions. Health care utilization was self-reported and may be impacted by recall error, although past research has shown that bias and variance of recall error of health care usage were minimized for the 12-month recall period [28].

Conclusion

Despite limitations, this study provides novel insights into potential drivers and barriers that determine the demand for and use of virtual visits among older adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. We found that despite high levels of demand to access virtual visits among older adults, the rates of usage are much lower, especially for video visits and secure messaging. Lower usage of complex technologies could be caused by financial barriers, inadequate eHealth literacy, a lack of technological equipment and broadband access, and physical limitations. In addition, socioeconomic inequities associated with the use of secure messaging and video services emphasize the need to regulate the proliferation of private, for-profit virtual care vendors. Other socioeconomic and demographic disparities, such as ethnicity, immigration status, and education, that may pose challenges to accessing virtual visits for older adults should be carefully investigated to reduce existing inequities in health service access and health outcomes. Future studies should test the extent to which virtual care can deliver improvements in access to health care services as well as patient experience among older adults.

Acknowledgments

EY contributed to the study conception and design, data analysis and interpretation, manuscript preparation, manuscript review, and manuscript editing. SH contributed to manuscript review.

The publication costs for this article have been covered by Canada Health Infoway Inc, a non-profit corporation funded by the Government of Canada. The funders had no role in study design, data collection, and analysis, or decision to publish the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Shaw J, Jamieson T, Agarwal P, Griffin B, Wong I, Bhatia RS. Virtual care policy recommendations for patient-centred primary care: findings of a consensus policy dialogue using a nominal group technique. J Telemed Telecare 2018 Oct 01;24(9):608-615. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X17730444] [Medline: 28945161]
- Glazier RH, Green ME, Wu FC, Frymire E, Kopp A, Kiran T. Shifts in office and virtual primary care during the early COVID-19 pandemic in Ontario, Canada. CMAJ 2021 Feb 08;193(6):E200-E210 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1503/cmaj.202303] [Medline: 33558406]
- 3. Canada Health Infoway. Canadian Digital Health Survey 2021: What Canadians Think. URL: <u>https://www.infoway-inforoute.ca/en/component/edocman/resources/reports/benefits-evaluation/</u> 4011-canadian-digital-health-survey-2021-what-canadians-think [accessed 2022-02-25]
- 4. Statistics Canada. Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Canadian Seniors. URL: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/75-006-x/2021001/article/00008-eng.pdf?st=HlhTbnmu</u> [accessed 2022-02-25]
- 5. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Health Care in Canada, 2011: A Focus on Seniors and Aging. URL: <u>https://www.homecareontario.ca/docs/default-source/publications-mo/hcic_2011_seniors_report_en.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-02-25]
- Vegda K, Nie JX, Wang L, Tracy CS, Moineddin R, Upshur RE. Trends in health services utilization, medication use, and health conditions among older adults: a 2-year retrospective chart review in a primary care practice. BMC Health Serv Res 2009 Nov 30;9(1):217 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-9-217] [Medline: 19948033]
- Bastani P, Mohammadpour M, Samadbeik M, Bastani M, Rossi-Fedele G, Balasubramanian M. Factors influencing access and utilization of health services among older people during the COVID 19 pandemic: a scoping review. Arch Public Health 2021 Nov 07;79(1):190 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13690-021-00719-9] [Medline: 34743747]
- 8. Radwan E, Radwan A, Radwan W. Challenges facing older adults during the COVID-19 outbreak. Eur J Env Public Health 2021;5(1):em0059. [doi: 10.29333/ejeph/8457]
- Michalowsky B, Hoffmann W, Bohlken J, Kostev K. Effect of the COVID-19 lockdown on disease recognition and utilisation of healthcare services in the older population in Germany: a cross-sectional study. Age Ageing 2021 Feb 26;50(2):317-325 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ageing/afaa260] [Medline: 33205150]
- Williams IR, Shah A, Doty M, Fields K, FitzGerald M. The Impact of COVID-19 on Older Adults: Findings from the 2021 International Health Policy Survey of Older Adults. Commonwealth Fund. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.26099/mqsp-1695</u> [accessed 2022-02-25]
- Norman CD, Skinner HA. eHEALS: The eHealth Literacy Scale. J Med Internet Res 2006 Nov 14;8(4):e27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8.4.e27] [Medline: 17213046]

- 12. Norman C. eHealth literacy 2.0: problems and opportunities with an evolving concept. J Med Internet Res 2011 Dec 23;13(4):e125 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2035] [Medline: 22193243]
- 13. IBM Corp. Released 2016. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 24.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp; 2016.
- 14. SAS Institute Inc. SAS. NC, USA: SAS Institute Inc; 2014.
- Oh SS, Kim K, Kim M, Oh J, Chu SH, Choi J. Measurement of digital literacy among older adults: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2021 Feb 3;23(2):e26145. [doi: <u>10.2196/26145</u>]
- 16. Health Canada. Enhancing Equitable Access to Virtual Care in Canada: Principle-Based Recommendations for Equity. Ottawa, ON: Health Canada; 2021.
- Kurlander JE, Kullgren JT, Adams MA, Malani PN, Kirch M, Solway E, et al. Interest in and concerns about telehealth among adults aged 50 to 80 years. Am J Manag Care 2021 Oct 11;27(10):415-422 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.37765/ajmc.2021.88759] [Medline: 34668670]
- Schifeling CH, Shanbhag P, Johnson A, Atwater RC, Koljack C, Parnes BL, et al. Disparities in video and telephone visits among older adults during the COVID-19 pandemic: cross-sectional analysis. JMIR Aging 2020 Nov 10;3(2):e23176 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/23176] [Medline: 33048821]
- Narasimha S, Madathil KC, Agnisarman S, Rogers H, Welch B, Ashok A, et al. Designing telemedicine systems for geriatric patients: a review of the usability studies. Telemed J E Health 2017 Jun 22;23(6):459-472 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2016.0178] [Medline: 27875667]
- 20. Eberly LA, Kallan MJ, Julien HM, Haynes N, Khatana SAM, Nathan AS, et al. Patient characteristics associated with telemedicine access for primary and specialty ambulatory care during the COVID-19 pandemic. JAMA Netw Open 2020 Dec 01;3(12):e2031640 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.31640] [Medline: 33372974]
- Darrat I, Tam S, Boulis M, Williams AM. Socioeconomic disparities in patient use of telehealth during the coronavirus disease 2019 surge. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2021 Mar 01;147(3):287-295 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamaoto.2020.5161] [Medline: <u>33443539</u>]
- 22. Canada Health Infoway. Digital Health Equity Analysis: Access to Electronically-Enabled Health Services. URL: <u>https://www.infoway-inforoute.ca/en/component/edocman/</u> 3883-digital-health-equity-analysis-access-to-electronically-enabled-health-services/ [accessed 2022-02-25]
- Rodriguez JA, Betancourt JR, Sequist TD, Ganguli I. Differences in the use of telephone and video telemedicine visits during the COVID-19 pandemic. Am J Manag Care 2021 Jan;27(1):21-26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.37765/ajmc.2021.88573] [Medline: 33471458]
- 24. Gray C, Mason J, Loshak H. An overview of direct-to-patient virtual visits in Canada. Can J Health Technol 2021 Jun 07;1(6):1-28. [doi: 10.51731/cjht.2021.80]
- 25. Martins Van Jaarsveld G. The effects of COVID-19 among the elderly population: a case for closing the digital divide. Front Psychiatry 2020 Nov 12;11:577427 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.577427] [Medline: 33304283]
- 26. Choi NG, Dinitto DM. The digital divide among low-income homebound older adults: internet use patterns, eHealth literacy, and attitudes toward computer/internet use. J Med Internet Res 2013 May 02;15(5):e93 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2645] [Medline: 23639979]
- Thomas-Jacques T, Jamieson T, Shaw J. Telephone, video, equity and access in virtual care. NPJ Digit Med 2021 Nov 18;4(1):159 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-021-00528-y] [Medline: 34795356]
- 28. Dalziel K, Li J, Scott A, Clarke P. Accuracy of patient recall for self-reported doctor visits: is shorter recall better? Health Econ 2018 Nov 02;27(11):1684-1698. [doi: 10.1002/hec.3794] [Medline: 29968290]

Abbreviations

eHEALS: eHealth Literacy Scale Infoway: Canada Health Infoway LEO: Léger Opinion OR: odds ratio SRH: self-rated health status SRMH: self-rated mental health status



Edited by J Wang, G Eysenbach; submitted 25.11.21; peer-reviewed by A Jones, F Velayati, A Joshi; comments to author 27.12.21; revised version received 12.01.22; accepted 07.02.22; published 22.03.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Yu E, Hagens S Socioeconomic Disparities in the Demand for and Use of Virtual Visits Among Senior Adults During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Cross-sectional Study JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e35221 URL: https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e35221 doi:10.2196/35221 PMID:35134746

©Ellie Yu, Simon Hagens. Originally published in JMIR Aging (https://aging.jmir.org), 22.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Development of a Community-Based e-Health Program for Older Adults With Chronic Diseases: Pilot Pre-Post Study

Vivien Xi Wu^{1,2}, PhD, RN; Yanhong Dong^{1,3}, PhD, RN; Poh Choo Tan⁴, MN, APN; Peiying Gan⁵, MN, APN; Di Zhang⁵, MN, APN; Yuchen Chi¹, BSN, RN; Felicia Fang Ting Chao¹; Jinhua Lu^{6,7}, PhD; Boon Heng Dennis Teo⁶, PhD; Yue Qian Tan¹, BSc (Hons)

⁴Changi General Hospital, Singapore, Singapore

⁶Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore, ⁷Immunology Translational Research Programme, Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore

Corresponding Author:

Vivien Xi Wu, PhD, RN Alice Lee Centre for Nursing Studies Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine National University of Singapore Level 2, Clinical Research Centre, Block MD11 10 Medical Drive Singapore, 117597 Singapore Phone: 65 66012756 Email: nurwux@nus.edu.sg

Abstract

Background: Chronic diseases may impact older adults' health outcomes, health care costs, and quality of life. Self-management is expected to encourage individuals to make autonomous decisions, adhere to treatment plans, deal with emotional and social consequences, and provide choices for healthy lifestyle. New eHealth solutions significantly increase the health literacy and empower patients in self-management of chronic conditions.

Objective: This study aims to develop a Community-Based e-Health Program (CeHP) for older adults with chronic diseases and conduct a pilot evaluation.

Methods: A pilot study with a 2-group pre- and posttest repeated measures design was adopted. Community-dwelling older adults with chronic diseases were recruited from senior activity centers in Singapore. A systematic 3-step process of developing CeHP was coupled with a smart-device application. The development of the CeHP intervention consists of theoretical framework, client-centric participatory action research process, content validity assessment, and pilot testing. Self-reported survey questionnaires and health outcomes were measured before and after the CeHP. The instruments used were the Self-care of Chronic Illness Inventory (SCCII), Healthy Aging Instrument (HAI), Short-Form Health Literacy Scale, 12 Items (HLS-SF 12), Patient Empowerment Scale (PES), and Social Support Questionnaire, 6 items. The following health outcomes were measured: Montreal Cognitive Assessment, Symbol Digit Modalities Test, total cholesterol (TC), high-density lipoproteins, low-density lipoproteins (LDL/VLDL), fasting glucose, glycated hemoglobin (HbA_{1c}), and BMI.

Results: The CeHP consists of health education, monitoring, and an advisory system for older adults to manage their chronic conditions. It is an 8-week intensive program, including face-to-face and eHealth (*Care4Senior* App) sessions. *Care4Senior* App covers health education topics focusing on the management of hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetes, brain health, healthy diet, lifestyle modification, medication adherence, exercise, and mindfulness practice. Content validity assessment indicated that the content of the CeHP is valid, with a content validity index (CVI) ranging 0.86-1 and a scale-CVI of 1. Eight participants in the CeHP group and 4 in the control group completed both baseline and post intervention assessments. Participants in the CeHP group showed improvements in fasting glucose, HbA_{1c}, TC, LDL/VLDL, BMI, SCCII indices (Maintenance, Monitoring, and

¹Alice Lee Centre for Nursing Studies, Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore

²Healthy Longevity Translational Research Programme, Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore

³Department of Medicine, Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore

⁵Sengkang General Hospital, Singapore, Singapore

Management), HAI, and PES scores post intervention, although these changes were not significant. For the participants in the control group, the scores for SCCII (management and confidence) and HLS-SF 12 decreased post intervention.

Conclusions: The CeHP is feasible, and it engages and empowers community-dwelling older adults to manage their chronic conditions. The rigorous process of program development and pilot evaluation provided valid evidence to expand the CeHP to a larger-scale implementation to encourage self-management, reduce debilitating complications of poorly controlled chronic diseases, promote healthy longevity and social support, and reduce health care costs.

(JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e33118) doi:10.2196/33118

KEYWORDS

eHealth; self-management; older adults; chronic disease; community care; elderly; community; innovation; development; pilot; evaluation; health literacy; empowerment; feasibility; engagement

Introduction

The life expectancy of Singaporeans has increased from 76.1 years in 1990 to 84.8 years in 2017 [1]. Multiple socioeconomic factors impact the quality of life among older individuals, including functionally limiting diseases [2]. It is estimated that Singaporeans spend the last 10.6 years in poor health conditions owing to a higher prevalence of chronic diseases [1]. These commonly include diabetes, hypertension, and lipid disorders, which may severely impair the quality of life [3]. Not only the quantity of time spent alive but also quality of life are important. For community-dwelling older adults with chronic diseases, self-management is essential to their quality of life [4]. They are more susceptible to further cognitive impairment, which could drastically compromise their ability of performing self-care [5,6]. Hence, self-management programs allowing early detection and prevention of cognitive impairment can substantially improve healthy aging [7].

Self-management refers to daily activities that individuals take for themselves and families to stay healthy and to care for long-term illness [8]. Individuals are more involved in their self-care and given the opportunity to adopt an active program suitable for their medical conditions [9]. Effective self-management helps older adults to experience improved health outcomes and to reduce medical cost [10].

Self-management is expected to make the health care system more patient-centric by shifting responsibilities toward individuals in terms of making autonomous decisions, adhering to treatment plans, and dealing with emotional and social consequences caused by their medical conditions [9]. It also provides choices for individuals to live in an active and healthy lifestyle. Self-management requires older adults to have a good understanding of the disease itself, the prescribed medication, as well as other procedures related to self-care [11]. Health literacy is the capacity of individuals to obtain, process, and understand basic health information and the services needed to make appropriate health decisions [12]. Hence, improvement in health literacy of chronic disease management empowers older adults to have access, understand, and use health decisions when information to make performing self-management [13]. According to the SIGNS Study conducted by the Centre for Ageing Research and Education, health illiteracy is prevalent among the older Singaporeans [14]. With improved health literacy, community-dwelling older adults are expected to improve their self-management skills [13], helping

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e33118
```

them to make decisions on suitable health practice and strategies to cope with their chronic diseases.

Additionally, social support from family, friends, and neighbors serves as a complementary strategy for enhancing an individual's self-management skills [15] by providing relevant information, emotional support, and practical help [16]. Social support is closely related to health behavior and health outcomes. For people who have lower economic status or educational levels and who are more socially isolated, educational and counseling interventions developed for their self-management of chronic diseases may be less effective [17]. In this context, social support can significantly compensate for their inequality in health [15]. Daviglus et al [18] developed the concept that family and social network supports play an essential role in keeping the chronic disease under control. Hence, social support significantly contributes to the adherence to the treatment plan as well as self-management behavior [19].

The modern health care system leverages on innovation and technologies to empower patients and families in self-care. Compared to conventional approaches to patient education, new eHealth solutions such as mobile health, web-based learning, and telehealth significantly increase patients' health literacy and empower them in self-management [20-22]. Multiple studies have shown that eHealth solutions have positive impacts on chronic disease management through effective patient education and increased medication adherence [23,24]. Therefore, eHealth is actively promoted powered by information technology. Health illiteracy among the older population has negative health outcomes and increases health care costs [14]. It is a critical issue for a rapidly aging population in a technology-driven society.

In an aging population, it is necessary to shift the health care landscape toward the community to ease the burden of acute hospitals [25,26]. Such community health care support is provided by multidisciplinary primary care teams to promote effective self-management [27,28]. Having health professionals constantly motivate and support patients to manage the chronic conditions signifies a supportive relationship, thus promoting effective self-management for patients to pursue [28]. In light of the aforementioned gaps and the potential use of technology in bridging these needs, this study aims to develop a Community-Based e-Health program (CeHP) for older adults with chronic diseases and to conduct a pilot evaluation prior to a full-scale interventional program.

Methods

Research Design

This study describes a systematic 3-step process of developing the CeHP, coupled with the use of a smart device application. A pilot study with a 2-group pre- and posttest repeated measures design was adopted.

Setting

Subjects were recruited from Community Nurse Posts at two senior activity centers (SACs) within the neighborhood in the east region of Singapore. The strategic location ensures that the nursing service is convenient and accessible for the older adults living in the community. The services consist of health screening, individual and group health coaching, health and geriatric assessment, chronic disease monitoring and education, care referral and coordination, and complex nursing care [29].

Developing the Intervention

Development of the CeHP consisted of a systematic 3-step process: theoretical framework, a client-centric participatory action research process, content validity assessment and pilot testing.

Theoretical Framework

A systemic scoping review identified the focus of the theoretical approaches was behavior change in most of the self-management programs (SMPs). The most frequently used theory was the social cognitive theory, where the participants' self-efficacy increased as a result of the SMPs, and evidence showed that the associated behavior change could affect various health outcomes [30]. Building on the theoretical foundation, we adopted the concept of self-management, which can capture the complexity of living with medical conditions and managing it in an individual's everyday life [31]. A diverse body of knowledge

reflects a number of factors that influence the individual's self-management. The factors influencing self-management are categorized into (1) health status: medical condition; (2) individual: age, gender, self-efficacy, integration, diversity; (3) family: socioeconomic status, family function; and (4) environmental: social networks, community, and health care system [32].

The individual's self-management is interactive and influences a variety of health outcomes, especially for individuals living with chronic conditions. In our study, the following outcomes in relation to the factors are measured: (1) health outcomes: cognitive function (Montreal Cognitive Assessment [MoCA], Symbol Digit Modalities Test [SDMT]), lipid profile (total cholesterol [TC], high-density lipoprotein [HDL] cholesterol, and low-density lipoprotein [LDL]/very-low-density lipoprotein [VLDL] cholesterol), glycemic profile (fasting glucose and glycated hemoglobin [HbA1c]), and BMI; (2) individual outcomes: sociodemographics, self-care capabilities (Self-care of Chronic Illness Inventory [SCCII]), health literacy (Short-Form Health Literacy Scale, 12 Items [HLS-SF12]), empowerment (Patient Empowerment scale [PES]); (3) family outcomes: lifestyle (Healthy Aging Instrument [HAI]); and (4) environmental outcomes: social networks and support (Social Support Questionnaire, 6 items [SSQ6]) (Figure 1) [32]. Self-management may influence how environmental resources, such as health care system and community support, are accessed and utilized, and the nature of interactions with health care professionals. Reasonable targets could be set with the potential to alter the behavioral changes and health outcomes. For example, interventions may target at psychosocial factors, family functioning, or working with the individuals to develop and enhance the self-management capabilities. Hence, CeHP is targeted at working with the individuals to develop and enhance their self-management capabilities.



Figure 1. Self-management framework. HAI: Healthy Aging Instrument, HbA_{1c}: glycated hemoglobin, HDL: high-density lipoprotein, HLS-SF 12: Short-Form Health Literacy Scale, 12 Items, LDL: low-density lipoprotein, MoCA: Montreal cognitive assessment, PES: Patient Empowerment Scale, SCCII: Self-care of Chronic Illness Inventory, SDMT: symbol digit modalities test, SES: socioeconomic status, SSQ6: Social Support Questionnaire, 6 items. [32].



Client-Centric Participatory Action Research Process

CeHP was developed to promote older adults' self-management capabilities with their chronic conditions. CeHP was designed through a 3-stage iterative, client-centric, participatory action research process [33]. First, a front-end analysis was conducted to identify the unique health care needs of older adults and initial design ideas through focus groups and literature search. Second, a preliminary design of the intervention was developed from the literature and focus group findings. Finally, we iteratively incorporated revisions and refinements on the basis of client-centric feedback, which was collected during usability sessions.

Stage 1: Front-End Analysis

A comprehensive search and evaluation of existing eHealth interventions were carried out. Evaluation from the evidence-based literatures provided a fundamental understanding of the current interventions. A systematic review examined community-based SMPs for older adults with chronic conditions and evidenced that SMPs involved fostering skills to improve problem-solving, health behavior, and disease management [34]. However, this review highlighted that SMPs need to broaden the strategies to be more patient-centered by helping older adults manage the impact of the conditions on their daily lives, and to provide strategies for managing interacting symptoms, treatments, and everyday problems due to the high prevalence of multiple morbidities in older adults [34]. A recent meta-analysis provides evidence that educational intervention is effective to improve the health literacy of the perceived severity and susceptibility of the patients' medical conditions, and perceived benefits of the treatment, and increased medication adherence among adult patients diagnosed with hypertension, hyperlipidemia, or diabetes [35]. The educational interventions consist of face-to-face counseling with the

RenderX

participants on the diseases, complications, medications, side effects, adherence, lifestyle changes, self-monitoring, and self-management skills [35].

We have conducted a meta-analysis on the technology-based interventions on diabetes, and the results indicate that technology-based psychosocial interventions had significant effects on diabetes distress, self-efficacy, and HbA1c levels in adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) [36]. The technology-based interventions consist of telephone-based health coaching, telemonitoring, computer-assisted self-management, web-based programs and tools, and mobile apps. Nevertheless, an integration of technology-based psychosocial interventions into usual care can enhance treatment for older adults with T2DM [36]. In the current COVID-19 pandemic situation, telehealth applications have provided solutions to facilitate the care of older adults with chronic conditions, and the medical apps delivered virtual assessments and treatments, improved medication adherence for older adults, and supported the health care professionals during the pandemic [37].

Our researchers conducted focus groups with older adults to explore their needs regarding eHealth. Three focus group discussions were conducted, and the thematic analysis was carried out. Three major themes emerged from the analysis: (1) personal approach in living with chronic diseases (older adults applied positive thinking and accepted the needs to change their habits and follow the instructions of health care professionals); (2) navigating health-related information (older adults obtained health information from health care professionals, health talks from reputable organizations, experiences of friends or family, internet resources, talk shows in the media, and web-based videos); and (3) decision-making on sieving credible eHealth information (older adults often experienced online health resources are overwhelming and confusing, they either turn to health care professionals for advice or use own experience and

knowledge to judge the reliability and credibility of the web-based health resources). Details of the qualitative study will be published in a subsequent paper. In addition, our recent scoping review also highlighted the concerns of older adults on the barriers of web-based interventions, such as the lack of access and proficiency in technology, or the lack of interest in the use of digital technologies [37].

Stage 2: Design and Development

With inputs from the literature and focus groups, the researchers developed the preliminary contents of the CeHP. Based on client-centric design suggestions, the following principles guided the development of the CeHP: (1) the intervention must be designed for older adults, (2) the content must be related to the specific health knowledge deficits that were identified during focus group and literature evaluations, and (3) the content needs to be delivered in a brief and skimmable format to fit the attention span and cognitive capabilities of the older adults. The details of the contents are presented in the Results section.

Stage 3: Formative, User-Centric Evaluation

Formative evaluation took the form of multimodal usability testing [38,39] which sought to elicit feedback on applicability, content, ease of use, acceptance, and time to complete the modules. Feedback was collected from the participants during the development of the intervention on the usage information and usability testing, which were subsequently used to further extend and refine the intervention [40]. The formative evaluation generated input regarding revisions and modifications that informed the design and development of the CeHP.

Content Validity Assessment

A committee of experts was formed to evaluate the content validity of the CeHP, including 2 nurse clinicians, 2 physicians, a dietician, a physiotherapist, and a pharmacist, specifically on the clinical relevance and quality of the contents. They rated the contents from 1 (not relevant/appropriate/comprehensive) to 4 (very relevant/appropriate/comprehensive). Content experts were required to provide feedback if they had rated any learning point 2 and below on any of the aspects.

Pilot Test of the Study Intervention

Sampling and Recruitment Process

Convenience sampling was used. Recruitment was carried out through word of mouth and recruitment poster at 2 SACs. The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) age \geq 55 years; (2) being able to understand and communicate in either English or Chinese (Mandarin); (3) being able to give consent to participate; (4) living within the community setting; (5) being diagnosed with at least one of these chronic conditions (hypertension, hyperlipidemia, or diabetes mellitus); and (6) being able to commit to the 8-week CeHP. The exclusion criteria are as follows: (1) having severe cognitive impairment; (2) having severe psychiatric disorders; (3) having severe vision impairment; and (4) having severe hearing impairment. Participants in the intervention group were recruited from SAC 1, and they completed the CeHP regimen. Participants in the control group were recruited from SAC 2, and they continued with their usual recreational programs. Recruitment was carried

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e33118
```

XSL•F() RenderX out at 2 SACs at different physical locations to minimize contamination between the two groups.

Data Collection Procedure

The questionnaires were administered at two time points: baseline and post intervention. Two trained researchers conducted face-to-face sessions. The questionnaires were conducted in the participants' preferred language, either English or Chinese (in the participant's preferred dialect). Each session lasted 45-60 minutes. Each participant was given a cash reimbursement after completing questionnaires and providing blood samples. A maximum of 9 mL of blood in ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) blood tubes was collected from every participant at each time point. The responses were recorded using the web-based e-Survey platform approved by the university. Sociodemographic and clinical data such as age, gender, ethnicity, marital status, employment status, education, housing type, morbidities, alcohol intake, smoking status, and physical activity were recorded. Clinical data such as TC, HDL, LDL/VLDL, fasting glucose, HbA_{1c}, and BMI were also measured before and after the intervention.

Psychosocial Measures

The SCCII [41] assesses the process of self-care by individuals with a variety of chronic conditions. It consists of 30 items with 5-point Likert scales to evaluate self-help behavior, symptom management, health-seeking behavior, and self-care confidence. The HAI [42] focuses on how healthy and active lifestyle among the elderly is considered. The HAI includes nine components: Being self-sufficient and Living Simply, Managing Stress, Having Social Relationships and Support, Making Merit and Good Deeds, Practicing Self-care and Self-awareness, Staying Physically Active, Staying Cognitively Active, Having Social Participation, and Accepting Aging. HAI has 35 items on a 5-point scale. A higher score represents greater healthy aging levels. The HLS-SF 12 measures the competency of an individual when dealing with health-related information [43]. It consists of three domains including health care, disease prevention, and health promotion. The PES [44] is a 15-item scale developed to assess empowerment and the patient's sense of control over their illness experience [45]. The SSQ6 measures the number of people providing support to an individual and the satisfaction level of the individual who received the support [46].

Brief Cognitive Tests

The MoCA is a screening instrument to detect mild cognitive impairment [47]. A study has shown that MoCA may be relatively more sensitive in detecting characteristic cognitive deficits due to cardiovascular diseases prevalent in Asian elderly, and it takes approximately 12 minutes to complete [48]. The SDMT is a sensitive processing speed test and is added to supplement MoCA for optimal cognitive screening. The SDMT is widely used and takes approximately 5 minutes to complete [49]. Cognitive ability affects the self-care behavior of patients with chronic disease. Assessment of cognitive function through the MoCA and the SDMT may help inform interventions to improve the self-care behavior in these patients.

Bioassay Procedures

Upon collection of blood samples, the EDTA tubes were centrifuged at 1500 g for 5 minutes at room temperature to separate plasma from other blood components. After centrifugation, plasma was collected, aliquoted in different tubes, and stored at -80°C for downstream analyses. Plasma glucose level was measured using the glucose assay kit (Sigma Aldrich, MK286) whereas TC, HDL, and LDL/VLDL levels were measured using the AF HDL and LDL/VLDL assay kit (Sigma Aldrich, MK331) in accordance with the manufacturer's protocol. Absorbance was measured at 570 nm using the SpectraMax M2 microplate reader (Molecular Probes). Plasma glucose level and TC, HDL, and LDL/VLDL levels were calculated from the standard. HbA1c levels were determined using a Beckman UniCel DxC600 Chemistry Analyzer (Beckman Coulter), with hemoglobin levels measured using a colorimetric method at 410 nm, and glycation levels measured using a turbidimetric immunoinhibition method at 340 nm.

Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics, including mean (SD) and percentages, were used to summarize the demographic information and outcomes at baseline and post intervention. A paired samples t test was used to examine the difference between the baseline and postintervention periods and to compare outcome measures before and after implementation among participants. All analyses were conducted using RStudio (version 1.1) implementing R (version 3.4) [50], and the significance level was set at 5%.

Ethical Issues

Ethical approval was obtained from the university's institutional review board (H-20-028) and the hospital's Centralised

Figure 2. Conceptual outline of the Community-Based e-Health Program.

Institutional Review Board (Ref 2020/2051). Researchers explained the purpose of the study to potential participants. Informed consent was obtained from the participant prior to data collection. The participants were reassured that participation in the study was voluntary, and withdrawal from the study would not result in any negative consequences. Confidentiality and anonymity were maintained as no identifiers were recorded in the questionnaires.

Results

Outline of the Community-Based eHealth Program

The CeHP consists of health education, monitoring function, and an alert and advisory system for older adults to manage their chronic conditions (Figure 2). The CeHP is an 8-week intensive program, consisting of face-to-face and eHealth (Care4Senior App) sessions. Face-to-face session covers health education topics such as diet, exercise, and brain health, which are available in Care4Senior App. Care4Senior App can be installed on smart devices. Care4Senior has unique features including a health library, daily care, exercises, quizzes, interactive videos, and administrative platform (Figure 3). Care4Senior consists of health education topics focusing on management of hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetes, brain health, healthy diet, lifestyle modification, medication adherence, exercise, and mindfulness practice (Figure 4). Each module consists of animated videos of conversations between a fictional elderly couple, and health education topics. A prototype of Care4Senior App has been developed by the technical team.





Figure 3. Care4Senior App - Main Screen.



Figure 4. Care4Senior App - Health Library.





XSL•FO RenderX

During the intervention, the research team conducted weekly face-to-face training and evaluated the participant's competency in using the *Care4Senior* App. The older adults could then continue with the *Care4Senior* App at home. Researchers monitored participants' App usage closely via the administrative platform of the App; for example, blood pressure and glucose entry, and quiz status. A reminder was sent to the participants through the phone if their blood pressure and glucose reading were not entered or were beyond the normal range. The CeHP provides a platform to improve the overall clinical outcomes for older adults living with chronic diseases by empowering them with self-care skills.

Results of the Content Validity Test

The content validity index (CVI) was calculated, and only when both item-CVI and scale-CVI values were above 0.8, the content of the program would then be considered valid [51,52]. Our results indicate that the content of CeHP is valid since item-CVI ranged 0.86-1 and the scale-CVI was 1. Positive feedback has been received from 7 content experts that the CeHP is well-structured and covers common chronic diseases, which are helpful for older adults to gain knowledge about self-management through medication compliance and lifestyle modification. Nevertheless, content refinement was carried out for those items rated below 2. The item-CVI for revised content became 1 after reassessment by content experts. Based on the feedback, the research team fine-tuned the contents to ensure accuracy. Meanwhile, there were also concerns that the content might be overwhelming for the participants. Content experts suggested rephrasing certain terminologies for participants with lower literacy levels. Researchers readjusted the font size, reduced wordy contents, and added more pictures to be more senior-friendly.

Results From the Pilot Evaluation

Among all screened and invited participants, a total of 15 participants enrolled in the pilot study. However, owing to drop-outs, 8 participants in the intervention (CeHP) group and 4 in the control group completed both baseline and postintervention assessments. Figure 5 shows the recruitment and program flow. Table 1 shows demographic and clinical characteristics of the participants. The Student t test and Pearson chi-square test revealed no significant difference between CeHP and control group participants. The mean age of the participants was 74.4 years (CeHP group) 69.75 years (control group). All participants in the CeHP group were of Chinese ethnicity, and 7 of them (88%) were female. One participant in the control group is of Malay ethnicity, and 50% of the participants were female. All participants stayed in public housing and were independent and ambulating. All participants had at least one of the chronic illnesses (hypertension, hyperlipidemia, or T2DM). Participants in the CeHP group were mostly compliant with the seminar regimes except when they had other commitments such as medical visits or work (attendance rates are shown in Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1). Participants also rated the design and user-friendliness of the app as above average on a 5-point scale (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1).

Figure 5. Flowchart of participant recruitment for the Community-Based e-Health Program (CeHP).





Table 1.	Demographic and c	linical characteristics	of participants in	pilot evaluation.

Variables	Community-Based e-health Program group (n=8)	Control group (n=4)	P value ^a
Age (years), mean (SD)	74.4 (6.22)	69.75 (8.34)	.38
Gender, n (%)			.48
Male	1 (12.5)	2 (50)	
Female	7 (87.5)	2 (50)	
Race, n (%)			.71
Chinese	8 (100)	3 (75)	
Malay	0	1 (25)	
Marital status, n (%)			.22
Single, separated, or divorced	3 (37.5)	0	
Married	1 (12.5)	2 (50)	
Widowed	4 (50)	2 (50)	
Highest education level, n (%)			>.99
None or primary education	6 (75)	3 (75)	
Secondary school and above	2 (25)	1 (25)	
Employment status, n (%)			>.99
Working	1 (12.5)	0	
Not working or retired	7 (87.5)	4 (100)	
Housing type, n (%)			.15
HDB ^b studio apartment	3 (37.5)	4 (100)	
HDB 3-room apartment and above	5 (62.5)	0	
Living status, n (%)			.28
Alone	4 (50)	0	
With others	4 (50)	4 (100)	
Physical exercise, n (%)			.71
>3 times per week	8 (100)	3 (75)	
Never	0	1 (25)	
Current smoker, n (%)	0 (0)	1 (25)	.71
Regular drinker, n (%)	0 (0)	1 (25)	.71
Hypertension, n (%)	6 (75)	4 (100)	.78
Hyperlipidemia, n (%)	7 (87.5)	3 (75)	>.99
Type 2 diabetes, n (%)	3 (37.5)	4 (100)	.15

^aAge was compared using the Student t test, whereas other categorical characteristics were compared using the Pearson chi-square test or the Fisher exact test.

^bHDB: Housing and Development Board.

Table 2 shows the psychosocial, cognitive, and blood test findings before and after the intervention. Participants in the CeHP group demonstrated improvements in fasting glucose, HbA_{1c}, TC, LDL/VLDL, BMI, 3 of 4 SCCII indices (in the following domains: Maintenance, Monitoring, and Management), and HAI and PES scores, though the changes

are not significant. Among control group participants, the scores for the two domains (Management and Confidence) from SCCII and HLS-SF 12 decreased after the intervention. The participants' (control group) fasting glucose and TC levels were also higher post intervention than during baseline assessment; however, these differences were not significant.

XSL•FO RenderX

Table 2. Mean scores of study outcomes.

Measures	Community-Based e-Health Program group (n=8), mean (SD)		Control group (n=4), mean (SD)			
	Baseline	Post intervention	P value ^a	Baseline	Post intervention	P value ^a
Psychosocial measures		Y	-			-
Self-care of Chronic Illness Inventory in	ndices					
Maintenance	85.94 (10.83)	93.36 (4.85)	.09	83.59 (4.69)	87.5 (14.66)	.56
Monitoring	67.29 (24.53)	70.0 (13.09)	.81	52.92 (13.77)	63.5 (16.56)	.28
Management	54.0 (10.47)	61 (8.21)	.13	60 (10.83)	54 (12.44)	.18
Confidence	87.81 (9.95)	87.5 (10.69)	.95	83.13 (10.08)	78.75 (12.67)	.37
Healthy Aging Instrument	147.63 (17.07)	149.75 (6.82)	.68	136.25 (23.26)	148.25 (15.59)	.10
Patient Empowerment Scale	40.63 (3.38)	43.75 (8.31)	.29	39.50 (2.08)	47.25 (7.54)	.08
Social Support Questionnaire, 6 items satisfaction total score	29.63 (4.44)	28.75 (4.56)	.61	27.75 (5.68)	28.25 (4.79)	.70
Health Literacy Survey Short Form (HLS- SF12) Index	30.56 (3.32)	30.38 (4.03)	.78	29.51 (6.35)	26.39 (6.0)	.06
Cognitive tests						
Montreal cognitive assessment total score	25.13 (3.40)	23.13 (4.36)	.20	19.75 (3.30)	20.0 (5.72)	.87
Symbol digit modalities test score	27.5 (9.68)	26.0 (14.25)	.56	18.75 (2.99)	19.75 (3.59)	.51
BMI	25.19 (3.76)	24.78 (4.06)	.35	25.36 (3.48)	.20	.68
Biomarkers						
Fasting glucose (mg/dL)	90.77 (28.32)	84.12 (13.47)	.26	110.54 (24.95)	124.88 (71.36)	.58
Glycated hemoglobin (%)	6.49 (0.84)	6.31 (0.60)	.11	8.13 (0.49)	7.18 (0.63)	.07
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	115.30 (7.76)	114.99 (4.76)	.94	110.29 (8.12)	111.53 (9.14)	.68
High-density lipoprotein cholesterol (mg/dL)	35.36 (10.46)	31.38 (7.41)	.29	31.20 (5.83)	32.21 (4.52)	.80
Low-density lipoprotein/very-low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (mg/dL)	103.91 (10.49)	99.10 (16.24)	.25	93.69 (12.55)	88.86 (17.35)	.28

^aP values determined through the Student paired t test.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This paper illustrates a systematic 3-step process of developing a community-based health education program coupled with the use of a smart-device application. Development of the intervention consists of a theoretical framework, a client-centric participatory action research process, and psychometric testing. The rigorous process ensured the validity of the intervention, and explicitly reporting the detailed description of the intervention could facilitate replication of the intervention in the future.

The prevalence of chronic diseases is increasing among the older population. Hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and T2DM are the most common chronic conditions among community-dwelling older adults. The progression of diseases and impact on quality of life can be tapered off by active treatment and self-management. By promoting health literacy and awareness of community health resources, it is feasible to reduce debilitating complications of poorly controlled chronic

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e33118
```

RenderX

conditions and subsequent hospitalization, which contributes to the burden of the health care system [53].

The results from the pilot test revealed that the CeHP was feasible and potentially effective in improving self-management capabilities of older adults. The pilot test demonstrated improvements in fasting glucose, HbA_{1c}, TC, LDL/VLDL, BMI, SCCII indices, HAI scores, although these changes were not significant, which could be due to a small sample size. eHealth interventions have gained popularity among older adults in the recent years. Research has shown that daily monitoring via eHealth interventions increased older adults' confidence, control, awareness in managing their conditions, prompted more communication with their doctors, and using monitoring records to review their medications [53,54]. Hence, participants were more proactive in managing their conditions.

The results of the pilot test showed improvements in the PES score, albeit not significant. Research has shown that eHealth interventions improved older adults' self-efficacy for health-decision making and patient-provider communication [55]. As a result, older adults are empowered to take charge in
managing their chronic conditions. eHealth interventions have shown improvement in chronic disease self-management and reduced health care utilization [56], which evidenced that eHealth interventions are feasible to be implemented among community-dwelling older adults and are beneficial in reducing health care costs.

With the high attendance rate (86% in average), high overall satisfaction toward the App (75%), and positive user feedback (Multimedia Appendix 1), the pilot test provided evidence that CeHP has excellent features as a senior-friendly App to deliver health-related information to the older adults. With the rapid adoption of information technology in health care, more technology-based interventions will be utilized in the delivery of care. Older adults are a large consumer group for health care services. Hence, service providers need to consider various aspects to facilitate uptake, such as user-friendly e-interventions for older adults and appropriate user training [55].

It is noteworthy that many older adults are not technologically savvy despite the rapid increase in internet-based users among the older adult population [55]. Hence, older adults may require training and support initially in using eHealth interventions [57], as observed by our researchers during the pilot study. Research has shown that older adults are more confident in maneuvering the internet after undergoing the training [56,58]. Portz and LaMendola [57] reported that the average duration of web-based participation among older adults was longer than that in younger cohorts, which could be an indication that older adults tend to be committed to eHealth programs to improve their health outcomes. Multiple studies have shown that older adults living alone reported poor health, which could predict increased hospital utilization [56]. By attending face-to-face group seminar sessions, participants may gain social support from fellow groupmates, which may serve as a complementary strategy for enhancing individual's ability of self-management through social network to better manage chronic diseases [15,16,18,19].

A systematic review reported that eHealth programs provide support and feedback for a healthy lifestyle and highlighted the evidence on the facilitating factors and barriers [59]. The barriers are lack of motivation and support; however, strong motivation, adequate support, and feedback are facilitating factors for the continuity of eHealth programs [59]. The most frequent motivator is feedback from professionals or peers on the extent to which people have achieved their goals. Hence, eHealth interventions can tap on the resources from volunteers in the community to provide support to the participants. Prior training is necessary to equip the peer volunteers with essential skills [53].

The larger-scale intervention after this pilot evaluation will be compared against a control group in a randomized controlled trial. Owing to low education level in older adults (75% with primary school of below in the pilot trial), we anticipate barriers for these older adults to use technological devices. This will be countered by having face-to-face sessions to teach the older adults in using the *Care4Senior* App. In addition, the app was also developed in both English and Chinese (Mandarin) languages to cater to the needs of elderly population in Singapore.

Limitations

As a pilot evaluation, this phase of the study was carried out to assess its feasibility and refine its structure and operations. The results of the pilot test may be biased owing to the small sample size and the predisposition of the participants being already health conscious. The 8-week duration may also be too short to elicit significant changes in health behaviors that improve health outcomes.

Conclusions

A large proportion of older adults are living with multiple chronic diseases, and thus managing their health in the community is a major public health concern. The CeHP engaged and empowered older adults living in the community to manage their chronic conditions. The rigorous process of program development and pilot evaluation provided valid evidence to extend CeHP to a subsequent larger-scale trial to encourage self-management, reduce debilitating complications of poorly controlled chronic diseases, promote healthy longevity and social support, and reduce health care costs. In the future, eHealth interventions can tap on the resources from volunteers in the community to provide support to the older adults.

Acknowledgments

This research is funded by National University of Singapore Start Up Grant (NUHSRO/2019/081/Startup/06). The research team would like to thank staff and participants from Evergreen Circle Senior Activity Centre and Lions Befrienders Senior Activity Centre for their support in the study. We also thank the nurses from Changi General Hospital Community Nursing Department who assisted with the program. We would like to thank Ms Loh Le Xuan, who assisted with the data collection, and Ms Ho Lip Chuen, who assisted with laboratory assays.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Face-to-face seminar attendance rates and participants' ratings regarding app design and user-friendliness. [DOCX File, 17 KB - aging v5i1e33118 app1.docx]

References

- The Burden of Disease in Singapore, 1990–2017: An overview of the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017 results. Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.healthdata.org/sites/default/files/files/policy_report/2019/ GBD_2017_Singapore_Report.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-01-03]
- Netuveli G, Wiggins RD, Hildon Z, Montgomery SM, Blane D. Quality of life at older ages: evidence from the English longitudinal study of aging (wave 1). J Epidemiol Community Health 2006 Apr;60(4):357-363 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jech.2005.040071] [Medline: 16537355]
- 3. HealthHub. Chronic Diseases: Understanding the Medical Conditions and their Causes. Singapore: Ministry of Health Singapore; 2019.
- Tan JY, Tam WSW, Goh HS, Ow CC, Wu XV. Impact of sense of coherence, resilience and loneliness on quality of life amongst older adults in long-term care: A correlational study using the salutogenic model. J Adv Nurs 2021 Nov;77(11):4471-4489. [doi: 10.1111/jan.14940] [Medline: 34142732]
- 5. Vijayan M, Reddy PH. Stroke, Vascular Dementia, and Alzheimer's Disease: Molecular Links. J Alzheimers Dis 2016 Sep 06;54(2):427-443 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3233/JAD-160527] [Medline: 27567871]
- Tan HH, Xu J, Teoh HL, Chan BP, Seet RCS, Venketasubramanian N, et al. Decline in changing Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) scores is associated with post-stroke cognitive decline determined by a formal neuropsychological evaluation. PLoS One 2017;12(3):e0173291 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0173291] [Medline: 28346532]
- Cameron KA. Healthy aging: programs for self-management of chronic disease second of a 2-part series. Consult Pharm 2012 May;27(5):330-335. [doi: <u>10.4140/TCP.n.2012.330</u>] [Medline: <u>22591977</u>]
- 8. Osborne RH, Jordan JE, Rogers A. A critical look at the role of self-management for people with arthritis and other chronic diseases. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol 2008 May;4(5):224-225. [doi: <u>10.1038/ncprheum0765</u>] [Medline: <u>18301410</u>]
- van de Bovenkamp HM, Dwarswaard J. The complexity of shaping self-management in daily practice. Health Expect 2017 Oct;20(5):952-960 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/hex.12536] [Medline: 28152248]
- Derose KP, Varda DM. Social capital and health care access: a systematic review. Med Care Res Rev 2009 Jun;66(3):272-306 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1077558708330428] [Medline: 19174538]
- Ritsema TS, Bingenheimer JB, Scholting P, Cawley JF. Differences in the delivery of health education to patients with chronic disease by provider type, 2005-2009. Prev Chronic Dis 2014 Mar 06;11:E33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5888/pcd11.130175] [Medline: 24602587]
- 12. United States. Department of Health and Human Services. Healthy People 2010: Understanding and Improving Health. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2000.
- 13. van der Heide I, Poureslami I, Mitic W, Shum J, Rootman I, FitzGerald JM. Health literacy in chronic disease management: a matter of interaction. J Clin Epidemiol 2018 Oct;102:134-138. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jclinepi.2018.05.010</u>] [Medline: <u>29793001</u>]
- 14. Chan A, Malhotra R, Manap N, Yi Y, Visaria A. Transitions in Health, Employment, Social Engagement And Intergenerational Transfers In Singapore Study (THE SIGNS Study) I: Descriptive Statistics and Analysis of Key Aspects of Successful Ageing. Singapore: Centre for Ageing Research and Education (CARE); 2018.
- 15. Koetsenruijter J, van Eikelenboom N, van Lieshout J, Vassilev I, Lionis C, Todorova E, et al. Social support and self-management capabilities in diabetes patients: An international observational study. Patient Educ Couns 2016 Apr;99(4):638-643 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2015.10.029] [Medline: 26549171]
- Langford CPH, Bowsher J, Maloney JP, Lillis PP. Social support: a conceptual analysis. J Adv Nurs 1997 Jan;25(1):95-100. [doi: <u>10.1046/j.1365-2648.1997.1997025095.x</u>] [Medline: <u>9004016</u>]
- 17. Beauchamp A, Peeters A, Tonkin A, Turrell G. Best practice for prevention and treatment of cardiovascular disease through an equity lens: a review. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 2010 Oct;17(5):599-606. [doi: <u>10.1097/HJR.0b013e328339cc99</u>] [Medline: <u>20562629</u>]
- Daviglus ML, Talavera GA, Avilés-Santa ML, Allison M, Cai J, Criqui MH, et al. Prevalence of major cardiovascular risk factors and cardiovascular diseases among Hispanic/Latino individuals of diverse backgrounds in the United States. JAMA 2012 Nov 07;308(17):1775-1784 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2012.14517] [Medline: 23117778]
- 19. Gallant MP. The influence of social support on chronic illness self-management: a review and directions for research. Health Educ Behav 2003 Apr;30(2):170-195. [doi: 10.1177/1090198102251030] [Medline: 12693522]
- 20. Hæsum LKE, Ehlers L, Hejlesen O. The long-term effects of using telehomecare technology on functional health literacy: results from a randomized trial. Public Health 2017 Sep;150:43-50. [doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2017.05.002] [Medline: 28623766]
- Jiang Y, Koh KWL, Ramachandran HJ, Tay YK, Wu VX, Shorey S, et al. Patients' Experiences of a Nurse-Led, Home-Based Heart Failure Self-management Program: Findings From a Qualitative Process Evaluation. J Med Internet Res 2021 Apr 27;23(4):e28216 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/28216] [Medline: <u>33904823</u>]
- Yu-Mei Chen D, Wu XV, Chan EY, Goh YS. Nurse-Led Tele-Coaching on Modifiable Cardiovascular Risk Factors in People with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Worldviews Evid Based Nurs 2019 Dec;16(6):424-432. [doi: 10.1111/wvn.12409] [Medline: 31721428]
- 23. Hamine S, Gerth-Guyette E, Faulx D, Green BB, Ginsburg AS. Impact of mHealth chronic disease management on treatment adherence and patient outcomes: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2015 Feb 24;17(2):e52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3951] [Medline: 25803266]

- 24. Jiang Y, Jiao N, Nguyen HD, Lopez V, Wu VX, Kowitlawakul Y, et al. Effect of a mHealth programme on coronary heart disease prevention among working population in Singapore: A single group pretest-post-test design. J Adv Nurs 2019 Sep;75(9):1922-1932. [doi: 10.1111/jan.13980] [Medline: 30786051]
- Wong AK, Ong SF, Matchar DB, Lie D, Ng R, Yoon KE, et al. Complexities and Challenges of Singapore Nurses Providing Postacute Home Care in Multicultural Communities: A Grounded Theory Study. J Transcult Nurs 2018 Sep;29(5):402-409. [doi: 10.1177/1043659617736884] [Medline: 29308714]
- 26. Ministry of Health, Singapore. 2012. URL: <u>https://docplayer.net/</u> <u>12829195-Health-healthcare-2020-improving-accessibility-quality-affordability-healthcare-2020.html</u> [accessed 2018-07-31]
- 27. Muhsin MGB, Goh Y, Hassan N, Chi Y, Wu XV. Nurses' experiences on the road during transition into community care: An exploratory descriptive qualitative study in Singapore. Health Soc Care Community 2020 Nov;28(6):2253-2264. [doi: 10.1111/hsc.13038] [Medline: 32510660]
- Haugan G, Kuven BM, Eide WM, Taasen SE, Rinnan E, Xi Wu V, et al. Nurse-patient interaction and self-transcendence: assets for a meaningful life in nursing home residents? BMC Geriatr 2020 May 07;20(1):168 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12877-020-01555-2] [Medline: 32381032]
- 29. Community Nursing in the East. Changi General Hospital; SingHealth. URL: <u>https://www.cgh.com.sg/centres-services/</u> <u>community-health-services/Pages/Community-Nursing-in-the-East.aspx</u> [accessed 2021-06-22]
- Richardson J, Loyola-Sanchez A, Sinclair S, Harris J, Letts L, MacIntyre NJ, et al. Self-management interventions for chronic disease: a systematic scoping review. Clin Rehabil 2014 Nov;28(11):1067-1077. [doi: <u>10.1177/0269215514532478</u>] [Medline: <u>24784031</u>]
- Schilling LS, Grey M, Knafl KA. The concept of self-management of type 1 diabetes in children and adolescents: an evolutionary concept analysis. J Adv Nurs 2002 Jan;37(1):87-99. [doi: <u>10.1046/j.1365-2648.2002.02061.x</u>] [Medline: <u>11784402</u>]
- 32. Grey M, Knafl K, McCorkle R. A framework for the study of self- and family management of chronic conditions. Nurs Outlook 2006;54(5):278-286. [doi: 10.1016/j.outlook.2006.06.004] [Medline: 17027605]
- 33. Branch R, Kopcha T. Instructional Design Models. In: Spector JM, Merrill MD, Elen J, Bishop MJ, editors. Handbook of Research on Educational Communications and Technology. New York, NY: Springer; 2014:77-87.
- 34. Warner G, Packer TL, Kervin E, Sibbald K, Audulv ?. A systematic review examining whether community-based self-management programs for older adults with chronic conditions actively engage participants and teach them patient-oriented self-management strategies. Patient Educ Couns 2019 Dec;102(12):2162-2182. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2019.07.002] [Medline: 31301922]
- 35. Tan JP, Cheng KKF, Siah RC. A systematic review and meta-analysis on the effectiveness of education on medication adherence for patients with hypertension, hyperlipidaemia and diabetes. J Adv Nurs 2019 Nov;75(11):2478-2494. [doi: 10.1111/jan.14025] [Medline: 30993749]
- 36. Yap J, Tantono N, Wu X, Klainin-Yobas P. Effectiveness of technology-based psychosocial interventions on diabetes distress and health-relevant outcomes among type 2 diabetes mellitus: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Telemed Telecare 2021 Nov 26:1357633X211058329. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X211058329] [Medline: 34825839]
- Rodrigues NG, Han CQY, Su Y, Klainin-Yobas P, Wu XV. Psychological impacts and online interventions of social isolation amongst older adults during COVID-19 pandemic: A scoping review. J Adv Nurs 2021 Oct 09 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jan.15063] [Medline: 34625997]
- 38. Krug S. Rocket Surgery Made Easy: The Oo-It Yourself Guide to Finding and Fixing Usability Problems. Berkeley, CA: New Riders; 2009.
- 39. Nielsen J. Usability Engineering. Boston, MA: Morgan Kaufmann; 1994.
- 40. Dick W, Carey L. The systematic design of instruction (3rd edition). New York, NY: Harper Collins; 1990.
- 41. Self Care of Chronic Illness Inventory Patient Version. Self-Care Measures. URL: <u>https://self-care-measures.com/</u> <u>available-self-care-measures/self-care-of-chronic-illness-inventory/</u> [accessed 2022-01-03]
- 42. Thanakwang L, Maneesriwongul W, Malathum P, Jitapunkul S. Development and psychometric testing of the healthy aging instrument. J Nurs Res 2008;14(4):285-296.
- 43. Duong TV, Chang PW, Yang S, Chen M, Chao W, Chen T, et al. A New Comprehensive Short-form Health Literacy Survey Tool for Patients in General. Asian Nurs Res (Korean Soc Nurs Sci) 2017 Mar;11(1):30-35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.anr.2017.02.001] [Medline: 28388977]
- 44. Bulsara C, Styles I, Ward AM, Bulsara M. The psychometrics of developing the patient empowerment scale. J Psychosoc Oncol 2006;24(2):1-16. [doi: 10.1300/J077v24n02_01] [Medline: 17046803]
- 45. Bulsara CE, Styles I. Development of a Cancer Related Patient Empowerment Scale Using the Polytomous Rasch Measurement Model. CCO 2013 Jan 09;2(1). [doi: <u>10.5539/cco.v2n1p87</u>]
- 46. Sarason IG, Sarason BR, Shearin EN, Pierce GR. A Brief Measure of Social Support: Practical and Theoretical Implications. J Soc Pers Relatsh 2016 Jun 30;4(4):497-510. [doi: 10.1177/0265407587044007]
- Nasreddine ZS, Phillips NA, Bédirian V, Charbonneau S, Whitehead V, Collin I, et al. The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: a brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. J Am Geriatr Soc 2005 Apr;53(4):695-699. [doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53221.x] [Medline: 15817019]

RenderX

- 48. Tan HH, Xu J, Teoh HL, Chan BP, Seet RCS, Venketasubramanian N, et al. Decline in changing Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) scores is associated with post-stroke cognitive decline determined by a formal neuropsychological evaluation. PLoS One 2017;12(3):e0173291 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0173291] [Medline: 28346532]
- 49. Smith A. Symbol digit modalities test (SDMT) manual (revised) Western Psychological Services. APA PsycNet. Preprint published 1973 1973. [doi: 10.1037/t27513-000]
- 50. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. 2018. URL: <u>https://dspace.mit.edu/handle/1721.1/15192https://www.gbif.org/tool/81287/r-a-language-and-environment-for-statistical-computing [accessed 2022-01-03]</u>
- Polit DF, Beck CT, Owen SV. Is the CVI an acceptable indicator of content validity? Appraisal and recommendations. Res Nurs Health 2007 Aug;30(4):459-467. [doi: <u>10.1002/nur.20199</u>] [Medline: <u>17654487</u>]
- 52. Gilbert GE, Prion S. Making Sense of Methods and Measurement: Lawshe's Content Validity Index. Clin Simul Nurs 2016 Dec;12(12):530-531. [doi: 10.1016/j.ecns.2016.08.002]
- 53. Fortuna KL, DiMilia PR, Lohman MC, Bruce ML, Zubritsky CD, Halaby MR, et al. Feasibility, Acceptability, and Preliminary Effectiveness of a Peer-Delivered and Technology Supported Self-Management Intervention for Older Adults with Serious Mental Illness. Psychiatr Q 2018 Jun;89(2):293-305 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11126-017-9534-7] [Medline: 28948424]
- De San Miguel K, Smith J, Lewin G. Telehealth remote monitoring for community-dwelling older adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Telemed J E Health 2013 Sep;19(9):652-657. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2012.0244</u>] [Medline: <u>23808885</u>]
- 55. Nahm E, Zhu S, Bellantoni M, Keldsen L, Russomanno V, Rietschel M, et al. The Effects of a Theory-Based Patient Portal e-Learning Program for Older Adults with Chronic Illnesses. Telemed J E Health 2019 Oct;25(10):940-951 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2018.0184] [Medline: 30431393]
- 56. Hamilton T, Johnson L, Quinn BT, Coppola J, Sachs D, Migliaccio J, et al. Telehealth Intervention Programs for Seniors: An Observational Study of a Community-Embedded Health Monitoring Initiative. Telemed J E Health 2020 Apr;26(4):438-445. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2018.0248] [Medline: 30994409]
- Portz JD, LaMendola WF. Participation, Retention, and Utilization of a Web-Based Chronic Disease Self-Management Intervention Among Older Adults. Telemed J E Health 2019 Feb;25(2):126-131 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2017.0208] [Medline: 29782228]
- 58. Marziali E. E-health program for patients with chronic disease. Telemed J E Health 2009 Mar;15(2):176-181. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2008.0082] [Medline: 19292627]
- Kampmeijer R, Pavlova M, Tambor M, Golinowska S, Groot W. The use of e-health and m-health tools in health promotion and primary prevention among older adults: a systematic literature review. BMC Health Serv Res 2016 Sep 05;16 Suppl 5:290 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-016-1522-3] [Medline: 27608677]

Abbreviations

CeHP: Community-based e-Health Program EDTA: ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid HAI: Healthy Aging Instrument HbA_{1c}: glycated hemoglobin HDL: high-density lipoprotein HLS-SF 12: Short-Form Health Literacy Scale, 12 Items LDL: low-density lipoprotein MoCA: Montreal Cognitive Assessment **PES:** Patient Empowerment Scale **SAC:** senior activity center SCCII: Self-care of Chronic Illness Inventory **SDMT:** Symbol Digit Modalities Test SMP: self-management program SSQ6: Social Support Questionnaire, 6 items T2DM: type 2 diabetes mellitus TC: total cholesterol VLDL: very-low-density lipoprotein



Edited by J Wang; submitted 29.08.21; peer-reviewed by C Urquhart; comments to author 16.10.21; revised version received 16.11.21; accepted 01.12.21; published 17.01.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Wu VX, Dong Y, Tan PC, Gan P, Zhang D, Chi Y, Chao FFT, Lu J, Teo BHD, Tan YQ Development of a Community-Based e-Health Program for Older Adults With Chronic Diseases: Pilot Pre-Post Study JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e33118 URL: https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e33118 doi:10.2196/33118 PMID:35037882

©Vivien Xi Wu, Yanhong Dong, Poh Choo Tan, Peiying Gan, Di Zhang, Yuchen Chi, Felicia Fang Ting Chao, Jinhua Lu, Boon Heng Dennis Teo, Yue Qian Tan. Originally published in JMIR Aging (https://aging.jmir.org), 17.01.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Investigation of Carers' Perspectives of Dementia Misconceptions on Twitter: Focus Group Study

Georgie Hudson^{1,2*}, BSc; Sonja M Jansli^{1,2*}, BSc, MSc; Sinan Erturk^{1,2}, BSc, MSc; Daniel Morris^{1,2}, BSc; Clarissa M Odoi^{1,2}, BSc, MSc; Angela Clayton-Turner¹, BA, Grad Dip; Vanessa Bray¹, BSc, MA; Gill Yourston¹, PGCert; Doreen Clouden¹; David Proudfoot¹; Andrew Cornwall¹; Claire Waldron¹; Til Wykes^{1,2}, BSc, MSc, PhD; Sagar Jilka^{1,2,3}, BSc, MRes, PhD

Corresponding Author:

Sagar Jilka, BSc, MRes, PhD Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology, and Neuroscience King's College London 2.13 Henry Wellcome Building 16 De Crespigny Park London, SE5 8AF United Kingdom Phone: 44 7708715627 Email: sagar.jilka@kcl.ac.uk

Abstract

Background: Dementia misconceptions on social media are common, with negative effects on people with the condition, their carers, and those who know them. This study codeveloped a thematic framework with carers to understand the forms these misconceptions take on Twitter.

Objective: The aim of this study is to identify and analyze types of dementia conversations on Twitter using participatory methods.

Methods: A total of 3 focus groups with dementia carers were held to develop a framework of dementia misconceptions based on their experiences. Dementia-related tweets were collected from Twitter's official application programming interface using neutral and negative search terms defined by the literature and by carers (N=48,211). A sample of these tweets was selected with equal numbers of neutral and negative words (n=1497), which was validated in individual ratings by carers. We then used the framework to analyze, in detail, a sample of carer-rated negative tweets (n=863).

Results: A total of 25.94% (12,507/48,211) of our tweet corpus contained negative search terms about dementia. The carers' framework had 3 negative and 3 neutral categories. Our thematic analysis of carer-rated negative tweets found 9 themes, including the use of weaponizing language to insult politicians (469/863, 54.3%), using dehumanizing or outdated words or statements about members of the public (n=143, 16.6%), unfounded claims about the cures or causes of dementia (n=11, 1.3%), or providing armchair diagnoses of dementia (n=21, 2.4%).

Conclusions: This is the first study to use participatory methods to develop a framework that identifies dementia misconceptions on Twitter. We show that misconceptions and stigmatizing language are not rare. They manifest through minimizing and underestimating language. Web-based campaigns aiming to reduce discrimination and stigma about dementia could target those who use negative vocabulary and reduce the misconceptions that are being propagated, thus improving general awareness.

(JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e30388) doi:10.2196/30388

KEYWORDS

RenderX

patient and public involvement; dementia; co-production; misconceptions; stigma; Twitter; social media; Alzheimer's Disease

¹Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology, and Neuroscience, King's College London, London, United Kingdom

 $^{^2 \}mathrm{South}$ London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust, London, United Kingdom

³Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, Coventry, United Kingdom

^{*}these authors contributed equally

Introduction

The World Alzheimer's Report [1] highlighted the damaging negative attitudes about dementia, "as the resulting shame, guilt, hopelessness, and social exclusion, lead to delayed diagnosis [2], inability to cope, decreased quality of life [3] and increased burden of dementia (eg, excess disability [4])." These issues also extend to friends, family, and caregivers of individuals with dementia, as they become the target of stigmatizing views "by association" [5]. Myths and misconceptions about dementia can also lead to a lack of open communication [6]. The use of devaluing words, such as "demented" is especially common on social media platforms such as Twitter [7], and many tweets contain language that ridicules the disease and therefore perpetuates the associated stigma [8]. Twitter is a popular international social media service, with the vast majority of tweets being public and thus reaching a wide audience [9]. It also has a high prevalence of stigma towards dementia [10] and therefore lends itself to investigations into misconceptions.

Given the multiple negative consequences, it is surprising that little is known about the prevalence of public misconceptions on social media. Improving the overall knowledge base for dementia, especially a detailed understanding of the types of misconceptions, can provide a baseline from which to challenge misconceptions and stigma [11]. Although previous work examined types of dementia-related conversations on Twitter from the researchers' perspective [12-14], none have taken the views of those with lived experience into account to understand misconceptions. We argue that involvement through participatory methods is the first step to understanding the social media content that perpetuates dementia misconceptions and stigma. This study overcomes this gap by codeveloping a framework with carers to understand, in detail, the forms of dementia misconceptions on Twitter.

Methods

Design

This was a mixed methods study using participatory methods [15,16] with carers of people with dementia. We held 3 focus groups with carers to identify search terms for data collection and generated an initial framework of misconceptions. Search terms (Figure 1) from carers, the literature, researchers' Twitter searches, and dementia awareness campaigns were used to extract tweets (described next in "Tweet Collection and Screening") and carers' feedback iteratively refined the framework. Carers then individually categorized tweets into the framework and their interrater reliability was examined. The final framework was used by service user researchers (researchers with lived experience of using mental health services) to analyze tweets that carers categorized as negative.

Figure 1. Neutral (black) and negative (red) search terms, as defined by carers and noncarers (eg, through researchers' own Twitter search, or the literature). Words with an asterisk were taken from Oscar et al [8].





Participants and Recruitment

Participants were recruited if they had experience caring for someone with a diagnosis of dementia. We recruited from (1) a research advisory group, MALADY [17], made up of dementia carers, and (2) Join Dementia Research, a United Kingdom–wide web-based platform hosted by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR). Participants were included if they were at least 18 years old and were dementia carers who could give capacity to consent. A total of 7 carers were recruited and invited to take part in as many of the research activities as possible.

Patient Involvement

Dementia carers were involved as participants and were involved in the design, project management, and data analysis for this paper; they are also authors of this paper.

Tweet Collection and Screening

Publicly available tweets originating from across the world were extracted in real time between February 4 and 7, 2020, using Twitter's streaming application programming interface (API). The connection to Twitter's API was made via Python's open source Tweepy library (Python Software Foundation). Tweets were captured if they contained any occurrence of the English dementia search terms identified by carers, those previously cited by Oscar et al [8], or words identified in tweets from patient advocacy groups or awareness campaigns. Most words were directly associated with dementia (see Figure 1), but some words or phrases not specific to dementia were also included because carers thought they related to negative aspects of dementia. Through a discussion with carers, there was a lack of agreement on what differentiated a positive term from a neutral term; therefore, we asked the carers to simply categorize words as either negative or neutral (which included positive) search terms. All search terms were then defined by carers as negative or neutral. The stages of analysis are shown in Figure 2. A total of 48,211 tweets were collected, 35,704 using neutral search terms and 12,507 using negative search terms (see Multimedia Appendix 1 for a breakdown of tweet collection). To manage this data set, 10,000 neutral and 10,000 negative tweets were randomly selected. From these 20,000, we selected 2000 tweets (1000 negative and 1000 neutral) that met the following criteria: (1) written in English, (2) made clear reference to dementia, (3) had a comprehensible meaning (ie, not a Uniform Resource Locator [URL] or a random string of words generated by a bot), and (4) were neutral or negative. These 2000 tweets were given to carers to carry out 2 tasks. First, carers coded a subsample of tweets (n=500) and subsequently refined their initial framework. Then, carers were given the remaining 1500 tweets to code into the final categories (see Figure 2 for an overview). This number and the types of tweets were defined through discussion with the carers on the burden tweet rating would place on them.

Figure 2. Tweet extraction and categorization, outlining the number of tweets extracted, screened, not selected, and categorized by carers.



Ethical Approval and Procedure

The study was granted ethical approval from the King's College London Psychiatry, Nursing and Midwifery Research Ethics Committee on December 4, 2019 (HR-19/20-14565). The procedure consisted of 2 stages.

Stage I: Developing a Framework (Involvement Focus Groups)

Carer involvement was spread across 3 focus groups. Each group followed a prespecified structure, which incorporated strategies to facilitate coproduction [18]. These focus groups took place in person (Multimedia Appendix 2).

The process of building the framework fell into 3 steps. In step 1, focus group members (n=4) described their experiences, browsed Twitter in order to generate a list of dementia search terms, and categorized the search terms as either negative or neutral (Figure 1). In step 2, the researchers generated an initial framework. In both focus groups 2 and 3, carers (n=5) categorized 250 tweets randomly selected from the sample of 2000 into themes, refined them, and created new ones (Multimedia Appendix 3). The final framework included all their feedback. Finally in step 3, 6 carers were each emailed a different set of 250 randomly collected tweets, and they categorized their set of tweets independently into the final framework. Each tweet was coded only into one category. This step was carried out via email due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Interrater reliability was assessed by each of the 6 carers categorizing 50 rated tweets (10 tweets from each of the 5 other carers). The total number of tweets used for the assessment of interrater reliability was 300.

Stage II: Qualitative Analysis of Tweets

We focused our analysis on the tweets that carers categorized as negative and tweets that carers were unsure of or missed. See Figure 2 for a breakdown of tweet extraction and categorization.

Table 1.	Participant	characteristics,	N=7.
----------	-------------	------------------	------

Data Analysis

An interrater reliability analysis using the kappa statistic was performed to determine consistency among carer raters in the final development of the framework. We report the average kappa score across all carers and the range.

Service user researchers carried out a thematic framework approach [19] for the qualitative analysis of the tweets. All tweets that the carers categorized into negative framework categories as well as those categorized as "other" or "I don't know," and the tweets the carers omitted, were thematically analyzed as one data set, employing an inductive, holistic methodology. This process involved (1) familiarization with the data by reading through the tweets, (2) coding the tweets, (3) combining the relevant tweets together, (4) examining the codes (ie, the framework categories) to identify themes, (5) reviewing and refining the themes, and (6) defining and naming the themes. Two researchers independently conducted this analysis using NVivo 12 for Windows (QSR International), identifying themes and subthemes within the framework created by the carers. The researchers compared their coding, and any discrepancies were resolved through discussion between the researchers. A guidance document (Multimedia Appendix 4) was written with the criteria used by the 2 researchers to categorize the tweets, which was used by a third researcher to ensure consistency of the coding process when resolving any coding disagreement.

Results

Participant Characteristics

Carer participant characteristics are summarized in Table 1. See Multimedia Appendix 5 for the breakdown of carer attendance at each focus group. We found 25.94% (12,507/48,211) of our total data set contained misconceptions or stigmatizing language originating from our negative search terms.

Characteristics	Values
Gender, n (%)	
Female	5 (71)
Male	2 (29)
Age (years), mean (SD)	63.33 (11.79)
Ethnicity, n (%)	
White British	6 (86)
Black/Black British	1 (14)
Employment status, n ^a (%)	
Retired	3 (50)
Employed (part-time)	1 (17)
Self-employed	1 (17)
Receiving Employment and Support Allowance (ESA)	1 (17)
Length of time spent being a carer (years), mean (SD) ^a	8.83 (6.59)

^aFor this category, n=6 as there is 1 missing data point; percentages have been calculated accordingly.

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e30388

Carer Influence on the Framework (Focus Groups 1 to 3)

Carers' feedback from focus groups 1 to 3 was used to construct 6 finalized categories: 3 neutral categories (lived experience, organizational and community group statements, and individual comments on dementia-related topics) and 3 negative categories (minimizing or underestimating words/statements; dehumanizing, weaponizing, or outdated words/statements; and incorrect or questionable words/statements).

Final Tweet Categorization

In step 3, 6 carers categorized 250 tweets each, but 3 tweets were not categorized, leaving 1497 categorized tweets. See Table 2 for the number of tweets falling into each category.

There was fair agreement between carers across 6 categories (3 neutral and 3 negative) on average in the framework (κ =0.43; range 0.067-0.7). Agreement was better when we aggregated the data to investigate agreement between neutral and negative categories, but there was still evidence that carer views differed (κ =0.92; range 0.5-1).

Table 2. Carer attribution of tweets into each framework category (categories	s 1-3: neutral; categories 4-6: negative), n=1497.
---	--

Categories	Tweets categorized to each category, n (%)
1. Lived experience	97 (6.48)
2. Organizational and community group statements	308 (20.57)
3. Individual comments on dementia-related topics	232 (15.50)
4. Minimizing or underestimating words/statements	19 (1.27)
5. Dehumanizing, weaponizing, or outdated words/statements	662 (44.22)
6. Incorrect or questionable words/statements	96 (6.41)
7. Other ^a	34 (2.27)
8. I don't know ^a	49 (3.27)

^aFor the purpose of categorization, 2 additional categories were created: other (for tweets that clearly did not belong in any of the other categories) and I don't know (for tweets that carers thought might belong in one of the categories, but were uncertain about).

Qualitative Analysis of Tweets

A total of 863 tweets were thematically analyzed from the 3 negative categories (minimizing or underestimating words/statements; dehumanizing, weaponizing, or outdated words/statements; and incorrect or questionable words/statements), as well as those categorized as "other" and "I don't know." All the coding discrepancies were resolved between the service user researchers. The summary of the final

framework of themes is shown in Table 3 and Multimedia Appendix 6 with example tweets.

The majority of tweets were specifically insults targeted towards politicians (469/863, 54.3%), and a large portion contained general dehumanizing, weaponizing, or outdated words/statements (n=143, 16.6%). Dehumanizing language featured heavily in the tweets about politics (63/863, 7.3%), and the most frequently found words in the tweets featured American politicians alongside the words "senile" and "demented."



Hudson et al

Table 3. Carer defined framework categories, and their researcher defined themes and subthemes, showing the number of tweets coded to each theme and framework category and their percentage of the total number of tweets analyzed, n=863.

Framework categories, themes, and subthemes	Tweets, n (%)	Tweets coded to each framework category, n (%)
Minimizing or underestimating words/statements	1 (0.1)	21 (2.4)
Jokes	14 (1.6)	
Painting a negative picture	3 (0.3)	
Unintentionally minimizing	3 (0.3)	
Dehumanizing, weaponizing, or outdated words/statements	143 (16.6)	737 (85.4)
Celebrities	34 (3.9)	
Politics	63 (7.3)	
Weaponizing diagnoses	4 (0.5)	
Insults targeted towards politicians	469 (54.3)	
Unintentionally weaponizing	24 (2.8)	
Incorrect/questionable words and statements	0 (0)	34 (3.9)
Armchair diagnoses	21 (2.4)	
Cures/causes of dementia	11 (1.3)	
Assumptions about politicians	2 (0.2)	
Neutral	64 (7.4)	64 (7.4)
Unclear	7 (0.8)	7 (0.8)

Minimizing or Underestimating Words/Statements

Tweets in this framework category made light of dementia, using nonoffensive words (eg, "selective dementia") in a way that did not convey the seriousness of the condition. This was further nuanced by some tweets using dementia-related terms to make jokes about people's unusual behavior or painting a negative picture of dementia. In these cases, tweets suggested that people with the condition have a poor quality of life, as if they are just waiting until "death ends your misery," or are inherently a danger to themselves or others. Some tweets in this theme unintentionally minimized the severity of dementia, without using weaponizing language. These suggested that those diagnosed do not in fact have dementia, and elderly people should not be expected to "remember her relatives' birthdays."

Dehumanizing, Weaponizing, or Outdated Words/Statements

Tweets in this framework category used stigmatizing and weaponizing words to ridicule dementia or people with dementia, most frequently using "demented" or "senile." The vast majority of these tweets were related to politics. Most were insults targeted towards politicians, most frequently Donald Trump ("Demented Don") and Nancy Pelosi ("Nancy is a senile...woman"); however, Joe Biden also had many such insults targeted towards him ("Biden is senile"). Some tweets used weaponizing language casually to make weaponizing diagnoses of politicians (eg, tweeting that a politician "has senility"). The majority of these were about Donald Trump. Many tweets also referred to "demented democrats" generally. Tweets in this theme used this weaponizing language about celebrities, frequently Bette Midler. Some tweets used weaponizing terms unintentionally in reference to behaviors the user does not like, such as being "in bed before 11.30pm."

Incorrect/Questionable Words and Statements

This framework category represents tweets that contained misconceptions around dementia. Most frequently, these took the form of armchair diagnoses, suggesting that somebody, likely a public figure, has dementia in a way that is not malicious. Most referenced Donald Trump; however, other politicians were also named, such as Bill Clinton, Ronald Reagan, and Joe Biden. Many used their personal experience of a client or relative's dementia diagnosis as justification for their armchair diagnosis, reasoning that they have "lived with it with my Mom." Additionally, these tweets speculated on causes of dementia, including "vegan diet and carbs," or provided suggestions for cures that appeared anecdotal or were not supported by research findings.

Neutral

These tweets were judged by the researchers to not portray any negative attitudes towards dementia. One tweet referred to a film "Cecil B Demented," with several others reporting on reputable scientific results in the field of dementia.

Unclear

This framework category contained tweets that the researchers could not categorize into other themes. Often, their meaning could vary depending on connotation, and it was unclear whether they were making light of dementia or legitimately referring to somebody with the condition (eg, "I thought he was brake checking me for a second but then I realized his dementia was effecting his motor skills").



RenderX

Principal Findings

There is limited qualitative research investigating dementia misconceptions on Twitter, with most literature focusing on content relating to dementia awareness [12,20] or supporting people with dementia [13,21]. To our knowledge, this is the first participatory study focusing on dementia misconceptions on Twitter to develop a framework to categorize misconceptions. We found that dementia misconceptions and weaponizing terms are prevalent and problematic on Twitter.

From the tweets extracted on dementia, 25.94% (12,507/48,211) were negative. We then extracted a sample representing half negative and half neutral tweets and validated this categorization by carers' ratings. They rated just over half of the tweets (777/1497, 51.90%) as displaying negative attitudes, which is slightly over the 50% (750/1500) of these tweets extracted using negative search terms. Most negative tweets were insults targeted towards politicians. Our prevalence of negative tweets (12,507/48,211, 25.94%,) is similar to previous work by Oscar et al [8], who found 21% of their Alzheimer disease-related tweets (N=6583) used Alzheimer disease-related words to perpetuate stigma. Their analysis was carried out by 2 researchers manually coding only 311 tweets across 6 broad categories (metaphorical, personal experience, informative, joke, ridicule, organization). Our participatory work focuses on the end-user views-the carers' ratings and views of misconceptions. We found an overlapping theme in "jokes," but through our qualitative analysis, we were able to highlight that jokes manifest as minimizing or underestimating words or statements. This high prevalence of misconceptions and stigma in tweets is mirrored in research investigating other neurological conditions. For example, McNeil et al [22] found 41% of tweets using the word "seizure" were derogatory in nature, and likewise found ridicule or jokes were common in these tweets. These misconceptions towards dementia are also widespread in the general population and are not exclusive to views disseminated on social media. Crisp et al [23] found that over half of the UK adults surveyed expressed negative attitudes towards people with dementia, including that they were unpredictable, hard to talk to, and feel things in a different way than other people.

We employed an inductive methodology to categorize each tweet into 1 theme. This approach has also been applied in previous qualitative research [12], but others adopted deductive approaches (with categories decided a priori) to categorize almost 70% of tweets to multiple dimensions [8]. We made the conscious decision to involve carers from the very beginning to develop a framework based on their experiences, and then employ an inductive approach for our qualitative analysis. This was important as this is the first piece of research to focus specifically on dementia misconceptions on Twitter, but it also ensured that we captured the meaning of the tweet from the recipient's viewpoint (taking an emic perspective [24]), particularly given that tweets are short snippets of text which can lack context.

Implications

This study has significant public health implications. We provide terms that carers of people with dementia consider to be misconceptions or stigmatizing towards dementia. Therefore, social media platforms should incorporate these terms into their algorithms to enable users to filter out any tweets containing these negative terms. As these terms have been generated by carers after conducting Twitter searches, their validity is reinforced as they have been rated as negative by the people they affect the most.

Additionally, these terms could be used to identify Twitter users who propagate these attitudes and target them in an awareness campaign to reduce their misconceptions. This would aim to promote awareness of the use of words which can perpetuate stigma around mental illness, benefiting the reduction of stigma related to any mental illness [25].

Strengths and Limitations

Understanding what constitutes stigmatizing or weaponizing language on Twitter requires the incorporation of personal perspectives, but this approach is rare. Previous studies investigating misconceptions or stigma in mental health have rarely consulted with service users or carers [8,26,27]. Our participatory methods ensured that our framework is grounded in the personal perspective of those who will be affected by the poor use of language.

Our sample of tweets thematically analyzed by researchers (n=863) is larger than those in previous studies, such as Cheng et al [12] (n=398) and Oscar et al [8] (n=311), and this broader sample provides a better understanding of the prevalence and forms of dementia misconceptions on Twitter. However, many of our tweets were related to American politics; therefore, future work should consider using a broader time period to understand whether this effect is one of time (an election period) or one of American politics in general. The timing of tweet collection will have affected the prevalence of tweets relating to politicians and the rate may be lower if tweets are collected at other times.

Additionally, we extracted tweets during UK office hours and, therefore, overnight events would have been captured the following morning. This may not have allowed us to capture the initial conversations surrounding controversial events. This work only focuses on Twitter and Twitter users, who may not represent the general population [28] or users of other social media platforms. Future work should investigate misconceptions on other social media platforms and in the wider general public.

Our carer group was small and consisted predominately of White British participants, and there was mixed agreement by carers on what constitutes misconceptions and stigma. We found that agreement about tweet categories was greater when assessing whether a tweet was negative or neutral, rather than its individual category; some tweets could be interpreted as stigmatizing by one person, but not by another. Our findings reflect the heterogeneity in neurological and mental health conditions, combined with societal and cultural factors, which shape how individuals communicate and understand their mental health [29]. We propose that future work ensures not only a larger group, but also a more diverse group of carers, patients,

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e30388
```

and members of the public classify tweets, and that clinical, social, and cultural data are used to understand some of their personal reactions.

Conclusion

This study demonstrates the importance of coproduction in assessing dementia misconceptions. Contributions from people with lived experience and carers can provide a perspective that may be overlooked by researchers. We highlight the high frequency of misconceptions or weaponizing language used in dementia-related tweets. The most commonly used terms are "demented" and "senile" to disparage American politicians including Nancy Pelosi, Donald Trump, and Joe Biden. These findings may prove to be useful to inform a campaign aiming to reduce these misconceptions, correct people's misunderstandings of dementia, and highlight the effect their words have on carers of, and people with, dementia.

Funding

This work was supported by the NIHR Biomedical Research Centre at South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust and King's College London (IS-BRC-1215-20018), and Alzheimer's Research UK's Inspire Fund awarded to SJ.

Data Sharing

Data available upon request from SJ.

Acknowledgments

We thank the NIHR Maudsley Biomedical Research Centre's MALADY advisory group and dementia theme for their support on this work: Zunera Khan, Miguel Vasconcelos Da Silva, and Emma Wilson. This research was reviewed by a team with experience of mental health problems and their carers who have been specially trained to advise on research proposals and documentation through the Feasibility and Acceptability Support Team for Researchers (FAST-R), a free, confidential service in England provided by the NIHR Maudsley Biomedical Research Centre via King's College London and South London and Maudsley National Health Service (NHS) Foundation Trust.

Authors' Contributions

Data collection was carried out by SJ, CO and DM. DM and CO facilitated involvement focus groups. Thematic analyses were carried out by SMJ, GH and SE. Data were interpreted by SJ, SMJ, GH, SE, and TW. SJ, SMJ, GH, SE and TW wrote the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Number of tweets collected in each extraction round. [DOCX File, 20 KB - aging v5i1e30388 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Breakdown of focus group content. [DOCX File, 20 KB - aging_v5i1e30388_app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Preliminary themes with carer feedback . [DOCX File , 22 KB - aging v5i1e30388 app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Guidance document explaining coding as provided to third coder. [DOCX File, 24 KB - aging v5i1e30388 app4.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 5 Breakdown of carer attendance by focus group. [DOCX File , 24 KB - aging v5i1e30388 app5.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 6 Framework categories and themes with their subthemes, showing example tweets for each theme. [DOCX File , 26 KB - aging v5i1e30388 app6.docx]

References

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e30388

- 1. Batsch NL, Mittelman MS. World Alzheimer report 2012: overcoming the stigma of dementia. Alzheimer's Disease International. 2012. URL: <u>https://www.alzint.org/u/WorldAlzheimerReport2012.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-01-14]
- 2. Mukadam N, Livingston G. Reducing the stigma associated with dementia: approaches and goals. Aging Health 2012 Aug;8(4):377-386. [doi: 10.2217/ahe.12.42]
- Burgener SC, Buckwalter K, Perkhounkova Y, Liu MF. The effects of perceived stigma on quality of life outcomes in persons with early-stage dementia: longitudinal findings: Part 2. Dementia 2015;14(5):609-632. [doi: 10.1177/1471301213504202]
- 4. Sabat SR. Surviving manifestations of selfhood in Alzheimer's disease: a case study. Dementia 2002 Feb 01;1(1):25-36. [doi: 10.1177/1049732319874782]
- 5. Werner P, Heinik J. Stigma by association and Alzheimer's disease. Aging Ment Health 2008 Jan;12(1):92-99. [doi: 10.1080/13607860701616325] [Medline: 18297483]
- 6. Morgan DG, Semchuk KM, Stewart NJ, D'Arcy C. Rural families caring for a relative with dementia: barriers to use of formal services. Soc Sci Med 2002 Oct;55(7):1129-1142. [doi: <u>10.1016/s0277-9536(01)00255-6</u>] [Medline: <u>12365526</u>]
- Robinson P, Turk D, Jilka S, Cella M. Measuring attitudes towards mental health using social media: investigating stigma and trivialisation. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2019 Jan;54(1):51-58 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00127-018-1571-5] [Medline: 30069754]
- Oscar N, Fox PA, Croucher R, Wernick R, Keune J, Hooker K. Machine learning, sentiment analysis, and tweets: an examination of Alzheimer's disease stigma on Twitter. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2017 Sep 01;72(5):742-751. [doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbx014] [Medline: 28329835]
- 9. Clement J. Most popular social networks worldwide as of October 2021, ranked by number of active users. Statista. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/272014/global-social-networks-ranked-by-number-of-users/</u> [accessed 2022-01-14]
- 10. Berry N, Lobban F, Belousov M, Emsley R, Nenadic G, Bucci S. #WhyWeTweetMH: understanding why people use Twitter to discuss mental health problems. J Med Internet Res 2017 Apr 05;19(4):e107. [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.6173</u>]
- Cahill S, Pierce M, Werner P, Darley A, Bobersky A. A systematic review of the public's knowledge and understanding of Alzheimer's disease and dementia. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord 2015;29(3):255-275. [doi: 10.1097/WAD.00000000000102] [Medline: 26207322]
- 12. Cheng TY, Liu L, Woo BK. Analyzing Twitter as a platform for Alzheimer-related dementia awareness: thematic analyses of tweets. JMIR Aging 2018 Dec 10;1(2):e11542 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11542] [Medline: 31518232]
- 13. Talbot CV, O'Dwyer ST, Clare L, Heaton J, Anderson J. How people with dementia use twitter: a qualitative analysis. Comput Human Behav 2020 Jan;102:112-119. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2019.08.005]
- 14. Robillard JM, Johnson TW, Hennessey C, Beattie BL, Illes J. Aging 2.0: health information about dementia on Twitter. PLoS One 2013 Jul;8(7):e69861 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0069861] [Medline: 23922827]
- 15. Wykes T. Great expectations for participatory research: what have we achieved in the last ten years? World Psychiatry 2014 Feb 04;13(1):24-27. [doi: 10.1002/wps.20086]
- 16. Rose D. Participatory research: real or imagined. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2018 Jun 21;53(8):765-771. [doi: 10.1007/s00127-018-1549-3]
- 17. Support for researchers. NIHR Maudsley Biomedical Research Centre. URL: <u>https://www.maudsleybrc.nihr.ac.uk/</u> <u>patients-public/support-for-researchers/</u> [accessed 2022-01-14]
- 18. Sim J, Waterfield J. Focus group methodology: some ethical challenges. Qual Quant 2019 Jul 16;53(6):3003-3022. [doi: 10.1007/s11135-019-00914-5]
- 19. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 20. Yoon S. What can we learn about mental health needs from tweets mentioning dementia on World Alzheimer's Day? J Am Psychiatr Nurses Assoc 2016 Nov 01;22(6):498-503. [doi: 10.1177/1078390316663690]
- Bacsu J, O'Connell ME, Cammer A, Azizi M, Grewal K, Poole L, et al. Using Twitter to understand the COVID-19 experiences of people With dementia: infodemiology study. J Med Internet Res 2021 Feb 3;23(2):e26254. [doi: 10.2196/26254]
- 22. McNeil K, Brna PM, Gordon KE. Epilepsy in the Twitter era: a need to re-tweet the way we think about seizures. Epilepsy Behav 2012 Feb;23(2):127-130. [doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2011.10.020] [Medline: 22134096]
- 23. Crisp AH, Gelder MG, Rix S, Meltzer HI, Rowlands OJ. Stigmatisation of people with mental illnesses. Br J Psychiatry 2000 Jul;177:4-7. [doi: 10.1192/bjp.177.1.4] [Medline: 10945080]
- 24. Pike K, editor. Etic and emic standpoints for the description of behavior. In: Language in Relation to a Unified Theory of the Structure of Human Behavior. The Hague, the Netherlands: Mouton Publishers; 1966:8-12.
- 25. Wahl OF, Harman CR. Family views of stigma. Schizophr Bull 1989 Jan 01;15(1):131-139. [doi: <u>10.1093/schbul/15.1.131</u>]
- 26. Bharadwaj P, Pai M, Suziedelyte A. Mental health stigma. Econ Lett 2017 Oct;159:57-60 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.econlet.2017.06.028]
- 27. Ahmedani BK. Mental health stigma: society, individuals, and the profession. J Soc Work Values Ethics 2011;8(2):41-416 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22211117]

RenderX

- 28. Mellon J, Prosser C. Twitter and Facebook are not representative of the general population: political attitudes and demographics of British social media users. Research & Politics 2017 Jul 13;4(3):1-9. [doi: 10.1177/2053168017720008]
- 29. Taylor SE, Brown JD. Illusion and well-being: a social psychological perspective on mental health. Psychol Bull 1988;103(2):193-210. [doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.103.2.193]

Abbreviations

API: application programming interfaceNHS: National Health ServiceNIHR: National Institute for Health ResearchURL: Uniform Resource Locator

Edited by J Wang; submitted 12.05.21; peer-reviewed by D Huang, J Liu, A Dormanesh; comments to author 14.09.21; revised version received 24.09.21; accepted 09.11.21; published 24.01.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Hudson G, Jansli SM, Erturk S, Morris D, Odoi CM, Clayton-Turner A, Bray V, Yourston G, Clouden D, Proudfoot D, Cornwall A, Waldron C, Wykes T, Jilka S Investigation of Carers' Perspectives of Dementia Misconceptions on Twitter: Focus Group Study JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e30388 URL: https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e30388 doi:10.2196/30388 PMID:35072637

©Georgie Hudson, Sonja M Jansli, Sinan Erturk, Daniel Morris, Clarissa M Odoi, Angela Clayton-Turner, Vanessa Bray, Gill Yourston, Doreen Clouden, David Proudfoot, Andrew Cornwall, Claire Waldron, Til Wykes, Sagar Jilka. Originally published in JMIR Aging (https://aging.jmir.org), 24.01.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Using Twitter to Examine Stigma Against People With Dementia During COVID-19: Infodemiology Study

Juanita-Dawne Bacsu¹, PhD; Sarah Fraser², PhD; Alison L Chasteen³, PhD; Allison Cammer⁴, PhD; Karl S Grewal¹, BSc; Lauren E Bechard⁵, MSc; Jennifer Bethell⁶, PhD; Shoshana Green¹, MEd; Katherine S McGilton⁶, PhD; Debra Morgan⁷, PhD; Hannah M O'Rourke⁸, PhD; Lisa Poole⁹; Raymond J Spiteri¹⁰, PhD; Megan E O'Connell¹, PhD

⁶Knowledge, Innovation, Talent and Everywhere (KITE) - Toronto Rehabilitation Institute, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada

⁹Dementia Advocacy Canada, Calgary, AB, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Juanita-Dawne Bacsu, PhD Department of Psychology Canadian Centre for Health and Safety in Agriculture University of Saskatchewan Arts 182, 9 Campus Drive Saskatoon, SK, S7N 5A5 Canada Phone: 1 306 250 4399 Email: juanita.bacsu@usask.ca

Abstract

Background: During the pandemic, there has been significant social media attention focused on the increased COVID-19 risks and impacts for people with dementia and their care partners. However, these messages can perpetuate misconceptions, false information, and stigma.

Objective: This study used Twitter data to understand stigma against people with dementia propagated during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Methods: We collected 1743 stigma-related tweets using the GetOldTweets application in Python from February 15 to September 7, 2020. Thematic analysis was used to analyze the tweets.

Results: Based on our analysis, 4 main themes were identified: (1) ageism and devaluing the lives of people with dementia, (2) misinformation and false beliefs about dementia and COVID-19, (3) dementia used as an insult for political ridicule, and (4) challenging stigma against dementia. Social media has been used to spread stigma, but it can also be used to challenge negative beliefs, stereotypes, and false information.

Conclusions: Dementia education and awareness campaigns are urgently needed on social media to address COVID-19-related stigma. When stigmatizing discourse on dementia is widely shared and consumed amongst the public, it has public health implications. How we talk about dementia shapes how policymakers, clinicians, and the public value the lives of people with dementia. Stigma perpetuates misinformation, pejorative language, and patronizing attitudes that can lead to discriminatory actions, such as the limited provision of lifesaving supports and health services for people with dementia during the pandemic. COVID-19 policies and public health messages should focus on precautions and preventive measures rather than labeling specific population groups.

(JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e35677) doi:10.2196/35677

RenderX

¹Department of Psychology, Canadian Centre for Health and Safety in Agriculture, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK, Canada

²Interdisciplinary School of Health Sciences, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada

³Department of Psychology, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

⁴College of Pharmacy and Nutrition, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK, Canada

⁵Department of Kinesiology and Health Sciences, Faculty of Health, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, ON, Canada

⁷Canadian Centre for Health and Safety in Agriculture, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK, Canada

⁸Faculty of Nursing, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

¹⁰Department of Computer Science, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK, Canada

KEYWORDS

coronavirus 2019; social media; stigma; dementia; ageism; COVID-19; Twitter; bias; infodemiology; attention; risk; impact; misinformation; belief; cognition; cognitive impairment

Introduction

The COVID-19 pandemic is taking a serious toll on people with dementia and their care partners. In Canada, dementia is the most common comorbidity, accounting for 36% of all COVID-19-related deaths [1]. Increased age, medical frailty, and health conditions often associated with dementia increase the risk for complications from COVID-19 [2,3]. Consequently, increased COVID-19 risk and vulnerability for people with dementia have been emphasized by governments, health care clinicians, the general public, and traditional news media (eg, radio and television news, print media, and affiliated websites) using a 1-to-many communication structure (ie, 1 verified individual or group is the publisher of information for many consumers) [4-7].

Beyond dissemination of information by traditional news media outlets, Twitter and other forms of social media (eg, Facebook, YouTube, Instagram) have been used extensively by individuals during the pandemic in a many-to-many communication structure (ie, any individual can be both a publisher and a consumer of information) to share messages about COVID-19 [7,8]. Social media is generally described as internet-based channels of mass personal communication fostering perceptions of interactions among users, deriving value predominantly from user-generated material and content [9]. For example, people have been using Twitter to share opinions, fears, and beliefs regarding the COVID-19 pandemic. However, a consequence of this many-to-many communication structure is that any member of the network can share inconsistent, contradictory, or even false information about the pandemic. Accordingly, this messaging can lead to COVID-19 misconceptions, false information, and stigma (eg, stereotypes, negative beliefs, and discriminatory behavior) toward individuals or groups that are often already marginalized [10,11].

Recently, an emerging body of literature has identified COVID-19-related stigma and ageism against older adults in social media discourse [12,13]. Ageism reflects how we think, feel, and act toward others or oneself based on age [14]. The model of stigma communication [15,16] identifies 4 types of message content (mark, group labeling, responsibility, and peril): (1) a mark to classify people in a stigmatized group, (2) descriptions or labels of the stigmatized group as a separate entity from the rest of society (eg, us vs them), (3) assigning responsibility for placement in the stigmatized group, and (4) cues to imply that the stigmatized group is a peril or threat to society that needs to be addressed through collective efforts. In 2021, a study analyzing 536 tweets under the #BoomerRemover hashtag reported issues of intergenerational conflict, ageism, and stigma toward older adults during the pandemic [17]. Another study examining 351 tweets about older adults during the COVID-19 pandemic found that almost 88 (25%) of the tweets had stigma, ageism, or potentially offensive content toward older adults [18]. Stigma against older adults is not limited to the pandemic. In 2017, Oscar et al [19] analyzed

XSL•FO

tweets on Alzheimer disease and reported that 21% of the tweets fostered stereotypes and stigma.

Addressing stigma against dementia on social media is important because it can have severe implications, including depression, anxiety, fear, social isolation, feelings of shame, and a decreased quality of life for people with dementia and their care partners [20-25]. Research shows that stigma against dementia can negatively impact interactions with health care providers, experiences in acute care settings, and access to specialist services and delay a timely dementia diagnosis [24,25]. However, a timely diagnosis enables people with dementia to acquire support services, obtain relevant information, plan for the future, and access pharmaceutical treatments that may improve their cognition and quality of life [21].

Apart from the 1 study by Oscar et al [19], there is a paucity of research exploring social media discourse related to stigma against dementia, especially in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. Furthermore, the unknown effects of COVID-19 may perpetuate fear, blame, and false beliefs, leading to increased stigmatization against marginalized groups, especially for groups deemed as being more at risk to the virus, such as people with dementia. Examining how stigma manifested on social media during the pandemic may deepen our understanding of the methods and content used to facilitate stigma communication against people with dementia and their care partners.

With over 330 million monthly users [26], Twitter presents a novel opportunity to expand the repertoire of qualitative research approaches and data collection methods [27] by using a comprehensive, publicly available data set for infodemiology. Infodemiology (ie, information epidemiology) is defined by Eysenbach as the study of the distribution and determinants of health information on the internet to inform health professionals and health policy [28]. Given the high volume of active users, Twitter provides an innovative means for understanding different COVID-19 perspectives that may have been ignored or concealed due to the current challenges of conducting in-person research during the pandemic. Using Twitter data, the objective of this study was to examine social media discourse on stigma against people with dementia during the pandemic.

Methods

Ethics

Drawing on existing Twitter studies, there is a general consensus that tweets can be used for research without requiring ethical approval, because analyzing publicly available text on social media platforms, such as Twitter, is generally not considered human subject research [18,19]. Because tweets posted on the Twitter website are located within the public domain, ethics approval was not obtained. However, we removed any identifying information related to usernames or handles (eg, @name) to help protect the anonymity of the Twitter users.

Recruitment

Tweets were collected on Twitter using the GetOldTweets application in Python from February 15 to September 7, 2020. Search terms for the tweets included dementia or Alzheimer disease used in combination with COVID-19, coronavirus, or COVID, resulting in 20,800 tweets. Nonoriginal tweets and retweets were excluded from the study. Filters were applied to exclude irrelevant tweets (eg, spam, advertising), resulting in 5063 (24.34%) tweets. The 5063 tweets were analyzed by a group of coders [29], with 1743 (34.43%) tweets identified for stigma-related coding. Given that the tone of the tweets can be difficult to interpret, our process for identifying stigma-related tweets for inclusion was broadly based in attempts not to overlook any relevant tweets. Specifically, our inclusion criteria included tweets that perpetuated stigma (eg, political dementia-related insults, assigning blame to people with dementia, self-stigma, stereotypes or labeling people with dementia, and misinformation about dementia), tweets that devalued the lives of older adults or people with dementia, and tweets that challenged stigma against people with dementia. The 1743 tweets were extracted into a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet for data analysis. An Excel spreadsheet was used to support ease of use among the large research team because it did not require additional training in order to use the software.

Data Analysis

The 1743 tweets were analyzed using thematic analysis after line-by-line coding, a qualitative method that identifies key topics and patterns in the data, with the objective of identifying the overarching themes [30]. To develop a robust codebook, 4 researchers (authors JDB, MEO, SF, ALC) read and re-read 100(4.74%) tweets multiple times to become immersed within the Twitter data and develop the initial codes. The stigma communication model [15,16] was used in the development of our initial codebook by including codes such as the mark (eg, a mark to classify people in a stigmatized group), responsibility (eg, assigning blame by making attributions about the lifestyle or actions of people with dementia), peril (eg, suggesting that people with dementia are a social, physical, or economic threat to society), and group labeling (eg, descriptions or labels of people with dementia as separate from the rest of society). The codebook contained definitions, cues, and tweet examples for each of the codes. Pilot tests were conducted to test intercoder consistency with the researchers independently coding the same tweets and then meeting to compare coding and further revise the codebook (eg, deleting or adding additional codes for emerging themes). After multiple meetings, the codebook was further refined by merging or deleting any overlapping or unused codes. The final version of the codebook consisted of 6 codes: (1) devaluing the lives of older adults (eg, "old and dying anyways"), (2) responsibility/blame (eg, "dementia COVID economy"), (3) false information (eg, COVID-19 vaccine causes dementia), (4) political dementia-related stigma (eg, "dementia Joe"), (5) self-stigma (eg, "don't save me, save my grandchildren"), and (6) challenging stigma against dementia (eg, "it's a scandal how dementia patients are treated").

Once the codebook was completed, the researchers met with the coding team. The coding team consisted of 12 coauthors, who received 4.5 hours of coding training (eg, individual practice coding exercises, collaborative team coding to identify and address any coding challenges or questions, team meetings to discuss specific coding questions, and partner coding activities). After the coding training was completed, the 1743 tweets were divided among the 12 coders. Each coder received 268 (15.38%) tweets, which allowed for each tweet to be independently coded by 2 different coders to ensure intercoder reliability. Any coding challenges or discrepancies were resolved through collaborative discussion and consensus.

After coding was completed, team meetings were held to conduct thematic analysis [30] by examining the primary themes and subthemes that emerged from reviewing the researchers' reflexive memos [31] and re-reading the tweets under each of the codes. All the researchers were experienced in thematic analysis, and 1 trainee (author KSG) was mentored by working in direct collaboration with the research team. Reflexivity was used to recognize the researchers' positionality in terms of their own judgments and beliefs to help ensure that these did not influence the analysis [30]. An additional team meeting was held to reach group consensus on the overarching themes and to identify exemplar tweets (eg, accessible, no acronyms) for publication.

Rigor

Three measures were used to ensure rigor in our research. First, the research team used reflexive memos to record notes about emerging patterns, themes, and relationships during the coding process [31]. Second, multiple coding (eg, each tweet coded independently by 2 coders) was used to provide cross-checks in the interpretation of the tweets by independent researchers [32]. Moreover, having each tweet coded independently by 2 reviewers helped to ensure intercoder reliability, with an average of 86% agreement between the coders. The intercoder reliability was determined by calculating each percentage of agreement between the 6 different pairs of coders (eg, 2 independent coders for each code) and then taking each of the 6 pairs' percentage of agreement numbers to calculate the overall group average. Third, team-based analysis and regular meetings were used as a form of peer debriefing, where the team reviewed the codebook, asked questions about the coding process, and provided in-depth feedback and suggestions to ensure the research accurately reported the findings [33].

Results

Main Themes Identified

Based on our thematic analysis, 4 main themes were identified: (1) ageism and devaluing the lives of people with dementia, (2) misinformation and false beliefs about dementia and COVID-19, (3) dementia used as an insult for political ridicule, and (4) challenging stigma against dementia.

Ageism and Devaluing the Lives of People With Dementia

Stigma communication includes processes such as marking some people as different, group labeling to delineate how some people are separate from society, assigning responsibility or blame by making attributions about a group's actions or way

of life, and implying that this group is a peril to society [15,16]. In this sample of tweets, the group labels "poorer quality of life" and "death by COVID-19" were frequently applied to people with dementia, with implications that death by COVID-19 would be a welcome alternative to dying with dementia:

I know two people that have died from Covid. One was 80 with severe dementia and in a nursing home and the other was 35 and topped herself due to lockdown. I know what one was "unnecessary"

Some of the ageist group labeling intersected with negative views of long-term care (LTC) homes:

The life expectancy in LTC (long-term care) is not even 30 months. You're there to die a slow death from Alzheimer's, basically. My neighbour refused treatment for pneumonia for her husband so he wouldn't have to go to the bitter end. Covid is actually a better death than dementia.

In addition, it is important to note the language used when describing dementia in these quotes (ie, "severe") and in the following quote "full blown":

That's one of the really selfish elements of it, because you can guarantee that attitude would change when staring death in the face. Saying that, my granny is 95, in a home, with full blown dementia. Quick Covid death clearly not a disaster there

These tweets present LTC homes or nursing homes as a place where individuals with dementia face a "slow death" and imply limited quality of life. The tweets also suggest that the lived experience of dementia is the same for all older individuals despite having many remaining abilities when first diagnosed and vastly different lived experiences of dementia based on one's available personal, social, and environmental resources [34]. The tweets do not account for the quality of life as experienced by persons with lived experience of dementia and how the nature of quality of life can change as the disease progresses [35].

In addition to group labeling, the tweets communicated the notion of peril or threat of dementia to the general public. Not only were the lives of people with dementia devalued, but the idea of having dementia as a diagnosis and the possibility that one might die of dementia was reported as a threat (eg, potential diagnosis or death from dementia being the threat) in some of the tweets. For example:

Honestly if I knew I had dementia and was still in charge of myself I'd go out and try and find corona carriers to shake hands with. This coming from someone who watched a close relative existing for 10yrs, NOT LIVING just existing It's horrible. :(

The following tweet has a similar message:

I would consider Covid a blessing if I was in a care home. They don't call pneumonia "the old man's friend" for nothing. A slow dementia death is way way worse. In both these cases, the tweeters identify as being threatened by dementia, portray dementia as "not living" or a condition with no quality of life, and feel that a COVID-19 death would be preferable. Restricted resources during the pandemic exacerbated the perception that the life of a person with dementia was less valuable:

You have one hospital bed. You can either give to a decrepit 93 yr. old nursing home resident with dementia who's only realistic COVID outcome is death or a 40 yr. old previously healthy father of 2 young kids who may stand a chance of survival - you choose.

One tweet specifically alluded to the economic threat of a future dementia diagnosis:

... I know this is not a popular view - but I would not want to live in a home with dementia and swallow up my kid's inheritance. I'd much, much rather die of COVID than that.

Group labeling reinforces differences between persons with Alzheimer disease and those without Alzheimer disease, which discriminates those with dementia, as it is the end point of stigma.

Misinformation and False Beliefs About Dementia and COVID-19

Some tweets about COVID-19 and dementia propagated misinformation about dementia. Misinformation about dementia included perpetuating false beliefs that the COVID-19 vaccines (or vaccines in general) cause dementia or labeling COVID-19 as a cause of dementia. The language in these tweets is consistent with the stigma communication model's processes of responsibility and peril [15,16].

The flu killed more people in 2018 than the corona virus has and we have a flu vaccine that contains Aluminium and Mercury which has been linked to Dementia and Alzheimers

Did you know; the coronavirus vaccine causes dementia and homosexuality? FAR worse than the virus itself! As a mother of 5-oop . . . make that 3, I can't support the corona vaccine! and neither should you! Spread the word across Facebook!

My friend's daughter, age 30, has COVID DEMENTIA and COVID COPD - but she is not a statistic unless she dies and many people are not tested.

By perpetuating misinformation about dementia, the end result is that society may view persons with dementia with only negative attributes, and it helps separate "us" from "them." This view may lead persons with dementia to experience stigma.

Dementia Used as an Insult for Political Ridicule

Despite use of a filter that referred to the US presidential candidates for the 2020 election by name (Donald Trump and Joe Biden, and synonyms), many tweets remained that were relevant to the theme of insult and political ridicule because these tweets used the term "dementia" in a pejorative manner. The use of dementia as a form of personal attack is an attempt

to diminish and devalue others, but it also devalues the lived experiences of those with dementia and their carers. The following examples are tweets that used the term "dementia" with the aim of insulting 1 of the presidential candidates. The stigma communication [15,16] in these tweets is characterized

by marking, which refers to an attribute or feature attributed to an individual and "marks" them as different.

To be fair, #DementiaJoe thinks he's running for the US Senate, but I bet your news coverage didn't show that gaffe. Do you really think America is going to elect a cop hating, socialist crook with dementia over the man who built the greatest economy since Reagan, before Covid?

Was unemployment down until covid? Was the economy booming?... there's 2 brutal truths, right there, you're willing to destroy us all, yourselves included to put a guy with obvious dementia in the WH. That's insane, and that's the "brutal truth" of it...

More than 60M Americans voted in 2016 to have us led by a malignant narcissist whose dementia was visibly progressing. A shocking percentage of these traitors will vote to re-elect him—and the GOP—even as their redneck family and friends die from COVID-19. America is broken.

Others used the term "dementia" as an insult to imply diminished abilities to perform duties of their job, underscoring how stigma against dementia can include depicting incompetency.

No because the mf has dementia and is unfit too speak in front of a crowd or debate anyone! Covid 19 was a fucking hoax too crash the economy and then you've created race wars too deflect off democratic crimes! We know you're going to rig the election in order to win!!

Others used dementia as an insult to dismiss their target's viewpoint by suggesting they are cognitively compromised.

Yea, in an alternate reality he might be, but not on this planet in this lifetime. What is it you think is best? He's blatant racism? The blatant nepotism? Blatant corruption? The way he has allowed Covid to kill our people and destroy the economy? You must have dementia

Challenging Stigma Against Dementia

One theme emerged in contrast to the others, namely that of challenging the stigma against dementia in association with the COVID-19 pandemic. Tweets condemned the derogatory language, directly critiqued negative behaviors, and voiced concerns that ageism and stigma against persons with dementia were exacerbated during the pandemic. For example, some questioned the lesser value placed on deaths of those with dementia who contracted COVID-19.

It really feels like a portion of the population, we're not supposed to care about their deaths. They're less worthy, or disposable somehow. I imagine someone

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e35677
```

Bacsu et al

with dementia or terminal cancer also suffering with end stage severe Covid-19 and my heart breaks.

Some tweets referenced deficits in formal care experienced by persons with dementia and how these have been highlighted by the COVID-19 pandemic. For example, a tweet stated,

It's a national scandal how dementia patients are treated. COVID-19 took her in the end .

Tweets brought attention to systemic issues around health care access and availability for people with dementia by describing how they deteriorated due to COVID-19 pandemic conditions.

The elder care situation is abhorrent even in the best of times. I witnessed firsthand options in USA for a self pay mother and father w/ dementia and is very dismal. The culture devaluation of elders and economic vulture capitalism has created a living nightmare. Covid amplifies

Further, people wrote tweets as a call to action, directly confronting negative stereotypes of dementia. Some tweets presented accurate facts about dementia to contradict myths or stereotypes. Other tweets asserted a need to change our attitudes and actions with respect to care provision and treatment of older adults with dementia, both generally and specifically regarding the pandemic.

Watched Ross Kemps living with dementia last night. What a great family, dementia isn't just an old persons illness it can affect anyone at any age. We need to get a hold on this illness, people have hurt long enough. Covid has increased the pain, people need support. @AlzSocNI

#COVID should make us re-examine how we treat the #elderly we will ALL be old one day. We #warehouse people. It's #shameful and at @SavonixInc we are dedicated to the #dignity of our #elderly #ethics #nursinghomes #dementia

Discussion

Principal Findings

During the pandemic, significant social media discourse has focused on COVID-19 and people with dementia [13,17,18]. In this study, we examined Twitter data to understand stigma against people with dementia during the COVID-19 pandemic. Drawing on Smith's [15,16] model of stigma communication, we identified 4 main themes: ageism and devaluing the lives of people with dementia (eg, group labeling), misinformation and false beliefs about dementia and COVID-19 (eg, peril and responsibility), dementia used as an insult for political ridicule (eg, marking), and challenging stigma against people with dementia. Overall, our study sheds light on stigma against dementia during the COVID-19 pandemic and highlights opportunities for policy and research to address this moving forward.

In our research, we found that Twitter users reported that the lived experience of dementia was the same for all individuals. For example, people with dementia were stereotyped as a homogeneous group of people who were highly vulnerable and

at the end stages of their lives. However, research has demonstrated that dementia does not progress in a linear fashion and, most notably, that it varies from person to person [35-37]. Similar stereotypes focusing on frailty and COVID-19 vulnerability among older adults have been found in public health campaigns and traditional news media [5,6,38-40]. These stereotypes serve to perpetuate COVID-19 stigma against older adults and people with dementia. Consequently, COVID-19 policies and public health campaigns should focus on precautions and preventive measures rather than labeling specific population groups.

In several tweets analyzed in this study, there was an assumption that people with dementia were better off dying from COVID-19 than continuing to live with dementia, an assumption that can lead to experienced, perceived, anticipated, or internalized stigma. More specifically, death was described as a welcomed means to end the pain and suffering of people with dementia. This assumption is also embedded throughout the literature prior to the pandemic. For example, in existing studies conducted with caregivers, the death of a person with dementia has been described as the best solution because it ends the person's pain and suffering due to dementia [41,42]. However, this "solution-based focus" on death is extremely problematic, leaving little scope for developing COVID-19 policies and programs to improve the quality of life for people with dementia. More specifically, how we view and discuss deaths of people with dementia shapes how policymakers, health clinicians, and the public value the lives of people with dementia. Consequently, this type of discourse may influence who is prioritized for treatment in the context of COVID-19 [43].

Although many tweets had stigmatizing content, tweets also challenged stigma against dementia. For example, some tweets provided accurate facts about dementia, highlighting systemic COVID-19 issues faced by people with dementia or directly confronting myths and stereotypes against dementia. This unifying and supportive discourse against stigma and ageism has also been found in other studies [13,17,44,45]. The World Health Organization [21] suggests that sharing accurate information is key to dispelling myths and stereotypes about the disease. Moreover, research suggests that stigma against dementia is related to fear and a lack of understanding about the disease [20,46]. Consequently, there is a growing need for dementia education and awareness campaigns targeted toward digital media [47] and specifically toward Twitter and other social media platforms.

Recent studies show that policymakers, clinicians, and public health officials are increasingly using Twitter to share and gather information on the COVID-19 pandemic [8,48]. However, because Twitter messaging includes opinions as well as information that may be false or inaccurate, precautions must be taken in interpreting the data, especially given the dementia-related stigma identified in our study. Smith et al [49] assert that when stigmatizing discourse is shared with the general public and "influential others," it becomes a collective norm with policy and practice implications. Specifically, stigma perpetuates misinformation, pejorative language, and patronizing attitudes that can lead to discrimination against people with dementia. Evidently, recent reports highlight discriminatory

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e35677

XSI-FO

actions related to the limited provision of medical services, inadequate access to health care information, and restricted access to COVID-19 treatment options and lifesaving supports for people with dementia during the pandemic [50,51]. Accordingly, our findings have practical implications for policymakers and clinicians because they highlight the need for sensitivity to avoid dementia-related stigma, discriminatory actions, and ageist attitudes about COVID-19.

Urgent action is needed to address stigma to improve the quality of life for people with dementia and their care partners [21,22,25,45]. It is essential that people with dementia not be defined by their disease but be instead recognized as individuals with the same human rights as any other person [52,53]. Moreover, people with dementia must be included in critical discussions on COVID-19 programs and policies, especially around the provision of medical services and lifesaving supports. Rather than focusing on stereotypes and stories of risk and suffering, policymakers, clinicians, and the general public must understand that people with dementia are diverse and able to lead meaningful lives. Moving forward, further research is required to identify the contributing factors, implications, and interventions to address stigma against dementia on social media and beyond.

Limitations

Although our study provides valuable information about perceptions of COVID-19 and stigma against dementia, it is not without limitations. First, our interpretation of each tweet is limited by our lack of knowledge about the author's tone, intention, and purpose. For example, important details and contextual information (eg, background, culture, confounding factors) may not be included within the 280-character-limit tweet, making the tone and intention of the tweet difficult to assess. To help rectify this issue, each tweet was coded independently by 2 reviewers to reduce the likelihood of misinterpreting the meaning of the tweets. Despite this measure taken in our study, there is still room for interpretative error. Readers of tweets are also limited in their ability to infer tone, intention, and purpose, so there is value is our analysis that assesses and reports on the content of tweets that are being distributed to the public. As such, future research with qualitative interviews or focus groups with people with dementia or their care partners may provide more comprehensive and in-depth information regarding COVID-19 and experienced stigma against dementia.

Second, no sociodemographic or geographic information (eg, ethnicity, age, sex, gender, income, country) of the tweeters was collected in our study and accordingly limits our ability to further evaluate stigma beyond describing the Twitter discourse. For example, because no data were collected on sex or gender, it is difficult to make specific inferences or draw conclusions regarding stigma against dementia in relation to sex or gender during the pandemic. Further research is needed to explore the stigma against dementia in relation to sociodemographic information, including sex and gender.

Third, our data present a snapshot in time because they focused on tweets posted from February 15 to September 7, 2020. Consequently, it is possible that our findings would change if

a different time frame was selected, such as during subsequent waves of the pandemic, after the US presidential election had occurred, or after vaccine availability [12]. Further research is necessary to examine longitudinal changes in dementia-related stigma across the duration of the pandemic, across different sociopolitical climates, and across different time frames within the pandemic.

Finally, it is possible we would have discovered more stigma-related tweets if our scraping strategy had not required dementia, COVID-19, and some description of familial or friendly relationship status. We used a reference to US political candidates by name as a filter for the initial study because these were tweets that perpetuated stigma, and although the secondary analysis for the study discovered this theme of stigma perpetuation, it is not clear whether tweets that referred to US political candidates by name were qualitatively different from those that informed the "dementia as an insult for political ridicule theme."

Conclusions

During the pandemic, there has been significant social media attention focusing on the increased COVID-19 risks and impacts for people with dementia and their care partners. Unfortunately, much of this discourse has amplified issues of preexisting ageism and stigma against people with dementia. Our study identified 4 themes related to dementia-related stigma and COVID-19, ranging from misinformation and false beliefs to challenging stigma against dementia. Consequently, social media has been used to spread stigma, but it can also be used to challenge these negative beliefs, stereotypes, and false information.

Our findings reveal that dementia education and awareness campaigns are urgently needed to target social media to address stigma. When stigmatizing discourse of dementia is widely shared and consumed amongst the public, it has public health implications. How society talks about dementia shapes how policymakers, clinicians, and the general public value the lives of people with dementia. Stigma perpetuates negative attitudes, patronizing language, and false information that can lead to inequitable access to lifesaving supports and health care services. Thus, COVID-19 policies and public health messages should focus on precautions and preventive measures instead of labeling people with dementia. Consequently, it is essential that people with dementia not be defined by their disease during the pandemic but be instead recognized as diverse individuals who are able to live meaningful lives with the same human rights as any other person.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by Team 15 of the Canadian Consortium on Neurodegeneration in Aging (CCNA). The CCNA is supported by a grant from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research, with funding from several partners, including the Saskatchewan Health Research Foundation, the Centre for Aging and Brain Health, and the Alzheimer Society of Canada (ASC). The ASC COVID Task Force was a particular catalyst for this work.

Authors' Contributions

MEO conceived the idea with JDB. MEO and RJS devised the Twitter scraping approach, and RJS scraped for tweets. JDB, MEO, SF, and ALC devised the codebook. JDB, MEO, SF, ALC, AC, KSG, LEB, JB, SG, KSM, DB, HMO, and LP each coded and double-coded tweets. All authors contributed example tweets and participated in the thematic analysis. JDB wrote the first draft of the manuscript, and all authors revised the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. O'Brien K, St-Jean M, Wood P, Willbond S, Phillips O, Currie D, et al. COVID-19 Death Comorbidities in Canada. URL: https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/45-28-0001/2020001/article/00087-eng.htm [accessed 2022-03-30]
- Azarpazhooh MR, Amiri A, Morovatdar N, Steinwender S, Rezaei Ardani A, Yassi N, et al. Correlations between COVID-19 and burden of dementia: an ecological study and review of literature. J Neurol Sci 2020 Sep 15;416:117013 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2020.117013] [Medline: 32659508]
- 3. Holder K, Reddy PH. The COVID-19 effect on the immune system and mitochondrial dynamics in diabetes, obesity, and dementia. Neuroscientist 2021 Aug 26;27(4):331-339. [doi: 10.1177/1073858420960443] [Medline: 32981462]
- 4. Allen LD, Ayalon L. "It's pure panic": the portrayal of residential care in American newspapers during COVID-19. Gerontologist 2021 Jan 21;61(1):86-97 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geront/gnaa162] [Medline: 33104191]
- Fraser S, Lagacé M, Bongué B, Ndeye N, Guyot J, Bechard L, CCNA Social Inclusion and Stigma Working Group, et al. Ageism and COVID-19: what does our society's response say about us? Age Ageing 2020 Aug 24;49(5):692-695 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ageing/afaa097] [Medline: 32377666]
- Morgan T, Wiles J, Williams L, Gott M. COVID-19 and the portrayal of older people in New Zealand news media. J R Soc New Zealand 2021 Mar 01;51(sup1):S127-S142. [doi: 10.1080/03036758.2021.1884098]
- 7. Luckett O, Casey M. The Social Organism. New York, NY: Hachette Books; 2021.

- Rosenberg H, Syed S, Rezaie S. The Twitter pandemic: the critical role of Twitter in the dissemination of medical information and misinformation during the COVID-19 pandemic. CJEM 2020 Jul;22(4):418-421 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/cem.2020.361] [Medline: 32248871]
- Carr CT, Hayes RA. Social media: defining, developing, and divining. Atl J Commun 2015 Feb 06;23(1):46-65. [doi: 10.1080/15456870.2015.972282]
- 10. Goffman E. Stigma: Notes on the Management of Spoiled Identity. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall; 1963.
- Thornicroft G, Rose D, Kassam A, Sartorius N. Stigma: ignorance, prejudice or discrimination? Br J Psychiatry 2007 Mar;190:192-193. [doi: <u>10.1192/bjp.bp.106.025791</u>] [Medline: <u>17329736</u>]
- 12. Allen LD, Odziemczyk IZ, Perek-Białas J, Ayalon L. "We should be at the back of the line": a frame analysis of old age within the distribution order of the COVID-19 vaccine. Gerontologist 2021 Nov 15;61(8):1317-1325 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geront/gnab094] [Medline: 34272964]
- Barrett AE, Michael C, Padavic I. Calculated ageism: generational sacrifice as a response to the COVID-19 pandemic. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2021 Mar 14;76(4):e201-e205 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1093/geronb/gbaa132</u>] [Medline: <u>32841334</u>]
- 14. World Health Organization. Global Report on Ageism. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240016866</u> [accessed 2022-03-30]
- 15. Smith RA. Testing the model of stigma communication with a factorial experiment in an interpersonal context. Commun Stud 2014 Mar 28;65(2):154-173 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10510974.2013.851095] [Medline: 25425853]
- 16. Smith RA. Language of the lost: an explication of stigma communication. Commun Theory 2007 Nov;17(4):462-485. [doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2885.2007.00307.x]
- Sipocz D, Freeman JD, Elton J. "A toxic trend?": generational conflict and connectivity in twitter discourse under the #BoomerRemover Hashtag. Gerontologist 2021 Feb 23;61(2):166-175 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geront/gnaa177] [Medline: 33159524]
- Jimenez-Sotomayor MR, Gomez-Moreno C, Soto-Perez-de-Celis E. Coronavirus, ageism, and Twitter: an evaluation of tweets about older adults and COVID-19. J Am Geriatr Soc 2020 Aug;68(8):1661-1665 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jgs.16508] [Medline: 32338787]
- Oscar N, Fox PA, Croucher R, Wernick R, Keune J, Hooker K. Machine learning, sentiment analysis, and tweets: an examination of Alzheimer's disease stigma on Twitter. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2017 Sep 01;72(5):742-751. [doi: <u>10.1093/geronb/gbx014</u>] [Medline: <u>28329835</u>]
- 20. Alzheimer Disease International. World Alzheimer Report: Attitudes to Dementia. URL: <u>https://www.alzint.org/resource/world-alzheimer-report-2019/</u> [accessed 2021-11-27]
- 21. World Health Organization. Overcoming the Stigma of Dementia. URL: <u>https://www.alzint.org/u/WorldAlzheimerReport2012.</u> pdf [accessed 2021-12-03]
- 22. Bethell J, Pringle D, Chambers LW, Cohen C, Commisso E, Cowan K, et al. Patient and public involvement in identifying dementia research priorities. J Am Geriatr Soc 2018 Aug 07;66(8):1608-1612. [doi: 10.1111/jgs.15453] [Medline: 30084194]
- Shah H, Albanese E, Duggan C, Rudan I, Langa KM, Carrillo MC, et al. Research priorities to reduce the global burden of dementia by 2025. Lancet Neurol 2016 Nov;15(12):1285-1294. [doi: <u>10.1016/S1474-4422(16)30235-6</u>] [Medline: <u>27751558</u>]
- 24. Bacsu J, Mateen FJ, Johnson S, Viger MD, Hackett P. Improving dementia care among family physicians: from stigma to evidence-informed knowledge. Can Geriatr J 2020 Dec;23(4):340-343 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5770/cgj.23.426] [Medline: 33282053]
- 25. World Health Organization. Towards a Dementia Inclusive Society. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/</u> 9789240031531 [accessed 2022-02-12]
- 26. Clement J. Number of Monthly Active Twitter Users Worldwide from 1st Quarter 2010 to 1st Quarter 2019. URL: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/282087/number-of-monthly-active-twitter-users/</u> [accessed 2021-11-28]
- 27. Godfrey M. Qualitative research in age and ageing: enhancing understanding of ageing, health and illness. Age Ageing 2015 Sep;44(5):726-727. [doi: 10.1093/ageing/afv096] [Medline: 26209785]
- 28. Eysenbach G. Infodemiology: the epidemiology of (mis)information. Am J Med 2002 Dec 15;113(9):763-765. [doi: 10.1016/s0002-9343(02)01473-0] [Medline: 12517369]
- Bacsu J, O'Connell ME, Cammer A, Azizi M, Grewal K, Poole L, et al. Using Twitter to understand the COVID-19 experiences of people with dementia: infodemiology study. J Med Internet Res 2021 Feb 03;23(2):e26254 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/26254</u>] [Medline: <u>33468449</u>]
- 30. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 31. Birks M, Chapman Y, Francis K. Memoing in qualitative research: probing data and processes. J Res Nurs 2008 Jan 01;13(1):68-75 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1744987107081254]
- 32. Barry CA, Britten N, Barber N, Bradley C, Stevenson F. Using reflexivity to optimize teamwork in qualitative research. Qual Health Res 1999 Jan;9(1):26-44. [doi: 10.1177/104973299129121677] [Medline: 10558357]

RenderX

- 33. Creswell JW. Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design: Choosing among Five Approaches (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications; 2007.
- Clare L, Wu Y, Jones IR, Victor CR, Nelis SM, Martyr A, IDEAL Study Team. A comprehensive model of factors associated with subjective perceptions of "living well" with dementia: findings from the IDEAL Study. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord 2019;33(1):36-41 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/WAD.00000000000286] [Medline: 30802227]
- 35. Gallagher R. The lived experience of people with dementia. BCMJ 2019;61(1):39-40 [FREE Full text]
- 36. Kitwood T. Toward a theory of dementia care: ethics and interaction. J Clin Ethics 1998;9(1):23-34. [Medline: <u>9598430</u>]
- Mitchell G, Agnelli J. Person-centred care for people with dementia: Kitwood reconsidered. Nurs Stand 2015 Oct 14;30(7):46-50. [doi: <u>10.7748/ns.30.7.46.s47</u>] [Medline: <u>26463810</u>]
- Lagacé M, Doucet A, Dangoisse P, Bergeron CD. The "vulnerability" discourse in times of Covid-19: between abandonment and protection of Canadian Francophone older adults. Front Public Health 2021 Sep 3;9:662231 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.662231] [Medline: <u>34540778</u>]
- 39. Meisner BA. Are you OK, boomer? Intensification of ageism and intergenerational tensions on social media amid COVID-19. Leis Sci 2020 Jun 24;43(1-2):56-61. [doi: 10.1080/01490400.2020.1773983]
- 40. Rueda J. Ageism in the COVID-19 pandemic: age-based discrimination in triage decisions and beyond. Hist Philos Life Sci 2021 Jul 13;43(3):91 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40656-021-00441-3] [Medline: 34258692]
- 41. Hennings J, Froggatt K. The experiences of family caregivers of people with advanced dementia living in nursing homes, with a specific focus on spouses: a narrative literature review. Dementia (London) 2019 Jan 18;18(1):303-322. [doi: 10.1177/1471301216671418] [Medline: 27856694]
- 42. Peacock S, Duggleby W, Koop P. The lived experience of family caregivers who provided end-of-life care to persons with advanced dementia. Pall Supp Care 2013 Mar 19;12(2):117-126. [doi: <u>10.1017/s1478951512001034</u>]
- Apriceno M, Lytle A, Monahan C, Macdonald J, Levy SR. Prioritizing health care and employment resources during COVID-19: roles of benevolent and hostile ageism. Gerontologist 2021 Jan 21;61(1):98-102 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geront/gnaa165] [Medline: 33119089]
- 44. Danilovich M, Tsay J, Al-Bahrani R, Choudhary A, Agrawal A. #Alzheimer's and dementia. Top Geriatr Rehabil 2018;34(1):48-53 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/tgr.000000000000173]
- 45. Cheng TY, Liu L, Woo BK. Analyzing Twitter as a platform for Alzheimer-related dementia awareness: thematic analyses of tweets. JMIR Aging 2018 Dec 10;1(2):e11542 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11542] [Medline: 31518232]
- 46. Government of Canada. A Dementia Strategy for Canada: Together We Aspire. URL: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/</u> services/publications/diseases-conditions/dementia-strategy.html [accessed 2021-11-25]
- 47. Neter E, Chachashvili-Bolotin S, Erlich B, Ifrah K. Benefiting from digital use: prospective association of internet use with knowledge and preventive behaviors related to Alzheimer disease in the Israeli survey of aging. JMIR Aging 2021 Apr 30;4(2):e25706 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25706] [Medline: 33929331]
- 48. Haman M. The use of Twitter by state leaders and its impact on the public during the COVID-19 pandemic. Heliyon 2020 Nov;6(11):e05540 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e05540] [Medline: 33294685]
- 49. Smith RA, Zhu X, Fink EL. Understanding the effects of stigma messages: danger appraisal and message judgments. Health Commun 2019 Apr 30;34(4):424-436 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2017.1405487] [Medline: 29190126]
- 50. Amnesty International Italia. Italy: Violations of the Human Rights of Older Residents of Care Homes during COVID-19 Pandemic. URL: <u>https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2020/12/</u> italyviolations-of-the-h-uman-rights-of-older-residents-of-care-homes-during-covid-19-pandemic/ [accessed 2021-11-27]
- 51. Suárez-González A, Livingston G, Low L. Impact and Mortality of COVID-19 on People Living with Dementia: Cross Country Report. URL: <u>https://ltccovid.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/</u>
- International-report-on-theimpact-of-COVID-19-on-people-living-with-dementia-19-August-2020.pdf [accessed 2021-11-25] 52. Alzheimer's Society of Canada. Canadian Charter of Rights for People with Dementia. URL: <u>https://alzheimer.ca/sites/</u>
- default/files/documents/Canadian-Charter-of-Rights-for-People-with-Dementia_Alzheimer-Society-Canada.pdf [accessed 2021-11-23]
- 53. United Nations. Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. URL: <u>https://www.un.org/development/desa/</u> <u>disabilities/convention-on-the-rights-of-persons-with-disabilities.htmll</u> [accessed 2021-11-27]

Abbreviations

LTC: long-term care



Edited by J Wang; submitted 13.12.21; peer-reviewed by L Allen, S Mehrabi, J Myers; comments to author 07.02.22; accepted 14.03.22; published 31.03.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Bacsu JD, Fraser S, Chasteen AL, Cammer A, Grewal KS, Bechard LE, Bethell J, Green S, McGilton KS, Morgan D, O'Rourke HM, Poole L, Spiteri RJ, O'Connell ME Using Twitter to Examine Stigma Against People With Dementia During COVID-19: Infodemiology Study JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e35677 URL: https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e35677 doi:10.2196/35677 PMID:35290197

©Juanita-Dawne Bacsu, Sarah Fraser, Alison L Chasteen, Allison Cammer, Karl S Grewal, Lauren E Bechard, Jennifer Bethell, Shoshana Green, Katherine S McGilton, Debra Morgan, Hannah M O'Rourke, Lisa Poole, Raymond J Spiteri, Megan E O'Connell. Originally published in JMIR Aging (https://aging.jmir.org), 31.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

One-Year Postfracture Mortality Rate in Older Adults With Hip Fractures Relative to Other Lower Extremity Fractures: Retrospective Cohort Study

Andrea Dimet-Wiley¹, PhD; George Golovko², PhD; Stanley J Watowich¹, PhD

¹Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, TX, United States ²Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology, University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, TX, United States

Corresponding Author: Stanley J Watowich, PhD Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology University of Texas Medical Branch 301 University Boulevard Galveston, TX, 77555-0645 United States Phone: 1 832 613 5356 Email: watowich@xray.utmb.edu

Abstract

Background: Hip fracture in older adults is tied to increased mortality risk. Deconvolution of the mortality risk specific to hip fracture from that of various other fracture types has not been performed in recent hip fracture studies but is critical to determining current unmet needs for therapeutic intervention.

Objective: This study examined whether hip fracture increases the 1-year postfracture mortality rate relative to several other fracture types and determined whether dementia or type 2 diabetes (T2D) exacerbates postfracture mortality risk.

Methods: TriNetX Diamond Network data were used to identify patients with a single event of fracture of the hip, the upper humerus, or several regions near and distal to the hip occurring from 60 to 89 years of age from 2010 to 2019. Propensity score matching, Kaplan-Meier, and hazard ratio analyses were performed for all fracture groupings relative to hip fracture. One-year postfracture mortality rates in elderly populations with dementia or T2D were established.

Results: One-year mortality rates following hip fracture consistently exceeded all other lower extremity fracture groupings as well as the upper humerus. Survival probabilities were significantly lower in the hip fracture groups, even after propensity score matching was performed on cohorts for a variety of broad categories of characteristics. Dementia in younger elderly cohorts acted synergistically with hip fracture to exacerbate the 1-year mortality risk. T2D did not exacerbate the 1-year mortality risk beyond mere additive effects.

Conclusions: Elderly patients with hip fracture have a significantly decreased survival probability. Greatly increased 1-year mortality rates following hip fracture may arise from differences in bone quality, bone density, trauma, concomitant fractures, postfracture treatments or diagnoses, restoration of prefracture mobility, or a combination thereof. The synergistic effect of dementia may suggest detrimental mechanistic or behavioral combinations for these 2 comorbidities. Renewed efforts should focus on modulating the mechanisms behind this heightened mortality risk, with particular attention to mobility and comorbid dementia.

(JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e32683) doi:10.2196/32683

KEYWORDS

RenderX

hip; fracture; mortality; aging; older adults; elderly; mortality risk; electronic health record; EHR; survival probability; postfracture mortality rate; fall; bone; injury; dementia; diabetes; type 2 diabetes; trauma; treatment; comorbidity; mobility

Introduction

Recent studies suggest a 17%-25% 1-year mortality rate following hip fracture or its surgical repair in older adults [1-4]. However, hip fracture has rarely been compared against other fracture types in elderly cohorts to understand its specific impact on mortality risk and the unique vulnerabilities associated with it. Since previous studies have suggested that, under specific conditions, fracture location can impact mortality risk [5,6], a comparison of hip fractures against other fracture types may help inform postfracture medical care to target high-risk patient populations more specifically.

This study comprehensively compared 1-year mortality rates following fractures of the hip, upper humerus, and lower extremities to determine whether mortality risks differed by fracture type or fracture region in the elderly population as a whole. In addition to simple comparisons of 1-year mortality rates associated with different fracture types and combinations across elderly cohorts, we also used propensity score matching across cohorts to reduce the impact of confounding factors. We hypothesized that hip fracture would result in greater 1-year mortality rates compared to fractures that did not similarly impact mobility.

This study also examined the extent to which the age-associated comorbidities of dementia and type 2 diabetes (T2D) increase 1-year postfracture mortality rates. Dementia has been identified as a major risk factor for hip fracture [7], is associated with increased mortality risk after hip fracture [8], and is linked to increased postoperative complications following hip fracture repair [9]. Similarly, T2D has been identified as a fracture risk factor [10], with insulin treatment status additionally modifying the region-specific fracture [11,12]. Importantly, both dementia and T2D are associated with increased mortality risk irrespective of fracture [13-15] and, by comparing different fracture types/combinations in individuals with the same comorbidity, we were able to deconvolute each specific fracture's mortality rate to determine whether dementia or T2D act synergistically with the fracture to exacerbate mortality outcomes.

Methods

TriNetX Queries

Data were acquired through queries performed in the TriNetX database (TriNetX, Cambridge, MA, USA) using the Diamond Network on fractures that occurred from January 1, 2010, to December 31, 2019 (queries were last updated the week of March 28, 2021; this update was to capture patients with fractures within these time frames whose records were added later). Follow-up of patients included 2020 data, despite changes to the age-adjusted mortality rate that year [16], to keep the results as complete and updated as possible. The Diamond Network contains electronic medical record (EMR) and medical and pharmacy claims data [17] from over 200 million de-identified patients across the United States and its territories. Patients without an assigned sex were ignored, as those missing this information likely had an incomplete medical record; TriNetX explicitly defines the sex of patients but does not include gender data. Males and females were divided into age

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32683
```

cohorts spanning 10-year intervals (60-69, 70-79, and 80-89 years). To minimize the risk of patient identification, the TriNetX database does not report patients' data once they exceed 90 years of age. Since we were interested in mortality rates within the first year following hip fracture repair, cohorts ended at 89 years of age.

Codes from the International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision (ICD-10) were used for fracture diagnoses, and patients were identified as having a hip fracture if a code of S72.0, S72.1, or S72.2 was present in their record. Hip fractures were compared to fractures of the upper humerus (S42.2); regions near the hip (lumbar vertebra, S32.0; sacrum, S32.1; coccyx, \$32.2; ilium, \$32.3; acetabulum, \$32.4; pubis, \$32.5; ischium, S32.6); nonhip regions of the femur (femur shaft, S72.3; lower femur, S72.4); knee and lower leg (patella, S82.0; upper end of tibia, S82.1; tibia shaft, S82.2; lower end of tibia, S82.3; fibula shaft, S82.4); and talus, malleoli, and foot (medial malleolus, S82.5; lateral malleolus, S82.6; talus, S92.1; metatarsal, S92.3; great toe, S92.4; lesser toe, S92.5). Fracture codes below the hip that were broadly categorized as "other" or "unspecified" were not included. The upper humerus was chosen as a control for hip fracture since both fractures occur at anatomically similar torso-appendage junctures. The other fracture sites impact mobility to varying degrees and were chosen based on reports that mobility limitations play a critical role in the mortality risk of older adults [18,19]. Comparisons were also performed between the hip fracture grouping and each of the other listed individual fracture codes. In a respective query, only 1 fracture event among the pooled fracture types or for the individual fracture type was allowed to occur from 60 to 89 years of age, but we did not actively exclude individuals who had simultaneous, or even subsequent, fractures across, or outside of, our groupings, even though certain combinations are predicted to worsen outcomes [20,21]. In addition, although we removed individuals who experienced multiple fracture events of the same kind or grouping from 60 to 89 years of age to reduce confounding variables, some of these removed individuals may have fractured a different bone under the same code or pool of codes or the same bone contralaterally, and it may not be a repeated fracture of the same type. The analysis did allow for the same fracture to have occurred prior to 60 years of age. The incidence of each fracture type or grouping within the specified decade was initially established across sex and age, and the percentage of individuals in each sex and age cohort deceased from 1 day to 1 year postfracture was determined by dividing the number of individuals deceased by the total population with same-day deaths subtracted. Since the TriNetX database cannot report information for cohorts with 10 or fewer individuals, the number of same-day deaths had to be determined by subtracting the deaths that occurred from 1 day to 1 year from the deaths that occurred within 1 year for the same respective cohort. Same-day deaths were excluded from analyses since these individuals may not represent a population that can be treated postoperatively following a fracture event. To improve readability when reporting data, the term "1-year postfracture mortality" has been used herein to describe those deaths that occurred from 1 day to 1 year postfracture.

XSL•FO RenderX

The relative frequencies of each fracture were calculated by dividing the total number of incidences of the fracture or fracture grouping by the sum of the incidence for all fractures or fracture groupings and then converting it to a percentage for each respective sex and age cohort. There was a small possibility of counting a patient multiple times if they experienced 1 or more events that fell within multiple fracture groupings.

Since few individuals had unique simultaneous hip fracture combinations in a single event (specifically, combinatorial fractures of S72.0xS72.1, S72.0xS72.2, S72.1xS72.2, and S72.0xS72.1xS72.2), we focused our efforts on incidences and mortality rates for each separate fracture code, excluding the other hip fracture codes for each of these individual analyses. We also included a metric composed of all fracture codes/combinations in the hip. The percentage change in survival probability was determined by subtracting the hip fracture mortality rate from the mortality rate of the other fracture/fracture grouping of interest.

To examine the impact of dementia on fracture outcomes, we explored patients with a diagnosis of vascular dementia (F01), dementia due to Alzheimer disease (G30), dementia with Lewy bodies (G31.83), or any combination thereof; these diagnoses were chosen in order to better unravel potential mechanisms of action since they encompass a large proportion of individuals with at least 1 specified form of dementia while removing individuals with unspecified dementia and relatively rare forms of dementia [22]. Dementia diagnoses were allowed from any time before the fracture to 1 year postfracture (including exactly 1 year postfracture). For T2D diagnosis, the code E11 was used and was required to be present in a patient's record from 6 months prior to the fracture to 1 year postfracture in order to ensure that patients with reversal or remission of T2D were excluded [23].

General queries determined the sizes of the male and female populations with a dementia or T2D diagnosis from 60 to 90 years of age from January 1, 2010, to December 31, 2019. Unlike the fractures, where we only allowed ICD-10 codes through 89 years of age, these diagnoses were allowed through 90 years of age since we were focused on mortality outcomes and this made them comparable to our mortality measures in our fracture cohorts that had allowed diagnoses of dementia and T2D through the 1-year follow-up. These were plotted using BioVenn [24]. Analyses were run on these subpopulations identically to the overall fractured populations, with the exception that cohorts were not propensity-score-matched because the cohort size was limited by requiring a fracture event in combination with a dementia or a T2D diagnosis.

Statistics

Propensity score matching was performed across different fracture groupings within the TriNetX system for the root

category of each demographic, diagnosis, medication, procedure, and common lab variable (a maximum of 191 broad categories of characteristics outlined in Table S1 of Multimedia Appendix 1) recorded in both cohorts through 1 day before the fracture event. The day of the fracture was not included, since some patients may have received more immediate, or different, care than others. Not all cohort combinations had data for every characteristic. Propensity-score-matching methods can be found in Multimedia Appendix 2. Kaplan-Meier (KM) and hazard ratio (HR) analyses were performed using the matched cohorts of patients, excluding those that died the same day as the fracture. Log-rank tests established the statistical significance of the KM survival curves 1 day to 1 year postfracture. HRs, the CIs for the HRs, and tests for proportionality were calculated within the TriNetX system, which uses the R Survival package (v3.2-13) [25,26] and validates these results by comparing to them to those of SAS (v9.4; SAS Institute). The proportionality test was based on the scaled Schoenfeld residual [27].

Results

Fracture Incidences, Relative Frequencies, and 1-Year Mortality Rates

A total of 1,100,871 patients (758,995 [68.94%] female, 341,876 [31.06%] male) from 60 to 89 years of age with hip fracture codes of \$72.0, \$72.1, or \$72.2 (Figure 1A), combinations thereof, or repeated fractures were retrieved from the past 10 years. Notably, narrowing the database query to only 1 fracture event of any fracture type or combination identified a substantially smaller pool of 408,922 patients (279,131 [68.26%] female, 129,791 [31.74%] male; Table 1) but reduced the confounding variables for the examination of individuals deceased within 1 year postfracture. Because simultaneous fracture combinations were allowed in the queries for 1 fracture event but repeated fracture events of the same type were not allowed, this suggests that more than 60% of elderly patients with hip fracture sustain multiple, temporally separated hip fractures of the same type or in the same region, ipsilaterally or contralaterally, or that the same fracture is repeatedly charted.

The racial and ethnic profiles of the elderly individuals in the TriNetX database's Diamond Network that experienced a single hip fracture event were largely unreported, perhaps because the network is derived, at least in part, from insurance claims. However, patient mapping by zip code suggests that these patients were widely distributed throughout the United States (Figure S3 of Multimedia Appendix 3). The majority of these patients suffered a fracture of the femur head and neck. The second- and third-most common hip fracture types were pertrochanteric femur fracture and subtrochanteric femur fracture, respectively (Figure 1B). Importantly, less than 8% of elderly patients presented with multiple simultaneous fractures during a hip fracture injury.



Figure 1. An anatomical depiction of the hip fracture codes and the percentage of hip fractures in patients 60 to 89 years of age with only 1 hip fracture event categorized by single, and combinations of, ICD-10 codes. Each hip fracture type is visually represented (A). As evident in the pie charts (B), the majority of patients with a single event of hip fracture broke the head or neck of the femur (S72.0). ICD-10: *International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision*.



Table 1. Incidence and relative frequency of various fractures in the TriNetX Diamond Network separated by fracture code/code combinations in cohorts split by sex and age. Incidence entries include individuals deceased the same day as the fracture. Data on separated ICD- 10^a codes can be found in Table S2 of Multimedia Appendix 1; codes were aggregated, as described in the header for the table below, and individuals were only allowed 1 event with the ICD-10 code or pooled codes specified in each column from 60 to 89 years of age (instead of summing the codes of Table S2 of Multimedia Appendix 1 in order to avoid counting the same patient more than once). The relative frequency of each fracture/fracture grouping within a sex and age cohort is shown in parentheses and is specific to the fracture groupings studied herein, and there is a small possibility that patients were counted multiple times if they suffered fractures across the specified types/combinations.

Fracture site	Female	Female		Male		
	60-69 years	70-79 years	80-89 years	60-69 years	70-79 years	80-89 years
Total counts of fracture events of the types/com- binations queried, N	569,140	523,840	460,720	279,924	224,722	156,491
Hip (S72.0-2), n (%)	54,801 (9.6)	93,041 (17.8)	131,289 (28.5)	34,237 (12.2)	45,731 (20.4)	49,823 (31.8)
Humerus (S42.2), n (%)	74,332 (13.1)	72,525 (13.8)	54,692 (11.9)	30,484 (10.9)	23,277 (10.4)	14,242 (9.1)
Regions near the hip (S32.0-6), n (%)	100,347 (17.6)	131,154 (25.0)	149,943 (32.5)	66,584 (23.8)	65,507 (29.2)	52,597 (33.6)
Nonhip regions of the femur (S72.3-4), n (%)	19,796 (3.5)	23,556 (4.5)	24,608 (5.3)	11,186 (4.0)	9303 (4.1)	6928 (4.4)
Knee and lower leg (S82.0-4), n (%)	99,551 (17.5)	71,298 (13.6)	39,601 (8.6)	50,272 (18.0)	30,695 (13.7)	13,427 (8.6)
Talus, malleoli, and foot (S82.5-6, S92.1, S92.3- 5), n (%)	220,313 (38.7)	132,266 (25.2)	60,587 (13.2)	87,161 (31.1)	50,209 (22.3)	19,474 (12.4)

^aICD-10: International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision.

RenderX

The incidence and relative frequency of each skeletal region suffering a 1-time fracture changed as individuals aged (Table 1). For individuals 60-69 years of age, the most commonly affected skeletal region with a single fracture event (of those studied) was the talus, malleoli, and foot. In contrast, the hip and regions near the hip were the most commonly affected areas with a single fracture event in 80-89-year-olds. Importantly, the likelihood that a fracture event would occur at the hip increased nearly 3-fold in 80-89-year-olds compared to 60-69-year-olds, while the relative frequency of fracture types distal to the hip either decreased or remained largely unchanged during aging. The incidence of 1-time fractures of the portion of the femur) remained considerably lower than other fracture groupings regardless of age.

The largely increased incidence of hip fractures during aging likely reflects age-dependent changes, such as those of lifestyle, bone quality (eg, cortical porosity) [28], bone mineral density [29,30], or a combination of these factors. Table S2 of Multimedia Appendix 1 further segments each of the fracture groupings into unique ICD-10 codes; it includes more patients than Table 1 since individuals in a cohort with a specific ICD-10

code were allowed to have other fractures that were previously blocked via grouping. Consequently, Table 1 is more likely to eliminate confounding factors associated with fracture risk (eg, increased risk of fractures from osteoporosis [31]), while Table S2 of Multimedia Appendix 1 has greater statistical power.

Although the relative frequency of the various fracture groupings typically varied with increasing age (Table 1), the 1-year postfracture mortality rates across all fracture groupings increased with age and were consistently greater in males than in females (Table 2). The latter observation held for every ICD-10 code when analyzed individually (as demonstrated in Table S3 in Multimedia Appendix 1) and reflects the underlying greater general mortality rate associated with older age and being male [32,33]. Across all cohorts, patients with hip fracture consistently showed greater 1-year mortality rates compared to all other fractures, regardless of whether the comparison was to other fracture groupings (Table 2), to unique ICD-10 codes (as outlined in Table S3 of Multimedia Appendix 1), or to propensity-score-matched patients of fracture codes and groupings, as described more later (Tables 3 and 4, as well as Table S4 of Multimedia Appendix 1).

Table 2. One-year postfracture mortality rates separated by sex and age. $ICD-10^{a}$ codes were aggregated, and patients were only allowed 1 event with the ICD-10 code or pooled codes specified in each column from 60 to 89 years of age; same-day deaths were not included. One-year postfracture mortality rates for individual ICD-10 codes are summarized in Table S3 of Multimedia Appendix 1.

Fracture site	Female			Male		
	60-69 years	70-79 years	80-89 years	60-69 years	70-79 years	80-89 years
Hip (S72.0-2), n/N (%)	3573/54,775	8751/92,946	17,165/131,031	2859/34,213	6227/45,650	9743/49,673
	(6.5)	(9.4)	(13.1)	(8.4)	(13.6)	(19.6)
Humerus (S42.2), n/N (%)	2089/74,308	3528/72,495	4908/54,640	1388/30,469	1910/23,259	2042/14,212
	(2.8)	(4.9)	(9.0)	(4.6)	(8.2)	(14.4)
Regions near the hip (S32.0-6), n/N (%)	4664/100,310	9511/131,077	15,154/149,797	3961/66,555	6905/65,437	8385/52,495
	(4.6)	(7.3)	(10.1)	(6.0)	(10.6)	(16.0)
Nonhip regions of the femur (S72.3-4), n/N (%)	985/19,785 (5.0)	1844/23,539 (7.8)	3146/24,562 (12.8)	653/11,183 (5.8)	921/9294 (9.9)	1164/6,909 (16.8)
Knee and lower leg (S82.0-4), n/N (%)	1907/99,535	2671/71,274	3216/39,571	1393/50,262	1528/30,680	1337/13,407
	(1.9)	(3.7)	(8.1)	(2.8)	(5.0)	(10.0)
Talus, malleoli, and foot (S82.5-6, S92.1, S92.3-5), n/N (%)	2661/220,300	3307/132,242	3693/60,562	1839/87,149	2064/50,196	1692/19,464
	(1.2)	(2.5)	(6.1)	(2.1)	(4.1)	(8.7)

^aICD-10: International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision.

Importantly, for each cohort, 1-year mortality rates following fractures of the talus, malleoli, and foot occurring in a single event (Table 2) closely aligned with recent reports of mortality rates in the general US population [32,33], suggesting that these fractures do not cause excess mortality in elderly patients. Consequently, we used these fractures as a baseline to estimate the general 1-year mortality risk, against which we assessed excess 1-year mortality risks resulting from the various fracture groupings. Overall, 1-year mortality rates following hip fracture ranged from 6.5% for 60-69-year-old females to 19.6% for 80-89-year-old males (Table 2). Relative to the estimated mortality rate in the general population, hip fractures increased 1-year mortality rates by 5%-7% for female patients and 6%-11% for male patients (Table 2), with the largest absolute increases in mortality rates paralleling increases in age.

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32683
```

However, the largest relative change in 1-year mortality rates occurred among 60-69-year-old patients, with females and males at 5.4-fold and 4-fold greater mortality risk, respectively, following hip fracture compared to that estimated for the general population.

Rigorous KM and HR analyses of propensity-score-matched cohorts 1 year postfracture strongly supported the general population results (Tables 3 and 4, as well as Table S4 of Multimedia Appendix 1). Patients with hip fracture were propensity-score-matched to corresponding cohorts of patients with fractures of the upper humerus; regions near the hip; nonhip regions of the femur; knee and lower leg; or talus, malleoli, and foot. KM log-rank tests showed that hip fracture significantly decreased the 1-year postfracture survival probability relative

to all other fracture groupings in each of the age and sex cohorts (Table 3). The percentage change in survival probability 1 year postfracture for each fracture grouping relative to the hip fracture grouping is shown in Figure 2A. The cohort with the largest absolute changes in 1-year survival rates across all fracture types was males 80-89 years of age (Figure 2B-F). Propensity-score-matched comparisons of the hip fracture group to each of the individual ICD-10 codes resulted in significantly lower survival probabilities for hip fracture relative to each other fracture type, with 3 exceptions: results were not significantly different for 60-69-year-old males with ischium or femur shaft fractures and for 80-89-year-old females with

fractures of the lower end of the femur (Table S4 of Multimedia Appendix 1).

HRs calculated for hip fracture relative to all other fracture groupings exceeded 1 in all instances (Table 4). Importantly, the HRs for hip fractures relative to fractures of the talus, malleoli, and foot exceeded 3 in the 60-69- and 70-79-year-old female and male cohorts. Similarly, HRs established for hip fracture relative to each ICD-10 code exceeded 1 in all instances and exceeded 4.8 when hip fracture was compared to fracture(s) of the greater or lesser toe in 60-69-year-old females (Table S4 of Multimedia Appendix 1).



Dimet-Wiley et al

Table 3. Results from the KM^a analysis performed on data from 1 day to 1 year following fracture for the propensity-score-matched sex and age cohorts of patients with a hip fracture (individually or in combination: S72.0, S72.1, and S72.2) relative to the other fractures/fracture combinations specified within the table. Individuals deceased the same day as the fracture were not included in the patient cohorts. Only 1 hip fracture or other respective fracture-type event specified for each row was allowed from 60 to 89 years of age. Analyses performed on separated ICD-10^b codes can be found in Table S4 of Multimedia Appendix 1.

Age group (years)	Hip fracture cohort stati	stics	Other fracture cohort sta	tistics	Log-rank test	
	Patients with out- come/patients in cohort, n/N (%)	Probability of 1-year survival (determined by KM curve), %	Patients with out- come/patients in cohort, n/N (%)	Probability of 1-year survival (determined by KM curve), %	$\chi^2 (df)$	<i>P</i> value ^c
Upper humerus (S42.2))					
60-69, female	3234/50,849 (6.4)	92.9	1760/51,154 (3.4)	96.2	481.0 (1)	<.001
70-79, female	5773/63,408 (9.1)	89.8	3283/64,022 (5.1)	94.3	81.6 (1)	<.001
80-89, female	7027/52,099 (13.5)	84.7	4956/52,986 (9.4)	89.5	523.0 (1)	<.001
60-69, male	1986/24,947 (8.0)	91.1	1253/25,135 (5.0)	94.5	192.8 (1)	<.001
70-79, male	2945/21,583 (13.6)	84.7	1912/21,906 (8.7)	90.4	300.5 (1)	<.001
80-89, male	2809/13,227 (21.2)	75.7	2065/13,585 (15.2)	82.9	204.1 (1)	<.001
Regions near the hip (S	32.0-6)					
60-69, female	3553/53,217 (6.7)	92.6	2793/53,489 (5.2)	94.2	111.9 (1)	<.001
70-79, female	8283/84,349 (9.8)	89.0	6514/85,097 (7.7)	91.5	293.5 (1)	<.001
80-89, female	14,975/107,520 (13.9)	84.1	12,176/109,465 (11.1)	87.5	511.1 (1)	<.001
60-69, male	2834/32,955 (8.6)	90.2	2205/33,177 (6.6)	92.5	100.0 (1)	<.001
70-79, male	5877/40,940 (14.4)	83.7	4653/41,515 (11.2)	87.4	226.7 (1)	<.001
80-89, male	8381/38,966 (21.5)	75.1	6829/40,065 (17.0)	80.7	358.6 (1)	<.001
lonhip regions of the fo	emur (872.3-4)					
60-69, female	1326/19,457 (6.8)	92.5	990/19,485 (5.1)	94.4	56.5 (1)	<.001
70-79, female	2239/22,914 (9.8)	89.1	1860/22,973 (8.1)	91.1	46.6 (1)	<.001
80-89, female	3367/23,357 (14.4)	83.6	3171/23,481 (13.5)	84.9	12.0 (1)	<.001
60-69, male	890/10,866 (8.2)	90.7	656/10,924 (6.0)	93.3	43.1 (1)	<.001
70-79, male	1196/8879 (13.5)	84.9	927/8991 (10.3)	88.5	50.0 (1)	<.001
80-89, male	1397/6445 (21.7)	75.2	1170/6533 (17.9)	79.9	39.5 (1)	<.001
Inee and lower leg (S82	2.0-4)					
60-69, female	3423/52,623 (6.5)	92.8	1311/53,038 (2.5)	97.3	1051.7 (1)	<.001
70-79, female	5528/62,697 (8.8)	90.1	2570/63,403 (4.1)	95.5	1292.2 (1)	<.001
80-89, female	4973/37,797 (13.2)	85.1	3249/38,529 (8.4)	90.6	518.2 (1)	<.001
60-69, male	2517/31,105 (8.1)	90.8	1071/31,392 (3.4)	96.2	675.8 (1)	<.001
70-79, male	3475/26,988 (12.9)	85.4	1479/27,542 (5.4)	94.0	1032.7 (1)	<.001
80-89, male	2489/12,472 (19.9)	77.1	1357/12,934 (10.5)	88.3	538.7 (1)	<.001
alus, malleoli, and foo	t (882.5-6, 892.1, 892.3-5)				
60-69, female	3592/53,725 (6.7)	92.5	1082/54,228 (2.0)	97.8	1505.5 (1)	<.001
70-79, female	7258/78,836 (9.2)	89.7	2517/80,084 (3.1)	96.5	2741.9 (1)	<.001
80-89, female	7390/56,166 (13.2)	85.2	3669/57,850 (6.3)	93.0	1754.0 (1)	<.001
60-69, male	2754/32,621 (8.4)	90.4	988/33,094 (3.0)	96.7	976.0 (1)	<.001
70-79, male	4606/34,302 (13.4)	84.8	1655/35,247 (4.7)	94.8	1802.9 (1)	<.001
80-89, male	3687/17,652 (20.9)	76.1	1687/18,540 (9.1)	90.0	1201.9 (1)	<.001

^aKM: Kaplan-Meier.

^bICD-10: International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision.

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32683

^cStatistically significant (*P*<.05) results are italicized.

Dimet-Wiley et al

Table 4. Results from the HR^a analysis performed on data from 1 day to 1 year following fracture for the propensity-score-matched sex and age cohorts of patients with a hip fracture (individually or in combination: S72.0, S72.1, and S72.2) relative to the other fractures/fracture combinations specified within the table. Individuals deceased the same day as the fracture were not included in the patient cohorts. Only 1 hip fracture or other respective fracture-type event specified for each row was allowed from 60 to 89 years of age. Analyses performed on separated ICD-10^b codes can be found in Table S4 of Multimedia Appendix 1.

Age group (years)	HR (95% CI)	χ^2 (df)	P value ^c
Upper humerus (S42.2)		·	
60-69, female	1.89 (0.167-21.488)	23.7 (1)	<.001
70-79, female	1.85 (0.172-19.934)	24.4 (1)	<.001
80-89, female	1.52 (0.16-14.522)	51.6 (1)	<.001
60-69, male	1.64 (0.145-18.584)	0.9 (1)	.36
70-79, male	1.66 (0.164-16.752)	18.5 (1)	<.001
80-89, male	1.51 (0.181-12.564)	14.7 (1)	<.001
Regions near the hip (S32.0-6)			
60-69, female	1.31 (0.12-14.22)	2.4 (1)	.12
70-79, female	1.33 (0.13-13.493)	29.7 (1)	<.001
80-89, female	1.32 (0.144-12.017)	124.1 (1)	<.001
60-69, male	1.33 (0.129-13.651)	0.8 (1)	.36
70-79, male	1.34 (0.146-12.334)	22.7 (1)	<.001
80-89, male	1.36 (0.176-10.513)	57.3 (1)	<.001
Nonhip regions of the femur (S72.3	3-4)		
60-69, female	1.37 (0.127-14.732)	2.3 (1)	.13
70-79, female	1.24 (0.123-12.466)	1.5 (1)	.22
80-89, female	1.09 (0.123-9.64)	0.04 (1)	.85
60-69, male	1.40 (0.134-14.564)	2.0 (1)	.16
70-79, male	1.36 (0.146-12.682)	6.8 (1)	<.01
80-89, male	1.28 (0.163-10.105)	3.9 (1)	.049
Knee and lower leg (S82.0-4)			
60-69, female	2.75 (0.243-31.034)	37.1 (1)	<.001
70-79, female	2.30 (0.214-24.769)	56.8 (1)	<.001
80-89, female	1.66 (0.172-16.08)	47.7 (1)	<.001
60-69, male	2.50 (0.23-27.213)	12.4 (1)	<.001
70-79, male	2.61 (0.261-26.143)	41.7 (1)	<.001
80-89, male	2.15 (0.247-18.681)	35.9 (1)	<.001
Talus, malleoli, and foot (882.5-6, S	S92.1, S92.3-5)		
60-69, female	3.53 (0.311-39.961)	51.4 (1)	<.001
70-79, female	3.15 (0.291-34.06)	116.8 (1)	<.001
80-89, female	2.28 (0.23-22.52)	210.4 (1)	<.001
60-69, male	3.01 (0.279-32.493)	18.7 (1)	<.001
70-79, male	3.17 (0.315-31.767)	126.0 (1)	<.001
80-89, male	2.66 (0.3-23.659)	94.1 (1)	<.001

^aHR: hazard ratio.

XSL•FO RenderX

^bICD-10: *International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision.* ^cStatistically significant (*P*<.05) results are italicized.

Dimet-Wiley et al

Figure 2. The changes to survival probability 1 year after several fracture types relative to propensity-score-matched hip fracture patients. Men from 80 to 89 years of age showed the largest absolute percentage change in survival rates across all fracture types relative to their propensity-score-matched patient cohorts with hip fracture. KM survival curves for men from 80 to 89 years of age with fractures of the hip compared to fractures of the upper humerus (B), regions near the hip (C), nonhip regions of the femur (D), knee and lower leg (E), and talus, malleoli, and foot (F). Hip fracture survival probability curves were not identical in each figure since each independent propensity score matching analysis for each comparison selected different groups of hip fracture patients. KM: Kaplan-Meier.



Dementia and Type 2 Diabetes Comorbidities

The codes used to identify elderly patients in the TriNetX database diagnosed with either dementia, T2D, or both comorbidities identified approximately 1.6 million, 16.8 million, or 0.66 million individuals, respectively (Figure S2 of Multimedia Appendix 3). Subsequently, we explored general incidence of the fracture groupings in combination with the

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32683
```

XSL•FO RenderX comorbidities in our age range of interest (Table 5) and the relative frequency of the various fracture groupings in patients with dementia (Figure S3A of Multimedia Appendix 3) or T2D (Figure S3B of Multimedia Appendix 3) across the sex and age cohorts of interest. A dementia diagnosis clearly shifted the fracture type away from talus, malleoli, and foot fracture toward hip fracture in all cohorts and toward fracture of regions near the hip in some cohorts (Figure S3A of Multimedia Appendix

3). In contrast, a T2D diagnosis had a much smaller impact, shifting the fracture type slightly away from hip fracture toward talus, malleoli, and foot fracture in some cohorts, although these effects were minimal (Figure S3B of Multimedia Appendix 3).

Similar to the general population cohorts, patients with hip fracture and dementia displayed greater mortality rates compared to other fracture groupings (Table 6) and all other ICD-10 codes studied (Table S5 of Multimedia Appendix 1).

Table 5. General incidence and relative frequency of various fracture types/combinations with dementia/T2D^a in patients 60-89 years of age. Dementia diagnosis was allowed from any time before fracture to 1 year postfracture and was specified as any of the following ICD- 10^{b} codes or a combination thereof: vascular dementia, F01; dementia due to Alzheimer disease, G30; or dementia with Lewy bodies, G31.83. T2D was required to be recorded within 6 months prior to fracture to 1 year postfracture and was specified with ICD-10 code E11. ICD-10 codes were aggregated as described in the header for this table, and patients were only allowed 1 event with the code or pooled codes specified in each column from 60 to 89 years of age. Incidence entries include individuals deceased the same day as the fracture. The relative frequency of each fracture/fracture grouping is shown in parentheses and is specific to the fracture groupings studied herein and, as with Table 1, there is a small possibility that patients were counted multiple times if they suffered fractures across the specified types/combinations.

Total counts of fracture events of the types/combinations queried in combination with dementia/T2D	Hip (\$72.0-2), n (%)	Humerus (S42.2), n (%)	Regions near the hip (S32.0-6), n (%)	Nonhip regions of the femur (S72.3-4), n (%)	Knee and lower leg (S82.0-4), n (%)	Talus, malleoli, and foot (S82.5-6, S92.1, S92.3-5), n (%)
With dementia (N=112,113)	37,084 (33.1)	12,625 (11.3)	34,211 (30.5)	6425 (5.7)	9070 (8.1)	12,698 (11.3)
With T2D (N=594,711)	100,804 (17.0)	72,748 (12.2)	146,301 (24.6)	28,353 (4.8)	91,376 (15.4)	155,129 (26.1)

^aT2D: type 2 diabetes.

^bICD-10: International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision.

Table 6. One-year postfracture mortality rates in patients with dementia (specifically, any of the following ICD- 10^{a} codes or a combination thereof: vascular dementia, F01; dementia due to Alzheimer disease, G30; or dementia with Lewy bodies, G31.83) or T2D^b (E11). A dementia diagnosis was allowed from any time before fracture to 1 year postfracture, while a T2D diagnosis was required to be recorded within 6 months prior to fracture to 1 year postfracture. Data on separated ICD-10 codes can be found in Table S5 of Multimedia Appendix 1; ICD-10 codes were aggregated as described in the header for this table, and patients were only allowed 1 event with the ICD-10 code or pooled codes specified in each column from 60 to 89 years of age. Same-day deaths were not included for this analysis.

Age group (years)	Hip (S72.0-2), n/N (%)	Humerus (S42.2), n/N (%)	Regions near the hip (S32.0-6), n/N (%)	Nonhip regions of the femur (S72.3- 4), n/N (%)	Knee and lower leg (S82.0-4), n/N (%)	Talus, malleoli, and foot (S82.5-6, S92.1, S92.3-5), n/N (%)
With dementia						
60-69, female	180/1117 (16.1)	69/741 (9.3)	177/1391 (12.7)	42/307 (13.7)	76/804 (9.5)	85/1236 (6.9)
70-79, female	1213/6512 (18.6)	390/3009 (13.0)	945/6590 (14.3)	210/1270 (16.5)	240/2237 (10.7)	298/3280 (9.1)
80-89, female	3955/18,452 (21.4)	983/6031 (16.3)	2787/16,301 (17.1)	668/3383 (19.7)	591/3741 (15.8)	701/4877 (14.4)
60-69, male	140/854 (16.4)	47/385 (12.2)	119/922 (12.9)	23/151 (15.2)	46/401 (11.5)	45/598 (7.5)
70-79, male	813/3388 (24.0)	206/1015 (20.3)	673/3349 (20.1)	87/463 (18.8)	124/863 (14.4)	153/1264 (12.1)
80-89, male	1916/6647 (28.8)	337/1429 (23.6)	1355/5608 (24.2)	206/838 (24.6)	194/1016 (19.1)	286/1431 (20.0)
With T2D						
60-69, female	1217/13,972 (8.7)	840/18,279 (4.6)	1640/24,610 (6.7)	460/5881 (7.8)	856/23,717 (3.6)	1246/49,752 (2.5)
70-79, female	2728/23,917 (11.4)	1337/20,425 (6.5)	3234/34,770 (9.3)	756/7425 (10.2)	1751/25,936 (6.8)	1594/36,892 (4.3)
80-89, female	3695/26,451 (14.0)	1295/12,935 (10.0)	3786/31,507 (12.0)	882/6351 (13.9)	10,83/10,225 (10.6)	1315/16,585 (7.9)
60-69, male	1033/9552 (10.8)	604/8635 (7.0)	1400/18,454 (7.6)	255/3213 (7.9)	608/13,575 (4.5)	941/26,241 (3.6)
70-79, male	2146/14,099 (15.2)	868/8087 (10.7)	2698/21,630 (12.5)	398/3264 (12.2)	1039/13,445 (7.7)	1116/18,562 (6.0)
80-89, male	2570/12,659 (20.3)	668/4323 (15.5)	2618/15,195 (17.2)	385/2186 (17.6)	552/4428 (12.5)	745/7055 (10.6)

^aICD-10: International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision.

^bT2D: type 2 diabetes.

RenderX

For individuals with T2D and fracture, 1-year mortality results were similar to those of the general population. All cohorts with a T2D diagnosis exhibited a greater 1-year mortality rate after hip fracture relative to the other fracture groupings (Table 6)

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32683
Collectively, these data determined the extent that dementia or T2D as comorbidities exacerbate 1-year postfracture mortality rates. The comorbidities of hip fracture and dementia in the 60-69- and 70-79-year-old cohorts resulted in greater excess 1-year mortality rates compared to hip fracture in the general population (Figure 3). However, T2D combined with hip fracture did not show a similar exacerbation, and 1-year

mortality rates for hip fracture with a T2D comorbidity were typically additive (equal to the combination of the baseline mortality rate and the mortality rate due to hip fracture) or less than additive. Instances of less-than-additive effects suggest the possibility of a mutual cause of mortality or that the care of the comorbidity may reduce the hip fracture–related mortality risk.

Figure 3. The effects of dementia and T2D in combination with hip fracture on mortality. To establish whether these comorbidities combined with hip fracture exacerbate the mortality rate beyond simply additive effects, the percentage of individuals with the comorbidity of interest deceased 1 year postfracture of the talus, malleoli, and foot was superimposed onto the 1-year mortality rate following hip fracture with the respective comorbidity (this was used as a representation of the baseline mortality rate; for the general population no comorbidities were specified, and it included individuals with the comorbidities of the other populations). Results showed that hip fracture was synergistic with dementia in younger cohorts but was either additive or less than additive for older cohorts with dementia and nearly all cohorts with T2D. T2D: type 2 diabetes.



Discussion

Potential Interpretations and Implications

Hip fractures confer a uniquely increased mortality risk relative to all other studied fracture groupings. From the upper humerus data, we inferred that the increased mortality is not the result of the fracture occurring at an appendage-torso juncture, and the remainder of comparisons exhibited generally increasing differences in mortality rates as the fracture site became more distal to the hip. Because more peripheral fractures are expected to have less of an impact on mobility, perhaps requiring a boot or a scooter instead of a wheelchair, these data suggest that mobility may play a critical role in mortality risk.

Given that the differences in mortality rates remained when patients were propensity-score-matched across cohorts, this suggests that there is likely 1 or more underlying hip-specific mechanisms. The comorbidity of dementia that was identified herein as acting synergistically with hip fracture to exacerbate mortality rates could not have been the sole driving force behind these increased mortality rates, since it was not synergistic at

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32683
```

RenderX

older ages where the percentage change in survival probability between hip fracture and talus, malleoli, and foot fracture was the greatest. As mentioned previously, 1 factor that might influence these observed differences in 1-year postfracture mortality rates is mobility, as it is common to not regain prefracture mobility following hip fracture [34-37]. This greater mortality risk associated with impaired mobility may stem from changes to self-care factors, such as the ability to acquire help immediately following a fall, or changes to the blood flow dynamics, since circulatory system disease has been identified as a leading cause of death in patients after hip fracture [38]. Additionally, greater proportions of daily sitting time have been associated with increased all-cause mortality risk [39]. Consequently, restoring mobility should be a treatment priority to reduce the mortality risk associated with hip fracture and other mobility-impairing fractures. Additionally, the differences in mortality rate between hip fracture and other types of fracture might result from differences in tensile strength [40], bone density [41], or bone quality; for instance, the femoral head is less isotropic but has consistently greater trabecular bone volume than the humeral head [42]. Together, this strongly supports

future investigations to identify unique behavioral and cellular mechanisms occurring following hip fracture.

Exploration of dementia as a comorbidity revealed that fracture combined with dementia substantially exacerbates the mortality rate in younger elderly cohorts. This suggests that the increased 1-year mortality rates observed in patients with dementia and fracture may arise from synergistic mechanisms, whether cellular or behavioral in nature. The apparent lack of excess mortality associated with T2D as a comorbidity to fracture aligns with studies that reported no differences in 1-year mortality rates in populations of individuals that included those with type 1 diabetes (T1D) and T2D [43,44].

This work extends previous studies that have attempted to distinguish comorbidity-related deaths from those brought about directly by hip fracture. Previous studies have attributed 17%-32% of all hip fracture-associated deaths directly to the fracture event after subtracting out the comorbidities [45]. In contrast, this work indicates that hip fracture increases the 1-year mortality risk in the general elderly population by approximately 2- to 5-fold. In elderly patients with dementia, hip fracture approximately doubles the 1-year mortality risk for all but the oldest cohorts of patients. Our study further established that this excess mortality is not a consequence of any fracture type but is instead directly related to fracture location, with fractures of the hip associated with the greatest increases in the 1-year mortality rate.

Limitations

Despite the rigor of this work, several confounding variables remain. The TriNetX database, and analogous databases developed from EMRs, has difficulty accounting for patients that leave the health care system, as well as patients that are inaccurately diagnosed or whose diagnosis is later changed. Patients may move into a health care system with incomplete records or transfer between health care systems that both import data to TriNetX's Diamond Network, the latter of which could lead to counting a patient more than once. Moreover, in TriNetX, propensity score matching can only be performed through the day of an event, because testing statistics on survival requires the event to be the fracture event, and we could not propensity-score-match based on how individuals were treated or diagnosed postfracture.

Although same-day deaths, which accounted for less than 2% of the deaths that occurred within 1 year of hip fracture, were removed, we did not explore whether the trauma event(s) inciting or associated with hip fracture resulted in more extensive damage to the surrounding area that might acutely increase the risk of mortality. Low preoperative hemoglobin concentration and excessive blood loss during surgery are both linked to increased mortality rates [46], and patients with hip fracture and delayed surgical intervention present with significant blood loss over the days following hospital admission but before surgery [47]. Finally, a statistical limitation was the lack of corrections for multiple comparisons in the propensity-score-matched results, which were left out because this was an exploratory analysis and should be followed up with a prospective observational trial.

Conclusion

Hip fracture results in a greater 1-year mortality rate relative to the upper humerus and other fracture types/groupings of regions near and below the hip. This increased risk remains when cohorts are propensity-score-matched across a large number of characteristics, suggesting that this vulnerability is specific to this particular fracture type. Furthermore, the data herein established that dementia acts synergistically with hip fracture to exacerbate mortality rates in younger populations, but T2D does not appear to impact the mortality rate beyond an additive effect of the risks conferred by T2D and hip fracture independently. The data strongly suggest the necessity of future studies to explore unique elements of hip fracture events and therapeutic options targeting this fracture type specifically.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge Dr Laura Muruato and Jerrin Wiley for discussions regarding optimal *International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision* (ICD-10) codes and study design. This work was funded by a subaward to SJW from a Claude D. Pepper Older Americans Independence Center Award (National Institute on Aging Award #P30-AG024832; principal investigator E Volpi).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 The Excel file containing Tables S1-S5 referenced in the manuscript. [XLSX File (Microsoft Excel File), 52 KB - aging v5i1e32683 app1.xlsx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Additional details on propensity score matching methods. [DOCX File , 14 KB - aging v5i1e32683 app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3



The PDF containing Figures S1-S3 referenced in the manuscript. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 329 KB - aging v5i1e32683 app3.pdf]

References

- Kristensen PK, Perez-Vicente R, Leckie G, Johnsen SP, Merlo J. Disentangling the contribution of hospitals and municipalities for understanding patient level differences in one-year mortality risk after hip-fracture: a cross-classified multilevel analysis in Sweden. PLoS One 2020 Jun 3;15(6):e0234041 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0234041</u>] [Medline: <u>32492053</u>]
- 2. Okike K, Chan PH, Paxton EW. Effect of surgeon and hospital volume on morbidity and mortality after hip fracture. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2017 Sep 20;99(18):1547-1553. [doi: <u>10.2106/JBJS.16.01133</u>] [Medline: <u>28926384</u>]
- Guerra MTE, Viana RD, Feil L, Feron ET, Maboni J, Vargas AS. One-year mortality of elderly patients with hip fracture surgically treated at a hospital in Southern Brazil. Rev Bras Ortop 2017 Dec 07;52(1):17-23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.rboe.2016.11.006] [Medline: 28194376]
- 4. Morri M, Ambrosi E, Chiari P, Orlandi Magli A, Gazineo D, D' Alessandro F, et al. One-year mortality after hip fracture surgery and prognostic factors: a prospective cohort study. Sci Rep 2019 Dec 10;9(1):18718 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-55196-6] [Medline: 31822743]
- 5. Johnell O, Kanis JA, Odén A, Sernbo I, Redlund-Johnell I, Petterson C, et al. Mortality after osteoporotic fractures. Osteoporos Int 2004 Jan;15(1):38-42. [doi: 10.1007/s00198-003-1490-4] [Medline: 14593451]
- 6. Cauley JA, Thompson DE, Ensrud KC, Scott JC, Black D. Risk of mortality following clinical fractures. Osteoporos Int 2000 Aug;11(7):556-561. [doi: 10.1007/s001980070075] [Medline: 11069188]
- Friedman SM, Menzies IB, Bukata SV, Mendelson DA, Kates SL. Dementia and hip fractures: development of a pathogenic framework for understanding and studying risk. Geriatr Orthop Surg Rehabil 2010 Nov;1(2):52-62 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2151458510389463] [Medline: 23569663]
- 8. Holmes J, House A. Psychiatric illness predicts poor outcome after surgery for hip fracture: a prospective cohort study. Psychol Med 2000 Jul;30(4):921-929. [doi: 10.1017/s0033291799002548] [Medline: 11037100]
- 9. Tsuda Y, Yasunaga H, Horiguchi H, Ogawa S, Kawano H, Tanaka S. Association between dementia and postoperative complications after hip fracture surgery in the elderly: analysis of 87,654 patients using a national administrative database. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 2015 Nov;135(11):1511-1517. [doi: 10.1007/s00402-015-2321-8] [Medline: 26487632]
- Dede AD, Tournis S, Dontas I, Trovas G. Type 2 diabetes mellitus and fracture risk. Metabolism 2014 Dec;63(12):1480-1490. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.metabol.2014.09.002</u>] [Medline: <u>25284729</u>]
- Schwartz AV, Sellmeyer DE, Ensrud KE, Cauley JA, Tabor HK, Schreiner PJ, Study of Osteoporotic Features Research Group. Older women with diabetes have an increased risk of fracture: a prospective study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2001 Jan;86(1):32-38. [doi: 10.1210/jcem.86.1.7139] [Medline: 11231974]
- 12. Tebé C, Martinez-Laguna D, Moreno V, Cooper C, Diez-Perez A, Collins GS, et al. Differential mortality and the excess rates of hip fracture associated with type 2 diabetes: accounting for competing risks in fracture prediction matters. J Bone Miner Res 2018 Aug;33(8):1417-1421 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/jbmr.3435] [Medline: 29624726]
- 13. Fitzpatrick AL, Kuller LH, Lopez OL, Kawas CH, Jagust W. Survival following dementia onset: Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. J Neurol Sci 2005 Mar 15;229-230:43-49. [doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2004.11.022] [Medline: 15760618]
- 14. Mueller C, Soysal P, Rongve A, Isik AT, Thompson T, Maggi S, et al. Survival time and differences between dementia with Lewy bodies and Alzheimer's disease following diagnosis: a meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. Ageing Res Rev 2019 Mar;50:72-80. [doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2019.01.005] [Medline: 30625375]
- Zghebi SS, Steinke DT, Carr MJ, Rutter MK, Emsley RA, Ashcroft DM. Examining trends in type 2 diabetes incidence, prevalence and mortality in the UK between 2004 and 2014. Diabetes Obes Metab 2017 Nov;19(11):1537-1545. [doi: 10.1111/dom.12964] [Medline: 28387052]
- 16. Ahmad FB, Cisewski JA, Miniño A, Anderson RN. Provisional mortality data: United States, 2020. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2021 Apr 09;70(14):519-522 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm7014e1] [Medline: 33830988]
- 17. TriNetX. Driving Effective Research Through the TriNetX Diamond Network. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.trinetx.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/TriNetX-Diamond-Datasheet.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-01-29]
- Mackey DC, Cauley JA, Barrett-Connor E, Schousboe JT, Cawthon PM, Cummings SR, Osteoporotic Fractures in Men Research Group. Life-space mobility and mortality in older men: a prospective cohort study. J Am Geriatr Soc 2014 Jul;62(7):1288-1296 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jgs.12892] [Medline: 24934163]
- 19. Olaya B, Moneta MV, Doménech-Abella J, Miret M, Bayes I, Ayuso-Mateos JL, et al. Mobility difficulties, physical activity, and all-cause mortality risk in a nationally representative sample of older adults. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2018 Aug 10;73(9):1272-1279. [doi: 10.1093/gerona/glx121] [Medline: 28633439]
- 20. Thayer MK, Kleweno CP, Lyons VH, Taitsman LA. Concomitant upper extremity fracture worsens outcomes in elderly patients with hip fracture. Geriatr Orthop Surg Rehabil 2018 Jun 6;9:2151459318776101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2151459318776101] [Medline: 29900029]



- Ng A, Mattin A, Seymour H, McKinnon E. Comparison of outcomes between hip fracture patients with concurrent upper limb injuries and patients with an isolated hip fracture. ANZ J Surg 2019 Jan;89(1-2):57-60. [doi: <u>10.1111/ans.14942</u>] [Medline: <u>30497096</u>]
- 22. Goodman RA, Lochner KA, Thambisetty M, Wingo TS, Posner SF, Ling SM. Prevalence of dementia subtypes in United States Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries, 2011-2013. Alzheimers Dement 2017 Jan;13(1):28-37 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2016.04.002] [Medline: 27172148]
- 23. Taylor R, Al-Mrabeh A, Sattar N. Understanding the mechanisms of reversal of type 2 diabetes. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2019 Sep;7(9):726-736. [doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(19)30076-2] [Medline: 31097391]
- 24. Hulsen T, de Vlieg J, Alkema W. BioVenn: a web application for the comparison and visualization of biological lists using area-proportional Venn diagrams. BMC Genomics 2008 Oct 16;9:488 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-9-488] [Medline: 18925949]
- 25. Therneau T. R Package Version 3.2-13. A Package for Survival Analysis in R. 2021. URL: <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=survival</u> [accessed 2022-01-27]
- 26. Therneau TM, Grambsch PM. Modeling Survival Data: Extending the Cox Model (Statistics for Biology and Health). New York, NY: Springer; 2000:1-287.
- 27. TriNetX. How Does TriNetX Test for Proportionality on a Hazard Ratio?. URL: <u>https://support.trinetx.com/hc/en-us/articles/</u> 360053133594-How-does-TriNetX-test-for-proportionality-on-a-hazard-ratio- [accessed 2021-11-01]
- Boskey AL, Imbert L. Bone quality changes associated with aging and disease: a review. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2017 Dec;1410(1):93-106 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/nyas.13572] [Medline: 29265417]
- Burger H, van Daele PL, Algra D, van den Ouweland FA, Grobbee DE, Hofman A, et al. The association between age and bone mineral density in men and women aged 55 years and over: the Rotterdam Study. Bone Mineral 1994 Apr;25(1):1-13. [doi: 10.1016/s0169-6009(08)80203-6] [Medline: 8061547]
- 30. Warming L, Hassager C, Christiansen C. Changes in bone mineral density with age in men and women: a longitudinal study. Osteoporos Int 2002 Feb;13(2):105-112. [doi: 10.1007/s001980200001] [Medline: 11905520]
- 31. Kanis JA, Borgstrom F, De Laet C, Johansson H, Johnell O, Jonsson B, et al. Assessment of fracture risk. Osteoporos Int 2005 Jun;16(6):581-589. [doi: 10.1007/s00198-004-1780-5] [Medline: 15616758]
- 32. Murphy SL, Xu J, Kochanek KD, Arias E, Tejada-Vera B. Deaths: final data for 2018. Natl Vital Stat Rep 2021 Jan;69(13):1-83. [Medline: <u>33541516</u>]
- Kochanek KD, Murphy SL, Xu J, Arias E. Deaths: final data for 2017. Natl Vital Stat Rep 2019 Jun;68(9):1-77 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>32501199</u>]
- Kristensen MT, Öztürk B, Röck ND, Ingeman A, Palm H, Pedersen AB. Regaining pre-fracture basic mobility status after hip fracture and association with post-discharge mortality and readmission: a nationwide register study in Denmark. Age Ageing 2019 Mar 01;48(2):278-284. [doi: 10.1093/ageing/afy185] [Medline: 30615060]
- 35. Bertram M, Norman R, Kemp L, Vos T. Review of the long-term disability associated with hip fractures. Inj Prev 2011 Dec;17(6):365-370. [doi: 10.1136/ip.2010.029579] [Medline: 21486987]
- Dyer SM, Crotty M, Fairhall N, Magaziner J, Beaupre LA, Cameron ID, Fragility Fracture Network (FFN) Rehabilitation Research Special Interest Group. A critical review of the long-term disability outcomes following hip fracture. BMC Geriatr 2016 Sep 02;16(1):158 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12877-016-0332-0] [Medline: 27590604]
- Tang VL, Sudore R, Cenzer IS, Boscardin WJ, Smith A, Ritchie C, et al. Rates of recovery to pre-fracture function in older persons with hip fracture: an observational study. J Gen Intern Med 2017 Feb;32(2):153-158 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-016-3848-2] [Medline: 27605004]
- Panula J, Pihlajamäki H, Mattila VM, Jaatinen P, Vahlberg T, Aarnio P, et al. Mortality and cause of death in hip fracture patients aged 65 or older: a population-based study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2011 May 20;12:105. [doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-12-105] [Medline: 21599967]
- 39. Katzmarzyk PT, Church TS, Craig CL, Bouchard C. Sitting time and mortality from all causes, cardiovascular disease, and cancer. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2009 May;41(5):998-1005. [doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181930355] [Medline: 19346988]
- 40. Lindahl O, Lindgren AG. Cortical bone in man. II. Variation in tensile strength with age and sex. Acta Orthop Scand 1967;38(2):141-147. [doi: 10.3109/17453676708989628] [Medline: 6033409]
- 41. Lindahl O, Lindgren AG. Cortical bone in man. 1. Variation of the amount and density with age and sex. Acta Orthop Scand 1967;38(2):133-140. [doi: 10.3109/17453676708989627] [Medline: 6033408]
- 42. Ryan TM, Walker A. Trabecular bone structure in the humeral and femoral heads of anthropoid primates. Anat Rec (Hoboken) 2010 Apr;293(4):719-729 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ar.21139] [Medline: 20235327]
- 43. Tian W, Wu J, Tong T, Zhang L, Zhou A, Hu N, et al. Diabetes and risk of post-fragility hip fracture outcomes in elderly patients. Int J Endocrinol 2020 Apr 14;2020:8146196 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2020/8146196] [Medline: 32351563]
- Norris R, Parker M. Diabetes mellitus and hip fracture: a study of 5966 cases. Injury 2011 Nov;42(11):1313-1316. [doi: 10.1016/j.injury.2011.03.021] [Medline: 21489532]
- 45. Kanis JA, Oden A, Johnell O, De Laet C, Jonsson B, Oglesby AK. The components of excess mortality after hip fracture. Bone 2003 May;32(5):468-473. [doi: 10.1016/s8756-3282(03)00061-9] [Medline: 12753862]

- 46. Carson JL, Poses RM, Spence RK, Bonavita G. Severity of anaemia and operative mortality and morbidity. Lancet 1988 Apr 02;331(8588):727-729. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(88)91536-x] [Medline: 2895260]
- 47. Smith GH, Tsang J, Molyneux SG, White TO. The hidden blood loss after hip fracture. Injury 2011 Mar;42(2):133-135. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.injury.2010.02.015</u>] [Medline: <u>20236640</u>]

Abbreviations

EMR: electronic medical record
HR: hazard ratio
ICD-10: International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision
KM: Kaplan-Meier
T1D: type 1 diabetes
T2D: type 2 diabetes

Edited by J Wang; submitted 05.08.21; peer-reviewed by J Walsh; comments to author 01.11.21; revised version received 03.11.21; accepted 02.12.21; published 16.03.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Dimet-Wiley A, Golovko G, Watowich SJ One-Year Postfracture Mortality Rate in Older Adults With Hip Fractures Relative to Other Lower Extremity Fractures: Retrospective Cohort Study JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e32683 URL: https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32683 doi:10.2196/32683 PMID:35293865

©Andrea Dimet-Wiley, George Golovko, Stanley J Watowich. Originally published in JMIR Aging (https://aging.jmir.org), 16.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Identification of Digital Health Priorities for Palliative Care Research: Modified Delphi Study

Amara Callistus Nwosu^{1,2,3}, MBChB, PhD; Tamsin McGlinchey⁴, BA, MA; Justin Sanders^{5,6,7}, MSci, MD; Sarah Stanley², DipHE; Jennifer Palfrey⁸, BSc, BM; Patrick Lubbers⁹, BSc, MSc, PDEng; Laura Chapman², MBChB, MSc; Anne Finucane¹⁰, BSc, MSc, PhD; Stephen Mason⁴, PhD

¹Lancaster Medical School, Lancaster University, Lancaster, United Kingdom

⁷Harvard Medical School, Harvard University, Boston, MA, United States

⁹Netherlands Comprehensive Cancer Organization (IKNL), Utrecht, Netherlands

¹⁰Clinical Psychology, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, United Kingdom

Corresponding Author: Amara Callistus Nwosu, MBChB, PhD Lancaster Medical School Lancaster University Health Innovation One, Sir John Fisher Drive Lancaster, LA1 4YW United Kingdom Phone: 44 1524 594547 Email: <u>a.nwosu@lancaster.ac.uk</u>

Abstract

Background: Developments in digital health have the potential to transform the delivery of health and social care to help citizens manage their health. Currently, there is a lack of consensus about digital health research priorities in palliative care and a lack of theories about how these technologies might improve care outcomes. Therefore, it is important for health care leaders to identify innovations to ensure that an increasingly frail population has appropriate access to palliative care services. Consequently, it is important to articulate research priorities as the first step in determining how finite resources should be allocated to a field saturated with rapidly developing innovation.

Objective: The aim of this study is to identify research priority areas for digital health in palliative care.

Methods: We selected digital health trends, most relevant to palliative care, from a list of emerging trends reported by a leading institute of quantitative futurists. We conducted 2 rounds of the Delphi questionnaire, followed by a consensus meeting and public engagement workshop to establish a final consensus on research priorities for digital technology in palliative care. We used the views of public representatives to gain their perspectives on the agreed priorities.

Results: A total of 103 experts (representing 11 countries) participated in the first Delphi round. Of the 103 experts, 55 (53.3%) participated in the second round. The final consensus meetings were attended by 10.7% (11/103) of the experts. We identified 16 priority areas, which involved many applications of technologies, including care for patients and caregivers, self-management and reporting of diseases, education and training, communication, care coordination, and research methodology. We summarized the priority areas into eight topics: big data, mobile devices, telehealth and telemedicine, virtual reality, artificial intelligence, smart home, biotechnology, and digital legacy.

Conclusions: The priorities identified in this study represent a wide range of important emerging areas in the fields of digital health, personalized medicine, and data science. Human-centered design and robust governance systems should be considered in future research. It is important that the risks of using these technologies in palliative care are properly addressed to ensure that these tools are used meaningfully, wisely, and safely and do not cause unintentional harm.

²Marie Curie Hospice Liverpool, Liverpool, United Kingdom

³Liverpool University Hospitals National Health Service Foundation Trust, Liverpool, United Kingdom

⁴Palliative Care Unit, University of Liverpool, Liverpool, United Kingdom

⁵Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Boston, MA, United States

⁶Ariadne Labs, Brigham and Women's Hospital and Harvard T H Chan School of Public Health, Boston, MA, United States

⁸Princess Alice Hospice, Surrey, United Kingdom

(JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e32075) doi:10.2196/32075

KEYWORDS

palliative care; terminal care; supportive care; quality of life; symptom management; digital health; technology

Introduction

Background

Developments in digital health (describing technologies that use computing platforms, connectivity, software, and sensors for health care and related purposes) have the potential to transform the delivery of health and social care to help citizens manage their own health [1-3]. Currently, there is a lack of consensus about digital health research priorities in palliative care and theories about how these technologies might improve care outcomes. Therefore, it is important to articulate research priorities as the first step in determining how finite resources should be allocated to a field saturated with rapidly developing innovation. Global palliative care needs are expected to increase because of the consequences of an aging population; therefore, it is important for health care leaders to identify innovations to ensure that an increasingly frail population has appropriate access to palliative care services [4]. Research demonstrates that, when used well, digital health initiatives improve health care delivery and access [5-15], and the World Health Organization suggests that digital health should be an integral part of health priorities as a means to improve health on a global scale [16,17]. To date, many barriers have prevented the meaningful use of digital health in palliative care [18], including expenses, interoperability issues, data privacy and security concerns, lack of effectiveness and equity, and the concern that technology will reduce face-to-face consultations between patients and clinicians [19,20].

Strategic forethought (futurism) can help palliative care leaders recognize emerging trends and test, plan, and use these innovations in practice [21]. Consequently, this study aims to identify digital health research priorities and to theorize how innovations in emerging technologies can improve palliative care.

Aim

The aim of this study is to identify research priority areas for technology in palliative care.

Methods

Study Design

We used a Delphi process, informed by the Guidance on Conducting and Reporting Delphi Studies [22] in palliative care, to establish the opinions of palliative care experts. A Delphi process can be used as a consensus-based, forecasting process, enabling anonymous expert contributions to predict phenomena [23,24]. We chose to use the Delphi method because of its potential to achieve consensus in areas of uncertainty [25-28]. We conducted 2 rounds of the Delphi questionnaire, followed by a consensus meeting and public engagement workshop to establish a final consensus on research priorities for digital technology in palliative care. Data were collected between November 2018 and September 2019.

Identification of Technology Trends From the Future Today Institute

We selected technology trends most relevant to palliative care from a list of emerging technology trends reported by the Future Today Institute (FTI) [29]. The FTI is a multi-professional organization that uses data-driven applied research to develop models that forecast risks and opportunities across several disciplines, which are mapped into technology trends. The 2018 trend list included 225 emerging trends, which were stratified by FTI authors into 19 categories (Multimedia Appendix 1).

Selection of Technology Trends for Palliative Care

We developed criteria to select the FTI trends based on recommendations from a UK-based policy report, which reported public and professional views on new types of health care data [30]. We developed the following statement to select FTI trends for inclusion: "Trends should involve analysis or use data generated by a patient, caregiver or healthcare professional with potential use in palliative care." A total of two authors (ACN and TMcG) reviewed all 225 FTI trends. We chose to review all FTI trends (despite their previous categorization) to ensure that no suitable trends, from categories deemed less relevant to palliative care (eg, agricultural technologies, space, and government and technology policy), were overlooked. We included 42.2.% (95/225) of the trends. We then combined and simplified similar trends to reduce the number to 32 (32/225, 14.2%; Figure 1). To confirm the validity of the trends in palliative care, we conducted a focused literature review to identify examples in which these technologies had been used in health care. An Excel (Microsoft Inc) spreadsheet was used to collate the data for reference.







Delphi Questionnaire Development

We developed 32 items for inclusion in the Delphi questionnaire, which reflected the 32 trends identified in the FTI Report (Figure 1). We used Google Forms (Google Inc) [31] to develop the survey. We designed a questionnaire to collect demographic information (geographic location, age, and occupation) and individuals' rating of importance for each item using a 5-point Likert scale (1=low priority to 5=high priority). To ensure that the survey questions were appropriate, we conducted a local prestudy pilot of the questionnaire and supporting materials (Multimedia Appendices 2 and 3).

Participant Recruitment and Consent

We solicited a convenience sample of professionals working in palliative care (including physicians, nurses, social workers, therapists, pharmacists, spiritual care staff, and managers) who were interested in technological innovation. We used professional networks, social media, and email to contact individuals (Multimedia Appendix 4). Consenting participants accessed the study material on the internet to complete an electronic consent form and a first-round Delphi questionnaire.

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32075
```

RenderX

Participants who completed the first round of the questionnaire were invited to participate in the second round.

Ethical Approval

This study was approved by the University of Liverpool Ethics Committee (approval number 3564).

Data Collection and Analysis

Quantitative statistical analyses of participant ratings were performed using the statistical software package SPSS (version 22.0; IBM Corp). We used the IQR to determine the level of agreement on the 5-point scales for each *area* on the questionnaire. The justification for the levels of agreement was based on thresholds previously used in palliative care Delphi studies, which used a 5-point Likert scale to determine agreement (Multimedia Appendix 5) [22,32]. We emailed a summary of the first-round Delphi results to each participant. The email included the following information: (1) a summary of how the participant rated each item in the first Delphi round and (2) a summary of all participants' responses for each item (pooled level of agreement). We provided this information so that participants could consider whether they wished to rank

items differently in the second Delphi round, based on the ranking data generated by other participants.

Round 2 Delphi Questionnaire

We provided the participants with an electronic link to access the second-round Delphi questionnaire. We asked the participants to answer the same questions that were included in the first-round questionnaire. Participants were required to complete the questionnaire within 4 weeks. We analyzed the responses from the second questionnaire by IQR to provide a final list of items according to their level of agreement.

Final Consensus Meeting and Voting

We organized a consensus meeting to agree with the trend list as the final stage of the Delphi process [22]. All participants were invited to attend a meeting at the University of Liverpool, United Kingdom. The participants were divided into 2 groups. We attempted to ensure the groups were similar by allocating individuals according to gender, experience, and occupation. We provided participants with the Delphi results via (1) an oral presentation and (2) a written summary. ACN and TMcG acted as group facilitators, and ACN chaired the meeting. We facilitated the group discussions and voting. Each item was discussed and debated, and a *raised-hand* vote was undertaken within each group to determine whether each item was included or excluded from the final list. After voting, we compared the outcomes between the 2 groups. Items were included if both groups voted for inclusion. Similarly, items were excluded if both groups voted for exclusion. When the groups disagreed (ie, one group voting for inclusion and the other voting for exclusion), we facilitated debate with both groups together, which was followed by rounds of voting until consensus was achieved.

Public Engagement Workshop

Following the consensus meeting, we conducted a public engagement workshop with lay representatives to determine their views on agreed priorities. Volunteer coordinators from the Marie Curie Hospice Liverpool and Liverpool University Hospitals National Health Service Foundation Trust invited palliative care volunteers (by telephone and email).

Results

Round 1 Delphi Questionnaire

Round 1 included 103 participants (Table 1). The median age of participants was 45 (SD 11.2) years. Most participants were women (65/103, 63.1%) and had a clinical background (74/103, 71.9%). The participants represented 11 countries, most commonly the United Kingdom (88/103, 85.4%). Most trend items (25/32, 78%) achieved a median priority rating of 4 or 5 (Multimedia Appendix 6), which suggested that participants considered most items to be important.



Table 1. Demographics of study participants (N=103).

Characteristics	First round (n=103)	Second round (n=55)	Consensus meeting (n=11)
Age (years), median (SD; range)	45 (11.2; 22-74)	44 (11.6; 22-74)	47 (11.5; 29-62)
Gender, n (%)			
Male	38 (36.9)	23 (41.8)	4 (36.3)
Female	65 (63.1)	32 (58.2)	7 (63.7)
Location, n (%)			
United Kingdom	88 (85.4)	47 (85.5)	11 (100)
United States	4 (3.9)	1 (1.8)	0 (0)
Germany	2 (1.9)	2 (3.6)	0 (0)
The Netherlands	2 (1.9)	1 (1.8)	0 (0)
Saudi Arabia	1 (1)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Canada	1 (1)	1 (1.8)	0 (0)
Brazil	1 (1)	1 (1.8)	0 (0)
Italy	1 (1)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Sweden	1 (1)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Argentina	1 (1)	1 (1.8)	0 (0)
Austria	1 (1)	1 (1.8)	0 (0)
Occupation, n (%)			
Clinical (nurse or physician)	74 (71.9)	38 (69.1)	6 (54.5)
Academic	16 (15.6)	11 (20)	4 (36.4)
Health care manager	4 (3.9)	2 (3.6)	1 (9.1)
Layperson	3 (2.9)	3 (5.5)	0 (0)
Allied health professional	2 (1.9)	1 (1.8)	0 (0)
Chaplain	2 (1.9)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Information technology	2 (1.9)	0 (0)	0 (0)

Round 2 Delphi

Of the 103 participants in round 1, a total of 55 (53.3%) of the participants completed the round 2 questionnaire. The median age was 44 (SD 11.6) years, which was similar to that in round 1. More women than men completed the questionnaire (32/55, 58%). The distribution of occupations was similar across both the rounds. Fewer countries (8/11, 73%) were included in the final sample. The final IQR analysis (Multimedia Appendix 6) demonstrated that most items (21/32, 66%) had *low* levels of agreement, with 6% (2/32) and 28% (9/32) of the items achieving *moderate* and *high* levels of agreement, respectively.

Consensus Meeting and Final List of Priorities

A total of 11 people participated in the consensus meeting (11/103, 10.7% of the total participants and 11/55, 20% of the second-round participants). The median age of the participants was 47 (SD 11.5) years, and most of them (7/11, 64%) were women. All participants were based in the United Kingdom and were mostly from clinical (6/11, 55%) or academic backgrounds (4/11, 36%). The debate resulted in agreement, rejection, modification (rewording and combination) of trends, and the addition of a new item, digital legacy (Multimedia Appendix

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32075

RenderX

7). We classified the priorities into eight topic areas: big data, mobile devices, telehealth and telemedicine, virtual reality (VR), artificial intelligence (AI), smart home, biotechnology, and digital legacy (Multimedia Appendix 8).

Public Engagement Event

We conducted a public engagement event at the Marie Curie Hospice Liverpool, United Kingdom, attended by 6 lay representatives, 2 staff members (nurse and physician), and a medical student. We began the meeting with a presentation discussing the importance of studying technology in palliative care. We then presented an overview of the Delphi outcomes, research topic areas, and identified priorities. We allocated attendees into 2 groups, and we (ACN and SS) facilitated 2 separate discussions (each lasting 45 minutes) with each group. Discussion 1 involved a discussion about the priorities from the big data, AI, and biotechnology topic areas. Discussion 2 involved discussion of priorities from telehealth and telemedicine, mobile devices and wearables, smart homes, VR, and digital legacy topic areas. We asked attendees for their views on priorities to determine their opinions on appropriateness and to identify areas that they believed warranted further study or clarification. Further information

about the public engagement meeting is presented in Multimedia Appendix 9.

Our public representatives recommended that future research should (1) ensure a human-centered co-design approach to ensure that technologies are designed according to the needs of individuals and (2) appropriate governance processes should be in place to evaluate the efficacy, effectiveness, and ethical issues of current and future digital health tools and systems.

Discussion

Summary of Main Findings

This is the first study to identify digital health research priorities for palliative care and provide guidance for researchers, funders, and policy makers to consider areas for future research and development. We identified 16 priority areas, which involved many applications of technologies, including care for patients and caregivers, self-management and reporting of diseases, education and training, communication, care coordination, and research methodology. We summarized the priority areas into eight topics: big data, mobile devices, telehealth and telemedicine, VR, AI, smart home, biotechnology, and digital legacy.

Contribution and Strengths of This Paper

Overview

The outcomes of our detailed analysis (involving a modified Delphi process and patient engagement workshop) indicate further digital health research is needed to study how technology can be best used to support palliative care. Our paper is the first priority-setting paper on palliative care digital health and provides a foundation for digital health–focused palliative care research.

Telehealth and Telemedicine

Before the COVID-19 pandemic, researchers highlighted the potential of using telehealth (ie, technology to support remote clinical access) and telemedicine (ie, technology to support remote clinical care delivery) in palliative care. These technologies are increasingly used in palliative care [33,34]; however, many have not been evaluated for use in real-world settings [19,35]. Beyond the pandemic, researchers can consider how these technologies can improve palliative care access (eg, for remote communities and hard-to-reach groups) to support new models of care (eg, telepalliative care clinics). It is also important to consider barriers (eg, equity of access, privacy, and security considerations), facilitators (ease of use and incentives), and use cases (eg, reasons for use) for the adoption of telehealth and telemedicine in palliative care.

Exploring AI

AI is often used as an umbrella term to describe several processes (eg, machine learning, natural language processing, deep learning, and neural networks) [36]. Clinicians and researchers are increasingly using AI to predict survival [37-40], classify pain severity [41,42], identify quality indicators [43,44], and identify serious illness conversations from electronic health care records [45]. However, most of these studies are exploratory

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32075
```

and do not provide recommendations for clinical practice [18]. Therefore, researchers should explore how different AI techniques can support palliative care research and practice considering the ethical issues associated with these methods.

Big Data

Big data describes large amounts of (previously unmanageable) data that can now be processed by modern computer analysis techniques. The opportunities to use routine data to support palliative care decisions for populations and individuals have been reported previously [18,46]. Currently, there is no consensus on how nontraditional sources of big data can be meaningfully used in palliative care. For example, there is the potential to use patient-generated data (eg, wearables) for quality-of-life assessments. Furthermore, open-source genomic databases may provide opportunities to study the relationships between genetics and health to inform how data can be used for disease management. Social media and other forms of web-based data are increasingly used to support public and professional communication and to gain insight into public attitudes toward palliative care [47-50]. Consequently, researchers should identify which data to collect and how both traditional and nontraditional sources of palliative care big data can be best used [18,51,52].

Mobile Devices and Wearables

Many studies have described how mobile devices and wearables can support palliative care (eg, remote monitoring of physical activity and symptoms, delivery of well-being activities, documentation of advance care planning, education access or delivery, and guideline access) [53-57]. The capability of these devices to collect and store data is increasing; therefore, it is important to determine how meaningfully these data can be used [58,59]. Researchers have previously described how patient-reported outcomes can benefit palliative care patients [60-62]; however, further work is needed to explore how this technology can best support patient-reported outcomes collection (and use) in real-world settings [63,64]. It is important to examine how mobile devices are designed to meet the requirements of palliative care users [65]. Furthermore, studies should provide more information on how mobile devices can help patients record their care preferences (eg, advance care planning) [66,67].

VR Shows Great Potential for Palliative Care

VR is a human-computer interface technology that uses visual graphics, sounds, and other sensory inputs to create a web-based computer world [68]. Previous studies have described the potential of using VR to support psychosocial symptoms and well-being; however, most studies are unevaluated, so further research is needed [69-72]. We recognize the potential of VR to support palliative care education [73,74]; however, the consensus group did not identify this as a current priority. Following our study, we recognized that the COVID-19 pandemic has accelerated the use of web-based learning environments for medical education [75], particularly with the potential to use VR for communication skills training [73]. Consequently, it is possible that VR for education would be rated higher as a priority if this study were repeated.

The Smart Home

A smart home describes a living environment in which sensor-based systems and internet-connected devices (the internet of things) are used for remote monitoring and automation of appliances, such as lighting and heating [76]. Previous studies have illustrated how various technologies can support care for people experiencing a decline in their physical function (eg, web-based assistants and supportive robotics), which highlights the wider role these technologies may have in practice [77]. Consequently, future work should explore the usefulness of smart home technologies in supporting physical functions and the legal, privacy, and ethical issues associated with these developments [3,52,66,76-78].

Biotechnology

Biotechnology involves the combination of technologies with living things [79]. Palliative care–related developments include the use of biomarkers to predict survival [80,81], constipation, [82] and delirium [83,84], and the personalization of cancer pain according to genetics [85-87]. Consequently, it is possible to imagine future scenarios where technologies are used for early identification (and prediction) of clinical issues, facilitating personalized treatment for the individual (eg, early identification and management of pathological fractures).

Digital Legacy

A digital legacy is the digital information available about someone after death, such as social media, photos, videos, and gaming profiles [88]. The volume of digital information generated by citizens is increasing, creating new challenges after death [89]. The increasing use of cloud storage and social media contributes to uncertainty in data ownership, which creates difficulties for caregivers in managing the digital legacy of the deceased. Studies have demonstrated that health care professionals can positively support their patients in managing their digital legacy [88,90,91]. However, digital legacy is not routinely discussed in clinical practice, which means that we generally do not know how individuals want their data to be managed after death [92]. Therefore, we believe that researchers should explore how patients and caregivers can be supported to manage their digital legacy after death, with an exploration of the different methods and materials that can be used.

Relation to Previous Work in This Area and Areas of Interest Following the Novel COVID-19 Pandemic

Our study is synergistic with previous work, which has been conducted across topic areas [19,35]. We acknowledge that our study predates the pandemic and it is possible that the priorities we identified may now have shifted. However, we believe that our research findings are valid, as the digital health innovations adopted during the pandemic are in sync with our priority list. (Multimedia Appendix 10 [47,50,93-113]) [34,35]. For example, telehealth was commonly used during the pandemic, with many palliative care services using it to provide remote clinical support [93-105], communication [106], and education [107]. Technologies have been used to maintain connections and to develop communities of palliative care practice [108,109]. VR is used to provide psychological care and symptom management [110,111]. In general, the findings of these studies describe the

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32075

potential benefits of digital health; however, the rapid implementation of these technologies has created a number of challenges (eg, technical issues, data security, and well-being considerations) that require further evaluation [106]. We are encouraged that these palliative care digital health studies, conducted during the pandemic, are within the scope of our identified priorities. Evidence suggests that the pandemic has accelerated the adoption of digital health in palliative care practice (and related research in these areas), rather than shifted to different priorities to the ones we identified. We expect the development and evolution of digital health research areas, which may be new priorities or linked to existing areas; for example, AI-driven data analysis of data from internet of things devices. Consequently, we believe that the COVID-19 pandemic has elevated the importance of digital health, as health organizations use technology to support palliative care after the pandemic.

Palliative Care Digital Health Priorities in Regions Unrepresented in This Study

Although geographic regions are unrepresented in our study (eg, Asia Pacific and Australasian or African regions), studies from these countries are consistent with our outcomes as they describe the emerging importance of palliative care digital health. Australian palliative care providers report digital health priorities that are similar to those identified in our study, with providers wanting innovations in the areas of client health records, telehealth, and personal health tracking [114]. However, digital health priorities are likely to differ between countries owing to geopolitical and socioeconomic drivers. For example, in Sub-Saharan African, digital health is not as established as in other high-income regions [115]. Consequently, Sub-Saharan African stakeholders describe digital health as part of a wider vision in this region to potentially improve data development and support the development of health care services [116,117]. Palliative care is a growing discipline in the Asia Pacific region, and current research describing digital priorities is limited, although it is acknowledged that digital health can play an important role in supporting education and training [118].

Limitations

It is possible that recent developments were not reflected in the priority list owing to the ongoing advancement of health care technologies. For example, the FTI trends list is now in its 2021 version and includes new trends, such as home medical laboratory tests and remote metabolic monitoring. Therefore, it is possible that relevant areas were absent from this analysis. Moreover, a weakness of digital health research is the rapid change associated with technology, which may cause the findings of this study to lose relevance over time.

Our decision to reduce the number of trends from 95 to 32 items has broadened the focus of the list, which means that it is possible that more specific and technical areas were not explored in greater depths (eg, faceprints, voiceprints, and chatbots). It is also possible that our Delphi participants will have different views on the priority of some areas post COVID-19, owing to the observed increase in digital health in practice. It is possible that because of the novel nature of some areas, participants gave more priority to familiar areas and therefore, less priority to

XSL•FO RenderX

unfamiliar areas. Questionnaires were mostly completed by participants from English-speaking countries, meaning that the experience of non-English-speaking populations may not be reflected. Specifically, our outcomes may not represent the Asia Pacific and Australasian or African regions, as we had no responses from these areas. Furthermore, the final priority list may not represent non-UK health care systems, as the consensus meeting was only attended by UK residents. We acknowledge that people from different professional backgrounds (including cultures and settings) may assign different levels of priority to trends because of their experiences, work requirements, and personal beliefs. As most participants were clinically focused, it is possible that the priorities were oriented to clinical utility rather than methodology.

Relevance to Research, Practice, and Policy

Decision makers should ensure that technology is relevant to the needs of palliative care users, as these requirements will influence the design, use, and function of systems [119,120]. For example, health care professionals may generally use technology to access patient data and communicate with other professionals, whereas patients may wish to access their own health data and contact health care services. Further research is needed to develop specific use cases for these scenarios to ensure that the technology can be used meaningfully to achieve the intended outcomes. Furthermore, as the user requirements of people with palliative care needs may differ from those of the general population [121] and because we currently lack resources for widespread implementation of all technologies, it is important that digital health studies provide the data needed to determine best practices and to help identify the barriers and facilitators for adoption.

Researchers should use appropriate methodologies to explore these questions and study associated areas, such as ethical issues, data security, and design. It is important that researchers work with the public, as the comments of the lay representatives in our study (from both the consensus meeting and public engagement workshop) described concerns about the use of personal data. Policy makers should consider issues related to the governance and ethics of current and future digital systems. From a design perspective, we suggest that palliative care professionals collaborate with creative industries (eg, designers, developers, and engineers) to ensure that the designed technologies fulfill the user requirements for specific palliative care use cases.

Conclusions

The priorities identified in this study represent a wide range of important emerging areas in the fields of digital health, personalized medicine, and data science. Human-centered design and robust governance systems should be considered in future research. Transdisciplinary studies using appropriate methodologies are required to further investigate this priority list. It is important that the risks of using these technologies in palliative care are properly addressed to ensure that these tools are used meaningfully, wisely, and safely and do not cause unintentional harm.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by the following funding streams: Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group Research Capability Funding (researcher salary), £20,970 (US \$27,602.80); Wellcome Trust, Public Engagement Grants Scheme (Public Engagement Event Costs), £360 (US \$473.87); and Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group (consensus meeting costs), £807 (US \$1,062.25). The posts of ACN and SS were funded by Marie Curie [122].

Authors' Contributions

Study design was handled by ACN and TMc. ACN and TMc were involved with data collection. ACN, TMc, JS, JP, LC, and SS helped write the paper. Critiquing and reviewing of the final manuscript were conducted by ACN, TMc, SS, LC, JP, AF, PL, JS, and SM.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Future Today Institute 2018 Trends List. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 48 KB - aging_v5i1e32075_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Delphi questionnaire (Google forms). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 865 KB - aging v5i1e32075 app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Technology in Palliative Care study scoping review. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 664 KB - aging_v5i1e32075_app3.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Summary of the networks used to invite palliative care professionals to participate. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 80 KB - aging v5i1e32075 app4.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 5 IQR to be used to guide the level of agreement for Delphi responses. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 75 KB - aging v5i1e32075 app5.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 6 Level of agreement for each *priority area* following both Delphi rounds. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 162 KB - aging_v5i1e32075_app6.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 7 Voting outcomes for consensus meeting. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 106 KB - aging v5i1e32075 app7.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 8 Final list of priorities. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 120 KB - aging_v5i1e32075_app8.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 9 Technology in Palliative Care Public Engagement Event information. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 183 KB - aging v5i1e32075 app9.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 10 Examples of technologies used in palliative care during the COVID-19 pandemic. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 44 KB - aging v5i1e32075 app10.pdf]

References

- 1. Topol E. Preparing the healthcare workforce to deliver the digital future the Topol review: an independent report on behalf of the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. NHS Health Education. 2019. URL: <u>https://topol.hee.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/HEE-Topol-Review-2019.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-03-04]
- 2. The future of healthcare: our vision for digital, data and technology in health and care. Department of Health and Social Care. 2018. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/cp5nrbkc</u> [accessed 2022-03-04]
- 3. Haghi M, Thurow K, Stoll R. Wearable devices in medical internet of things: scientific research and commercially available devices. Healthc Inform Res 2017 Jan;23(1):4-15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4258/hir.2017.23.1.4] [Medline: 28261526]
- 4. Bone AE, Gomes B, Etkind SN, Verne J, Murtagh FE, Evans CJ, et al. What is the impact of population ageing on the future provision of end-of-life care? Population-based projections of place of death. Palliat Med 2018 Feb 10;32(2):329-336 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0269216317734435] [Medline: 29017018]
- Barrett M, Combs V, Su JG, Henderson K, Tuffli M, AIR Louisville Collaborative. AIR Louisville: addressing asthma with technology, crowdsourcing, cross-sector collaboration, and policy. Health Aff (Millwood) 2018 Apr;37(4):525-534. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2017.1315] [Medline: 29608361]
- 6. Morawski K, Ghazinouri R, Krumme A, Lauffenburger JC, Lu Z, Durfee E, et al. Association of a smartphone application with medication adherence and blood pressure control: the MedISAFE-BP randomized clinical trial. JAMA Intern Med 2018 Jun 01;178(6):802-809 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2018.0447] [Medline: 29710289]
- Wild SH, Hanley J, Lewis SC, McKnight JA, McCloughan LB, Padfield PL, et al. Supported telemonitoring and glycemic control in people with type 2 diabetes: the Telescot Diabetes Pragmatic Multicenter randomized controlled trial. PLoS Med 2016 Jul 26;13(7):e1002098. [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002098]
- Koehler F, Koehler K, Prescher S, Kirwan B, Wegscheider K, Vettorazzi E, et al. Mortality and morbidity 1 year after stopping a remote patient management intervention: extended follow-up results from the telemedical interventional management in patients with heart failure II (TIM-HF2) randomised trial. Lancet Digit Health 2020 Jan;2(1):16-24. [doi: 10.1016/s2589-7500(19)30195-5]
- de Jong MJ, van der Meulen-de Jong AE, Romberg-Camps MJ, Becx MC, Maljaars JP, Cilissen M, et al. Telemedicine for management of inflammatory bowel disease (myIBDcoach): a pragmatic, multicentre, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2017 Sep;390(10098):959-968. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(17)31327-2]

- Denis F, Yossi S, Septans A, Charron A, Voog E, Dupuis O, et al. Improving survival in patients treated for a lung cancer using self-evaluated symptoms reported through a web application. Am J Clin Oncol 2017 Oct;40(5):464-469. [doi: 10.1097/COC.00000000000189] [Medline: 25811297]
- 11. Müller KI, Alstadhaug KB, Bekkelund SI. A randomized trial of telemedicine efficacy and safety for nonacute headaches. Neurology 2017 Jul 11;89(2):153-162 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000004085] [Medline: 28615434]
- Rono HK, Bastawrous A, Macleod D, Wanjala E, Di Tanna GL, Weiss HA, et al. Smartphone-based screening for visual impairment in Kenyan school children: a cluster randomised controlled trial. Lancet Global Health 2018 Aug;6(8):924-932. [doi: 10.1016/s2214-109x(18)30244-4]
- Freeman D, Sheaves B, Goodwin GM, Yu L, Nickless A, Harrison PJ, et al. The effects of improving sleep on mental health (OASIS): a randomised controlled trial with mediation analysis. Lancet Psychiatry 2017 Oct;4(10):749-758. [doi: 10.1016/s2215-0366(17)30328-0]
- Kollins SH, DeLoss DJ, Cañadas E, Lutz J, Findling RL, Keefe RS, et al. A novel digital intervention for actively reducing severity of paediatric ADHD (STARS-ADHD): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Digital Health 2020 Apr;2(4):168-178. [doi: 10.1016/s2589-7500(20)30017-0]
- Craig TK, Rus-Calafell M, Ward T, Leff JP, Huckvale M, Howarth E, et al. AVATAR therapy for auditory verbal hallucinations in people with psychosis: a single-blind, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Psychiatry 2018 Jan;5(1):31-40. [doi: <u>10.1016/s2215-0366(17)30427-3</u>]
- 16. Mariano B. Towards a global strategy on digital health. Bull World Health Organ 2020 Apr 01;98(4):231. [doi: 10.2471/blt.20.253955]
- 17. Global strategy on digital health 2020-2025. World Health Organization. 2020. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/</u> handle/10665/344249/9789240020924-eng.pdf [accessed 2022-03-04]
- 18. Nwosu AC, Collins B, Mason S. Big Data analysis to improve care for people living with serious illness: the potential to use new emerging technology in palliative care. Palliat Med 2017 Aug 14;32(1):164-166. [doi: 10.1177/0269216317726250]
- Hancock S, Preston N, Jones H, Gadoud A. Telehealth in palliative care is being described but not evaluated: a systematic review. BMC Palliat Care 2019 Dec 13;18(1):1-15. [doi: 10.1186/s12904-019-0495-5]
- 20. Nwosu AC, Sturgeon B, McGlinchey T, Goodwin CD, Behera A, Mason S, et al. Robotic technology for palliative and supportive care: strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats. Palliat Med 2019 Jun 28;33(8):1106-1113. [doi: 10.1177/0269216319857628]
- 21. Archibald MM, Barnard A. Futurism in nursing: technology, robotics and the fundamentals of care. J Clin Nurs 2018 Jun 06;27(11-12):2473-2480. [doi: 10.1111/jocn.14081] [Medline: 28940657]
- 22. Jünger S, Payne SA, Brine J, Radbruch L, Brearley SG. Guidance on Conducting and REporting DElphi Studies (CREDES) in palliative care: recommendations based on a methodological systematic review. Palliat Med 2017 Feb 13;31(8):684-706. [doi: 10.1177/0269216317690685]
- 23. Rowe G, Wright G. Expert opinions in forecasting: the role of the Delphi technique. In: Principles of Forecasting: A Handbook for Researchers and Practitioners. Boston, MA: Springer; 2001:125-144.
- 24. Ono R, Wedemeyer DJ. Assessing the validity of the Delphi technique. Futures 1994 Apr;26(3):289-304. [doi: 10.1016/0016-3287(94)90016-7]
- 25. Heiko AV. The Delphi technique for futures research. In: The Future of Logistics: Scenarios for 2025. Berlin: Springer Science & Business Media; 2008:21-68.
- 26. Dalkey N, Brown B, Cochran S. The Delphi Method: An Experimental Study of Group Opinion. Santa Monica, CA: Rand Corporation; 1969.
- 27. Avella JR. Delphi panels: research design, procedures, advantages, and challenges. Int J Doctor Stud 2016;11:305-321. [doi: 10.28945/3561]
- 28. Hsu C, Sandford B. The Delphi technique: making sense of consensus. Practical Assess Res Eval 2007;12(10):1-8. [doi: 10.4018/978-1-4666-0074-4.ch011]
- 29. The Future Today Institute. URL: <u>https://futuretodayinstitute.com/</u> [accessed 2022-03-04]
- 30. Our data-driven future in healthcare. The Academy of Medical Sciences. 2018. URL: <u>https://acmedsci.ac.uk/file-download/</u> 74634438 [accessed 2022-03-04]
- 31. Google Forms. URL: <u>https://www.google.co.uk/forms/about/)</u> [accessed 2022-03-04]
- 32. Jünger S, Payne S, Brearley S, Ploenes V, Radbruch L. Consensus building in palliative care: a Europe-wide Delphi study on common understandings and conceptual differences. J Pain Symptom Manag 2012 Aug;44(2):192-205. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2011.09.009]
- Wherton J, Shaw S, Papoutsi C, Seuren L, Greenhalgh T. Guidance on the introduction and use of video consultations during COVID-19: important lessons from qualitative research. BMJ Leader 2020 May 18;4(3):120-123. [doi: 10.1136/leader-2020-000262]
- 34. Etkind SN, Bone AE, Lovell N, Cripps RL, Harding R, Higginson IJ, et al. The role and response of palliative care and hospice services in epidemics and pandemics: a rapid review to inform practice during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Pain Symptom Manag 2020 Jul;60(1):31-40. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2020.03.029]

- Finucane A, O'Donnell H, Lugton J, Gibson-Watt T, Swenson C, Pagliari C. Digital health interventions in palliative care: a systematic meta-review. NPJ Digit Med 2021 Apr 06;4(1):64 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-021-00430-7] [Medline: <u>33824407</u>]
- 36. Chen M, Decary M. Artificial intelligence in healthcare: an essential guide for health leaders. Healthc Manage Forum 2019 Sep 24;33(1):10-18. [doi: 10.1177/0840470419873123]
- 37. Einav L, Finkelstein A, Mullainathan S, Obermeyer Z. Predictive modeling of U.S. health care spending in late life. Science 2018 Jun 29;360(6396):1462-1465. [doi: 10.1126/science.aar5045]
- 38. Makar M, Ghassemi M, Cutler DM, Obermeyer Z. Short-term mortality prediction for elderly patients using medicare claims data. Int J Mach Learn Comput 2015 Jun;5(3):192-197. [doi: <u>10.7763/ijmlc.2015.v5.506</u>]
- 39. Sahni N, Simon G, Arora R. Development and validation of machine learning models for prediction of 1-year mortality utilizing electronic medical record data available at the end of hospitalization in multicondition patients: a proof-of-concept study. J Gen Intern Med 2018 Jan 30;33(6):921-928. [doi: 10.1007/s11606-018-4316-y]
- 40. Avati A, Jung K, Harman S, Downing L, Ng A, Shah NH. Improving palliative care with deep learning. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2018 Dec 12;18(S4):55-64. [doi: 10.1186/s12911-018-0677-8]
- 41. Heintzelman NH, Taylor RJ, Simonsen L, Lustig R, Anderko D, Haythornthwaite JA, et al. Longitudinal analysis of pain in patients with metastatic prostate cancer using natural language processing of medical record text. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2013 Sep 01;20(5):898-905. [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2012-001076]
- 42. Lodhi M, Stifter J, Yao Y, Ansari R, Kee-Nan G, Wilkie D. Predictive modeling for end-of-life pain outcome using electronic health records. Adv Data Min 2015;9165:56-68. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-20910-4_5]
- 43. Lodhi M, Ansari R, Yao Y, Keenan G, Wilkie D, Khokhar A. Predictive modeling for comfortable death outcome using electronic health records. In: Proceedings of the IEEE International Congress on Big Data. 2015 Presented at: IEEE International Congress on Big Data; June 27 - July 2, 2015; New York, USA p. 409-415. [doi: 10.1109/bigdatacongress.2015.67]
- Lindvall C, Lilley EJ, Zupanc SN, Chien I, Udelsman BV, Walling A, et al. Natural language processing to assess end-of-life quality indicators in cancer patients receiving palliative surgery. J Palliat Med 2019 Feb;22(2):183-187. [doi: 10.1089/jpm.2018.0326]
- 45. Chan A, Chien I, Moseley E, Salman S, Bourland SK, Lamas D, et al. Deep learning algorithms to identify documentation of serious illness conversations during intensive care unit admissions. Palliat Med 2018 Nov 14;33(2):187-196. [doi: 10.1177/0269216318810421]
- 46. Tanuseputro P. Delivering care to those in need: improving palliative care using linked data. Palliat Med 2017 Apr 25;31(6):489-491. [doi: 10.1177/0269216317704629]
- 47. Selman LE, Chamberlain C, Sowden R, Chao D, Selman D, Taubert M, et al. Sadness, despair and anger when a patient dies alone from COVID-19: a thematic content analysis of Twitter data from bereaved family members and friends. Palliat Med 2021 May 21;35(7):1267-1276. [doi: 10.1177/02692163211017026]
- 48. Nwosu AC, Debattista M, Rooney C, Mason S. Social media and palliative medicine: a retrospective 2-year analysis of global Twitter data to evaluate the use of technology to communicate about issues at the end of life. BMJ Support Palliat Care 2015 Jun 02;5(2):207-212. [doi: 10.1136/bmjspcare-2014-000701] [Medline: 25183713]
- 49. Oliver DP, Washington K, Gage LA, Demiris G. The promise of secret Facebook groups for active family caregivers of hospice patients. J Palliat Med 2014 Nov;17(11):1199-1200. [doi: 10.1089/jpm.2014.0311]
- Selman LE, Sowden R, Borgstrom E. 'Saying goodbye' during the COVID-19 pandemic: a document analysis of online newspapers with implications for end of life care. Palliat Med 2021 May 21;35(7):1277-1287. [doi: 10.1177/02692163211017023]
- 51. Rajaram A, Morey T, Dosani N, Pou-Prom C, Mamdani M. Palliative care in the twenty-first century: using advanced analytics to uncloak insights from Big Data. J Palliat Med 2019 Feb;22(2):124-125. [doi: 10.1089/jpm.2018.0609]
- 52. Harris J, Cheevers K, Armes J. The emerging role of digital health in monitoring and supporting people living with cancer and the consequences of its treatments. Curr Opin Support Palliat Care 2018;12(3):268-275. [doi: 10.1097/spc.0000000000362]
- 53. Nwosu AC, Mason S. Palliative medicine and smartphones: an opportunity for innovation? BMJ Support Palliat Care 2012 Mar 15;2(1):75-77. [doi: 10.1136/bmjspcare-2011-000151] [Medline: 24653504]
- 54. Bienfait F, Petit M, Pardenaud R, Guineberteau C, Pignon A. Applying m-Health to palliative care: a systematic review on the use of m-Health in monitoring patients with chronic diseases and its transposition in palliative care. Am J Hosp Palliat Care 2020 Jul 27;37(7):549-564. [doi: 10.1177/1049909119885655] [Medline: 31773969]
- 55. Weekly T, Walker N, Beck J, Akers S, Weaver M. A review of apps for calming, relaxation, and mindfulness interventions for pediatric palliative care patients. Children 2018 Jan 26;5(2):16. [doi: 10.3390/children5020016]
- 56. Meghani SH, MacKenzie MA, Morgan B, Kang Y, Wasim A, Sayani S. Clinician-targeted mobile apps in palliative care: a systematic review. J Palliat Med 2017 Oct;20(10):1139-1147. [doi: <u>10.1089/jpm.2017.0070</u>]
- 57. Phongtankuel V, Adelman RD, Reid MC. Mobile health technology and home hospice care: promise and pitfalls. Progress Palliat Care 2018 Apr 26;26(3):137-141. [doi: 10.1080/09699260.2018.1467109]

- 58. Maggi N, Magnoni LD, Ruggiero C, Gazzarata R, Giacomini M. Information technology system including patient generated health data for cancer clinical care and research. Stud Health Technol Inform 2019;261:289-293. [Medline: <u>31156132</u>]
- 59. Sayeed R, Gottlieb D, Mandl KD. SMART Markers: collecting patient-generated health data as a standardized property of health information technology. NPJ Digit Med 2020 Jan 23;3(1):1-8. [doi: <u>10.1038/s41746-020-0218-6</u>]
- 60. Dudgeon D. The impact of measuring patient-reported outcome measures on quality of and access to palliative care. J Palliat Med 2018 Jan;21(S1):76-80. [doi: 10.1089/jpm.2017.0447]
- 61. Johnston B, Flemming K, Narayanasamy MJ, Coole C, Hardy B. Patient reported outcome measures for measuring dignity in palliative and end of life care: a scoping review. BMC Health Serv Res 2017 Aug 22;17(1):1-15. [doi: 10.1186/s12913-017-2450-6]
- 62. Kavalieratos D, Corbelli J, Zhang D, Dionne-Odom JN, Ernecoff NC, Hanmer J, et al. Association between palliative care and patient and caregiver outcomes. J Am Med Assoc 2016 Nov 22;316(20):2104-2114. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.16840]
- 63. Benze G, Nauck F, Alt-Epping B, Gianni G, Bauknecht T, Ettl J, et al. PROutine: a feasibility study assessing surveillance of electronic patient reported outcomes and adherence via smartphone app in advanced cancer. Ann Palliat Med 2019 Apr;8(2):104-111. [doi: 10.21037/apm.2017.07.05]
- 64. Abernethy A, Ahmad A, Zafar S, Wheeler J, Reese J, Lyerly H. Electronic patient-reported data capture as a foundation of rapid learning cancer care. Medical care 2010;48(6 Suppl):32-38. [doi: <u>10.1097/mlr.0b013e3181db53a4</u>]
- 65. Mandel J, Kreda D, Mandl K, Kohane I, Ramoni R. SMART on FHIR: a standards-based, interoperable apps platform for electronic health records. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2016;23(5):899-908. [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocv189]
- 66. Pavic M, Klaas V, Theile G, Kraft J, Tröster G, Guckenberger M. Feasibility and usability aspects of continuous remote monitoring of health status in palliative cancer patients using wearables. Oncology 2020 Jul 23;98(6):386-395 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000501433] [Medline: 31336377]
- 67. Nwosu AC, Quinn C, Samuels J, Mason S, Payne TR. Wearable smartwatch technology to monitor symptoms in advanced illness. BMJ Support Palliat Care 2018 Jun 03;8(2):237 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjspcare-2017-001445] [Medline: 29101119]
- Chirico A, Lucidi F, De Laurentiis M, Milanese C, Napoli A, Giordano A. Virtual reality in health system: beyond entertainment. A mini-review on the efficacy of VR during cancer treatment. J Cell Physiol 2016 Feb 22;231(2):275-287. [doi: <u>10.1002/jcp.25117</u>] [Medline: <u>26238976</u>]
- 69. Johnson T, Bauler L, Vos D, Hifko A, Garg P, Ahmed M, et al. Virtual reality use for symptom management in palliative care: a pilot study to assess user perceptions. J Palliat Med 2020 Sep 01;23(9):1233-1238. [doi: 10.1089/jpm.2019.0411]
- Niki K, Okamoto Y, Maeda I, Mori I, Ishii R, Matsuda Y, et al. A novel palliative care approach using virtual reality for improving various symptoms of terminal cancer patients: a preliminary prospective, multicenter study. J Palliat Med 2019 Jun;22(6):702-707. [doi: 10.1089/jpm.2018.0527]
- 71. Austin P, Lovell M, Siddall P. The efficacy of virtual reality for persistent cancer pain: a call for research. J Pain Symptom Manag 2019 Oct;58(4):11-14. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2019.07.009]
- 72. Hsieh W. Virtual reality video promotes effectiveness in advance care planning. BMC Palliat Care 2020 Aug 16;19(1):1-10. [doi: 10.1186/s12904-020-00634-w]
- 73. Evans L, Taubert M. State of the science: the doll is dead: simulation in palliative care education. BMJ Support Palliat Care 2018 Sep 25;9(2):117-119. [doi: 10.1136/bmjspcare-2018-001595]
- 74. Lee AL, DeBest M, Koeniger-Donohue R, Strowman SR, Mitchell SE. The feasibility and acceptability of using virtual world technology for interprofessional education in palliative care: a mixed methods study. J Interprofess Care 2019 Aug 21;34(4):461-471. [doi: 10.1080/13561820.2019.1643832]
- 75. Clabburn O, Groves KE, Jack B. Virtual learning environment ('Ivy Street') for palliative medicine education: student and facilitator evaluation. BMJ Support Palliat Care 2020 May 27;10(3):318-323. [doi: 10.1136/bmjspcare-2019-002159]
- 76. Liu L, Stroulia E, Nikolaidis I, Miguel-Cruz A, Rios Rincon A. Smart homes and home health monitoring technologies for older adults: a systematic review. Int J Med Inform 2016 Jul;91:44-59. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2016.04.007</u>]
- 77. Pavic M, Klaas V, Theile G, Kraft J, Tröster G, Blum D, et al. Mobile health technologies for continuous monitoring of cancer patients in palliative care aiming to predict health status deterioration: a feasibility study. J Palliat Med 2020 May 01;23(5):678-685. [doi: 10.1089/jpm.2019.0342]
- 78. Pantelopoulos A, Bourbakis N. A survey on wearable sensor-based systems for health monitoring and prognosis. IEEE Trans Syst Man Cybern 2010 Jan;40(1):1-12. [doi: 10.1109/tsmcc.2009.2032660]
- 79. Di Sanzo M, Cipolloni L, Borro M, La Russa R, Santurro A, Scopetti M, et al. Clinical applications of personalized medicine: a new paradigm and challenge. Curr Pharm Biotechnol 2017 Apr 16;18(3):194-203. [doi: 10.2174/1389201018666170224105600]
- Reid VL, McDonald R, Nwosu AC, Mason SR, Probert C, Ellershaw JE, et al. A systematically structured review of biomarkers of dying in cancer patients in the last months of life; an exploration of the biology of dying. PLoS ONE 2017 Apr 6;12(4):e0175123. [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0175123]
- Coyle S, Scott A, Nwosu AC, Latten R, Wilson J, Mayland CR, et al. Collecting biological material from palliative care patients in the last weeks of life: a feasibility study. BMJ Open 2016 Nov 10;6(11):e011763. [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011763]

- 82. Kim J, Lee Y, Kwak M, Jun G, Koh E, Song S, et al. Metabolomics approach to serum biomarker for loperamide-induced constipation in SD rats. Lab Anim Res 2014;30(1):35. [doi: <u>10.5625/lar.2014.30.1.35</u>]
- 83. Amgarth Duff I, Hosie A, Caplan G, Agar M. Toward best practice methods for delirium biomarker studies: an international modified Delphi study. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2020 Mar 20;35(7):737-748. [doi: 10.1002/gps.5292]
- 84. DeMarshall C, Oh E, Kheirkhah R, Sieber F, Zetterberg H, Blennow K, et al. Detection of early-stage Alzheimer's pathology using blood-based autoantibody biomarkers in elderly hip fracture repair patients. PLoS ONE 2019 Nov 15;14(11):e0225178. [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0225178]
- 85. Fladvad T, Klepstad P, Langaas M, Dale O, Kaasa S, Caraceni A. Variability in UDP-glucuronosyltransferase genes and morphine metabolism: observations from a cross-sectional multicenter study in advanced cancer patients with pain. Pharmacogenet Genom 2013;23(3):117-126. [doi: 10.1097/fpc.0b013e32835ce485]
- 86. Barratt D, Bandak B, Klepstad P, Dale O, Kaasa S, Christrup L. Genetic, pathological and physiological determinants of transdermal fentanyl pharmacokinetics in 620 cancer patients of the EPOS study. Pharmacogenet Genom 2014;24(4):185-194. [doi: 10.1097/fpc.0000000000032]
- Klepstad P, Fladvad T, Skorpen F, Bjordal K, Caraceni A, Dale O. Influence from genetic variability on opioid use for cancer pain: a European genetic association study of 2294 cancer pain patients. Pain 2011;152(5):1139-1145. [doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2011.01.040]
- DeSanto-Madeya S, Tjia J, Fitch C, Wachholtz A. Feasibility and acceptability of digital legacy-making: an innovative story-telling intervention for adults with cancer. Am J Hosp Palliat Care 2020 Nov 10;38(7):772-777. [doi: 10.1177/1049909120971569]
- Taubert M, Watts G, Boland J, Radbruch L. Palliative social media. BMJ Support Palliat Care 2014 Mar 01;4(1):13-18. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmjspcare-2013-000584</u>]
- 90. Clabburn O, Knighting K, Jack BA, O'Brien MR. The use of digital legacies with people affected by motor neurone disease for continuing bonds: an interpretative phenomenological analysis study. Palliat Med 2019 Apr 26;33(7):812-822. [doi: 10.1177/0269216319845805]
- 91. Taubert M, Norris J, Edwards S, Snow V, Finlay IG. Talk CPR a technology project to improve communication in do not attempt cardiopulmonary resuscitation decisions in palliative illness. BMC Palliat Care 2018 Oct 19;17(1):1-12. [doi: 10.1186/s12904-018-0370-9]
- 92. Coop H, Marlow C. Do we prepare patients for their digital legacy? A survey of palliative care professionals. Palliat Med 2019 Jan 27;33(1):114-115. [doi: 10.1177/0269216318802748] [Medline: 30260293]
- 93. Calton B, Abedini N, Fratkin M. Telemedicine in the time of coronavirus. J Pain Symptom Manag 2020 Jul;60(1):12-14. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2020.03.019</u>]
- 94. Grewal US, Terauchi S, Beg MS. Telehealth and palliative care for patients with cancer: implications of the COVID-19 pandemic. JMIR Cancer 2020 Nov 24;6(2):e20288. [doi: 10.2196/20288]
- 95. Ritchey KC, Foy A, McArdel E, Gruenewald DA. Reinventing palliative care delivery in the era of COVID-19: how telemedicine can support end of life care. Am J Hosp Palliat Care 2020 Aug 07;37(11):992-997. [doi: 10.1177/1049909120948235]
- 96. Bettini EA. COVID-19 pandemic restrictions and the use of technology for pediatric palliative care in the acute care setting. J Hosp Palliat Nurs 2020 Sep 14;22(6):432-434. [doi: 10.1097/njh.00000000000694]
- 97. Chávarri-Guerra Y, Ramos-López WA, Covarrubias-Gómez A, Sánchez-Román S, Quiroz-Friedman P, Alcocer-Castillejos N, et al. Providing supportive and palliative care using telemedicine for patients with advanced cancer during the COVID-19 pandemic in Mexico. Oncologist 2021 Mar;26(3):512-515 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/onco.13568] [Medline: 33094533]
- Mackey RM, Yeow ME, Christensen AR, Ingram C, Carey EC, Lapid MI. Reconnecting: strategies for supporting isolated older adults during COVID-19 through tele-palliative care. Clin Gerontol 2020 Oct 19;45(1):204-211. [doi: 10.1080/07317115.2020.1830905]
- 99. Harris DA, Archbald-Pannone L, Kaur J, Cattell-Gordon D, Rheuban KS, Ombres RL, et al. Rapid telehealth-centered response to COVID-19 outbreaks in postacute and long-term care facilities. Telemed e-Health 2021 Jan 01;27(1):102-106. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2020.0236]
- 100. Flores S, Abrukin L, Jiang L, Titone L, Firew T, Lee J, et al. Novel use of telepalliative care in a New York City emergency department during the COVID-19 pandemic. The J Emerg Med 2020 Nov;59(5):714-716. [doi: 10.1016/j.jemermed.2020.08.008]
- 101. Lu Y, Xie D, Zhang X, Dong S, Zhang H, Yu B, et al. Management of intractable pain in patients with implanted spinal cord stimulation devices during the COVID-19 pandemic using a remote and wireless programming system. Front Neurosci 2020 Dec 8;14:594696 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnins.2020.594696] [Medline: 33363453]
- 102. Sansom Daly UM, Bradford N. Grappling with the "human" problem hiding behind the technology: telehealth during and beyond COVID - 19. Psycho - Oncol 2020 Aug 13;29(9):1404-1408. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.5462</u>]
- 103. Samara J, Liu W, Kroon W, Harvie B, Hingeley R, Johnston N. Telehealth palliative care needs rounds during a pandemic. J Nurse Practition 2021 Mar;17(3):335-338. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nurpra.2020.12.009</u>]
- 104. Chua IS, Jackson V, Kamdar M. Webside manner during the COVID-19 pandemic: maintaining human connection during virtual visits. J Palliat Med 2020 Nov 01;23(11):1507-1509. [doi: 10.1089/jpm.2020.0298]

- 105. Lally K, Kematick BS, Gorman D, Tulsky J. Rapid conversion of a palliative care outpatient clinic to telehealth. JCO Oncol Pract 2021 Jan;17(1):62-67. [doi: <u>10.1200/op.20.00557</u>]
- 106. Crosby B, Hanchanale S, Stanley S, Nwosu AC. Evaluating the use of video communication technology in a hospital specialist palliative care team during the COVID-19 pandemic. AMRC Open Res 2021 Jan 28;3:5. [doi: 10.12688/amrcopenres.12969.1]
- 107. Lal A, Bell G, Curseen K, Kavalieratos D. Teaching telepalliative care: an elective rotation for medical students during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Palliat Med 2021 Mar 01;24(3):318-319. [doi: <u>10.1089/jpm.2020.0643</u>]
- Abel J, Taubert M. Coronavirus pandemic: compassionate communities and information technology. BMJ Support Palliat Care 2020 Jun 11;10(4):369-371. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmjspcare-2020-002330</u>]
- Mills J, Li C, Fullerton S, Chapman M, Jap J, Sinclair C, et al. Staying connected and informed: online resources and virtual communities of practice supporting palliative care during the novel coronavirus pandemic. Progress Palliat Care 2020 Apr 28;28(4):251-253. [doi: 10.1080/09699260.2020.1759876]
- 110. Niki K, Okamoto Y, Ueda M. Response to Wang et al., virtual reality as a bridge in palliative care during COVID-19 (DOI: 10.1089/jpm.2020.0212). J Palliat Med 2020 Jul 01;23(7):892-894. [doi: 10.1089/jpm.2020.0261]
- 111. Wang SS, Teo WZ, Teo WZ, Chai YW. Virtual reality as a bridge in palliative care during COVID-19. J Palliat Med 2020 Jun 01;23(6):756. [doi: 10.1089/jpm.2020.0212]
- 112. Niki K, Yahara M, Inagaki M, Takahashi N, Watanabe A, Okuda T, et al. Immersive virtual reality reminiscence reduces anxiety in the oldest-old without causing serious side effects: a single-center, pilot, and randomized crossover study. Front Hum Neurosci 2020;14:598161 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2020.598161] [Medline: 33536887]
- 113. Posner G, Maniate J, Dale-Tam J, Endres K, Corral J. Virtual reality videos for training and protocol dissemination during a pandemic. MedEdPublish 2020;9:140. [doi: 10.15694/mep.2020.000140.1]
- 114. Mills J, Fox J, Damarell R, Tieman J, Yates P. Palliative care providers' use of digital health and perspectives on technological innovation: a national study. BMC Palliat Care 2021 Aug 07;20(1):1-10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12904-021-00822-2] [Medline: 34364379]
- 115. Allsop MJ, Powell RA, Namisango E. The state of mHealth development and use by palliative care services in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review of the literature. BMJ Support Palliat Care 2018 Jun 20;8(2):155-163. [doi: 10.1136/bmjspcare-2015-001034] [Medline: 27207721]
- 116. Nkhoma KB, Ebenso B, Akeju D, Adejoh S, Bennett M, Chirenje M, et al. Stakeholder perspectives and requirements to guide the development of digital technology for palliative cancer services: a multi-country, cross-sectional, qualitative study in Nigeria, Uganda and Zimbabwe. BMC Palliat Care 2021 Jan 04;20(1):1-16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12904-020-00694-y] [Medline: 33397321]
- 117. Ngoma M, Mushi B, Morse RS, Ngoma T, Mahuna H, Lambden K, et al. Mpalliative care link: examination of a mobile solution to palliative care coordination among Tanzanian patients with cancer. JCO Global Oncol 2021 Aug(7):1306-1315. [doi: <u>10.1200/go.21.00122</u>]
- 118. Mills J, Kim S, Chan H, Ho M, Montayre J, Liu M, et al. Palliative care education in the Asia Pacific: challenges and progress towards palliative care development. Progress Palliat Care 2021 Oct 06;29(5):251-254. [doi: 10.1080/09699260.2021.1976951]
- 119. Dolan H, Eggett C, Holliday L, Delves S, Parkes D, Sutherland K. Virtual care in end of life and palliative care: a rapid evidence check. J Telemed Telecare 2021 Nov 02;27(10):631-637. [doi: 10.1177/1357633x211046118]
- 120. Disalvo D, Agar M, Caplan G, Murtagh FE, Luckett T, Heneka N, et al. Virtual models of care for people with palliative care needs living in their own home: a systematic meta-review and narrative synthesis. Palliat Med 2021 Jun 25;35(8):1385-1406. [doi: 10.1177/02692163211024451]
- 121. Etkind SN, Bone AE, Gomes B, Lovell N, Evans CJ, Higginson IJ, et al. How many people will need palliative care in 2040? Past trends, future projections and implications for services. BMC Med 2017 May 18;15(1):1-10. [doi: 10.1186/s12916-017-0860-2]
- 122. Marie Curie. URL: https://www.mariecurie.org.uk [accessed 2022-03-04]

Abbreviations

AI: artificial Intelligence FTI: Future Today Institute VR: virtual reality



Edited by J Wang; submitted 14.07.21; peer-reviewed by C Krägeloh, J Mills; comments to author 14.09.21; revised version received 09.11.21; accepted 02.12.21; published 21.03.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Nwosu AC, McGlinchey T, Sanders J, Stanley S, Palfrey J, Lubbers P, Chapman L, Finucane A, Mason S Identification of Digital Health Priorities for Palliative Care Research: Modified Delphi Study JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e32075 URL: https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e32075 doi:10.2196/32075 PMID:35311674

©Amara Callistus Nwosu, Tamsin McGlinchey, Justin Sanders, Sarah Stanley, Jennifer Palfrey, Patrick Lubbers, Laura Chapman, Anne Finucane, Stephen Mason. Originally published in JMIR Aging (https://aging.jmir.org), 21.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Predicting Working Memory in Healthy Older Adults Using Real-Life Language and Social Context Information: A Machine Learning Approach

Andrea Ferrario^{1,2}, PhD; Minxia Luo^{3,4}, PhD; Angelina J Polsinelli⁵, PhD; Suzanne A Moseley⁶, PhD; Matthias R Mehl⁷, Prof Dr; Kristina Yordanova⁸, Dr; Mike Martin^{3,4}, Prof Dr; Burcu Demiray^{3,4}, PhD

¹Chair of Technology Marketing, ETH Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

²Mobiliar Lab for Analytics, ETH Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

³Department of Psychology, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

⁴University Research Priority Program Dynamics of Healthy Aging, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

⁵Department of Neurology, Indiana University School of Medicine, Indianapolis, IN, United States

⁶Department of Psychology, Minnesota Epilepsy Group, St Paul, MN, United States

⁷Department of Psychology, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, United States

⁸Institute of Computer Science, University of Rostock, Rostock, Germany

Corresponding Author:

Andrea Ferrario, PhD Chair of Technology Marketing ETH Zurich Weinbergstrasse 56/58 Zurich, 8092 Switzerland Phone: 41 799282484 Email: <u>aferrario@ethz.ch</u>

Abstract

Background: Language use and social interactions have demonstrated a close relationship with cognitive measures. It is important to improve the understanding of language use and behavioral indicators from social context to study the early prediction of cognitive decline among healthy populations of older adults.

Objective: This study aimed at predicting an important cognitive ability, working memory, of 98 healthy older adults participating in a 4-day-long naturalistic observation study. We used linguistic measures, part-of-speech (POS) tags, and social context information extracted from 7450 real-life audio recordings of their everyday conversations.

Methods: The methods in this study comprise (1) the generation of linguistic measures, representing idea density, vocabulary richness, and grammatical complexity, as well as POS tags with natural language processing (NLP) from the transcripts of real-life conversations and (2) the training of machine learning models to predict working memory using linguistic measures, POS tags, and social context information. We measured working memory using (1) the Keep Track test, (2) the Consonant Updating test, and (3) a composite score based on the Keep Track and Consonant Updating tests. We trained machine learning models using random forest, extreme gradient boosting, and light gradient boosting machine algorithms, implementing repeated cross-validation with different numbers of folds and repeats and recursive feature elimination to avoid overfitting.

Results: For all three prediction routines, models comprising linguistic measures, POS tags, and social context information improved the baseline performance on the validation folds. The best model for the Keep Track prediction routine comprised linguistic measures, POS tags, and social context variables. The best models for prediction of the Consonant Updating score and the composite working memory score comprised POS tags only.

Conclusions: The results suggest that machine learning and NLP may support the prediction of working memory using, in particular, linguistic measures and social context information extracted from the everyday conversations of healthy older adults. Our findings may support the design of an early warning system to be used in longitudinal studies that collects cognitive ability scores and records real-life conversations unobtrusively. This system may support the timely detection of early cognitive decline.

In particular, the use of a privacy-sensitive passive monitoring technology would allow for the design of a program of interventions to enable strategies and treatments to decrease or avoid early cognitive decline.

(JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e28333) doi:10.2196/28333

KEYWORDS

cognitive aging; language complexity; social context; machine learning; natural language processing; Electronically Activated Recorder (EAR); behavioral indicators

Introduction

Cognitive Ability, Its Decline, and Older Adults' Behaviors

Cognitive abilities play a crucial role in the daily functioning of older adults [1]. Although decline in certain cognitive abilities is expected in the course of normal aging, some individuals may go on to experience decline to an extent that is pathological, namely mild cognitive impairment (MCI) or dementia [2,3]. It is argued that subtle changes in older adults' everyday behaviors may occur in the preclinical stage [4]. As such, behavioral indicators may provide an important avenue for detecting cognitive decline in this population. Some studies have started to quantify differences in the everyday activities (eg, medication intake and telephone use) of older adults experiencing normal aging versus those in pathological aging by observing participants and using manual reporting [5,6].

These methods could aid in detecting behavioral changes; however, they are also prone to human error, including recall bias [7]. Thus, the approach of visiting a health care professional for an examination may end up preventing older adults and their caregivers from continuously monitoring and proactively reacting to cognitive decline [8]. In fact, older adults visit health care professionals to receive cognitive examinations, such as cognitive assessment tests, blood tests, and structural imaging [9]. However, this may happen when the cognitive decline has become severe enough to disrupt daily functioning. In these cases, it is often too late for them to receive effective treatments and to make preventive plans with their families [10,11].

The Use of Technology to Predict Early Cognitive Decline in Real Life

To detect cognitive decline at an early stage, some recent studies have considered using technology to collect behavioral data from real-life settings, focusing on cognitively healthy older adults and those who have MCI [8,12].

For example, comparing the behaviors of healthy older adults with those with MCI, Seelye et al [13] collected 1 week of computer mouse movements. Their results showed that older adults with MCI had fewer total mouse moves and longer pauses between movements. In another study, Seelye et al [14] examined driving behaviors observed from a driving sensor and showed that older adults with MCI drove fewer miles and spent less time on the highway per day than those without MCI. To try understanding behavioral variability in normal aging, Austin et al [15] focused on word use in the internet searches of healthy older adults in a 6-month-long study with home-based unobtrusive technology. Their results showed that older adults with higher cognitive abilities used more unique words than older adults with lower cognitive abilities. Therefore, they argued that collecting the terms people use in internet searches may aid in detection of early cognitive decline [15].

The use of technology to collect objective behavioral indicators in real-life settings shows a few advantages with respect to clinical settings. It allows for generating high-frequency data over extended periods of time, offering more data than the assessments performed during appointments with health care professionals. High-frequency data could provide an objective baseline to understand individuals' own norms of behaviors that could be used to detect early cognitive decline [16]. Moreover, collecting behavioral indicators in real-life settings by means of technology empowers older adults and caregivers to monitor and detect cognitive decline, freeing them from the exclusive reliance on examinations by health care professionals. It could also help patients and caregivers to predict early changes in cognitive abilities. This could help reduce stress in caregivers, allowing them to better manage time and perform advanced planning [10]. Low-cost and unobtrusive technology methods have the potential to be applied to large-scale community studies for identifying at-risk populations [17]. However, to leverage the advantages offered by technology in the early detection of cognitive decline it is necessary to identify reliable behavioral indicators of cognitive decline for different populations of older adults (ie, healthy older adults and those with MCI or dementia) that can be effectively and unobtrusively monitored over time.

Linguistic Measures as Behavioral Indicators of Cognitive Decline

Linguistic measures elicited from speech are one type of behavioral indicator that have proved to be useful in predicting cognitive abilities. To this end, studies have considered the use of linguistic measures from transcribed speeches of healthy subjects, or those with different degrees of cognitive impairment in structured clinical assessments [18]. In fact, it has been shown that language markers predict normal and pathological cognitive functioning [19]. Typically, these studies are conducted in the lab, with elicitation of speech through clinical interviews and the recording of cognitive function scores via batteries of validated tests. For example, Fraser et al [20] examined various linguistic features, such as part-of-speech (POS) tags, grammatical vocabulary complexity, richness, and repetitiveness, and showed them to be useful in predicting dementia cases. Furthermore, more and more studies have focused on differences in language use between healthy older adults and those with MCI [19,21], with the aim of facilitating the detection of cognitive decline at an early stage [22].

Although linguistic markers captured from lab-based speech samples have shown promise in detecting cognitive decline, the limitations of these speech samples must be considered. For example, studying language in clinical settings through its elicitation may result in the generation of utterances that are not representative of daily language use. This may lead to a biased understanding of the cognitive abilities of the aging population [23]. Moreover, in clinical settings it is not possible to study the participants' social contexts. These contexts offer opportunities for older adults to engage in cognitively stimulating activities and they are protective of their cognitive abilities [24-26]. Therefore, we argue that research focusing on the early decline of cognitive abilities would benefit from (1) considering everyday life settings where cognitive abilities are expressed and (2) collecting everyday language use and information on the social contexts of healthy older adults by means of unobtrusive monitoring technology.

As a first step in this direction, Polsinelli et al [27] recently tested whether healthy older adults' language in their everyday lives provides information about cognitive processes. In their study, Polsinelli et al assessed the cognitive abilities of healthy older adults with a battery of tests, including the testing of working memory. Working memory refers to the cognitive ability of maintaining input information while simultaneously performing complex tasks with this information, such as reasoning, communication, and learning [28]. It is an important aspect of fluid intelligence for the production of complex language [29].

They sampled real-life ambient audio data from participants' naturally occurring daily lives, transcribed the conversations captured in the ambient audio sound bites, and applied natural language processing (NLP); in their case, they used Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count [30], a very widely used and extensively validated closed vocabulary–based text analysis approach. With respect to protecting the privacy of participants and their bystanders, they followed a set of established procedures that included providing participants an opportunity to censor (ie, delete) selected recordings and alerting conversation partners about the possibility of their conversations being recorded, thereby ensuring passive consent [31,32]. Their results show that higher working memory was associated "with analytic, complex, and specific language" [27].

On the other hand, in examining age effects in language use using verbatim transcripts derived from real-life ambient audio recordings, Luo and colleagues [33,34] recently showed that healthy older adults produced more complex language with familiar conversational partners (eg, spouse, friends, and family) than with strangers, and more complex language in substantive conversations than in small talk. These findings support the assumption that some social contexts offer opportunities for cognitively stimulating activities. Thus, healthy older adults' social contexts may provide useful information for predicting their cognitive abilities over time.

Using Machine Learning and NLP to Predict Healthy Older Adults' Working Memory

Polsinelli et al's [27] and Luo et al's [33,34] studies suggest that the language use and social contexts encoded in everyday

life ambient audio data may support the understanding of healthy older adults' cognitive abilities. This is seen as a first step toward an improved understanding of cognitive decline by means of information collected in everyday life. Therefore, in this paper we explore the possibility of predicting cognitive ability, namely working memory, by combining linguistic measures, including POS tags, and social context information computed from the verbatim transcripts of the sampled everyday conversations of healthy older adults using machine learning and NLP. In this study, the term "healthy older adults" is meant as "cognitively healthy older adults." The conversations were transcribed from the real-life ambient audio data that were recorded unobtrusively using a smartphone app [35]. We consider the data from Polsinelli et al's original study [27], where working memory was measured using two separate tests, namely Keep Track and Consonant Updating [27,36]. Therefore, in this study, we predicted working memory using Keep Track, Consonant Updating, and a combined score (ie, the mean score from Keep Track and Consonant Updating) [27,36]. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study where machine learning and NLP are used to predict selected cognitive abilities of healthy older adults combining different sources of information, such as linguistic measures and social context, extracted from data collected in a naturalistic observation setting.

In future studies, the methods described in this paper could support the design of passive monitoring systems to detect early cognitive decline by recording, ultimately in a privacy-sensitive way (ie, protecting the content and context of the actual "raw" conversations), real-life ambient audio data and using information extracted from the everyday conversations of older adults. Systems with reliable performance may allow for designing intervention programs aimed at coping with early signs of cognitive decline in normal aging as well as at the preclinical stage of Alzheimer disease. This technology and intervention programs would, therefore, empower older adults and caregivers to monitor and detect cognitive decline autonomously. Low-cost and unobtrusive technologies have the potential to be applied to large-scale community studies for identifying at-risk populations [17]. This is in line with the recommendations of the World Health Organization's 2020 report on the global action of "Decade of Healthy Ageing 2020-2030," which states that technologies can empower older people to monitor and understand their own health, enabling greater decision-making about their own lives by tracking their trajectories of healthy aging [37].

Methods

Data Collection

Data used in this study originated within Moseley's [36] and Polsinelli's [38] dissertations and were studied by Polsinelli et al [27]. All participants from the original studies were community-dwelling individuals recruited from the greater Tucson, Arizona, community in the United States. Participants were recruited via community events and via research databases from prior and ongoing studies in the Department of Psychology and the Department of Speech, Language, and Hearing Sciences at the University of Arizona. Participants' living situations

XSL•FO RenderX

included retirement communities; mobile home communities; single-family homes, with and without a live-in partner; and residences in family members' homes, usually children.

All participants were cognitively healthy older adults, with no reported history of neurologic or psychiatric disorders. Polsinelli et al's [27] sample consisted of 102 participants (mean age 75.8 years, SD 5.8; mean years of education 16.5, SD 2.3; 54.9% [n=56] female; 62.7% [n=64] married). During the study, participants underwent cognitive testing in the lab and wore the Electronically Activated Recorder (EAR) app [31,35] that was installed on provided smartphones for 4.5 days of their daily lives. The EAR enables frequent, passive, and unobtrusive sampling of participants' language use in their natural environments via ambient recording [35,39,40]. The EAR was set to record 30-second audio files every 12 minutes (ie, five times per hour), except for a 6-hour overnight period. At the end of the study, after returning the EAR, all participants completed a standard EAR evaluation measure [27,39]. Polsinelli et al [27] collected 31,683 valid (ie, adherent and codable) and waking (ie, nonsleeping) sound files.

Recording raw ambient sounds raises important questions around privacy. Polsinelli et al's study implemented several safeguards to protect the privacy of participants and conversation partners. First, the audio sampling limited the net recording to a small fraction of the day (<5%), keeping the vast majority of conversations private in the first place. Second, the short recordings (ie, 30 seconds) ensured that minimal personal information was captured beyond what was necessary for reliable coding. Third, participants could review their recordings and censor (ie, delete) any they wished to remain private. Fourth, a "warning triangle" was placed visibly on the recording device to alert conversation partners of the possibility of being recorded, in order to ensure passive consent. Finally, the study was covered by a National Institutes of Health Certificate of Confidentiality, which protects the data against forced third-party disclosure. In implementing these procedures, the study followed the established guidelines for passive ambient audio sampling [31,32].

Data Generation: Measuring Working Memory

In this study, we considered working memory as measured by the Keep Track and Consonant Updating tests [36,38]. These are select subtests from Miyake et al [41] that served as the guiding model of working memory and executive functioning more broadly. During the Keep Track test [27,41,42], participants view a list of 15 serially presented words, that is, presented one at a time (eg, banana, golf, uncle, and so on). They are instructed to hold in mind the last word that is presented in predefined categories (eg, fruits, sports, and relatives). Initially, participants keep track of one category, but over duration of the test, they increase to keeping track of four categories, with three trials for each number of categories (eg, three trials of one category, three trials of two categories, and so on) [27]. Participants write down the last word they remembered from each predefined category, before moving on to the next trial.

In the Consonant Updating test [27,36,41], participants are required to say aloud the last four letters in a string of

XSI-FC

consonants appearing on the screen [27]. Each trial in the Consonant Updating test consists of five, seven, nine, or 11 letters in random order, for a total of 108 participant responses. In Polsinelli et al's study [27], 4 participants only completed the Keep Track test; in this work, we include only the 98 participants who completed both tests.

Data Generation: Transcribing and Coding Audio Files

In Polsinelli et al's study [27], a team of research assistants were trained to listen to each 30-second audio file, identify the participant's voice, and transcribe verbatim the spoken utterances only of the participants (ie, they did not transcribe speech from nonparticipants). Out of 31,683 audio files, 7450 contained snippets of conversations. Concurrently, research assistants coded for multiple behavioral and contextual variables. Codes were binary, indicating either presence ("1") or absence ("0") of a variable within the entire 30-second audio file. While audio files were coded for multiple variables, only the 19 variables relevant to this investigation are described here. These 19 variables, called "social context variables" in what follows, fall into the following overarching categories: environment (ie, in public or on the phone), presence or absence of social partners (ie, alone, with one person, or with multiple people), conversation partner (ie, self, pet, significant other, close friend or family member, acquaintance, or stranger), conversation type (ie, small talk, substantive conversation, or gossip), and activity (ie, socializing or entertaining, watching TV, eating or drinking, doing housework, or in transit).

For more detailed information on how EAR sound files are coded for daily behavior, we refer to Kaplan et al's work [43].

NLP of Transcripts: Linguistic Measures and Part-of-Speech Tags

In this study, we included three domains of linguistic measures that have been commonly examined in the cognitive aging literature. The first domain is idea density, also known as proposition density, representing the number of ideas that are expressed [44]. Studies show that idea density declines over age in both normal and pathological aging [44]. We computed idea density with the CPIDR (Computerized Propositional Idea Density Rater) software (version 5) [45]. The second domain is vocabulary richness, indicating usage of unique words. In this study, it was represented by the measure of entropy with the Chao-Shen estimator [46]. We computed vocabulary richness using the "entropy" package from R (The R Foundation) [47]. The third domain is grammatical complexity, indicating how complex the grammatical structures are [34,44]. We computed the scores with the syntactic complexity analyzer [48,49] in R. We focused on the measures of clauses and dependent clauses (ie, number of clauses, number of dependent clauses, mean length clause, and dependent clause ratio).

In this study, the measures computed from the aforementioned domains of linguistic measures are referred to as "linguistic measures." In addition to the linguistic measures, we also considered POS tags of written transcripts. POS tagging is the procedure that assigns a POS tag to each word in a corpus of textual data [50,51]. The POS tag encodes information on the

role of the word and its context. In this study, we used the spaCy library in Python (Python Software Foundation) [52] to retrieve the POS tags for each word in all of the 7450 transcripts. The data set comprises 15 distinct POS tags.

Machine Learning

Feature Generation and Data Aggregation

To perform machine learning modeling and predict individual working memory scores, we aggregated the data set of 7450 transcripts at the participant level, arriving at 98 data points. We proceeded with the aggregation of the features as follows. Sociodemographic features (ie, age, sex, marital status, and education) were not aggregated, as they are constant for each participant. Linguistic measures were aggregated by computing the mean and SD of the distribution of the language measures of all transcripts for each participant. In addition, we concatenated the POS tags extracted from all transcripts of each participant. Finally, social context features (eg, "alone") were aggregated by computing the percentage of transcripts in which the social context was detected (eg, "alone = 1") for each participant. We collected all features resulting from data aggregation in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Target Variables

In this study, we aimed at gathering a foundational understanding of the problem of predicting working memory with information extracted from real-life audio data. Therefore, we considered three distinct machine learning regression problems. First, we predicted the standard scores of the Keep Track test for each participant. Second, we predicted the standard scores of the Consonant Updating test for each participant. Finally, we standardized the mean score of the Keep Track and Consonant Updating tests for each participant. This latter score measured working memory for each participant. The use of standard scores (ie, z scores) for cognitive ability tests is in line with previous studies in the literature [15,27]. However, we remark that we computed standard scores inside the repeated cross-validation routine on each training fold (see

Table 1.	All runs	considered	in	this	study.

Experimental Setting section) to avoid "data leakage," as recommended by Hastie et al [53].

Machine Learning Models

We considered random forest (RF), extreme gradient boosting (XGBoost), and light gradient boosting machine (LightGBM) algorithms [54-57] for this study, using their Python implementations. We chose them due to the possibility to consider different hyperparameter combinations and to explain results using feature importance scores. The RF feature importance score computes the mean (across all trees in the forest) Gini impurity decrease for the feature at hand: the higher the decrease, the higher the feature importance. The XGBoost and LightGBM feature importance scores compute the number of times (in percentages) each feature is used to split the data across all trees of the ensemble. Moreover, different authors considered RF and XGBoost algorithms for the detection of reminiscence from transcripts of conversations of older adults [58,59]. Similarly, Yordanova et al [60] used RF algorithms to detect social behavior from transcripts of daily conversations.

Experimental Setting

Overview

We provide information on the experimental setting by describing the (1) machine learning runs (R, when reported with run number), (2) repeated cross-validation routine, (3) recursive feature elimination (RFE) algorithm, (4) hyperparameters in the cross-validation, and (5) the evaluation metrics of the machine learning models.

Machine Learning Runs

We considered eight different runs of machine learning modeling, each corresponding to a different combination of features. We present them in Table 1, together with the total number of features per run. R0 was considered the baseline for all machine learning runs, as it contained only sociodemographic variables (ie, age, education, marital status, and sex; Multimedia Appendix 1). We also note that sociodemographic variables were considered in all runs of this study as control variables.

Run	Feature combination	Features, n	
R0	Sociodemographic	4	
R1	Sociodemographic + linguistic measures	18	
R2	Sociodemographic + social context	23	
R3	Sociodemographic + POS ^a tags	19	
R4	Sociodemographic + linguistic measures + social context	37	
R5	Sociodemographic + social context + POS tags	38	
R6	Sociodemographic + linguistic measures + POS tags	33	
R7	Sociodemographic + linguistic measures + social context + POS tags	52	

^aPOS: part of speech.

RenderX

As our study dealt with a limited number of data points (ie, n=98), machine learning modeling needed to avoid the use of too many noisy variables and incur overfitting. This would lower reproducibility of results and their applicability to unseen

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e28333

data [61]. Moreover, in the presence of a small number of data points, resampling techniques, such as cross-validation, may show high variance. Therefore, we needed to introduce a routine to select the best-performing machine learning model by doing

the following: (1) using resampling techniques such as cross-validation, (2) reducing the variance of cross-validation, and (3) performing feature selection on all runs to prevent overfitting.

Repeated Cross-validation

Standard k-fold cross-validation divides a data set into k nonoverlapping subsets. Each model is trained on k–1 folds and evaluated on the k-th fold, for a total of k models. Model performance (eg, the mean squared error; see Evaluation Metrics section) is the mean of the performance on all k folds used for the evaluation. With a fixed training data set, k-fold cross-validation depends on the randomness of partitioning the training data set into k-folds [62]. This variance is also called internal variance [63,64]. In particular, in the context of small data sets, Braga-Neto and Dougherty [64] stated that cross-validation error estimation shows high variance, with the effect of making "individual estimates unreliable for small samples."

Repeated k-fold cross-validation is a procedure introduced to reduce the internal variance of k-fold cross-validation routines. The procedure called "repeated k-fold cross-validation with n-repeats" simply repeats k-fold cross-validation N times, with different splits, and averages the model performances across all folds from all runs. It provides a performance evaluation of the model that is more robust than the one computed from a single run of k-fold cross-validation. It has been suggested due to its performance, but at the price of a steep computational cost [65]. We refer to the work by Krstajic et al [66], in particular Algorithm 1, for more details on repeated cross-validation.

Our strategy is to apply repeated cross-validation with 2, 5, and 10 folds, and a number of repeats equal to 50, 20, and 10, respectively. For each k, the number of repeats, N, is chosen to have a total of $2 \times 50 = 5 \times 20 = 10 \times 10 = 100$ validation folds for the evaluation of model performance. These fold values have been considered by Molinaro et al [61] in their comparison of resampling methods. A small number of folds increases the bias of the cross-validation estimator, but it is computationally efficient [67]. A higher number of folds decreases the bias but increases the variance, as the validation sets become smaller.

Recursive Feature Elimination

To avoid overfitting, we performed feature selection by implementing the RFE algorithm [68] embedded in the repeated cross-validation routine. We used it for all runs to select the machine learning model with the best performance on the 100 validation folds, choosing different numbers of features to select. We summarize the algorithm performing repeated cross-validation with RFE in Figure 1.

Figure 1. Repeated cross-validation with the recursive feature elimination (RFE) algorithm.

For each of the N repeats: For each of the k cross-validation splits:
1.1 preprocess features on the training folds
1.2 perform RFE on the training folds
1.3 train model on the training folds, using the RFE features from 1.2
1.4 compute model performance on the validation fold

Hyperparameters in the Repeated Cross-validation

Table 2 summarizes all the hyperparameters tuned in the algorithm in Figure 1.

In particular, we preprocessed POS tags with term frequency–inverse document frequency (TF-IDF) normalization to use them as features in the machine learning modeling routines. We performed no hyperparameter tuning, by considering only 1-grams. The number of hyperparameter combinations depends on the machine learning run. For example, the best RF model for the R0 run emerged from fitting 4500 models. On the other hand, to select the best RF model for the R7 run, we fitted 220,000 models, following the algorithm in Figure 1. We then fit the model corresponding to the combination of hyperparameters from Figure 1 to the whole data set, following Algorithm 1 in Krstajic et al [66].



Ferrario et al

Table 2. Summary of all hyperparameters tuned in the repeated cross-validation with the RFE algorithm.

Algorithm or model	Hyperparameters
RFE ^a algorithm	Number of features to selectNumber of features to reduce at each step
Machine learning model (RF ^b)	Number of treesMaximum tree depth
Machine learning model (XGBoost ^c and LightGBM ^d)	Number of treesMaximum tree depthLearning rate

^aRFE: recursive feature elimination.

^bRF: random forest.

^cXGBoost: extreme gradient boosting.

^dLightGBM: light gradient boosting machine.

Evaluation Metrics

The performance of each model in the repeated cross-validation with the RFE algorithm in Figure 1 was evaluated by computing the mean and SD of the distribution of the mean squared errors (MSEs) on each of the 100 validation folds. The MSE was computed as follows (q denotes the number of data points in the validation fold):

Ethics Consideration

Participants whose data were studied by Polsinelli et al [27] gave permission for their data to be used in future research studies (Institutional Review Board No. 1300000709).

Results

Predicting Keep Track

We used the MSE as the scoring method for the cross-validation. As we implemented the standardization of scores inside the repeated cross-validation routine, it follows that the MSE on the validation folds was computed using unstandardized scores.

×

In Table 3, we present the best models resulting from the repeated cross-validation with the RFE algorithm in Figure 1 for the Keep Track target variable. All results are obtained for 10 folds and 10 repeats. By definition of Polsinelli et al's experimental setting [27], the total number of recalled words during the test was 30. In this study, the mean of the Keep Track scores in the data set was 19 (SD 3.6); the minimum and maximum Keep Track scores were 10 and 27.

Table 3. Performance of the best models for the prediction of the Keep Track target variable. All results were obtained for 10 folds and 10 repeats.

Run	Model	MSE ^a , mean (SD)	Features, n
R0	LightGBM ^b	13.26 (5.33)	4
R1	LightGBM	12.80 (5.43)	10
R2	LightGBM	12.46 (4.85)	5
R3	LightGBM	12.95 (4.98)	10
R4 ^c	LightGBM	11.81 (4.92)	10
R5	LightGBM	12.12 (4.43)	20
R6	LightGBM	12.65 (4.92)	15
R7	LightGBM	12.02 (4.66)	25

^aMSE: mean squared error.

^bLightGBM: light gradient boosting machine.

^cThe best run was R4.

All runs improved performance with respect to the baseline (ie, R0). The best run was R4, which delivered an improvement of 11% in mean MSE on the validation folds with respect to R0. The resulting LightGBM model was an ensemble of 70 trees, with a maximum depth equal to 1. Moreover, the RFE algorithm selected 10 features for this model out of 37 (27%), as per Table 1, deleting 50% of features at each step. As seen at the end of

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e28333
```

RenderX

on the validation folds with respect to the constant model that predicted the Keep Track scores on the validation fold using the mean on the training fold, for each of the 100 splits.

the Results section, the model improved the mean MSE by 13%

Table 4 shows all of the 8 features out of 10 (80%) in the best LightGBM model for R4 with nonzero importance and their type. All three feature types (ie, sociodemographic, linguistic

measure, and social context) were represented in the model. More than half of the features were of the social context type. The mean feature importance was 0.13. The most important features were the percentage of transcripts for which each participant was alone (ie, "alone_prc"), the age of the participant (ie, "age at EAR testing"), the mean of the distribution of the idea density of the transcripts per participant (ie, "mean_Density"), and the SD of the distribution of Chao-Shen–corrected entropies of transcript per participant (ie, "std_ChaoShen").

Table 4. Features, their importance, and type for the best light gradient boosting machine model of R4 for prediction of Keep Track scores.

Rank	Feature ^a	Importance of feature	Type of feature
1	alone_prc	0.34	Social context
2	age at EAR ^b testing	0.16	Sociodemographic
3	mean_Density	0.13	Linguistic measure
4	std_ChaoShen	0.13	Linguistic measure
5	TV_prc	0.10	Social context
6	in_transit_prc	0.07	Social context
7	partner_sign_other_prc	0.04	Social context
8	small_talk_prc	0.03	social context

^aDescriptions of features are listed in Multimedia Appendix 1. ^bEAR: Electronically Activated Recorder.

Predicting Consonant Updating

In Table 5, we present the best models resulting from the repeated cross-validation with the RFE algorithm in Figure 1 for the Consonant Updating prediction task. As opposed to the best RF models in Table 3, in the case of Consonant Updating, the best models in different runs were obtained in the presence of different k values of cross-validation folds.

The mean Consonant Updating score in the data set was 24 (SD 10.6), and the minimum and maximum Consonant Updating scores were 0 and 45, respectively.

Table 5. Performance of the best models for the prediction of the Consonant Updating target variable.

All runs, with the exception of R1, R2, and R4, improved performance with respect to the baseline (ie, R0). The best run was R3, where the LightGBM model delivered an improvement of 14% in mean MSE on the validation folds with respect to R0. The LightGBM model was an ensemble of 30 shallow trees with a depth equal to 1. The RFE algorithm selected only 5 out of the 19 (26%) available features for R3 (Table 1), deleting 10% of the features at each step.

Run	k	Model	MSE ^a , mean (SD)	Features, n
R0	10	LightGBM ^b	113.50 (45.55)	4
R1	5	LightGBM	114.85 (25.64)	18
R2	5	LightGBM	114.00 (26.04)	5
R3 ^c	5	LightGBM	97.26 (21.38)	5
R4	10	LightGBM	114.30 (45.50)	10
R5	5	LightGBM	100.73 (22.93)	5
R6	5	LightGBM	100.07 (22.74)	5
R7	10	XGBoost ^d	101.38 (41.32)	5

^aMSE: mean squared error.

^bLightGBM: light gradient boosting machine.

^cThe best run was R3.

^dXGBoost: extreme gradient boosting.

As seen at the end of the Results section, the best model improved the mean MSE by 15% on the validation folds with respect to the constant model that predicted the Consonant Updating scores on the validation fold using the mean of the scores on the training fold, for each of the 100 splits. Table 6

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e28333
```

RenderX

shows the nonzero feature importance for R3 of the LightGBM model (ie, the best model). All features were POS tags, namely "NUM" (ie, numeral), "INTJ" (ie, interjection), "NOUN," (ie, noun), and "ADP" (ie, adposition).

Rank	Feature	Importance of feature	Type of feature
1	NUM	0.37	Part of speech
2	INTJ	0.23	Part of speech
3	NOUN	0.23	Part of speech
4	ADP	0.17	Part of speech

Table 6. Features, their importance, and type for the best light gradient boosting machine model of R3 for prediction of Consonant Updating scores.

Predicting Working Memory

In Table 7, we present the best models resulting from the repeated cross-validation with the RFE algorithm in Figure 1 for the prediction task of Working Memory. As in the case of Consonant Updating, the best models in different runs were obtained in the presence of different k values of cross-validation folds.

Similar to the prediction of the Consonant Updating scores, all runs, with the exception of R2 and R4, improved performance with respect to the baseline (ie, R0). The best run was R3, where the best XGBoost model delivered an improvement of 20% in mean MSE on the validation folds with respect to R0. The XGBoost model was an ensemble of 30 trees with a depth equal to 1. The RFE algorithm selected only 10 out of the 19 (53%)

available features for R3 (Table 1), deleting 50% of the features at each step. The R5 and R6 best models showed almost equal performance and the same number of features.

As seen at the end of the Results section, the best model improved the mean MSE by 20% on the validation folds with respect to the constant model that predicted the Working Memory scores on the validation fold using the mean scores on the training fold, for each of the 100 splits. In Table 8, we show the 6 features with nonzero feature importance; they are the same as those for the best model predicting Consonant Updating, with the addition of the "PRON" (ie, pronoun) and "PROPN" (ie, proper noun) POS tags. In Table 9, the best models from Tables 3, 5, and 7 are benchmarked with the constant model predicting the mean value of the target variable for all three predictions.

Table 7. Performance of the best models for the prediction of the Working Memory target variable.

Run	k	Model	MSE ^a , mean (SD)	Features, n
R0	5	LightGBM ^b	37.75 (7.94)	4
R1	10	LightGBM	37.70 (14.07)	10
R2	5	LightGBM	37.75 (7.93)	5
R3 ^c	5	XGBoost ^d	30.23 (6.63)	10
R4	5	LightGBM	37.75 (7.93)	5
R5	10	XGBoost	31.49 (13.03)	5
R6	10	LightGBM	31.25 (12.24)	5
R7	5	XGBoost	32.22 (6.77)	5

^aMSE: mean squared error.

^bLightGBM: light gradient boosting machine.

^cThe best run was R3.

^dXGBoost: extreme gradient boosting.

Table 8. Features, their importance, and type for the best extreme gradient boosting model of R3 for the prediction of Working Memory scores.

Rank	Feature	Importance of feature	Type of feature	
1	NUM	0.30	Part of speech	
2	INTJ	0.20	Part of speech	
3	NOUN	0.20	Part of speech	
4	PRON	0.13	Part of speech	
5	ADP	0.10	Part of speech	
6	PROPN	0.07	Part of speech	



Table 9. Benchmarking the best models from Tables 3, 5, and 7 with the constant model predicting the mean value of the target variable for all three predictions.

Prediction	MSE ^a of constant model, mean (SD)	MSE of best model, mean (SD)
Keep Track	13.57 (5.37)	11.81 (4.92)
Consonant Updating	114.77 (45.71)	97.26 (21.38)
Working Memory	37.81 (14.05)	30.23 (6.63)

^aMSE: mean squared error.

Discussion

Summary of the Prediction Tasks

We applied machine learning methodologies to Polsinelli et al's study [27] to predict cognitive ability, namely working memory, by means of the scores on the Keep Track and Consonant Updating tasks and a composite of both (ie, Working Memory). The best model for the Keep Track prediction exercise comprised sociodemographic, linguistic measure, and social context variables. Those for Consonant Updating and Working Memory comprised POS tags only. Our methodologies delivered an improvement of performance with respect to two baseline models (ie, the models using only sociodemographic variables and the models predicting the mean value of the target variable) for all three prediction tasks. All of the best models were gradient boosting ensembles: LightGBM for Keep Track and Consonant Updating, and XGBoost for Working Memory. All ensembles comprised "tree stumps" (ie, trees with only one split), and they made use of a limited number of features.

Feature Analysis for All Prediction Tasks

Considering the prediction of Keep Track scores, the high importance of social context variables in the model was in line with previous studies on the effects of social context on cognitive aging. Specifically, Luo [34] reported that older adults produce more complex language with their significant others than with strangers. Familiarity with significant others may have enabled more diverse conversation topics than talking with strangers. More diverse conversation topics may have offered more opportunities to engage in cognitively stimulating conversations and, thus, protect against cognitive decline. By contrast, a higher occurrence of nonsocial contexts, such as watching TV and being alone, indicated deprived opportunities for engaging in cognitively stimulating activities. Fancourt and Steptoe's [69] study showed that watching TV for more than 3.5 hours per day is related to cognitive decline in older adults. Moreover, social isolation has been shown to be associated with memory decline in old age [70]. The best model for predicting Keep Track scores indicated that the corresponding social context variables are important, in an ensemble of regression trees, in machine learning problems aimed at predicting working memory.

We note that "mean_Density" was the only linguistic measure with high feature importance, together with the SD of the distribution of the Chao-Shen–corrected entropies of transcript per participant (ie, "std_ChaoShen"). This finding is in line with previous literature, where idea density has been commonly used to predict cognitive decline in older adults [18,22].

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e28333
```

RenderX

Considering sociodemographic variables, only the age of the participants (ie, "age at EAR testing") was retrieved by the RFE algorithm for the best model in the Keep Track prediction. It showed a feature importance (ie, 0.16) that was higher than the mean of the distribution. We note that age was a significant variable in the models by Austin et al [15]. Interestingly, neither the sex, the marital status, nor the number of years of education of each of the participants appeared as features in the best models for all three prediction tasks. This is a point of difference with respect to Austin et al's results [15].

Finally, POS tags-via the generation of bag-of-words features using TF-IDF normalization-featured prominently in the prediction of Consonant Updating and Working Memory. This finding may suggest that how older adults structure their sentences (eg, encoded in the use of prepositions, which expresses relations between different concepts [27]) in their daily conversations reveals the integrity of aspects of their working memory. This is different than the prediction of Keep Track scores, where features, such as the counts of different social contexts coded from the transcripts, were also predictive. In particular, in both of the best models for Consonant Updating and Working Memory, the most important POS tag was "NUM" (ie, "numerals"). The POS tags "INTJ," "NOUN," "PRON," "ADP," and "PROPN" (ie, "interjection," "noun," "pronoun," "adposition," and "proper noun," respectively) also appeared in the models. We argue that their presence may indicate that recorded conversations showed a certain degree of variability, as recently detected in studies with the EAR device [25]. We also note that, in particular, interjections (eg, "oh," "uh," "yeah," and "uhm") are commonly used in the spoken language to shift the attention to the speaker or as a back-channel response in conversations.

The original Polsinelli et al study [27] also found that selected POS tags correlated with working memory, using a partial Spearman correlation analysis. Some of these POS tags were also important predictors in this study, including numbers, which featured prominently in two of our three models, and prepositions. In particular, in the case of numerals, the authors found statistically significant Spearman partial correlation (r=0.32, range 0.13-0.48) between working memory measures and the use of numbers in everyday conversations [27]. The replication is encouraging and warrants further investigation. As highlighted in the original Polsinelli et al study, prepositions are a component of more complex language, and it is possible that this complexity is associated with working memory. However, at this time, without clear theoretical reasons for the predictive power of specific POS tags, we are cautious about overspeculating and overinterpreting these data. It will be

important for future work to replicate these findings in an unrelated sample to assist in better understanding these POS markers of working memory. It may be especially interesting to examine the broader context in which certain POS are used; for example, numbers may be used in the context of someone paying bills or doing taxes, which are behaviors likely associated with aspects of cognition, including working memory.

Results from this study provide preliminary evidence to support the prediction of an important cognitive ability, working memory, by (1) collecting behavior from everyday conversations of healthy older adults in a naturalistic setting using the EAR app, (2) generating different families of behavioral features, and (3) using machine learning methodologies, with automated feature selection routines and combining families of behavioral features. In particular, the machine learning methodologies went beyond the correlations between working memory and POS tags from Polsinelli et al's study [27] and showed how different sets of features generated from the transcripts of conversations predict cognition. The approach in this study can be used in everyday settings to collect linguistic measures and social context information using unobtrusive technology.

Using this methodology, it may be possible to design an early warning system for cognitive decline in older adults that uses samples of conversations in daily life. In fact, one of the largest challenges in the current cognitive aging field is early detection for early intervention. This methodology may be one potential tool for addressing this problem through early and continuous monitoring over months or even years.

Continuous monitoring could result in near-immediate notification-to the individual, to the individual's family, or to a health care provider-when there is a suggestion of decline. In this way, an individual would be identified much earlier on in the process of potential decline and could seek a full professional evaluation in a much timelier manner, thereby increasing access to care and intervention. It is also possible that these "alerts" from continuous monitoring could reduce help-seeking delays caused by fear or anxiety of diagnosis [10]. The results could supplement a comprehensive clinical assessment, offering reliable and ecologically valid objective information to support formal diagnosis [12]. The continuous collection of high-frequency data could also serve as useful baseline information for clinicians to understand the rate of cognitive decline or to determine effectiveness of treatments [16].

However, we highlight that older adults and their caregivers may express concern about threats that are potentially posed by sensing technologies and opaque machine learning methodologies in digital health, such as threats on autonomy, privacy, and freedom [71] and their effects on the trustworthiness of these systems [71,72]. Yet, research has shown that it is possible to gain understanding from the users when they are provided with sufficient knowledge about technologies and the possibility of knowledgeable participations [73]. In particular, the EAR method has established protocols to inform participants about study procedures and to enable participants to review their own recordings, providing ethical safeguard measures and a low level of obtrusiveness [31]. The

XSI•FC

EAR method has been used to collect data from older adults, and they rated the method with a low level of obtrusiveness [39]. Taken together, we argue that the EAR method, in combination with machine learning techniques, could be developed as a promising tool for monitoring and detecting cognitive change in older age.

Comparison With Previous Work

Previous research has investigated the relationship between natural speech, language, and cognitive functions in the context of preclinical Alzheimer disease, or other forms of dementia, by means of speech, NLP, and machine learning. The literature abounds in examples of different speech and language measures that intercept different phonetic, syntactic, and semantic aspects of natural speech to predict for different levels of MCI with machine learning classifiers. However, these studies are typically conducted in clinical settings [19,73,74]. While assessment in a clinical setting has clear benefits (eg, increased control and standardization), it is limited in its ability to capture the full ecology of a person's rich social life, including behaviors, language, and interactions in different social contexts and with different social partners.

On the other hand, naturalistic observation studies and the use of passive, mobile monitoring technology may assist in capturing "reliable contextual observations, made in more ecologically valid environments than purely the consulting room" [75] and generate high volumes of data. Polsinelli et al [27] have examined the "association between spontaneous, conversational language use in daily life and higher-order cognitive functioning in older adults without known cognitive impairment." In particular, they found that working memory "was associated with analytic (e.g., more articles and prepositions), complex (e.g., more longer words), and specific (e.g., more numbers) language" [27]. Therefore, one may argue that changes in language (ie, increasing use of more general words such as "thing" instead of a specific object name) could be potential behavioral markers of cognitive decline. Should an individual or his family members observe such changes in language or other changes in cognition (ie, memory decline), this may be the impetus for discussion with a doctor who may decide to refer them for a formal neuropsychological evaluation to determine the presence of cognitive impairment.

In the vein of naturalistic observation, but not interpersonal interactions, others have sought to use at-home technology device usage to monitor cognitive performance in older adults. Austin et al [15] investigated the relationship between internet searches and cognitive ability in older adults in a cross-sectional study. They continuously monitored the terms that 42 cognitively healthy older adults entered in internet search engines over a 6-month period by means of "an unobtrusive home-based assessment platform" [15]. The authors reported a total of 2915 searches and a median of 22 searches per participant over the 6-month period [15]. Their study showed the applicability of continuous unobtrusive home-based monitoring technology to possibly detect cognitive decline in older adults. In fact, their results showed that higher cognitive ability scores were associated with more unique search terms entered per search and that higher cognitive abilities were

associated with the use of more obscure words, as measured with word obscurity, during searches [15]. To compare the behaviors of older adults with and without MCI, Lyons et al [8] examined computer mouse movements and showed that older adults with MCI had fewer total mouse moves and longer pauses between movements. Moreover, Seelye et al [14] examined driving behaviors observed from a driving sensor and showed that older adults with MCI drove fewer miles and spent less time on the highway per day than those without MCI. Finally, Piau et al [17] conducted a literature review of digital biomarker technologies for MCI or early-stage Alzheimer disease detection in home-based settings. Their review showed that technology using embedded passive sensors may support research on early decline of cognitive abilities among large populations.

The use of naturalistic settings allows for the planning of longitudinal studies to detect early symptoms of cognitive decline using machine learning and unobtrusive technology. However, we note that coding is a resource-intensive process, in terms of both the time and cost of human labor, that necessitates trained resources to generate high-quality codes. It becomes infeasible in the presence of high volumes of data. An alternative explored by Yordanova et al [60] is to automate the coding of social behaviors from the transcripts of everyday conversations using machine learning and NLP. However, a fully automated analysis of recorded conversations of older adults would also necessitate of a system to automatically detect speech and generate transcriptions that may also incur errors.

Limitations

This study has several limitations. The data set of transcripts had a limited number of records, as the naturalistic observation study [27] comprised 4 days of data collection and only 98 participants. We argue that the limited sample size affected the variability of contexts that were encoded in the transcripts and, ultimately, the performance of the machine learning models.

This said, we implemented a single cross-validation protocol for model selection and assessment due to the high number of runs, algorithms, and prediction exercises under consideration. However, this procedure may incur bias in reporting performance results [66]. Therefore, in future studies, we will consider using procedures, such as repeated stratified nested cross-validation [66], together with RFE to improve reporting of model performance.

Moreover, our work was based on a single naturalistic observation study. Therefore, future studies are planned to investigate the generalizability of its results.

Additionally, we did not aim at detecting *changes* in cognitive ability, as Polsinelli et al [27] performed cognitive ability tests once, for all participants. In this study, we focused on computing different families of features and combining them in multiple runs of machine learning modeling. Therefore, we considered three algorithms only (ie, RF, XGBoost, and LightGBM) to predict working memory. In future studies, we plan to use more advanced models (eg, neural networks) and to collect higher volumes of data. Finally, as in Polsinelli et al [27], we computed the cognitive ability of working memory using Keep Track and Consonant Updating scores, as well as their composite, called Working Memory. Therefore, in future studies we will consider predicting scores of other tests [76] and focus on other aspects of executive functioning [41].

Conclusions

Results from this study support the use of linguistic measure and social context information from the transcripts of everyday conversations to predict cognitive ability, namely working memory, in healthy older adults. Several studies have assessed the relationship between cognitive abilities and linguistic measures. However this research is somewhat limited by data collection in clinical interview settings. Alternatively, the approach in this study allows us to use everyday settings to collect and process linguistic measures and social context information using unobtrusive technology. This provides preliminary evidence for the design and deployment of early warning systems that use everyday samples of conversations to predict cognitive decline in older adults. The detection of early cognitive decline may allow for the design of intervention programs to assist older adults, their families, and the health care system in coping with cognitive decline.

Acknowledgments

AJP received a 1440 grant from the Mind and Life Institute, which funded the original study. KY received funding from the European Social Fund (project No. ESF/14-BM-A55-0018/19). MRM acknowledges partial support by a grant from the National Institutes of Health (grant U19AG065169).

Authors' Contributions

AF is the corresponding author for this work; he designed and evaluated the machine learning pipelines for this study. ML computed the linguistic measures. BD originally proposed the line of research. AF and ML produced the first draft of the manuscript. AJP, SAM, and MRM were responsible for the original EAR study design and data collection. AJP, SAM, MRM, BD, ML, and MM provided important intellectual inputs on cognitive functions and naturalistic observation studies, which helped refine the machine learning pipelines. KY provided important intellectual inputs on the machine learning pipelines and revised them as well. All authors contributed substantially to revisions of the paper and its finalization.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.



Multimedia Appendix 1 Descriptions of all study variables. [DOCX File, 18 KB - aging_v5i1e28333_app1.docx]

References

- Salthouse T. Consequences of age-related cognitive declines. Annu Rev Psychol 2012;63:201-226 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-120710-100328] [Medline: 21740223]
- Davis M, O Connell T, Johnson S, Cline S, Merikle E, Martenyi F, et al. Estimating Alzheimer's disease progression rates from normal cognition through mild cognitive impairment and stages of dementia. Curr Alzheimer Res 2018;15(8):777-788 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2174/1567205015666180119092427] [Medline: 29357799]
- 3. Seelye A, Mattek N, Sharma N, Riley T, Austin J, Wild K, et al. Weekly observations of online survey metadata obtained through home computer use allow for detection of changes in everyday cognition before transition to mild cognitive impairment. Alzheimers Dement 2018 Feb;14(2):187-194. [doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2017.07.756] [Medline: 29107052]
- Sperling R, Aisen P, Beckett L, Bennett D, Craft S, Fagan A, et al. Toward defining the preclinical stages of Alzheimer's disease: Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement 2011 May;7(3):280-292 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2011.03.003] [Medline: 21514248]
- Schmitter-Edgecombe M, Parsey CM. Assessment of functional change and cognitive correlates in the progression from healthy cognitive aging to dementia. Neuropsychology 2014 Nov;28(6):881-893 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/neu0000109] [Medline: 24933485]
- Jekel K, Damian M, Wattmo C, Hausner L, Bullock R, Connelly PJ, et al. Mild cognitive impairment and deficits in instrumental activities of daily living: A systematic review. Alzheimers Res Ther 2015;7(1):17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13195-015-0099-0] [Medline: 25815063]
- Amariglio RE, Donohue MC, Marshall GA, Rentz DM, Salmon DP, Ferris SH, Alzheimer's Disease Cooperative Study. Tracking early decline in cognitive function in older individuals at risk for Alzheimer disease dementia: The Alzheimer's Disease Cooperative Study Cognitive Function Instrument. JAMA Neurol 2015 Apr;72(4):446-454 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.3375] [Medline: 25706191]
- Lyons BE, Austin D, Seelye A, Petersen J, Yeargers J, Riley T, et al. Pervasive computing technologies to continuously assess Alzheimer's disease progression and intervention efficacy. Front Aging Neurosci 2015;7:102 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2015.00102] [Medline: 26113819]
- Laver K, Cumming R, Dyer S, Agar M, Anstey K, Beattie E, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for dementia in Australia. Med J Aust 2016 Mar 21;204(5):191-193. [doi: <u>10.5694/mja15.01339</u>] [Medline: <u>26985848</u>]
- Livingston G, Sommerlad A, Orgeta V, Costafreda SG, Huntley J, Ames D, et al. Dementia prevention, intervention, and care. Lancet 2017 Dec 16;390(10113):2673-2734. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31363-6</u>] [Medline: <u>28735855</u>]
- Schneider L, Mangialasche F, Andreasen N, Feldman H, Giacobini E, Jones R, et al. Clinical trials and late-stage drug development for Alzheimer's disease: An appraisal from 1984 to 2014. J Intern Med 2014 Mar;275(3):251-283 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/joim.12191] [Medline: 24605808]
- 12. Laske C, Sohrabi HR, Frost SM, López-de-Ipiña K, Garrard P, Buscema M, et al. Innovative diagnostic tools for early detection of Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement 2015 May;11(5):561-578. [doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2014.06.004] [Medline: 25443858]
- Seelye A, Hagler S, Mattek N, Howieson DB, Wild K, Dodge HH, et al. Computer mouse movement patterns: A potential marker of mild cognitive impairment. Alzheimers Dement (Amst) 2015 Dec 01;1(4):472-480 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.dadm.2015.09.006] [Medline: 26878035]
- Seelye A, Mattek N, Sharma N, Witter P, Brenner A, Wild K, et al. Passive assessment of routine driving with unobtrusive sensors: A new approach for identifying and monitoring functional level in normal aging and mild cognitive impairment. J Alzheimers Dis 2017 Aug 14;59(4):1427-1437. [doi: 10.3233/jad-170116]
- 15. Austin J, Hollingshead K, Kaye J. Internet searches and their relationship to cognitive function in older adults: Cross-sectional analysis. J Med Internet Res 2017 Sep 06;19(9):e307 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7671] [Medline: 28877864]
- Dodge HH, Zhu J, Mattek NC, Austin D, Kornfeld J, Kaye JA. Use of high-frequency in-home monitoring data may reduce sample sizes needed in clinical trials. PLoS One 2015;10(9):e0138095 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0138095] [Medline: 26379170]
- Piau A, Wild K, Mattek N, Kaye J. Current state of digital biomarker technologies for real-life, home-based monitoring of cognitive function for mild cognitive impairment to mild Alzheimer disease and implications for clinical care: Systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2019 Aug 30;21(8):e12785 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12785] [Medline: 31471958]
- Clarke N, Foltz P, Garrard P. How to do things with (thousands of) words: Computational approaches to discourse analysis in Alzheimer's disease. Cortex 2020 Aug;129:446-463. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cortex.2020.05.001</u>] [Medline: <u>32622173</u>]
- Asgari M, Kaye J, Dodge H. Predicting mild cognitive impairment from spontaneous spoken utterances. Alzheimers Dement (N Y) 2017 Jun;3(2):219-228 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.trci.2017.01.006] [Medline: 29067328]

- 20. Fraser KC, Meltzer JA, Rudzicz F. Linguistic features identify Alzheimer's disease in narrative speech. J Alzheimers Dis 2016;49(2):407-422. [doi: 10.3233/JAD-150520] [Medline: 26484921]
- Mueller KD, Koscik RL, Hermann BP, Johnson SC, Turkstra LS. Declines in connected language are associated with very early mild cognitive impairment: Results from the Wisconsin Registry for Alzheimer's Prevention. Front Aging Neurosci 2017;9:437 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2017.00437] [Medline: 29375365]
- 22. Eyigoz E, Mathur S, Santamaria M, Cecchi G, Naylor M. Linguistic markers predict onset of Alzheimer's disease.
- EClinicalMedicine 2020 Nov;28:100583 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100583] [Medline: 33294808]
 23. James LE, Schmank CJ, Castro N, Buchanan TW. Tip of the tongue states increase under evaluative observation. J Psycholinguist Res 2018 Feb;47(1):169-178. [doi: 10.1007/s10936-017-9524-9] [Medline: 29019103]
- Stine-Morrow EAL, Payne BR, Roberts BW, Kramer AF, Morrow DG, Payne L, et al. Training versus engagement as paths to cognitive enrichment with aging. Psychol Aging 2014 Dec;29(4):891-906 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0038244] [Medline: 25402337]
- 25. Mehl MR, Robbins ML, Holleran SE. How taking a word for a word can be problematic: Context-dependent linguistic markers of extraversion and neuroticism. J Methods Meas Soc Sci 2013 Feb 15;3(2):30-50. [doi: 10.2458/v3i2.16477]
- 26. Luo M, Robbins ML, Martin M, Demiray B. Real-life language use across different interlocutors: A naturalistic observation study of adults varying in age. Front Psychol 2019;10:1412 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01412] [Medline: 31293477]
- 27. Polsinelli A, Moseley S, Grilli M, Glisky E, Mehl M. Natural, everyday language use provides a window into the integrity of older adults' executive functioning. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2020 Oct 16;75(9):e215-e220. [doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbaa055] [Medline: 32310293]
- 28. Baddeley A. Working memory. Curr Biol 2010 Feb 23;20(4):R136-R140 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2009.12.014] [Medline: 20178752]
- Kemper S, Sumner A. The structure of verbal abilities in young and older adults. Psychol Aging 2001 Jun;16(2):312-322. [Medline: <u>11405318</u>]
- 30. Pennebaker JW, Booth RJ, Boyd RL, Francis MR. Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count: LIWC2015. Austin, TX: Pennebaker Conglomerates; 2015. URL: <u>https://www.LIWC.net</u> [accessed 2022-03-01]
- 31. Mehl MR. The Electronically Activated Recorder (EAR): A method for the naturalistic observation of daily social behavior. Curr Dir Psychol Sci 2017 Apr;26(2):184-190 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0963721416680611] [Medline: 28529411]
- 32. Robbins ML. Practical suggestions for legal and ethical concerns with social environment sampling methods. Soc Psychol Personal Sci 2017 May 05;8(5):573-580. [doi: 10.1177/1948550617699253]
- 33. Luo M, Schneider G, Martin M, Demiray B. Cognitive aging effects on language use in real-life contexts: A naturalistic observation study. In: Proceedings of the 41st Annual Conference of the Cognitive Science Society. 2019 Presented at: 41st Annual Conference of the Cognitive Science Society; July 24-27, 2019; Montreal, QC p. 714-720 URL: <u>https://www.zora.uzh.ch/id/eprint/174992/1/LuoSchneiderMartinDemiray_2019.pdf</u>
- Luo M, Debelak R, Schneider G, Martin M, Demiray B. With a little help from familiar interlocutors: Real-world language use in young and older adults. Aging Ment Health 2021 Dec;25(12):2310-2319. [doi: <u>10.1080/13607863.2020.1822288</u>] [Medline: <u>32981344</u>]
- Mehl MR, Pennebaker JW, Crow DM, Dabbs J, Price JH. The Electronically Activated Recorder (EAR): A device for sampling naturalistic daily activities and conversations. Behav Res Methods Instrum Comput 2001 Nov;33(4):517-523. [Medline: <u>11816455</u>]
- 36. Moseley SA. Cognitive and Psychosocial Associations of Hearing Loss in Older Adults [doctoral dissertation]. Tucson, AZ: The University of Arizona; 2018. URL: <u>https://repository.arizona.edu/handle/10150/628455</u> [accessed 2022-02-18]
- 37. UN Decade of Healthy Ageing (2021-2030). World Health Organization. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/initiatives/</u> <u>decade-of-healthy-ageing</u> [accessed 2022-02-18]
- Polsinelli AJ. Cognitive and Emotional Associations of Mindfulness in Older Adults [doctoral dissertation]. Tucson, AZ: The University of Arizona; 2017. URL: <u>https://repository.arizona.edu/handle/10150/625561</u> [accessed 2022-02-18]
- 39. Mehl MR, Holleran SE. An empirical analysis of the obtrusiveness of and participants' compliance with the Electronically Activated Recorder (EAR). Eur J Psychol Assess 2007 Jan;23(4):248-257. [doi: 10.1027/1015-5759.23.4.248]
- 40. Demiray B, Luo M, Tejeda-Padron A, Mehl M. Sounds of healthy aging: Assessing everyday social and cognitive activity from ecologically sampled ambient audio data. In: Hill P, Allemand M, editors. Personality and Healthy Aging in Adulthood: New Directions and Techniques. Cham, Switzerland: Springer; 2020:111-132.
- 41. Miyake A, Friedman NP, Emerson MJ, Witzki AH, Howerter A, Wager TD. The unity and diversity of executive functions and their contributions to complex "Frontal Lobe" tasks: A latent variable analysis. Cogn Psychol 2000 Aug;41(1):49-100. [doi: 10.1006/cogp.1999.0734] [Medline: 10945922]
- 42. Yntema DB. Keeping track of several things at once. Hum Factors 1963 Feb;5:7-17. [doi: <u>10.1177/001872086300500102</u>] [Medline: <u>14002586</u>]
- 43. Kaplan DM, Rentscher KE, Lim M, Reyes R, Keating D, Romero J, et al. Best practices for Electronically Activated Recorder (EAR) research: A practical guide to coding and processing EAR data. Behav Res Methods 2020 Aug;52(4):1538-1551. [doi: 10.3758/s13428-019-01333-y] [Medline: 31898289]

- Kemper S, Marquis J, Thompson M. Longitudinal change in language production: Effects of aging and dementia on grammatical complexity and propositional content. Psychol Aging 2001 Dec;16(4):600-614. [doi: 10.1037//0882-7974.16.4.600] [Medline: 11766915]
- 45. Brown C, Snodgrass T, Kemper SJ, Herman R, Covington MA. Automatic measurement of propositional idea density from part-of-speech tagging. Behav Res Methods 2008 May;40(2):540-545. [doi: <u>10.3758/brm.40.2.540</u>] [Medline: <u>18522065</u>]
- 46. Moscoso Del Prado Martín F. Vocabulary, grammar, sex, and aging. Cogn Sci 2017 May;41(4):950-975 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/cogs.12367] [Medline: 28523653]
- 47. Hausser J, Strimmer K. Estimation of Entropy, Mutual Information and Related Quantities.: The Comprehensive R Archive Network; 2021 Oct 02. URL: <u>https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/entropy/entropy.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-03-01]
- 48. Ballier N, Gaillat T, Pacquetet E. Prototype de feedback visuel des productions écrites d'apprenants francophones de l'anglais sous Moodle. In: Proceedings of the Environnements Informatiques pour l'Apprentissage Humain. 2019 Presented at: Environnements Informatiques pour l'Apprentissage Humain; June 4, 2019; Paris, France URL: <u>https://hal.univ-rennes2.fr/ hal-02496651</u>
- 49. Lu X. Automatic analysis of syntactic complexity in second language writing. Int J Corpus Linguist 2010 Oct 29;15(4):474-496. [doi: 10.1075/ijcl.15.4.02lu]
- 50. Jurafsky D, Martin JH. Speech and Language Processing. 2nd Edition. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall, Inc; 2014.
- 51. Manning CD, Schütze H. Foundations of Statistical Natural Language Processing. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 1999.
- 52. spaCy. URL: <u>https://spacy.io/</u> [accessed 2022-02-18]
- 53. Hastie T, Tibshirani R, Friedman J. Ensemble learning. In: The Elements of Statistical Learning: Data Mining, Inference, and Prediction. 2nd edition. New York, NY: Springer; 2009:605-624.
- 54. Hastie T, Tibshirani R, Friedman J. Random forests. In: The Elements of Statistical Learning: Data Mining, Inference, and Prediction. 2nd edition. New York, NY: Springer; 2009:587-604.
- 55. Chen T, Guestrin C. XGBoost: A scalable tree boosting system. In: Proceedings of the 22nd ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining. 2016 Presented at: 22nd ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining; August 13-17, 2016; San Francisco, CA p. 785-794. [doi: 10.1145/2939672.2939785]
- 56. Ferrario A, Hämmerli R. On boosting: Theory and applications. SSRN 2019 Jun 11:1-39 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3402687]
- 57. Ke G, Meng Q, Finley T, Wang T, Chen W, Ma W, et al. LightGBM: A highly efficient gradient boosting decision tree. In: Proceedings of Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 30 (NIPS 2017). 2017 Presented at: Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 30 (NIPS 2017); December 4-9, 2017; Long Beach, CA URL: <u>https://proceedings.neurips.cc/paper/2017/hash/6449f44a102fde848669bdd9eb6b76fa-Abstract.html</u>
- Ferrario A, Demiray B, Yordanova K, Luo M, Martin M. Social reminiscence in older adults' everyday conversations: Automated detection using natural language processing and machine learning. J Med Internet Res 2020 Sep 15;22(9):e19133 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19133] [Medline: 32866108]
- Stoev T, Ferrario A, Demiray B, Luo M, Martin M, Yordanova K. Coping with imbalanced data in the automated detection of reminiscence from everyday life conversations of older adults. IEEE Access 2021;9:116540-116551. [doi: 10.1109/access.2021.3106249]
- 60. Yordanova K, Demiray B, Mehl M, Martin M. Automatic detection of everyday social behaviours and environments from verbatim transcripts of daily conversations. In: Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Pervasive Computing and Communications.: IEEE; 2019 Presented at: IEEE International Conference on Pervasive Computing and Communications; March 11-15, 2019; Kyoto, Japan p. 1-10. [doi: 10.1109/percom.2019.8767403]
- 61. Molinaro AM, Simon R, Pfeiffer RM. Prediction error estimation: A comparison of resampling methods. Bioinformatics 2005 Aug 01;21(15):3301-3307. [doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/bti499] [Medline: 15905277]
- 62. Kim J. Estimating classification error rate: Repeated cross-validation, repeated hold-out and bootstrap. Comput Stat Data Anal 2009 Sep;53(11):3735-3745. [doi: 10.1016/j.csda.2009.04.009]
- 63. Efron B, Tibshirani R. Improvements on cross-validation: The 632+ bootstrap method. J Am Stat Assoc 1997 Jun;92(438):548-560. [doi: 10.1080/01621459.1997.10474007]
- 64. Braga-Neto UM, Dougherty ER. Is cross-validation valid for small-sample microarray classification? Bioinformatics 2004 Feb 12;20(3):374-380. [doi: <u>10.1093/bioinformatics/btg419</u>] [Medline: <u>14960464</u>]
- 65. Kohavi R. A study of cross-validation and bootstrap for accuracy estimation and model selection. In: Proceedings of the 14th International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence. USA: Morgan Kaufmann Publishers Inc; 1995 Presented at: 14th International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence; August 20-25, 1995; Montreal, QC p. 1137-1145.
- Krstajic D, Buturovic LJ, Leahy DE, Thomas S. Cross-validation pitfalls when selecting and assessing regression and classification models. J Cheminform 2014 Mar 29;6(1):10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1758-2946-6-10] [Medline: 24678909]
- 67. Kuhn M, Johnson K. Applied Predictive Modeling. New York, NY: Springer Science+Business Media; 2013.
- 68. Guyon I, Weston J, Barnhill S, Vapnik V. Gene selection for cancer classification using support vector machines. Mach Learn 2002;46(1):389-422. [doi: 10.1023/a:1012487302797]

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e28333
```

- 69. Fancourt D, Steptoe A. Television viewing and cognitive decline in older age: Findings from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. Sci Rep 2019 Feb 28;9(1):2851 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-39354-4] [Medline: 30820029]
- 70. Read S, Comas-Herrera A, Grundy E. Social isolation and memory decline in later-life. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2020 Jan 14;75(2):367-376 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbz152] [Medline: 31781769]
- Ferrario A, Loi M, Viganò E. In AI we trust incrementally: A multi-layer model of trust to analyze human-artificial intelligence interactions. Philos Technol 2019 Oct 23;33(3):523-539. [doi: <u>10.1007/s13347-019-00378-3</u>]
- 72. Adjekum A, Blasimme A, Vayena E. Elements of trust in digital health systems: Scoping review. J Med Internet Res 2018 Dec 13;20(12):e11254. [doi: 10.2196/11254] [Medline: 30545807]
- 73. Dodge HH, Mattek N, Gregor M, Bowman M, Seelye A, Ybarra O, et al. Social markers of mild cognitive impairment: Proportion of word counts in free conversational speech. Curr Alzheimer Res 2015;12(6):513-519 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2174/1567205012666150530201917] [Medline: 26027814]
- 74. Roark B, Mitchell M, Hosom J, Hollingshead K, Kaye J. Spoken language derived measures for detecting mild cognitive impairment. IEEE Trans Audio Speech Lang Process 2011 Sep 01;19(7):2081-2090. [doi: <u>10.1109/TASL.2011.2112351</u>] [Medline: <u>22199464</u>]
- 75. Manchester D, Priestley N, Jackson H. The assessment of executive functions: Coming out of the office. Brain Inj 2004 Nov;18(11):1067-1081. [doi: 10.1080/02699050410001672387] [Medline: 15545205]
- 76. Wechsler D. WMS-III: Wechsler Memory Scale: Administration and Scoring Manual. 3rd edition. San Antonio, TX: Psychological Corporation; 1997.

Abbreviations

CPIDR: Computerized Propositional Idea Density Rater
EAR: Electronically Activated Recorder
LightGBM: light gradient boosting machine
MCI: mild cognitive impairment
MSE: mean squared error
NLP: natural language processing
POS: part of speech
R: run (when reported with run number)
RF: random forest
RFE: recursive feature elimination
TF-IDF: term frequency–inverse document frequency
XGBoost: extreme gradient boosting

Edited by J Wang; submitted 01.03.21; peer-reviewed by S Santini, E Larson, K Fraser, A Alaeddini; comments to author 22.03.21; revised version received 16.05.21; accepted 09.01.22; published 08.03.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Ferrario A, Luo M, Polsinelli AJ, Moseley SA, Mehl MR, Yordanova K, Martin M, Demiray B Predicting Working Memory in Healthy Older Adults Using Real-Life Language and Social Context Information: A Machine Learning Approach JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e28333 URL: <u>https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e28333</u> doi:<u>10.2196/28333</u> PMID:<u>35258457</u>

©Andrea Ferrario, Minxia Luo, Angelina J Polsinelli, Suzanne A Moseley, Matthias R Mehl, Kristina Yordanova, Mike Martin, Burcu Demiray. Originally published in JMIR Aging (https://aging.jmir.org), 08.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.
Exploring Barriers to and Enablers of the Adoption of Information and Communication Technology for the Care of Older Adults With Chronic Diseases: Scoping Review

Sojib Bin Zaman¹, MBBS, MSc; Raihan Kabir Khan², MBBS, MPH, PhD; Roger G Evans^{3,4}, BSc (Hons), PhD; Amanda G Thrift¹, BSc (Hons), PhD; Ralph Maddison⁵, BHSc, MSc (Hons), PhD; Sheikh Mohammed Shariful Islam⁵, MBBS, MPH, PhD

- ⁴Department of Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, Nursing and Health Sciences, Monash University, Melbourne, Australia
- ⁵Institute for Physical Activity and Nutrition, School of Exercise & Nutrition Sciences, Deakin University, Geelong, Australia

Corresponding Author:

Sojib Bin Zaman, MBBS, MSc Department of Medicine School of Clinical Sciences at Monash Health Monash University 27-31 Wright Street, Clayton, VIC Melbourne, 3168 Australia Phone: 61 414026891 Email: sojib.zaman@monash.edu

Abstract

Background: Information and communication technology (ICT) offers considerable potential for supporting older adults in managing their health, including chronic diseases. However, there are mixed opinions about the benefits and effectiveness of ICT interventions for older adults with chronic diseases.

Objective: We aim to map the use of ICT interventions in health care and identified barriers to and enablers of its use among older adults with chronic disease.

Methods: A scoping review was conducted using 5 databases (Ovid MEDLINE, Embase, Scopus, PsycINFO, and ProQuest) to identify eligible articles from January 2000 to July 2020. Publications incorporating the use of ICT interventions, otherwise known as eHealth, such as mobile health, telehealth and telemedicine, decision support systems, electronic health records, and remote monitoring in people aged \geq 55 years with chronic diseases were included. We conducted a *strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats* framework analysis to explore the implied enablers of and barriers to the use of ICT interventions.

Results: Of the 1149 identified articles, 31 (2.7%; n=4185 participants) met the inclusion criteria. Of the 31 articles, 5 (16%) mentioned the use of various eHealth interventions. A range of technologies was reported, including mobile health (8/31, 26%), telehealth (7/31, 23%), electronic health record (2/31, 6%), and mixed ICT interventions (14/31, 45%). Various chronic diseases affecting older adults were identified, including congestive heart failure (9/31, 29%), diabetes (7/31, 23%), chronic respiratory disease (6/31, 19%), and mental health disorders (8/31, 26%). ICT interventions were all designed to help people self-manage chronic diseases and demonstrated positive effects. However, patient-related and health care provider–related challenges, in integrating ICT interventions in routine practice, were identified. Barriers to using ICT interventions in older adults included knowledge gaps, a lack of willingness to adopt new skills, and reluctance to use technologies. Implementation challenges related to ICT interventions include their nonpharmacological nature, provision of health education, encouragement for continued physical activity, and maintenance of a healthy diet. Participants reported that the use of ICT was a fun and effective way of increasing their motivation and supporting self-management tasks. It gave them reassurance and peace of mind by promoting a sense of security and reducing anxiety.

¹Department of Medicine, School of Clinical Sciences at Monash Health, Monash University, Melbourne, Australia

²Department of Health Sciences, James Madison University, Harrisonburg, VA, United States

³Cardiovascular Disease Program, Biomedicine Discovery Institute, Monash University, Melbourne, Australia

Conclusions: ICT interventions have the potential to support the care of older adults with chronic diseases. However, they have not been effectively integrated with routine health care. There is a need to improve awareness and education about ICT interventions among those who could benefit from them, including older adults, caregivers, and health care providers. More sustainable funding is required to promote the adoption of ICT interventions. We recommend involving clinicians and caregivers at the time of designing ICT interventions.

(JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e25251) doi:10.2196/25251

KEYWORDS

older adults; gerontechnology; usability challenges; chronic disease; information technology; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

Chronic diseases represent a significant public health challenge worldwide and are the predominant cause of death among older adults [1]. Older adults are also vulnerable to occupational injuries arising from the effects of chemical, physical, and biological exposure in the workplace. In 2016, approximately 70% of deaths and 40% of disability-adjusted life years because of occupational injuries occurred in persons aged \geq 55 years [2]. The burden of chronic diseases such as cardiovascular diseases (CVDs), diabetes, neurological disorders, and musculoskeletal disorders falls heavily on older adults [3]. The population aged ≥60 years is expected to increase to 2 billion by 2050 worldwide [4]. Consequently, the global burden of chronic diseases among older adults is anticipated to rise [5,6]. Given the increasing prevalence of aging and chronic diseases, it is essential to focus on health care innovation to improve personal health services such as self-management. Self-management is based on the concept that people can learn to manage their health using their skills and resources and thus become less dependent on external agents [7].

Information and communication technology (ICT) has been used in several settings to help individuals diagnose, treat, and manage chronic diseases better [8]. ICT interventions in health care, which we define herein as eHealth, have been shown to be cost-effective for monitoring and controlling congestive heart failure, stroke, chronic obstructive pulmonary disorder (COPD), diabetes, hypertension, asthma, dementia, and depression [9-13]. ICT interventions have also been used to support caregivers [14]. For example, mobile health (mHealth) has the potential to reduce the caregiver's work burden by supporting the monitoring of medication use and providing significant interaction with older adults, thus minimizing the need for hospitalization [15]. Hence, ICT interventions may provide a solution to some of the challenges of aging and chronic diseases. However, there is conflicting evidence regarding the effectiveness of using ICT interventions among older adults with chronic diseases. Some positive outcomes have been identified for simple telephone interventions [16], which in some cases generated similar outcomes to more complex technologies [17-19]. As per suggestions made by other authors, there are opportunities to explore and compare perceptions among direct service providers, older adults living with chronic diseases, and caregivers about the challenges of various types of ICT interventions in both high- and low-income countries [20-22]. Therefore, there is a strong impetus for exploring the

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e25251
```

RenderX

efficacy of ICT interventions and how this effectiveness differs in various settings.

The current high use of ICT among young people shows that ICT could be a future intervention model in health care, enhancing the number of people in need who are reached [23]. However, the approach of older adults to internet and health technology differs from that of younger people. Older adults may have lower rates of computer use and health-related internet use than younger adults [24]. Indeed, Heart et al [25] found that older adults require some skills to adopt the use of ICT interventions. Older adults with chronic diseases have also been reported to face numerous challenges such as altered cognition, visual and hearing difficulties, lack of trust, and privacy concerns as they encounter technology [26,27]. Without adopting these skills and addressing barriers, older adults might not receive the optimal benefits of ICT interventions in routine care. Hence, there is a critical need to better understand and map the barriers associated with the use of ICT interventions among older adults with chronic diseases to maximize the future uptake of ICT interventions and support personalized health care [28]. It is also essential to identify enablers of the use of ICT interventions so as to facilitate the design of mitigating strategies to overcome the barriers to use. Most ICT interventions described in the literature have targeted children, adolescents, or younger adults. We are not aware of any previous systematic or scoping review of the enablers of and barriers to the adoption of ICT interventions for supporting older adults with chronic diseases.

Objective

In this review, we aim to identify (1) the available ICT interventions that have been used for managing older adults with chronic diseases and (2) the barriers to and enablers of using ICT interventions among older adults with chronic diseases.

Methods

Design

This scoping review was conducted using the PRISMA-ScR (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis Extension for Scoping Reviews) guidelines [29] and adopting the Arksey and O'Malley [30] framework. This framework outlines five stages for completing a scoping review: (1) identifying the research question; (2) identifying relevant published reports; (3) publication selection; (4) charting the data; and (5) collating, summarizing, and reporting the results

[30], all of which have been followed in the conduct of this review.

Database Selection and Search Strategy

A literature search was performed using 4 databases: Ovid MEDLINE, Embase, Scopus, and PsycINFO. We also used the ProQuest database to include eligible papers and proceedings published in association with computer science and technology conferences. We included articles and conference papers published from January 2000 to July 2020, which had full text in English and were peer reviewed. We selected the time frame of the past 2 decades to identify recent work undertaken on ICT interventions among older adults with chronic diseases. The population of older adults with chronic diseases could benefit from targeted health education interventions. We defined older adults as those \geq aged 55 years [31], so only studies with this definition were included. The search strategies were drafted through team discussions and checked and revised by an experienced librarian. We used the following search terms: information and communication technology or mHealth or mobile health or telehealth or eHealth or remote monitoring or clinical decision support system or mobile phone technology or electronic health record and arthritis or asthma or back pain or carcinoma or cardiovascular disease or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease or diabetes or mental health or non-communicable diseases or chronic diseases and ageing or elderly or older adults or 55+ age group and barriers or enablers or challenges or opportunities or benefits or threats. We included eight major groups of chronic diseases in the review: arthritis, asthma, back pain, cancer, CVDs, COPD, diabetes, and mental health conditions. Multimedia Appendix 1 contains the search strategies and Boolean expressions for each database.

A total of 2 reviewers (SBZ and RKK) screened the titles and abstracts of the selected articles and identified duplicates. In cases of conflicting opinions regarding the eligibility of specific articles, the reviewers discussed their views with a third reviewer (SMSI) to reach a consensus. If inclusion was unclear from the title, the abstract was screened. Similarly, if inclusion was unclear from the abstract, the reviewer read the full text. We included original articles, all types of reviews, and conference papers (Table 1) for this scoping review. Once we identified suitable articles, we also looked for qualitative data included in the analysis. Here, we particularly looked for specific information related to barriers, enablers, and uses of ICT for supporting the care of older adults with chronic disease.

ICT Types and End Users

Our definition of ICT interventions in health care, otherwise known as eHealth, includes the following: mHealth, electronic health records (EHRs), clinical decision support systems (CDSSs), telehealth and telemedicine, virtual reality in health care, and information technology systems used in health care settings. mHealth includes the use of mobile phones, mobile apps, PDAs, and PDA phones (eg, smartphones and handheld and ultraportable computers such as tablet devices) [11]. Telemedicine and telehealth are considered subdomains of eHealth and comprise communication networks to deliver health care interventions from one geographical location to another

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e25251
```

[32]. A remote monitoring system is defined as a subset of mHealth and telemedicine, which uses sensors to generate patient data.

We use the following ICT terminology in this paper:

- ICT device: refers to hardware only
- ICT intervention: refers to a specific program of research or implementation of ICT (eg, computer, mobile phone or tablet apps, and telehealth)

We considered older adults living with chronic diseases, their caregivers or family members, and health care providers as end users of ICT interventions.

Data Extraction and Synthesis

SBZ, RK, and SMSI developed a data extraction form based on the aims of this review. SBZ and RK extracted data on the article title, names of first authors, publication year, study types or methods, setting, sample size, findings or recommendations, and expected or experienced barriers for all selected articles. Outcomes related to the use of ICT interventions were presented as *positive*, *no difference* or *negative* based on the conclusion reported in the included articles. No negative or neutral (no difference) outcomes were identified. In the case of qualitative data, factors related to barriers and enablers were coded in the data extraction form according to themes that emerged from the studies.

Second, we described and identified various ICT interventions-mHealth, EHR and CDSS, telemedicine, and remote monitoring-that were used for older adults with chronic diseases. Third, we reviewed articles to identify challenges in using ICT interventions among older adults with chronic diseases. For example, factors such as lack of motivation, comorbidities, poor adherence to treatment following ICT interventions, and absence of prior experience in the operation of ICT devices for older adults were considered as challenges. Issues related to costs of implementation, infrastructure, data security, and delays in making a decision were considered in the implementation category. Finally, we conducted a strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats (SWOT) [33] analysis to explore the enablers of and barriers to the use of ICT interventions among older adults with chronic diseases. We used a codebook for the domains of strength, weakness, opportunity, and threat to report a descriptive analysis. Before this qualitative analysis, strategies for data coding were identified. SBZ and RK independently read and coded the articles. Each of the domains of SWOT was grouped into two categories: patient-related factors (operational) or health care provider-related factors. The patient-related category included factors associated with ICT interventions, which we define as operational here. We then applied this conceptual framework to identify emerging themes in each of these categories from the selected articles. Codes were then grouped into categories and eventually aggregated into 4 domains. After the initial round of coding, the 2 coders met with a senior researcher (SMSI) to cross-check the coding; thus, a final set of codes was agreed upon. The reviewers used Microsoft Excel 2014 to sort the articles.

Results

Overview

A total of 1149 articles, including conference papers (863/1149, 75.12%), were identified. Of the 1149 articles, 44 (3.83%) were duplicates (Figure 1). We excluded 86.51% (994/1149) of articles that were either not related to ICT interventions for older adults with chronic diseases or studies already reported in the systematic reviews that we included. Of the 1149 articles, after

screening the titles and abstracts, 46 (4%) additional articles were excluded, leaving 63 (5.48%) articles for full-text screening. Of the 63 articles, there were 4 (6%) conference papers that were mostly based on formative research (design and development). As these papers lacked both quantitative and qualitative data (patient recruitment and barriers to and enablers of using ICT), we did not include them in the final selection. Finally, of the 63 articles, 26 (41%) were excluded following a full-text review, with 31 (49%) articles remaining (Figure 1).

Figure 1. Flowchart of the literature search used for the selection of articles. This flowchart provides information regarding the various phases of the investigation, including the number of articles identified and the number included and excluded following the PRISMA-ScR (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis Extension for Scoping Reviews) guidelines. ICT: information and communication technology.



Characteristics of Articles Included in the Review

The characteristics of the included articles are presented in Table 1. Of the 31 included papers (total number of participants, n=4185), 2 (6%) were randomized controlled trials (RCTs) [34,35], 10 (32%) described non-RCT design intervention

studies [36-45], and 13 (42%) were review articles [46-58]. These 13 review articles comprised 4 (31%) systematic reviews [46,48,53,56] and 2 (15%) scoping reviews [50,58]. In addition, 19% (6/31) were conference papers that described cross-sectional studies [59-64] (Figure 2).



Table 1. Characteristics of included articles.

Study	Country	Study design or type of article	ICT ^a interventions	Instrument	Sample or articles	Target condition	Findings or recommendations	Limitations or challenge of ICT interventions
Miguel et al, 2013 [34]	Australia	RCT ^b (6-month study period)	Telehealth intervention	Face-to- face inter- views	80	COPD ^c	• The telehealth group had comparatively fewer hospital admis- sions and a reduced length of stay than the control group.	• Maintenance cost (high)
Barbera et al, 2018 [35]	Finland, France, and the Nether- lands	RCT	Internet- based ap- proaches	N/A ^d	2725	Demen- tia, CHF ^e , DM ^f , and dyslipi- demia	• Participants in the inter- vention arm were moti- vated to access informa- tion, advice, and moti- vational support throughout the interven- tion.	High cost and coun try-specific adapta- tion were major limitations
Barron et al, 2014 [36]	United States	Qualitative	Patient por- tal (EHR ^g)	Cognitive walk- through	14	COPD and CHF	• Patients with chronic diseases and caregivers were satisfied using the patient portal.	 Assistance required for portal use Medical terms (unfa miliar)
Bhat- tarai et al, 2020 [37]	Australia	Qualitative	App for self- management of pain	Semistruc- tured inter- views	6	Arthritic pain	 Apps for self-management of pain were potentially valuable for older patients App's content and usability features should be relevant to the users 	 Apps were required to meet the user's needs Pain self-management app might no be helpful if not de signed to be used friendly
Chang et al, 2017 [38]	Taiwan	Qualitative	Telehealth	Semistruc- tured (tech- nology ac- ceptance model)	18	DM	• Participants with diabetes self-managed their disease with the help of telehealth	 Mixed feelings re- garding dependence on others for tele- health related prob lem solving
Coley et al, 2019 [39]	Finland, France, and the Nether- lands	Mixed	eHealth inter- vention or internet counseling	Web-based question- naire and semistruc- tured inter- views	343	CVDs ^h and dia- betes	 Altruism and personal benefits were motiva- tions for older adults' use of telehealth Prevention of function- al dependency on care- givers was a main un- derlying motivation 	 Internet-based health information perceived as unreli able by older adult Specific practical advice and encour- agement was re- quired for making lifestyle changes
Kim et al, 2019 [40]	United States	Mixed	Telehealth	Web-based surveys and in- depth inter- views	20	Depres- sion care	• Telehealth was per- ceived as useful for managing symptoms and reducing costs.	 Reimbursement an cost-related factors Patient home environment (not suitable) Agency-related characteristic (not well equipped)
Zettel- Watson et al, 2016 [41]	United States	Cross-sectional- exploratory study	Web-based health man- agement tools	Web-based survey	169	Chronic diseases	 Most users (89%) were satisfied with web-based health management tools Users were more likely to be younger, female, and married 	 Privacy or security was a concern among participants Users were not ade quately aware of th exact benefits of web-based health management tools

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e25251 XSL•FO

RenderX

JMIR Aging 2022 | vol. 5 | iss. 1 |e25251 | p.222 (page number not for citation purposes)

JMIR AGING	

Study	Country	Study design or type of article	ICT ^a interventions	Instrument	Sample or articles	Target condition	Findings or recommendations	Limitations or challenges of ICT interventions
Lee et al, 2016 [42]	United States	Pilot study	Android tablet with an installed app	A mobile- based health tech- nology in- tervention	18	CVDs and CHF	 Knowledge of self- management (anticoag- ulation) significantly improved from base- line to follow-up Participants were satis- fied with the simplicity of the app 	 Some health care providers were not receptive to their patients using mHealthⁱ apps Privacy and security of information was a concerned
Mirza et al, 2008 [43]	New Zealand	Pilot study (qualitative na- ture)	mHealth ini- tiative (through SMS text messaging)	Semistruc- tured inter- views	18	Diabetes and heart disease	 High acceptability and recognition of the ad- vantages of mHealth Issues affecting mHealth adoption, such as social issues, technical issues, eco- nomic issues, clinical or organizational issues 	 Patients' access to their EHR was rec- ommended by the health care providers Impaired abilities to cope with technolo- gy
Radhakr- ishnan et al, 2016 [44]	United States	Qualitative	Telehealth	Semistruc- tured inter- views	23	Cardiac disease, pul- monary disease, and DM	 Positive impact on cost-effectiveness and patient-centered out- comes Home health manage- ment culture was impor- tant Establishment of pa- tient-clinician and inter- professional communi- cation was required 	 Factors negatively affected the tele- health program: Financial challenges Technical issues Management and communication-re- lated issues
Nymberg et al, 2019 [45]	Sweden	Qualitative	eHealth (EMR ^j , tele- health, and mHealth)	Focus group inter- views	15	Hyperten- sion, dia- betes, and COPD	 Mixed feelings toward eHealth by the older adults Participants reported dissatisfaction in ac- cessing health care 	 Lack of will, skills, self-trust, or mis- trust in the new technology Organizational barri- ers (poor IT^k sys- tems)
Rocha et al, 2019 [46]	N/A	Systematic re- view	mHealth	A systemat- ic review of reviews and meta- analyses	66 re- views	DM, men- tal ill- ness, can- cer, COPD, and CVDs	 mHealth interventions had positive effects on various health-related outcomes, including medication adherence No adverse impact of mHealth was identified 	• More research- based evidence was recommended for the incorporation of mHealth in clinical practices
Searcy et al, 2019 [47]	N/A	Narrative re- view	mHealth technologies	_1	_	CVDs	• mHealth interventions for older adults with cardiovascular disease yielded mixed results	• Physical limitations and cognitive chal- lenges were identi- fied as limitations
Peek ST et al, 2014 [48]	N/A	Systematic re- view	Electronic technologies	_	16 arti- cles	Chronic diseases	• Apparent benefits of using mHealth were recommended for widespread acceptance	• Lack of security in using mHealth was a concern
Vollen- broek- Hutten et al, 2017 [49]	N/A	Narrative re- view	Various ICT platforms	_	673	Chronic pain, COPD	• Patients were satisfied with ICT-supported services	• Real-time contact and safe monitoring of patients in an emergency was challenging

Study	Country	Study design or type of article	ICT ^a interventions	Instrument	Sample or articles	Target condition	Findings or recommendations	Limitations or challenges of ICT interventions
Wilden- bos et al, 2018 [50]	N/A	Scoping review	mHealth	Framework analysis		Chronic diseases	• A total of 4 critical cat- egories of aging barri- ers influencing usabili- ty of mHealth were cognition, motivation, physical ability, and perception	Obstacles related to cognitive and physi- cal ability to use mHealth was diffi- cult for older adults to overcome
Blass et al, 2006 [51]	United States	Narrative	Telehealth	Ethics and public poli- cy (ethical challenges)	_	Physical or psychi- atric ill- ness	• Ethical challenges with homebound older pa- tients were unique be- cause of patient charac- teristics and features of the treatment environ- ment.	dentiality of person- al information of users could be chal-
Bostrom et al, 2020 [52]	N/A	Narrative re- view	Various mHealth technology	mHealth cardiac re- habilitation	_	CVD, hy- perten- sion, ar- rhythmia, and CHF	 mHealth: cardiac rehabilitation represented a particularly attractive area compared with traditional barriers to facility-based cardiac rehabilitation Improved accessibility to patients unable to attend traditional cardiac rehabilitation 	 based cardiac rehabilitation Physical limitations (eyesight and fine motor skills) might limit use in older adults Hesitance from old-
Chris- tensen et al, 2020 [53]	N/A	Systematic re- view	Video consul- tations	Different survey in- struments	21 studies	Mental health practice (unipolar depres- sion)	 Video consultations were found to be a vi- able option for deliver- ing mental health care Video consultations al- lowed patients to re- ceive treatment at their home 	providers
Gilbert et al, 2015 [54]	United States	Narrative	Gerontech- nology: mHealth	Applica- tions of gerontech- nology by stakehold- ers	_	Chronic diseases	 A digital divide was developed between older adults and younger adults Gerontechnology was found to be an essential limb of mHealth unique to older adults 	• Without focusing on user-centered de- sign, it would be difficult to widen the accessibility and engagement of older adults in the long run
Hen- riquez- Cama- cho et al, 2014 [55]	N/A	Narrative re- view	eHealth tech- nologies	Problems related to age and technology	_	Chronic diseases	• eHealth technologies were found to have the potential to improve access to health care by empowering patients	cause of limited re-
Hareri- mana et al, 2019 [56]	N/A	Systematic re- view	Telehealth interventions	Users' per- ceptions of a telehealth interven- tion	13 arti- cles	Chronic diseases	• Use of telehealth re- duced emergency vis- its, hospital admis- sions, and depressive symptoms and im- proved cognitive func- tioning of the patients	• Obstacles for using telehealth were levels of education, cognitive function, living arrangement, and negative experience with the clinics
	N/A		Health IT					

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e25251

XSL•FO RenderX

Study	Country	Study design or type of article	ICT ^a interventions	Instrument	Sample or articles	Target condition		dings or ommendations		nitations or challenges ICT interventions
Jimison et al, 2008 [57]		Narrative re- view		Barriers and drivers to the use of health IT	129 arti- cles	Chronic diseases	•	Rapid and frequent in- teractions from a clini- cian improved use and user satisfaction	•	It was critical that data entry does not feel cumbersome and that the interven- tion fit into the us- er's daily routine.
Matthew- Maich et al, 2016 [58]	N/A	Scoping review	mHealth	Designing, implement- ing, and evaluating mHealth technolo- gies	42 arti- cles	Chronic diseases	•	The implementation of mHealth technologies in home-based care for older adults and self- management of chronic conditions are impor- tant areas for further research.	•	A user-centered and interdisciplinary ap- proach is imperative to enhance the feasi- bility and acceptabil- ity of mHealth inno- vations
D'Hae- seleer et al, 2019 [59]	Italy	Conference pa- per	Various ICT platforms for self-monitor- ing services	Focus group inter- view	12	Chronic diseases	•	The skills to use com- puters were heteroge- neous among the older adults They perceived the use of health technologies as a threat to social in- teraction	•	Health technologies are not ready for adoption by older adults yet, and fur- ther research on making them more accessible is re- quired
Hossein- pour et al, 2019 [60]	Iran	Conference pa- per	Telecare	Medical records	38	Acute coronary syndrome	•	An innovative telecare system based on artifi- cial intelligence is pre- sented for the early di- agnosis of acute car- diac syndrome	•	Improving the accu- racy of the telecare system by using re- al-time information of users was chal- lenging
Lorenz et al, 2007 [61]	Germany	Conference pa- per	mHealth	Semistruc- tured inter- views	8	Chronic diseases	•	Older adults prefer the advanced interface, characterized by dis- plays of graphical symbols and anima- tions, of devices They also preferred the basic interface with simple navigation over 2 different screens	•	Participants pre- ferred a device like the shape of a wrist- watch, equipped with an unobtrusive system It was challenging to develop a tool for all such older versus younger patients and persons with computer experi- ence versus no com- puter experience in- stances
Pikna et al, 2018 [62]	Slovakia	Conference pa- per	ICT	Semistruc- tured inter- views	5	Chronic diseases	•	Older adults usually use a mobile phone or a computer to share their experiences with others on different so- cial networks	•	The use of ICT can be a difficult chal- lenge for seniors.
Termeh et al, 2015 [63]	Iran	Conference pa- per	Smart- watches and sensors	Implemen- tation of a U-Health ^m system	_	Heart fail- ure and arterial fibrilla- tion	•	U-Health approach is relatively low cost, can be implemented using simple equipment, and does not limit the movement of the pa- tient.	•	To get the notifica- tion patient has to have the watch on his or her wrist.
			ICT		12					

XSL•FO RenderX

Zaman et al

Study	Country	Study design or type of article	ICT ^a interventions	Instrument	Sample or articles	Target condition	Findings or recommendations	Limitations or challenges of ICT interventions
Wang et al, 2018 [64]	United States	Conference pa- per		Semistruc- tured inter- views		Chronic diseases	Older adults were posi- tively influenced for using new technologies	ing ICT care due to

^aICT: information and communication technology.

^bRCT: randomized controlled trial.

^cCOPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disorder.

^dN/A: not applicable.

^eCHF: chronic heart failure.

^fDM: diabetes mellitus.

^gEHR: electronic health record.

^hCVD: cardiovascular disease.

ⁱmHealth: mobile health.

^jEMR: electronic medical record.

^kIT: information technology.

^lNot available.

^mU-Health: ubiquitous health.

Figure 2. Multilayered donut chart shows the distribution of information and communication technology interventions used in health care. This figure shows various information and communication technology interventions that have been primarily described in the included studies or reviews in our scoping review. The total number of studies or reviews that mentioned various information and communication technology interventions is included in the bracket. mHealth: mobile health.



In total, the systematic reviews used in the current synthesis included 122 independent studies. We did not include studies already reported in the systematic reviews as individual studies to avoid duplication. Clinical trial intervention studies (RCTs and non-RCTs) were conducted in Finland, France, the Netherlands [35,39], Taiwan [38], the United States [36,40-42,44,64], Australia [34,37], New Zealand [43], Germany [61], Slovakia [62], Italy [59], and Sweden [45]. Except for Iran [60,63], no studies were conducted in low- to middle-income

countries (LMICs). Most of the studies, except 1 [41], were pilot studies or short-term interventions. Original articles were either qualitative [36-38] or used mixed methods [39,40]. Various methods were used to measure the outcome of interest, including cognitive walk-throughs [44], semistructured interviews [37,39,42-44,61,62,64], in-depth interviews [40], focus groups [45,59], and web-based surveys [39-41]. The Technology Acceptance Model [38] and the Unified Theory of

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e25251

Acceptance and Use of Technology Model [48] were also used to assess the feasibility of ICT interventions in 2 studies.

ICT Interventions Used in Health Care

All articles provided evidence that ICT interventions are beneficial for health care among older adults with chronic diseases (Table 1). We identified various ICT platforms used for supporting health care providers as they manage chronic diseases in older adults. A total of 3 studies and 2 reviews mentioned the use of ≥ 1 mixed eHealth intervention such as electronic technologies, internet counseling, video consultation, EHR, and telehealth [39,45,46,48,55]. A total of 3 studies and 5 reviews, including 2 scoping reviews, focused particularly on mHealth [43,46,47,50,52,54,58], including mobile apps [37,42]. A total of 4 studies and 2 reviews focused on telehealth [34,38,40,44,51,56]. One study specifically focused on the use of a patient portal or EHR [36]. One study was on a web-based health management tool [40] for chronic care. Finally, 7 further reviews incorporated the use of a combination of ICT interventions [49,53,57], including EHR, mHealth, and video consultation, in providing care for older adults with chronic diseases. Figure 2 shows the distribution of ICT interventions that have been primarily used or described in the included original articles or reviews.

All the included articles reported a positive outcome for supporting the management of chronic diseases such as CVDs (eg, chronic heart failure, atrial fibrillation, and hypertension) [36,39,42-47,52,57], diabetes [35,38,39,43-46], COPD [34,36,44-46,49], dyslipidemia [35], arthritic pain [37,49], illness including depression and dementia mental [35,40,46,51,53], and cancer [46]. Thus, there were no reports of neutral or negative effects that might underdetermine the use of ICT interventions.

Challenges to and Enablers of Implementing ICT Interventions in Health Care

Multimedia Appendix 2 [34-54,56-64] describes the primary SWOT assessment outcomes.

Strengths

Patient-Related Factors

In many cases, identified in 48% (15/31) of articles, participants reported that the use of an ICT intervention was a fun or effective way for improving health [37,39,43,46-48,52-56,59,61,62,64] by increasing their motivation and supporting self-management tasks [38,42-45,47,50-52,54-57,59,61-63]. Approximately 48% (15/31) of articles identified that patients were frequently satisfied with using 1 or a combination of ICT interventions [34,41-44,46-49,52,55-57,62-64]. They encountered fewer face-to-face interactions with clinical staff and with other patients [34,35,37,39,41-45,48,52-55,57-62,64], thus mitigating their functional dependency [34,35,38,39,43,44,46-48,50,51,54,55,57-59,61-63] on clinical or hospital services. The use of ICT interventions gave them peace reassurance a n d o f mind [34,35,43-45,47,48,50-52,57-59,61-64] by improving a sense оf security and reducing anxiety

[34,43,44,47,48,51,52,54,57,59-64]. Older adults with chronic diseases who participated in studies reported getting direct access to treatment and benefited from additional medical monitoring when they felt unwell. The use of ICT interventions also encouraged them to continue physical activity, maintain a healthy diet, and stop smoking [37,43-47,49,52,57,58,60-62,64].

Health Care Provider–Related Factors

One of the biggest advantages of ICT interventions that was identified nonpharmacological was their nature [35,39,42-46,48,51,52,54-57,61-64]. This point was made in 58% (18/31) of articles, with a particular focus on the value, for managing older adults with chronic disease, of providing health education and regular follow up. Health care providers reported the use of interactive push-notification features [38,43,46-50,54-57,59,60,62], larger screens [34,36,48,52,57,61] and written instructions [36,48,50] for ICT devices as helpful. Health care providers also expressed a desire to get more available functions, such as voice demonstration and video chatting, for integrating ICT interventions into routine systems (mentioned in 9/31, 29% articles) [41,46-48,50,52,54,55,61].

Weaknesses

Patient-Related Factors

The most common limiting factor, identified in 35% (11/31) of articles, was the lack of confidence in computer skills [40,45,47,48,50,54-56,59,61,64]. In addition, inconvenience arising from the need to have a continuous internet connection (15/31)identified in 48% of was articles [35,39,43-45,48,50,53-57,62-64]. Approximately 39% (9/23) of articles identified that participants felt embarrassed when they failed to correctly operate ICT devices [38,43-45,48,50,53,55-57,59,61,62,64]. As a result, they were sometimes dependent on other family members to operate the devices. This dependency made some people feel uncomfortable and concerned about bothering their family members for assistance with ICT devices [37,38,48,50-52,54,55,59]. Approximately 32% (10/31) of articles identified instances when participants did not voluntarily learn to use the ICT devices if their family members could operate it for them [38,42,47,48,50,52,54-56,61]. Participants also required support (supervision) for adhering to disease management behaviors [34,38,42,48,50,53,58,59,61-64] and maintaining their ICT devices. Some people were concerned regarding the potential loss of data or lack of protection of their privacy [41,44,45,48,51,52,54,55,61] when using ICT interventions. Approximately 39% (12/31) of articles identified that older adults lacked confidence in the use of an internet-based intervention, even if they had the necessary computer skills [40,42,48-50,53-56,59,61,64]. Some participants reported inconveniences associated with the ICT device itself, such as small screens or cramped keyboards [43,46-49,52-55,62] or inadequate battery life lasting 4 to 5 hours [43,46-48,58,61-64]. Approximately 39% (12/31) of articles reported that participants found the ICT devices hard to use because of a lack of familiarity with the medical terms used in the instructions of these devices [36,41,48,52-55,57,59,61,62,64].

XSL•FO

Health Care Provider–Related Factors

Only a few weaknesses were reported for health care provider–related factors. Health care providers reported that some older adults with chronic diseases were dependent on family members or friends for using their ICT devices [38,47,50,52,61]. Hence, these participants, who were dependent on others, were sometimes not interested in learning how to operate the technology independently. In such cases, health care providers sometimes found it difficult to directly interact with patients using ICT interventions. An additional list of barriers to and challenges for the use of ICT interventions synthesized from current evidence is provided in Multimedia Appendix 3.

Opportunities

Patient-Related Factors

The authors of 58% (18/31) of articles reported that ICT interventions supported older adults in maintaining regular medical checkups [34,35,39,43-46,48,50,55-59,61-64] and attaining benefits from lifestyle changes [34,35,39,43-45,48,50,52,53,55-60,62-64]. The authors (19/31, 61% articles) also reported that most participants received encouragement from physicians and nurses to use ICT interventions [34,35,39,43-45,48,50,52,53,55-59,61-64] and disease management develop their self-care skills [34,40-42,45-50,53-55,58-64]. Most participants were partially willing to pay for taking up the ICT interventions [48,50,53-61,63,64] if they were affordable. Most of the participants, identified in 35% (11/31) of articles, were also keen to recommend the ICT interventions to others [43,44,48,50,52,54,55,57,59,61,62].

A range of operational factors was identified in relation to the use of hardware and software related to ICT interventions. Most of the investigators reported that the local context should be considered during the development of an ICT intervention [34,37,44,48,52-55,57,59-61]. For example, a mobile app should have personalization features to suit the user's preferences in their language [34,37,46-50,55,56,59-62,64]. Furthermore, participants wanted the ICT devices to be portable, rechargeable [38,43,46-49,53,56,59-63], simple, and easy to use [38,43-49,52-58,61-63].

Health Care Provider–Related Factors

In 48% (15/31) of articles, providers reported that they were satisfied that the ICT interventions allowed them to give special care to older adults with cognitive or sensory dysfunction [38,43,45-47,49,52-56,58,59,61,62,64]. There was consensus that clinicians' active involvement is crucial for the integration of an ICT intervention into a self-management strategy [34,37,41-45,50-52,55-58,61-63].

Threats

Patient-Related Factors

The authors of 32% (10/31) of articles reported that some older adults had hearing and sight impairment and that these disabilities restricted communication with health care providers [35,38,46,50,52,53,56,62]. Cost was another factor, which was identified in 39% (12/31) of articles, that influenced the uptake of ICT interventions. Despite significant improvement in the

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e25251
```

self-care ability of patients, participants were unwilling to ICT interventions that attracted continue а fee [36,38,43,44,50,53-57,61,62]. For example, a home telehealth program could not be sustained because of financial challenges, technical complexities, and communication-related issues, even after operating for 12 years [44]. When the participants perceived a new ICT intervention as expensive and complex [38,45,46,50,53-55,58,59,62], they lost interest in using that intervention [38,47,48,50,52,59]. Some participants reported that a breach of confidentiality [37,51,53,56] occurred while using an ICT intervention.

Health Care Provider–Related Factors

The authors of 23% (7/31) of the articles reported that providers were influential in motivating their patients to use or stop the use of ICT interventions [41,43,44,50,53,55-57,59,62]. For example, patients were found to stop using an ICT intervention if their physicians did not encourage them to use the respective intervention [41,43,53-55,57-59,61,62,64]. Most health care providers believed that ICT interventions should only be deemed as an adjunct to the medical management of chronic diseases. However, some providers expressed concerns regarding the widespread use of ICT interventions replacing traditional health care delivery models (mentioned in 10/31, 32% articles), which could result in job loss [35,40,45,51,54,55,58,60,61,63].

Discussion

Principal Findings

Overall, findings from this scoping review highlight the potential benefit of ICT interventions or eHealth (eg, mHealth and mobile apps, EHR, remote monitoring, CDSS, and telemedicine) for supporting older adults in self-managing chronic diseases. The review highlighted a range of operational and technical barriers to using these ICT interventions for older adults. Our review highlighted age-related barriers to using ICT interventions, including cognition, motivation, physical limitations (eyesight and fine motor skills), and perception, which limited the use of ICT interventions among older adults with chronic diseases. In this case, personalized learning may meet the unique needs, interests, and capacities of individual users to mitigate these limitations [65]. Some of these limitations could be resolved via design optimization of ICT interventions, such as increasing the screen contrast to mitigate the loss of visual acuity or simplifying task movements to facilitate ICT use in patients with arthritis or physical disability [41]. A number of challenges and enablers in integrating ICT interventions into routine practice were also identified. Most of the included studies were pilot or short-term interventions conducted in a controlled environment. Hence, longitudinal studies aimed at assessing the long-term effectiveness of ICT interventions should be a priority.

Our results indicate that some older adults with chronic diseases might have reservations when it comes to engaging with ICT interventions. We found operational and technical challenges, including a lack of willingness to adopt new skills, poor confidence, and the lack of necessary skills to operate ICT devices. These findings are consistent with the results of other studies where older people expressed no interest in using novel

technology and struggled to think of the need for such an application in their own lives [66,67]. Acceptance of these electronic or digital technologies may be more difficult for the current generation of older adults who did not grow up with these technologies [68,69]. Mitigating strategies to increase ICT literacy using short e-learning courses (eg, 2 weeks with 10-minute sessions each day) have been shown to be suitable for older adults [70,71].

We found strong motivation and desire to use ICT interventions among older adults with chronic diseases because of the nonpharmacological nature of the intervention. Self-management of chronic diseases includes the maintenance of a healthy lifestyle and adherence to medication. However, older adults seem to require specific motivation to make practical changes, such as eating a healthy diet and being physically active, even if they are already aware of their value [36]. Nilsen et al [72] reported that the traditional approach of episodic care provided in the clinic or through hospital support systems might not be sufficient to prevent chronic diseases without incorporating ICT interventions in health care. Therefore, health care providers are motivated to use ICT interventions to communicate with their patients to know whether they follow their advice.

It is imperative to understand the duration that people require to achieve a cost-effective outcome from ICT interventions. Findings from this scoping review suggest that older adults living with chronic diseases and caregivers were unwilling to pay for the use of ICT interventions, although they were happy with the service. Most participants only offered to pay partially. An explanation for this result is that all participants in the studies we reviewed were from high-income countries and frequently reported the lack of an appropriate insurance scheme and reimbursement for procuring devices required for ICT interventions. Without addressing the payment model, it will be challenging to ensure the proper use of ICT interventions in health care, even if older adults desire to use them. Chen and Chan [73] also reported that implementation costs were not adequately highlighted in designing specific ICT interventions in many countries. Therefore, the high cost seems to be a critical factor in determining the ability of an older adult to accept these interventions. Similarly, we also reported a home telehealth program's failure after more than a decade of use because of financial challenges [44]. Hence, more sustainable funding and reimbursement are essential for promoting the adoption of ICT interventions.

In addition to the financial factors discussed above, this review highlights workload as an additional determinant of the adoption of ICT interventions. Managing life-threatening events, such as arrhythmia or heart attack, requires an immediate response from health care providers, and such a rapid response can be challenging to execute in many places, particularly in hard-to-reach areas. Failure to react to patients immediately may exacerbate the health risks of older adults with chronic diseases and render health care providers susceptible to accusations of negligence [74]. There is also the risk of generating false-positive alarms from these ICT interventions, which may require physical verification. Thus, such alarms could increase the workload of clinicians if they are required to personally evaluate every call. This may partly explain why

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e25251
```

not all clinicians were receptive to their patients using ICT interventions. Training can be a significant factor that influences health professionals' eagerness to use or refer their patients for using ICT interventions at home [75-77].

Future app developers should consider involving end users in the design and development process for ICT interventions. We reported that clinicians' involvement in the recruitment process appeared to influence the decision of participants to take part in the trials or studies. Hence, their involvement will be crucial for motivating patients to use ICT interventions. The authors also point out the necessity of ensuring that health care providers are encouraged and committed to recommending ICT interventions for their patients [13,78]. Otherwise, the willingness to use ICT interventions will never develop among patients, despite their ability to operate these devices. The general assumption that education is a relevant factor in adopting the use of ICT may not always be accurate, with the authors of an article reporting that level of education was not positively associated with the uptake of ICT interventions in the sample of patients they studied [79]. Health care providers can be an additional barrier to the adoption of ICT interventions by older patients. For example, Smelcer et al [80] reported that 30% of EHR system implementations worldwide failed because of their underutilization or inappropriate use by the clinician. They identify the concept of *medical authority*, where clinicians or health care providers affect medical practices such as diagnosis and management of chronic diseases for their patients, as critical for the implementation of EHR [81]. It seems likely that medical authority is also an essential factor in the implementation of other forms of ICT interventions.

Management of chronic diseases may require the engagement of multiple health care service providers [82]. This arrangement could be too complex for older adults with chronic diseases who are disabled or living in rural areas, particularly in hard-to-reach areas. Here, ICT interventions can play a significant role by offering interconnectedness among multiple providers. For example, some ICT interventions (CDSS and EHR) provide valuable features such as sharing data with other providers (interoperability) and providing patient-specific information such as drug adherence [83]. In doing so, we also report that some participants raised ethical and legal concerns related to sharing data (eg, privacy and security) with several providers. These barriers can be overcome if clinicians, health care workers, and service providers are obliged to maintain confidentiality and report all harmful events associated with the use of ICT interventions [10,13,78,84].

There are opportunities for implementing ICT interventions in LMICs to support the care of older adults with chronic diseases. Approximately 6.5 billion people reside in LMICs, and the proportion of older adults within this population will increase in the near future in these countries [85]. Most intervention studies that we included were from high-income countries. However, very few were from LMICs. Most developing countries lack the necessary financial strength to fund and implement ICT interventions properly. The good news is that the governments of many LMICs are also interested in investing in deploying eHealth to enhance health services, particularly in remote areas [86]. Finally, ICT interventions should help

XSL•FO RenderX

patients self-manage chronic diseases with minimal support from health care providers or clinics. Hence, clinicians and health care providers are required to convince patients to use ICT interventions in addition to routine clinic visits. None of the included reviews on ICT interventions reported harm. However, there are challenges to the implementation of these ICT interventions, particularly for older adults with chronic diseases. The provision of ICT literacy by health care providers and user-centered design by app developers may help older adults widen their engagement with ICT interventions [54]. Hence, longitudinal studies aimed at assessing the long-term effectiveness of ICT interventions should be a priority. Another priority should be to determine whether ICT interventions are clinically effective and cost-effective when used by rural health care providers. Hence, we recommend conducting a systematic review of existing studies on ICT interventions to evaluate their efficacy.

Limitations

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first review of its type to use the SWOT framework to identify strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats for the use of ICT interventions to support the care of older adults with chronic diseases. A potential limitation of our approach is that we did not consult external experts during the review process. Nevertheless, by conducting a scoping review on this topic, we have defined the nature, extent, and range of research activities on ICT interventions for older adults with chronic diseases. Although we searched the literature exhaustively using 4 academic databases, in addition to ProQuest, there is a possibility that we missed some important studies. In this scoping review, we focused on providing an overview of the available research evidence on the use of ICT interventions in older adults with chronic diseases. Therefore, we included a good range of original studies, systematic reviews, and conference papers to help answer our research question. Importantly, none of the studies included in these reviews overlapped. We did not perform a critical appraisal of the literature, which was beyond the scope of our objectives (PRISMA-ScR checklist is given in Multimedia Appendix 4 [29]).

Conclusions

ICT interventions might help support the care of older adults with chronic diseases by increasing adherence to treatment and healthy lifestyles. However, the incorporation of ICT interventions into medical practice is still challenging. The involvement of clinicians is crucial for motivating people with chronic diseases to adopt ICT interventions to support self-management. There is a need to improve awareness and training in the available and effective ICT interventions among older adults and health care providers. Widespread implementation of ICT interventions will also require more sustainable approaches to funding and reimbursement. We recommend involving clinicians and caregivers when designing ICT interventions and integrating them into routine medical care.

Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to Zubair Ahmed Ratan, Mulugeta Birhanu, Lana Coleman, and Rajshree Thapa for their help in preparing the manuscript. SBZ received a scholarship from the Australian Government Research Training Program to support his academic career. SMSI is funded by the National Heart Foundation of Australia (102112) and the National Health and Medical Research Council Emerging Leadership Fellowship (GNT1195406).

Authors' Contributions

SBZ, RGE, and SMSI conceived and designed the review. SBZ, RKK, and SMSI performed the literature searches and analyzed the data. SBZ, AGT, RGE, RKK, RM, and SMSI wrote the paper.

Conflicts of Interest

RGE reports grants from the National Health and Medical Research Council (Australia) and the National Heart Foundation of Australia outside the submitted work. RGE has also received consulting fees from Medtronic Australasia in relation to work other than that described in this manuscript. AGT reports grants from Monash University during the conduct of the study and grants from the National Health and Medical Research Council (Australia) outside the submitted work.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Search strategies for Ovid MEDLINE, Embase, Scopus, and PsycInfo databases. [DOCX File, 31 KB - aging v5i1e25251 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Framework analysis of strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats on the use of information and communication technology in health care among older adults. [DOCX File , 46 KB - aging v5ile25251 app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3

List of barriers to and challenges for the use of information and communication technology.

https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e25251

Multimedia Appendix 4

PRISMA-ScR (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses Extension for Scoping Reviews) checklist. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 204 KB - aging v5i1e25251 app4.pdf]

References

- Ageing and life-course: world report on ageing and health 2015. World Health Organization. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/</u> <u>iris/bitstream/handle/10665/186463/9789240694811_eng.</u> <u>pdf;jsessionid=EE6BF2055C685E69CE87276F6CCF12CF?sequence=1</u> [accessed 2021-12-05]
- GBD 2016 Occupational Risk Factors Collaborators. Global and regional burden of disease and injury in 2016 arising from occupational exposures: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Occup Environ Med 2020 Mar;77(3):133-141 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/oemed-2019-106008] [Medline: 32054817]
- Prince MJ, Wu F, Guo Y, Gutierrez Robledo LM, O'Donnell M, Sullivan R, et al. The burden of disease in older people and implications for health policy and practice. Lancet 2015 Feb 07;385(9967):549-562. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61347-7] [Medline: 25468153]
- 4. Ageing and health. World Health Organization. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ageing-and-health</u> [accessed 2021-12-05]
- Global status report on noncommunicable diseases. World Health Organization. 2010. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/44579/9789240686458_eng.</u> pdf;jsessionid=E1CADB6E0D71CBF2EF5DA0776E2BBC69?sequence=1 [accessed 2021-12-05]
- Gong JB, Yu XW, Yi XR, Wang CH, Tuo XP. Epidemiology of chronic noncommunicable diseases and evaluation of life quality in elderly. Aging Med (Milton) 2018 Jun;1(1):64-66 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1002/agm2.12009</u>] [Medline: <u>31942482</u>]
- 7. Bodenheimer T, Lorig K, Holman H, Grumbach K. Patient self-management of chronic disease in primary care. JAMA 2002 Nov 20;288(19):2469-2475. [doi: 10.1001/jama.288.19.2469] [Medline: 12435261]
- 8. Zaman SB, Hossain N, Ahammed S, Ahmed Z. Contexts and opportunities of e-Health technology in medical care. J Med Res Innov 2017 May 01;1(2):AV1-AV4. [doi: 10.15419/jmri.62]
- 9. Jaana M, Sherrard H. Rural-urban comparison of telehome monitoring for patients with chronic heart failure. Telemed J E Health 2019 Feb;25(2):101-108. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2017.0303] [Medline: 29847242]
- 10. Sticherling C, Kühne M, Schaer B, Altmann D, Osswald S. Remote monitoring of cardiovascular implantable electronic devices: prerequisite or luxury? Swiss Med Wkly 2009 Oct 17;139(41-42):596-601. [Medline: <u>19918698</u>]
- 11. Free C, Phillips G, Galli L, Watson L, Felix L, Edwards P, et al. The effectiveness of mobile-health technology-based health behaviour change or disease management interventions for health care consumers: a systematic review. PLoS Med 2013;10(1):e1001362 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001362] [Medline: 23349621]
- Finkel S, Czaja SJ, Schulz R, Martinovich Z, Harris C, Pezzuto D. E-care: a telecommunications technology intervention for family caregivers of dementia patients. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2007 May;15(5):443-448. [doi: 10.1097/JGP.0b013e3180437d87] [Medline: 17463195]
- Kobza R, Erne P. End-of-life decisions in ICD patients with malignant tumors. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2007 Jul;30(7):845-849. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1540-8159.2007.00771.x</u>] [Medline: <u>17584265</u>]
- 14. E-health and m-health applications for older people. Health Literacy Centre. URL: <u>http://healthliteracycentre.eu/</u> <u>e-health-and-m-health-applications-for-older-people/</u> [accessed 2021-12-05]
- 15. Using mobile technologies for healthier aging. mHealth Alliance, United Nations Foundation. URL: <u>http://healthenabled.</u> <u>org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/mhealth-and-aging-report-1.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-10-25]
- 16. GESICA Investigators. Randomised trial of telephone intervention in chronic heart failure: DIAL trial. BMJ 2005 Aug 20;331(7514):425 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.38516.398067.E0] [Medline: 16061499]
- Cleland J, Louis A, Rigby A, Janssens U, Balk A, TEN-HMS Investigators. Noninvasive home telemonitoring for patients with heart failure at high risk of recurrent admission and death: the Trans-European Network-Home-Care Management System (TEN-HMS) study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005 May 17;45(10):1654-1664 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2005.01.050] [Medline: 15893183]
- 18. Jerant AF, Azari R, Martinez C, Nesbitt TS. A randomized trial of telenursing to reduce hospitalization for heart failure: patient-centered outcomes and nursing indicators. Home Health Care Serv Q 2003;22(1):1-20. [doi: 10.1300/J027v22n01_01] [Medline: 12749524]
- 19. García-Lizana F, Sarría-Santamera A. New technologies for chronic disease management and control: a systematic review. J Telemed Telecare 2007;13(2):62-68. [doi: 10.1258/135763307780096140] [Medline: 17359568]
- 20. Kruse C, Fohn J, Wilson N, Nunez Patlan E, Zipp S, Mileski M. Utilization barriers and medical outcomes commensurate with the use of telehealth among older adults: systematic review. JMIR Med Inform 2020 Aug 12;8(8):e20359 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20359] [Medline: 32784177]

- Kruse CS, Fohn J, Umunnakwe G, Patel K, Patel S. Evaluating the facilitators, barriers, and medical outcomes commensurate with the use of assistive technology to support people with dementia: a systematic review literature. Healthcare (Basel) 2020 Aug 18;8(3):278 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/healthcare8030278] [Medline: 32824711]
- 22. Kruse CS, Mileski M, Moreno J. Mobile health solutions for the aging population: a systematic narrative analysis. J Telemed Telecare 2017 May;23(4):439-451 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1357633X16649790] [Medline: 27255207]
- 23. Selwyn N. ICT for all? Access and use of Public ICT Sites in the UK. Inf Commun Soc 2003 Sep;6(3):350-375. [doi: 10.1080/1369118032000155285]
- 24. Fischer SH, David D, Crotty BH, Dierks M, Safran C. Acceptance and use of health information technology by community-dwelling elders. Int J Med Inform 2014 Sep;83(9):624-635 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2014.06.005] [Medline: 24996581]
- 25. Heart T, Kalderon E. Older adults: are they ready to adopt health-related ICT? Int J Med Inform 2013 Nov;82(11):e209-e231. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2011.03.002</u>] [Medline: <u>21481631</u>]
- 26. Xie B. Older adults, computers, and the internet: future directions. Gerontechnol 2003 Oct;2(4):289-305. [doi: 10.4017/gt.2003.02.04.002.00]
- 27. Holzinger A, Searle G, Nischelwitzer A. On some aspects of improving mobile applications for the elderly. In: Universal Acess in Human Computer Interaction. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer; 2007.
- 28. Hoque R, Sorwar G. Understanding factors influencing the adoption of mHealth by the elderly: an extension of the UTAUT model. Int J Med Inform 2017 May;101:75-84. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.02.002] [Medline: 28347450]
- Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, O'Brien KK, Colquhoun H, Levac D, et al. PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR): checklist and explanation. Ann Intern Med 2018 Oct 02;169(7):467-473 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/M18-0850] [Medline: 30178033]
- 30. Arksey H, O'Malley L. Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. Int J Soc Res Methodol 2005 Feb;8(1):19-32. [doi: 10.1080/1364557032000119616]
- 31. Definition of an older person. Proposed working definition of an older person in Africa for the MDS Project. World Health Organization. 2001. URL: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/</u> 264534627_Definition_of_an_older_person_Proposed_working_definition_of_an_older_person_in_Africa_for_the_MDS_Project [accessed 2021-12-05]
- Sood S, Mbarika V, Jugoo S, Dookhy R, Doarn CR, Prakash N, et al. What is telemedicine? A collection of 104 peer-reviewed perspectives and theoretical underpinnings. Telemed J E Health 2007 Oct;13(5):573-590. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2006.0073</u>] [Medline: <u>17999619</u>]
- 33. Madsen D. SWOT analysis: a management fashion perspective. Int J Bus Res 2016 Mar 1;16(1):39-56. [doi: 10.18374/ijbr-16-1.3]
- De San Miguel K, Smith J, Lewin G. Telehealth remote monitoring for community-dwelling older adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Telemed J E Health 2013 Sep;19(9):652-657. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2012.0244</u>] [Medline: <u>23808885</u>]
- 35. Barbera M, Mangialasche F, Jongstra S, Guillemont J, Ngandu T, Beishuizen C, HATICE study group. Designing an internet-based multidomain intervention for the prevention of cardiovascular disease and cognitive impairment in older adults: the HATICE Trial. J Alzheimers Dis 2018;62(2):649-663. [doi: 10.3233/JAD-170858] [Medline: 29480185]
- 36. Barron J, Bedra M, Wood J, Finkelstein J. Exploring three perspectives on feasibility of a patient portal for older adults. Stud Health Technol Inform 2014;202:181-184. [Medline: <u>25000046</u>]
- Bhattarai P, Newton-John TR, Phillips JL. Apps for pain self-management of older people's arthritic pain, one size doesn't fit all: a qualitative study. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 2020;89:104062. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.archger.2020.104062</u>] [Medline: <u>32428787</u>]
- Chang C, Lee T, Mills ME. Experience of home telehealth technology in older patients with diabetes. Comput Inform Nurs 2017 Oct;35(10):530-537. [doi: 10.1097/CIN.0000000000341] [Medline: 28291156]
- Coley N, Rosenberg A, van Middelaar T, Soulier A, Barbera M, Guillemont J, MIND-AD, HATICE groups. Older adults' reasons for participating in an eHealth prevention trial: a cross-country, mixed-methods comparison. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2019 Jul;20(7):843-9.e5. [doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2018.10.019] [Medline: 30541689]
- Kim E, Gellis ZD, Bradway C, Kenaley B. Key determinants to using telehealth technology to serve medically ill and depressed homebound older adults. J Gerontol Soc Work 2019;62(4):451-474. [doi: <u>10.1080/01634372.2018.1499575</u>] [Medline: <u>30040598</u>]
- 41. Zettel-Watson L, Tsukerman D. Adoption of online health management tools among healthy older adults: an exploratory study. Health Informatics J 2016 Jun;22(2):171-183 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1460458214544047] [Medline: 25149210]
- 42. Lee J, Evangelista LS, Moore AA, Juth V, Guo Y, Gago-Masague S, et al. Feasibility study of a mobile health intervention for older adults on oral anticoagulation therapy. Gerontol Geriatr Med 2016 Oct 7;2:2333721416672970 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2333721416672970] [Medline: 28680940]
- 43. Mirza F, Norris T, Stockdale R. Mobile technologies and the holistic management of chronic diseases. Health Informatics J 2008 Dec;14(4):309-321 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1460458208096559] [Medline: 19008280]
- 44. Radhakrishnan K, Xie B, Jacelon CS. Unsustainable home telehealth: a Texas qualitative study. Gerontologist 2016 Oct;56(5):830-840. [doi: 10.1093/geront/gnv050] [Medline: 26035878]

- 45. Nymberg VM, Bolmsjö BB, Wolff M, Calling S, Gerward S, Sandberg M. 'Having to learn this so late in our lives...' Swedish elderly patients' beliefs, experiences, attitudes and expectations of e-health in primary health care. Scand J Prim Health Care 2019 Mar;37(1):41-52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/02813432.2019.1570612] [Medline: 30732519]
- 46. Rocha N, Santos M, Cerqueira M, Queirós A. Mobile health to support ageing in place: a systematic review of reviews and meta-analyses. Int J E Health Med Commun 2019;10(3). [doi: <u>10.4018/ijehmc.2019070101</u>]
- 47. Searcy RP, Summapund J, Estrin D, Pollak JP, Schoenthaler A, Troxel AB, et al. Mobile health technologies for older adults with cardiovascular disease: current evidence and future directions. Curr Geri Rep 2019 Jan 28;8(1):31-42. [doi: 10.1007/s13670-019-0270-8]
- Peek ST, Wouters EJ, van Hoof J, Luijkx KG, Boeije HR, Vrijhoef HJ. Factors influencing acceptance of technology for aging in place: a systematic review. Int J Med Inform 2014 Apr;83(4):235-248 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2014.01.004] [Medline: 24529817]
- Vollenbroek-Hutten M, Jansen-Kosterink S, Tabak M, Feletti LC, Zia G, N'dja A, SPRINTT Consortium. Possibilities of ICT-supported services in the clinical management of older adults. Aging Clin Exp Res 2017 Feb;29(1):49-57 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40520-016-0711-6] [Medline: 28190149]
- 50. Wildenbos GA, Peute L, Jaspers M. Aging barriers influencing mobile health usability for older adults: a literature based framework (MOLD-US). Int J Med Inform 2018 Jun;114:66-75. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2018.03.012</u>] [Medline: <u>29673606</u>]
- Blass D, Rye R, Robbins B, Miner MM, Handel S, Carroll JL, et al. Ethical issues in mobile psychiatric treatment with homebound elderly patients: the Psychogeriatric Assessment and Treatment in City Housing experience. J Am Geriatr Soc 2006 May;54(5):843-848. [doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2006.00706.x] [Medline: 16696753]
- 52. Bostrom J, Sweeney G, Whiteson J, Dodson JA. Mobile health and cardiac rehabilitation in older adults. Clin Cardiol 2020 Feb;43(2):118-126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/clc.23306] [Medline: 31825132]
- 53. Christensen LF, Moller AM, Hansen JP, Nielsen CT, Gildberg FA. Patients' and providers' experiences with video consultations used in the treatment of older patients with unipolar depression: a systematic review. J Psychiatr Ment Health Nurs 2020 Jun;27(3):258-271. [doi: 10.1111/jpm.12574] [Medline: 31677331]
- 54. Gilbert BJ, Goodman E, Chadda A, Hatfield D, Forman DE, Panch T. The role of mobile health in elderly populations. Curr Geri Rep 2015 Aug 21;4(4):347-352. [doi: 10.1007/s13670-015-0145-6]
- 55. Henriquez-Camacho C, Losa J, Miranda JJ, Cheyne NE. Addressing healthy aging populations in developing countries: unlocking the opportunity of eHealth and mHealth. Emerg Themes Epidemiol 2014;11(1):136 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12982-014-0021-4] [Medline: 25642276]
- 56. Harerimana B, Forchuk C, O'Regan T. The use of technology for mental healthcare delivery among older adults with depressive symptoms: a systematic literature review. Int J Ment Health Nurs 2019 Jun;28(3):657-670. [doi: 10.1111/inm.12571] [Medline: 30666762]
- 57. Jimison H, Gorman P, Woods S, Nygren P, Walker M, Norris S, et al. Barriers and drivers of health information technology use for the elderly, chronically ill, and underserved. Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep) 2008 Nov(175):1-1422. [Medline: 19408968]
- Matthew-Maich N, Harris L, Ploeg J, Markle-Reid M, Valaitis R, Ibrahim S, et al. Designing, implementing, and evaluating mobile health technologies for managing chronic conditions in older adults: a scoping review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Jun 09;4(2):e29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.5127] [Medline: 27282195]
- 59. D'Haeseleer I, Gerling K, Vanrumste B, Schreurs D, Buckingham C, Vero VA. Uses and attitudes of old and oldest adults towards self-monitoring health systems. In: Proceedings of the 13th EAI International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare. 2019 Presented at: 13th EAI International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare; May 20-23, 2019; Trento, Italy. [doi: 10.4108/eai.20-5-2019.2283510]
- Hosseinpour SA, Delavar MR, Hasani Baferani H. A web-based smart telecare system for early diagnosis of heart attack. Int Arch Photogramm Remote Sens Spatial Inf Sci 2019 Oct 18;XLII-4/W18:513-519. [doi: 10.5194/isprs-archives-xlii-4-w18-513-2019]
- 61. Lorenz A, Mielke D, Oppermann R, Zahl L. Personalised mobile health monitoring for elderly. In: Proceedings of the 9th international conference on Human computer interaction with mobile devices and services. 2007 Presented at: Proceedings of the 9th international conference on Human computer interaction with mobile devices and services; ; Singapore; Sep 9 12, 2007; Singapore. [doi: 10.1145/1377999.1378022]
- 62. Pikna J, Fellnerova N, Kozubik M. Information technology and seniors. CBU Int Conf Proc 2018 Sep 27;6:702-708. [doi: 10.12955/cbup.v6.1236]
- 63. Razavi Termeh V, Sadeghi Niaraki A. Design and implementation of ubiquitous health system (u-health) using smart-watches sensors. Int Arch Photogramm Remote Sens Spatial Inf Sci 2015 Dec 11;XL-1/W5:607-612. [doi: 10.5194/isprsarchives-xl-1-w5-607-2015]
- 64. Wang X, Knearem T, Carroll J. Learning flows: understanding how older adults adopt and use mobile technology. In: Proceedings of the 12th EAI International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare. 2018 Presented at: Proceedings of the 12th EAI International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare; May 21 - 24, 2018; New York NY USA. [doi: 10.4108/eai.20-4-2018.2276288]

- 65. McLoughlin C, Lee MJ. Personalised and self regulated learning in the Web 2.0 era: international exemplars of innovative pedagogy using social software. Aust J Educ Technol 2010 Mar;26(1):28-43. [doi: <u>10.14742/ajet.1100</u>]
- 66. Ancker JS, Witteman HO, Hafeez B, Provencher T, Van de Graaf M, Wei E. "You Get Reminded You're a Sick Person": personal data tracking and patients with multiple chronic conditions. J Med Internet Res 2015 Aug 19;17(8):e202 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4209] [Medline: 26290186]
- 67. Grindrod KA, Li M, Gates A. Evaluating user perceptions of mobile medication management applications with older adults: a usability study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2014 Mar 14;2(1):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3048] [Medline: 25099993]
- 68. Fozard J, Wahl H. Age and cohort effects in gerontechnology: a reconsideration. Gerontechnol 2012;11(1):10-21. [doi: 10.4017/gt.2012.11.01.003.00]
- 69. Lim CS. Designing inclusive ICT products for older users: taking into account the technology generation effect. J Eng Design 2009 Nov 11;21(2-3):189-206. [doi: 10.1080/09544820903317001]
- 70. Mitsuhashi T. Effects of two-week e-learning on eHealth literacy: a randomized controlled trial of Japanese internet users. PeerJ 2018;6:e5251 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7717/peerj.5251] [Medline: 30013857]
- 71. Xie B. Effects of an eHealth literacy intervention for older adults. J Med Internet Res 2011 Nov 03;13(4):e90 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1880] [Medline: 22052161]
- 72. Nilsen W, Kumar S, Shar A, Varoquiers C, Wiley T, Riley WT, et al. Advancing the science of mHealth. J Health Commun 2012;17 Suppl 1:5-10. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2012.677394] [Medline: 22548593]
- 73. Chen K, Chan A. A review of technology acceptance by older adults. Gerontechnol 2011;10(1). [doi: 10.4017/gt.2011.10.01.006.00]
- 74. Kruse CS, Krowski N, Rodriguez B, Tran L, Vela J, Brooks M. Telehealth and patient satisfaction: a systematic review and narrative analysis. BMJ Open 2017 Aug 03;7(8):e016242 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016242] [Medline: 28775188]
- 75. Doarn C, Shore J, Ferguson S, Jordan P, Saiki S, Poropatich R. Challenges, solutions, and best practices in telemental health service delivery across the pacific rim-a summary. Telemed J E Health 2012 Oct;18(8):654-660. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2012.0123] [Medline: 23061646]
- 76. Jameson J, Farmer M, Head K, Fortney J, Teal C. VA community mental health service providers' utilization of and attitudes toward telemental health care: the gatekeeper's perspective. J Rural Health 2011;27(4):425-432. [doi: 10.1111/j.1748-0361.2011.00364.x] [Medline: 21967387]
- 77. Richardson LK, Frueh BC, Grubaugh AL, Egede L, Elhai JD. Current directions in videoconferencing tele-mental health research. Clin Psychol (New York) 2009 Sep 01;16(3):323-338 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2850.2009.01170.x] [Medline: 20161010]
- Ricci RP, Morichelli L, Santini M. Remote control of implanted devices through Home Monitoring technology improves detection and clinical management of atrial fibrillation. Europace 2009 Jan;11(1):54-61. [doi: <u>10.1093/europace/eun303</u>] [Medline: <u>19011260</u>]
- Czaja SJ, Charness N, Fisk AD, Hertzog C, Nair SN, Rogers WA, et al. Factors predicting the use of technology: findings from the Center for Research and Education on Aging and Technology Enhancement (CREATE). Psychol Aging 2006 Jun;21(2):333-352 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/0882-7974.21.2.333] [Medline: 16768579]
- 80. Smelcer J, Miller-Jacobs H, Kantrovich L. Usability of electronic medical records. J Usability Stud 2009;4(2):70-84 [FREE Full text]
- Jutel A. 'The expertness of his healer': diagnosis, disclosure and the power of a profession. Health (London) 2019 May;23(3):289-305. [doi: <u>10.1177/1363459317745956</u>] [Medline: <u>29233019</u>]
- Makai P, Perry M, Robben SH, Schers HJ, Heinen MM, Olde Rikkert MG, et al. Evaluation of an eHealth intervention in chronic care for frail older people: why adherence is the first target. J Med Internet Res 2014 Jun 23;16(6):e156 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3057] [Medline: 24966146]
- Hallsworth M, Berry D, Sanders M, Sallis A, King D, Vlaev I, et al. Stating appointment costs in SMS reminders reduces missed hospital appointments: findings from two randomised controlled trials. PLoS One 2015 Sep 14;10(9):e0137306 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0137306] [Medline: 26366885]
- 84. Landolina M, Perego GB, Lunati M, Curnis A, Guenzati G, Vicentini A, et al. Remote monitoring reduces healthcare use and improves quality of care in heart failure patients with implantable defibrillators: the evolution of management strategies of heart failure patients with implantable defibrillators (EVOLVO) study. Circulation 2012 Jun 19;125(24):2985-2992. [doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.088971] [Medline: 22626743]
- 85. The demography of aging in low-and middle-income countries: chronological versus functional perspectives. Future Directions for the Demography of Aging: Proceedings of a Workshop. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/</u><u>NBK513069/</u> [accessed 2021-12-05]
- Nyella E, Mndeme M. Power tensions in health information system integration in developing countries: the need for distributed control. Electronic J Inf Syst Develop Countries 2017 Dec 05;43(1):1-19. [doi: 10.1002/j.1681-4835.2010.tb00308.x]

Abbreviations

CDSS: clinical decision support system COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disorder CVD: cardiovascular disease EHR: electronic health record ICT: information and communication technology LMIC: low- to middle-income country mHealth: mobile health PRISMA-ScR: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis RCT: randomized controlled trial SWOT: strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats

Edited by J Wang; submitted 17.12.20; peer-reviewed by J Marquard, C Kruse; comments to author 15.03.21; revised version received 10.05.21; accepted 26.09.21; published 07.01.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Zaman SB, Khan RK, Evans RG, Thrift AG, Maddison R, Islam SMS Exploring Barriers to and Enablers of the Adoption of Information and Communication Technology for the Care of Older Adults With Chronic Diseases: Scoping Review JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e25251 URL: https://aging.jmir.org/2022/1/e25251 doi:10.2196/25251 PMID:34994695

©Sojib Bin Zaman, Raihan Kabir Khan, Roger G Evans, Amanda G Thrift, Ralph Maddison, Sheikh Mohammed Shariful Islam. Originally published in JMIR Aging (https://aging.jmir.org), 07.01.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

